
Strategic Planning & 
Environment 

Overview & Scrutiny
Agenda

1

WEDNESDAY 23 SEPTEMBER 2020 AT 6.30 PM

Microsoft Teams - Microsoft Teams

* This meeting of Strategic Planning and Environment OSC will be held remotely via the 
Microsoft Teams application.

Should any members of the public wish to join this meeting, please contact the
Assistant Director (Corporate & Contracted Services) at member.support@dacorum.gov.uk by

5pm on Tuesday 22nd September.

The Councillors listed below are requested to attend the above meeting, on the day and at the time 
and place stated, to consider the business set out in this agenda.

Membership

Councillor Barrett
Councillor Beauchamp
Councillor Birnie (Chairman)
Councillor P Hearn
Councillor Hobson
Councillor McDowell
Councillor Ransley

Councillor Riddick
Councillor Rogers
Councillor Silwal (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Stevens
Councillor Taylor
Councillor Timmis

For further information, please contact Corporate and Democratic Support or 01442 228209

AGENDA

1. MINUTES  

To agree the minutes of the previous meeting.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

To receive any apologies for absence.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

To receive any declarations of interest.

4. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  

Public Document Pack



2

5. CONSIDERATION OF ANY MATTER REFERRED TO THE COMMITTEE IN 
RELATION TO CALL-IN  

6. DACORUM LOCAL PLAN  (Pages 3 - 380)

7. WHITE PAPER CONSULTATION RESPONSE  (Pages 381 - 540)



1

Report for: Strategic Planning and Environment 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee

Date of meeting: 23 September 2020

Part: 1

If Part II, reason:

Title of report: Dacorum Local Plan (2020 – 2038): Emerging Strategy 
for Growth (for consultation) 

Contact: Councillor Graham Sutton, Portfolio Holder for Planning and 
Infrastructure

Author/Responsible Officer: 
 James Doe – Assistant Director: Planning, Development 

and Regeneration
 Alex Robinson – Strategic Planning Manager

Purpose of report: To consult the Committee on the Dacorum Local Plan (2020 – 
2038): Emerging Strategy (for consultation).

Recommendations That the Committee informs Cabinet of its views on the Dacorum 
Local Plan (2020 – 2038): Emerging Strategy (for consultation).

Period for post 
policy/project 
review

This document is for consultation only and the content of the 
document will be updated having regard to the consultation 
responses received, and other considerations as appropriate. 
Once the final Local Plan is adopted, a review will be 
undertaken at least every 5 years.

Corporate 
Objectives:

The new Local Plan will help support the following objectives:

 A clean, safe and enjoyable environment: e.g. 
including policies that seek to protect open spaces and 
other environmental assets in the Borough. 

 Building strong and vibrant communities: e.g. 
including policies to deliver a mix of uses and range of 
housing types and tenures integrated within new 
neighbourhoods.   

 Ensuring economic growth and prosperity: e.g. 
allocating land for economic growth and providing land 
for businesses to grow. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 6



2

 Providing good quality affordable homes: e.g. 
allocating land for new housing development and 
including policies requiring affordable housing to be 
delivered as part of new development. 

Implications:

‘Value for money’ 
implications

Financial

None directly associated with this report.  

Value for money

The Local Plan is being prepared in line with the approved 
budget. Spending is regularly monitored against forecast and 
any external consultants are appointed through a formal 
procurement process where cost and value for money 
considerations were reflected in the scoring criteria.

Risk implications If the Council does not undertake a further Regulation 18 
consultation, the Local Plan will be at increased risk of being 
found unsound at Examination. 

There would also be a further delay to the preparation of the 
new Local Plan and an increased risk that the Council will not 
be able to rely on its existing suite of planning documents when 
looking to refuse permission for inappropriate or poor quality 
development in the Borough.

Community Impact 
Assessment

Will be provided for the 20th October 2020 Cabinet report.

Health and safety 
Implications

None arising from this report 

Consultees: Officers from the following services have been consulted during 
the preparation of the Local Plan:

 Development Management
 Environmental Health
 Environmental Services 
 Housing Development 
 Commercial Assets and Property Development
 Community Partnerships
 Local highway authority (HCC)
 Corporate Director – Housing and Regeneration

Background 
papers:

1. The Dacorum Local Plan (2020 – 2038): Emerging 
Strategy (for consultation).

2. Adopted Local Development Scheme (July 2020)
3. Cabinet Report: Dacorum Borough Council Local 

Development Scheme, April 2020
4. Cabinet Report: Dacorum Single Local Plan 2020-

2036 and Review of the Local Development Scheme, 
June 2019

Page 4



3

5. Adopted Core Strategy (September 2013)
6. Adopted Site Allocations DPD (July 2017) 
7. Dacorum Borough Local Plan 1991 – 2011 (April 

2004)

Glossary of 
acronyms and any 
other abbreviations 
used in this report:

LDS: Local Development Scheme
SCI: Statement of Community Involvement
DPD: Development Plan Document
NPPF: National Planning Policy Framework
PPG: Planning Practice Guidance
CAONB: Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
SAC: Special Area of Conservation

1. Introduction to this consultation

1.1. Dacorum Borough Council is preparing a new Local Plan for the period 2020 to 2038. 
Once adopted, it will replace the Site Allocations Development Plan Document 
(adopted July 2017), the Core Strategy Development Plan Document (adopted 
September 2013) and those “saved” parts of the Dacorum Borough Local Plan 
(adopted May 2004). The Local Plan is being prepared in accordance with the 
Council’s Local Development Scheme (LDS) (adopted July 2020).
 

1.2. The document before this committee is the next stage in the preparation of the new 
Local Plan and has been prepared for public consultation under Regulation 18 of the 
Local Plan Regulations (England) 2004 (as amended). Regulation 18 still falls within 
the ‘plan preparation’ stage and therefore does not constitute a final or draft plan under 
Regulation 19. The document prepared for consultation sets out the Council’s 
emerging growth strategy and includes proposals for new housing, employment and 
retail development across the Borough and the need for key infrastructure.

1.3. The consultation is an opportunity for the local community, other stakeholders and 
developers to provide feedback on the proposals in the document, the supporting 
evidence and to advise on changes that should be made prior to the Plan being 
finalised for the later examination process.

1.4. The proposed draft Regulation 18 Dacorum Local Plan, Emerging Strategy, for 
consultation is at Appendix 1 to this report.

2. Background

2.1. Once adopted, the Local Plan will guide new development across the Borough, 
ensuring it takes place in the areas where the Council wishes development to take 
place and where infrastructure is being planned so that development and 
infrastructure delivery is coordinated. It is also a key tool in delivering our priorities set 
out in other plans and strategies, including the Corporate Plan (2020 – 2025) and the 
Dacorum Growth and Infrastructure Strategy (2019).

2.2. A new Plan is required because the existing Core Strategy (adopted in 2013) and the 
'saved' policies from the Dacorum Borough Local Plan (adopted in 2004) are more 
than five years old and the weight we can give the policies in these documents is 
reducing as time goes by. In addition, the Core Strategy Inspector did identify that a 
wholesale review of the Plan would be required. The approach is now to provide a 

Page 5



4

new Single Local Plan providing a new strategy for development, new site allocations 
and policies to deal with development to 2038. Members will note that the Site 
Allocations Development Plan Document was adopted in 2017, but to provide detail 
on key sites pursuant to the Core Strategy of 2013. 

2.3. There have been a number of changes to the planning system since these documents 
were adopted and it is important that we have a Local Plan in place which reflects 
national policy and guidance, otherwise the Council risks the potential loss over 
decision making.

3. What has informed the preparation of this consultation document 

3.1. In November 2017 the Council published the Issues and Options (Regulation 18) 
consultation seeking comments on the key issues facing the Borough. We received 
more than 22,000 responses to this from over 2,000 individuals and organisations. 

3.2. Since this time, there have been a number of changes to the planning system, 
including revised housing figures and changes to the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and the supporting Planning Policy Guidance (PPG). In response 
to these changes we have undertaken an extended period of plan development, this 
includes updating our evidence base to better understand the needs and constraints 
in the Borough; these have informed the development of the Plan. We have also been 
through a process of generating and testing options for development as well as 
seeking the input with statutory bodies, such as the County Council, adjoining 
authorities and developers promoting land across the Borough.

3.3. The Local Plan needs to be prepared in accordance with current Government 
guidance. To be found "sound" the Local Plan needs to comply with the NPPF, 
specifically paragraph 35, which requires Plans to be:

- Positively prepared – providing a strategy which, as a minimum, seeks to meet 
the area’s objectively assessed needs; and is informed by agreements with other 
authorities, so that unmet need from neighbouring areas is accommodated where 
it is practical to do so and is consistent with achieving sustainable development;

- Justified – an appropriate strategy, taking into account the reasonable 
alternatives, and based on proportionate evidence;

- Effective – deliverable over the plan period, and based on effective joint working 
on cross-boundary strategic matters that have been dealt with rather than 
deferred, as evidenced by the statement of common ground; and

- Consistent with national policy – enabling the delivery of sustainable 
development in accordance with the policies in this Framework.

3.4. Dacorum is a very constrained area with significant amounts of the Borough in the 
Green Belt and/or included as part of the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(CAONB). Dacorum is also home to parts of the Chilterns Beechwood Special Area 
of Conservation (SAC), which has international protection. These are significant 
constraints which influence the locations for new development in the Borough.

3.5. The preparation of the Plan involved the reviewing and testing of a range of growth 
options and scenarios. Alternative options were developed and presented early in the 
preparation stage of the Plan and developed and refined over time as evidence 

Page 6



5

emerged. It was also subject to further testing and targeted engagement to develop 
the growth strategy contained in the consultation document. The growth strategy has 
also been informed by a number of iterations of the Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic 
Environmental Assessment to assess emerging proposals against a number of 
economic, social and environmental objectives and to identify what measures could 
be included to offset adverse impacts.

3.6. The Plan is being subjected to an Appropriate Assessment under the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) which considers (amongst 
other things) the impact of the Plan on the Chilterns Beechwoods Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) taking into account any further mitigation that may be required in 
the Plan.

3.7. The growth strategy has also been supported by separate work on infrastructure 
delivery. This has helped inform decisions on where growth can be accommodated or 
not. Evidence gathering on infrastructure is ongoing and will continue up to the point 
at which the Local Plan is submitted to the Secretary of State for Examination in the 
form of a comprehensive Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

3.8. Officers have been working with the Member Local Plan Task and Finish Group over 
the last 18 months on the development of the consultation document.

4. Proposed Reforms to the Planning System

4.1. The Government has consulted on a range of major reforms to the planning system 
in its Planning White Paper and related matters. Members should be mindful that if 
taken forward these will have a fundamental impact on the plan-making process as 
we move to the new system and potentially the nature and content of the draft Plan 
over the coming years. While this does introduce uncertainties including awaited 
details of transitional arrangements, Officers have, in the interim, incorporated a 
number of these key approaches in advance of this, where considered reasonable, 
This will ensure the Plan is better placed to respond to these reforms and to avoid 
later significant adjustments to its content, style and coverage. 

4.2. In particular, Officers have incorporated into the Plan the housing figure derived from 
the Government’s proposed changes to the standard method for assessing housing 
need, which is also at consultation in addition to the Planning White Paper. This 
provides Dacorum with an initial figure of 922 homes per annum. The standard 
methodology will, in due course, also factor in other land constraints and this may 
mean that the housing figure in the Plan may be subject to future review.

5. The Main Provisions of the consultation document

5.1. The Council has set out to develop a strategy which, as far as possible, 
accommodates its objectively assessed development needs. For housing, based on 
the most up to date information provided by Government, this constitutes 922 
dwellings per annum, or 16,596 homes over the Plan period. The Council has made 
provision for 16,865 dwellings to provide a buffer. For employment the emerging 
growth strategy proposes 116,500 sqm of additional employment (industrial) space to 
be provided across the Borough.

5.2. Given the scale of growth required and the lack of realistic options, amongst other 
factors, the Council has concluded that exceptional circumstance exist to require the 
release of Green Belt land around settlements to meet future development needs.

Page 7



6

5.3. The growth strategy set out in the consultation proposes growth in all of the major 
towns and large villages in the Borough. Hemel Hempstead continues to be the focus 
of the majority of this growth (10,650 dwellings), with Berkhamsted (2,230 dwellings) 
and Tring (2,730 dwellings) also included. Growth at Bovingdon (240 dwellings), Kings 
Langley (274) and Markyate (215) provide the majority of the remaining development 
with a further 500 dwellings coming forward elsewhere in the Borough over the 18 
year period of the Plan. Approximately 50% of total growth will be provided in the 
existing built up areas (including on previously developed land) and through existing 
commitments and other existing allocations. The remaining growth will be within the 
Green Belt on the edge of existing settlements.

5.4. In addition to the growth outlined above, the growth strategy removes further land 
from the Green Belt around Hemel Hempstead to meet longer term development 
needs. This land could deliver a further 4,000 homes but is not earmarked to come 
forward until after 2038.

5.5. The consultation document sets out the locations for the Green Belt development 
across the Borough. The Green Belt releases around Hemel Hempstead are to be 
provided to the north and north east of the town. Green Belt releases at Berkhamsted 
are to be located to the south and to the west of the town with releases at Tring to the 
east and south east of the town. Smaller scale release are proposed to the south of 
Berkhamsted, to the east of Kings Langley and to the south of Markyate.

 
5.6. In addition to the proposed housing sites the consultation document proposes a 

number of employment sites. These are largely focused in and around Hemel 
Hempstead but do include extensions to Bourne End Industrial Estate and as part of 
the development to the south east of Tring.

6. The Duty to Cooperate

6.1. The Council has been working with nearby authorities and other organisations under 
the requirements of the Duty to Cooperate. These discussions focus on strategic 
matters that affect more than one authority and include unmet housing, employment 
and infrastructure needs across the South West Herts Authorities. Engagement is 
ongoing but substantial alignment has been reached many organisations on most 
issues. As such, the Council has started to prepare Statements of Common Ground / 
Memorandum of Understanding with these organisations, which have in turn informed 
the consultation document.

6.2. The Council has also contacted nearby authorities outlining the scale of growth that 
needs to be accommodated and seeking assistance to meet needs. The Council has 
been advised that other authorities are facing substantial growth challenges of their 
own and are unlikely to be able to assist Dacorum, particularly in the case of housing. 
On employment there is an acceptance that land to the east of Hemel Hempstead, in 
St. Albans District, can contribute to meeting wider South West Herts needs, including 
Dacorum’s needs.  

6.3. Members will be aware that the Duty to Cooperate is an ongoing process but the 
Council will need to demonstrate it has satisfied the legal requirements by the time 
the Local Plan is submitted for Examination as the Duty cannot be addressed after 
submission. This point was further illustrated by the Inspectors presiding over the St. 
Albans Local Plan. 

6.4. Discussions will continue alongside the preparation of the Local Plan with the 
conclusions of discussions needing to be incorporated into the final Local Plan. 

Page 8



7

7. Structure of the Consultation Document 

7.1. The Local Plan also contains planning policies covering a range of subjects from 
affordable housing, design, climate change and the environment.

7.2. The consultation document is structured as follows:

- Vision, Strategic Objectives and Development Strategy – this sets out the 
overarching aims of the Local Plan including responding to climate change, 
safeguarding the natural and built environment and reducing carbon emissions 
alongside the overarching development strategy for housing, employment, retail 
and infrastructure.

- Guiding Development – this section contains a number of our planning policies 
to influence development across the Borough. These are split into relevant 
sections which deal with housing, economic development, retail, climate change 
and sustainability, environment and biodiversity, managing development in the 
countryside, delivering great places, sustainable transport and connectivity, and 
healthy communities.

- Delivery Strategies – this section focuses on Dacorum's places and how these 
will change over the period.

- Proposals and Sites - this section contains site specific policies for each of the 
key growth and renewal areas identified in the delivery strategies.

8. The consultation 

8.1. The consultation would commence in November and run for 8 weeks. This is two 
weeks longer than what we have stipulated in the SCI and takes into account the fact 
that the consultation period would have closed over the Christmas period. It also 
provides additional time for residents to engage in the process given the current 
COVID-19 restrictions. Officers will be undertaking substantially more online 
engagement throughout the consultation given that large public gatherings are not 
advisable.
  

8.2. Once the consultation closes we will carefully consider all responses received before 
considering what changes to make to the Plan. These comments, together with our 
response, will be made public after the consultation has closed.  

8.3. Officers will to continue to develop the evidence base underpinning the Plan and take 
into account the findings from these. This includes the work underway on the 
Appropriate Assessment under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017 (as amended) and the outcome of the ongoing development of the Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan and the whole Plan viability assessment. 

8.4. The Council will consider these issues (and others as appropriate) in finalising the 
Plan and publishing this under Regulation 19 before being submitted to the Secretary 
of State for Examination in Public. This may include changes to specific policies or 
sites that are currently included in the Plan.

Page 9



8

8.5. We will also continue with discussions under the Duty to Cooperate to ensure that we 
have discharged our obligations appropriately and the conclusions from our 
engagement are reflected in the Draft Plan.

8.6. Before finalising the Plan we will need to consider any changes to legislation and/or 
Government guidance arising from the recently published Planning White Paper 
consultation and the other changes announced. 

9. Next Steps  

9.1. At their meeting on 18 October 2020, Cabinet will consider any requests that this 
Committee may make to amend the document prior to the consultation. Officers will 
advise Cabinet on whether the changes are such that further work will be need to be 
undertaken prior to the consultation taking place. 

Page 10



Dacorum Local Plan  (2020 - 2038) 
Emerging Strategy for Growth
September 2020

DRAFT UNTIL PUBLISHED FOR CONSULTATION

Page 11

swilson
Cross-Out



Page 12



3Foreword

51 Introduction

VISION AND STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
142 The Plan Context and Challenges

213 Borough Vision to 2038

THE SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY
284 Sustainable Development in Dacorum

305 Spatial Strategy for Growth

336 The Settlement Hierarchy

357 The Housing Delivery Strategy

418 The Employment Strategy

459 The Retail and Leisure Development Strategy

4910 Delivering the Infrastructure to Support Growth

5211 Neighbourhood Planning

5412 Monitoring and Review

GUIDING DEVELOPMENT
5613 Introduction to Guiding Development

5814 Housing Delivery

8415 Employment Development

9416 Retailing and other town centre uses

10017 Climate Change and Sustainability

11318 Environment and Biodiversity

13819 Managing Development in the Countryside

14620 Delivering Great Places

16621 Sustainable Transport and Connectivity

18222 Healthy Communities

DELIVERY STRATEGIES
19823 Delivery Strategies

198Introduction

1

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 13



Hemel Hempstead Garden Communities Delivery Strategy 200

232Berkhamsted Delivery Strategy

242Tring Delivery Strategy

252Kings Langley Delivery Strategy

257Bovingdon Delivery Strategy

263Markyate Delivery Strategy

268Countryside Delivery Strategy

PROPOSALS AND SITES
27324 Proposals and Sites

275Hemel Hempstead Garden Communities

309Berkhamsted

326Tring

335Kings Langley

339Bovingdon

343Markyate

348Countryside

APPENDICES
355Appendix 1 - List of Strategic Policies

356Appendix 2 - Identified Small Housing Sites (<1 Hectare)

359Glossary

2

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 14



Foreword

This consultation is the next step in creating a new Local Plan that looks ahead to 2038. It will be a key document
in shaping the future of our Borough and will affect us all. We are therefore keen to encourage as many people
and organisations as possible to get involved.

The Local Plan is dealing with many challenges and is being prepared during a period of unprecedented
uncertainty. Not only are we meeting the growth challenge set down by the Government, working to support
recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic but also dealing with potentially radical reforms to the planning system
that the Government has recently consulted on.

Dacorum will see significant growth and investment over the coming decades, particularly in housing and
employment. The Plan outlines the preferred locations for this development and how we can secure the
necessary infrastructure to support the growth. The Borough hasn't experienced any similar level of growth
since the expansion of Hemel Hempstead during the development of the New Town. This time around our main
towns and villages will need to expand if we are to meet such ambitious housing levels.

All of this needs to be done in a way that maintains and enhances the outstanding qualities of Dacorum – its
vibrant communities, high quality countryside and being a great place to live, work and enjoy.

This process is exciting. It gives us the chance to grasp opportunities and build for the future, while seeking to
tackle some of the many challenges we face in our Borough today. Development will happen – in jobs, homes,
retail, and other infrastructure – but if we don’t act to shape it, we can’t be sure that the best interests of the
Borough are being addressed.

Responding to, planning for, and managing change requires us to engage with our residents, businesses and
with the Government and our partner organisations. This allows us to act in the best interests of our residents
as the Plan is progressed and be aware of all views and latest opinions. In 2017 we consulted on the issues
and options facing the Borough in the future. Wherever possible, we have responded positively to previous
representations whilst recognising this process has not been easy - as we will have to make hard and often
unpopular decisions.

Over the past three years we have developed evidence, engaged with key stakeholders and partners as well
as landowners to develop this document. Using this evidence, alongside responses from the previous consultation
we have developed a draft Local Plan for Dacorum.

It is an important time to get involved and tell us what you think. We have set out what we believe to be the
best option for growth, but have yet to make a final decision on this matter and would like to know your views.

Please respond to this consultation and encourage others to do so too – your responses will all be considered
and will help us to develop our new Local Plan.

Councillor Graham Sutton

Portfolio Holder for Planning and Infrastructure

3

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 15



Page 16



1 Introduction

What is this document? 

1.1 This document is the next stage in the development of the Council's Local Plan - the Emerging Strategy
for Growth (2020 - 2038).

1.2 This document has been published for consultation under Regulation 18 of the Local Plan Regulations
(England) 2004 (As Amended) and is an opportunity for the local community, other stakeholders and
developers to provide feedback on the emerging approach to development.

1.3 The consultation comes at a time of unprecedented uncertainty. The world continues to change rapidly
in response to the Covid-19 pandemic and when the impact of climate change is being seen more
across the globe. The UK is also facing potential changes to our international economic relationships
which could have wide reaching and long terms implications. Added to this the Government has
recently published the Planning White Paper setting out a number of potentially significant changes
to the planning system. All of which come at a time when the Borough is having to accommodate a
significant increase in development, the likes of which have not be seen since the height of the
Development Corporation. At no other time has it been more important to have a Local Plan in place
to shape our Borough to respond to these challenges.

1.4 Sitting alongside this document are several Topic Papers that have been published. These provide
a key source of information supporting the proposals contained in the Plan. They set out the evidence
base for particular issues, how the responses to previous consultation(s) and other stakeholder
feedback has informed the emerging Plan and how we have developed the approach set out in this
document.

1.5 We have also published the draft Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) which sets out the infrastructure
required to support growth, where and when it is required and the costs of this. Whilst this work is
ongoing the Council has decided to publish this to enable respondents to have as much information
as possible to inform consultation responses.

The Forum, Hemel Hempstead

5

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 17



How does the Planning White Paper consultation affect this Plan?

1.6 This consultation comes at a time when the Government is considering a number of potentially
significant reforms to the planning system. These include both short term changes as well as more
fundamental ones.

1.7 At the time of writing the reforms are out to consultation and it is unclear which of the proposals will
be carried forward, when these will come into force and what transitional arrangements will be put in
to place for those authorities that have reached an advanced stage in preparing their current round
of Local Plans.

1.8 What is clear is that if all the proposals are taken forward it would have a significant impact on the
Plan we are preparing but until planning legislation or guidance changes we must prepare the Plan
against current guidance. However, we are mindful that the changes could mean the look and feel of
the Plan we eventually adopt could be quite different to what we have envisaged up to now. Although
it is unclear how the Government will respond to the consultation we have already taken some steps
to reflect some of proposals. These include:

introducing the simplified zoning categories;
reflecting the interim housing requirement calculations but recognising that further adjustments
may be made;
strengthening our local design policies and guidance; and
incorporating reference to First Homes (the Government's new proposals for affordable home
ownership).

1.9 Other proposed changes could be more fundamental to the Plan. Indeed, the Government is keen to
replace many policies in Local Plans with national ones. We will need to take forward all relevant
proposals in the final version of the Plan.

What are we consulting on and why? 

1.10 Despite the uncertainty arising from the potential changes discussed above, there remain a number
of 'constant' factors. We have known for some time that the level of growth we need to plan for will
be significantly higher than before (up from 430 dpa in the Core Strategy) and whilst the final figure
from the Government may be adjusted again we expect this to remain a substantial number. To
manage this scale of development we do need an up to date Local Plan in place to ensure that
development is provided in the right places and met with the timely delivery of the required
infrastructure.

1.11 We also know that the scale of growth will require the Council to make some very difficult decisions
about the amount of growth to be provided in different locations and will require some of the towns
and villages to grow significantly. It is important that the community have an opportunity to shape
these decisions before the Plan is finalised.

1.12 We are now asking for your views on the Emerging Strategy for Growth for Dacorum. This includes
our approach to accommodating growth across Dacorum, the sites that have been suggested as well
as some of the specific planning policies that will deliver this.

1.13 This document is not a final plan with every detail or future policy set out; this will come later in the
process. This document also does not contain every item of infrastructure that is required to support
development, again this will come later. However, we have published our emerging IDP setting out
the broad requirements of future growth (and timings). As the Plan develops we will incorporate more
of the infrastructure requirements into the Plan. These will be located in the proposals and sites section
of the Plan

6

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 18



Why should I get involved?

Why do we need a Local Plan?

1.14 A Local Plan is required to guide new development so that it comes forward in a coordinated manner.
It is also a key tool in delivering our priorities set out in other plans and strategies, including the Growth
and Infrastructure Strategy and the Climate Change emergency adopted in July 2019.

1.15 Our existing Core Strategy (adopted in 2013) and the 'saved' policies from the Dacorum Borough
Local Plan (adopted in 2004), are more than five years old and the weight we can give the policies
in these documents is reducing as time goes by. The Core Strategy Inspector did identify that a whole
scale review of the Plan would be required and although we adopted the Site Allocations Document
(2017) this does not provide a comprehensive planning framework for the Borough.

1.16 There have been a number of changes to the planning system since these documents were adopted
and it is important that we have Local Plans in place which reflect national policy and guidance,
otherwise we will lose control of decision making.

1.17 When adopted the the Local Plan will be the main planning document guiding development but it will
be supported by a number of other important documents. These include Supplementary Planning
Documents which add further detail to the policies in the Local Plan. They can be used to provide
further guidance for development on specific sites, or on particular issues. The Council has consulted
on the Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD, and is currently preparing the Dacorum Detailed Design
Guide SPD.

1.18 Once adopted these documents, alongside the Minerals and Waste Local Plans for Hertfordshire and
any adopted Neighbourhood Plans (currently Grovehill Neighbourhood Plan (May 2018), will replace
the following documents:

Site Allocations Development Plan Document (adopted July 2017);
Core Strategy Development Plan Document (adopted September 2013);
“saved” parts of the Dacorum Borough Local Plan (adopted May 2004); and

1.19 The Development Plan is the basis upon which planning applications are determined, unless there
are material planning considerations that indicate otherwise.

7

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 19



What have we done to get here?

1.20 In November 2017 we published the Issues and Options (Regulation 18) consultation seeking
comments on the key issues facing the Borough.We received more than 22,000 responses to this from
over 2,000 individuals and organisations. These comments are publicly available alongside this
consultation document.

1.21 Since this time there have been a number of changes to the planning system, including revised
housing figures and changes to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the supporting
Planning Policy Guidance (PPG). In response to these changes we have undertaken an extended
period of plan development, options generation and testing and have sought input from statutory
bodies such as the County Council, adjoining authorities and developers promoting land across the
Borough.

1.22 We have been updating our evidence base to better understand the needs and constraints in the
Borough. This extensive catalogue of assessments has informed our emerging Plan and include the
following:

assessing land availability and suitability in our towns and villages and considering existing and
new sites as part of an updated housing land availability assessment;
forecasting housing and employment need / and undertaking housing and economic development
needs assessments;
assessing reasonable alternatives for the Plan's strategies, policies, proposals and sites via the
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) /Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA);
undertaking a review of the Green Belt;
preparing evidence to look at future retail needs;
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment and Water Cycle Study;
Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople site assessment;
transport modelling and Sustainable Transport Plans
an Infrastructure Delivery Plan and viability assessment.

1.23 Further evidence will be required to support the final Plan and the Council will continue to keep its
website up to date as these assessments are produced.

1.24 Figure 1 illustrates the process to date and the key next stages that we will go through. More information
can be found in our Local Development Scheme (2020).

8

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 20



Figure 1 Timeline for the Local Plan

1.25 The preparation of the Plan involved the reviewing and testing of a range of growth options and
scenarios. Alternative options were developed and presented early in the preparation stage of the
Plan and developed and refined over time as evidence emerged. It was also subject to further testing
and targeted engagement to develop a preferred strategy. This process has been informed by a
number of iterations of the Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment to assess
emerging proposals against a number of economic, social and environmental objectives and to identify
what measures could be included to offset adverse impacts.

1.26 In addition, the Plan is being subjected to an Appropriate Assessment under the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) which considers (amongst other things) the
impact of the Plan on the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC and taking into account any further mitigation
that may be required in the Plan.

1.27 As already mentioned a significant contributor to the emerging Plan has been the separate, but closely
linked, IDP. This has helped inform decisions on where growth can be accommodated or not. In the
case of the latter we have sought to identify what infrastructure is required and what solutions are
available. The IDP is an iterative assessment and will continue to be updated as we move towards
the next stage of the Local Plan.

Considerations for the Local Plan

1.28 The Local Plan has been prepared in accordance with current Government guidance. To be found
"sound" the Local Plan needs to comply with the NPPF, specifically paragraph 35, which requires
Plans are:

a. Positively prepared – providing a strategy which, as a minimum, seeks to meet the area’s
objectively assessed needs; and is informed by agreements with other authorities, so that unmet
need from neighbouring areas is accommodated where it is practical to do so and is consistent
with achieving sustainable development;

b. Justified – an appropriate strategy, taking into account the reasonable alternatives, and based
on proportionate evidence;

9

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 21



c. Effective – deliverable over the plan period, and based on effective joint working on
cross-boundary strategic matters that have been dealt with rather than deferred, as evidenced
by the statement of common ground; and

d. Consistent with national policy – enabling the delivery of sustainable development in
accordance with the policies in this Framework.

1.29 However, we are a very constrained area with significant amounts of our Borough in the Green Belt.
We also have a considerable amount of high quality landscape as part of the Chilterns Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), which is a national landscape designation shared only by
relatively few other authorities across the country. We are also home to parts of the Chilterns
Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation (SAC) which is an ecological site of international importance.
These are significant constraints which influence the locations for new development in the Borough.

Working with others

1.30 Dacorum does not exist in isolation and interacts with other nearby local authorities. We are required
to develop a strategy that is informed by agreements with other authorities so that 'strategic matters'
are appropriately considered and planned for where it is practical to do so and is consistent with
achieving sustainable development. This is required by both Section 33A of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) and as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework
and supporting Planning Practice Guidance.

1.31 There are a number of cross boundary matters which we need to have regard to when developing
our own Plan and we have been engaging with adjoining authorities (and other stakeholders) throughout
the preparation of this Plan.

1.32 The engagement has been on strategic matters such as housing and employment requirements and
also infrastructure provision needed to support growth. These discussions have been underway for
sometime and we have a comprehensive picture of development needs across South West
Hertfordshire, including the potential unmet needs of Watford. This position has been informed by
a number of key evidence studies that have been commissioned jointly across SouthWest Hertfordshire
authorities (Dacorum, Hertsmere, St Albans, Three Rivers and Watford). We have also engaged with
a variety of other organisations including Hertfordshire County Council, Highways England, Natural
England, the Chilterns Conservation Board, Historic England and the Environment Agency.

1.33 Some of the Strategic Planning Matters which have been identified through this process are listed
below:

The potential for unmet housing need arising from Watford;
Looking to our neighbours to deliver some of our own employment needs;
The delivery of Hemel Garden Community which is a joint growth initiative between Dacorum,
St Albans and Hertfordshire County Council and the Local Enterprise Zone Partnership;
Supporting the Hemel IQ Enterprise Zone at Maylands;
Strategic transport movements along 'A' roads and motorways;
Secondary school capacity and cross county flows, including secondary schooling needs
stemming from Dacorum;
Growth impacts upon the Chiltern Beechwoods SAC;
Continuing to protect the Chilterns AONB;
Household waste capacity in west Hertfordshire; and
Acute service provision in west Hertfordshire.

1.34 Engagement has taken various forms including consultations, meetings and exchange of
correspondence and has informed the preparation of this consultation. Dacorum will be preparing
Memoranda of Understanding and Statements of CommonGround which set out the identified strategic
matters, how options for addressing these have been progressed and what conclusions have been
drawn as a result.

10

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 22



1.35 More information on the conclusions we have drawn are set out in this consultation and supported
by our evidence studies and separately published Topic Papers. We will continue to work closely with
other organisations as the Plan develops, particularly across South West Hertfordshire, to explore
strategic matters further, including the issue of unmet needs - and undertake any further work that
may be required. What is clear is that Dacorum is uniquely constrained amongst the five South West
Hertfordshire authorities in that a large part of the Borough is within the Chilterns AONB as well as
containing the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC.

1.36 Our evidence is currently telling us that we are unable to meet our full future employment land needs
over the Plan period and we require the assistance from neighbouring St. Albans City and District to
meet this as well as several items of infrastructure linked to the growth of Hemel Hempstead which
cannot be met in the Borough. The assessments we have completed to date indicate that Dacorum
is unlikely to be in a position to provide for unmet housing needs arising from the South West
Hertfordshire area in this Plan period whilst still ensuring the Plan is consistent with the provisions of
the NPPF and wider sustainable development objectives.

1.37 Nonetheless, Dacorum is preparing a positive plan that is seeking to meet as much of our objectively
assessed needs as we can. For housing, we are making a bold commitment to significantly increasing
the supply of land to deliver 922 dwellings per year, more than double the number (430 dwellings per
year) in the previous Core Strategy. In addition to this, we are releasing additional land from the Green
Belt around Hemel Hempstead (as part of the Hemel Garden Communities programme) to meet
longer term development needs.

1.38 Wewill continue to work constructively with adjoining authorities as our Plan develops to find solutions
to barriers to development that exist in Dacorum as well as in both the 'host' authority (where unmet
needs arise) and in those other authorities which may also be suitable locations for delivering unmet
needs. We maintain that unmet needs arising should be met as close to the source as possible and
all options should be explored before authorities that are more constrained and farther afield are
asked to contribute.

The South West Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan

1.39 To respond to longer term growth challenges we have joined the other four authorities in South West
Hertfordshire (St Albans, Three Rivers, Hertsmere and Watford) in preparing the South West
Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan. This provides the opportunity to couple growth and infrastructure
at a strategic level, enabling more coordinated planning of growth and infrastructure provision.

1.40 The South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan will be a ‘boundary - off’ strategic plan that will set out the
vision and map the context for the Local Plans to 2050. It will focus on:

A Spatial Strategy including any Strategic Areas of Opportunity;
Strategic housing need and provision;
Strategic employment need and provision;
Strategic infrastructure need and provision; and
Strategic approach to the Green Belt and the Chilterns AONB.

11

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 23



1.41 Joint strategic plans are supported by the Government and the five authorities have received funding
to prepare this. The Joint Strategic Plan will be prepared over the next couple of years and it is
anticipated that it will come into force across all the five authorities by the end of 2023. We will work
with the other authorities to accelerate the preparation and adoption of this document to ensure that
such development needs are met.

How this document is structured

1.42 This document is split into the following parts:

1. Vision, Strategic Objectives - this sets out the context, challenges and overarching aims of
the Local Plan including responding to climate change, safeguarding the natural and built
environment and reducing carbon emissions.

2. The Sustainable Development Strategy – this sets out the overarching development strategy
for housing, employment, retail and infrastructure.

3. Guiding Development – this section contains a number of our planning policies to influence
development across the Borough. These are split into relevant sections which deal with housing,
economic development, retail, climate change and sustainability, environment and biodiversity,
managing development in the countryside, delivering great places, sustainable transport and
connectivity, and healthy communities.

4. Delivery Strategies – this section focuses on Dacorum's places and how these will change
over the period.

5. Proposals and sites - this section contains site specific policies for each of the key growth and
renewal areas identified in the delivery strategies.

6. Appendices - this contains a list of strategic policies, identified small housing sites and a
glossary.

What happens next?

1.43 Once the consultation closes we will carefully consider the responses we receive. Our current intention
is to use these responses to help inform the next stage of Local Plan preparation. We will make these
comments public together with our response when the Local Plan is published before being submitted
to the Secretary of State for Examination in public.

1.44 We will need to continue to develop our evidence further and take into account the findings from
these. This includes the work underway on the Appropriate Assessment under the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) which considers (amongst other things) the
impact of the Plan on the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC and taking into account any further mitigation
that may be required in the Plan.

1.45 A key further area of work will be the continued development of our IDP. A draft of this has been
published but requires refinement as more information becomes available. We will also be using this
to develop our work to test the viability of the Plan. Whole Plan Viability is the process of assessing
whether the Local Plan (and the policies and sites included) are financially deliverable.

1.46 If further evidence suggests that the proposals currently in the Plan are no longer consistent with
national policy or are no longer considered deliverable (i.e. if solutions to required infrastructure are
not forthcoming), then this may lead to changes to certain policies or sites that are currently included
in the Plan.

1.47 Wewill also continue with discussions under the Duty to Cooperate to ensure that we have discharged
our obligations appropriately and the conclusions from our engagement are reflected in the Plan.

1.48 We will also need to consider any changes to legislation and/or Government guidance arising
from the Planning White Paper consultation. At present we do not know how any changes
could impact on the content of the Plan and this will need to be kept under review.

12

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 24



Page 25



2 The Plan Context and Challenges

Opportunities and Challenges of Growth

2.1 The Local Plan needs to respond to a number of significant challenges over the period, including:

managing a step change in housing supported by the necessary infrastructure;
securing employment growth;
changes to our international trading relationships;
supporting local recovery from Covid-19;
adapting to climate change and moving towards a low carbon economy; and
delivering the regeneration and transformation of Hemel Hempstead.

Climate Change Emergency

2.2 Our climate is changing as a result of human activity and this will have substantial implications for
society and our environment if we do not act. The scientific evidence indicates that we will experience
hotter and drier summers, milder winters, and more extreme weather events such as drought and
flooding. Dacorum's Full Council passed a motion declaring a Climate Emergency in July 2019 and
has since prepared a Climate Change Strategy. The Local Plan will play a central role in delivering
a number of the aims set out in both. A central thread of the Local Plan is to plan for a low-carbon
future in which carbon emissions and other greenhouse gases are reduced and we adapt to the new
climatic norms. The growth offers real opportunities to deliver significant and meaningful measures
to combat the effects of the climate change emergency.

Housing Growth

2.3 One of the major challenges for the Borough is delivering a step change in the level of housing growth
as required by the Government. This will be far above what has been delivered in the past and will
require us to allow innovation in new ways and approaches. We will need to work in close partnership
with the development industry, bring forward publicly owned land andmake effective use of its planning
powers to ensure growth can be appropriately delivered.

2.4 In addition, the Borough's high average house prices means that market housing is increasingly out
of reach for many households. The dream of owning a home is now out of reach for the majority of
young people with the average age of house purchase currently being 32 years old. We need to
significantly increase the number of affordable homes that are genuinely affordable to local people.
This in turn should also aid households to live in adequately sized accommodation where they may
have outgrown their current home.

2.5 This growth brings with it a significant number of challenges for our local communities, infrastructure,
and the natural and built environment. The right type of housing should be provided in the right location,
and at the right time to meet the changing housing needs of all members of our communities,
particularly the ageing population. We will ensure that the new homes are delivered sustainably, that
we use land efficiently, and that developments acknowledge local character and context without
frustrating innovation or compromising design quality.

Economic Prosperity and Strengthening the Role of Maylands Business Park

2.6 Whilst the future poses a number of significant economic challenges we have big ambitions for our
local economy driven by the continuing success of the Maylands Business Park as a key local and
sub-regionally important employment centre. Great progress has been made on regeneration, inward
investment and expansion since the Buncefield explosion in December 2005, including the creation
of the Heart of Maylands (a new local centre to support the role of the business area), the completion
of environmental works, and the broadening of its commercial uses.

14

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 26



2.7 Regeneration and continued diversification of the Maylands Business Park will continue to form a key
part of the strategy, given added impetus by the creation of the Herts Innovation Quarter, a designated
Enterprise Zone. Dacorum needs to plan for a significant increase in employment floor space over
the Plan period. To meet the needs arising for new employment space the eastward expansion of
Maylands is proposed, most of which will be into St Albans City and District Council. This will meet a
significant portion of Dacoum's needs as well as contributing to meeting the needs from St Albans.

2.8 Further investment is needed to resolve congestion and employees, visitors and HGV parking problems
in the Maylands Business Park, including the delivery of a multi-modal transport interchange, as part
of a wider network of such facilities, providing easy and rapid interchange between different modes
of travel.

2.9 The strategy will also include safeguarding other existing employment areas that are key to the local
economy, including delivering space for start-up businesses and established small and medium
enterprises. We will balance the pressure of competing land uses, and look to encourage and support
opportunities for inward investment through working in partnership with the Local Enterprise Partnership,
the business sector, and other key stakeholders. We will also seek funding from the Government and
work with other agencies to secure high speed and high capacity digital connectivity for businesses
and residents.

Securing the Vibrancy of our Town Centres

2.10 Alongside housing and employment we anticipate continued rapid changes in retailing over the Plan
period as our economy evolves and habits change. These changes are likely to have profound
implications for our town centres, particularly Hemel Hempstead. This centre has undergone significant
regeneration in recent years ranging from environmental improvements to the pedestrianised area
of the Marlowes, the creation of a new bus interchange and the award winning restoration of the
Jellicoe Water Gardens.

2.11 Our high streets are going to be reshaped by a number of factors including continuing changes to
retailing patterns brought on by the growth in online shopping and potentially accelerated by the
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. In addition, the changes to the Use Classes Order which came into
force in September 2020 could also have implications for the changing face of our town centres. It is
important that our town centres remain vibrant, resilient and attractive in the face of a volatile retail
environment and changing shopping patterns.

2.12 We do not believe this will lead to a significant requirement for new floorspace over the lifetime of the
plan. Nonetheless we will take opportunities to support existing retailing and to also encourage a
wider variety of uses, promote more leisure and social engagement, and embrace town centre living
and the evening economy. We will encourage significant increases in the residential presence in and
around our town centres, local and neighbourhood centres to help sustain them over the longer term.

Transport and Movement

2.13 Dacorum currently experiences peak period congestion problems in many of its main urban areas
leading to delays and consequential air quality issues in some locations. The strategic road network
crossing the Borough (M1/M25/A41/A414) is already heavily used and high car ownership means
that parking can be difficult in certain areas. Passenger transport, walking and cycling are not currently
as attractive an alternative as they could be. The hilly nature of parts of the Borough can deter walking
and particularly cycling. There is also currently limited charging infrastructure capacity available to
support electric vehicles.

2.14 Our residents have told us of their concerns over the ability of the roads to accommodate high levels
of housing growth and to tackle climate change we need to significantly reduce harmful emissions
and particulates from transport and at the same time greatly improve local air quality. Therefore, new
development will need to be located in places which have excellent access to jobs, shops, services,
can quickly and easily be reached by sustainable public transport and benefit from high quality walking

15

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 27



and cycling infrastructure. Even where journeys are made by sustainable methods it is important to
minimise journey lengths, reducing demand on transport infrastructure and delivering greater health
and wellbeing.

2.15 We are developing detailed Sustainable Transport Plans for our main towns to identify the transport
interventions that are required to deliver growth, and ensuring development is well connected and
less reliant on the car over the long term. Growth will deliver attractive opportunities to travel by bus,
foot or on a bike. Future technology will be promoted to deliver and support low-carbon transport.
Electric vehicles of all types (including electric bicycles) will feature strongly in this, and necessary
infrastructure will be provided to ensure the usability of such vehicles.

2.16 Wewill actively work in partnership with the County Council, bus and train operators and other agencies
to deliver investment , and improvements in passenger transport. Although it must be recognised the
effectiveness and timing of delivering 'modal shift' will be dependent upon the degree of change in
'mindset' towards those local trips generated.

Infrastructure

2.17 Providing new infrastructure to support development is essential. This includes the new transport
infrastructure, schools, health care and open spaces. Residents have told us that new and upgraded
infrastructure must keep pace with the delivery of new homes. Our IDP shows that major investment
is required across the Borough to deliver our growth strategy.New development must contribute its
full share of the new infrastructure required to deliver growth.

2.18 Supporting the significant long term growth at Hemel Garden Community - which as one of few flagship
growth schemes supported by the County Council - will require prioritised funding. In addition, our
other towns will also be experiencing significant growth and will also require investment in infrastructure.
When our IDP is complete we will be confirming the scale of funding requried, how much of this can
be met by the development industry and how much will require public investment, drawing on our
partner organisations and central Government.

Natural Environment

2.19 The combined effects of climate change, population growth and development needs will increase
pressure on the natural environment. As already mentioned we have a particularly sensitive
environment in Dacorum in the shape of the quality of our protected landscapes (including the Chilterns
AONB) and the presence of the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC. The impacts of growth will be reduced
through:

the prudent use of natural resources;
encouraging renewable energy production;
the effective recycling of waste;
the sustainable design of new development;
careful land management.

2.20 Making effective use of urban land can also help reduce the pressure on the natural environment by
limiting the overall scale of greenfield development. New developments can also play their role by:
linking to existing green networks, creating new and varied green spaces, and promoting opportunities
for biodiversity and nature conservation.

Managing this Change

2.21 The planned levels of housing growth will signal significant changes to the towns and large villages
over the lifetime of the Plan. While there are many benefits to growth, including the regeneration of
our settlements, providing much needed new homes, new employment land and jobs, improvements
to and renewal of infrastructure and help to support existing and new services and facilities, it needs
to be managed and planned for carefully.

16

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 28



2.22 The following pages set out the strategy in more detail, particularly setting out how our towns and
villages will grow in a way that delivers the required level of growth but also does so in a way that
balances other priorities, particularly our environmental objectives.

2.23 Government policy requires that we make effective use of urban land, and minimise development
pressure on the Green Belt. Similarly, many of our residents are telling us that they prefer to see us
prioritise the use of urban land for development over greenfield land. However, our evidence
demonstrates that we cannot meet all the housing and employment need in urban areas and there
will need to be some development of greenfield sites, including sites within the Green Belt.

2.24 The main elements of our strategy are to:

Optimise the use of previously developed land as far as possible by increasing heights and
densities in key locations across the Borough;
Update our planning and design guidance to allowmore contemporary and innovating approaches
to development, including supporting offsite construction and other forms of Modern Methods
of Construction (MMCs) to increase delivery;
Deliver growth in Hemel Hempstead that will support the regeneration of the town and support
it as a key employment, shopping and cultural location;
Ensuring the important market towns of Berkhamsted and Tring play a much greater role in
delivering growth in the Borough and help balance growth and development opportunities in the
Borough;
Allow the villages to grow to meet more local needs; and
Protecting the character of the wider countryside and the value of protected / important sites as
far as possible (such as important landscapes, heritage and biodiversity and avoidance of areas
at high risk of flooding).

2.25 To manage this growth we will need to be forward looking and embrace growth and opportunity to
draw in the best of the public and private sector resources and skills. The reward for our communities
is significant investment in infrastructure, new schools, improved health care, more open spaces,
more affordable housing and and exemplar developments to help fight the impact of climate change.

Covid-19 Recovery

2.26 Underpinning these challenges is the need for the Plan to respond to the Covid-19 pandemic. In the
short term its impact has been unprecedented in terms of the way we live, work, shop and travel, and
how we socialise and use our local places and spaces. It has severely affected our local businesses
and damaged our communities in many ways. Unfortunately, it is uncertain as to the medium to
long-term consequences and depth of the health and economic emergency will have on our way of
life but this will become clearer as a road map to recovery develops.

2.27 The Council is committed, with the support of the Government and other agencies, to put recovery
plans in place to allow our communities and businesses to rebound and thrive.

2.28 Through our Plan we will:

Maintain momentum in getting the Plan to adoption to provide a clear framework for future
decisions on new development;
Coordinate investment strategies for businesses and jobs and place-based solutions;
Ensure policies are flexible to support growth and recovery;
Work positively with landowners, developers and agents to bring forward new development,
and support economic activity and ensure necessary infrastructure can be delivered;
Promote accelerated use of technology to make our businesses and communities more flexible
and resilient to change;
Help our shopping centres to evolve and find a new role;
Build on the positive impact Covid-19 has had on carbon emissions and air quality;

17

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 29



Ensure that high quality, accessible green space / outdoor space is an integral part of all new
development; and
Support good quality, well designed and connected homes, spaces and places and access to
essential services.

2.29 The following graphic provides background information on Dacorum and a context for the vision and
objectives of the Plan. These statistics represent the most recent figure up to 2018.

18

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 30



19

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 31



20

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 32



3 Borough Vision to 2038

3.1 This section of the Local Plan sets out the Vision for Dacorum and strategic outcomes. In developing
the vision we have had regard to the issues discussed in the previous section, including the scale of
the growth challenge across the SouthWest Hertfordshire Authorities, the infrastructure requirements,
environmental constraints, the input from public and stakeholder engagement and new and emerging
government policy and guidance.

Dacorum Growth and Infrastructure Strategy to 2050 "Shaping the future of Dacorum"

3.2 The Dacorum Growth and Infrastructure Strategy to 2050(1)sets out how we will make the growth that
the Local Plan is required to deliver, benefit the existing and new communities in the Borough. This
means being clear how we, in partnership with other organisations where appropriate - will ensure
that the right type of housing is delivered, infrastructure is provided on time, open space is available
and properly maintained, and services are provided for a considerably larger population.

3.3 The Strategy has informed the early stages of developing the strategic objectives of the Local Plan.
It guides how we can meet the challenges of future growth, and covers six over-arching themes:

Theme 1: Building Dacorum’s future with homes for everyone.
Theme 2: Generating a vibrant economy with opportunities for all.
Theme 3: A happier, healthier and safer Dacorum.
Theme 4: Creating a clean, green and attractive Dacorum.
Theme 5: On-track for a better transport network.
Theme 6: Harnessing the opportunity of technology and digital connectivity.

Dacorum Corporate Plan 2020-2025 "Delivering for Dacorum" 

3.4 This shapes the overall direction of what our priorities will be and what it will deliver over a five year
period and provides a focus to the wide range of services and statutory plans that add more detail to
enable focus upon and delivery of these priorities.

3.5 The vision for Dacorum was adopted in 2020: "working in partnership to create a borough which
enables communities to thrive and prosper".The Vision shapes the key corporate priorities and
informs all our strategies and plans. The priorities have been set by our Councillors, taking into account
the vision and what is most important to the Borough's residents:

A Clean, safe and enjoyable environment
Building strong and vibrant communities
Ensuring economic growth and prosperity
Providing good quality affordable homes, in particular for those most in need
Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service delivery

3.6 Alongside the five priorities, the Corporate Plan (2) includes the Medium Term Financial Strategy(3),
which sets out the key spending plans. The Corporate Plan is underpinned by a Corporate Action
Plan, which identifies the different projects that are being delivered and monitors progress and targets
against performance indicators.

1 http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic-planning/dacorum-growth-and-infratstructure-strategy-to-2050.pdf
2 http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/recruitment/corporate-plan-2020-2025.pdf
3 http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/finance-performance/medium-term-financial-strategy.pdf

21

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 33

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic-planning/dacorum-growth-and-infratstructure-strategy-to-2050.pdf
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/recruitment/corporate-plan-2020-2025.pdf
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/finance-performance/medium-term-financial-strategy.pdf


Overarching Vision for Dacorum's Growth

Dacorum will embrace the next phase of its development by building on its strengths and the opportunities
to deliver balanced communities with the homes, jobs and supporting infrastructure needed. As a result
of managing the change, Dacorum will remain an attractive and desirable home for residents and for a
wide variety of businesses.

New housing will have been provided in sustainable locations to a high standard of design. Affordable
housing will be provided and be genuinely affordable having regard to local circumstances and new homes
to meet the needs of older people, people with disabilities and those with specialist needs. New housing
will deliver our ambitious place-shaping objectives and deliver high quality design and sustainability
outcomes. All settlements will have separate and distinctive identities informed by proposals that are
shaped by a detailed understanding of place.

Growth will be accompanied by supporting services and infrastructure which are delivered at the right time
and benefit new and existing communities, particularly transportation, education and open spaces, to
create healthy and sustainable developments.

Environmental Sustainability

Growth in Dacorum is environmentally sustainable and helping to reduce the Borough’s contribution to
climate change through the location and design of development, by promoting energy efficiency and
renewable energy and sustainable construction, by facilitating a significant increase in sustainable travel
modes and supporting reductions in the use of finite resources.

The natural beauty of the Chiltern Hills and the varied character of the countryside will be enhanced,
admired and cherished. The countryside will be actively managed and enjoyed and support a healthy local
economy and diversity of wildlife. Water quality in the rivers and streams will be good. New woodlands
will have been planted for future generations and the Borough will be even greener. Special features, such
as the Grand Union Canal, remain an active part of the Borough's heritage. The wider historic environment
is valued and protected. The impact of growth on the Chilterns Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation
will have been effectively mitigated.

Dacorum will have a network of cycle lanes and secure bike parks, encouraging greater levels of cycling
and walking, while also promoting the use of public and greener transport. Sustainable transport is a real
option as public transport is more reliable, rapid, flexible, convenient and widely used. Places are better
connected, and there are greater opportunities to walk and cycle.

Economic Growth

Dacorum will have taken full advantage of its strategic M1 - M25 - A41 location. The economy is prosperous
and Hertfordshire Innovation Quarter will have delivered a new and dynamic Enviro-Tech business sector
which is attracting further growth and innovation. People and businesses are served by excellent community,
transport, and digital infrastructure. Dacorum’s economy will be more competitive and innovative and will
be adapting well to new markets and opportunities. The main town centre in Hemel Hempstead will be
enhanced and will continue to be a focus for shopping but will have evolved to become a more diverse
place by supporting a range of other activities.

Health and Wellbeing

Health and well-being has improved across all of the key stages in the life course. The social determinants
of preventable ill health are addressed and local health inequalities are reduced. Communities are inclusive,
sustainable and embrace diversity. Development is designed to a high quality and health impacts are
measured. Places encourage social connections, incorporate green infrastructure, promote active travel
and overall create a high quality living environment.

22

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 34



A full range of social, leisure and community facilities and services are delivered in a coordinated way
with new development in order to promote healthy behaviours and improve community cohesion. New
development will contribute to local and strategic infrastructure requirements. An active lifestyle will be
encouraged and supported through the provision of open space, sport and recreation facilities.
Opportunities for all people to increase their levels of physical activity will be supported with improved
provision of active travel.

The Vision for Dacorum's Places

Hemel Hempstead will have grown significantly and will:

have a thriving centre, providing new housing, business and enterprise and opportunities for all. The
Hemel Garden Communities programme will be delivering new homes, green spaces, green
businesses, and community facilities and is a catalyst for transforming Hemel Hempstead and taking
forward the legacy of the New Town;
have seen the redevelopment and renewal of key sites within the town, particularly the key
regeneration sites close to the Town Centre and Two Waters Area;
have delivered a reshaped town centre that provides a focus for retailing but also other leisure,
community and service uses that contribute to a vibrant public space, a well-developed evening
economy and a significant increase in residential development;
be recognised as a commercial hub particularly a focus in innovative Enviro-tech clusters;
be a key hub for public transportation and interchange offering a diverse choice of travel modes with
stronger public transport links;
have had significant transport improvements across the town with new link roads connecting the
existing highway network and making provision for alternative routes linking key destinations across
the town;
have transformed the main railway station and adjoining land into an important and attractive transport
gateway and interchange; and
have secured new health care facilities and other community and residential uses on the regenerated
hospital site.

Berkhamsted will have grown and will:

be an inclusive market town that meets the needs and aspirations of existing and new residents and
visitors;
have delivered comprehensively planned new neighbourhoods to the south and southwest of the
town in a way that takes account of sensitive views and landscape;
have provided significant new investment into sustainable transport initiatives to increase passenger
transport and improvements in walking and cycling connections throughout the town; and
have delivered a mix of market and affordable housing, new community facilities, including two
primary schools and a secondary school, local centre hub, and a hierarchy of open spaces.

Tring will have grown and will:

be an inclusive market town that meets the needs and aspirations of existing and new residents and
visitors;
have delivered comprehensively planned new neighbourhood to the east of the town in a way that
takes account of sensitive views, landscape and protected environmental sites;
have provided significant new investment into sustainable transport initiatives to increase passenger
transport and improvements in walking and cycling connections throughout the town;
have delivered a mix of market and affordable housing, new community facilities, a new business
hub, two primary schools and a secondary school;

23

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 35



have provided significant new open space and sports/leisure facilities to the east of the town; and
have benefited from further investment in transport infrastructure with active and attractive transport
links within the town including new and improved pedestrian and cycle links to the town centre and
Tring Station.

Bovingdon, Kings Langley and Markyate will have grown and will:

have provided increased levels of affordable homes;
have strengthened their role in providing services and facilities to serve residents and the adjacent
rural communities; and
have secured additional and improved local community facilities.

The Countryside and other small villages will:

be protected from development; and
have diversified further to support changing rural and agricultural practices.

Delivering our aspirations through our identified Strategic Outcomes

3.7 The vision is underpinned by a series of Strategic Outcomes that will guide the direction of the detailed
policies within it. These objectives will help focus action, meet the Borough vision and measure
progress.

24

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 36



25

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 37



26

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 38



Page 39



4 Sustainable Development in Dacorum

Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

4.1 The principles of sustainable development are central to the planning system. As set out in the NPPF
(paragraphs 11-16), all development has to accord with the central presumption in favour of sustainable
development.

4.2 Sustainable development is about meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability
of future generations to meet their own needs and making economic, environmental and social
progress for current and future generations. To achieve this, economic, social and environmental
gains should be pursued in an interconnected way. The planning system performs a number of roles
in this respect:

An economic role – contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by
ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places to support growth
and innovation, including infrastructure provision;
A social role – supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities by providing housing
(including affordable housing), and by creating a high quality built environment with accessible
local services; and
An environmental role – contributing to protecting and enhancing the natural, historic and built
environment, and as part of this, helping to improve biodiversity, use natural resources prudently,
minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt to climate change.

4.3 Achieving these roles is a central focus of the Dacorum Local Plan to 2038.

Policy SP1 - Sustainable Development in Dacorum

1. All development must contribute to the delivery of sustainable development objectives set out in the
NPPF. In the local context of Dacorum this means that development proposals and neighbourhood
planning documents should:

a. Contribute to meeting the vision and strategic outcomes for the Borough set out above, and fit
with the 'delivery strategies' and 'guiding development' policies of the Dacorum Local Plan (and
policies within Made neighbourhood plans).

b. Where there are no policies relevant to the application then the Council will grant permission
unless material considerations indicate otherwise – taking into account whether:

i. any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole, or

ii. specific policies in the NPPF indicate that development should be restricted.
2. Proposals that are in accordance with the development plan will be approved without delay, unless

material considerations indicate otherwise. The Council will work proactively with applicants to find
solutions so that proposals can be approved wherever possible, and to secure development that
improves the economic, social and environmental conditions in the area.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

NPPF Paragraphs 11-16

28

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 40



K
EY

D
IA
G
R
A
M

29

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 41



5 Spatial Strategy for Growth

5.1 To establish a framework for growth we have identified a strategy which has been guided by a number
of considerations, stemming from well-established principles of sustainable development together
with a number of local considerations.

5.2 The key principles behind the strategy include:

Delivering our requirement to significantly boost the housing supply, and in particular, increasing
the number of new and genuinely affordable homes in the Borough;
Delivering our economic aspirations by providing employment opportunities as well as supporting
retail development;
Seeking out opportunities to maximise the amount of development on previously developed
land within existing urban areas but taking this concept much further in Hemel Hempstead by
proactively encouraging substantial increases in heights and densities in the most accessible
locations;
Providing growth that will contribute to the transformation and regeneration of Hemel Hempstead
and renewal of its New Town infrastructure;
Ensuring the important market towns of Berkhamsted and Tring play a much greater role in
delivering growth in the Borough and complement Hemel Hempstead in providing more balance
to the growth focus and help deliver housing, employment and infrastructure in these locations;
Providing growth in the villages that reflects their role and character;
Minimising and managing the requirement for development on Green Belt land and the impact
on the Chilterns AONB and other protected sites;
Ensuring that the preferred strategy is of such a form and scale to deliver the appropriate level
and type of infrastructure such as schools, health and transport/movement; and
The delivery of meaningful new infrastructure provision.

5.3 The spatial strategy aims to deliver the significant uplift in growth in a sustainable way across the
Borough, seeking out opportunities to regenerate Hemel Hempstead and to continue to act as a
cataylst for its transformation. Elsewhere, we are looking to accommodate growth that supports the
long term function of the towns and villages and that delivers sufficient growth to provide much needed
investment in infrastructure. We know that we cannot accommodate all the growth within the urban
area, so despite our approach to increasing densities and heights, we do need to release land in the
Green Belt.

5.4 The strategy focuses growth in and around the most sustainable settlements in the Borough, principally
Hemel Hempstead, Berkhamsted and Tring through utilising urban land as well as through extensions
to each settlement. Hemel Hempstead’s growth will be focused through much greater urban
intensification reflecting the wider availability of development opportunities and the sustainability of
the town and access to services, facilities and employment. The expansion of the town will be focused
to the north and east of the Hemel Hempstead, with further land removed from the Green Belt to meet
longer term needs.

5.5 The Growth Strategy for Berkhamsted and Tring will also seek to maximise urban capacity but will
not pursue an urban intensification strategy that detracts from the character of these locations. Instead
growth will be accommodated through expansions to these settlements in a way that manages
landscape and Green Belt impacts but also meets our aspirations for growth to be sustainably located
close to passenger transport and other services, facilities and employment opportunities.

5.6 While the large villages of Bovingdon, Kings Langley and Markyate provide a reasonable level of
services and facilities, they are relatively constrained in terms of local infrastructure. Therefore, the
strategy proposes only modest levels of growth in these settlements.

30

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 42



5.7 The strategy avoids directing significant development to the smaller villages and wider countryside.
We see these areas as being the least sustainable locations, they are more sensitive to substantial
change, access and public transport is poorer, and there is a general lack of employment opportunities,
supporting service and facilities there.

5.8 Not all development needs and infrastructure requirements can bemet in the Borough.We will continue
to work closely with neighbouring districts on cross-boundary matters. Growth to the north and east
of Hemel Hempstead necessitates joint working with St Albans City and District, Hertfordshire County
Council, Herts LEP and the landowners to bring forward the Hemel Garden Communities project (see
the 'Hemel Hempstead Garden Communities Delivery Strategy'). This will require the co-ordination
of planning across local authority boundaries to ensure a consistent approach is taken within emerging
plans and strategies, alignment to the overall objectives for the town as a whole, and delivery of key
strategic infrastructure for Hemel Hempstead.

Policy SP2 - Spatial Strategy for Growth

1. Dacorum's Local plan will make provision for the following in the period between 2020 and 2038:

a. A minimum of 16,596 homes.
b. No net loss of office floorspace from 2025 onwards.
c. A net floorspace increase of 116,500 sqm of industrial floorspace.
d. Additional retail floorspace to meet the main identified needs in Dacorum's towns focused on

Hemel Hempstead and Tring town centres and, on a smaller scale, in new district or local
centres in the Growth Areas.

e. Associated infrastructure to support the above.
2. The primary focus of strategic growth and investment will be at Hemel Hempstead, supported by

growth at Berkhamsted and Tring and then the large villages of Bovingdon, Kings Langley and
Markyate. Elsewhere large-scale development will be restricted outside of the towns and large
villages.

3. The majority of new growth and investment will be concentrated in sustainable locations as follows:

a. Hemel Hempstead will grow by over 10,600 new homes and will deliver the majority of new
employment space. A key feature of the strategy will be the intensification of sites within Hemel
Hempstead through increased heights and densities. Key areas for redevelopment include
sites across the Town Centre and Two Waters Areas. Smaller scale development within the
existing urban area will also be provided to ensure previously developed land is optimised. The
town will grow to the north by providing a minimum of 1,500 homes with further land to deliver
an additional 4,000 homes released from the Green Belt but safeguarded to meet longer term
needs. Beyond 2038, new urban extensions will be planned and developed drawing on Garden
City principles set out in the Hemel Garden Communities Delivery Strategy, with development
within and around Hemel Hempstead supporting the transformation of the town. These sites
will provide or support delivery of identified strategic infrastructure requirements, and sustainable
transport enhancements and improve connectivity across the town.

b. Berkhamsted will accommodate growth of at least 2,200 new homes. Development will enhance
the town centre and strengthen its function as a key market town in the Borough and will provide
significant new investment into sustainable transport initiatives, education, open space and
sports facilities.

c. Tring will accommodate growth of at least 2,700 new homes. Development will enhance the
town centre and strengthen its function as a key market town in the Borough and will provide
significant new investment into sustainable transport initiatives, education, open space and
sports facilities.

d. At the larger villages growth will be apportioned as follows: Bovingdon (240 units), Kings Langley
(275 units) and Markyate (215 units).

e. At smaller villages, there will be more limited housing growth coming forward through either
’windfall’ applications or Neighbourhood Plan allocations rather than allocations in this Plan.

31

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 43



f. Elsewhere in rural areas, housing development will be strictly limited. This is likely to be
small-scale incremental development and should be principally in line with Policies SP11 -
Development in the Green Belt and SP12 - Development in the Rural Area and other relevant
policies in the Plan.

g. An allowance for windfall development of around 2,400 dwelling over the Plan period.
4. Development that does not fit with the scale, distribution or requirements of this policy will not be

permitted.
5. The Council will also support additional growth beyond what is outlined above where this comes

forward through Neighbourhood Plans or other local development initiatives where this accords with
the objectives and strategies of the Plan.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Settlement Hierarchy Study Main Report October 2017
Settlement Profile Paper October 2017

32

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 44



6 The Settlement Hierarchy

6.1 In order to ensure that new development takes place in locations that have the best access to a wide
range of services, facilities and employment opportunities, whilst minimising the need to travel, we
have developed the settlement hierarchy. This is based on an assessment of population size, settlement
connectivity, and the availability of employment and other services and facilities. Growth is to be
focused on the main towns and large villages, that have access to a greater level of supporting
services, facilities and other local infrastructure.

Policy SP3 - The Settlement Hierarchy

1. New development will be primarily focused in or adjacent to Hemel Hempstead, the market towns,
and large villages. The scale and distribution of development should broadly align with the settlement
hierarchy set out below and in each settlement's Delivery Strategy policies that arise from it.
Development will be controlled in the countryside in order to protect its rural character.

Table 1 Settlement Hierarchy

DescriptionSettlementCategory

The most sustainable location in the Borough and the
focus for the majority of development and strategic and
town-wide infrastructure. Hemel Hempstead acts as

Hemel HempsteadStrategic Settlement

the primary service centre for the Borough. The town
will also expand on its eastern side into St Albans City
and District Council area.

These market towns are sustainable locations and will
be the focus for significant development. These
settlements act as service centres for other villages
around them.

BerkhamstedMarket towns

Tring

Growth in the large villages will be at a scale in keeping
with their local character and setting. Sites are allocated
to enable modest levels of expansion that reflects their
role and function as well as other constraints to growth.

BovingdonLarge Villages

Kings Langley

Markyate

These are the least sustainable areas of the Borough,
providing much lower level of facilities and where
significant environmental constraints often apply. They

ChipperfieldSmall Villages within
the Green Belt Flamstead

Potten End offer restricted scope for development such as limited
infilling within the selected small villages, reuse ofWiggington
buildings, and the redevelopment of previouslyAldburySmall Villages within

the Rural Area developed land. Such locations include areas of high
landscape quality, such as the Chilterns AONB and theLong Marston
countryside gaps between settlements. This needs to
be protected to ensure their rural character is retained
and settlements keep their separate identities.

Wilstone

Other small villages
and the countryside

33

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 45



Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Settlement Hierarchy Study Main Report October 2017
Settlement Profile Paper October 2017

34

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 46



7 The Housing Delivery Strategy

7.1 The housing delivery strategy seeks to bring forward a sufficient number, quality and type of housing
to meet the needs for general market and affordable homes and other specific housing needs of the
community. It delivers a substantial uplift in supply compared to the previous Local Plan. Policy SP4
- The Housing Strategy highlights the different sources of housing supply, their contribution to meeting
identified housing need over the Plan period, and seeks to ensure a 5 year supply of housing from
adoption of this Plan.

National Policy

7.2 In considering the delivery of homes, the NPPF requires that planning authorities:

make every effort to meet the housing, business and other development needs of an area
(paragraph 11);
demonstrate that they have a five year supply of “deliverable” sites in order to meet housing
needs in the first five years of the plan period (paragraph 67);
identify a supply of specific “developable” sites or broad locations for growth for years 6 to 10
and where possible years 11 to 15 (paragraph 67);
can make an allowance for windfall sites as part of anticipated supply, where there is compelling
evidence that they will provide a reliable source of supply (paragraph 71); and
Make provision for a variety of buffers, as appropriate, to take account of choice and competition
in the market for land in the first five year period, any fluctuations in the market during that year,
or to reflect persistent under delivery (paragraph 73).

Evidence base and other studies

7.3 As part of the evidence base to the Plan, we have undertaken a number of steps to understand the
housing supply over the period 2020-38. We have:

carried out regular monitoring of commitments, completions and existing Plan allocations through
our Residential Land Position Statements and Authority Monitoring Reports (4);
'Called for Sites' during the earlier stages of preparing the Plan to identify potential greenfield
and brownfield sites;
prepared an Urban Capacity Study to assess what different sources of supply could come
forward (incorporating sites from the 2016 Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment and
Brownfield Land Register(5). These identified the suitability of such sites and appraised likely
levels of contributions from windfall sites;
assessed opportunities to increase housing densities on urban sites, particularly in highly
accessible locations and transport hubs;
completed an assessment of potential greenfield sites that could come forward and identified
the suitability of such sites;
engaged with landowner, developers and agents to better understand the timing and delivery
of their sites; and
engaged with key stakeholders, as well as relevant infrastructure and service providers over
site-specific, settlement or Borough wide constraints, how they might affect bringing forward
housing land and, where appropriate, how they might be overcome.

7.4 The South West Hertfordshire Local Housing Needs Assessment not only identified the overall local
housing need for the Borough, but also the needs of different sectors of the community including for
affordable housing, housing mix, and specialist accommodation. Therefore, in addition to the overall
housing target, this Plan supports new bed-spaces to help meet the accommodation needs of older
people needing residential or nursing care. Similarly the, Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs

4 https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/monitoring-reports-and-land-position-statements
5 http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/brownfield-land-register

35

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 47

https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/monitoring-reports-and-land-position-statements
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/brownfield-land-register


Assessment explores the need for future pitches and other forms of accommodation over the lifetime
of the Plan. Detailed discussion on both matters can be found in the 14 'Housing Delivery'chapter of
the Plan.

Housing Land Supply

7.5 The Local Housing Needs Assessment has helped us understand what our housing requirement
should be. However, the Government is proposing changes to the standard method in its recent
consultations on the Planning Reform White Paper and related changes to the planning system. We
have therefore progressed the Plan on the basis of this new housing need calculation of 922 homes
pa (i.e. 16,596 homes over the period 2020-38). We recognise that there are uncertainties over using
this as our housing figure, particularly as there may be a further refinement to the process of calculating
housing need and other matters that may need to be factored in. We will keep this issue under review
as we progress to the next stage of the Plan and make any necessary adjustments when we know
more.

7.6 Irrespective of the final growth figure, the NPPF requires that we fully explore the potential to make
effective use of urban land (paragraphs 118 and 137), especially before considering the exceptional
circumstances needed for justifying Green Belt releases for housing purposes. We have thoroughly
reviewed the scope for meeting our housing needs from urban land, particularly that from our main
towns and larger villages. Such steps include:

accounting for future commitments based on the most recently available monitoring data (as
at 1st April 2020);
bringing forward earlier and identifying new Plan (strategic and non-strategic) allocations in the
existing urban areas;
identifying development opportunities from sites in the Urban Capacity Study;
exploring housing opportunities from former employment land;
fully reviewing opportunities to increase delivery on allocated sites;
making an allowance across the Plan period of 200 homes pa for windfalls (i.e. small to large
sites not currently identified in the Plan but based on an analysis of historic rates); and
identifying contributions from Neighbourhood Plans.

7.7 We have planned for 16,899 homes to be built over the Plan period. This will result in a significant
uplift in the supply of housing with a strong focus on delivery. It will also helps satisfy the
broad housing needs of our communities, supports a mix of types and sizes of sites, provide for a
modest contingency over the housing requirement, and ensure delivery across the Plan period. The
table below summarises the main sources of supply.

Table 2 Sources of Housing Land Supply

Housing Land Supply 2020 - 2038 as at April 2020

16,596Number of homes required to be built

2,708Total existing commitments

5,638Urban Growth Areas

200Grovehill Neighbourhood Plan

2,408Windfalls

5,945Strategic greenfield Growth Areas

16,899Total Housing Supply

+303Surplus over housing need figure (16,899 - 16,596)

36

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 48



7.8 The table indicates that some of the housing supply is already committed through existing planning
permissions, and a large proportion is identified as urban Growth and Renewal Areas in the existing
settlements. Amodest contribution can also bemade from the Grovehill Neighbourhood Plan. However,
we have not made any specific allowance for further growth coming forward through the emerging
Bovingdon and Kings Langley Neighbourhood Plans, as these already form part of the housing supply.

7.9 Our analysis indicates that windfall sites will play an important part in the housing programme (at 200
homes pa). They are made up of a wide range of small to large sites from a variety of sources that
have been calculated using historic delivery rates and expected future trends. We believe it is justified
based on past local evidence and is a reliable source of supply across the Plan period.

7.10 Our evidence tells us that most of the new homes will come forward from urban sites in our main
towns and large villages (chiefly over the short to medium term). Most opportunities will arise in Hemel
Hempstead as our largest settlement, particularly in and around the town centre and within the Two
Waters area. The policies in the Plan will also encourage a strong urban focus to the housing
programme and appropriate levels of intensification/densification.

7.11 However, urban sites cannot contribute a sufficient number of new homes to meet full housing need.
This means that we will have to rely on a range of strategic releases of Green Belt land to meet this
need.

Housing Delivery

7.12 The graph below outlines the projected housing trajectory (as at a base date of 1 April 2020) in each
year of the Plan period to secure delivery of the annual housing need of 922 homes and to ensure a
modest additional land supply buffer.

7.13 While forecast delivery does vary against the annual housing need figure over the Plan period, there
is a sufficient housing land supply of deliverable and developable housing sites to satisfy the
requirement to 2038 and modestly exceed it by around 280 homes.

Figure 2 Housing Trajectory 2020 - 2038

37

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 49



7.14 In the short-term the housing programme is more dependent on the supply of existing commitments
and previous Plan allocations carried forward into this Plan. Housing supply peaks over the mid-term
of the Plan as the Growth Areas begin to be built-out (alongside a smaller contribution from windfalls).
The latter half of the housing programme sees a steady fall in delivery as the Plan becomes more
reliant on the larger greenfield Growth Areas .

7.15 The scale of housing necessary in this Plan means that the housing programme will provide for
development in a variety of locations and ranges of site sizes, support a variety of house builders and
allow for genuine opportunities for self and custom build housing. The larger scale Growth Areas at
Hemel Hempstead, Berkhamsted and Tring will provide the greatest opportunities to secure a range
of housing types, tenures and other types of specialist accommodation.

7.16 Further detail on the housing supply and anticipated rates of delivery for sites is provided in the
Housing Topic Paper.

Small Sites

7.17 In accordance with National Policy, the plan identifies sufficient sites that are less than one hectare
in size which is capable of meeting at least 10% of the overall housing requirement. This is made up
through a combination of Growth Area allocations and other sites with planning permission and where
construction has yet to commence on the site. These sites are presented in Appendix 2.

Contingencies/Flexibility

7.18 Overall, the Plan sets out an approach to housing that will provide a significant uplift in delivery,
particularly in the first half of the Plan period. Sufficient land has been identified so as to meet and
modestly exceed the housing need figure of 922 homes pa. The modest projected over-supply allows
for a small degree of flexibility if some sites are not implemented or there are other long-term delays.

7.19 However, the Plan must be sufficiently flexible to allow for uncertainties in the housing supply such
as the economic cycle, changing market conditions, physical or planning constraints including the
complexities of multiple landownership sites, and infrastructure difficulties leading to the stalling of
individual sites. The Covid-19 pandemic has introduced further short term uncertainties into the
housing market. Achieving this level of housing delivery will prove challenging, especially as it
represents a very significant increase on past housing requirements.

7.20 We have avoided any formal phasing of sites as the sheer scale of housing that we are required to
deliver does not warrant this. The larger sites are naturally constrained in terms of lead-in times, the
need for site preparation and the timing of infrastructure. Therefore, the Plan does not seek to regulate
sites and they are generally free to come forward providing necessary infrastructure can be delivered
in a timely manner. The Plan provides for a range of sites in different locations which means that it
is not dependent on delivery or market conditions in any one location.

7.21 Development to the north of Hemel Hempstead offers the opportunity for multiple house builders to
deliver a mix of housing products. The scheme also forms part of a large and
comprehensive development that extends east of the town into St Albans City and District, which is
included within their Local Plan. However, its scale requires it to be infrastructure-led which in turn
requires it to be phased. The first phase (North Hemel Growth Area (Phase 1)) can deliver around
1,500 homes in the Plan period. A second phase (North Hemel Growth Area (Phase 2) will deliver
an additional 4,000 homes from 2038 onwards. The latter will be identified as safeguarded land until
released for housing.

7.22 The Plan allocates a number of small to medium sized strategic and non-strategic sites for housing
development, particularly in the earlier years of the plan period. These will help provide short-term
flexibility and contingency reducing the reliance on the larger Growth Areas as part of the major
planned new growth.

38

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 50



7.23 The housing trajectory is based on discussions with house-builders, infrastructure providers, an
assessment of previous delivery rates and other factors. This has helped minimise known risks and
provide broad confidence over the timing and delivery of key sites. While the trajectory sets out when
sites can reasonably be brought forward it does not prevent earlier or accelerated delivery where
opportunities arise.

7.24 We will carefully monitor supply as part of our regular monitoring routines to ensure a steady delivery
of homes. We will also be assessed annually against the national Housing Delivery Test that looks
at housing delivery rates over a rolling three year period. This sets out a number of actions a local
authority will have to take if housing supply falls below specified levels.

7.25 We can undertake a range of corporate actions, support the actions of other organisations and actively
engage with the development industry in order to increase and speed up housing delivery should
under-supply become persistent during the Plan period.

Policy SP4 - The Housing Strategy

1. The Plan will deliver a minimum of 16,596 net additional homes across the Borough over the period
2020-2038. Housing growth will be concentrated on and adjacent to the existing urban areas of
Hemel Hempstead, Berkhamsted and Tring and the three larger villages of Bovingdon, Kings Langley
and Markyate. New homes will be delivered in accordance with the delivery strategies through:

a. The completion of existing commitments.
b. The redevelopment of previously developed land, vacant or underused sites within the urban

areas of the Borough.
c. An increase in the height and densities of urban sites across all of the main towns and large

villages subject to character, with active focus on tall and taller buildings in the Hemel Hempstead
Town Centre and the Two Waters areas.

d. Bringing forward regeneration opportunities in Hemel Hempstead in and around the Town
Centre, Two Waters and the Maylands Growth Areas.

e. The development of small to medium sized allocations in the urban areas as set out in the
relevant settlements delivery strategies.

f. Bringing forward windfall allowance for small and large sites not identified in the Plan.
g. The development of small-scale sites within the selected small villages in accordance with

relevant countryside policies in this Plan.
h. The delivery of housing already identified in the Grovehill Neighbourhood Plan, and through

small to medium sized allocations in future neighbourhood plans in the rural areas of the
Borough.

i. The strategic urban extension of North Hemel Growth Area (Phase 1): which is a strategic
allocation on the northern and eastern edge of the town. The scheme will provide up to 1,500
homes within the plan period (5,000 overall homes within Dacorum). Beyond 2038 this will
support a larger comprehensive scheme which will deliver approximately 11,000 dwellings in
total around Hemel Hempstead.

j. The development of a series of strategic urban extensions on land on the south and western
edges of Berkhamsted and up to the A41. These will chiefly be made up of a number of small
and large developments to the south and south-west which will deliver around 1,870 homes in
total, including land for new primary and secondary schools, and other facilities.

k. The development of a series of strategic urban extensions on land on the eastern and south
eastern edge of Tring, that will deliver up to 2,200 homes, including land for new primary and
secondary schools, and other facilities.

l. Small to medium scale strategic urban extensions on the settlement edge of Bovingdon (150
homes), Kings Langley (145 homes) and Markyate (150 homes).

m. Land will be released from the Green Belt and safeguarded for development of up to 4,000
homes at North Hemel Growth Area (Phase 2) to meet the long term needs of Hemel Hempstead
post 2038.

39

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 51



2. The housing strategy will support, in accordance with the Local Housing Needs Assessment and
other studies, the provision of a mix of housing tenures, types and sizes of homes, plots for self-build
and custom housing, and specialist accommodation to meet the needs for care in the community
and an ageing population.

3. The Council will resist any net loss in the Borough's stock of homes, existing public and other
authorised Gypsy and Traveller sites and the travelling showpeople sites, unless in accordance with
other Plan policies or there are compelling and overriding reasons to do so.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Residential Land Position Statements
Authority Monitoring Reports
South West Hertfordshire Local Housing Needs Assessment
Dacorum Greenfield Site Assessment
Urban Capacity Study
Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment

40

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 52



8 The Employment Strategy

8.1 The employment strategy seeks to bring forward a sufficient amount of employment space in the right
locations to deliver our wider economic objectives.

National Policy

8.2 The NPPF states that local planning authorities should adopt policies which support economic growth
in their area. Significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth and
productivity, taking into account both local business needs and wider opportunities for development.

Evidence base and other studies

8.3 Along with the other South West Hertfordshire authorities, we commissioned the South West
Hertfordshire Economic Studies (2016 and 2019). These studies looked at employment land and
floorspace requirements to 2036. They also reviewed some existing and potential future employment
areas. The Dacorum Employment Land Availability Assessment (2017) provided more detailed advice
on the quantity, mix and geographical spread of employment land in the Borough

8.4 The Council’s Enterprise and Investment Action Plan 2017-2020 aims to provide an environment in
which businesses can flourish. It seeks to foster a reputation for the Borough being open for business
and attracting businesses to the area.

8.5 The Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) is responsible for a number of important initiatives
and reports, including:

Hertfordshire Strategic Economic Plan (2017)
Loss of Employment Space in Hertfordshire (2017)
Hertfordshire Local Industrial Strategy (draft 2019)

8.6 An important element of the LEP’s strategy is the Hertfordshire Innovation Quarter Enterprise Zone
(Herts IQ) Its aim is to attract a wide range of high value sectors linked to environmental technologies,
such as off-site construction, ‘agritech’ and digital industries. The multi-site Enterprise Zone includes
part of Maylands Business Park in Hemel Hempstead and the proposed 55 hectare East Hemel
Hempstead employment site in St Albans City and District.

8.7 Key economic messages for Dacorum to address in the light of the Economic Study Update (2019)
are:

Supporting the growth of established sectors is key to addressing productivity
challenges: South West Hertfordshire has established strengths in professional services, ICT
and film and TV production, with significant growth potential. Science-based industries should
also be supported.
Supply of employment space is at critically low levels: there are shortages across South
West Hertfordshire, including a shortage of industrial space and space for small firms in Dacorum.
High quality transport access is important for new employment development: high value
office occupiers require high quality amenities and good public transport access, particularly to
London. However, connections to Maylands Business Park are unlikely to improve sufficiently
to produce substantial office growth there. Large and medium sized industrial firms require
access to the strategic road network. Maylands Business Park dominates the market, particularly
for strategic warehouses. Smaller occupiers are more locationally footloose and need sites with
affordable rents and flexible leases.

8.8 The South West Hertfordshire Economic Studies identified South West Hertfordshire as a Functional
Economic Market Area (FEMA). This reflects evidence of strong commuting andmigration relationships
and shared leisure, retail and public sector catchment areas.

41

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 53



8.9 Given the complex relationship between housing and jobs growth and the uncertainty over total jobs
growth, the Economic Study Update advised against setting jobs growth targets in Local Plans. Instead,
it recommended planning for appropriate increases in office and industrial floorspace, which are more
tangible and easier to monitor.

8.10 The study recommended that the SouthWest Hertfordshire authorities should aim to provide additional
employment space between 2018 and 2036, as follows:

Offices: 188,000 sqm
Industrial: 481,500 sqm

8.11 Indicative district-level floorspace figures for the 2018-2036 period are set out in the study, to inform
Local Plan preparation. Dacorum’s indicative figures are 45,100 sqm (offices) and 196,500 sqm
(industrial). However, the study advised that decisions on floorspace and land requirements in local
plans should be informed also by duty to co-operate discussions, which take account of land availability
for new development across the FEMA.

8.12 Office land supply in SouthWest Hertfordshire exceeds the requirement by 76,000 sqm, but Dacorum
has a shortfall of 68,000 sqm against its indicative floorspace figure. There are surpluses in Watford,
Three Rivers and St Albans. The latter has an oversupply of 80,000 sqm, due to the capacity for
152,000 sqm of offices on the East Hemel Hempstead site.

8.13 With industrial land supply, the Economic Study Update indicated a shortfall of 211,000 sqm shortfall
in South West Hertfordshire, including an under supply of 120,000 sqm in Dacorum. However, St
Albans City and District has a surplus of 80,000 sqm, because of the potential at East Hemel
Hempstead.

8.14 St Albans City and District Council's decision to include the permitted Radlett Aerodrome strategic
rail freight interchange in its Local Plan means that there is now a surplus of industrial land in South
West Hertfordshire against the Economic Study Update's indicative floorspace figure. However, the
study stated that, although the rail freight interchange would enable all the strategic demand for
industrial space to be met across South West Hertfordshire, there will still be a need for small and
medium sized units in other locations to meet more local demand.

8.15 Future employment floorspace needs, particularly for offices, may be affected by the current Covid-19
pandemic. It is not possible to make an accurate forecast at present, but we will give the matter further
consideration before publishing the next stage of the Local Plan. Our indicative floorspace figures
may also be adjusted to reflect the 2020-2038 time horizon of our Local Plan.

The Proposed Strategy

8.16 Our economic strategy is based on the following approach:

1. accommodate Dacorum’s indicative floorspace growth figures for office and industrial space as
far as possible;

2. enhance Maylands Business Park as Dacorum’s premier business park, including support for
green technological uses in Dacorum’s part of the Herts IQ Enterprise Zone;

3. give high priority to medium and small sized businesses in new employment development;
4. retain existing employment sites unless there are overriding planning reasons to the contrary;

and
5. allocate additional sites to create employment areas that are commercially attractive, with good

road and public transport access and high quality amenities such as local shops and cafes.

8.17 Accommodating the Borough’s indicative floorspace growth figures for office and industrial space is
very challenging, given the large shortfalls shown. Indeed, our shortfalls are now larger than stated
in the Economic Study Update, as explained in the Economic Development Topic Paper.

42

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 54



8.18 Viability issues mean that the scope for new offices in our existing urban areas is very limited and
there is no significant urban industrial land supply except at Maylands Gateway fronting the St Albans
Road/Breakspear Way. Consequently, major Green Belt releases would be needed in order to meet
our indicative floorspace figures.

8.19 Given this, we asked the other SouthWest Hertfordshire authorities if they could take our unmet need.
Dacorum and St Albans councils are working together to ensure that most of our unmet need will be
accommodated on the East Hemel Hempstead site in St Albans City and District. This site is ideally
located, as it will act as an extension to Maylands Business Park. It also forms the principal
development opportunity in the Herts IQ Enterprise Zone.

8.20 We envisage that the East Hemel Hempstead site will accommodate around 84,000 sqm of our unmet
office floorspace need and 80,000 sqm of our unmet need for industrial space. After taking this into
account, we conclude as follows on employment land supply in Dacorum:

Offices: there is still a small shortfall against the indicative floorspace figure. Indeed, we expect
a further net loss of office floorspace up to 2025, due to existing commitments. Beyond 2025,
the stock of office floorspace is likely to stay broadly unchanged. Despite this, we do not consider
that land should be released from the Green Belt for office development, due to the lack of
suitable and viable sites, and the overall floorspace surplus in South West Hertfordshire.
Industrial: there remains a substantial shortfall against Dacorum's indicative floorspace figure.
There is also a severe shortage of land for small and medium sized firms. We consider that
these factors constitute exceptional circumstances, justifying the release of some Green Belt
land for industrial development.

8.21 In the light of the above, we consider that the appropriate indicative floorspace figures in this Plan
(excluding any contribution from the East Hemel Hempstead site) are for no net change of office
floorspace after 2025 and for an additional 116,500 sqm of industrial space between 2018 and 2036.

New employment sites

8.22 In selecting new sites for employment development (mainly industrial) sufficient to enable the indicative
industrial floorspace figure in SP5 - Delivering the Employment Strategy to be met, we have followed
the Dacorum Employment Land Availability Assessment’s advice that sites along the A41 are good
locations for local businesses, as they are less attractive for strategic warehouses which need good
motorway access.

8.23 The Plan releases land from the Green Belt for employment development next to the A41 junction in
Hemel Hempstead (5 hectares) and at Dunsley Farm, Tring (7.4 hectares). It also proposes extensions
to the existing employment areas in the Green Belt at Upper Bourne End Lane/Stoney Lane (Bourne
End Mills) (1.1 hectares) and Bovingdon Brickworks (0.7 hectares). A total of around 47,000 sqm of
industrial development can be accommodated on these sites.

Policy SP5 - Delivering the Employment Strategy

1. Over the Plan period the Council will seek to grow and develop Dacorum’s economy by capitalising
on the Borough’s position near to the M25 and M1, its proximity to London and the wider Herts IQ
Enterprise Zone aspirations.

2. The strategy for supporting economic needs will be delivered by:

a. The continued development of Hemel Hempstead as an important economic centre for the
Borough.

b. Supporting the knowledge-based economy, including the development of green technological
businesses at Maylands Gateway close to M1 Junction 8 in the Hertfordshire Innovation Quarter
Enterprise Zone.

43

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 55



c. Attracting new businesses, encouraging business start-ups and assisting businesses to grow,
particularly on employment proposal sites, where provision for small and medium sized
businesses will be required.

d. Planning to meet the following indicative floorspace figures:

i. Offices: no net loss of space from 2025 onwards.
ii. Industrial: net floorspace increase of 116,500 sqm between 2018 and 2036

e. Supporting the expansion of Maylands Business Park onto the East Hemel Hempstead site in
St Albans City and District, to accommodate Dacorum’s unmet need for office and industrial
floorspace.

f. Retaining and developing existing employment sites that meet longer term needs for a wide
range of office and industrial uses, and releasing sites that do not meet future requirements.

g. Encouraging offices in town, district and local centres.
h. Allocating 20 ha of office and industrial development land within use classes E, B2 and B8 at

the following Employment Growth Areas:

Table 3 Employment Growth Areas

Growth Area AllocationSettlement

Breakspear Way/Green Lane/Boundary Way,
Maylands Gateway (Growth Area HH20)

Hemel Hempstead

Two Waters Road/A41 Junction (Growth Area
HH16)

Dunsley Farm, London Road (Growth Area
Tr01)

Tring

Upper Bourne End Lane/Stoney Lane (Bourne
End Mills) (Growth Area Cy01)

The Countryside

Bovingdon Brickworks (Growth Area Cy02)

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

South West Herts Economic Study Update September 2019
Dacorum Employment Land Availability Assessment - October 2017
Hertfordshire LEP Website
Enterprise and Investment Team Action Plan - 2017-20
LEP Loss of Employment Space in Hertfordshire - february 2019
LEP Key Documents
Hertfordshire IQ - LEP

44

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 56

https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic-planning/south-west-herts-economic-study-update---september-2019.pdf?sfvrsn=3594099e_6
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic-planning/dacorum-employment-land-availability-assessment-october-2017.pdf?sfvrsn=57e1339e_6
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic-planning/enterprise-and-investment-team-action-plan-2017-20.pdf?sfvrsn=e3b8339e_4
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/7128/loss-of-employment-space-in-hertfordshire-february-2019.pdf
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/key-documents/
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/what-we-do/priorities/enterprise-innovation/hertfordshire-iq/


9 The Retail and Leisure Development Strategy

9.1 The retail and leisure development strategy seeks to manage the long term resilience of town centres,
making sure they can respond to continued and rapid changes to the way we shop on and offline and
use our town centres and continue to thrive and be the heart of our towns.

National Policy

9.2 The NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should support the role that town centres play
at the heart of their local communities, by taking a positive approach to their growth, management
and adaptation. A hierarchy of town centres should be defined. The NPPF recognises the importance
of a diverse range of ‘main town centre uses’, including retail, leisure, entertainment and more intensive
sport and recreation uses (e.g. cinemas, restaurants, pubs, health and fitness centres), offices and
the arts. It also recognises that a wide range of complementary uses and evening and night time
activities can help support the vitality of town centres. The term ‘town centres’ in the NPPF also apply
to district and local centres.

Evidence base studies

9.3 We, along with the adjoining authorities of Hertsmere, St Albans, Three Rivers and Watford,
commissioned the South West Hertfordshire Retail and Leisure Study (2018). This study provided us
with an understanding of existing retail and leisure issues across the area, together with an objective
assessment of future needs and possible strategic responses.

9.4 More recently, we commissioned the Further Dacorum Retail Study (2020) to update the retail aspects
of the 2018 study. The Further Study takes account of changed circumstances, including greater
clarity on likely future housing development and revised forecasts of future retail expenditure. It also
assessed potential sites for retail development in the town centres and advised on its potential
distribution.

9.5 The evidence defined a retail hierarchy with Hemel Hempstead as a sub-regional centre, Berkhamsted
and Tring as town centres, Hemel Hempstead Old Town and potentially Apsley as district centres,
and a number of local centres in Hemel Hempstead.

9.6 The forecasts in the 2020 study reflected various assumptions, including estimated increases in
population, retail expenditure and internet shopping. After taking existing commitments into account,
the study identified capacity for 13,200-16,500 sqm net of additional convenience (food) floorspace
by 2032. Conversely, no additional comparison (non-food) floorspace was required, assuming existing
commitments are implemented. However, there may be scope for some new comparison floorspace,
once substantial housing growth has been delivered across Dacorum.

9.7 Although there is capacity for a substantial increase in convenience shopping floorspace, the 2020
study is cautious about translating this into provision on the ground, given the structural changes
underway to the way we shop. Furthermore, over half the identified convenience capacity is to address
'over-trading' in existing foodstores. The study advises that out of centre retail schemes which are
harmful to designated centres should be resisted, irrespective of the capacity identified. However,
appropriate retail schemes that would increase the vitality and viability of existing centres should be
permitted, even if there is no capacity identified.

9.8 Another factor referred to in the 2020 study is the current Covid-19 situation. The study states that
this will have consequences which will not be fully understood for some time. Some re-basing of
consumer spending patterns is likely, but accurate forecasts are not yet possible. Therefore, the study
advises us to closely monitor and regularly update the position on capacity, need and strategy.

45

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 57



9.9 The 2018 study assessed the need for a range of leisure uses, namely, indoor sports and health and
fitness; cinemas; restaurants; bars, pubs, social clubs and nightclubs; ten pin bowling; bingo; and
theatres, galleries and museums. It concluded that existing provision together with commitments is
sufficient to meet most of the identified future needs. Therefore, no additional allocations are required
for specific major new leisure facilities over the Plan period. Nevertheless, additional facilities should
be permitted in sustainable locations. In addition, the loss of existing facilities should be resisted, if it
would reduce choice in a sector with long-term demand.

Scale and location of new retail development

9.10 Policy SP6 - Delivering the Retail and Leisure Strategy below sets out our strategy for future retail
and leisure development. It defines a hierarchy of centres in Dacorum as recommended in the 2018
Retail and Leisure Study, except in relation to Apsley. The study raised the possibility of elevating
Apsley from local to district centre status, by including the adjoining retail parks. We consider this
change is justified, as this area plays an important role in meeting Hemel Hempstead’s retail needs.

9.11 National guidance and our evidence base point to new retail floorspace being located as far as possible
in the town, district and local centres, in accordance with the hierarchy. Where it is not met in these
centres, any additional retail provision should be directed mainly to the larger strategic sites. Given
the uncertainties in retailing mentioned above, we will reconsider retail floorspace needs before the
next stage of the Local Plan is published.

9.12 In the light of the evidence, we have concluded that rather than set a floorspace target for convenience
floorspace, it is better to concentrate on meeting the main identified needs in our towns. Therefore,
Policy SP6 facilitates a substantial increase in convenience space, although considerably lower than
the floorspace capacity identified in the 2020 retail study.

9.13 For comparison floorspace, this Plan does not set a floorspace target given the evidence base findings.
However, small scale comparison floorspace will be encouraged in Hemel Hempstead and Tring town
centres and on the larger strategic Growth Areas.

9.14 There are few realistic opportunities available for retail development in our town centres, but the
evidence shows that the most appropriate sites are located at Market Square in Hemel Hempstead
and High Street/Brook Street in Tring. Whilst this Plan proposes retail development on these sites,
this still needs to be fully tested and it is uncertain whether such development will be delivered. If not,
we consider that no alternative provision is needed in Hemel Hempstead, given recent and proposed
future supermarket developments elsewhere in the town. However, a new out of centre supermarket
in Tring would be justified. We regard the Dunsley Farm Growth Area as the best alternative location.

9.15 Housing development on the larger strategic Growth Areas at Hemel Hempstead, Berkhamsted and
Tring will take place over an extended period of time and the Plan should not be prescriptive over the
size, location or timing of future retail provision. Policy SP6 does, however, indicate the broad nature
of retail facilities required, taking account of the evidence.

9.16 No new out of centre retail parks are proposed. However, it would be prudent to retain the vacant
land at Jarman Park, Hemel Hempstead as a retail proposal site, with potential for convenience and
comparison floorspace. This reflects the shortage of potential sites to meet the town’s retail needs,
although the position should be reviewed through the next Local Plan.

Policy SP6 - Delivering the Retail and Leisure Strategy

1. The Council will support retailing and leisure by:

a. Fostering the retail and leisure base of Hemel Hempstead, Berkhamsted and Tring, by
encouraging main town centre uses of an appropriate scale and nature in the town, district and
local centres in accordance with the hierarchy below:

46

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 58



Table 4 Retail/Leisure Hierarchy

Role of centreCentresType of centre

Main destination for
comparison and convenience
goods shopping, services such
as banks, leisure and cultural
activities.

Hemel HempsteadSub-regional centre

Provision of main convenience
and comparison shopping
facilities, services and leisure
uses for the town and nearby
rural area.

BerkhamstedTown centres

Tring

Provision of local convenience
and comparison shopping
floorspace, services and

Apsley, Hemel HempsteadDistrict centres

Hemel Hempstead Old Town

leisure uses. Furthermore,
meet some town-wide needs
for retail warehouses (Apsley)
and speciality shopping and
eating and drinking (Old
Town).

Contain a limited range of
shops (often including a
supermarket), services,

Adeyfield, Hemel HempsteadLocal centres

Bennetts End (Bennettsgate),
HemelHempstead

community uses and food and
drink uses for the local
community.

Maylands, Hemel Hempstead

Woodhall Farm, Hemel
Hempstead

Bovingdon

Kings Langley

b. Focusing new retail floorspace in the town centres and to a lesser extent the larger strategic
Growth Areas in accordance with the delivery strategies.

c. Accepting further retail development outside of the centres defined above and the larger strategic
Growth Areas only if justified under Policy DM21 - Main Town Centre Uses Outside Existing
Centres.

d. Promoting tourism and other industries in key locations.
e. Supporting the evening economies within the town centres.

2. In Hemel Hempstead the Council will:

a. Promote and support the continued diversification of the town centre to ensure it retains its role
as a sub-regional centre.

b. Support proposals for retail led mixed use development including a supermarket or local
convenience store at the Market Square site (Growth Area HH05).

c. Continue to support retail development, including a medium sized supermarket, at Jarman Park
(Growth Area HH27).

d. Support the delivery of new retail facilities in the Hemel North Growth Area, involving a new
district or local centre with a medium or large supermarket and also smaller scale local or
neighbourhood centres (Growth Areas HH01 and HH02).

3. In Berkhamsted the Council will:

1. Reinforce the role of the town centre and support proposals which will maintain its vibrancy.

47

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 59



2. Support the delivery of the permitted supermarket at Gossoms End (Growth Area Bk13) and
small scale retail provision in the South Berkhamsted Growth Area (Growth Area Bk01).

4. In Tring the Council will:

a. Reinforce the role of the town centre and support proposals which will maintain its vibrancy.
b. Explore and if appropriate bring forward a mixed use retail led development including a medium

sized supermarket at the High Street/Brook Street town centre site (Growth Area Tr06), or
encourage a supermarket on the Dunsley Farm Growth Area (Growth Area Tr01) if the town
centre site cannot be delivered.

c. Seek the delivery of a new neighbourhood centre in the East Tring Growth Area (Growth Area
Tr03).

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

South West Hertfordshire Retail and Leisure Study (2018)
Further Dacorum Retail Study (2020)

48

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 60



10 Delivering the Infrastructure to Support Growth

10.1 A key requirement of the Dacorum Local Plan is to ensure that there is sufficient and appropriate
infrastructure in place to meet the planned growth. This needs to consider both the individual
requirements arising from developments and also address the cumulative impact of growth across
the Borough. Our consultation on the Issues and Options, has highlighted that this is a fundamental
concern of our residents.

10.2 In order to identify the infrastructure need we are producing an Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP). The
IDP will identify the essential infrastructure required to deliver our growth aspirations and requirements,
prioritise these according to their importance to delivering the growth strategy and set out when
infrastructure is required and how it will be funded.

10.3 The term infrastructure covers a wide variety of services and facilities provided by private and public
bodies and includes:

transport infrastructure (rail, roads, cycle routes, buses, footpaths/pedestrian links);
utilities and flood management infrastructure – water supply and treatment, flood prevention
and drainage, waste disposal and energy;
telecommunications infrastructure including high-speed broadband;
community infrastructure – schools, sport, cultural and recreation facilities, healthcare, public
transport, emergency services, social care facilities, community buildings, places of worship
and associated facilities, and community recycling facilities; and
green infrastructure including multi-functional green spaces, ecological enhancements, open
green spaces (e.g.parks, allotments, and country parks).

10.4 Our IDP will take forward previous work prepared as part of the Hertfordshire Infrastructure Funding
Prospectus (HIFP) 2018-2031 which provided a snap-shot in time from September 2018. Across
Hertfordshire the infrastructure requirements amounted to at least £5.7 billion. The HIFP also identified
key projects for Dacorum, which remain relevant now. These include (but are not limited to):

capacity improvements to J8 of the M1 and further enhancements to the M1;
capacity improvements to J20 of the M25;
a new transport corridor to the north of Hemel Hempstead through the North and East Growth
Areas;
a package of interventions across our towns and villages alongside growth that focus on promoting
movements by means other than than car;
new primary and secondary schools throughout the Borough; and
the provision of new health care facilities across the Borough.

10.5 The production of an IDP is an iterative process as infrastructure is continually being delivered through
the development management process. A draft IDP has been produced following extensive consultation
with stakeholders and infrastructure providers. We will continue to update this right up to the point
where we submit the Plan for Examination. By publishing a draft IDP alongside this Plan we will be
able to ensure that the required infrastructure is known at an early stage. The IDP is also a key tool
in the assessment of development viability, which the Council is continuing to develop to ensure that
the required infrastructure can be delivered and development remains viable. As the Plan moves
forward the infrastructure requirements will be further refined and will continue to be subject to
comprehensive viability testing at the whole plan level but also through the testing of individual sites
as required.

10.6 The Government expects a viability assessment of likely contributions towards affordable housing
and other infrastructure to be undertaken up-front as part of preparing the Local Plan. This is to
demonstrate that they do not undermine deliverability of planned development and to avoid the need
for further assessments at the later planning application stage. Thus, planning applications are
generally assumed to be viable. However, we acknowledge that theremay be changes in circumstances
that alter the viability position of a development and negatively impact on delivery. The NPPF and

49

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 61



PPG set out a clear and transparent methodology for developers to evidence such change and identify
suitable mitigation, although they make clear that it is up to the applicant to demonstrate whether
particular circumstances justify the need for a further viability assessment.

10.7 Infrastructure should be delivered in a timely manner and be integrated alongside new development,
with the specific phasing to be determined in agreement with the local planning authority. Wherever
possible and especially on larger developments, infrastructure should be provided on-site as part of
the development to contribute towards creating sustainable development, to offset its impact on local
infrastructure, and to ensure that new developments are attractive places to live.

10.8 The precise mechanism for securing infrastructure is being reviewed and will need to take into
consideration the outcome of the White Paper consultation. Subject to this, we intend to produce a
supplementary planning document to guide delivery.

Policy SP7 - Delivering Infrastructure 

1. All new development will be required to provide for the necessary on-site and, where appropriate,
off-site infrastructure requirements arising from the proposal in order to:

a. meet the needs arising from the development so as to avoid placing additional burden on the
existing infrastructure;

b. avoid or mitigate adverse social, economic and environmental impacts arising from the proposed
development; and

c. make good the loss or damage of social, economic and environmental assets arising from the
proposed development.

2. Infrastructure requirements will be delivered directly by the developer and/or through an appropriate
financial contribution prior to, or in conjunction with, new development. Where appropriate, developers
will be expected to collaborate on the provision of infrastructure which is needed to serve more than
one site.

3. The timing of the provision of the infrastructure should be linked directly to the phasing of the
development to ensure that infrastructure is provided in a timely and comprehensive manner to
support new development. The phasing will be determined in relation to the needs of each
development and the overall requirements to mitigate growth in that settlement. In ensuring the timely
delivery of infrastructure requirements, development proposals must demonstrate that full regard
has been paid to the Infrastructure Delivery Plan, which will be updated over the Plan period to
ensure project information remains up to date and relevant to all other policies of this Plan.

4. It will be expected that infrastructure requirements set out in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan will be
delivered, however, where it can be demonstrated that the infrastructure requirements could render
the development unviable, proposals for major development should be supported by an independent
and transparent viability assessment that accords with Planning Practice Guidance. Where viability
constraints are demonstrated by evidence, the Council will:

a. prioritise developer contributions for critical, essential and required infrastructure based upon
the detail of requirements outlines in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan; and/or

b. use an appropriate mechanism to defer part of the developer contributions requirement to a
later date; or

c. as a last resort, refuse planning permission if the development would be unsustainable without
the inclusion of the unfunded infrastructure requirements taking into account reasonable
contributions from elsewhere including the Community Infrastructure Levy.

5. A Supplementary Planning Document will be produced to provide more detail about its approach to
securing developer contributions.

50

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 62



Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Draft Infrastructure Delivery Plan

51

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 63



11 Neighbourhood Planning

11.1 Neighbourhood Plans, Neighbourhood Development Orders and Community Right to Build Orders
have the potential to allow communities to develop a shared vision to shape their neighbourhoods
and to work with landowners, developers and service providers to deliver new development and
facilities.

11.2 A neighbourhood plan provides a mechanism for communities to bring forward development and for
the community to have a significant say in its location and specification (providing local detail or distinct
approaches), and to plan positively to support local development in meeting the strategic needs of
this Plan. Neighbourhood plans must, however, be in general conformity with the strategic policies
within this Plan. We set out relevant strategic policies in 'Appendix 1 - List of Strategic Policies'.

11.3 This Plan provides a framework for communities to shape their local neighbourhoods through
community-led planning documents. Grovehill has already prepared and 'Made' their Neighbourhood
Plan whilst Bovingdon and Kings Langley have commenced work on preparing neighbourhood plans.
There have not, however, been any proposals for Neighbourhood Development Orders and Community
Right to Build Orders.

11.4 Once approved, 'made' neighbourhood plans become part of the statutory development plan and the
policies contained within them will be used, together with the Local Plan, in the determination of
planning applications.

11.5 We have and will continue to take an active role in advising and supporting the community in the
neighbourhood planning process, wherever possible, by sharing evidence and information and ensuring
the neighbourhood plan fits with our strategic policies as well as national policy.

11.6 We are also expected by the NPPF (paragraph 65) to provide a housing requirement figure for the
three designated Neighbourhood Areas in the Borough.

11.7 In the case of the Grovehill Neighbourhood Area, this is essentially part of the wider Hemel Hempstead
urban area. It will contribute to the overall housing supply in the town. However, the two main housing
schemes within this neighbourhood area are Marchmont Farm and Henry Wells Square. These
together will contribute between 450 and 550 new homes over the Plan period.

11.8 With respects to the Bovingdon and Kings Langley Neighbourhood Areas we have based the indicative
housing requirement figures on the relevant Delivery Strategy for each village. They cover the bulk
of the Neighbourhood Area, reflect the overall local strategy for the pattern and scale of development
in these areas and potential supply of homes there, and provide the most detailed and robust basis
for making such allocations.

11.9 It should be noted that these homes requirement figures are minimums and count towards the overall
housing land supply rather than being additional to it.

Policy SP8 - Neighbourhood Planning

1. To support neighbourhood plans and clarify their relationship with the Local Plan the Council will
expect the following principles to be applied in the development of neighbourhood plans.

2. Neighbourhood plans should:

a. show how they are in general conformity with the strategic policies of the Local Plan;

52

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 64



b. clearly set out how they will promote sustainable development at or above the level of growth
planned for through the Local Plan, having regard to information on local need for new homes,
jobs and facilities for their plan area; and

c. where additional growth is planned through new allocations, having regard to any existing or
emerging evidence published by Dacorum Borough Council, including in relation to the Green
Belt.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Further information on Neighbourhood Planning can be found on the Council's website at:
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/regeneration/neighbourhood-planning

53

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 65

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/regeneration/neighbourhood-planning


12 Monitoring and Review

12.1 Effective monitoring is essential to ensuring that the policies in the Plan remain relevant, up to date
and are achieving their aims. As with previous Plans, we will prepare a yearly monitoring report which
will measure and report on their effectiveness and establish a monitoring framework against which
policy performance will be measured. Actions will be identified where policies are not achieving their
aims and we will consider whether policies need adjusting or replacing either because they are not
working as intended, or they need changing to reflect changes in national policy, guidance, emerging
best practice or local circumstances.

12.2 As required by the Duty to Co-operate, we will give consideration (including through a review of the
Plan where appropriate) to helping to meet the needs (such as housing, employment or infrastructure)
of other local planning authorities where clearly established through the Plan evidence gathering
process that those needs can only be met through provision in Dacorum, and is considered . At the
very least we will within five years of adoption decide whether we need to update the Plan, taking
account of the outcome of the South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan.

Policy SP9 - Monitoring and Review 

1. The policies in the Plan will be monitored at least annually to assess if they are fulfilling their aims.
2. The Plan will be subject to partial or complete review, or proposals for alternative sustainable sites

considered favourably (subject to compliance with other policies in the Plan), in any of the following
circumstances:

a. site allocations are not delivering new homes at the rate anticipated in the housing trajectory,
leading to net housing development not being delivered at the rate set out in the Plan;

b. evidence established through another local planning authority’s Local Plan process shows that
its unmet need can only be accommodated in Dacorum;

c. significant changes in national planning policy and guidance that mean one or more of the
policies in the Plan are out of date and in major conflict with National Guidance; and

d. evidence in the monitoring report shows that one or more of the policies in the Plan is frustrating
the delivery of the Plan’s objectives or is working contrary to effective planning in the Borough.

54

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 66



Page 67



13 Introduction to Guiding Development

Introduction to Guiding Development

13.1 This section of the Plan sets out our proposed policies for managing future development across the
Borough. The Planning Reform White Paper makes clear that the Government is considering setting
some policies at the national level but it is unclear which policies Government have in mind.

13.2 For the purpose of this consultation we have set out a full suite of policies which we consider necessary
to deliver the proposed strategy for growth but we will review these in light of the outcomes to the
planning reforms.

56

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 68



Page 69



14 Housing Delivery

14.1 A key objective of the Plan is to deliver balanced, mixed and inclusive communities, embracing a mix
of dwellings sizes, tenures and types including provision for custom and self build and for an ageing
population and the delivery of a minimum of 35% affordable housing.Wewant to ensure that Dacorum's
communities have genuine access to a wide range and high quality of homes and other specialist
forms of accommodation by planning for a sufficient quantity, quality and type of housing in new
schemes.

National Policy

14.2 The NPPF alongside the PPG provide guidance on a wide range of housing matters and how these
should be addressed through policies in the Plan.

14.3 In respect of affordable housing, the NPPF states that:

the strategic policies of the Plan should make sufficient provision for housing (including affordable
housing) (paragraph 20);
Plans should set out the contributions expected from development including setting out the
levels and types of affordable housing required (paragraph 34);
the size, type and tenure of housing needed for different groups in the community should be
assessed and reflected in planning policies including those who require affordable housing
(paragraph 61);
there is a general expectation that, where a need for affordable housing is identified, planning
policies should specify the type of affordable housing required and this is to be met on-site
(paragraph 62);
sets a threshold for affordable housing of 10 or more homes or 0.5ha or greater, other than in
designated rural areas (where policies may set out a lower threshold of 5 units or fewer)
(paragraph 63);
any affordable housing contribution can be reduced by a proportionate amount to support the
re-use or redevelopment of vacant buildings (paragraph 63);
subject to a number of exemptions, at least 10% of the homes should be available for affordable
home ownership for major development where housing is proposed (paragraph 64); and
other opportunities exist for affordable housing in the countryside (paragraphs 71 and 77) and
in the Green Belt (paragraph 145).

14.4 The NPPF encourages opportunities to bring forward affordable homes on rural exception sites to
meet identified local needs and where such housing will support local services and enhance or maintain
the vitality of rural communities. Such schemes could include an element of market housing if it would
help to facilitate this. The NPPF also promotes the development of entry-level exception sites, suitable
for first time buyers (or those looking to rent their first home) that offer one or more types of affordable
homes. These need to be on suitably sized, designed and located sites outside of the Green Belt and
Chilterns AONB. This would limit their location to Long Marston and Wilstone.

14.5 The NPPF states that the council should make effective use of land, and should include the use of
minimum density standards for town centres and other locations that are well served by public transport.
These standards should seek a significant uplift in the average density of residential development
within these areas, unless it can be shown that there are strong reasons why this would be
inappropriate.

14.6 Detailed national advice on travellers is provided separately from the NPPF through guidance in the
Planning Policy for Travellers (PPTS). Furthermore, Romany Gypsies and Irish Travellers form an
ethnic minority group and are legally protected from discrimination under the Equalities Act 2010, the
Children and Families Act 2014 and the Human Rights Act 1998.

58

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 70



National Policy Reforms in the White Paper

14.7 The Government's Planning for the Future White Paper continues to place a strong emphasis on
home ownership, increasing the supply of housing and supporting the regeneration of settlements,
speeding up the delivery of new homes, securing a range of types and tenures of housing, and
supporting small to medium sized house builders and self builders. Pillar One - Planning for
development in the White Paper identifies a number of proposals including:

defining a standard method for establishing housing requirement figures which ensures enough
land is released in the areas where affordability is worst; and
preparing masterplans and design codes for substantial development so that they include a
variety of development types by different builders.

14.8 The Government is committed to the delivery of beautiful and well designed homes and places under
Pillar Two - Planning for beautiful and sustainable places. It will seek to "fast-track" such schemes
through the planning system where they accord with locally prepared site masterplans and design
codes. Where these are drawn up for substantial development they should include a variety of housing
types from different builders. Pillar Three -Planning for infrastructure and connected places seeks to
reform the system of developer contributions, with a number of aims, to secure more on-site affordable
housing provision.

14.9 The Government has also consulted on "Changes to the current Planning System" in parallel with
the White Paper. This includes:

details of how the revised standard methodology for assessing local housing needmight operate;
how the Government might deliver, operate and fund its First Homes scheme; and
extending the threshold for securing affordable homes for a temporary period to sites of up to
40-50 homes in order to support small to medium sized house builders.

14.10 First Homes are homes that will be sold with a discount of at least 30% and will be prioritised for
first-time buyers, serving members and veterans of the Armed Forces, and key workers. The discount
will be passed on to future buyers so that these homes will always be sold below market price.

14.11 The Government are effectively seeking to prioritise First Homes over previous forms of home
ownership as currently defined in the NPPF. They do not rule out the latter but are anticipating that a
minimum of 25% of the negotiated affordable housing will be First Homes. However, they have not
yet confirmed how the remaining 75% mix of affordable homes will be calculated. They also wish to
see such homes replacing the entry-level exception homes approach in the NPPF (paragraph 71).

Evidence Base and other Studies

14.12 The South West Hertfordshire Local Housing Needs Assessment forms a key part of the housing
evidence base. It helps to inform a variety of approaches to housing policies including:

providing detailed conclusions on the required mix of market and affordable housing need by
house type and size for this Plan period;
setting out evidence on the need for accessible and adaptable housing in Dacorum; and
assessing the local need for specialist housing for older people.

14.13 In addition to this, the Council's evidence on custom and self build identifies that annual demand
outstrips the supply of custom and self-build homes in Dacorum. It adds weight to the need for larger
sites to provide for a proportion of custom and self-build housing.

14.14 We have undertaken an accommodation assessment of the future need for the travelling community
which identifies a need for pitches for both those that do and do not meet the definition of a traveller
in the Planning Policy for Travellers. However, it does not demonstrate any direct identified need for
either new yards for travelling showpeople or permanent residential moorings for canal boats.

59

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 71



Kylna Court, Hemel Hempstead

Mix of Housing 

14.15 It is important that new housing development in Dacorum provides for a range of homes and other
specialist accommodation. A variety of housing types and sizes are necessary to meet the needs of
the local population, to enable households to more easily find housing which suits their life-stage
needs, and that they can afford. Greater variety in the housing stock can also help contribute towards
a more healthy and robust housing market. Our evidence and engagement has shown the need to
secure the right mix of housing sizes in new developments, that delivering more affordable homes
was a key priority of many, and the importance of meeting the needs of an ageing population.

14.16 Our evidence advises on the appropriate mix of market and affordable housing need by house type
and size for this Plan period. These conclusions take into account projected changes in the population
and estimates of future demand. They set out a broad range of housing mix that this Plan then seeks
to achieve. The majority of the housing need is for houses, with a need for some flats identified. The
modelling points to a greater need for smaller 1 and 2-bedroom affordable homes and larger (3+
bedroom) homes in the market sector.

14.17 These requirements may be varied on the basis of specific site circumstances or evidence with any
variation in the mix being fully justified.

14.18 An Affordable Housing SPD will be prepared in the future to support the Plan. The SPD will guide
any decisions to be made at a local level on the detailed split of the housing mix.

Policy DM1 - Mix of Housing

1. Developments of 10 or more homes are required to include a mix of housing types and sizes in order
to:
a. meet the needs of all sections of the community;
b. provide a choice of homes; and
c. encourage sustainable, inclusive and mixed communities.

2. This will comprise as appropriate:
a. a range of housing types, sizes and tenure;
b. affordable housing;
c. accessible and adaptable housing:

60

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 72



d. accommodation for older people;
e. custom and self-build housing;
f. Gypsy and Traveler Pitches;

3. The aim is to secure a housing mix across the Borough broadly as shown below:
Table 5 Housing Mix Across the Borough

4+ Bedroom3 Bedroom2 Bedroom1 Bedroom

31%45%20%4%Market Housing

8%24%41%26%Affordable Home
Ownership

5%34%28%34%Affordable Housing
(Rent)

4. The housing mix may vary between different sites, taking account of the location and nature of the
site. In particular:
a. sites in highly accessible urban locations are more likely to provide mainly one and two bedroom

properties;
b. larger sites are expected to be able to accommodate a wider mix of housing across the

development commensurate with their greater potential to create and sustain inclusive mixed
communities and help deliver the strategic objectives of the Local Plan;

c. the over-concentration of certain types of residential development will not be supported unless
in highly accessible urban locations.

5. Decisions on the appropriate type of mix of homes within development proposals will also be guided
by the latest Local Housing Needs Assessment, housing needs surveys, and informed by other
housing market intelligence and site-specific considerations.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

South West Hertfordshire Local Housing Needs Assessment (August 2020)

Affordable Housing

14.19 A key priority of the housing strategy is to ensure sufficient affordable homes are delivered over the
Plan period to meet identified housing need. However, this is not just about quantity, as delivering
the right type of housing is of equal importance.

14.20 The NPPF (Annex 2) defines affordable housing as:"housing for sale or rent, for those whose needs
are not met by the market (including housing that provides a subsidised route to home ownership
and/or is for essential local workers"

14.21 Annex 2 in the NPPF then goes on to define four types of affordable housing:

Affordable housing for rent;
starter homes;
Discounted market sales housing; and
Other affordable routes to home ownership.

61

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 73



14.22 Affordable housing is mainly provided through requiring developers to include this on-site within their
general market housing development as a part of planning permission. In Dacorum's case, we have
also been directly involved in delivering sites as part of our New Build housing programme.
Occasionally, rural housing schemes are delivered as an exception to normal policy. Furthermore, in
a limited number of circumstances we allow a financial contribution towards affordable homes instead
of on-site provision.

14.23 Policy DM2 - Affordable Housing seeks to secure this and a number of other key objectives including:

delivering genuinely affordable housing to meet those in need;
optimising affordable housing contributions on all qualifying sites;
securing a minimum of 35% affordable housing on urban sites in Hemel Hempstead;
securing 40% affordable housing on all greenfield Growth Areas;
securing 40% affordable housing on all new dwellings elsewhere in the Borough;
giving priority to on-site provision; and
resisting the subdivision of sites to avoid on-site contributions.

14.24 We will secure affordable housing on all qualifying sites bearing in mind that the NPPF advises that
we should not be seeking this on smaller sites of below 10 homes (paragraph 63). However, we are
allowed discretion to set a lower threshold in the defined rural area (i.e. in Dacorum this is the
countryside covered by the Chilterns AONB). Consequently, we have been seeking a commuted sum
for schemes of between 6-9 homes. The position on exemptions is complicated in that the Government
has recently consulted on extending this threshold to cover schemes of up to 40-50 homes in order
to support small to medium sized house builders albeit for a temporary period.

14.25 Affordable housing will be delivered in accordance with the housing mix under Policy DM1 - Mix of
Housing.

14.26 Historically, we have found that a target of 35% - 40% affordable housing has been generally realistic
and achievable inmost locations across the Borough, when compared with past achievement, economic
conditions and costs associated with new building. This is a reasonable starting point for levels of
affordable housing in the Plan. We will continue to test this through development viability assessments
of the Plan and in conjunction with the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP).

14.27 The South West Hertfordshire Local Housing Needs Assessment is our main evidence base
underpinning Policy DM2 - Affordable Housing. The evidence has identified that the estimated combined
annual housing need across the five authorities in South West Hertfordshire is considerable (at 3,188
homes pa). Our equivalent projected annual figure is 611 homes pa. The table below sets this position
out across both forms of affordable housing.

Table 6 Affordable Housing Need across South West Hertfordshire (per annum)

SW HertsWatfordThree RiversSt AlbansHertsmereDacorum

1,994482350443356363Affordable rent

1,1994252162385147248Affordable
home
ownership

3,188734512828503611Total

14.28 The need for affordable housing for rent is substantial. On this basis, our evidence recommends that
we should seek to deliver as much affordable housing to rent as viability allows. Furthermore, it
suggest that 87% of the affordable rented housing should be social rented based purely on the
proportion of households able to afford an affordable rent (set at 80% of current lower quartile rents)
and those who can only afford housing which is cheaper than that. However, the Local Housing Needs
Assessment adds that the split is indicative only and that we are free if desired to choose an alternative
split to reflect our own viability or local priorities.

62

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 74



14.29 We should also seek the maximum viable level of affordable private rental accommodation on build
to rent schemes, with a minimum contribution of 20% expected.

14.30 The Local Housing Needs Assessment established that there is an estimated net housing need for
248 units per annum, of affordable home ownership. This figure should be seen as indicating the
potential demand for such accommodation, as all of the households identified will be able to afford
to rent privately without subsidy. While the NPPF expects at least 10% of the homes to be available
for affordable home ownership, the study recommends that we should seek no more than this. This
is because the need for rented affordable housing is so great, it involves households who cannot
afford anything in the market without subsidy, and to exceed this would reduce the supply of affordable
social rental homes.

14.31 In terms of low cost housing as currently defined in the NPPF, the Local Housing Needs Assessment
suggests that Shared Ownership and Discount Market Sales are the most appropriate as these will
reach the widest and lowest earnings population base.

14.32 However, the study recognises that there is effectively a trade-off between delivering more affordable
homes to buy or delivering fewer affordable homes to rent (due to lower viability), but the latter should
be given priority as it makes provision for those that are more in need.

14.33 Moreover, we are keen to ensure that any affordable housing for rent is genuinely affordable for those
in need. That is why we are prioritising social rent over affordable rent. The Local Housing Needs
Assessment has analysed the costs of different types of affordable housing in terms of what is genuinely
affordable in the local context. It suggests that we should consider the rent levels for affordable rents
and as measured against the Local Housing Allowance. The Local Housing Allowance is the maximum
amount of housing benefit that can be claimed in each Broad Rental Market Area. Whilst affordable
rents are not capped at Local Housing Allowance limits it is the case that government policy states
that the relevant allowance should be a consideration when setting rent levels. The study suggests
that we may also wish to reduce these further to ensure a greater number of low-income working
families can access such housing. This means that, where appropriate, we will take opportunities to
negotiate genuinely affordable housing over delivering a much larger number of other forms of
affordable homes.

14.34 The Government is keen to promote the availability of affordable home ownership through its emerging
First Homes scheme as an alternative to those identified in the NPPF. For the purposes of this Plan,
we have had regards to this approach in Policy DM2. The proposed level of contribution from First
Homes (at 25% of all of the affordable housing) is much greater than that currently sought for affordable
home ownership in the NPPF and assessed through the Local Housing Needs Assessment. Therefore,
this approach has potential implications for overall viability of schemes and thus the level and split of
affordable rent and social rent we can secure in the future. Furthermore, the Government has not
confirmed its approach on the remaining 75% of the affordable housing. We will keep this matter
under review and confirm our broad position on this through the next stage of the Plan.

14.35 Policy DM2 seeks affordable housing contributions from specialist accommodation for older people.
Our evidence does not rule this out but recognises that providing affordable housing on such schemes,
will be less viable than in general housing, as they require more expensive fit-out and there are
on-going costs. As a result, it concludes that a lower contribution than from general housing will likely
be achievable. However, the Local Housing Needs Assessment does highlight the lack of new public
sector care homes being built, and in the circumstance, it suggests that it may be appropriate to
continue to seek the provision of some affordable bedspaces within private developments to meet
social care needs.

14.36 In most cases we expect affordable housing to be provided on-site. Off-site provision or financial
contributions in lieu will only be accepted in exceptional circumstances where properly evidenced as
part of the planning application and to the satisfaction of the Council. This approach may be particularly
relevant in respect of some specialist forms of accommodation for older people given potential practical
difficulties of securing social units/bedspaces in such developments.

63

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 75



14.37 Furthermore, it is good practice to integrate affordable homes within a scheme through ‘pepper-potting’
and for them to be indistinguishable ("tenure blind") from general market housing. This will better
secure mixed and inclusive developments. Developers should avoid concentrating affordable homes
in a particular area unless site-specific considerations warrant an alternative approach.

14.38 Given the number of above uncertainties, we are continuing to test policies and proposals through
our viability work with updated infrastructure information, the costs of other policies to determine
whether an adjustment to affordable housing is required.

14.39 Further, detailed guidance on the application of this policy will be provided in an Affordable Housing
Supplementary Planning Document once proposed national changes to affordable housing are better
understood and consolidated.

Policy DM2 - Affordable Housing

1. The Council will require proposals to provide affordable homes as follows:
a. All developments of 10 or more homes, or 0.5 ha or greater will provide on-site affordable

housing:

i. at 40% on the identified Growth Areas;
ii. at 35% of all new dwellings in the existing urban area of Hemel Hempstead, or
iii. at 40% of all new dwellings elsewhere.

b. Within the Chilterns AONB a commensurate financial contribution will be sought towards the
provision of affordable housing from all developments of between 6 and 9 homes.

c. On rural exceptions housing schemes, 100% of all new homes will normally be affordable.
d. From all specialist housing for older people falling within the C2 (excluding care/nursing homes)

or C3 use classes for age-restricted general market housing, retirement living/sheltered housing
or extra care housing.

2. Affordable homes should be provided on-site, apart from in exceptional circumstances when agreed
by the Council and subject to applicants providing full justification for any off-site provision or financial
contributions.

3. Affordable housing provision will be expected to incorporate a mix of tenures taking into account the
Council’s most up to date evidence on housing need. No more than 25% of all housing will be First
Homes. The rest of the affordable housing will provide rented accommodation, comprising social
rented and affordable rented properties.

4. All affordable housing should be genuinely affordable, with the expectation being that the cost will
need to be substantially more than 20% below local market prices and rents.

5. Vacant building credit will apply where appropriate.
6. Judgements about the level, mix and tenure of affordable homes will have regard to:

a. the Council’s Housing Strategy, identified housing need and other relevant evidence;
b. the potential to enlarge the site to include adjoining land and thus cumulatively satisfy the

threshold for affordable housing; and
c. the overall viability of the scheme and any abnormal costs.

7. The affordable homes should be designed so as to be fully integrated into the open market housing
on a tenure blind basis and be ‘pepper-potted’ across the development.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

South West Hertfordshire Local Housing Needs Assessment (August 2020)

64

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 76



Rural Exceptions

14.40 We support homes in the villages to enable people who are in housing need to stay locally. This in
turn will help support the viability of rural services and amenities. Development opportunities will
largely be on sites within and adjacent to the selected small villages identified in Policy SP3 - The
Settlement Hierarchy. Where development is appropriately located and designed, villages are normally
able to absorb modest scaled, well-planned schemes without significant harm to their character or
the setting of the countryside.

14.41 All schemes must clearly demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Council how they meet identified local
affordable housing needs including against our Housing Register and other available up-to-date locally
generated housing needs assessments. We will normally anticipate rural exception schemes to be
for 100% affordable homes. Where applicants are considering including any proposed market housing
within such schemes, we will expect this to be fully evidenced.

14.42 The normal expectation is that housing permitted as an exception to normal countryside policies
continues to remains ‘affordable’ in perpetuity. Only tenures which can be guaranteed to remain
affordable in the long term will be permitted in such schemes.

14.43 Parish Councils have been working with rural housing enablers to deliver community-led housing.
The preparation of neighbourhood plans may offer another route to secure rural exception schemes
where they meet the criteria set out below.

14.44 The NPPF (paragraph 71) currently allows for entry-level exception sites suitable for first time buyers
(or those looking to rent their first home). However, the Government has recently consulted on replacing
such schemes with a First Homes exception sites policy. This would apply in all cases except in
designated rural areas (i.e. the Chilterns AONB) where a normal rural exception sites approach would
be retained.

14.45 Details of the funding, delivery and management of rural housing will be set out in the Affordable
Housing SPD.

Policy DM3 - Rural Exceptions

1. Schemes of up to 10 dwellings for local affordable homes(6), will be promoted in and adjoining selected
small villages in the countryside as established in Policy SP3 - The Settlement Hierarchy. Exceptionally
such schemes will also be permitted elsewhere, with the support of the local Parish Council or through
a Neighbourhood Plan.

2. Development will be permitted only if:

a. it meets an identified local need for affordable housing;
b. preference is given to offering the housing to people who have a local connection with the

village or parish, through work, residence or family; the housing is for people who have a local
connection with the village or parish through work, residence or family;

c. the scheme is of a scale and design that respects the character, setting and form of the village
and surrounding countryside, including the Chilterns AONB;

d. any element of open market housing is fully justified as being essential to secure the delivery
of the affordable housing (7)

3. Entry-level homes in accordance with the NPPFwill similarly be supported as an exception in locations
in the Rural Area at Long Marston and Wilstone.

6 A site that provides entry-level homes suitable for first time buyers (or equivalent, for those looking to rent), in line with paragraph
71 of the NPPF

7 This will be expected to comprise only a minor element of the total number of dwellings built.

65

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 77



Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Policies map
Settlement Hierarchy Study Main Report October 2017
Strategic Design Guide SPD
Chilterns Building Design Guide

To be produced

Detailed Design Guide SPD

Johnson Court Passivhaus Homes, Great Gaddesden

Agriculture and Forestry Workers Dwellings

14.46 Agriculture and forestry are principal uses of the countryside. Occasionally new residential
accommodation will be needed to sustain new or existing agricultural and forestry enterprises including
changes in practice.

14.47 The NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should avoid the development of isolated homes
in the countryside. However, the special circumstances for new isolated dwellings in the countryside
include if there is an essential need for a rural worker, including those taking majority control of a farm
business, to live permanently at or near their place of work in the countryside.

14.48 Safeguards are however important to ensure such accommodation is not readily sold as general
needs housing that would result in unnecessary or inappropriate development in the countryside
undermining its purposes.

14.49 Some of the factors we consider that may be relevant in assessing the need for isolated homes in
the countryside include:

evidence of the necessity for a rural worker to live at, or in close proximity to, their place of work
to ensure the effective operation of an agricultural, forestry or similar land-based rural enterprise

66

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 78



(for instance, where farm animals or agricultural processes require on-site attention 24-hours a
day and where otherwise there would be a risk to human or animal health or from crime, or to
deal quickly with emergencies that could cause serious loss of crops or products);
the degree to which there is confidence that the enterprise will remain viable for the foreseeable
future;
whether the provision of an additional dwelling on site is essential for the continued viability of
a farming business through the farm succession process;
whether the need could be met through improvements to existing accommodation on the site,
providing such improvements are appropriate taking into account their scale, appearance and
the local context; and
in the case of new enterprises, whether it is appropriate to consider granting permission for a
temporary dwelling for a trial period.

14.50 We do not consider that employment on an assembly or food packing line, or the need to accommodate
seasonal workers, will generally be sufficient to justify building isolated rural dwellings.

Policy DM4 - Agriculture and Forestry Workers Dwellings

1. In the countryside, permission will be granted for agricultural and forestry workers dwellings where
they meet the following criteria:

a. it can be demonstrated that the dwelling is essential to the needs of the business;
b. it can be demonstrated that the enterprise has been established for at least three years and

is, and should remain financially viable;
c. there is no other accommodation within the site/holding or in the locality which is currently

suitable and available, or could be made available.
2. The proposed dwelling must be sensitively designed and be appropriate to the character, appearance

and setting of the site and/or surrounding countryside.
3. Where the viability of a new agricultural or forestry activity is being tested, permission will be given

for the provision of temporary accommodation on the unit. The period for a temporary permission
will be assessed on the application's own merits.

4. The occupation of any agricultural, forestry or other rural worker’s dwelling will be subject to an
agricultural occupancy condition.

5. Applications for the removal of an occupancy condition related to rural workers will only be permitted
in exceptional circumstances where:

a. there is no longer a need for the accommodation on the holding/business and in the local area;
b. the dwelling has been marketed for a reasonable period of time (at least 12 months) and at a

price which reflects the existence of the occupancy condition;
c. the dwelling cannot make a contribution towards meeting local affordable housing needs in the

area.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

South West Herts Local Housing Needs Assessment
Landscape Character Assessment for Dacorum

67

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 79



Conversions and changes of use to housing

14.51 The conversion of houses to flats and non-residential properties to housing are a valuable source of
new homes, and they can also add to the supply of private rented accommodation. Furthermore, the
Government has been relaxing national planning policy to allow greater opportunities for the reuse
of buildings for housing through permitted development and prior approvals.

14.52 However, we consider that their impacts do need to be appropriately managed through the planning
system. In addition, the management, quality and standard of private flats are also covered by other
housing acts and regulations. Implementation of this legislation and other licencing requirements will
help deliver an appropriate quality and level of safety for occupants.

14.53 We expect converted flats to meet minimum space standards. In the case of new-build schemes that
are subject to a planning application, the Plan will apply the Nationally Described Space Standards
(See Policy DM12 - Nationally Described Space Standards).

Policy DM5 - Conversions and changes of use to housing

1. The conversion of houses to flats and non-residential properties to housing will be permitted, subject
to conformity the Council's Design Guidance.

2. All conversions and changes of use must be designed to a high standard, taking full account of the
character of the area and in particular should comply with the following:

a. access to sufficient outdoor amenity space;
b. provide internal living space in accordance with Policy DM12 - Nationally Described Space

Standards;
c. be adequately insulated to limit the transmission of noise;
d. parking should be well landscaped, retaining established trees and shrubs to minimise the

dominance of car parking to the frontage / street scene in accordance with Policy DM55 -
Parking Provision in Residential Areas.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Strategic Design Guide SPD
Parking Standards SPD
Trees and Woodlands Policy Document

To be produced

Parking Standards SPD
Detailed Design Guide SPD

Residential Annexes 

14.54 Many householders seek to extend their properties or use outbuildings as a self-contained annexe
to accommodate ageing relatives, older children or staff. Annexes can help meet social needs whilst
reducing pressure on other forms of accommodation. However, they need to be carefully controlled
in terms of car parking, amenity space, and their impact on neighbouring properties, occupiers and
the locality.

68

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 80



14.55 Where necessary, we may attach a condition to the planning permission to require that the annexe
is occupied for purposes ancillary to the residential use of the host dwelling. Within the Green Belt
and Rural Area, we would be unlikely to grant permission for later sub-division to two separate
residential units, unless the proposal meets the planning criteria which would be applied to new
proposals for a separate dwelling. In an urban setting there would be no in-principle objection to a
new dwelling, subject to design and amenity issues.

Policy DM6 - Residential Annexes

1. The Council will support proposals for residential annexes (including conversion of existing residential
accommodation or outbuildings to form an annexe) where:
a. the accommodation forms an extension to the main dwelling and is capable of being used as

an integral part of the dwelling or forms a separate outbuilding which is close to, and well related
and have a clear functional link to the main dwelling;

b. there is a functional connection with the main dwelling (e.g. the occupant should be a dependent
relative of the residents of the main dwelling or employed at the main dwelling;

c. sufficient space to park vehicles for both parts of the dwelling, in accordance with Policy DM55
- Parking Provision in Residential Areas, and is available and appropriately located in design
terms within the curtilage.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Policies map
Strategic Design Guide SPD

To be produced

Parking Standards SPD
Detailed Design Guide SPD

Houses in Multiple Occupation 

14.56 Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) form a small part of the housing supply, but can provide a
valuable and more affordable source of shared rented accommodation compared to self-contained
dwellings and purpose-built flats. They can offer a cheaper and more flexible way for people to both
live and work locally. Demand for such housing is likely to continue to grow given increasing affordability
issues in Dacorum. This will place further pressure for the existing housing stock to be converted.

14.57 The Plan aims to enable a mix of households while protecting the interests of other residents. This
can best be achieved by preventing the development of excessive concentrations of HMOs,
maintaining a balance of housing types, and encouraging a more even distribution of HMOs across
our settlements.

14.58 Any newHMOswill need to be reviewed/assessed and licensed by the Council's private sector housing
team and be subject to ongoing monitoring to ensure compliance with regulations.

69

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 81



Policy DM7 - Houses in Multiple Occupation

Proposals to create or extend Houses in Multiple Occupation will be supported where they would:

1. not create an over-concentration of such accommodation in the local area;
2. not cause harm to residential amenity or the surrounding area;
3. not lead to any other significant adverse effects; and
4. ensure parking is well landscaped, retaining established trees and shrubs to minimise the dominance

of car parking to the frontage / street scene.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Strategic Design Guide SPD

To be produced

Detailed Design Guide SPD
Parking Standards SPD

Custom and Self Build Housing

14.59 The Custom and Self Build Demand Assessment Framework (January 2020) identifies that the existing
supply of custom and self-build homes in Dacorum is about 30 homes a year, whilst the annual
demand for such housing is over 70 homes. Therefore, the inclusion of policy requiring the provision
of a proportion of custom and self-build housing on larger housing sites in Dacorum is justified to
boost the supply. The following policy ensures a broad balance can be achieved between the supply
of and demand for this type of housing on appropriate sites.

14.60 We will encourage the provision of this form of housing across all site sizes, although the reality is it
is the larger schemes that have the potential to deliver more of these homes. Currently the supply of
custom and self-build homes is predominantly from small housing plots. However, we need to undertake
further analysis on an appropriate threshold, based on likely split between houses and flats on the
larger proposed housing sites, in preparing the next stage of the Plan in order to ensure we optimise
delivery and viability.

Policy DM8 - Custom and Self Build Housing

1. The Council will support the principle of custom and self-build housing on sites of all sizes.
2. On housing developments with 40 or more new houses, 5% of the house plots should be made

available on site as serviced building plots to enable the delivery of self and custom build
properties. The provision will take account of the viability of the development.

3. Proposals will be controlled by the following means:

a. the Council may seek developments of more than 10 custom build dwellings in a single site
location to be developed in accordance with an agreed design code; and

70

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 82



b. the Council will require developers to enter into a section 106 agreement that will cover issues
including timescales and phasing of serviced plots delivery, appropriate marketing of these
plots to self and custom builders and length of time after which unsold plots will be returned to
the developer.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Custom and Self Build Demand Assessment Framework (January 2020)

Housing for Older People

14.61 The South West Hertfordshire Local Housing Needs Assessment has assessed the local need for
specialist housing for older people. Dacorum currently has a good stock of rented housing with support
(sheltered housing) and is anticipated to still have a surplus by the end of the Plan period. Thus there
is no need to directly plan for this type of accommodation within this Plan.

14.62 Our evidence has identified the need for different forms of accommodation as the care and support
needs of older people and their ability to live independently changes over their lifetime. There are
many forms of such accommodation and whether they are defined as residential institutions (Class
C2) or dwelling-houses (Class C3) within the Use Classes Order can be subject to interpretation. The
"Housing for older and disabled people" PPG advises that it is for local authorities to decide based
on the level of care and scale of communal facilities provided. We will generally seek a contribution
towards affordable housing from such development where it falls within Use Classes C2 and C3,
except in the case of residential care/nursing homes. Further detail on our approach will be provided
in the Affordable Housing SPD.

14.63 Existing commitments and windfall sites are not expected to meet the identified need for housing for
older people. Therefore, the policy below requires an element of such housing on some of the strategic
sites.

Policy DM9 - Housing for Older People

1. Specialist housing for older people will be encouraged and the amount of such housing over the
Plan period should be broadly in line with the indicative figures in the tables below:

Table 7 Retirement and extra care housing

Additional homes 2020 - 2038Retirement and extra care housing

726leasehold retirement housing

366rented extra care housing

248leasehold extra care housing

1,340total

71

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 83



Table 8 Residential care homes

Residential care homes and nursing homesAdditional bedspaces 2020 - 2038

1,019

2. The Delivery Strategies and Proposals and Sites sections of the Plan set out specific requirements
for the inclusion on an element of housing for older people in some of the Growth Areas.

3. Housing developments for older people will be encouraged on other sites located close to good
public transport, local amenities, health services and town, district or local centres. Retirement
villages providing a range of different types of housing for older people will be encouraged on suitable
and well located sites.

4. All schemes and associated healthcare and community facilities should be well integrated across
the development and with existing communities through appropriate design, layout and landscaping.

5. The Council expects that any scheme falling within the C2 and C3 Use Classes should provide
affordable housing in accordance with Policy DM2 - Affordable Housing.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

South West Hertfordshire Local Housing Needs Assessment

To be produced

Affordable Housing SPD

Accessible and Adaptable Homes

14.64 It is important to support older people and people with disabilities to live independently through meeting
their changing needs over their lifetime. Our evidence points to a projected increase in a range of
disabilities in the population over the Plan period. Furthermore, new housing schemes should be
inclusive, safe and accessible for all occupants. Policy DM10 - Accessible and Adaptable Homes
provides for a proportion of accessible and adaptable homes in new development. The Local Housing
Needs Assessment provides evidence for the growing demand for such housing built to various
national technical standards set out in the "Housing: Optional technical standards" and "Housing for
older and disabled people" PPGs. These comprise of the following standards:

M4(1) Category 1: Visitable dwellings (the minimum standard that applies where no planning
condition is given unless a plan sets a higher minimum requirement)
M4(2) Category 2: Accessible and adaptable dwellings
M4(3) Category 3: Wheelchair user dwellings

14.65 TheM4(3) category can be further divided between: M4(3)(a) which is designed to require only simple
adaptation and M4(3)(b) is ready for wheelchair use on completion.

14.66 It is more practical and cost-effective if compliant homes are readily usable at the point of completion
rather than to try to retro fit such measures at a later stage. In the case of M4(2) housing, all new
homes should be compliant, except where this is not possible for viability or other reasons such as
built form, topography and flooding. In addition, such homes have the benefit of being suitable for
any occupant, regardless of whether or not they have a disability at the time of initial

72

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 84



occupation. However, the "Housing: Optional technical standards" PPG states that a policy requiring
wheelchair accessible (M4(3)) homes should only be applied to those dwellings where the local
authority is responsible for allocating or nominating a person to live in that dwelling.

14.67 Evidence on the need for accessible and adaptable housing in Dacorum is contained in the South
West Hertfordshire Local Housing Needs Assessment. It identified a clear need to increase the supply
of M4(2) accessible and adaptable dwellings and M4(3) wheelchair user dwellings. This evidence
provides the justification for the percentage requirements in Policy DM10 - Accessible and Adaptable
Homes.

Policy DM10 - Accessible and Adaptable Homes

1. In order to ensure new homes are readily accessible and adaptable to meet the changing lifetime
needs of occupants, and to support independent living, the Council will require that a proportion of
new housing should be designed to be accessible and adaptable, as stated in the table below:

Table 9 Accessible Homes

Percentage to be
included in housing
developmentsTenureHousing Type

Housing
category under
the Building
Regulations

100%Allvisitable
dwellings

M4(1)

100%social rentedaccessible and
adaptable
dwellings

M4(2)

20%other tenures

5%Allwheelchair user
dwellings

M4(3)(a)

10%Where the Council is responsible for
allocating or nominating a person to
live in that dwelling.

wheelchair user
dwellings

M4(3)(b)

2. Where possible, M4(2) and M4(3) housing should be located close to good public transport, local
amenities, health services and town, district or local centres.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

South West Hertfordshire Local Housing Needs Assessment

Density of Development

14.68 Making effective use of land across Dacorum is a key element of the strategy for growth. Higher
densities allow land to be used more efficiently and are considered to be more sustainable. We will
seek to make the best use of urban land by supporting an uplift in densities within urban areas in

73

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 85



accordance with national planning policy. We will give particular encouragement to supporting higher
densities in the most accessible locations (such as near town, district and local centres and railway
stations).

14.69 The table below sets out average (gross) densities for different areas in Dacorum.

Table 10 Average gross densities (dph) achieved 2006-18 (consolidated ward figures)

122Hemel Hempstead Town Centre

79Tring Town Centre

44Berkhamsted Town Centre

41Hemel Hempstead neighbourhoods

43Kings Langley

38Countryside

51Average across Dacorum Borough (all wards)

14.70 Our approach is to actively encourage increases throughout the urban area. In addition, we will pursue
substantial increases in density in a number of identified Opportunity Areas in Hemel Hempstead as
these are the most sustainable locations for accommodating higher densities. This is followed by the
other town, district and local centres within Dacorum as these locations typically have a concentration
of services and facilities and are supported by better public transport.

14.71 Figure 3 below demonstrates how different designated areas can be intensified appropriately:

Figure 3

Image Credit: Figure 6.4 from Croydon Local Plan 2018 (27 February 2018)

Uplifting density

Density thresholds have been set in terms of a minimum target or percentage uplift on the surrounding average
density, whichever is greater. The percentage uplift ensures that there is always a policy imperative to exceed
surrounding average densities. The range of acceptable densities is illustrated within the policy.

74

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 86



To work out the surrounding densities - take the mean density of development within 100 metres of the proposed
site boundary (in all directions).

We recognise that it may not be possible or desirable to achieve an uplift in density on every occasion, and
applicants will need to justify this on a case-by-case basis.

Higher density secured through lower built form will be given priority: where built form achieves the required
minimum density it does not necessarily need to be achieved through tall buildings.

Measuring density

14.72 Housing density is a measure of the amount of land used for development and there are a number
of ways to measure it. Dwellings per hectare (dph) is used in the Plan as it is a familiar measure that
is used and understood by the development industry.

14.73 Housing density can also be measured either in terms of a site's gross or net area. These are defined
below:

"Gross site area": the total land area of the development site.
"Net site area": the land that is available for development (or developable land).
"Net density": the number of residential units accommodated on the land that is available for
development. It includes all areas that are directly associated with the developed dwellings,
including access roads within the site, private garden space, car parking areas, incidental open
space and landscaping, children's play areas, and the dwellings themselves. It excludes major
distributor roads, schools, churches, shopping areas, open space serving a wider area or
significant landscape buffer strips.

Policy DM11 - Density of Development 

1. The Council will support appropriate densities as set out below:

Table 11 Density Thresholds

Minimum density

Whichever is greater:Maintain density
with any uplift
considered on its
merit

Place

100 dph (net) or
>30% uplift

70 dph (net) or 30%
uplift

40 dph (net) or
20% uplift

√XXX
Opportunity
Areas in Hemel
Hempstead

X√XX

Other Town
Centres, District
and Local
Centres within
Dacorum

XX√XElsewhere in the
Towns

XXX√Elsewhere in
Dacorum

Acceptable densities in Growth Areas will be guided by Masterplans and Design
Codes to be informed by the site specific allocations and the Dacorum Design
Guidance.

AllocatedGrowth
Areas

75

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 87



2. Development will be supported if local circumstances indicate that the density of the scheme would
not have an adverse effect on the:

a. character of the area;
b. residential amenity;
c. highway safety;
d. heritage assets; or
e. townscape.

3. Proposals which fail to meet any specified minimum densities will be refused permission unless there
are robust reasons for accepting a lower density.

4. On allocated sites the net capacity of sites listed in 24 'Proposals and Sites' is expected to be met.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Strategic Design Guide SPD

To be produced

Detailed Design Guide SPD

Nationally Described Space Standards

14.74 The Government approach to various standards has been to rely on minimum requirements in the
Building Regulations for most matters, but to set a small number of ‘optional’ national standards which
local planning authorities can choose to apply. These ‘optional’ standards cover internal space, water
efficiency and accessibility. Local planning authorities cannot seek any additional, or higher, standards
than those set out nationally for new housing.

14.75 Before we can formally use these standards, the Government advises that we will need to justify our
approach based on evidence covering need, viability and timing. Therefore, we will be undertaking
an analysis of recently permitted schemes to ensure these requirements do not undermine the viability
and deliverability of development. We will review the evidence and the need for internal space policies
for the next stage of the Plan.

Policy DM12 - Nationally Described Space Standards

1. Proposals for new build residential development or redevelopment should comply with the nationally
described space standards, as set out below, unless it can be robustly demonstrated that this would
not be feasible or viable.

Table 12 Nationally Described Space Standards

Minimum gross internal floor areas and storage

built in
storage (m2)

3 storey
dwellings (m2)

2 storey
dwellings (m2)

1 storey
dwellings (m2)

number of bed
spaces
(persons)

number of
bedrooms

(b)

1.0--39 (37)1p1b

76

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 88



Minimum gross internal floor areas and storage

built in
storage (m2)

3 storey
dwellings (m2)

2 storey
dwellings (m2)

1 storey
dwellings (m2)

number of bed
spaces
(persons)

number of
bedrooms

(b)

1.5-58502p

2.0

-70613p

2b -79704p

2.5

9084744p

3b

9993865p

108102956p

3.0

10397905p

4b

112106996p

1211151087p

1301241178p

3.5

1161101036p

5b

1251191127p

1341281218p

4.0

1291231167p

6b 1381321258p

2. Built-in storage areas are included within the overall gross internal areas (GIAs) and include an
allowance of 0.5 sqm for fixed services or equipment such as a hot water cylinder, boiler or heat
exchanger.

3. GIAs for one storey dwellings include enough space for one bathroom and one additional WC (or
shower room) in dwellings with 5 or more bedspaces. GIAs for two and three storey dwellings include
enough space for one bathroom and one additional WC (or shower room). Additional sanitary facilities
may be included without increasing the GIA provided that all aspects of the space standard have
been met.

4. Where a 1 bedroom, 1 person dwelling has a shower room instead of a bathroom, the floor area
may be reduced from 39 sqm to 37 sqm, as shown bracketed.

5. Furnished layouts are not required to demonstrate compliance.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Nationally Described Space Standards

Existing Accommodation for Travelling Communities

14.76 We support a small but diverse range of travelling communities who live in and visit Dacorum. This
includes:

Gypsies and Travellers;

77

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 89



travelling showpeople; and
people living in boats on the Grand Union Canal.

14.77 Their needs should be met by retaining existing accommodation and, where fully justified, providing
new sites. The majority of such existing accommodation is to be found in the open countryside where
restrictive planning policies on new development and the use of land apply. This often makes it difficult
to secure sites in the first place and to subsequently find and secure suitable alternative locations.

14.78 We have undertaken an accommodation assessment of the future need for the travelling community
- Gypsy, Traveller (and travelling showpeople), and caravan and houseboat dweller accommodation
needs (March 2019). The study has shown that there is no direct identified need for either new yards
for travelling showpeople or permanent residential moorings for canal boats. Nevertheless, Policy
DM15 - Residential Moorings provides more detailed guidance on residential moorings in the event
such schemes should emerge over the lifetime of this Plan.

14.79 However, the assessment did identify a need for additional traveller pitches. Policy DM14 - Gypsies
and Travellers explains the type and extent of this need and how this Plan intends to accommodate
the growth.

Policy DM13 - Existing Accommodation for Travelling Communities

1. Existing travellers pitches, showperson plots and mooring basins (both residential and visitor
components) will be safeguarded from alternative development unless:

a. a satisfactory replacement is provided; or
b. there is no further need for the facility.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment (2019)

Gypsies and Travellers

14.80 Our evidence - the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment (2019) takes into account
the latest Government definition of Gypsy and Travellers, includes an assessment of existing provision,
and sets out a forecast of future need. The evidence identifies the need for additional pitches to
address natural growth for both those that meet the definition (nomadic) and those that do not
(non-nomadic).

14.81 7 Gypsy and Traveller pitches are required from those who are known to meet the new definition and
up to 73 pitches from those who do not meet the new definition (see table below). The evidence also
identified significant over-crowding issues at the Three Cherry Trees Lane site.

Table 13 Pitch provision required in Dacorum to accommodate Nomadic Gypsies and Travellers

TotalsStatus

7Meeting Planning Definition

78

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 90



Table 14 Need for Gypsy and Traveller households in Dacorum that meet the Planning Definition by
year periods

Total16 - 1911 - 156 - 100 - 5Years

2032 - 362027 - 322022 - 272017 - 22

72005Pitches

14.82 The element of need for those that satisfy the definition (i.e. nomadic travellers) is small and is spread
across the Plan period. This is currently best met as part of an existing housing-led allocation at West
Hemel Hempstead (Growth Area HH21) which already sets aside land for 7 pitches. Currently there
are two authorised sites in Dacorum, both of which are managed by Hertfordshire County Council:

Three Cherry Trees Lane, Hemel Hempstead (30 pitches); and
Cheddington Lane, Long Marston (6 pitches).

14.83 The number of pitches required for those that do not meet the definition of a nomadic lifestyle represents
a far more challenging issue to address given the constraints to providing appropriate new sites in
Dacorum. However, the NPPF sees their needs being met as part of the existing housing supply (i.e.
via bricks and mortar accommodation).

14.84 We are mindful that the Human Rights Act 1998 and the Equalities Act 2010 protect their cultural
choice to live in mobile accommodation and therefore there is a need to plan for park homes within
this Plan through an identified allocation at Marchmont Farm, Hemel Hempstead (which provides
land for 5 pitches) (Growth Area HH22) and on the basis of a criteria approach to new sites.

Table 15 Pitch provision required in Dacorum to accommodate Non-Nomadic Gypsies and Travellers

TotalsStatus

0 - 4Unknown

69Do not meet the Planning Definition

73Total

14.85 No need has been identified for transit sites as there is little evidence of travelling through Dacorum.

14.86 New pitches will provide a more settled base for Gypsies and Travellers, giving them better access
to health and education services, and employment. But it is important to ensure that development is
located in the most appropriate locations to minimise their impacts, and that adequate on-sites facilities
are provided. Government policy makes clear that Traveller sites are inappropriate development in
the Green Belt.

14.87 We consider that new sites should be small in scale (up to 15 pitches) as this makes them easier to
plan for, manage, assimilate in to an area, and integrate with the settled community.

14.88 Policy DM14 sets the strategy for how future Gypsy and Travellers needs will be accommodated in
Dacorum, and provides a sequential and criteria-based approach for identifying suitable locations for
new sites.

Policy DM14 - Gypsies and Travellers

The target for new pitches for nomadic and non-nomadic Gypsy and Travellers will be set according to
the most recent Gypsy and Traveller Needs Assessment.

1. Nomadic-Travellers
a. The target for nomadic Gypsy and Travellers will be met through the provision and management

of a permanent new site as identified on the Policies Map in the following location:

79

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 91



Table 16 Allocated Sites for Nomadic Gypsies and Travellers

No. of pitchesLocationSettlement

7Growth Area HH21 - West of
Hemel HempsteadHemel Hempstead

b. Should other accommodation needs for nomadic Travellers arise over the Plan period in
additional locations for either permanent or temporary sites they will be assessed against the
criterion set out in c below.

2. Non-Nomadic Travellers
a. The most recent Gypsy and Traveller Needs Assessment identifies a future need for up to 73

pitches for non-nomadic Gypsies and Travellers. The target will be progressively met through:
the provision and management of a planned new site; and criteria approach to other new sites.

b. Allocated sites: A new park home site for those Gypsies and Travellers who have ceased to
travel permanently (or if the need arises for Nomadic Travellers) will be brought forward in the
following location
Table 17 Allocated Sites for Non-Nomadic Gypsies and Travellers

No. Of pitchesLocationSettlement

5Growth Area HH22
- Marchmont FarmHemel Hempstead

c. Unallocated sites: New sites (or the extension or intensification of existing sites) for those
who have ceased to travel permanently on unallocated sites must be in accordance with the
NPPF and Planning Policy for Traveller Sites and should be:
i. justified taking into account existing local provision and the availability of alternative sites,
ii. judged on the basis of the need for that provision;
iii. distributed in a dispersed pattern around settlements;
iv. located close to local services and facilities; and
v. not normally exceed a site capacity of 15 pitches.
vi. Sites must be designed to:

A. avoid unacceptable adverse impact on the amenity of neighbouring land users;
B. provide safe and convenient access, particularly for pedestrians, to facilities and to

the local/strategic highway network;
C. ensure landscaping or other physical features provide an appropriate setting and

relationship to existing residential areas;
D. allow for suitable arrangements for drainage, sanitation and access to utilities; and
E. secure pitches of a sufficient size to accommodate trailers/caravans, parking, and

storage and amenity space for the needs of the occupants.

3. New Traveller sites (whether temporary or permanent) in the Green Belt are inappropriate development
and will not be approved except in very special circumstances.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

The Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment (March 2019)

80

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 92

https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic-planning/gypsy-and-traveller-accommodation-assessment-2019.pdf?sfvrsn=89c00a9e_4


Residential Moorings

14.89 The principal offline (i.e. not on the towpath) residential moorings and facilities in Dacorum are at the
boatyard in Winkwell, the marina at Apsley, the marina at Cow Roast, and other minor facilities such
as sanitary stations/water points.

14.90 Our evidence in the Caravan and Houseboat Dweller Accommodation Needs Assessment (2018)
does not identify any direct need for additional permanent residential moorings in Dacorum to meet
local demand. Any additional permanent residential moorings should be seen in the context of providing
for a more diverse set of housing options and as part of the wider housing delivery, as opposed to
meeting any identified local need. The Gypsy&Traveler Accommodation Needs Assessment suggests
the role of additional moorings in meeting current housing needs in Dacorum is likely to be very small
and this figure would form part of the existing Local Housing Need and is not in addition to it.

14.91 However, there has been some interest in recent years to convert leisure moorings to permanent
residential moorings e.g. at Cow Roast and Apsley Marinas. Important issues relate to the availability
of suitable and sustainable services and facilities to serve such developments. Proposals for permanent
residential use can also conflict with the need to maintain the low key character and appearance of
existing leisure mooring basins, in particular within the open countryside. Therefore, we consider it
reasonable to restrict both the overall proportion of moorings that are converted as well as the impact
of the residential use on the area through the control of storage, gardens, parking and external lighting.

14.92 All new proposals or schemes to expand existing facilities in the countryside will need to be carefully
justified against Green Belt or Rural Area policies given these are normally areas of development
restraint. Furthermore, the Chilterns AONB provides another potential level of constraint on
development in such rural locations. If demand arises for additional moorings, this is best met in
carefully controlled and planned sites which can also help reduce the problem of unauthorised
moorings. However, the number and siting of permanent residential moorings or their expansion must
be limited to avoid harm to the countryside or surrounding area and to safeguard the canal
environment.

14.93 New permanent residential moorings should normally be offline. There should be space for essential
facilities such as water and electricity supply and for refuse and sewage disposal. Any parking and
other features should be unobtrusive. We do not consider that general storage and the erection of
antennae on the land to be essential facilities.

14.94 The Canal and River Trust has a new approach to the definition of ‘continuously cruising’ to minimise
the length of time houseboats can remain in one place, and are taking action against unlicensed
residential boats.

Policy DM15 - Residential Moorings

1. All new proposals for residential moorings outside of urban areas will be considered against Policy
SP11 - Development in the Green Belt and Policy SP12 - Development in the Rural Area taking into
account the guidance for Policy DM27 - Landscape Character and Chilterns Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty, as appropriate.

2. New residential moorings on the Grand Union Canal adjoining the urban areas of Tring, Berkhamsted,
Hemel Hempstead and Kings Langley, must satisfy the criteria below and other relevant policies of
the plan.

3. Locations in the open countryside will only be acceptable where they are incorporated into a
sustainably sited recreational mooring basin and their impacts are carefully controlled.

4. Proposals must:

a. in the case of development involving the loss or change of use of existing leisure moorings,
ensure at least 50% of the moorings at the site are retained as leisure moorings;

81

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 93



b. integrate successfully with the surrounding landscape and/or townscape and make a positive
contribution to the canalside environment;

c. be close to existing services and amenities and exploit opportunities to make the site more
sustainable by, where feasible, promoting or improving alternative means of transport;

d. be served by an adequate road access and not result in a significant adverse impact in terms
of traffic generation or highway safety and convenience, and

e. enhance the historic or visual character of the canal and its nature conservation value.
5. In addition they should:

a. not impede navigation and/or the use of the towpath;
b. only provide essential external lighting;
c. include sufficient amenity space space at the site in a communal area for essential facilities

such as bin storage, showers, laundry and WCs;
d. provide adequate pedestrian and service vehicle access;
e. not have individual garden areas, sheds, storage units or parking areas adjacent to each

mooring - car parking and other facilities should wherever feasible be provided in a communal
area, or be designed out of the proposal, and

f. include landscaping to a high standard.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Caravan and Houseboat Dweller Accommodation Needs Assessment (December 2018)

Apsley Marina, Hemel Hempstead

82

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 94

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic-planning/gypsy-and-traveller-accommodation-assessment-2019.pdf?sfvrsn=89c00a9e_4


Page 95



15 Employment Development

15.1 The Employment Strategy seeks to bring forward a sufficient amount of office and industrial space in
the right locations to deliver our wider economic objectives. To deliver the required floorspace
requirement we have identified a number of Employment Growth Areas (see the Proposals and Sites
section of the Plan). In addition, most existing employment sites should be retained.

15.2 Policy SP5 - Delivering the Employment Strategy, sets indicative floorspace figures for office and
industrial development which reflect the above. As a result of the Town and Country Planning (Use
Classes) (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020, the indicative floorspace figures relate to the
following land uses:

Offices: office uses in use class E
Industrial: light industrial uses in class E; general industrial uses in class B2; and storage or
distribution use in class B8

15.3 Other key ways in which the policy will be delivered are summarised below:

Supporting the knowledge-based economy, including the development of green technological
businesses at Maylands Gateway close to M1 Junction 8 in the Hertfordshire Innovation Quarter
Enterprise Zone.
Requiring provision for small and medium sized businesses in Employment Growth Areas.
Retaining and developing existing employment sites that meet longer term needs for a wide
range of office and industrial uses, whilst encouraging offices in the town, district and local
centres.
Allocating 20 hectares of land for new office and industrial development in the Employment
Growth Areas listed in the policy.

Maylands Business Centre, Hemel Hempstead

84

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 96



General Employment Areas

15.4 The General Employment Areas (GEAs) contain the majority of Dacorum’s office and industrial
floorspace. The GEA designation ensures that appropriate land is set aside and protected mainly for
office, industrial and warehousing uses, to help ensure that the indicative floorspace figures in Policy
SP5 - Delivering the Employment Strategy can be met. Maylands Business Park in Hemel Hempstead
is the principal GEA and most of the other GEAs are located elsewhere in the towns of Hemel
Hempstead, Berkhamsted and Tring. There are smaller GEAs in Kings Langley and Markyate. For
historical reasons, there are also GEAs in the Green Belt at Bourne End and Bovingdon.

15.5 We have designated two new GEAs at Two Waters Road/A41 junction, Hemel Hempstead (Growth
Area HH16) and Dunsley Farm in Tring (Growth Area Tr01). Maylands Business Park is now covered
by one GEA, the boundaries of which have been extended to take in land permitted or allocated for
employment development at Maylands Gateway and Spencer’s Park. Furthermore, the Bourne End
Mills and Bovingdon Brickworks GEAs have been extended. Finally, this Plan gives GEA status for
the first time to Sunderland Yard’s in Kings Langley, to help retain village jobs.

15.6 We have also reviewed the existing GEAs and other land designated for employment use. Given the
overall shortage of employment development land, existing employment areas should be retained for
employment uses unless there are strong reasons to the contrary. Despite this, we have decided to
delete or reduce the size of a small number of employment areas, but only where:

the area is no longer mainly in office, industrial or warehousing use;
the use(s) more appropriately sit within a district centre designation; or
the existing employment uses are of a low quality and there is potential for high density new
housing within a highly accessible location that would increase the vitality and viability of a town,
district or local centre.

15.7 We expect that the loss of floorspace from these changes is to be more than compensated for by the
new and expanded employment areas included in this Plan.

Non-office and industrial uses

15.8 GEAs should be reserved mainly for office, industrial and warehousing uses, as explained above.
However, we recognise that other uses should be accepted to a limited extent, where they are similar
to office or industrial uses or would provide services to the businesses and employees located in the
GEA.

Employment Article 4 areas

15.9 Between 2006 and 2018, Dacorum experienced a net loss of 75,000 sqm of office floorspace, despite
the substantial increase proposed in the Core Strategy. Commitments exist for further losses, mainly
from prior approval schemes for conversion of offices to residential (i.e. where there is no longer a
formal requirement for planning permission). We have, therefore, introduced Article 4 areas to control
changes of use to housing in the GEAs listed below:

Maylands Business Park (most of the area)
Doolittle Meadows, Apsley, Hemel Hempstead
Whiteleaf Road, Two Waters, Hemel Hempstead
Park Lane, Hemel Hempstead
Bourne End Mills, Bourne End
Northbridge Road and River Park, Berkhamsted; and
Icknield Way, Tring

Waste uses

85

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 97



15.10 The Hertfordshire Waste Site Allocations Plan (2014) defines some employment areas as suitable
for certain types of waste uses. These areas are known as Employment Land Areas of Search (ELAS).
Such areas in Dacorum are shown below:

Table 18 Employment Land Areas of Search in Dacorum as at 2020

Potential waste usesELAS reference no.General employment area

Organic waste recovery facilities (excluding
open-windrow composting) and other types of
waste management facility that meet the capacity

ELAS168Buncefield, Hemel Hempstead

ELAS006, 007 and
168

Maylands Business Park (part),
Hemel Hempstead

shortfalls in the Hertfordshire Waste Core
Strategy and Development Management
document are acceptable in principle.

ELAS175Whiteleaf Road, TwoWaters, Hemel
Hempstead

ELAS174Riversend Road, Two Waters,
Hemel Hempstead

ELAS164Icknield Way, Tring

Types of waste management facility that meet
the capacity shortfalls in the Hertfordshire Waste
Core Strategy and Development Management
document are acceptable in principle.

ELAS167Northbridge Road, Berkhamsted

ELAS169
River Park, Berkhamsted

Policy DM16 - General employment areas

1. General Employment Areas (GEAs) are shown on the Policies Map.Within these areas, development
and redevelopment will be permitted for the office, industrial and warehousing uses set out in the
table below. Proposals should also comply with the planning requirements in this table and, for
Employment Growth Areas, the site specific guidance in the Proposals and Sites schedule.

2. Non-office and industrial uses will be permitted if they satisfy one or more of the following:

a. are similar in nature to office, industrial or warehousing uses and will strengthen the economic
role of the GEA,

b. will not undermine the particular role of the GEA as an employment and economic centre, or
c. will provide important services and facilities that would enhance the attractiveness of the GEA

as an economic centre.
3. Depending on the size, character and location of the GEA, acceptable uses include the following:

a. Sui generis uses of a similar nature to office, industrial or warehousing uses
b. Public houses and takeaways
c. Hotels
d. Trade counter uses
e. Community uses, such as day nurseries and creches.

4. Applications for residential use in the employment Article 4 areas shown in the table below will be
resisted:

Table 19 Employment Article 4 Areas

Planning requirementsEmployment usesTable of General
Employment Areas

Hemel Hempstead

Small units to be retained.Light industrialApsley

Development may be restricted due to the storage
of a notifiable hazardous substance on this site:
advice required from Health and Safety Executive
(HSE).

Oil terminalBuncefield

86

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 98



High quality well landscaped landmark buildings
required fronting London Road and Two Waters
Road, given the prominent location on the main
approach into the town centre from the A41 bypass.

Offices, industrial
warehousing

Riversend Road, Two Waters

Environmental improvement sought.

Proposals must respect, and if possible enhance,
the setting of the listed building.

Within an Article 4 area, where good quality offices
should be retained and changes of use from
employment uses to housing will be resisted.

Offices, industrial,
warehousing

Whiteleaf Road, Two Waters

Development may be restricted due to the storage
of a notifiable hazardous substance on adjoining
National Grid site, until the site is redeveloped for
housing (see Growth Area HH09 in the Proposals
and Sites schedule): advice required from Health
and Safety Executive (HSE).

Within an Article 4 area, where good quality offices
should be retained and changes of use from
employment uses to housing will be resisted.

OfficesDoolittle Meadows, Apsley

Existing landscaping should be maintained,
particularly along the canal and the London Road
frontage. Softening of boundary to the Green
Belt will be sought if the opportunity arises (i.e.
through additional planting).

Most of GEA is within an Article 4 area, where:Offices, industrial,
warehousing

Maylands Business Park

Good quality offices should be retained,
especially the Grade A offices at Breakspear
Park and the Maylands Building.
Changes of use from employment uses to
housing will be resisted.

Green technological uses meeting the aims of the
Hertfordshire Innovation Quarter Enterprise Zone
will be encouraged, particularly within the
designated Enterprise Zone.

Contains an Employment Growth Area in Maylands
Gateway (see Growth Area HH20 in the Proposals
and Sites schedule).

Development close to Buncefield Oil Terminal and
Three Cherry Trees Lane/Swallowdale Lane may
be restricted due to the storage of notifiable
hazardous substances: advice required from Health
and Safety Executive (HSE).

Employment Growth Area (see Growth Area HH16
in the Proposals and Sites schedule).

Offices, industrial,
warehousing

Two Waters Road/A41
Junction

87

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 99



Berkhamsted

Within an Article 4 area, where good quality offices
should be retained and changes of use from
employment uses to housing will be resisted.

Offices, industrial,
warehousing

Northbridge Road

Canalside enhancement required.

The household waste site is safeguarded under the
Hertfordshire Waste Core Strategy.

Within an Article 4 area, where good quality offices
should be retained and changes of use from
employment uses to housing will be resisted.

Offices, industrialRiver Park

Canalside enhancement required.

Small and medium sized units to be retained.

Tring

The mill (listed building) to be retained and its
enhancement encouraged.

Offices, light
industrial

Brook Street

Small units to be retained.

Contains an Employment Growth Area (see Growth
Area Tr01 In the Proposals and Sites schedule).

Also contains 2 ha of land partly in
industrial/commercial use (including Tring Brewery),
with scope for further small-scale employment
development.

Offices, industrial,
warehousing

Dunsley Farm, London Road

Within an Article 4 area, where good quality offices
should be retained and changes of use from
employment uses to housing will be resisted.

Offices, industrial,
warehousing

Icknield Way

Kings Langley

Small units to be retained.Offices, industrialSunderland’s Yard, Church
Lane

Markyate

Small units to be retained.Offices, industrial,
warehousing

Sharose Court, Hicks Road

Green Belt

88

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 100



Contains an Employment Growth Area (see Growth
Area Cy01 In the Proposals and Sites schedule).

Elsewhere, new office and Industrial development
is acceptable in principle.

Landscaping should be strengthened, if necessary,
to ensure that new development is not visually
intrusive when viewed from the nearby countryside.

Within an Article 4 area, where good quality offices
should be retained and changes of use from
employment uses to housing will be resisted.

Offices, industrial,
warehousing

Bourne End Mills

Contains an Employment Growth Area (see Growth
Area Cy02 In the Proposals and Sites schedule).

Elsewhere, new employment development is
acceptable in principle.

Landscaping should be strengthened, if necessary,
to ensure that new development is not visually
intrusive when viewed from the nearby countryside.

Offices, industrial,
warehousing

Bovingdon Brickworks

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Policies map

Maylands GEA, Hemel Hempstead

Other Office and Industrial Sites

15.11 Outside the GEAs, there are many other sites in office and industrial use in Dacorum. Most of these
sites are not very large, but in total they provide a significant number of office and industrial jobs.
They also help ensure a good spread of jobs across the Borough. The Dacorum Employment Land

89

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 101



Availability Assessment looked at several of these sites. The assessment recommended that most
of them should be protected, with proposals for the loss of employment land on these sites considered
through a criteria-based policy.

15.12 Policy DM17 - Other Office and Industrial Sites encourages offices in the town, district and local
centres. Office development is, therefore, acceptable in principle on suitable sites in these centres.

15.13 An element of office development will also be sought or encouraged in the following Growth Areas
in Hemel Hempstead:

Paradise/Wood Lane (Growth Area HH04);
Market Square (Growth Area HH05);
Hemel Hempstead Station Gateway (Growth Area HH08); and
Two Waters North (Growth Area HH11).

15.14 Elsewhere, there is little scope for new office and industrial development. However, environmentally
acceptable proposals within existing employment sites will be permitted.

15.15 As explained above, there has been a considerable loss of office floorspace. Furthermore, the Dacorum
Employment Land Availability Assessment recommended that the remaining town centre office sites
should be retained. Therefore, we have designated an Article 4 area covering part of Hemel Hempstead
town centre, in order to require planning applications for changes of use from offices to housing. We
will resist the further loss of town centres offices, unless a strong case to the contrary is demonstrated.
Elsewhere in the towns and large villages, we will assess proposals for the loss of existing employment
space on the basis of a criteria approach.

15.16 The NPPF (paragraph 83) states that planning policies should enable the sustainable growth and
expansion of business in rural areas, through conversions and new buildings on suitable sites. It also
encourages the development and diversification of agricultural and other land-based rural businesses.

15.17 However, Dacorum’s countryside is in the Green Belt, Rural Area and/or the Chilterns AONB, where
restraint policies apply. Nevertheless, this Plan provides opportunities for rural businesses.

Policy DM17 - Other office and industrial sites

1. Office and industrial development in towns and large villages: In Hemel Hempstead,
Berkhamsted, Tring, Bovingdon, Kings Langley and Markyate, new office development will be
encouraged on suitable sites in the town, district and local centres. Office floorspace will also be
sought or encouraged as part of mixed use or housing-led developments in Growth Areas HH04,
HH05, HH08 and HH11 in Hemel Hempstead (see Proposals and Sites schedule). Elsewhere, in
these settlements new office and industrial development will generally be limited to existing
employment sites.

2. Loss of existing office and industrial space in towns and large villages: Planning applications
for the loss of office and industrial land outside General Employment Areas will be permitted if there
is no reasonable prospect of the site continuing in office or industrial use, or the existing use causes
serious environmental problems. In deciding applications, the Council will consider whether:

a. There is a strong case to overcome the presumption against the further loss of town centre
offices.

b. The proposed new use would meet an important local need or deliver other planning advantages.
c. The existing use causes serious environmental problems that cannot reasonably be resolved.
d. The site is well suited for an economically important type of office, industrial or warehousing

use that is in short supply in Dacorum, such as yards for storage purposes.
e. The existing buildings are of good quality and are suitable for modern business needs.
f. The site is in a commercially attractive location for office, industrial or warehousing uses.

90

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 102



g. The site has been marketed effectively for continued office, industrial or warehousing use and
whether there is any viable interest in the property.

h. The site is vacant and, if so, for how long.
i. There are sufficient other employment opportunities available in the settlement.
j. The site is in a district or local centre, where the Council wishes to retain existing offices.

3. Rural economy proposals for office and industrial development in the countryside will be considered,
as appropriate, against Policy SP11- Development in the Green Belt, Policy SP12 - Development in
the Rural Area and Policy DM27 - Landscape Character and Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty. Proposals for the loss of existing office, industrial and warehousing space will be assessed
against bullet points a-j above.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Dacorum Employment Land Availability Assessment

Tourism

15.18 We have many popular destinations for day trips in the Borough. They play an important role in
generating jobs for local residents and supporting our local businesses, particularly many rural
enterprises. They provide leisure and recreational activities for our residents and those visiting the
special landscape areas of the Chilterns Hills, the Grand Union Canal, or the many attractive walks
crossing the Borough including the Icknield Way or Chiltern Way. Whether it's the Snow Centre or
Frogmore Paper Mill in Hemel Hempstead, Ashridge House and Estate, Berkhamsted Castle, the
Natural History Museum or Champneys both in the Tring area, or through visiting one of our many
open, green spaces, reservoirs or parks, Dacorum provides a wealth of interesting places to visit.

15.19 Tourism and leisure development is generally welcomed, providing opportunities to enhance the
visitor experience, additional employment and a means of supplementing and diversifying rural
incomes. However, it can have negative impacts on the surrounding area, especially those in a
countryside setting, if located insensitively, is out of scale with its context, or if it fails to take proper
account of local character and appearance. Policy DM18 - Tourism seeks to locate most development
within or close to defined settlements, where local shops and facilities are most accessible and stand
to benefit the most. Sustainable development will be approved in accordance with 'Policy SP1 -
Sustainable Development in Dacorum'.

15.20 We want to encourage visitors and investment in Dacorum whilst recognising that a balance needs
to be maintained with regards to preserving the high quality environmental, historic, and cultural assets
of the Borough i.e. new development and facilities should not detract or harm the very environment
that attracts them. The re-use of existing buildings limits harm to the environment and may help farm
diversification schemes.

Policy DM18 - Tourism

1. New tourism enterprises and extensions to existing tourism enterprises will be supported in principle
where the facility meets identified needs which are not met by existing facilities, is appropriately
located and does not conflict with other policies within this Plan, including the Green Belt and Rural
Area policies (respectively Policies SP11 and SP12).

2. Planning permission for tourism-related development will be supported where it:

91

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 103



a. increases the attractiveness of the Borough as a tourist destination;
b. improves visitor accommodation; or
c. delivers sustainable tourism and visitor attractions in appropriate locations.

3. In the countryside outside settlement boundaries, proposals will need to evidence why they cannot
be accommodated within or adjoining an existing settlement and how they will support the rural
economy.

4. Proposals for touring caravan sites should, in particular, be:

a. located within reasonable walking distance of a settlement with shops, pubs or other facilities;
b. of an appropriate scale to the countryside location;
c. easily accessible from the primary road network and not result in highway safety issues;
d. unobtrusively located; and
e. effectively landscaped.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Growth and Infrastructure Strategy

92

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 104



Page 105



16 Retailing and other town centre uses

16.1 Our Retail and Leisure Development Strategy forms part of the Sustainable Development Strategy.
This section provides more detail on how we will deliver this overarching approach.

16.2 The NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should support the role of town centres and
other centres such as district and local centres, in order to promote their long term vitality and viability
and their role at the heart of local communities. Meeting anticipated needs for retail, leisure, office
and other main town centre uses is emphasised. Planning policies should define the extent of town
centres and primary shopping areas, and make clear the range of uses permitted in such locations
as part of a positive strategy for the future of each centre.

16.3 The Government has introduced greater flexibility over changes of use in recent years, in order to
support town centres. This was done initially, by amending the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order and more recently by revising the Use Classes Order. Permitted
development rights now allow certain changes of use without planning permission, whilst others
require only a prior approval process.

16.4 Various uses have now been grouped together in the Use Classes Order under new classes E and
F1. Planning permission is not required for changes of use within a use class. The table below lists
the main town centre uses defined in the NPPF by the use class they are covered by:

Table 20 Main Town Centre Uses

Use classMain town centre uses

E: commercial, business and serviceRetail development (including warehouse clubs and
factory outlet centres)

E: commercial, business and serviceRestaurants, drive through restaurants, health and
fitness centres

Sui generis (not within a use class)Cinemas, bars and pubs, nightclubs, casinos, indoor
bowling centres and bingo halls

E: commercial, business and serviceOffices

C1: hotels, boarding and guest housesHotels and conference centres

F1: learning and non-residential institutionsMuseums, galleries

Sui generis (not within a use class)Theatres, concert halls

16.5 The key messages from our evidence are set out in the Retail and Leisure Development Strategy. In
summary, a hierarchy of centres was recommended in the 2018 Retail and Leisure Study. This study
also recommended town centre and primary shopping area boundaries for the town and district
centres, and primary and secondary frontages for the town centres. The Further Dacorum Retail Study
(2020) provided updated and additional guidance on retail issues.

16.6 The Retail and Leisure Development Strategy states that we will encourage main town centre uses
of an appropriate scale and nature in the town, district and local centres in accordance with the
hierarchy defined in the policy. In addition, the policy provides guidance on the scale and distribution
of new retail development in Hemel Hempstead, Berkhamsted and Tring.

Mix of uses in Town, District and Local Centres

16.7 Policy DM19 - Mix of uses in Town, District and Local Centres, provides guidance on the mix of uses
in town, district and local centres. In this policy, our definition of ‘town centres’ covers the sub-regional
centre of Hemel Hempstead, as well as Berkhamsted and Tring town centres. The policy defines
boundaries for every centre and primary shopping area boundaries for town and district centres.
These boundaries reflect the Retail and Leisure Study’s recommendations and further analysis by us

94

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 106



(see the Retail and Town Centres Topic Paper). We have concluded that it is no longer appropriate
to define primary and secondary frontages in the town centres, given the flexibility for changes of use
within use class E.

16.8 We recognise that the nature of centres is changing and that they will contain a wider range of non-shop
uses than in the past. In particular, there will be more emphasis on food and drink and leisure uses,
and a growing evening economy. Substantial housing development in and around Hemel Hempstead
town centre is likely to increase the demand for such uses. However, shopping will remain very
important, especially in the primary shopping areas.

16.9 Apart from the main town centre uses defined in the NPPF, there are various other uses that are
appropriate in town, district and local centres. Such uses include:

Table 21 Appropriate uses in Town, District and Local Centres

Use classUses

C3: dwelling housesHousing

E: commercial, business and serviceFinancial and professional services (including banks
and estate agents), clinics and health centres

F1: learning and non-residential institutionsLibraries, places of worship, public halls

Sui generis (not within a use class)Hot food takeaways, amusement centres, betting
offices

16.10 Policy DM19, therefore, strikes a balance between protecting key shopping areas and encouraging
other appropriate uses.

Policy DM19 - Mix of uses in Town, District and Local Centres

1. A wide range of ‘main town centre uses’ as defined in national guidance and other appropriate uses
will be encouraged in the town centres (Hemel Hempstead, Berkhamsted and Tring), district centres
(Hemel Hempstead Old Town and Apsley) and local centres (Adeyfield, Bennetts End, Maylands,
Woodhall Farm, Bovingdon and Kings Langley), in order to protect and increase the vitality and
viability of these centres. The evening economy will be supported.

2. The Policies Map shows the boundaries of the:
a. Town, district and local centres
b. Primary shopping areas in the town and district centres

3. Retail development will be concentrated mainly in the primary shopping areas.
4. Development in the primary shopping areas and in existing shopping areas in local centres should

provide an active ground floor frontage and planning permissions will normally be subject to a condition
to achieve this.(8)

5. The mix of uses in town, district and local centres should accord with the guidance below:
a. Ground floor level in primary shopping areas the following uses will be permitted:

i. Shops, financial and professional services, cafes and restaurants, gyms, but not other
uses within use class E (commercial, business and service)

ii. Bars and pubs, hot food takeaways
b. Upper floors in primary shopping areas, elsewhere in town and district centres, and in local

centres the following uses will be permitted:
i. Uses acceptable at ground floor level in primary shopping areas
ii. Leisure and entertainment uses, such as cinemas, theatres, concert halls and dance halls
iii. Class F1 uses (learning and non-residential institutions), including museums, libraries

and places of worship

8 Includes those created as a result of the prior approval provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order amending or re-enacting that Order with or without modification)

95

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 107



iv. Hotels, boarding houses and guest houses
v. Medical uses, such as clinics and health centres
vi. Offices
vii. Other appropriate uses such as amusement centres and betting offices
viii. Housing

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

South West Hertfordshire Retail and Leisure Study (2018)
Further Dacorum Retail Study (2020)

Neighbourhood centres and scattered local shops

16.11 Small parades of shops of purely neighbourhood significance are not classified as ‘centres’ in the
NPPF. Nevertheless, these centres fulfil an important role in providing local shops, services and
community facilities, which merit protection where appropriate. Some scattered local shops are also
important, particularly in the smaller villages. They should be given a degree of policy protection.

16.12 Policy DM20 - Neighbourhood Centres and scattered Local Shops, takes account of the introduction
of class F2 (local community use) in the Government's 2020 changes to the Use Classes Order. Class
F2 covers various uses, in particular:

shops serving essential goods, including food, where the floorspace is no more than 280 sqm
and there is no other such facility within one kilometre; and
halls and meeting places for the principal use of the local community.

Policy DM20 - Neighbourhood Centres and scattered Local Shops

1. In the following neighbourhood centres, as defined on the table below, the emphasis will be on shops
to serve the local community mainly selling convenience goods. Other appropriate uses such as
small scale food and drink uses and local community uses will also be encouraged.

Table 22 Neighbourhood Centre Locations

Neighbourhood Centre Locations

Boxmoor (St. John’s Road), Hemel Hempstead

Chaulden, Hemel Hempstead

Gadebridge (Rossgate), Hemel Hempstead

Grovehill, Hemel Hempstead

Highfield (Bellgate), Hemel Hempstead

Highfield (The Heights), Hemel Hempstead

Leverstock Green, Hemel Hempstead

Nash Mills (The Denes), Hemel Hempstead

Warners End (Stoneycroft), Hemel Hempstead

Miswell Lane (and Western Road), Tring

96

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 108



Neighbourhood Centre Locations

Markyate

Northchurch

2. Existing shops within class F2 in neighbourhood centres and scattered shops elsewhere will be
protected, unless marketing evidence demonstrates that the use is not viable.

3. Marketing evidence will also be required to justify the loss of other shops and premises providing
local services in neighbourhood centres.

4. The loss of halls, meeting places and other community facilities in neighbourhood centres will be
assessed against Policy DM64 - Community Facilities.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

South West Hertfordshire Retail and Leisure Study (2018)
Further Dacorum Retail Study (2020)

Main town centre uses outside existing centres

16.13 There a number of existing or permitted out of centre retail locations in Dacorum. In Hemel Hempstead,
some of these have now been incorporated into the Apsley district centre and Maylands local centre.
Also, the B&Q store in Hemel Hempstead forms part of the proposed Two Waters North housing-led
site (Growth Area HH11). In Berkhamsted, planning permission has been granted for a Lidl foodstore
at Gossoms End (Growth Area Bk13).

16.14 The NPPF states that proposals for main town centre uses outside existing centres should be subject
to the sequential and impact tests. Policy DM21 - Main Town Centre uses outside existing centres
reflects the NPPF and the conclusion in the Further Dacorum Retail Study that no new out of centre
retail development proposals can be justified in the Local Plan, except to serve the larger strategic
Growth Areas.

Policy DM21 - Main Town Centre uses outside existing centres

1. Proposals for main town centre uses outside the centres listed in Policy SP6 and not in accordance
with other policies in this Plan should follow a sequential approach to site selection in accordance
with national guidance, except for proposals complying with the guidance on existing and permitted
out of centre locations below.

2. Retail and leisure proposals outside defined centres for over 2,500 sqm floorspace should also be
subject to an impact assessment, in accordance with national guidance.

3. Schemes which would result in a significant adverse impact on existing centres will not be permitted.
4. Edge of centre and out of centre proposals should be in accessible locations, well connected to an

existing centre.
5. Where retail development is permitted outside existing centres, careful control will be exercised over

the size of units and type of goods to be sold in order to avoid a significant adverse impact on these
centres.

6. In the following locations, significant development above that already permitted will be resisted,
except in the locations stated in the table below:

97

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 109



Table 23 Out of Centre Retail Locations

Further significant development proposedLocation

-Aldi, London Road, TwoWaters, Hemel Hempstead

-Aldi, Redbourn Road, Hemel Hempstead

Retail-led development, including a possible
foodstore. Food and drink uses, leisure uses and a
hotel also acceptable on part of the site (Growth
Area HH27)

Jarman Park, Hemel Hempstead

Foodstore (Growth Area Bk13)Lidl, Gossoms End, Berkhamsted

-Tesco, London Road, Tring

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

South West Hertfordshire Retail and Leisure Study (2018)
Further Dacorum Retail Study (2020)

98

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 110



CLIMATE CHANGE 
& SUSTAINABILITY

Mitigating and adapting

to climate change.

Page 111



17 Climate Change and Sustainability

17.1 Our climate is changing as a result of human activity, and left unabated will have catastrophic effects
on the way we live our lives. We declared a Climate Emergency in July 2019 to respond to these
challenges and, through this, have committed to reducing carbon emissions across Council activities
to net zero by 2030. The declaration also places key responsibilities on the Local Plan to include all
available measures to cut carbon emissions and reduce the impact on the environment.

17.2 Mitigating and adapting to climate change is at the heart of the environmental arm of our strategy and
will support national aims under the Climate Change Act (2008) to reduce the UK’s greenhouse gas
emissions by 2050. Effectively, the whole economy target is to be net zero carbon by 2050 and the
overall objective is for all new development to be ‘zero carbon’ in the future.

17.3 Local planning authorities are bound by the legal duty set out in the 2008 Planning Act to ensure that,
taken as whole, plan policy contributes to the mitigation of and adaptation to climate change. The
NPPF expands on this duty, stating that: “local planning authorities should adopt proactive strategies
to mitigate and adapt to climate change (paragraph 149) (in line with the objectives and provisions
of the Climate Change Act 2008).

17.4 Planning has an important role to play in meeting the challenges of climate change in relation to the
need to reduce greenhouse gas emissions (mitigation) and improve resilience (adaptation). While
the framework for reducing these emissions is set out through national guidance, much of the
implementation will need to be at the local level.

17.5 The policies set out in this chapter are designed to help shape and design places in order to achieve
a low carbon future, support lower carbon emissions and renewable energy technologies, make places
resilient to the effects of climate change and ensure a more effective use of the resources available. A
gradual tightening of standards over the Plan period can ensure we can deliver our commitment that
all new development in Dacorum should be 'net zero' by 2030.

National Policy

17.6 Recognising the importance of climate change and how this will affect future generations, as part of
the Climate Change Act (2008) the Government set out a legally binding target to reduce the UK’s
greenhouse gas emissions to 80% below 1990 levels by 2050. This was set in the context of
international ambition to limit warming to no more than 2 degrees above pre-industrial temperatures,
and if possible nearer 1.5 degrees celsius. Based on updated advice from the Committee on Climate
Change, in June 2019 the Government passed laws that amended this to 100% below 1990 levels.

17.7 Effectively, the whole economy target is to be net zero carbon by 2050 and the overall objective is
for all new development to be ‘zero carbon’ in the future. Legislation will also set out interim
requirements leading up to net-zero by 2050, with new energy efficiency standards expected in 2020
and by 2025 the Future Homes Standard will set a 75-80% reduction target for new build homes
alongside requirements for future proofing for low carbon heating.

17.8 Chapter 14 of the NPPF makes clear the important role the planning system and plans play in
responding to climate change. The planning system should support the move to a low carbon
future, shape places in ways that contribute to reducing greenhouse gases, minimise vulnerability
and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of existing resources, and support renewable and low
carbon energy and associated infrastructure (paragraph 148).

17.9 Plans should be proactive in mitigating and adapting to climate taking into account a number of impacts
including flood risk, water supply, biodiversity and landscapes, and the risk of overheating from rising
temperatures (paragraph 149) The policies of the plan should support appropriate measures to ensure
the future resilience of communities and infrastructure to climate change impacts.

100

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 112



17.10 New development should be carefully designed to reduce vulnerability to these impacts and to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions (paragraph 150). The NPPF seeks to increase the use and supply of
renewable and low carbon energy and heat through a number of measures (paragraph 151) and
urges local planning authorities to support such community-led initiatives (paragraph 152). The NPPF
also sets out advice in order to determine planning applications for renewable and low
carbon development (paragraphs 153-154).

National Policy Reforms in the White Paper

17.11 The Government's Planning for the Future White Paper renews its commitment to combat climate
change and achieve net zero by 2050. Pillar Two - Planning for beautiful and sustainable places
signals a future change and emphasis within the NPPF to help achieve this goal. Local authorities
may be given greater scope to set energy efficiency standards for new build development and play
a key role in identifying where reneweable energy production and new woodlands would be
appropriate.

Other Relevant Strategies and Studies

17.12 We are preparing a Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan to help meet our pledge for the impact
of our services and assets to be carbon neutral by 2030 and also to contribute towards the whole UK
targets. The Action Plan looks at how services throughout the Council can support our ambition and
identifies the Plan as key to achieving change across the whole of the Borough. The proposed actions
will evolve and adapt over time and take account of both the outcome of the interventions and external
changes.

Policy SP10 - Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation

1. All development is required to mitigate and adapt to climate change and to actively pursue the
reduction of carbon dioxide emissions.

2. The policy will be applied to ensure that all new development in the Borough is net zero by 2030. This
will be achieved in a phased way as follows:

a. up until 2030, all new development will be required to accord with Policy DM23 - Energy and
Carbon Emissions Reductions in New Development; and

b. from 2030 onwards, all new development will be net zero.
3. The policies of the Plan will contribute to net zero carbon through mitigation measures by:

a. prioritising the development of previously developed land in sustainable locations;
b. where carbon emissions cannot be mitigated, collecting contributions towards a carbon off-set

fund.
c. increasing the area of habitats that fix and store carbon, including tree planting; and
d. encouraging on-site renewable and low carbon energy sources on development sites, and

stand-alone renewable energy or low carbon schemes;
e. requiring development to have high levels of thermal efficiency, including setting carbon emission

targets where applicable;
f. requiring development to specify construction materials with low embodied carbon, and to

minimise building construction waste, including reuse and recycling wherever possible;
g. designing buildings to reduce excessive cooling and heating loads through orientation,

landscaping and appropriate glazing;
h. encouraging the use of sustainable transport modes in all new development; and
i. supporting retrofitting schemes to the existing building stock to meet higher energy efficiency

standards.
4. The policies will ensure that new developments are resilient and contribute to climate change

adaptation by:

101

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 113



a. using green infrastructure to reduce flood risk, tackle urban heat island effects and provide
solar shading; and

b. adapting to climate change by ensuring development avoids areas of flood risk and reduces
the risk of flooding elsewhere, through the use of measures including sustainable urban drainage
systems, green roofs and walls, and permeable surfaces.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Strategic Design Guide SPD

To be produced

Climate Change and Sustainability SPD
Detailed Design Guide SPD
Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan

Sustainable Design and Construction

17.13 Sustainable building design and construction is an essential part of the Council’s response to the
challenges of climate change. The way in which buildings are designed, constructed, operated and
decommissioned has significant impacts on the built and natural environment, and requires major
resource inputs such as energy, water and materials.

17.14 Developers should first consider the reuse or refurbishment of existing buildings before demolition.
Where demolition is proposed, materials should be reused, either on site or elsewhere, or recycled
to avoid land-fill.

17.15 Embodied carbon is the carbon footprint of a material - a measure of how much greenhouse gas has
been emitted in manufacturing materials and products such as building materials, and includes end
of life emissions. Within a building, the type, volume, fitting and fixture, and future maintenance of the
material also contribute towards its overall embodied carbon. For example, cement manufacture (used
in concrete) is the source of about 8% of the world's CO2 emissions, brick has a higher embodied
carbon per kg than concrete, but since it is a porous material, the tonnage required will generally be
less. Timber is a carbon sink, can be sustainably produced, and is an excellent insulator. Where there
is no substitute for concrete, it is possible to specify a low carbon equivalent that locks up CO2 in its
manufacture. (9)

17.16 The design and construction of buildings should allow for the easy recovery and recycling of materials
at the end of the building's life. Developers are encourage to implement a Site Waste Management
Plan (SWMP) to help managematerials more effectively and reduce waste. Construction waste should
be minimised in accordance with the waste hierarchy of materials usage as shown in Figure 4.

9 Climate change: The massive CO2 emitter you may not know about https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/science-environment-46455844

102

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 114



Figure 4 Waste Hierarchy

17.17 In Dacorum, the ongoing use of buildings accounted for some 59.5% of all greenhouse gas emissions
(GHG) in 2017, of which residential buildings contributed 58% (10). Reducing greenhouse gas emissions
in the use of buildings is key to achieving the emission reduction target.

17.18 Proposals should be designed to enable future retrofitting to meet higher energy efficiency standards
and lower GHG emissions by connecting to a air source heat pump, community heat networks or
other low or zero carbon sources.

17.19 Hertfordshire’s Building Futures Sustainable Design Toolkit also provides practical case studies and
is an evolving best practice guide for new development.

17.20 Developers will be expected to submit a Sustainability Statement with their application to demonstrate
how the development minimises this impact and contributes to the objectives set out in Policy SP10
- Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation.

17.21 Further details and the criteria for the Sustainability Statements will be set out in the Climate Change
and Sustainability SPD.

Policy DM22 - Sustainable Design and Construction

1. New development will be expected to contribute to strategic Policy SP10 - Climate Change Mitigation
and Adaptation by mitigating the causes and adapting to the impacts of climate change. Proposals
will be supported where they demonstrate that the highest standards of sustainable design and
construction will be incorporated into the development.

10 Scatter GHG Inventory - local authority focused emissions tool

103

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 115



2. For all new major developments in Dacorum, a sustainability statement is required to be submitted
(using the online sustainability checklist as a template and to include consideration of sustainable
transport) to demonstrate how the following key principles will be satisfied.(11):

3. Mitigation measures

a. Limit carbon dioxide emissions from the ongoing use of the development in accordance with
Policy SP10 - Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation, or where this is not applicable, seek
to improve on the minimum Building Regulations requirements by following the energy hierarchy
set out in Figure 5.

b. Use building materials with low embodied carbon unless evidence conforming to BS 15978:2011
or using the RICS 2014 Methodology to Calculate Embodied Carbon indicates otherwise

c. Incorporate green infrastructure to sequest carbon, to include two or more new trees (a tree
shall be considered to count if it ordinarily reaches a mature height of 6 metres or more) per
dwelling or per 100 sq m floor space (for non-residential developments) on-site.

d. Minimise building construction waste, reduce the volume of construction waste going to landfill
and use construction materials that can be recycled at the end of the building's life.

e. Create a 'future proofed' design to enable retrofitting for higher energy efficiency standards
(including use of alternative energy sources such as heat pumps), and in District Heating
Opportunity Areas how it could be connected to decentralised community heating systems.

4. Adaptation measures

a. Minimise water usage and risk of flooding by including SuDS (including green roofs and
permeable surfaces around the curtilage of buildings and in street design), surface water storage
and grey water recycling.

b. Explain how the building(s) has been designed to have a long life.
c. Deliver an overall net-biodiversity gain and positive measures to support wildlife.
d. Use permeable ground surfaces, and if a flat roof is required, use a lighter coloured material,

or preferably a green roof, within urban areas.
e. Use good design to reduce ongoing energy consumption considering aspects such as orientation,

fenestration, aspect and landscape.
f. Minimise water use during construction (e.g. by specifying off-site modular construction or

non-wet trades) and limit residential indoor water consumption to 110 litres per person per day.
5. Sustainability statements will be assessed on their merits but with an expectation that all measures

should be satisfactorily met unless there is clear and convincing evidence as to why any measure(s)
cannot be implemented, and if so, that alternative sustainability measures should be proposed.
Proposals that exceed the requirements will be supported.

6. All development must be in accordance with the Dacorum Climate and Sustainability SPD which will
be produced separately.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Strategic Design Guide SPD
Hertfordshire's Building Futures Sustainable Design Toolkit

To be produced

Climate Change and Sustainability SPD
Detailed Design Guide SPD

11 This requirement will be waived for non-residential proposals that target BREEAM Excellent and which commit to achieving this
through subsequent BREEAM certification with evidence at the planning application stage that the project has been registered
with a licenced BREEAM Assessor

104

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 116



Energy and Carbon Emissions Reductions in New Development

17.22 A key strand of our climate change strategy is to secure reductions in emissions from all sources.
Data from Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy shows total Borough carbon
emissions fell by 58% between 1990 and 2020, significantly exceeding the Government's 37%
commitment by 2020. (12) However, much more is needed to deliver our policy aspirations that all
new development will be carbon neutral from 2030.

17.23 While the Government has signalled its intent to introduce a 'roadmap' to reducing greenhouse gas
emissions to net-zero by 2050 - to include the Future Homes Standard in 2020 and further measures
from 2025 for new homes to produce 75-80% lower CO2 emissions and be 'zero carbon ready' - our
Plan accelerates this change. Our initial energy efficiency standards for new residential development
are set at exceeding the Building Regulations Part L 2013 by a further 19% in terms of CO2 reductions
on the Target Emission Rate (TER). This is the equivalent of the withdrawn Code for Sustainable
Homes Level 4 and complies with the provisions of the Planning and Energy Act 2008. In addition
we will seek contributions towards a further 20% reduction, leading to all new development being
carbon neutral from 2030.

17.24 The Plan expects new non-residential development (where local authorities are not restricted or limited
in the setting of energy performance standards) to achieve a BREEAM standard of Excellent.

17.25 The Council’s approach will be guided by the Energy Hierarchy (Figure 5). This means that planning
for carbon emission reductions will start at the design stage, by orientating buildings to maximise the
advantages of solar gain and minimise the risk of overheating, and reducing heat loss and improving
the energy efficiency of the building fabric, to ensure that carbon emissions reductions are
‘future-proofed’ for the life of the development.

Figure 5 Energy Hierarchy

12 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-2014

105

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 117

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-2014


17.26 On-site renewable energy generation can also assist in delivering net reductions in carbon
dioxide emissions and should be included in the design of new development to achieve a further 20%
reduction in the residual carbon emissions over and above the 19% improvement. Microgeneration
technologies on buildings or supporting developments will need to be suitable for the site layout,
design principles and any landscape or heritage constraints.

17.27 The Council will allow a degree of flexibility in how the standards set out in Policy DM23 - Energy and
Carbon Emissions Reductions in New Development are achieved going forward to 2030 in line with
national requirements, but will expect the overall targets to be met subject to viability. Where targets
cannot be met, applicants / developers will be expected to offset on site the residual emissions through
the Council's approach to carbon offsetting in accordance with Policy DM26 - Carbon Offsetting..

17.28 The Dacorum Climate Change and Sustainability SPD will provide guidance on the application of the
energy hierarchy, best practice in terms of layout, orientation, design, landscaping to maximise the
benefits of solar gain whilst minimising overheating risk and the need for active cooling or ventilation,
the use of green infrastructure and SuDS to mitigate flood risk and anticipate climate change extremes,
how to achieve zero carbon and carbon neutral developments, and carbon offsetting.

17.29 Hertfordshire’s Building Futures Sustainable Design Toolkit provides practical case studies and is an
evolving best practice guide for new development.

17.30 New development will be expected to demonstrate their compliance through an energy statement,
Energy Planning Guidance London (GLA) provides a good practice guide to preparing these.

Policy DM23 - Energy and Carbon Emissions Reductions in New Development

1. In order to deliver reductions in CO2 emissions as set down up to 2030 new development is required
to demonstrate through the submission of an energy statement and other supporting information
(including preliminary energy assessments and 'as designed' performance target) how its design,
orientation, layout, operation and performance monitoring will satisfy the following:

a. For all new major residential development,

i. an energy performance standard equivalent to at least 19% carbon emissions reduction
on the Dwelling Emission Rate (DER) against the Target Emission Rate (TER) based on
Part L of the Building Regulations (2013) whilst meeting the Target Emission Rate (TER)
solely from energy efficiency measures as defined within the SAP calculation model.

ii. for all new-build major residential development, in addition to the above; contribute to a
further 20% reduction in residual carbon emissions through the provision of on-site
renewable energy generation, or provision and connection to decentralised low carbon
energy sources.

b. For all new-build non-residential development, or multi-occupation residential, a BREEAM
standard of Excellent for buildings;

2. In meeting these requirements developments are expected to:

a. be developed in accordance with the sequencing of the energy hierarchy set out in Figure 5
(i.e. design, fabric first approach and energy efficiency measures before considering
decentralised renewable or low carbon energy sources);

b. show how the performance gap between the "as built" and "as designed" calculations for energy
use, carbon emissions reduction, indoor air quality and overheating risk will be closed;

c. for all major new build residential development - implement a recognised monitoring regime to
assess the energy use, indoor air quality, and overheating risk for at least 10% of the proposed
dwellings for the first five years of their occupancy, and ensure that the information recovered
is provided to the applicable occupiers and to the planning authority.

3. The Council will give strong support to new residential development that targets certification to the
Home Quality Mark and Passivhaus design standards and non-residential development that targets
certification beyond BREEAM Excellent.

106

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 118



4. Projects and proposals for retrofitting the existing building stock to meet higher energy efficiency
standards that reduce carbon emissions or increase their suitability for reuse will be supported subject
to heritage and aesthetic considerations.

5. Proposals should be designed to enable retrofitting to meet higher energy efficiency standards in
future such as heat pumps or other low or zero carbon sources and, in District Heating Opportunity
Areas (DHOAs) how development could be connected to networks of community heating if this were
available.

6. Requirements to demonstrate the meeting of higher energy efficiency standards under this policy
will be required until superseded by the Building Regulations standards under Part L or amended
by the Planning and Energy Act 2008, whichever is earlier.

7. All development must be in accordance with DacorumClimate Change and Sustainability Guidance.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-2014
Hertfordshire Building Futures Sustainable Design Toolkit

To be produced

Climate Change and Sustainability SPD

The Nokes Passivhaus, Hemel Hempstead

107

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 119

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-2014


Low Carbon Community Heat and Energy Networks

17.31 The NPPF states (paragraph 151) that plans should identify opportunities for co-locating potential
heat customers and suppliers and encourage development to draw its energy supply from
decentralised renewable and low carbon energy sources.

17.32 Community heat or energy networks give communities more awareness and accountability for the
environmental impact of their energy use, enabling them to play a greater and more direct role in
reducing this contributor to greenhouse gas emissions.

17.33 Within the UK the majority of community energy projects currently focus on electricity generation,
other project areas include energy efficiency measures and a small share on heat generation. Within
electricity generation, solar energy is currently the most dominant technology, followed by wind
projects. Large scale battery storage may be found co-located with solar energy collection.

17.34 District heating schemes are most effective in areas where there is a significant demand for energy
within a compact area. The type of technology used is tailored to local circumstances and cost
effectiveness, and can utilise energy generated from community or commercial use buildings or energy
generated by the natural environment.

17.35 TheMap below (Figure 6, from the ‘Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Study’) identifies opportunities
for renewable energy in the Borough’s town centres and Maylands Business Park, and through
large-scale greenfield development.

Figure 6 Opportunities for Renewable Energy

17.36 We consider that networks of district heating and Combined Heat and Power (CHP) should be pursued
in District Heating Opportunity Areas (DHOAs) where significant regeneration is targeted, and in the
Growth Areas. Systems could be powered by local biomass and appropriate waste that is not being
recycled for other purposes. Major developments in DHOAs and on allocated Growth Areas will be
expected to investigate the potential for providing site-wide community heat or energy networks or
for connecting to existing networks of heat or power where this is available.

108

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 120



17.37 Smaller developments in or close to existing or planned networks of district heating or CHP should
also investigate the delivery of suitable technologies to enable connection to those networks either
now or in the future.

17.38 More detailed guidance about low carbon community heat and energy networks will be given in the
Climate Change and Sustainability SPD.

Policy DM24 - Low Carbon Community Heat and Energy Networks

1. All major development proposals within a Renewable Energy Opportunity Area (as shown on Figure
6) or in defined Growth Areas, will be expected to either:

a. create a site-wide community heat or energy network; or
b. connect to an existing decentralised network where this is available; unless it can be

demonstrated through an energy feasibility assessment that:

i. a better alternative for reducing carbon emissions from the development (taking into
account the potential efficiencies from expanding the network in future) can be achieved;
or

ii. heating and/or cooling large parts of any scheme do not justify a heat or power connection;
or

iii. the cost of achieving this would make the proposed development unviable.
2. Consideration will be given to whether proportionate reductions in social and community infrastructure

provision and/or financial contributions are justified, where this would make otherwise unviable
schemes that include energy networks viable.

3. Land for service corridors should be protected, irrespective of whether a connection is made.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Study

To be produced

Climate Change and Sustainability SPD

Stand-alone Renewable or Low Carbon Energy

17.39 Renewable energy is an important contributor to reducing overall CO2 emissions and since 2011 the
Borough has seen a steady but modest growth in the installation of microgeneration renewable energy
technologies. However to date there have been no significant stand-alone renewable energy generation
schemes.

17.40 The ‘Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Study’ identifies opportunities and constraints for renewable
energy, including wind power. Natural opportunities for wind power are in the countryside. While the
NPPF is clear that, in the main, renewable energy projects comprise inappropriate development in
the Green Belt, it does point to how the wider environmental benefits associated with increasing
energy production from these sources could form part of a case for very special circumstances
(paragraph 147). In addition it is important that schemes are designed and located so that their impacts
can be either avoided or suitably mitigated.

109

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 121



17.41 Policy DM25 - Stand-alone Renewable or Low-Carbon Energy sets out our approach to supporting
applications for renewable energy projects, with proposals that demonstrate local community
engagement and endorsement being given positive support. More detailed guidance about the design
and potential for renewable or low carbon energy schemes will be given in Dacorum Climate Change
and Sustainability SPD. The Chilterns Conservation Board's Position Statement on Renewable Energy
provides further guidance on the impacts of renewable energy development on the Chilterns AONB
and its setting.

Policy DM25 - Stand-alone Renewable or Low Carbon Energy

1. Proposals for the provision of stand-alone renewable and/or low carbon energy generation, including
community energy projects and those promoted in Neighbourhood Plans, will be positively supported
if:

a. any proposals within the Chilterns AONB or its setting are of an appropriate scale and do not
adversely affect the natural beauty or purpose of the AONB;

b. the overall visual effect on the landscape (including cumulative impacts and impact on sensitive
landscapes) is acceptable, with any harm mitigated by additional environmental benefits that
are above those provided by renewable energy;

c. any harm to the significance of designated and non-designated heritage assets is minimised
(including impacts on the setting);

d. any harm to residential or local amenity, including air quality, noise and light flicker is not
substantial;

e. locally important wildlife sites (including ecological corridors) and features would not be adversely
affected; and

f. the proposals are in accordance with the Dacorum Climate Change and Sustainability SPD;
and for community led schemes:

g. the benefits to the community are clearly articulated.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Study

To be produced

Climate Change and Sustainability SPD

Carbon Offsetting

17.42 Where a development cannot fully achieve the Plan’s requirements for reducing greenhouse gas
emissions on site it will be required to compensate for any residual CO2 emissions through carbon
offsetting contributions.

17.43 The carbon offsetting contributions will be based on a monetary value per tonne of CO2 emitted per
year from the development over and above the policy requirement and will be secured by a s106
planning obligation.

110

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 122



17.44 The carbon offset fund will be used to deliver offsetting measures to include carbon sequestration
projects such as tree planting to fix carbon, retrofitting energy efficiency and conservation measures
into existing buildings (principally the Council's existing housing stock) to reduce carbon emissions,
and investment into low carbon or renewable energy generation projects to reduce the demand for
conventional fossil fuel powered energy. Measures will be expected to have a lifespan of at least 20
years. Further details will be set out in the Dacorum Climate Change and Sustainability SPD.

17.45 Other initiatives to offset residual carbon emissions from development may be acceptable in lieu of
financial contributions to the carbon offset fund subject to agreement with the Council. Such initiatives
will be expected to be delivered within the Borough to aid monitoring. The project or measure should
clearly identify how it will work, when it will be delivered, the expected CO2 savings and how it will be
managed and monitored.

Policy DM26 - Carbon Offsetting

1. Development that cannot meet the Plan’s greenhouse gas reduction requirements on site will be
expected to contribute to the Council's Carbon Offset fund. This fund will be used to deliver carbon
capture schemes, to retrofit existing buildings or investing into low carbon or renewable energy
schemes.

2. Financial contributions to or the provision in kind for carbon offsetting will be secured via legal
agreements and in accordance with guidance contained within the Dacorum Climate Change and
Sustainability SPD.

3. Schemes that reduce greenhouse gas emissions or remove CO2 from the atmosphere will be accepted
in lieu of financial contributions to the Carbon Offset Fund provided that:

a. it is clearly identified as to what it is and how it will work;
b. monitoring and reporting regimes are incorporated;
c. there is clear certainty that delivery will take place;
d. appropriate and responsible management of the scheme can be assured over the long term;

and
e. it is in accordance with the Dacorum Climate Change and Sustainability SPD.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

To be produced

Climate Change and Sustainability SPD

111

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 123



Page 124



18 Environment and Biodiversity

18.1 The natural environment is one of the Borough's greatest resources and encompasses the landscape
of the countryside and green infrastructure(13) within towns and villages, helping to give Dacorum its
strong sense of place. It provides a diverse range of benefits to people, nature and the economy,
supporting the health and wellbeing of residents, biodiversity, food and energy production, flood
control, pollution and much more.

National Policy

18.2 National policy places great importance on sustainable development's role in protecting the natural
environment for the present and the future, placing it within the three overarching objectives of
economic, social and environmental. New policy to be introduced in England through the forthcoming
Environment Bill will aim to restore wildlife habitats, improve air and water quality, and deliver a 'net
gain' in biodiversity. It will also make provision to introduce long term, legally binding environmental
improvement targets for air quality, resource efficiency and waste reduction, biodiversity and water,
by 2022.

18.3 This will take into law the vision of ‘A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment’
(2018) which sets out national plans to help the natural world to thrive. To achieve these goals it
introduces the principle of biodiversity net gain, and of creating green towns, through stronger standards
for the delivery of new green infrastructure and tree planting. In the wider landscape. It aims to enhance
the beauty of natural heritage and expand woodland cover.

18.4 The previous Natural Environment White Paper set out aims including halting biodiversity loss by
2020, supporting ‘healthy functioning ecosystems’, and establishing ‘coherent ecological networks’.
TheWhite Paper refers to the role of urban green infrastructure as completing ‘the links in our national
ecological network’ and ‘one of the most effective tools available to us in managing environmental
risks such as flooding and heat waves’. It advocates that green spaces should be factored into the
development of all communities.

18.5 The National Planning Framework (NPPF) expects planning policies to conserve and enhance the
natural environments and to protect them from harm. All local authorities have a duty under Section
40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 to have regard to the conservation
of biodiversity in exercising all their functions. The duty aims to make biodiversity conservation an
integral part of policy and decision making.

Other Relevant Strategies and Studies

18.6 The Borough's natural environment and resources is recorded and evaluated through a number of
studies at both strategic and local level. This evidence will direct the implementation of policy,
highlighting opportunities to improve the environment and areas to be protected.

18.7 A detailed analysis of Dacorum’s habitats and species that are a priority for conservation can be found
in the Hertfordshire Biodiversity Action Plan, A 50 Year Vision (2006). Information on biodiversity
resources is updated and managed by the Hertfordshire Environmental Records Centre, hosted by
the Herts & Middlesex Wildlife Trust.

18.8 The Dacorum Borough Green Infrastructure Plan (2011) provides an overview of existing green
infrastructure assets, considers opportunities for the enhancement and creation of new assets, outlines
a series of potential projects and provides advice on delivering green infrastructure proposals. It forms
part of a county wide suite of documents and was prepared in parallel with the Hertfordshire Strategic
Green Infrastructure Plan (2011).

13 The Council considers green infrastructure to also include blue infrastructure, such as rivers, canals, reservoirs and wetlands.

113

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 125



18.9 More information on strategic biodiversity networks across the county can be found in the Herts &
MiddlesexWildlife Trust’s publication Hertfordshire Ecological Networks (2014), undertaken on behalf
of the Local Nature Partnership. Its mapping identifies priorities for new habitat areas, aiming to reduce
fragmentation and protect existing resources.

Boxmoor, Hemel Hempstead

Landscape Character and Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

18.10 The landscapes of the Borough are highly valued by the people who live and work within them or use
them for recreation. Figure 7 shows Dacorum's two principal landscape types:

the Chilterns National Character Area (14)

Bedfordshire and Cambridgeshire Claylands – an area known locally as Boarscroft Vale.

14 The Character of England’s Landscape, Wildlife and Cultural Features Map, 2005 Countryside Agency (now part of Natural England);

114

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 126



Figure 7 Principal Landscape Areas

18.11 Part of the Chilterns National Character Area is designated as an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty,
the highest national designation for landscape, which gives great weight to its conservation and
enhancement. The special qualities of the Chilterns AONB include the steep chalk escarpment with
areas of flower-rich downland, woodland, commons, tranquil valleys, the network of ancient routes,
villages with their brick and flint houses, chalk streams and a rich historic environment.

18.12 The Chilterns Conservation Board (CCB) has a statutory duty under the Countryside and Rights of
Way Act (2000) to produce a management plan, supported by a delivery plan. This can be a material
consideration inmaking decisions on individual planning applications TheChilterns AONBManagement
Plan 2019 – 2024: Caring for the Chilterns forever and for everyone identifies the management issues
faced and provides policies and actions to guide the work of all those who care for the AONB. The
Council will protect the Chilterns AONB and support the management actions, where relevant, through
the policies of the Plan. The CCB has also published the Chilterns Building Design Guide and a range
of technical notes to help guide development in the AONB.

18.13 A more detailed landscape assessment (15) divides the Borough’s countryside into 30 different
landscape character areas. The assessment covers physical influences such as geology and
topography, vegetation and wildlife, as well as historical and cultural influences such as the field
pattern and settlement form. It includes management guidelines for each area, which development
proposals will be expected to adhere to.

18.14 Dacorum has extensive areas of surviving high quality historic landscapes. The variety is extremely
high, and three are of particular rarity in the Borough (16):

coaxial field systems (particularly around Gaddesden Row);
Iron age mining and settlements (beneath the woodlands at Ashridge); and
deserted Medieval landscapes (Boarscroft Vale).

15 Landscape Character Assessment for Dacorum
16 Hertfordshire Historic Landscape Character Assessment, which zones land according to its historic character and the likelihood that

a particular area will contain historic landscape features – Hertfordshire County Council

115

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 127



Policy DM27 - Landscape Character and Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty

1. All development shall help conserve, restore or enhance the prevailing quality, character and condition
of Dacorum’s natural and historic landscape.

2. Permission for major developments in the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) will
be refused unless exceptional circumstances prevail as defined by national planning policy. Planning
permission for any proposal within the AONB, or affecting the setting of the AONB, will only be
granted when it:

a. conserves and enhances the Chilterns AONB’s special qualities, distinctive character, tranquility
and remoteness in accordance with national planning policy and the overall purpose of the
AONB designation;

b. is appropriate to the economic, social and environmental wellbeing of the area or is desirable
for its understanding and enjoyment;

c. does not negatively impact on the skyline views of the scarp slope;
d. meets the aims of the statutory Chilterns AONB Management Plan, making practical and

financial contributions towards management plan delivery as appropriate;
e. complies with the Chilterns Building Design Guide and technical notes by being of high quality

design which respects the natural beauty of the Chilterns, its traditional built character and
reinforces the sense of place and local character; and

f. avoids adverse impacts from individual proposals (including their cumulative effects), unless
these can be satisfactorily mitigated.

3. Proposals for all new development within a Landscape Character Area (17) will be expected to be
accompanied by a statement to demonstrate how the Strategy and Guidelines for Managing Change
have been applied, as contained within the Dacorum Landscape Character Assessment 2004 SPD
(including restoration of historic field, transport, settlement and built forms where appropriate), and
further advice contained within the Hertfordshire Historic Environment Record.

4. The Council will require a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA), prepared in accordance
with the latest guidance from the Landscape Institute, to be submitted for:

a. all major development located either outside of the settlement areas or within nationally important
landscape designations; and

b. the construction of all other buildings located within the Chilterns AONB or that would affects
its setting.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Landscape Character Assessment
Chilterns AONB Management Plan
Chilterns Building Design Guide
Hertfordshire Historic Landscape Character Assessment

17 comprises the 30 different landscape character areas identified across the Borough lying beyond the towns of Tring, Berkhamsted
and Hemel Hempstead

116

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 128



Chilterns AONB

Protection of Sites 

18.15 Dacorum has a rich resource of nature conservation sites which are protected according to their
relative importance through national and/or local planning policy.

18.16 Biodiversity and geodiversity assets are divided into statutory and non-statutory sites. Statutory sites
range in status and importance and include Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) designated by
Natural England, Wildlife Sites and other Nature Reserves. At the lower level are features such as
hedgerows and traditional orchards that can be recognised as Priority Habitats (NERC Act 2006) of
local importance. This hierarchy is shown in Figure 8 below.

Figure 8 Hierarchy of biodiversity and geodiversity designations

18.17 Individual sites within the Borough are recorded on the Policies Map and include:

the Chiltern Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation (SAC), which has the highest status of
protection for biodiversity through national planning policy;
eight SSSIs, which are protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981;

117

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 129



ancient woodland and trees, which will be accorded the same level of importance as SSSIs, as
they are irreplaceable habitats that are a national priority for improvement under the UK
Biodiversity Action Plan;
four regionally significant local geological and geomorphological sites; and
seven sites recognised and managed as nature reserves, which contribute to both nature
conservation and public appreciation and understanding of wildlife. (18)

18.18 Where significant adverse impacts are likely on protected sites, planning permission is likely to be
refused unless there are exceptional circumstances where the advantages to the protected site and
the local community clearly outweigh the significant adverse impacts. In this instance, we will consider
the wider implications of any adverse impact to a protected site, such as its role in providing a vital
wildlife corridor, mitigating flood risk or ensuring good water quality in a catchment. Where we become
aware of ancient trees not previously identified and under threat from development, a tree preservation
order will likely be made.

18.19 We will also seek opportunities to create new spaces for nature conservation, such as informal green
infrastructure managed for biodiversity benefit, or Local Nature Reserves (LNRs).

Policy DM28 - Protection of Sites

1. Important nature conservation sites, habitats and sites of geological and geomorphological interest
will be protected, maintained and enhanced.

2. Development proposals which are likely to cause harm to sites of nature conservation or geological
interest will only be permitted in exceptional circumstances where the need for the development
significantly and demonstrably outweighs the harm and where:

a. all necessary measures to mitigate the impact have been put in place; and
b. compensatory provision in line with mitigation hierarchy (i.e. avoidance - minimisation -

rehabilitation/restoration - compensation) can be secured to ensure that the overall coherence
of the site is protected and with the intent to achieve a net gain in biodiversity.

3. The above objectives will be applied as follows:

a. for sites of International importance:

i. there are imperative reasons of overriding public interest;
ii. there are no suitable alternatives to the proposal;

b. for sites of National importance:

i. the benefits of the development, at this site, clearly outweigh the adverse impacts on the
site;

ii. there are no suitable alternatives to the proposal;
c. for sites of county, sub-regional and local importance:

i. the local development needs significantly outweigh the biodiversity or geological
conservation value of the site.

4. Evidence will be required in the form of up to date, comprehensive ecological surveys undertaken
in accordance with industry guidelines and standards prior to the submission of an application.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Policies map

18 Further guidance on LNRs can be found in Natural England's Accessible Natural Greenspace Standard (AGNSt).

118

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 130



Protected Species and Priority Species and Habitats

18.20 Local authorities have a duty to conserve biodiversity under the Natural Environment and Rural
Communities Act (2006). A list of Species and Habitats of Principal Importance, published under
section 41 of the Act, identifies species that are most threatened, in greatest decline, or where the
UK holds a significant proportion of the world's total population.

18.21 Protected species (such as bats, great crested newts, otters and dormice) have statutory protection
under the Conservation of Species and Habitats Regulations (2010). Further legislation through the
Wildlife and Countryside Act (as amended) makes it an offence to intentionally or recklessly disturb
a European protected species while it is occupying a structure or place which it uses for shelter or
protection, or to obstruct access to any structure or place the species uses for shelter or protection.

18.22 Developers must check for the presence of protected species on development sites and seek
professional advice to ensure that their proposals safeguard any protected species identified. A survey
will be required where the presence of protected species on development sites is likely, and professional
advice must be sought to ensure that proposals safeguard any protected species identified.

Policy DM29 - Protected Species and Priority Species and Habitats Policy

1. Development which would result in damage to or loss of habitats of principal importance or the
habitats of species of principal importance will not be permitted except:

a. in exceptional circumstances where the need for, and benefits of the development significantly
and demonstrably outweigh the harm it would cause to the site; and

b. where the loss can be mitigated and compensation provided.
2. Where there is a reasonable likelihood of the presence of statutorily protected species or their habitats,

development will not be permitted unless it has been demonstrated that the proposed development
will not result in a negative impact upon those species and habitats.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Section 41: Species and Habitats of Principal Importance, NERC Act (2006)
Conservation of Species and Habitats Regulations (2010)
Wildlife and Countryside Act

Biodiversity Net Gain

18.23 For development to be sustainable, improvements to the environment and biodiversity must be
delivered alongside new homes and infrastructure. National planning policy sets out principles for
protecting biodiversity from harm, including the use of a mitigation hierarchy i.e. avoidance, mitigation
and then compensation. Local planning authorities have a Biodiversity Duty under the NERC Act
2006 and guidance provided NPPF (paragraph 170 (d) and 174 (b)) to seek enhancements and a
net gain for biodiversity from development. In 2020, new national planning policy is expected to make
it mandatory for development to deliver a 10% biodiversity net gain.

119

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 131



18.24 Development should be designed around existing components of the ecological network, and seek
to improve, enhance and connect these features with the wider network (NPPF paragraph
174). Developments will also be expected to include a variety of forms of biodiversity within the built
environment, such as street trees, wildflower rich verges and swales, living roofs and walls, hedgerows,
and sustainable drainage systems designed to enrich biodiversity.

18.25 Wewill help to protect and improve biodiversity by using a net gain metric to secure measurable gains
to the environment through on site improvements, or in worst case scenarios, from commuted sums
towards offsite habitat areas. Natural England has created the Biodiversity Metric 2.0 calculator as a
way of measuring and accounting for biodiversity losses and gains resulting from development or
land management. It allows biodiversity to be taken into account and for it to be measured in a
consistent way. The mitigation hierarchy should always be considered as the metric is applied. In
addition, use of the metric does not avoid the need to seek expert ecological advice.

18.26 Proposals will also be expected to apply the hierarchy of avoidance, mitigation and compensation
(set out below) in respect of any significant harm to biodiversity arising from development.

Avoid creating a biodiversity impact.
Minimise impacts that cannot be completely avoided.
Restore degraded or lost ecosystems.
Offset to compensate for residual impacts.

18.27 To support this approach, we will also introduce a monitoring framework to ensure proposed net gains
in biodiversity are achieved throughout the Plan period, including remedial measures for
non-compliance.

Policy DM30 - Biodiversity Net Gain

1. All major development will be required to deliver an overall net gain in biodiversity of 10%, determined
by applying the Natural England Biodiversity Metric 2.0 Calculator. Proposals should be accompanied
by a "biodiversity gain plan" to explain how the 10% net gain will be achieved and managed.

2. Only in situations where on-site delivery is proven to be unviable will local offsite compensatory
habitat or development contributions be sought. The latter should target sites in the vicinity of the
development before considering sites elsewhere in the Borough.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

NERC (2006)
Natural England Biodiversity Metric 2.0

120

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 132

https://www.publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5850908674228224


Red Mason Bee Nest, The Water Gardens, Hemel Hempstead

Chilterns Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation

18.28 The Chilterns Beechwoods SAC contains sites that are subject to international protection (Natura
2000 designation). These seek to conserve valued habitats, species, biodiversity, flora and fauna
that have significant ecological importance. SACs often have a unique character and draw which can
be difficult to replicate, so these designations guarantee a high level of protection to ensure the integrity
of the site is protected.

18.29 We have a legal duty as the ‘competent authority’ under the Habitats Regulations to protect the
Chilterns Beechwoods SAC from the effects of development. This can be achieved using many
measures but an important approach is one of mitigation through, for example, access management
strategies, habitat management, provision of new Natural Green Space and sustainable transport
choices. We take our responsibilities seriously with regard to the protection of these sites and will
ensure that Habitats Regulation Assessments are undertaken for development proposals likely to
affect these sites.

18.30 There are specific statutory controls in place which prohibit the granting of planning permission for
development proposals that may adversely affect internationally important habitats and species.

18.31 Conservation objectives seek to return those parts of the SAC, and the flora and fauna within them,
that currently have an unfavourable conservation status to a favourable conservation status or, for
parts of the SAC which are currently in favourable conservation status, to maintain that favourable
status. We must note that this status does not necessarily take account of or identify the impacts of
long term "wear and tear" of the assets within these assessments.

18.32 Our Habitats Regulations Assessment: Screening Report concludes that likely significant effects from
Dacorum's planned growth cannot be ruled out and so the precautionary principle needs to be applied.
This assessment identified two environmental impact pathways. This means an Appropriate
Assessment will be undertaken to determine if there are likely to be significant effects on the Chilterns
Beechwoods SAC caused by:

Recreational Pressure: increased visitor pressure (physical disturbance) on the Ashridge
Commons and Woods SSSI as it is a 'honeypot' site. Consideration will also be given to any
potential impacts upon the Tring Woodlands SSSI (located adjacent to Tring Park). Likely to be
caused from increased urbanisation (from meeting the local housing needs for Dacorum and

121

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 133



the surrounding area). It is widely acknowledged that Ashridge Estate and Tring Woodlands
SSSI offer unique features which cannot be easily replicated elsewhere; and
Atmospheric Pollution: increased air pollution at Tring Woodlands SSSI due to increased vehicle
movements on the A41.

18.33 This Plan seeks to enable effective on-site measures to absorb or mitigate any additional pressures
experienced on these SAC units, especially those which form part of the Ashridge Commons and
Woods SSSI. This has seen long-term “wear and tear” across the site for example, ever-wider paths
through the woods can have harmful impacts to ground flora and tree roots. While this long-term
deterioration is very difficult to quantify, the Habitats Regulations Assessment/Appropriate Assessment
is seeking to consider this matter.

18.34 We will seek to determine if and then what mitigation is required with regards to air quality and
recreational pressure. Although to document our current thinking on this matter, possible recreational
pressure mitigation measures are detailed in the separate Chilterns Beechwoods On-site and Access
Management Strategy Scheme and supporting Environment and Biodiversity Topic Paper.

18.35 Policy DM31 ensures that development within the Plan area does not adversely affect the integrity
of Chilterns Beechwoods SAC.

Policy DM31 – Chilterns Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation

1. The Council will expect all relevant development proposals to assist in the conservation and
enhancement of the biodiversity, character, appearance and landscape setting of the Chilterns
Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation (SAC). Proposals should have regard to the reasons for
the SACs designation and its conservation objectives.

2. Where there are grounds to believe that the SAC be affected by proposed development, applicants
must establish the extent of potential impact.This evidence should inform appropriately designed plans
and mitigation measures. Proposals must demonstrate that any effects of development would not
be adverse to the integrity of the SAC.

3. Open Space Requirements and Mitigation for Recreational Impacts

a. Allocated Growth Areas or Major residential development - In order to mitigate against the
potential or identified adverse effects of additional development on Dacorum, all development
that would result in a net increase in homes within the Borough will be required to:

i. Point of destination: assist in the conservation and enhancement of the biodiversity,
character and appearance and landscape setting of the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC by
making financial contributions towards the Chilterns Beechwoods On-site and Access
Management Strategy Scheme (to be drafted to support the Publication version of this
Plan), or any subsequent scheme which replaces this. Details will be set out in the Chilterns
Beechwoods SAC SPD; and

ii. Point of Origin: demonstrate that adequate measures are put in place to avoid or mitigate
any potential increase in visitor pressure on the SAC. This will require the provision of
bespoke on-site mitigation to form part of the proposed development. Such provision will
need to be:

A. delivered 'up front' to reduce pressures placed upon the SAC;
B. determined in agreement with Natural England and the National Trust; and
C. be proportionately addressed in accordance with the mitigation hierarchy (mitigation

- offsetting within the locality - compensation in the form of habitat);
iii. Where ii (A-C) cannot be achieved, a meaningful proportion of Natural Green Space or

access to Natural Green Space must be provided. This could involve:
iv. A. providing new green spaces, SANGS or Country Parks;

B. improving the naturalness, attractiveness or facilities on offer at existing green
spaces;

C. improving access to green space; or

122

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 134



D. improving connectivity between green spaces (where this development proposal
would not contribute to a material increase in recreational pressure on designated
sites).

v. Points iii (A. - D). must include a strategy demonstrating how they deliver for both residents
and tourists:

A. sufficient open space proposals, and where relevant
B. options for Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace of an appropriate quality and

in the right place
b. Minor residential development - All minor residential development will make financial

contributions towards the Chilterns Beechwoods On-site and Access Management Strategy
Scheme (19), or any subsequent scheme which replaces this. Details will be set out in the
Chilterns Beechwoods SAC SPD.

4. Mitigation for Air Quality impacts: Major development must contribute towards the Chilterns
Beechwoods Air Quality Mitigation Scheme (20), or any subsequently agreed scheme, unless it can
be demonstrated that the development would not result in any adverse impact on air quality at
Chilterns Beechwoods SAC either alone or in combination with other development.

5. The Chilterns Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation and the zones of influence are defined on
the Policies Map.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

HRA: Screening report (2020)

To be produced

Appropriate Assessment supported by:
Recreational Pressure including visitor survey work of Ashridge Estate/Chiltern
Beechwoods SAC - to define the Zone of Influence
Air Quality

Chilterns Beechwoods On-site and Access Management Strategy Scheme (setting out the
mitigation measures and associated costs) - this will determine the financial contribution

Ashridge Estate

18.36 Due to the sheer volume of visitors to the Estate more active on-site measures and management of
Ashridge Estate could help reduce the direct harm to the SAC/SSSIs caused by recreational impacts.

18.37 This is a very challenging balancing act between conserving the special features of the site and
actively managing the volume of visitors who visit the site (as some forms of management could begin
to negatively impact the natural beauty and special characteristics, including the historic environment)
and may include a variety of on-site measures.

19 to be drafted to support the Publication version of this plan
20 subject to the outcomes of the Appropriate Assessment

123

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 135



18.38 We believe we need mitigation to be implemented on the site, although as evidence on this matter is
emerging further details will follow on in due course. Our current thinking on this matter, including
possible recreational pressure mitigation measures, is detailed in the separate Chilterns Beechwoods
On-site and Access Management Strategy Scheme and supporting Environment and Biodiversity
Topic Paper.

Policy DM32: Development on the Ashridge Estate

1. The Council will support proposals which seek to improve the on-site management of visitors to the
Estate, especially those which seek the conservation, protection or beneficial improvement of the
ecological, historical and biodiversity designations, and in particular areas on the site such as Chilterns
Beechwoods SAC and associated SSSIs that are subject to international and national designations.

2. Any proposals must demonstrate how they will contribute to the resilience of the site in the long term
by mitigating the causes of degeneration of the sites special and protected features. Support will be
given to proposals which seek to re-introduce historic uses, features or field patterns.

3. All proposals must demonstrate whether there are any other suitable alternatives to this proposal
and where relevant, the exceptional circumstances necessary to outweigh any adverse impacts on
the sites designations. Where mitigations measures are necessary, these should demonstrate any
impacts upon the sites ecological, historical and biodiversity designations. This must be completed
to the satisfaction of Natural England, the Chilterns Conservation Board, Historic England and other
relevant stakeholders.

4. Any proposal must demonstrate accordance with guidance such as the Chilterns AONBManagement
Plan, the National Trust Conservation Management Plans, WoodlandManagement Plan and Natural
England guidance.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Ashridge Estate Central Area Conservation Management Plan (National Trust and Historic
Environment Associates, April 2019)

Ashridge Woodland

124

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 136



Protection and Enhancement of the River Character and Water Environment

18.39 Chalk streams are a characteristic and attractive feature of the Chilterns landscape, and a globally
rare habitat. The three chalk streams of the Rivers Bulbourne, Gade and Ver within Dacorum are
considered of poor or moderate status against the Water Framework Directive, with issues such as
unfavourable flow conditions, man-made structures in the channel and rural and urban pollution
leading to poor populations of invertebrates and fish. The Colne Catchment Action Network sets out
action plans for each river, which form part of Defra and the Environment Agency's strategy to achieve
'good ecological status' for the country's rivers.

18.40 Water resources are under extreme pressure from the use of groundwater for water supply and from
climate change. Frequent, extreme weather events such as heavy rainfall and long dry spells, impacts
on river levels and flows, creating pressure on underground drainage systems and affecting the level
of rainfall left to recharge groundwater sources. This threatens the retention of often fragile ecosystems,
susceptible to the availability and flow of water.

18.41 We will work with our partners to help restore river flows and natural habitats along the chalk streams
and in Boarscroft Vale, retain water in the catchment area, and support biodiversity. The Environment
Agency has a general aim to conserve open watercourses, and wherever possible, encourage and
promote the removal of culverts. They provide advice on culverts through their Policy Regarding
Culverts - Policy Statement (March 1999).

Policy DM33 - Protection and Enhancement of the River Character and Water
Environment

1. The water environment will be managed through development management and other action in
consultation with the Environment Agency and the Lead Local Flood Authority to achieve the following
objectives:
a. de-culvert watercourses and restore watercourses to a more natural state wherever possible,

new proposals for culverting will be discouraged;
b. avoid damage to Groundwater Source Protection Zones;
c. avoid the need to abstract water from the ground, in particular from the Rivers Ver, Gade and

Bulbourne catchments;
d. avoid development within 10 metres of the brink of a waterbody;
e. proposals adjacent to a waterbody(21), must incorporate measures to improve, restore or reach

'good' ecological status / potential as defined in the Water Framework Directive(22), including
invasive species management; and

f. secure opportunities to conserve and enhance biodiversity, to include reinstating natural buffer
zones.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Colne Can Action Network
Culverts Policy Statement, Enviroment Agency (March 1999)

21 Includes rivers, canals, lakes, ponds, reservoirs
22 A list of relevant measures can be found on the Environment Agency’s Catchment Data Explorer.

125

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 137



The River Gade Gadebridge Park, Hemel Hempstead

Flood Risk and Protection

18.42 National policy (NPPF paragraph 163) advises that when determining any planning applications, local
planning authorities should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere.

18.43 The Dacorum Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) contains maps showing flood risks from
various sources, including river and surface water flood risk areas, and these represent a snapshot
of flood risk at a given moment. The Environment Agency publishes regular mapping updates, and
the latest evidence should be a material consideration in determination of planning applications. The
Environment Agency can also provide pre-application advice.

18.44 Where appropriate, applications should be supported by a site-specific flood risk assessment (FRA)
to demonstrate that the proposed development will not create an increased risk of flooding from
surface water to the development site and the surrounding area. It should be carried out in accordance
with the NPPF and the 'Flood risk and coastal change' Planning Practice Guidance, giving preference
to infiltration over discharge to a watercourse, which in turn is preferable to discharge to surface water
sewer. Guidance on the preparation of surface water strategies can be found in the Defra/Environment
Agency R&D Technical Report W5-074/A/TR/1 Revision E "Preliminary rainfall runoff management
for developments".

18.45 The drainage assessment / FRA should as a minimum demonstrate the following:

1. runoff rates;
2. storage volumes; and
3. sustainable drainage techniques.

18.46 Applicants are encouraged to seek pre-application advice from Hertfordshire County Council as the
Lead Local Flood Authority prior to the submission of a formal planning application, and to ensure
that all the documents contained within the LLFA's 'developer's checklist' is included with the
application. Further guidance on SuDS is provided within the Dacorum Energy and Sustainability
SPD.

18.47 Development should only be allowed in areas at risk of flooding where, in the light of this assessment
(and sequential and exception tests, as applicable) it can be demonstrated that:

126

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 138



1. within the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest flood risk,
unless there are overriding reasons to prefer a different location;

2. the development is appropriately flood resistant and resilient;
3. it incorporates sustainable drainage systems, unless there is clear evidence that this would be

inappropriate;
4. any residual risk can be safely managed; and
5. safe access and escape routes are included where appropriate as part of an agreed emergency

plan.

18.48 The NPPF (paragraph 165) states that major developments should incorporate sustainable drainage
systems (SuDS) unless there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate. The systems used
should:

1. take account of advice from the lead local flood authority;
2. have appropriate proposed minimum operational standards;
3. have maintenance arrangements in place to ensure an acceptable standard of operation for the

lifetime of the development; and
4. where possible, provide multi-functional benefits.

18.49 In terms of SuDS, proposals should follow the SuDS hierarchy shown in the table below.

Table 24 SuDS Hierarchy

Landscape and
Wildlife Benefit

PollutionReductionFlood ReductionSuDS technique

√√√Living Roofs and
WallsMost Sustainable

√√√Basins and ponds↓

√√√Filter strips and
swales↓

√√√Infiltration Devices↓

√√Permeable surfaces
and filter drains↓

√Tanked and piped
systemsLeast Sustainable

Policy DM34 - Flood Risk and Protection

Development will be supported where:

1. It is designed to ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere and is located in areas at lowest
risk of flooding (of all sources);

2. It avoids Flood Zones 2 and 3 unless it is for a compatible use: Where development is proposed
in these zones:

a. Flood Risk Assessments (FRA) must accompany planning applications, explaining how the
sequential approach (23) (and the Exception Test (24) if required) to development has been
undertaken and which the Council is satisfied demonstrates that the site is appropriate for
development and its intended use, taking into account wider sustainable development objectives;

b. a sequential approach to site layout must be satisfied, directing the most vulnerable uses to
the areas on the site at lowest risk from of flooding from all sources;

23 The catchment area for determining the area of search for the Sequential Test will depend on local circumstances relating to the
type of development proposed and the target market (see National Planning Practice Guidance)

24 A list of relevant measures can be found on the Environment Agency’s Catchment Data Explorer

127

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 139



c. opportunities to reduce the cause and impact of flooding, such as using green infrastructure
for flood storage, must be incorporated; and

d. proposals must not cause harm to existing or proposed flood defences;
3. For development in Flood Zone 1, a FRA or statement is submitted following the criteria in this policy

and the NPPF which sets out appropriate flood risk management measures;
4. It incorporates flood resistant and resilient measures, and is shown to be safe for the lifetime of the

development, taking into account climate change implications;
5. If necessary, it demonstrates that safe access and escape routes will be included as part of an

emergency plan;(25)

6. Measures for the control and reduction of surface water run-off to pre-development rates or better
through SuDS are integrated into the design and layout of the development and with existing green
infrastructure wherever possible; and

7. For any major development (26)SuDS are accompanied by a management and maintenance plan
detailing how they will be maintained throughout the lifetime of the development.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 1
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 2
Local Flood Risk Management Strategy for Hertfordshire

Protection from Environmental Pollution

18.50 The planning system plays a key role in the location and standard of development. Together with
other consent regimes and processes, it can limit the impact of (and prevent) polluting emissions –
i.e. noise, light, fumes, chemicals, noxious and hazardous substances and waste in general.

18.51 The upcoming Environment Bill will enable the Government to set new long term targets in four priority
areas: air quality, biodiversity, water, and resource efficiency and waste reduction, as well as a target
for fine particulate matter (PM2.5). The long term (minimum 15 years) targets will be introduced by
2022 and will be accompanied by interim measures. The Plan will endorse the nationally set
standards and when these become more stringent, ensure that further efforts are made to enhance
the quality of the air, water and/or soils.

18.52 In Dacorum special consideration needs to be given to:

the quality of the groundwater supplying the chalk aquifer;
the maintenance of higher quality agricultural areas and the sand and gravel belt;
limiting the effects of noise and air pollution along major routes (i.e. road, rail and aircraft from
Luton Airport);
retaining tranquil parts of the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and Boarscroft Vale;
limiting light pollution, especially in the Chilterns AONB and the rural parts of the Borough;
the risks associated with Buncefield Oil Terminal; and
ensuring that development land affected by ground contamination is safe and suitable for its
proposed use so as to protect human health and the wider environment.

25 For further guidance, see Flood Risk Emergency Plans for New Development guidance published by the EA and ADEPT
26 As defined in the NPPF

128

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 140



18.53 Air quality within Dacorum is generally good, with the main source of air pollution being from traffic
emissions, specifically nitrogen dioxide. Three areas are designated as Air Quality Management Areas
(AQMAs) because levels of nitrogen dioxide exceeded air quality standards. They are:

Lawn Lane, Hemel Hempstead;
London Road, Apsley, Hemel Hempstead; and
High Street, Northchurch.

18.54 The number and extent of AQMAs may change as a result of mitigation measures and continued
monitoring of air quality. The AQMA at Northchurch has shown levels of NO2 were below the national
objective in recent years (since 2018). If this situation continues the AQMA could be removed in future
years but only when there is confidence that future growth in the area would not result in such levels
being exceeded again.

18.55 We are preparing action plans to set out mitigation measures for each AQMA and will use the planning
system to support these. It does not necessarily follow that development would be harmful in an area
of poor air quality or that it should be banned in an AQMA. Here, the type, scale and location of
development and its traffic generation will be managed sensitively. Greater weight will be given to
the consideration and removal of air pollutants.

18.56 The planning system has a role to play in the minimisation of waste at or near source and in the
disposal of household, commercial and construction waste (Policy DM22 - Sustainable Design and
Construction). Unnecessary waste should be reduced and managed nearer to its source. To avoid
unnecessary waste going to landfill sites, developers will be expected to avoid potentially polluting
developments, the creation of additional waste, and locating new development near existing sources
of pollution. Where waste is unavoidable it will need to be transferred and managed. Waste recycling
and management will be appropriate in many General Employment Areas. New facilities may be
provided through the relocation of the existing HouseholdWaste Recycling Centre andWaste Disposal
Centre in East Hemel Hempstead.

18.57 Responsibility for ensuring that a development is safe in terms of land contamination and stability lies
with the developer. Advice on the storage and handling of hazardous substances will be taken from
the Health and Safety Executive.

18.58 Exterior lighting is important in promoting safety and security, for recreation and leisure, and other
evening activities. Therefore a degree of lighting is required in most environments. However, if poorly
designed or installed, artificial light can have a detrimental effect including to wildlife and therefore
needs to be controlled. Light pollution needs to be kept to a minimum to avoid a detrimental effect
on rural and urban views and the character of the countryside. Further detailed guidance as to
appropriate levels of lighting in different locations can be found in the Dacorum Design Guide SPD.

Policy DM35 - Protection from Environmental Pollution

1. Any development proposals which would cause harm to the environment or neighbouring land or
properties from a significant increase in pollution (into the air, soil or any water body) by virtue of the
emissions of fumes, particles, effluent, radiation, smell, heat, light, noise or noxious substances, will
not be permitted.

2. Development will be required in each case, as appropriate, to:

a. Air Quality

i. Support improvements in identified Air Quality Management Areas and Air Quality Action
Plans and, as a minimum, maintain air quality standards throughout these areas.

ii. Developments that are likely to result in breaches of a relevant limit value or national
objective for pollutants, and applications within or near an identified Air Quality
Management Area that could harm air quality standards, (also taking into account
cumulative impacts) shall be supported by an air quality report assessing the impacts of

129

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 141



the proposed development on the surrounding environment and, where they are predicted
to exceed a limit value or objective, include proposals for mitigation or avoidance. Advice
will be taken from Environmental Heath and any requirements will be secured at the
application stage or through a planning condition or planning obligation as considered
appropriate.

iii. Be in accordance with any further Council guidance on air quality.
b. Contaminated Land

i. Maintain soil quality standards and remediate contaminated land to protect human health
and the wider environment in line with Environment Agency, Defra and Natural England
guidance.

ii. A preliminary land contamination risk assessment (27) should accompany any planning
application where there is a risk of harm to receptors(28)and the land, soil, ground or
surface water is known or suspected to be contaminated. Advice will be taken from
Environmental Health on the need for any further intrusive site investigation, remedial
measures and validation report that may need to be secured by planning condition to
ensure that the site is made suitable and safe for the proposed use before development
can proceed.

iii. Take advice on the storage and handling of hazardous substances from the Health and
Safety Executive and the Environment Agency as the statutory Competent Authority.

c. Water Quality

i. Improve water quality standards in line with the Water Framework Directive, Environment
Agency and Natural England guidance.

ii. Development which could adversely affect the quality of groundwater will not be permitted.
iii. Developments involving new or altered foul drainage will be supported by a Foul Drainage

Assessment. Discharge to non-mains drainage will only be permitted where satisfactory
justification has been provided to show that connection to mains drainage is not feasible,
the non-mains system will not cause pollution of groundwater or surface water, Building
Regulations Approved Document H will be met as necessary, an Environmental Permit
from the Environment Agency has been given where necessary, and adequate details of
maintenance of the system have been provided.

d. Noise Pollution

i. Minimise the impact of noise on the surrounding environment and noise sensitive receptors.
ii. Developments that are noise sensitive and in locations where surrounding existing lawful

land uses are likely to have an adverse effect on the occupants of new development,
must submit an appropriate noise impact assessment including mitigation measures to
address the identified impacts.

iii. Where it is achievable to offset the adverse impact of noise and to protect existing / future
sensitive receptors, applications for new development shall be supported by an assessment
of the typical worse case noise impact and consideration of achievable mitigationmeasures
to ensure adequate protection of those sensitive receptors. Where the impact cannot be
offset then development should be avoided.

iv. Use good design to improve and enhance the acoustic environment and reduce the impact
of noise on and generated by the development, in accordance with Dacorum design
guidance

v. The development of land for noisy countryside sports will only be accepted where:

A. the site occupies unused or damaged land outside of the Chilterns Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty and the most sensitive parts of Landscape Regions,

B. there would be no disturbance (including any significant noise nuisance) to residential
and similar sensitive areas;

C. there would be no adverse impacts on wildlife and areas of ecological value; and

27 prepared by a competent person accredited by the National Quality Mark Scheme
28 Receptors include the public, site operatives and workers, occupiers of the site or neighbouring land

130

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 142



D. the scale and nature of the activity respects the countryside setting and surrounding
area; and the safety of adjoining users is not prejudiced.

e. Light Pollution

i. Limit and wherever possible avoid light pollution in all its forms, especially in the countryside
and the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.

ii. Development proposals for new exterior lighting or resulting in the need for exterior lighting
will only be supported if there would be no significant (or material) adverse impact upon
important features of the urban and rural environment including:

A. the amenity of residential areas;
B. the ecology of the area; and
C. the visual character of the natural and historic environment.

iii. Development involving exterior lighting should be accompanied by a lighting statement
by a qualified lighting engineer / consultant together with full details (supported by plans
and drawings) of all aspects of the installation, including siting, luminaire and lamp type,
brightness, beam control, lux contours / distribution diagrams, column height and design,
and proposed finished colour(s).

iv. Assessment will be based upon the suitability of exterior lighting in relation to the defined
Environmental Zone within which the site falls, the surrounding context and the type and
extent of lighting, and will include consideration of highway safety, crime prevention and
access for people with disabilities. All lighting schemes must:

A. avoid dazzle and disturbance to drivers;
B. minimise glare and light spillage; and
C. create uniformity to avoid shadowed areas.

v. Further guidance on limiting the impact of light pollution can be found in the Dacorum
Design Guide SPD.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Air Quality Management Areas
Air Quality Action Plan
Strategic Design Guide SPD

To be produced

Climate Change and Sustainability SPD
Detailed Design Guide SPD

Tree Retention and Protection

18.59 Trees form an important part of the green capital of the Borough and are important to ensuring places
are attractive and sustainable places to live. They provide a range of benefits, including flood mitigation,
carbon sequestration (i.e. the process of capturing and storing atmospheric carbon dioxide), cooling
benefits, wildlife habitats and wildlife 'stepping stones', as well as contributing to landscape character
and amenity. This resource is under threat from disease, development and climate change. The Plan
will therefore, as part of development proposals, give a high priority to the retention of existing trees
in the Borough.

131

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 143



18.60 New development will be expected to retain and replace existing trees and to help plant more trees
by requiring a minimum of two trees to be planted for every new dwelling constructed or per 100 sq
m floorspace for non residential development created. Where a tree is lost through development, at
least three new trees must be provided, either on site, or in a new location.

18.61 Where necessary, tree preservation orders (TPOs) will be made to protect important trees that might
be threatened by neglect or future development, or where they make an important contribution to the
visual amenities of an area or townscape. Trees in conservation areas are also protected through the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

18.62 Of particular ecological importance in the Borough are areas of ancient semi-natural woodland (areas
which have had a continuous cover of native trees and plants since at least 1600 AD, and have neither
been cleared nor extensively planted since then).

18.63 The provision and long-termmanagement of a minimum buffer between development and irreplaceable
habitats, such as ancient woodland and veteran trees, and hedgerows will be required in line with
national standing advice, guidance and recognised good practice. Wherever possible, hedgerows
should be retained. Where hedgerow loss is unavoidable, new hedgerows should be created.

18.64 The Council’s Trees and Woodlands Policy document (29) provides a summary of management
principles and good practice guidance on species and site selection, and the establishment of
trees. Reference should also bemade to the DacorumDesign Guide SPD for guidance on Landscaping
on Development Sites. The Forestry Commission provides support and encouragement for woodland
management, particularly through their Woodland Grant Scheme.

Policy DM36 - Tree Retention and Protection

1. Developers will be expected to protect and retain existing trees and hedgerows as part of development
proposals, and to replace them where their loss is justified. All development will be expected to
incorporate two or more new trees per dwelling or per 100 sq m floor space (for non-residential
developments) on-site. Where a tree is lost through development at least three new 'like for like'
trees must be provided.

2. All development on sites adjoining or containing trees must comply with British Standard 5837 (2012)
Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction – Recommendations (as may be amended).
In particular, the Council will require:

a. an Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) including a tree survey identifying existing trees on
and adjoining the site with their root protection areas (RPA);

b. where tree protection measures are necessary, a Tree Protection Plan (TPP); and
c. an Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) that identifies how operations can be undertaken

with minimal harm to retained trees.
3. Details of foundations, services and levels may also be required to understand the potential impact

on trees.
4. Proposals will be subject to conditions to secure tree protection measures.
5. Consent to lop or remove trees protected by a tree preservation order will not be given unless the

Council is satisfied that it would be necessary to overcome a serious safety hazard, nuisance, its
detriment to local character or to improve the health of the tree.

6. For all other trees in both urban and rural locations, management should aim to maintain a healthy,
safe and sustainable tree population without causing an unreasonable nuisance or hazard to person,
highway or property. High standards of professional tree care will be encouraged and promoted
particularly by reference to British Standard 3998 (2010), "Recommendations for Tree Work", other
relevant British Standards and the Council’s Trees and Woodlands Policy document (30).

29 Trees and Woodlands Policy 2015 – 2020
30 Trees And Woodlands Policy 2015 – 2020

132

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 144



Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Trees and Woodlands Policy document
Strategic Design Guide SPD

To be produced

Detailed Design Guide SPD

Landscaping on Development Sites 

18.65 Tree and woodland planting is essential to nature conservation and to the future creation, conservation
and enhancement of landscape quality in the Borough's countryside and the amenity and environmental
quality of its towns and villages. They are particularly important in their role of making places more
attractive and sustainable places to live as well as benefiting the general goal of climate mitigation
and adaptation.

18.66 Soft planting proposals, including tree planting, will be an expected general requirement of all
development proposals. Proposals should integrate with the existing green infrastructure to ensure
it reinforces ecological connectivity by providing suitable wildlife 'stepping stones'.

18.67 Space for planting, including suitable provision for irrigation or water retention basins around trees,
should be given particular attention in the design of layouts to ensure that trees and other planting is
both given sufficient space to grow to maturity, whilst ensuring the best chance of establishment,
especially during climatic extremes. Buildings and other structures should be sited to allow adequate
space for a tree’s natural development, with due regard given to its predicted height and canopy
spread.

18.68 Care should be taken to avoid the use of species which may lead to the spread of non-native plants
into the countryside. Native broad-leaved tree species should be favoured over non-native species
in order to reinforce the original character of our countryside. In urban locations, broad-leaved
deciduous trees will also ensure that developments do not result in excessive shading during the
winter months whilst providing suitable shade during the summer months. Trees should be of
reasonable size when planted to ensure that they make an early visual contribution to the establishment
of planting on development sites. Therefore, trees should be specified as nursery standards as a
minimum, with potentially larger trees specified in accordance with the scale of development being
proposed.

18.69 The Council’s Trees and Woodlands Policy document(31) provides a summary of management
principles and good practice guidance on species and site selection, and the establishment of
trees. Reference should also bemade to the DacorumDesign Guide SPD for guidance on landscaping
on development sites. The Forestry Commission provides support and encouragement for woodland
management, particularly through their Woodland Grant Scheme.

Policy DM37 - Landscaping on Development Sites

1. New tree, woodland, hedge and shrub planting, including provision of street trees and community
orchards, will be expected as part of development proposals. Proposals shall accord with the following:

31 Trees and Woodlands Policy 2015 – 2020

133

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 145



a. wherever possible provide ecological connectivity by integrating planting with the existing green
infrastructure network;

b. ensure the layout of development (including tree planting islands in car parks) allows sufficient
space for planting, and in particular structural tree planting, to include adequate canopy clearance
and root protection areas, so that it can thrive;

c. tree planting should be suitable for the local environment and landscape character, with
preference given to native broad-leaved species, and avoiding the use of invasive, non-native
species;

d. include trees of nursery Standard size(32) or larger at time of planting, depending on the scale
and nature of the development; and

e. ensure tree planting is adequately staked and protected and incorporates suitable irrigation
infrastructure or other provision for water retention.

2. Development landscaping schemes shall be subject to long term management requirements by
condition or s106 planning obligation. Appropriate management of trees standing either as individual
specimens, groups, woodlands or orchards and also as hedgerows will be encouraged.

3. For woodlands, a management plan will be required, which should identify clear objectives for their
use and resolve any conflicts arising from value to nature conservation, landscape conservation,
recreation and timber production interests. Nature conservation will be afforded a high priority in
areas of ancient semi-natural woodland.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Trees and Woodlands Policy Document
Strategic Design Guide SPD

To be produced

Detailed Design Guide SPD

Open Land

18.70 Open Land is a planning designation given to selected open areas within the larger settlements which
are important to their open character and setting, or for informal recreation, yet may bemore vulnerable
to development pressure. Open Land can include contiguous sites of 1 ha or more used for leisure
purposes, schools where the playing fields contribute to the urban structure or are in areas where
there is a shortage of open space, woodland, nature conservation sites, allotments, churchyards,
cemeteries, amenity land, walkways and the Grand Union Canal. No right of public access is implied
by this definition.

18.71 The primary purpose of the designation is to maintain the generally open character of an area and
uses of this nature that support this approach will be retained and encouraged. This includes uses
that serve an educational, sports, leisure or nature conservation purpose. These designated areas
may also contain some small parcels of existing incompatible and ancillary uses (e.g. residential or
utility services). However, the aim of the policy is not to disturb these uses unnecessarily and they
will be allowed to remain unless they undermine the broad objectives of the policy. New non-conforming
uses will normally be discouraged from locating in areas designated as Open Land.

32 A nursery Standard tree has a girth of 8-10 cm measured at 1 m above ground level

134

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 146



18.72 It is inevitable that Open Land will be subject to change over time and there may be special
circumstances where development is justified in such areas leading to its effective loss. Alternatively,
new development can result in additional Open Land being created (e.g. new large areas of open
space to serve a housing proposal). Such changes have been reflected on the Policies Map to the
Local Plan.

18.73 The open space typologies covered in 'Policy DM63 - Open Space Provision' are often not designated
as Open Land. These areas are usually protected from development because they are held as public
open space, or contribute towards the provision standards of open space expected by the Council.

18.74 Smaller areas of open space that are not designated as Open Land can also make a valuable
contribution to the local character and environment of our towns and villages, serve other leisure and
nature conservation roles, and be vulnerable to development pressures. The Plan needs to assess
their contribution and weigh it carefully against the demands for development.

Policy DM38 - Open Land

1. Designated Open Land forming part of the urban structure of the towns and larger villages and shown
on the Policies Map will be protected. New development within designated Open Land will only be
acceptable if it is for sports, recreation of other community or social use and satisfies the following
conditions:

a. the location, scale and use of the new development must be well related to the character of
existing development, its use and Open Land setting;

b. the integrity and future of the wider area of Open Land in which the new development is set
must not be compromised; and

c. in the case of sites which accommodate existing uses regarded as inappropriate to an Open
Land area, proposals must:

i. not have a significant adverse impact on the character and environment of the site or its
open land setting; or

ii. result in overall environmental, leisure or recreational improvements to the site.
2. The provision of expanded school facilities on Open Land will be sympathetically considered subject

to the above criteria a. to c.
3. Proposals to develop or change the use of other undesignated open land(33), including the

incorporation of such areas into private garden land will be assessed on the basis of the local
contribution the land makes to leisure facilities, connectivity, townscape, visual amenity, nature
conservation and the general environment.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Policies Map

33 Includes amenity greens, amenity land adjacent to dwellings, landscaped margins, buffers or strips, and strips, small woodland
copses and other incidental open land that contributes to the open character or visual amenity of neighbourhoods and settlements

135

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 147



Tring Memorial Garden

136

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 148



Page 149



19 Managing Development in the Countryside

19.1 The wider countryside outside of the main settlements is covered by either the Green Belt or Rural
Area policy designations. They are also overlapped by the nationally important landscape of the
Chilterns AONB. While there are some differences in detailed approach in each case, fundamentally
these are generally areas of protection where new development will be restricted. This is in order to
protect the intrinsic character of the countryside in terms of its attractive landscapes, diverse villages
and important natural and built heritage.

19.2 Restraint on unsustainable development in the countryside is a well established policy in
Dacorum. However, we recognise that Government has been relaxing the planning system to allow
for a greater range of opportunities for development and the reuse of buildings there without the need
for planning permission.

19.3 Furthermore, we also need to be mindful that the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is
generally restrictive in its approach towards new development in the countryside while also supporting
a prosperous rural economy and opportunities to meet local business and community needs
there where suitable opportunities exist (paragraphs 83-84). Therefore, the Plan needs to find a
balance between restraint and ensuring a "living countryside" for village communities, for those that
enjoy recreational activities there, and for the many rural enterprises it supports.

Development in the Green Belt

19.4 In Dacorum 60% of the land is designated as Green Belt. This forms a part of the wider Metropolitan
Green Belt surrounding London. This extends to the North of Markyate before it joins with the Central
Bedfordshire Green Belt which acts as a check on the spread of Luton and Dunstable.

19.5 The NPPF establishes five key purposes of the Green Belt:

1. to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;
2. to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
3. to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
4. to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
5. to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban land.

19.6 The NPPF states that Green Belt boundaries can only be amended in exceptional circumstances,
through the preparation or review of a Local Plan (paragraph 136). There is no definition in the NPPF
of what constitutes exceptional circumstances, as this will vary for each locality. In Dacorum, we
consider that there is a combination of factors that exist that together constitute the exceptional
circumstances that require us to amend the Green Belt boundaries. The Sustainable Development
Strategy sets out these challenges and establishes why a planned review of Green Belt Boundaries
is justified to meet development needs.

19.7 We have undertaken a review of the Green Belt and identified those areas on the edge of the main
settlements where exceptional circumstances exist to release land for development or where other
minor adjustments are necessary. We explore the justification for this in the 'Sustainable Development
Strategy' chapter of the Plan. These proposed releases will make a significant contribution to meeting
the long term housing and other development needs of the Borough. Green Belt land has been
released to enable the delivery of the spatial strategy for Dacorum.

19.8 The NPPF makes clear that there will be a general presumption against inappropriate development
within the Green Belt unless very special circumstances exist (paragraphs 143-144). It identifies a
number of exceptional circumstances where the construction of new buildings is appropriate (paragraph
145). The NPPF also states (paragraph 146) that certain other forms of development are also 'not

138

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 150



inappropriate' in the Green Belt provided they preserve its openness and do not conflict with the
purposes of including land within it. On this basis, there is no necessity to have a detailed coverage
of non-strategic policies in the Plan to manage all forms of development in the Green Belt.

19.9 The NPPF (paragraph 147) establishes that, when located in the Green Belt, elements of many
renewable energy projects will comprise inappropriate development. In such cases developers will
need to demonstrate very special circumstances if projects are to proceed. Such very special
circumstances may include the wider environmental benefits associated with increased production
of energy from renewable sources.

19.10 Chipperfield, Flamstead, Potten End and Wigginton all fall within the Green Belt. They are primarily
residential communities, providing homes for several hundred people or more. While they are not
appropriate locations for large scale growth and expansion, we recognise the need to allow for limited
development which supports their existing role within the settlement hierarchy.

19.11 While the policies of the Plan seek to protect the Green Belt from inappropriate development, our
evidence and other work has highlighted the importance of the Plan for accommodating other key
commercial and non-commercial development requirements across Dacorum on a limited number of
sites washed over by the Green Belt. This is in order to meet a variety of identified and essential local
and strategic need over the Plan period and where there is limited scope for suitable, alternative
non-Green Belt locations. The majority of such locations are existing previously developed land with
established uses. We provide further detailed commentary on these sites in the relevant delivery
strategy in the Delivering Great Places chapter of the Plan.

19.12 We will set out detailed changes and other corrections to the Green Belt at the Publication Stage of
the Local Plan once we have fully taken into account the results of this public consultation and when
we have confirmed the Growth Area allocations in the Green Belt.

Policy SP11 - Development in the Green Belt

1. The extent of the Green Belt is shown on the Policies Map. The Green Belt boundary has been
reviewed to land in defined Growth Areas to meet identified need over the lifetime of the Plan and
to allow for other minor consequential changes. No further changes are proposed. Sites removed
from the Green Belt will be managed as countryside until required for development.

2. The Council will support the principle of development in the Green Belt in the following specific
locations in order to helpmeet Borough-wide strategic commercial, transport and social and community
objectives and subject to other policies and/or site-specific requirements being satisfied in the Plan:

a. expansion of the General Employment Areas at Upper Bourne End Lane/Stoney Lane (Bourne
End Mills) and the former Bovingdon Brickworks (Growth Areas Cy01 and Cy02);

b. film, television and related production at Bovingdon Airfield (Growth Area Cy06);
c. redevelopment/enhancement of the Watling Street Truck Stop, London Road, Flamstead

(Growth Area Cy05);
d. new burial space and crematorium at Bunkers Lane, Hemel Hempstead (Growth Area HH28).

3. Elsewhere in the Green Belt proposals will be acceptable if they accord with national policy or where
the criteria in Policy DM39 - Limited Infilling in Selected Small Villages in the Green Belt, or DM40 -
Bovingdon Airfield are met.

139

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 151



Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

NPPF Section 13 Protecting Green Belt land

Limited Infilling in Selected Small Villages in the Green Belt 

19.13 The focus of new development is the towns and larger villages as smaller villages of the Borough
contain only a modest level of services and facilities that can help sustain rural communities and
enterprises. While these settlements are less sustainable and subject to strict policies of restraint
over new development, we will support a limited amount of infill development in order to diversify
housing offer, allow for some local market demand to be met, help support the viability of existing
services and businesses and ensure that the more rural parts make a small contribution to the
development requirements of the Borough.

19.14 The NPPF allows for limited levels of infilling in Green Belt villages (paragraph 145), although the
definition of 'limited' and 'villages' is not defined. Policy DM39 -Limited Infilling in Selected Small
Villages in the Green Belt clarifies our approach to and how we interpret these terms. We also note
that case law exists that the Local Plan village boundaries are not definitive and an on the ground
assessment is required to establish this. However, we consider the Plan boundaries represent a
reasonable starting point for their assessment.

What settlements are villages?

19.15 The settlements considered to be of sufficient size and importance to support a minimum level of
services and facilities to serve the day to day needs of residents are classed as villages within the
Settlement Hierarchy Study 2017.

19.16 In the Green Belt these are:

Chipperfield
Flamstead
Potten End
Wigginton

19.17 Other settlements and hamlets in the Borough are not considered to constitute villages. This is for a
number of reasons including:

they do not have the necessary cohesiveness to justify a boundary;
they do not contain enough key services and infrastructure to warrant settlement status;
they simply form the ribbon development of adjoining larger settlements; or
in order to protect their intrinsic character from development.

We do not consider an infilling approach is justified in the case of the Rural Area. The main reason for this is
the degree of restraint operating there i.e. there is greater flexibility towards the levels of new housing
development we encourage in the Rural Area compared to the Green Belt. The Plan allows for the principle of
more development opportunities in Aldbury, Long Marston and Wilstone than the equivalent selected villages
in the Green Belt. Furthermore, the above approach to the definition of a village would also exclude many other
smaller villages and hamlets in the Rural Area.

140

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 152

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/13-protecting-green-belt-land


What is Limited?

19.18 Limited will be related to the degree of restraint considered appropriate having regard to its location
within the Green Belt and having regard to the impact on the open character of the countryside.

19.19 The site must be within the on the ground assessment of the settlement envelope of one of the selected
small villages, be located in a clearly identifiable space between a built frontage. Furthermore, the
proposed dwelling(s) should be constructed on a similar building line (formed by the front main walls
of existing dwellings) and be of a similar scale, form and proportion to those adjacent.

19.20 To be limited, the plot must also be comparable in size and shape to the average house plots in
immediate locality of the site. The area of assessment will depend on the character of the area, number
of plots, and will need to be assessed individually. The proposed building(s) must also be similarly
comparable in size and scale to those in the immediate locality.

19.21 Proposals will also be assessed in terms of their impact on the character, grain and morphology of
the village, in particular to ensure that the proposal does not result in the loss of a gap or open space
considered important to its open character.

Policy DM39 - Limited Infilling in Selected Small Villages in the Green Belt

1. The policy will apply to the following villages:

a. Chipperfield
b. Flamstead
c. Potten End
d. Wigginton

2. Planning permission will be granted for limited infilling within these selected small villages in the
Green Belt provided that it meets all of the following criteria:

a. an on the ground' assessment of the site shows that it lies within the envelope of a selected
small village;

b. the site comprises a gap in an otherwise clearly identifiable built up frontage, or a gap within a
group of buildings, and does not include backland development;

c. the dwelling(s) must be constructed on a similar building line (formed by the front main walls
of existing dwellings) and be of a similar scale, form and proportion to those adjacent;

d. the proposed dwellings are in keeping with the size, width, scale, height and spacing of those
in the immediate locality of the site; and

e. there would be no harm to the settlement pattern, grain or morphology of the village (including
any open land considered important to the open character of the village or its contribution to
the openness of the Green Belt).

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Settlement Hierarchy Study 2017

141

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 153



Chipperfield Village Common

Bovingdon Airfield 

19.22 In recent years Bovingdon Airfield has established itself as a location for film and television production.
This has taken advantage of extensive areas of previously developed land in the form of former
runways and associated hardstanding. We recognise the importance of such activities and that it
makes a significant contribution to the UK film and television industries and the local economy.

19.23 However, Bovingdon Airfield falls within the Green Belt. We want to continue to support filming,
commercials and television recording and production there (albeit on a limited scale and non-permanent
basis), within this constraint. This places restrictions on the type, scale and permanency of activity
that we can approve there. Much of this activity has taken place under permitted development rights.
Furthermore, we have granted a series of temporary permissions where we have been satisfied that
very special circumstances exist in terms of the importance of the use, the potential harm to the Green
Belt and where activities can be suitably accommodated on the site in terms of the open landscape
of the airfield, siting, heights of buildings, access, parking and local amenity, etc.

19.24 Bovingdon Airfield lies close to the National Air Traffic Service (NATS) air traffic navigation beacon.
All proposals will need to pay careful attention to the height restrictions over the safeguarding zone
in consultation with the Civil Aviation Authority.

Policy DM40 - Bovingdon Airfield

1. The Council will support the principle of filming, television and related production at Bovingdon Airfield
where the applicant can demonstrate that the proposal:

a. minimises its impact on the Green Belt and the wider landscape of the airfield;
b. supports local economic and social benefits;
c. is for temporary studios, stages and sets, ancillary storage, office and crew buildings and

associated plant and machinery;

142

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 154



d. is acceptable in terms of its transport impacts and allows safe and convenient access for all
construction vehicles, crew and visitors;

e. limits a wide range of environmental impacts (e.g. lighting, glare, noise, ecology etc.), particularly
on the amenity of nearby residential properties;

f. carefully controls the heights and siting of buildings and other structures;
g. is restricted to existing hardstanding areas; and
h. does not interfere with the safe operation of the NATS navigation beacon.

2. In each case the Council will need to consider whether the proposal is:

a. not inappropriate development; or
b. demonstrates very special circumstances.

3. The acceptable area for filming and television production is shown on the Policies Map.
4. The derelict condition of the site will not be taken as general justification for inappropriate development

in the Green Belt.

Development in the Rural Area 

19.25 The Rural Area designation identifies areas of countryside beyond the boundaries of the Green Belt. It
is highly valued by the Borough’s residents and visitors alike, particularly for its open and largely
undeveloped nature. As such it forms an important part of the character of the Borough and is a
significant countryside resource. Our approach remains to direct development to existing, main
settlements and to thus reduce harm to the openness and character of the countryside. Whilst its role
is different from the Green Belt, the pressures it faces are often comparable. In order to retain its open
character, new development must be managed in a broadly similar way, although we recognise the
need for greater flexibility there.

19.26 The largest settlements within the Rural Area are Aldbury, Long Marston and Wilstone. They provide
homes for several hundred people and contain important services and facilities which need to be
maintained. These villages are the most suitable locations for small-scale, sensitively designed
development that meets the long-term needs of the rural community and wider countryside.

19.27 In all cases, development in the Rural Area should not result in harm to the character and appearance
of the countryside or the existing character of a village.

Policy SP12 - Development in the Rural Area

1. Within the Rural Area the following types of uses will be permitted:

a. agriculture;
b. forestry;
c. countryside recreation uses;
d. social, community and leisure uses; and
e. essential utility services.

2. The following development will be permitted provided that they are compatible with the character
and appearance of the Rural Area:

a. for the uses set out under point 1. above;
b. the replacement of existing buildings for the same use;
c. the appropriate reuse of permanent and substantial buildings;
d. rural exception housing in accordance with Policy DM3 - Rural Exceptions;
e. proposals for renewable energy projects in accordance with Policy DM25 - Stand-alone

Renewable or Low Carbon Energy;

143

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 155



f. the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed sites (brownfield land), whether
redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings); and

g. development identified in an adopted Neighbourhood Plan.
3. The replacement, extension or alteration of a building within the Rural Area should consider its:

a. size;
b. scale;
c. mass;
d. form;
e. siting; and
f. design.

4. Small-scale development for housing, employment and other purposes will be permitted at Aldbury,
Long Marston and Wilstone.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

144

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 156



Page 157



20 Delivering Great Places

20.1 We are committed to delivering great places and raising design standards across all forms of
development. The quality of the built environment and the public realm is important in shaping places
and enhancing the quality of life. Good design can help create distinctive, integrated places where
people feel welcome and want to live, work and spend their free time.

20.2 Given the scale of new development proposed across the Borough it is vital that this is of a high
standard and delivered at the optimum densities and in the right locations. It must also recognise the
intrinsic qualities, characteristics and setting of our towns and villages.

National Policy

20.3 Guidance on design is set out in the NPPF (paragraphs 124-132), and in the 'Design: Process and
tools' Planning Practice Guidance and the National Design Guide 'Planning practice guidance for
beautiful, enduring and successfull places'. Planning should achieve high quality and inclusive design
for all development which is a key aspect of sustainable development.

20.4 Being clear about what is expected of applicants and developers is essential to achieving this and
national guidance seeks to ensure that all development will function well, add to the quality of the
area, be visually attractive as a result of good design and architecture, be sympathetic to local character
and history, establish and maintain a strong sense of place, optimise the use of land and create places
that are safe, inclusive and accessible. It is also recognised that good quality design is essential for
health and well-being.

20.5 The NPPF (paragraph 184) recognises that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and should
be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance. It also requires (paragraph 185) that Plans
should set out a positive strategy for the conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment,
including heritage assets most at risk through neglect, decay or other threats.

National Policy Reforms in the White Paper

20.6 The Planning for the Future White Paper outlines the Government’s intentions to reform the planning
system, with the proposals set out under Pillar Two ‘Planning for beautiful and sustainable places’,
aiming to improve the design quality of homes and placemaking for the long term, alongside simplifying
planning procedures.

20.7 This will enable development to be accelerated where it is of high quality and reflects local character
and preferences that have been prepared through meaningful engagement with local communities. A
key message of the proposed reforms is that local authorities will be expected to develop local design
standards/design codes to provide clarity to applicants on the form and design requirements for each
development, taking into account local character and the views of the community.

20.8 Under the proposals, developments which demonstrate compliance with local design guides and
codes will have a positive advantage and greater certainty about their prospects of swift approval,
under an updated NPPF. Where Plans identify Growth Areas, the Government will require that a
masterplan and site-specific design code are prepared through the Local Plan. This will direct detailed
matters submitted later. In Renewal areas, some types of residential re-development will receive
automatic permission where it meets design requirements and other specific conditions. This will be
known as 'fast-track to beauty'.

Other Relevant Strategies and Studies

20.9 The previous Plan was supported by a suite of design statements and guidance which have been
prepared over many years. These need updating and consolidating to reflect modern approaches to
design, place-making and sustainable development. We intend to replace these with the Strategic

146

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 158



Design Guide SPD and the Detailed Design Guide SPD. Together - referred to as the Dacorum Design
Guidance - this will provide consolidated design advice for all new development coming forward in
the Borough and inform the production of site-specific design codes and masterplans, which will be
prepared for the site allocations we have identified as Growth Areas. The Dacorum Design Guidance
will also include specific criteria for Tall and Taller Buildings, to ensure development maximises their
unique opportunities and addresses the constraints they face.

20.10 We have also set up a Community Review Panels as a way of facilitating early active engagement
to ensure the development delivers high quality design and empowering communities and we will
look to expand these further.

Design Review Panel 

20.11 “Design Review is a well-established way of improving the quality of design outcomes in the built
environment and is now recognised in the National Planning Policy Framework. “ Design Review
Principles and Practice, Design Council CABE. We support independent Design Reviews which have
been undertaken by: Design Council CABE, ; Hertfordshire County Council ; or Urban Design
London. Feedback from these panels shall meaningfully inform the development proposals design.

20.12 We will also look more favourably at proposals that can demonstrate early active engagement with
the community. Where appropriate, and at as early a stage as possible, we will use design review
panels to assess large scale or complex schemes, or proposals that generate significant public
interest.

Marlowes, Hemel Hempstead

Delivering High Quality Design

20.13 Policy SP13 - Delivering High Quality Design sets our expectations for creating distinctive, sustainable,
healthy and successful new communities, with the highest quality design in all new development in
Dacorum.

20.14 The key to our design approach for new development is a focus on local distinctiveness. This refers
to the unique quality of buildings, landscape, the skyline and topography in a locality which informs
its character. Across the Borough there is a wide variety of settlements, and landscape character
types, which contribute to the distinctiveness of local character. As a result designs or layouts that
may be entirely acceptable in one part of Dacorum may not be appropriate elsewhere.

147

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 159

https://www.designcouncil.org.uk/what-we-do/built-environment/design-review
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/microsites/building-futures/design-review-panel/hertfordshire-design-review-service.aspx
https://www.urbandesignlondon.com/documents/1126/UDL_Design_Review_Panel_w1MgLRI.pdf
https://www.urbandesignlondon.com/documents/1126/UDL_Design_Review_Panel_w1MgLRI.pdf


20.15 Therefore delivering great places needs to be design-led and underpinned by a structured process
that all applicants should follow and demonstrate as part of their submission. This should be based
on a sound understanding of:

local context;
the constraints to be mitigated and the positive aspects to be built upon and enhanced;
the design options considered that have led to the preferred approach; and
how the proposal responds to the various expectations of the Plan as set down in its policies
and site requirements.

20.16 In recognition that proposals vary in their size and the nature of design input required, the information
required will be proportionate to this.

20.17 Our design process is based on three key stages set out in the Strategic Design Guide SPD shown
in the table below.

Table 25 Structured Design Process

Observing and understanding the site and its broader context.Observing a place1

From the features observed, identifying which will be most influential to
design.

Evaluating a place2

Applying the identified features to design at all scales and stages, from a
site-wide masterplan through to increasing levels of detail, to create
distinctive places.

Making a place3

20.18 The Strategic Design Guide SPD also establishes key design principles that we will expect designers
to follow for all scales and types of development. We have arranged the design principles under 10
categories, each of which links a strategic aim to a checklist of practical, measurable principles that
designers can implement and that we can assess.

20.19 Major proposals provide the opportunity to meet the Dacorum design principles through the creation
of new places, spaces and streets, whilst smaller applications will be expected to demonstrate that
they contribute towards and support the principles for high quality urban design. Policy SP13 clarifies
how we will achieve this.

20.20 Many developments that occur are of a small scale, such as extensions to existing properties or the
replacement of single dwellings. Proposals should provide a clear design rationale, to ensure that the
potential impacts of these smaller developments respect the local character and do not significantly
detract from the amenities of any neighbouring property. Proposals of all sizes should also demonstrate
how they have considered resilience to climate change and sustainability.

20.21 Having established the process and principles in the Strategic Design Guide, the Detailed Design
Guide provides applicants with a clear view of our expectations for suitable and sustainable design
when preparing applications, by setting out examples of acceptable development and listing criteria
against which we will assess all types of development across Dacorum when we determine planning
applications.

Policy SP13 - Delivering High Quality Design

1. All new development must be of a high quality design that reflects the character of the local area
and both physically and visually enhances and complements its surroundings.

2. All development must be in accordance with the Dacorum Design Guidance and the outcomes and
principles set out below:

148

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 160



Table 26 Design Outcomes and Principles

OutcomesPrinciple Categories

Provide a clear narrative or vision which directs the design
to reinforce local character and meet future needs, and
demonstrate in an objective design rationale how the three
step structured design process (table 25) has been adhered
to in order to ensure a character-led approach

A Distinctive Place1

Create compact neighbourhoods, and ensure the effective
use of land in terms of a development’s scale, height, massing
(volume, shape), orientation, siting, layout and landscaping

A Compact Place2

Integrate and include for all people of varying backgrounds,
socio-economic groups, ages and abilities

A Place for All3

Maximise spatial, visual and functional integration with the
existing settlement, in order to enhance outcomes for existing
neighbourhoods and communities

A Connected Place4

Create legible public spaces and streets with active frontages
that facilitate social interaction, deter crime and the fear of
crime itself

Great Streets and Public Spaces5

Promote high quality homes and avoid significant detrimental
impacts on the amenity of occupiers of neighbouring
properties

Great Homes6

Give prominence to creating healthy places and enabling
active lifestyles for all

Active and Healthy7

Embed environmental sustainability into the design and layout
of the development

Facing the Climate Crisis8

Incorporate design that is flexible to future adaptation,
including the changing needs of occupants and users, and
future changes in technology

Flexible and Adaptable9

Sustain quality through use of high quality, long-lasting and
lowmaintenance materials and landscaping, and ensure that
community led stewardship is well established

For the Long Term10

3. This should be demonstrated through all:

a. site specific masterplans;
b. detailed site design codes;
c. guidance provided for defined growth, renewal and protected areas; and
d. planning applications.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Strategic Design Guide SPD

To be produced

Detailed Design Guide SPD

149

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 161



Height of Buildings

20.22 Promoting higher buildings in key parts of Dacorum is a central part of our strategy to create more
sustainable development by making the most effective use of land in those locations with greater
access to employment, leisure and retail facilities, and passenger transport nodes. In turn this will
reduce the pressure for Green Belt land.

20.23 For the purposes of Policy DM41 - Height of Buildings, tall and taller buildings are defined as follows:

a taller building is defined as buildings up to 18 metres (approximately six storeys) and two or
more storeys higher than the surrounding building heights;
a tall building is defined as a building which is higher than 18 metres (approximately six storeys).

20.24 This is considered to be an appropriate benchmark to determine whether a building is classified as
being ‘tall’ or ‘taller’, as it establishes a flexible, location specific approach based on the prevailing
“tall” character of the area and its specific sensitivities. This applies to all new build or the addition of
storeys to existing built development.

20.25 Any proposal which equals or exceeds either of the above storey/height thresholds will trigger these
policy requirements.

20.26 To calculate the surrounding building heights - take the mean heights of development within 100
metres of the proposed footprint (in all directions).

20.27 The height of buildings in Dacorum is generally modest, comprising 2 or 3 storeys at most, with the
occasional 4 storey. Even in Hemel Hempstead there are relatively few taller buildings. Hemel
Hempstead town centre is the main exception, along with Maylands GEA where historically there are
a number of taller buildings. In recent years Hemel Hempstead has experienced a move to build
above existing premises and in one or two instances seeking permission for higher / landmark buildings.
In the Station Gateway area of Hemel Hempstead, a masterplan is being prepared that envisages a
significant intensification around this transport hub through redevelopment.

20.28 This Plan seeks to encourage much greater use of land within the existing urban areas, and
well-designed tall and taller buildings will make an important contribution to this and can make a
positive impact on design quality and placemaking. They can act as landmarks, emphasising important
places and making a positive contribution to views, character and the skyline. However, tall and taller
buildings will not be appropriate in all locations, particularly sensitive areas such as within or close to
conservation areas or listed buildings.

20.29 The scope for building higher will also depend on the size of the site(s) being developed, larger sites
being more appropriate for taller buildings as their sphere of influence relates more to their own site
rather than that of their surroundings, especially where there are dividing roads or other buffers. Wider
street or set backs will also increase the potential for building higher.

20.30 To ensure a successful development is achieved, proposals for tall buildings (and other buildings with
a significantly larger scale or bulk than their surroundings) require special consideration of their:

location and siting; relationship to context; appropriate scale, form, design and massing of the
building;
relationship to open land or the edge of settlements;
impact on local character, views (including view corridors, skyline views and views of landmark
buildings), and composition - how they meet the ground and the sky;
treatment of the public realm and how private and communal amenity space and planting is
incorporated into the design;
environmental impacts, such as sunlight, daylight, overshadowing and wind; and
the overall sustainability credentials.

150

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 162



20.31 These need to be resolved satisfactorily in relation to the context and local character to ensure that
a tall or taller building integrates successfully into its surroundings and makes a positive contribution
to the areas townscape whilst providing the appropriate amenity for its residents.

View Corridors

20.32 Details of view corridors can be found within the Dacorum Design Guidance / the Tall and Taller
Buildings SPD - these are important vistas that can be seen from places that are publicly accessible
and well used. They include significant buildings or urban landscapes that contribute to the image
and character of Dacorum. These views represent at least one of the following categories:

views from an urban space of a building or group of buildings within a townscape setting (including
narrow, linear views to a defined object) i.e. a local landmark;
tree lined, valley side panoramas across substantial parts of Hemel Hempstead and
Berkhamsted;
escarpment views to and from the Chilterns; or
views across the Boarscroft Vale.

20.33 Development above a threshold height in some areas could compromise the viewer’s ability to
recognise and appreciate the locally important landmarks. This could be because of their composition,
their contribution to legibility, or because they provide an opportunity to see key landmarks as part of
a broader townscape or panorama. Some views are experienced as a personmoves through a viewing
place and assessment of development proposals should consider this.

20.34 Within the designated views we will identify landmarks that make aesthetic, cultural or other
contributions to the view and which act as an orientation point or assist the viewer’s understanding
and enjoyment of the view. Each element of the vista will require a level of management appropriate
to its potential impact on the viewer’s ability to recognise and appreciate the locally important landmark.

20.35 New development will oftenmake a positive contribution to the views and can be encouraged. However,
in others, development is likely to compromise the setting or visibility of a key landmark and should
be resisted.

Locally specific guidance 

20.36 We recognise that there may be opportunities to create new taller / higher density buildings particularly
in Hemel Hempstead and also elsewhere across the Borough, but these must be carefully considered,
designed and directed to the right locations. In order to manage tall and taller buildings, this Plan
provides a framework for where this type of development is to be encouraged or resisted. For Growth
Areas, we will develop masterplans for each site which will set out appropriate height ranges and
identify any locations that are suitable for taller buildings. Appropriate building heights for renewal
and protected areas, and other parts of the Borough, will be determined according to the table below
that seeks to identify the locations where tall and taller buildings would be most appropriate.

Table 27 Range of generally acceptable building heights by location

Tall BuildingsTaller BuildingsUp to 3 storeysPlace

Subject to
masterplanningSubject to masterplanningSubject to masterplanningAllocated Growth Areas

√√√Opportunity Areas in Hemel
Hempstead

X√√
Intensification Areas: Other
Town, District and Local
Centres within Dacorum

XLimited to appropriate
locations in renewal areas√Elsewhere in the Towns

151

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 163



XX√Elsewhere in Dacorum

We have set out policy criteria to assess any speculative proposals received outside of the identified Opportunity
Areas and Intensification Areas. Further detailed guidance on the height of buildings can be found within the
Dacorum Design Guidance and the Tall and Taller Buildings SPD.

Opportunity Areas in Hemel Hempstead

20.37 Tall and taller buildings are considered appropriate in principle in the opportunity areas of Hemel
Hempstead Town Centre, TwoWaters andMaylands Local Centre. This is based on the concentration
of services and facilities and their accessibility to key destinations and passenger transport hubs. Tall
buildings are most appropriate in more sustainable locations near town centres or key transport hubs.
Opportunity areas are identified as brownfield land with significant capacity to accommodate new
housing, commercial and other development, they will be linked to existing/emerging improvements
to public transport accessibility (or deliver such improvements as part of the scheme i.e. through
financial contributions), along with other supporting facilities and infrastructure.

Intensification Areas: Other Town, District and Local Centres

20.38 Outside of the opportunity areas the table identifies other locations where taller buildings will still be
appropriate, or would need to be considered on their merits. These intensification areas are typically
built-up areas with good existing or potential public transport accessibility which can support
redevelopment at higher densities. They have significant capacity for new jobs and homes but at a
level below that which can be achieved in the opportunity areas.

Elsewhere

20.39 Within areas of development restraint, exceptional circumstances would need to be justified for any
building above two storeys.

Policy DM41 - Height of Buildings

1. The height of all development must be acceptable to the locality and in accordance with:

a. Allocated Growth areas

i. The height of buildings will be guided by site specific masterplans, design codes and
growth area guidance.

b. Opportunity Areas in Hemel Hempstead

i. tall and taller buildings will be supported subject to other policies in the Plan.
c. Other Town, District and Local Centres within Dacorum

i. Taller buildings will generally be supported.
d. Elsewhere in the Towns

i. Buildings up to and including three storeys in height will generally be supported;
ii. Taller buildings up to six storeys in limited locations within identified Renewal Areas.

e. Elsewhere in Dacorum

i. Buildings up to and including two storeys in height will generally be supported.
2. Support for points a to e set out above is subject to:

a. the guidance provided in the Tall and Taller Buildings SPD including:

i. the relationship to open land/edge of settlements;
ii. urban design function (e.g. tall buildings as landmarks);
iii. relationship to key nodes in the settlement; and
iv. enhance social cohesion and well-being.

152

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 164



b. the proposal being informed by and being sensitive to

i. the distinctive qualities, identity, topography, building pattern and opportunities of the
area;

ii. reinforcing or enhancing the local character of the surrounding area and the buildings
setting, and

iii. ensuring that it does not result in a discordant appearance in the street scene, dominate
an adjoining dwelling(s) or result in a hard transition with, or appear unduly prominent
from the countryside or open land areas;

c. the proposal making a positive contribution to the skyline and image of Dacorum;
d. in most instances the proposal shall accommodate a mix of uses on different floors; which can

enliven streets and spaces, support a range of typology and a mix of tenures;
e. there would be no adverse impact upon the character and setting of heritage assets, including

Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings;
f. the proposal provides

i. a high quality public realm for pedestrians,
ii. a high quality amenity space for residents, including provision of good quality landscaping,
iii. a setting appropriate to the scale and significance of the building,
iv. appropriate ground floor active frontages,
v. overlooking to minimise any fear of crime,
vi. and well-designed, high quality transport provisions/solutions.

g. minimise the environmental impacts such as (microclimate and negative wind effects); and
h. proposals shall demonstrate how they will make a positive contribution to and protect the locally

important features such as;

i. protected and designated views (either strategic or contained urban views) (development
will be assessed for its impact on the designated view - if it falls within the foreground,
middle ground or background of that view);

ii. Dacorum Panoramas;
iii. the setting of Landmarks, other important vistas and skylines.

3. All development must be in accordance with the relevant policies contained in this Plan and supporting
guidance, especially regarding Density of Development.

4. A Comprehensive Design and Access Statement and Visual Impact Assessment (Landscape and
Visual Impact Assessment) shall support all Tall and Taller Building proposals. These Assessments
will:

a. include accurate visual representations (AVRs) of the proposal in its local and settlement
context;

b. detail the overall design approach using appropriate urban design analysis;
c. provide the written feedback received from the Design Review Service and any pre-application

discussions, especially with regards to how this has influenced the design and layout; and
d. include a taller buildings statement of how the design has accounted for the criteria in the Tall

and Taller Buildings SPD.
5. Speculative buildings proposals that exceed the above height parameters will be considered on their

merits having regards to the relevant criteria above.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Two Waters Masterplan Guidance
Strategic Design Guide SPD

153

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 165



To be produced:

Tall and Taller Buildings SPD
Detailed Design Guide SPD
Station Gateway Masterplan

Crime and Security

20.40 In accordance with national guidance, proposals should create places where crime and disorder,
and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience.
Applicants should consider appropriate security measures in the design of buildings and spaces.

20.41 Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 requires all local authorities to exercise their functions
with due regard to their likely effect on crime and disorder, and to do all they reasonably can to prevent
crime and disorder. Crime for these purposes includes terrorism.

20.42 Various detailed measures can be integrated within development schemes to assist in discouraging
crime. Security features should be designed in a sensitive manner to respect the character of the
area.

20.43 Developments in Growth Areas are encouraged to contact The Hertfordshire Constabulary Architectural
Liaison Officer for advice on potential measures to prevent crime at the conceptual design stages of
development and also to incorporate recommendations within the detailed site masterplan. This advice
is also subject to the requirements of building and fire regulations.

20.44 Secured By Design (SBD) is the UK Police flagship initiative supporting the principles of “designing
out crime” through the use of effective crime prevention and security standards for a range of
applications.The Strategic Design Guide SPD recommends the application of Secured by Design and
guidance on how to integrate safety measures into all forms of development is provided within the
Detailed Design Guide SPD.

20.45 For all locations which will generate crowds in public places, the potential for malicious threat should
be addressed. The consideration of security requirements will need to be proportionate to the size
and nature of the development, the anticipated number of users and the wider setting. As well as
understanding the purpose of the site, how it will operate and its potential to be regularly crowded,
consideration will need to be given to measures that directly or indirectly mitigate identified threats
as far as is proportionate.

20.46 Detailed guidance will be provided in the Strategic and Detailed Design Guide SPDs.

Policy DM42 - Crime and Security

1. The design of all development will be expected to reduce the opportunity for crime and reduce the
fear of crime itself. Where appropriate development must also:

a. encourage passive surveillance of on street activity;
b. ensure that lighting is effective and strategically placed; and
c. implement appropriate security hardware.

2. Applicants for major development are advised to consult the Hertfordshire Constabulary for advice
on measures to prevent crime before detailed site masterplans are prepared.

154

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 166



3. Security features should be designed in a sensitive manner which respects the overall character of
the location.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Strategic Design Guide SPD
Secured by Design

To be produced

Detailed Design Guide SPD

Development Affecting the Historic Environment

20.47 Our historic environment is diverse and is made up of a variety of designated and non-designated
heritage assets. National designations comprise listed buildings, scheduled ancient monuments and
registered parks and gardens. Local designations comprise conservation areas, locally listed buildings
and areas of archaeological significance. We are considering whether we should undertake a review
of the current areas of archaeological significance and locally registered park and gardens and if they
are best identified in this plan or as part of a separate local list.

20.48 'Significance' is defined as the value of a heritage asset (and it's setting) to current and future
generations from its heritage interest. Heritage interest may be archaeological, architectural, artistic
or historic. Understanding the significance of a heritage asset and its setting at an early stage in the
design process of development, can help ensure that proposals minimise, or ideally avoid, harm.

20.49 Heritage Impact Assessments can generate a clear understanding of the affected asset, the heritage
interests represented, and their relative importance. This can help identify how development can both
conserve the heritage assets and deliver public benefits in a sustainable and appropriate way. The
level of detail within a Heritage Impact Assessment should be proportionate to the asset’s importance
and no more than is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal on its significance.

20.50 In cases where both a Design and Access Statement and a Heritage Impact Assessment are required,
applicants can avoid duplication by including the heritage assessment within the Design and Access
Statement.

20.51 Where there is evidence of deliberate damage to, or neglect of, a heritage asset in the hope of making
consent or permission easier to gain, we will disregard the deteriorated state of the asset in any
decision.

20.52 Putting heritage assets to a viable use is likely to lead to investment in the maintenance needed for
their long-term conservation. Harmful development may sometimes be justified in the interests of
realising the optimum viable use of an asset, provided that the harm and resulting loss of significance
is minimised. Where a heritage asset is capable of having a use, then securing its optimum viable
use should be taken into account when the public benefits of a proposed development are assessed.

20.53 Marketing is required to demonstrate that an a heritage asset has no viable use. The aim of such
marketing is to reach potential buyers who may be willing to find a viable use that also provides for
its conservation to some degree.

155

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 167



20.54 The Council evaluates heritage assets and their settings on a continual basis. This ongoing appraisal
will inform further local designations and futuremanagement plans and includes an ongoing programme
of conservation area appraisals and a ‘Heritage at Risk’ review. The ‘Heritage at Risk’ review will
identify vulnerable heritage assets: the Council will act to ensure their protection, using enforcement
action, Article 4 Directions, building preservation and urgent work notices, spot listing and applications
for funding, as necessary.

Policy DM43 - Historic Environment

1. Development proposals should preserve and where appropriate enhance the historic environment
of Dacorum.

2. The Council will pursue a positive strategy for the protection and enjoyment of the historic environment
and when considering development proposals will take into account:

a. the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting them
to viable uses consistent with their conservation;

b. the wider social, cultural and environmental benefits that conservation of the historic environment
can bring;

c. the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and
distinctiveness; and

d. opportunities to draw on the contribution made by the historic environment to the character of
a place.

3. All development proposals involving designated and non-designated heritage assets should be
supported by a Heritage Impact Assessment.

4. Development proposals affecting designated and non-designated heritage assets should incorporate
measures that identify, record, interpret, protect and, where appropriate enhance an asset's
significance.

5. The Council will work closely with our partners including Historic England and Hertfordshire County
Council to ensure that records are kept up to date, so that the historic environment is cared for in
the most appropriate manner.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Conservation Area Appraisals

To be produced

Detailed Design Guide SPD

Development Affecting Non-Designated Heritage Assets 

20.55 In addition to the designations that protect the historic environment, there are also undesignated
heritage assets identified by the Local Authority, which merit conservation.

20.56 Non-designated heritage assets are buildings, monuments, sites, places, areas or landscapes identified
by plan-making bodies as having a degree of heritage significance meriting consideration in planning
decisions but which do not meet the criteria for designated heritage assets.

156

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 168



20.57 There are a number of processes through which non-designated heritage assets may be identified,
including the local and neighbourhood plan-making processes and conservation area appraisals and
reviews. It is important that the decisions to identify them as non-designated heritage assets are
based on sound evidence.

20.58 Significance will be measured in terms of how the asset meets the following criteria:

Table 28 Significance of Non-Designated Heritage Assets Criteria

The age of the asset may be an important criterion and
can be adjusted to take into account distinctive local
characteristics

Age

Appropriate for all assets, as judged against local
characteristics

Rarity

The intrinsic design value of an asset relating to local
styles, materials or any other distinctive local
characteristics

Aesthetic Value

Groupings of assets with a clear visual design or
historic relationship

Group Value

The significance of a local historic asset of any kind
may be enhanced by a significant contemporary or
historic written record

Evidential Value

The significance of a local heritage asset of any kind
may be enhanced by a significant historical association
of local or national note, including links to important
figures

Historic Association

This may be an appropriate reason to designate a
locally significant asset on the grounds of
archaeological interest if the evidence base is
sufficiently compelling and if a distinct area can be
identified

Archaeological Interest

Relating to the interest attached to locally important
designed landscapes, parks and gardens

Designated Landscape

An asset with strong communal or historical
associations, or because it has especially striking
aesthetic value, may be singled out as a landmark
within the local scene

Landmark Status

Relating to places perceived as a source of local
identity, distinctiveness, social interaction and
coherence; often residing in intangible aspects of
heritage contributing to the “collective memory” of a
place

Social and Communal Value

20.59 Non-designated heritage assets are identified and recorded via the Conservation management
appraisals.

Policy DM44 - Development Affecting Non-Designated Heritage Assets 

1. The Council will engage with key stakeholders and local communities to identify non-designated
heritage assets that contribute to local distinctiveness.

2. Development affecting non-designated heritage assets and their settings should seek to conserve
and where possible enhance their significance.

157

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 169



Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

To be produced

Detailed Design Guide SPD

Heritage Assets with Archaeological Interest

20.60 Development proposals that would be likely to harm heritage assets with archaeological interest, will
be required to undertake appropriate archaeological investigation and reporting as part of any
permission. Appropriate recording of heritage assets that would be lost (whether archaeological or
otherwise) will also be sought as appropriate.

20.61 Areas of Archaeological Significance (AAS) are places within the Borough that are deemed to be of
moderate or high archaeological potential, based on evidence from known heritage assets (buildings,
sites, features and finds). Alterations to existing AAS or identification of new AAS may be required
based on new data or understanding of significance.

20.62 The Hertfordshire Historic Environment Record (HER) is a record of Hertfordshire’s historic
environment. It contains information on historic buildings, archaeological remains, historic sites and
military remains. The HER can be used to identify significant historic remains and finds. It also contains
information on surveys and archaeological excavations undertaken in Hertfordshire.

Policy DM45 - Heritage Assets with Archaeological Interest

1. Where a site has the potential to include heritage assets with archaeological interest (whether
scheduled or unscheduled), applicants should consult with the Hertfordshire Historic Environment
Unit to submit an appropriate desk based assessment and, where necessary, the results of a field
evaluation, prior to the submission of an application.

2. Where development is permitted on sites containing archaeological remains, planning permission
will be subject to conditions and/or formal agreements requiring appropriate excavation and recording
in advance of development and the subsequent storage and display of material.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Policies map

Conservation Areas

20.63 Dacorum has 25 designated Conservation Areas and many of these have been subject to individual
appraisals to analyse their character and appearance and identify any negative features or issues
that could be addressed through development. Boundaries of conservation areas are also periodically
reviewed.

158

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 170



20.64 Evidence from Conservation Area Character Appraisals and local groups indicates that a number of
Conservation Areas are suffering from the gradual erosion of traditional features, materials and details
in both the public and private realm and that this is undermining their special interest. A more proactive
approach is needed to halt and reverse this trend and to reinstate these features as part of works to
preserve and enhance the character and appearance of Conservation Areas.

20.65 Where appropriate, Article 4 directions will be made that bring specific permitted development rights
within the planning system. This will be used to prevent the further loss of significant historic features
and to seek to secure the restoration of features already lost. Thus, in time, the erosion of the
Conservation Area’s special interest will be halted and reversed and the area will be better preserved
and enhanced.

Policy DM46 - Conservation Areas

1. New development, extensions and alterations to existing buildings in Conservation Areas will be
permitted provided that they preserve or enhance the special interest, character and appearance of
the area.

2. Development proposals outside a Conservation Area which affect its setting will be considered
likewise. Proposals will be expected to:

a. respect established building lines, layouts and patterns;
b. use materials and adopt design details which reinforce local character and are traditional to

the area;
c. be of a scale, proportion, form, height, design and overall character that accords with and

complements the surrounding area;
d. in the case of alterations and extensions, be complementary and sympathetic to the parent

building; and;
e. have regard to any ‘Conservation Area Character Appraisals’ prepared by the Council and

safeguard all aspects which contribute to the area's special interest and significance, including
important views and green spaces.

3. If demolition of buildings or structures within a Conservation Area is permitted it will not be allowed
to occur until immediately prior to redevelopment/ remediation.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Policies map
Dacorum Conservation Area Appraisals

Listed Buildings

20.66 Under the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 there is a statutory duty to
compile Lists of Buildings of Special Architectural or Historic Interest for the whole country. Dacorum
has over 2000 listed buildings.

20.67 ‘Listed building consent’ is required from the Council for any works that affect a building’s special
character. The listing of a building is intended to ensure that it will be conserved in accordance with
its significance. The designation allows changes to be carefully scrutinised when a planning application
is made.

159

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 171



20.68 Similarly, new development affecting a listed building must be sympathetically designed, so as not
to harm the listed building’s historic integrity and identity. The use of legal powers will be considered
where listed buildings are at risk from wilful neglect, long-term dereliction or abandonment.

Policy DM47 - Listed Buildings

1. The Council will actively seek opportunities to sustain and enhance the significance of Listed Buildings
and ensure that they are in viable uses consistent with their conservation.

2. In considering applications the Council will ensure that proposals involving the alteration, extension,
or change of use of a Listed Building will only be permitted where:

a. the proposal would not have any adverse effect on the architectural and historic character or
appearance of the interior or exterior of the building or its setting; and

b. the proposal respects the scale, design, materials and finishes of the existing building(s), and
preserves its historic fabric

3. Proposals that affect the setting of a Listed Building will only be permitted where the setting of the
building is preserved.

4. When considering re-use or refurbishment of Listed buildings, opportunities should be explored to
identify potential modifications to reduce carbon emissions and secure sustainable development. In
doing this a balanced approach should be taken, weighing the extent of the mitigation of climate
change involved against potential harm to the heritage asset or its setting.

160

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 172



Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Ashridge House Grade I Listed Building, Berkhamsted

Advertisements

20.69 Many advertisements benefit from deemed consent in accordance with the Classes set out in Schedule
1 and 3 of the The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations
2007. If a proposed advertisement falls outside of these Classes, then consent must be applied for
and obtained from the Council (referred to as express consent). In these circumstances, there is a
need to control their display in the interests of visual amenity and public safety in general and in
particular to maintain the character of conservation areas.

20.70 The Council has put in place further measures to control advertisements by designating much of
Dacorum as an Area of Special Control of Advertisements, where scenic, historical, architectural or
cultural features are so significant that a stricter degree of advertisement control is justified in order
to conserve visual amenity within that area.

20.71 Even if express consent is not required, all advertisements must comply with any other relevant
statutory provisions. For example, listed building consent may be required under the Listed Building
Regulations.

20.72 In considering how brightly advertisements should be illuminated, the Council will have regard to
the The Institution of Lighting Professionals : Professional Lighting Guide PL05.

161

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 173



20.73 The Council will use its enforcement powers, as appropriate, to ensure the removal of advertisements
which do not benefit from deemed consent under the Town and Country Planning (Control of
Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007 (as may be amended from time to time) or which do
not benefit from express consent.

20.74 In Conservation Areas, the introduction of unsympathetic advertisements can compromise the quality
of the environment. Signage and lighting must therefore be sensitive to the character of these areas.

Policy DM48 - Advertisements

1. Express consent to display an advertisement will be given provided the advertisement:

a. is appropriate in size, appearance, design and position to the building or site on which it is
displayed;

b. does not detract from the amenity and character of the surrounding area; and
c. does not adversely affect highway or public safety.

2. In addition to the above, where express consent is required for Advertisements within Conservation
Areas the Council will only accept advertisements where they:

a. are either painted or individually lettered in a suitable material of a proportionate size and design
in relation to the building or fascia upon which they are to be displayed and are of a traditional
fascia or hanging type; and

b. are preferably non-illuminated or do not contribute to an escalation of shopfront lighting along
the street scene. Where illumination is proposed it should be external illumination which is
discreet in size and of a minimum level. Internal illumination of shop signage will not be
permitted;

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Area of Special Control of Advertisements, Dacorum
Policies map
Dacorum Conservation Area Appraisals

To be produced

Detailed Design Guide

Canalside Environment

20.75 The Grand Union Canal represents a major recreational resource running through the Borough and
has potential to provide for further rural pursuits and water based activities.

20.76 Within Dacorum there are 17 miles of the Grand Union Canal, including two miles of the Aylesbury
Arm, one mile of the Wendover Arm and a total of 32 locks. The main canal and the Wendover Arm
are in the Metropolitan Green Belt and a quarter (4.25 miles) of the overall length is in the Chilterns
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, where it forms an important part of the landscape.

162

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 174



20.77 The Grand Union Canal South has more private boats than any other waterway in the south east
region. It is the Canal and River Trust's current policy not to increase the number of moored boats
on the towpath, but to provide additional off-navigation moorings with a range of boating services
including sanitary stations and fuel and water points to meet recreational demand.

20.78 Any new facilities in the Green Belt and rural area should be small scale and cause no material harm
to the landscape, in particular the impact on the Chilterns AONB and its setting, will be an important
matter in the consideration of any proposal. Locations should be close to existing services to minimise
the need for new buildings and may be co-located with other appropriate recreational uses. Larger
developments may include a residential security mooring and are more likely to be appropriate in
urban settings.

20.79 The Aylesbury Arm is in the Rural Area beyond the Green Belt and may be too narrow to accommodate
any additional facilities apart perhaps from lay-bys. For topographical reasons, the 2.5 miles section
of the Tring Cutting from Bulbourne to Newground Bridgemay also present difficulties for development.

20.80 The Council intends to consider the Canal's recreational potential and environmental enhancement
further in co-operation with the Canal and River Trust. This work would not duplicate the Canal and
River Trust's own feasibility study of the Wendover Arm. Proposals to improve the canalside
environment and leisure facilities are identified in a number of locations (e.g. the Two Waters
Masterplan Guidance). The Council supports the aims of theWendover Arm Restoration Project which
will extend the recreational opportunities associated with the canal network.

Policy DM49 - Canalside Environment and Recreational Moorings

1. The Grand Union Canal (GUC) and its environs will be protected and promoted as a recreational
and environmental resource by joint action with the Canal and River Trust and other agencies.

2. Appropriately sized recreational mooring basins and laybys on the GUC will be permitted provided:

a. the proposal would not result in a proliferation of basins and / or laybys that would:

i. overload the local road system with consequent inconvenience and danger on it; or
ii. damage the landscape and/or countryside, including the Chilterns Area of Outstanding

Natural Beauty; or
iii. result in loss of character of the GUC as an important historic and visual feature and as

a source of tranquility in the urban and rural scene;
b. where appropriate, the proposal offers advantages in canal management and use, such as

relocation of boats from towpath moorings; and
c. details are provided of:

i. the volume of material to be excavated;
ii. the method of disposal (to include removal of excavated material by canal where feasible);

and
iii. the formation of the new canal bank.

3. All development adjoining the Grand Union Canal will be expected to make a positive contribution
to the canalside environment. The design, scale and materials of new developments and canalside
facilities must be appropriate to the environmental and historic character of the canal, and have no
adverse impact on its nature conservation interest. Important views both to and from the canal should
be retained.

4. The Council will positively support proposals to improve pedestrian access, and provide small scale
outdoor facilities appropriate to the canal, where consistent with other environmental and land use
policies of the plan and provided there would be no adverse effect on the value of the canal for nature
conservation. Such facilities may include picnic areas, seating and nature trails to improve public
enjoyment of the canal.

163

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 175



5. Improvements to the canal towpath will be sought as part of planning applications and approvals
where appropriate and justified to help improve accessibility to services and facilities from and to the
development.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Two Waters Masterplan Guidance

To be produced

Detailed Design Guide SPD

Grand Union Canal, Tring

164

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 176



Page 177



21 Sustainable Transport and Connectivity

21.1 Dacorum has good transport links. It benefits from direct access to the strategic road network including
the M1, M25 and A41 and is well served by the west coast mainline railway service which links the
three towns and provides fast, regular and convenient services into London. The towns also have
reasonable access to inter-urban bus services, but villages that are located away from key inter-urban
bus corridors are not as well served.

21.2 However, the strategic and local road network can become congested, leading to delays, difficulties
in accessing services during peak travel hours, and air quality issues in certain parts of the towns.
Across the Borough bus services could be improved and railway stations require upgrading, alongside
the need to expand and improve the existing pedestrian and cycle network.

21.3 The way we move around the Borough will need to change if we are going to manage the levels of
growth proposed, to help reduce congestion on our local and strategic roads, improve air quality and
tackle climate change. We need to plan for a low carbon and less car-dominated future. The change
required will be profound but not immediate. We need to move towards more sustainable and active
forms of travel, particularly for those shorter journeys within our towns and villages, where alternatives
to the car are more feasible and practical. New technologies, better travel information, and emerging
innovative approaches to how we travel can help us to achieve this.

Table 29 Transport responsibilities

ResponsibilityOrganisation

Local highway authority and responsibility for
countywide and local transport policies, plans and
programmes.

Hertfordshire County Council

Managing, maintaining and improving motorways and
trunk roads.

Highways England

Maintaining and renewing rail infrastructure and train
planning and signalling.

Network Rail

Maintaining and developing the Grand Union Canal,
its public towpaths and waterway access points.

Canal and River Trust

Managing airport operations, facilities and
infrastructure. Dacorum liaises over airport issues
through the London Luton Airport Consultative
Committee (LLACC).

London Luton Airport Operations Limited

Running and managing bus and rail services.Bus and rail service providers

21.4 National planning policy acknowledges the importance of transport policies in facilitating sustainable
development and places a greater emphasis on sustainable travel modes and providing a greater
range of choice for how people travel. A key part of our strategy is to locate development in areas
which are or can be made sustainable by encouraging a mix of uses within a development, limiting
the need to travel, wherever possible, and offering a genuine choice with the priority being on walking,
cycling and public transport.

21.5 The strategy for movement is also heavily influenced by Hertfordshire County Council's Local Transport
Plan 4 (LTP4) that focuses on sustainable transport and improving the uptake of walking, cycling and
public transport. This sets outs the strategic vision of how transport can help to deliver a positive
future for Hertfordshire and Dacorum from 2020-2038. However, it also considers how future planning
decisions and emerging technology might affect the way that transport needs to be provided in the
longer term. Other strategies include the Active Travel Strategy, Intalink Bus Strategy and associated
Enhanced Partnership Scheme and Plan and Rail Strategy all of which help to inform the approach
that should be taken.

166

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 178



Figure 9 Local Transport Plan 4 Strategy Diagram

21.6 The South West Herts Growth & Transport Plan (GTP): is a new transport strategy and
encompasses Dacorum and its neighbouring authorities in SouthWest Hertfordshire. The Plan includes
a range of packages for Hemel Hempstead including the East-West Corridor which will better connect
the town to other major settlements in Hertfordshire along the A414 and provide enhanced facilities
for walking, cycling, and buses alongside private vehicles (This is being supported by other work
including the A414 and Mass Rapid Transit strategy).

21.7 Urban Transport Plans and Sustainable Transport Strategies: Themajority of work included under
LTP4, however is looking at transport at a Countywide level and although this is still important for
strategic links there needs to be a greater focus on settlement issues for the six main urban areas of
Hemel Hempstead, Berkhamsted, Tring, Bovingdon, Kings Langley, and Markyate. The County
Council in partnership with Dacorum Borough Council have produced two new Urban Transport Plans
(now referred to as Sustainable Transport Strategies) one for Hemel Hempstead and the other for
Berkhamsted and Tring. These strategies are built around the sites to be allocated within this Plan
and ensures that the measures to encourage change in travel behaviour are provided and offer more
choice for both new and existing users.

21.8 The Sustainable Transport Strategies prepared for both Hemel Hempstead and Berkhamsted and
Tring have been used to inform the Infrastructure Delivery Plan and develop the site requirements
and transport proposals for the Growth Areas identified in the Proposals and Sites section. These
have identified a number of interventions to improve the transport network and make it much more
attractive for walking and cycling. The Strategy identifies 4 key strategic movement corridors through
Hemel Hempstead:

East- West movement across Hemel Hempstead.
North and North West Hemel to the town centre.
South and South East Hemel to the town centre.
Orbital movements through the planned garden community.

21.9 Along these movement corridors opportunities to promote sustainable and active modes of travel will
be explored and land protected for such purposes. These corridors will also seek to integrate into
Hemel Hempstead's existing sustainable travel network.

167

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 179



21.10 The interventions for Hemel Hempstead are along similar lines but also take into account the need
for more significant interventions, such as the A414 strategy and Mass Rapid Transit study, given the
scale of growth in and around the town. The Strategy sets out the long term vision to meet longer
term modal shift aspirations.

A414 Strategy and Mass Rapid Transit (MRT)

21.11 The Council and Hertfordshire County Council are working together to develop schemes that will
provide viable alternatives to car travel across the Borough and wider county area. This is to take
shape as aMass Rapid Transit (MRT) systemwhich will connect Hemel Hempstead station to Harlow,
just beyond Hertfordshire's eastern boundary using some of the existing A414 route. This is to include
the introduction of new Multi-Modal Transport Interchanges (MMTIs) that enable people to reduce
their reliance on the car for the majority or all of their journey. MMTIs are to be delivered as part of
Hemel Garden Communities given the mix of uses surrounding it and the population it is likely to
cover.

21.12 The Mass Rapid Transit proposal spans both the A414 Strategy and Hemel Hempstead and has
notable mention within both strategies and as previously mentioned will be supported by a number
of new MMTIs. This will predominately feature within the Hemel Growth Area in St Albans district and
will expand the possibility for users to combine travel modes such as walking or driving to the
interchange and reducing the need for journeys to be carried out entirely by car. This will be supported
by better cycling and bus routes from the town centre and Hemel Hempstead Railway Station and
the provision of bus priority measures for quicker and more reliable journeys. As part of the transit
system Hemel Hempstead Railway Station is to be regenerated which will make the station more
accessible to sustainable forms of transport and less car dominated. Specific details of which can be
seen in Growth Area HH08: Station Gateway.

21.13 By delivering these we will ensure that residents can enjoy healthy and active lifestyles and can help
us achieve our climate change commitments. However, we know that to deliver this shift we must
provide the right infrastructure at the right time to enable alternative forms of travel to be attractive to
our residents. We also recognise that in some more rural areas of the Borough this shift will be harder
to deliver with a greater reliance on private transport.

21.14 The Council has worked with the County Council and other agencies to model the impact of growth
on our local and strategic road network and suggests there is sufficient capacity providing there is a
greater uptake in walking, cycling and public transport. This has influenced where we have located
major growth opportunities. Through the new Sustainable Transport Strategies proposals have been
set out for significant investment in our pedestrian and cycle network, as well as other ways to improve
bus and rail services and accessibility. These focus on identifying and costing sustainable transport
routes, which will enable travel choice from the new developments to key destinations in the towns,
whilst also improving options for existing residents.

21.15 To facilitate this change, the priority will need to shift away from car-based transport towards a lower
carbon future for movement. Electric vehicles, whilst they remove a source of carbon emissions are
unable to address many of the other challenges faced such as road capacity and congestion, health
and safety, and the ineffective use of land. The policy will therefore give greater emphasis on the
provision of bus, cycle and pedestrian transport infrastructure through its enhancement, extension or
addition of as appropriate; and to ensure that development encourages these options through good
design and ensuring their convenience.

21.16 However, policy also needs to acknowledge as mentioned in the NPPF that "sustainable transport
options will vary between urban and rural areas". This is an important consideration for development
that will take place beyond the three main settlements, where the ability to provide frequent passenger
transport will be more challenging. In such instances, the Council will work proactively with the relevant
agencies to identify possible links to neighbouring settlements that can be achieved through forms
of non-motorised travel. Developers will be expected to demonstrate how they will facilitate this as
part of the application process.

168

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 180



21.17 Private transport will still have a role to play in the interim, however this should only be for essential
journeys. The Plan does support a small number of road schemes to serve key developments and
allow phases to be brought forward and be properly connected. For example, there is need for a new
northern corridor to serve Hemel Hempstead. Some smaller-scale highway improvements will also
be necessary to reduce problems of congestion, and to provide local solutions to existing road safety,
capacity and air quality, however these measures will not seek to increase road capacity.

Transport Proposals

21.18 We are continuing to develop the transport proposals that will be included within the Plan. These are
being informed by detailed County-wide COMET transport modelling to identify pressure points across
the network in addition to the detailed Sustainable Transport Strategies that have been prepared for
Hemel Hempstead, Berkhamsted and Tring which set out detailed proposals for transport interventions.
These will be developed with the County Council and other relevant bodies and fed into the
Infrastructure Delivery Plan and into site specific policies for development. The exact transport
interventions and the timing of delivery will be detailed in the next stage of the Plan.

Policy DM50 - Transport and Movement

1. The Council seeks to deliver Local Transport Plan 4 by facilitating a transport strategy in the following
order of importance:

a. Opportunities to reduce travel demand and the need to travel.
b. Vulnerable road users needs (such as pedestrians and cyclists).
c. Passenger transport user needs (such as bus, train and taxis).
d. Powered two wheeler (mopeds and motorbikes) user needs.
e. Other motor vehicle user needs.

2. This strategy will be supported by adopting the following principles that will incentivise other transport
modes and reduce dependency on the private car:

a. Locate development in areas that provide good levels of access to sustainable modes of
transport and can make provision for its improvement.

b. Promote genuine transport choice through the provision of direct, safe and convenient walking
and cycling networks andmake improvements to public transport and its supporting infrastructure
that would incentivise non car based travel.

c. Improve access to key services and facilities by all modes of transport and provide better
integration between these modes.

d. Where possible as part of major development promote the usage of shared transport schemes.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Local Transport Plan 4
South West Herts Growth and Transport Plan
Hemel Hempstead Sustainable Transport Strategy:
Berkhamsted and Tring Sustainable Transport Strategy:
A414 Strategy:
Mass Rapid Transit study:
COMET Run 5:

169

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 181

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the-council/consultations/ltp4-local-transport-plan-4-complete.pdf
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/highways/sw-herts-gtp-prospectus.pdf


21.19 For the Council to achieve its modal share aspirations there will likely be a need for all development
to make contributions towards the onsite delivery of infrastructure and/or interventions identified
through the Sustainable Transport Strategies. In cases where the infrastructure cannot be attributed
to particular developments monetary contributions will be sought.

21.20 To ensure that the interventions identified through the Sustainable Transport Strategies can be
delivered during the Plan period, land will need to be protected for such uses.

Policy DM51- Supporting and protecting land for transport interventions

1. Land identified through the Sustainable Transport Strategies as important transport corridors will be
protected for transport interventions and will be retained as its existing designation until such a time
where the land is to come forward for development. These corridors include:

a. The northern distributor road through the North Hemel Growth Area.
b. East - West links across Hemel Hempstead including the Link Road, Queensway, Midland

Road and St Albans Road.
c. North and North west routes to Hemel Hempstead town centre including Leighton Buzzard

Road and Galley Hill.
d. South and South East routes to Hemel Hempstead town centre including London Road, Lawn

Lane/ Belswains Lane and Hemel Hempstead Road.
e. South - North movements to Berkhamsted Town Centre including Bell Lane, Durrants Lane

Swing Gate Lane and Woodland Avenue.
f. East - West movements through Berkhamsted along Shootersway and Gossoms End/ High

Street/ London Road.
g. East - West movements in to and out of Tring including London Road, Station Road, Icknield

Way and Aylesbury Road.
h. North - South movements through Tring including Brook Street and Grove Road.

2. Major development along these corridors will be expected to contribute towards the delivery of
interventions identified in the Sustainable Transport Strategies, beyond those necessary to make a
scheme compliant. Similarly, if a scheme is capable of improving pedestrian movements across the
town this should also be explored as part of the planning application process and should be developed
in alignment with Policy DM52 - Movement and Access and Policy DM53 - Walking and Cycling.

3. In all instances these sustainable transport measures should be delivered early on in the development
to establish green travel behaviour from the outset of occupation in accordance with Policy DM53 -
Walking and Cycling.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Hemel Hempstead Sustainable Transport Strategy:
Berkhamsted and Tring Sustainable Transport Strategy:

Movement and Access

21.21 Developers will need to ensure that they contribute positively towards the Council's goal of achieving
a more sustainable future in accordance with HCC's LTP4 document and encouraging the switch
away from the private car.

170

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 182



21.22 All applications will need to abide by the requirements set out in Hertfordshire County Councils Travel
Plan Guidance and Roads in Hertfordshire guidance (or subsequent HCC design guidance) and
engage with the Transport teams for specific requirements.

21.23 In designing new development the proposed access arrangementsmust be safe for users, proportionate
to the type of development proposed and can accommodate the expected number of trips the
development is to generate. The introduction of new accesses will be limited to this effect to prevent
'rat-running' through developments and should take guidance from the Roads in Hertfordshire: A
Design Guide 3rd Edition 2011 or subsequent HCC design guidance. Where additional trips are
predicted from a site it is necessary to ensure that measures can commensurately mitigate the impact
where possible. Additionally, in alignment with LTP4 and national policy (NPPF 2019, paragraph 108)
schemes should demonstrate that safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users.

21.24 There is a strong emphasis on ensuring that safe access is provided to pedestrians and cyclists and
that it creates attractive, high quality and suitable routes including appropriate surfaces and lighting.
This should be met both within and outside of the development area. Developers should be able to
demonstrate that transport provision associated with development proposals will be appropriate, both
in terms of modal choice and the capacity of the highway network to accommodate additional trips
for all modes.

21.25 It is also important that development is respectful of the existing scale and character of the area. The
private vehicle requirements of the development should not have a significant adverse effect on the
wider environment and the amenity of local residents, such as through unacceptable levels of trip
generation or result in displacement parking.

21.26 Therefore, the policy requires developers to consider safe and effective access arrangements for all
users to the site. This should take account of its wider transport safety implications, such as parking,
visual splays, permeability by methods other than the car, its impact on the wider environment, and
for some applications, to provide travel plans or travel plan statements as necessary. These thresholds
can be found in Policy DM52 - Movement and access.

21.27 The Council encourages developers to consult with Hertfordshire County Council's Transport teams
through the pre-application engagement process to ensure as many issues can be resolved in advance
of the detailed planning application stage.

21.28 Detailed design standards for highway infrastructure is currently provided in 'Roads in Hertfordshire:
A Design Guide 3rd Edition 2011' or subsequent HCC design guidance.

Policy DM52 - Movement and access

1. Development proposals will be expected to minimise the need to travel by car in the first instance
by:

a. providing gigabit capable broadband in accordance with Policy DM57 - Digital Communications;
b. locating development in close proximity to, and with access to, key services and facilities;
c. encouraging the use of sustainable transport in line with LTP4.

2. Schemes will be permitted that:

a. encourage reduced car ownership or use by prioritising sustainable transport modes andmaking
this more accessible and attractive to users. This could include the adoption of measures
through a Travel Plan such as cycle hire or car club, or for destinations, priority and high quality
provision for those walking, cycling or using public transport. This should be achieved through
the overall site layout;

b. provide access to public transport and contributes to the required infrastructure to support it;
c. integrate into existing sustainable transport infrastructure and does not have an unacceptable

impact on the operation, safety or capacity of the highway network; including cumulative impacts,
and is acceptable in terms of any implications for on-street parking;

171

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 183



d. ensure safe, suitable and convenient access for all users;
e. maintains, enhances and integrates with existing Rights of Way (equestrian, cycle or other)

and protects their special character (including designated and non-designated routes and where
there is evidence of regular public usage). Should diversion prove unavoidable, suitable
appealing alternative routes of equal or enhanced standard will be required.

f. in the case of the Growth Areas, and other major development, gives consideration to bringing
forward the implementation of sustainable travel infrastructure to the early phases of
development, so as to not disadvantage initial occupants and users and to influence behaviour
which enables green travel patterns to become established from the outset of occupation; and

g. ensure that there are mechanisms in place, either through a s106 planning obligation, or other
method deemed appropriate by the Council, for the long term maintenance of the above.

3. Development proposals that create a significant amount of transport movement must be supported
by a full Travel Plan or Travel Plan Statement. This must be:

a. secured through S106 planning obligation (whenever the CIL regulations tests for the use of
S106 are met);

b. prepared in accordance with the County Council's Travel Plan Guidance (or document that
supersedes this after the adoption of the Plan) (34)(35);

c. based on this evidence and / or the recommendations of the Highway Authority and where this
cannot be met on site, financial contributions, or provision in kind, will be sought for sustainable
transport or other highway measures that are necessary to mitigate the impacts of the
development.

4. Where major development is expected and there is to be significant change to the local highways,
developers should work closely with Hertfordshire County Council's Transport teams to secure
appropriate mitigation measures.

5. Where proposals (either stand-alone or in-combination) may give rise to air quality concerns, these
will be considered in accordance with Policy DM35 - Protection from Environmental Pollution.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Local Transport Plan 4
HCC Travel Plan Guidance
Rights of Way Improvement Plan
Roads in Hertfordshire Design Guide

Walking and Cycling

21.29 Walking and cycling make up the two most sustainable forms of transport and feature high in the
Transport User Hierarchy. These modes have a significantly smaller impact on the environment given
that they do not contribute to pollution levels or congestion, and the infrastructure necessary to support
them is usually modest in scale.

34 The https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/highways/development-management/travel-plan-guidance.pdf
35 (Travel Plans will be assessed by the Road Safety and Sustainable Travel Team - queries regarding Travel Plans can be directed

to travelplan@hertfordshire.gov.uk).

172

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 184

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the-council/consultations/ltp4-local-transport-plan-4-complete.pdf
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/highways/development-management/travel-plan-guidance.pdf
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment-and-planning/planning/planning-in-hertfordshire/ltp-rights-of-way-improvement-plan-2017.pdf
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx#highwaydesignguide
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/highways/development-management/travel-plan-guidance.pdf


21.30 There are also social and health benefits to encouraging people to walk and cycle - active travel is
more convenient and accessible to a wider part of the population and can increase social interaction
within a community. Well designed pedestrian and cycling networks have the ability to improve health
whilst also discouraging crime, which all have a cost benefit to society.

21.31 LTP4 identifies that 53% of all journeys to work within Hertfordshire are under 10 miles and that 63%
of all journeys in the County are under 5 miles. This illustrates that there is considerable scope to
increase sustainable modes of travel by improving these networks.

21.32 The Council will seek opportunities to promote healthier and more environmentally friendly travel
choices. To ensure this, walking and cycling routes need to be more direct, safe, convenient and offer
continuous connectivity to key services and facilities. Developers should ensure new developments
are designed from the outset for pedestrian and cyclists and that they connect to and/or enhance
existing networks. This includes opportunities to reduce severance and traffic calming. The Dacorum
Design Guidance provides examples of good practice such as the relationship between movement
and place and how these factors help to determine the type of infrastructure best suited to that
development or need. Interventions that are considered to be most important to the Council can be
found within the Hemel Hempstead, and Berkhamsted and Tring Sustainable Transport Strategies.

Policy DM53 - Walking and cycling

All development proposals will be expected to promote safe and attractive walking and cycling provision
to nearby employment, essential services and community facilities by the following:

1. Wherever possible, priority should be given to walking and cycling routes, in accordance with the
Transport User Hierarchy, this should be evident in all aspects of development design.

2. Ensuring that existing pedestrian and cycle networks (including designated and non-designated
routes) are protected, enhanced and extended to better integrate into the rest of the network.
Proposals for development should actively pursue improvements and additions to the pedestrian
and cycling network. These new routes should be attractive, convenient, safe and secure.

3. Ensuring that development proposals do not substantially alter existing routes to the point where
safe crossing could be difficult. Should this prove unavoidable provision will be required to enable
safe crossing.

4. Creating safe, well lit, convenient and attractive walking and cycling connections to existing
developments, neighbourhoods, jobs and services. In locations where there is a deterrent to
pedestrians and cyclists this should be improved as far as is reasonable to do so.

5. Enabling opportunities to walk and cycle through sustainable travel initiatives, which could include
and is not limited to wayfinding, provision of pick up points, secure cycle parking, electric bike charging
and shower and changing facilities. This should be provided, where necessary as part of multi-modal
transport interchanges and at key locations including employment sites and town and district centres.

6. Providing where possible new walking and/or cycling routes from the rural and small settlements to
the larger surrounding urban areas of Hemel Hempstead, Berkhamsted and Tring.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Local Transport Plan 4
Hemel Hempstead Sustainable Transport Strategy
Berkhamsted and Tring Sustainable Transport Strategy
Active Travel Strategy
Rights of Way Improvement Plan

173

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 185

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the-council/consultations/ltp4-local-transport-plan-4-complete.pdf
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/highways/transport-planning/local-transport-plan-live/active-travel-strategy.pdf
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment-and-planning/planning/planning-in-hertfordshire/ltp-rights-of-way-improvement-plan-2017.pdf


Public Transport

21.33 A high quality public transport network will be essential if the Council is to meet its objectives under
the recently announced climate emergency and the Council's modal share aspirations for Hemel
Hempstead. There are numerous benefits associated with public transport including reducing traffic
congestion, maximising the capacity of the road network and helping to tackle climate change. The
Council has already invested in and delivered a new bus interchange in Hemel Hempstead town
centre as part of a wider regeneration programme.

21.34 Public transport is also important for social inclusion as it offers access to travel to those most
marginalised in society such as young people, older people and people with disabilities and to those
living in more rural parts of the Borough. However, the Council acknowledges that both services and
the supporting infrastructure need to be improved to ensure greater uptake and to remove barriers
to the most vulnerable. In order to facilitate, encourage and deliver these improvements the Council,
County Council and developers will need to work closely with bus and rail service operators and
Network Rail (responsible for rail infrastructure). This will draw heavily upon the Intalink Bus Strategy
which details the priorities for the network.

21.35 The Council is currently exploring opportunities to improve the threemain stations of Hemel Hempstead,
Berkhamsted and Tring over the Plan period due to the anticipated significant increase in passenger
numbers. The Plan encourages major improvements to the Hemel Hempstead mainline station
covering a remodelled station, new facilities for passengers, an increase in parking and the introduction
of a range of other uses, which will help to facilitate greater transport choice to and from the station.
This is being taken forward through the Station Gateway project and more details can be found in the
Hemel Hempstead Delivery Strategy. This forms part of a number of improvements to the transport
network within and out of Hemel Hempstead as part of the A414 Strategy and Hemel Garden
Communities programme which will enable people to complete a greater length of their journey by
sustainable modes through the delivery of Multi-Modal Transport Interchanges.

Policy DM54 - Public Transport

The Council will require all development proposals to be designed to meet the needs of public transport
operators and users. In particular the following principles will apply:

1. Road layouts must include direct, convenient and safe public transport routes which are easily
accessible by foot or cycle. These public transport routes should be free of obstructive parking.

2. Public transport priority measures must be implemented in accordance with the Bus priority feasibility
studies, South West Herts Growth and Transport Plan, the A414 strategy and the Hemel Hempstead
and Berkhamsted and Tring Sustainable Transport Strategies (in some instances theymaybe required
through S106 agreements to make proposals acceptable in planning terms).

3. Bus stops must have good pedestrian access, be open to public supervision and be sheltered where
appropriate. These should be provided on the carriageway where possible and design informed by
a safety audit.

4. Where appropriate, the implementation of multi modal transport interchanges will be required which
is to be informed through development site masterplanning and the Hemel Hempstead Sustainable
Transport Strategies, the South West Herts Growth and Transport Plans and Infrastructure Delivery
Plan.

5. Major Development will be required to contribute towards service improvements so that the frequency
and availability to travel to key destinations is enhanced and more attractive to users subject to
viability and the existing bus network in the vicinity of the site.

174

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 186



Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Local Transport Plan 4
Intalink Bus Strategy
Rail Strategy
Hemel Hempstead Sustainable Transport Strategy
Berkhamsted and Tring Sustainable Transport Strategy

Parking Provision - Residential

21.36 The Council will take a proactive approach to the provision of parking availability in new development.
The amount of parking provision associated with development can have a significant effect on travel
behaviours and how people access the development. Similarly, the restriction of provision at destination
points, where properly managed, can lead to greater use of sustainable transport from place of origin
instead of car usage. Furthermore, there are benefits in applying stricter parking standards in terms
of the reduction in congestion and harmful vehicle emissions and allowing more effective use of urban
land.

21.37 Parking standards should go beyond simply providing car spaces in new developments. It should be
flexible enough to deal with all manner of developments and make provision for evolving technology
such as electric vehicle charging infrastructure. Suitable parking facilities should also bemade available
for cycles and powered twowheelers. Suchmeasures help encourage amodal shift towards sustainable
transport options. The Council will take steps to increase their availability across the Borough through
and outside the planning system.

21.38 In accordance with national policy, the Council will consider reducing residential parking provision in
sustainable locations where there are viable alternatives available to residents and visitors. Such
locations include those within the town centres and close to railway stations, such as at Hemel
Hempstead railway station (see the Hemel Hempstead Garden Communities Delivery Strategy for
further details).

21.39 The flexible parking principles will be articulated through parking zones with a lower parking standard
in the most accessible locations where the greatest choice of movement options and opportunities
exist. The accessibility zones will reflect density zones identified through the Delivery Strategies with
the lowest levels of parking corresponding with the highest density developments as these will be
located in the areas with greatest accessibility by non-car modes.

21.40 The Council recognises that a difficult balance must be struck between the advantages of achieving
lower parking levels in new development against the potential problems of not providing a sufficient
amount of provision. We must ensure that lower parking standards in certain areas do not result in
adverse effects on residential amenity and highway safety, or displace parking problems to nearby
areas. We also need to be careful that the vitality and viability of the existing town centres is maintained
through providing adequate levels of parking. To this end, the Council has recently invested in a new
multi-storey car park in Berkhamsted town centre.

21.41 Parking should be designed and located so that it is safe, secure and convenient for users, and is
sensitive to its local context in terms of surfacing, lighting and landscaping. Detailed guidance on the
design and location of parking is provided in 'Roads in Hertfordshire 2011' or subsequent HCC design
guidance and the Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD.

175

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 187

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the-council/consultations/ltp4-local-transport-plan-4-complete.pdf
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/highways/transport-planning/local-transport-plan-live/intalink-bus-strategy-feb-2020.pdf
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/highways/transport-planning/local-transport-plan-live/rail-strategy.pdf


21.42 The Council in partnership with Hertfordshire County Council is developing schemes that will provide
viable alternatives to car travel across the Borough and wider county area. This is to take shape as
a Mass Rapid Transit (MRT) system which will connect Hemel Hempstead station to Harlow, just
beyond Hertfordshire's eastern boundary using some of the existing A414 route. This is to include
the introduction of new Multi-Modal Transport Interchanges (MMTIs) that enable people to reduce
their reliance on the car for the majority or all of their journey. A MMTI is to be delivered as part of
the expansion of Hemel Hempstead given the mix of uses surrounding it and the population it is likely
to cover.

Policy DM55 - Parking Provision - Residential

1. All residential development will be required to provide parking in accordance with the adopted
standards contained within the Parking Standards SPD in order to encourage a shift towards more
sustainable and active forms of movement.

2. In addition to meeting the requirements of the Council's adopted standards, car parking will be
expected to:
a. be conveniently located, be visible from surrounding dwellings and have safe and convenient

access from the dwellings they are intended to serve;
b. not result in a dominance of car parking in a way that would dominate the street scene, be

adequately screened and broken up by soft planting to mitigate its visual impact;
c. provide an appropriate proportion of spaces of conveniently located disabled spaces; and
d. provide an appropriate amount of active and passive Electric Vehicle charging points.

3. Where applicants seek to deviate from these standards the Council will require justification and
further information, including the submission of parking stress surveys, in order to demonstrate that
there would be no harm to highway safety, convenience or local amenity. In addition, where the
Council feels that the development would be located in an area of particular parking stress it may
require the imposition of different parking standards.

4. Development proposals will also need to demonstrate that they are in line with the Transport User
Hierarchy and appropriate cycle and motorcycle parking. This should be located in the most beneficial
location for users ideally with convenient and prominent access and visible from surrounding dwellings.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Parking standards SPD

Parking Provision - Commercial

21.43 The mix of uses in established employment areas, and other areas such as town centres, is changing
due to the relaxation of planning policy and permitted development rights. We are beginning to see
more diverse uses which provide services and facilities to support businesses and employees. These
include hotels, restaurants and cafes, hot food takeaways and gyms. This increase can ensure that
an area serves a purpose throughout the day and can reduce the need for people to travel further or
during peak times to access services. Therefore, commercial parking standards need to reflect such
changes in the use of employment and other areas.

21.44 The Maylands Business Park (MBP) is one example of where these changes to planning policy have
allowed for a greater range of services to come forward and provide new opportunities for people in
the local area. The new local centre (the Maylands local centre) in the MBP includes residential,

176

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 188



leisure, retail, community, and employment uses in a central and accessible location. It is therefore
important that parking provision takes account of these competing uses and ensures that a right
balance is struck between parking availability and the effective use of land.

21.45 Furthermore, there is a need to consider the traffic generation that employment areas produce,
particularly from service vehicles, light delivery vehicles and HGV movements. The MBP suffers from
a high level of lorry movements and large numbers of light goods vehicles providing short distance
deliveries. It currently experiences a lack of off-street and overnight parking, especially as a
consequence of the growth of large logistics facilities. This can often result in unsafe road conditions
for other users when such vehicles lack adequate parking facilities.

21.46 The National Planning Policy Framework recognises that this is an issue and in paragraph 107 states
'Planning policies and decisions should recognise the importance of providing adequate overnight
lorry parking facilities, taking into account local shortages, to reduce the risk of parking in locations
that lack proper facilities or could cause a nuisance'. The Council is looking at ways this can be
addressed within the MBP and also assessing opportunities for this to be accommodated through the
expansion of the truck stop facilities at Junction 9 of the M1.

Policy DM56 - Parking provision- Commercial

1. All non residential development will be required to provide parking in accordance with the adopted
standards contained within the Parking Standards SPD in order to encourage a shift towards more
sustainable and active forms of movement. In addition to meeting the requirements of the Council's
adopted standards car parking will be expected to:

a. provide shared parking areas where possible provided there is sufficient provision for each use
at peak periods;

b. in the case of commercial (including retail) developments provide adequate lorry, commercial
service vehicle and/ or coach parking and maneuvering having full regard to the adopted SPD
and will be assessed through a Transport Assessment or Transport Statement on a case by
case basis and is further detailed through the ‘Roads in Hertfordshire: highways design guide’
or subsequent HCC design guidance;

c. provide an appropriate amount of active and passive Electric Vehicle charging points.
d. retain land currently used for lorry and other-parking in general employment areas. Planning

permission for alternative uses will only be granted where the lorry parking area is no longer
needed either for the current operator’s use and the impact of the loss of provision will not give
rise to unacceptable impacts on the local highway network or amenity and appearance of the
area as a result of parking on the roadside or on verges.

2. Additionally, commercial development will also need to provide cycle and motorcycle parking in the
most beneficial location for users and provide changing facilities suitable for the level expected.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Parking standards SPD

177

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 189



Digital Connectivity

21.47 The introduction of new technology offers opportunities for residents and businesses to be better
connected and to access digital services more efficiently. It can be a driver for increased productivity,
economic growth and job creation.

21.48 The Government has taken significant steps to increase the delivery of such technologies. This
includes new ambitious targets such as delivering gigabit capable networks UK wide by 2025, and
plans to amend Building Regulations to ensure that all new homes have the right infrastructure to
support gigabit broadband(36)

21.49 The National Planning Policy Framework acknowledges the importance of supporting these
technologies classing them as 'essential for economic growth and social well-being' and that planning
authorities should support the expansion of these technologies (paragraph 112).

21.50 The importance of introducing new technologies is also recognised locally, forming part of our Corporate
Plan and the continuing work to roll out gigabit connectivity in the Borough.

21.51 New infrastructure will continue to play a greater role in our ability to access digital services and to
work more flexibly off-site, either at home or at a choice of locations. It can also make businesses
more resilient and future proofed. We are committed to ensuring that Dacorum has a first class digital
network in place so that it remains an attractive area for residents to live and for businesses to operate
from and invest in. This improvement to the Borough's digital network needs to be achieved in
conjunction with new development.

Policy DM57 - Digital Communications

The Council will support the deployment of next generation technology to ensure that Dacorum remains
an attractive area to invest for businesses and meets the needs of its residents. The Council considers
that Fibre To The Premise (FTTP) is essential infrastructure and vital to the delivery of sustainable
development. Therefore proposals will be expected to comply with the following principles:

1. All qualifying development shall deliver FTTP. Qualifying development includes:
a. all residential and employment schemes proposed in, or adjoining, the main towns and large

villages;
b. residential schemes promoting 10 dwellings or more in the remaining parts of the Borough;

and
c. employment schemes promoting 10 or more jobs (FTE) in the remaining parts of the Borough.

2. Proposals for qualifying development will be needed to be supported by an FTTP Statement, to be
agreed by Council, this will;
a. establish how FTTP will be provided to serve the development and that it will be engaged at

first occupation; or
b. in the case of when an applicant has determined that it is not practical, viable or feasible to

deliver FTTP, be supported with evidence from the applicant to demonstrate that a departure
from policy is justified.

3. For other residential and employment schemes, FTTP will be encouraged by the Council as a means
of expanding the local fibre network.

4. Where FTTP is not delivered, non-Next Generation Access technologies than can provide speeds
in excess of 24 Mbps should be provided as an alternative.

36 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-build-homes-to-come-gigabit-speed-ready

178

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 190

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-build-homes-to-come-gigabit-speed-ready


Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Superfast Broadband Programme- commitment to ensure 96% of the UK can achieve 24Mbps
speeds or higher until
2026:https://www.gov.uk/guidance/building-digital-uk#:~:text=Superfast%20Broadband%20Programme,the%20superfast%20broadband%20postcode%20checker.
New -build homes to come with gigabit-speed broadband fit for the
future: https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-build-homes-to-come-gigabit-speed-ready

Mobile Communications

21.52 Mobile communications infrastructure is another emerging technology that is important to Dacorum
remaining an attractive area for people to live and work. Mobile infrastructure supports applications
beyond the home or workplace and can provide greater convenience for example in the way people
travel - such as the ability to access smart ticketing which can speed up the drop off and pick-up times
on public transport, and 'on-demand' travel information for travel planning.

21.53 The National Planning Policy Framework sets out the expectation for local authorities to take a
pro-active and supportive approach to delivering this infrastructure stating: "Planning policies and
decisions should support the expansion of electronic networks, including next generation mobile
technology (Such as 5G)... providing access to services from a range of providers" (paragraph 112).

21.54 While the Council does not have full control over the delivery of communications infrastructure (as
much of this can be carried out under permitted development or prior approval) it is important that
the number of sites are controlled and consistent with the needs of the consumer.

Policy DM58 - Mobile Communications

The Council will support proposals for the provision and improvement of new telecommunications
infrastructure provided that:

1. it has been demonstrated that there are no reasonable opportunities for sharing a site, mast, or
facility with existing telecommunications infrastructure in the area;

2. the installation and any associated apparatus is sited and designed to minimise unacceptable impact
on the character, residential amenity or the safe and satisfactory functioning of highways and
appearance with particular consideration given to the impact on:
a. designated or locally identified heritage assets; or
b. internationally and/ or nationally protected nature conservation sites, AONBs, regional and

local sites, and areas of designated open land;
3. it has been demonstrated that the siting of the proposal and any other additional equipment involved

with the development does not overly detract from the appearance of the surrounding area, including
the use of innovative design and construction and/or sympathetic camouflaging;

4. any building-mounted installations would not have an overly detrimental impact on the character or
appearance of the building;

5. prior approval of the siting and appearance of the development will be required if the proposal is
within or would affect the Chilterns AONB, Listed building, a site of archaeological importance or a
site designated for its nature conservation importance; and

6. all residential and new employment development should consider the mobile telecommunications
requirement of the development proposal and ensure and demonstrate that there would be sufficient
coverage. This information should be submitted in a site connectivity plan during the pre-application
and application stages.

179

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 191

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/building-digital-uk#:~:text=Superfast%20Broadband%20Programme,the%20superfast%20broadband%20postcode%20checker.
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-build-homes-to-come-gigabit-speed-ready


Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Next Generation Mobile Technologies: A 5G strategy for the UK

180

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 192

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/597421/07.03.17_5G_strategy_-_for_publication.pdf


Page 193



22 Healthy Communities

22.1 The health and wellbeing of our communities is crucially important to delivering long term sustainable
development and placemaking. This includes physical, mental and social wellbeing. Key to the Plan
is ensuring access to good quality services and facilities exists and that people of all ages and
backgrounds receive the access they need to live full, productive and prosperous lives.

National Policy

22.2 National Policy and Guidance clearly establishes that the design and use of the built and natural
environments, including green infrastructure, are key determinants of health and wellbeing, and that
the Local Plan has a important function in the delivery of healthy places.

22.3 Planning and health need to be considered together in two ways: in terms of creating environments
that support and encourage healthy lifestyles, and in terms of identifying and securing the facilities
needed for primary, secondary and tertiary care, and the wider health and care system.

22.4 Planning policies and decisions should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places which
promote social interaction, are safe and accessible, and enable and support healthy lifestyles. Planning
should also provide the social, recreational and cultural facilities and services the community needs.

22.5 Access to a network of high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and physical activity is
important for the health and wellbeing of communities. Planning policies should be based on robust
and up-to-date assessments of the need for open space, sport and recreation facilities.

22.6 Integrated working with Public health organisations, health service organisations, commissioners,
providers and local communities is necessary to effectively promote healthy and inclusive communities
and support appropriate health infrastructure.

Other Relevant Strategies and Studies

22.7 The Health and Social Care Act, which came into force in April 2013, introduced a new public health
landscape. The transfer of public health services from the NHS to Herts Public Health represents an
opportunity to change the focus from reacting to sickness to actively promoting health and wellbeing
and preventing ill health.

22.8 As a part of this transfer, Herts Public Health produced the The Hertfordshire’s Health andWellbeing
Strategy. This sets a goal to optimise the health and wellbeing of people throughout the course of
their lives, with the strategy focusing on the four major life stages: starting well, developing well, living
and working well, and ageing well.

22.9 The determinants of health (figure 10) are the factors that influence health. The Health and Wellbeing
Strategy identified that out of many determinants, wider living and working conditions have the largest
impact on health - more so than individual factors like genetics. This is why it is vital we integrate
health within the Local Plan, as planning has a direct influence on many of these factors.

182

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 194



Figure 10 The Wider Determinants of Health. L: Dahlgren and Whitehead (1991) R: Barton and
Grant (2006)

22.10 To aid this integration, Herts Public Health published the Health and Wellbeing Planning Guidance
to support councils. This provides recommendations and advice on how we enable developments
which enhance the physical and mental health of the community.

22.11 The Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Planning Guidance also refers to the use of Health Impact
Assessments - a tool that judges the potential, and sometimes unintended, effects of a project on the
health of a population. Health Impact Assessments identify actions to manage those effects. Public
Health then published it's Health Impact Assessment Position Statement in 2019.

Planning Reforms in the White Paper

22.12 The vision of the Planning for the Future White Paper recognises that the Plan has a measurable
effect on physical and mental health. It clearly explains the link between planning and social justice,
and references general inequalities within the system. The document places a clear emphasis on the
need for high quality design in order to enhance the health of local areas.

22.13 The white paper was heavily informed by the report of the Building Better, Building Beautiful commission
in January 2020, which established that quality of place needs to be understood in terms of provable
relationships between urban form with health, wellbeing and sustainability. In the white paper, the
Government confirmed that it will be considering the findings from this report further, which places
greater focus on integrating design with delivering health benefits.

183

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 195



Splash Park, Hemel Hempstead

Health Facilities

22.14 Over the Plan period, it is essential that growth and development is supported by increased levels of
healthcare provision and other community facilities and services. Although the Council does not
directly deliver healthcare facilities we have a key enabling role by understanding service capacity
and the need for additional facilities, and then identifying opportunities for new and improved provision
through policies and allocations in the Local Plan.

22.15 Provision of primary care and acute health facilities will be coordinated through on-going joint working
with NHS England and the Hertfordshire Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group (HVCCG) in Dacorum.
These bodies are directly responsible for commissioning and delivering these facilities.

22.16 Figure 11 shows a simplified structure of how healthcare services are commissioned in Hertfordshire.

Figure 11 How Health Services are Commissioned in Herts.

184

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 196



22.17 The scale and range of service provision will need to be appropriate to the level of demand generated
by development. The timely delivery of services and facilities will be important to ensure that need is
met as it arises, and that growth can be brought forward in a sustainable way.

22.18 The Council's Infrastructure Delivery Plan sets out the requirements for new provision to support
growth across the Borough.

22.19 The way primary health care services have been provided locally and nationally has been changing
in recent years and this has led to a number of practice mergers in the Borough. Practices are now
forming Primary Care Networks (PCN) where they can benefit from greater cross practice, community
working and the sharing of assets. Many of the GP surgeries are recognised as operating at over
capacity and the HVCCG has agreed forward investment of practices in anticipation of the growth in
the Plan.

22.20 While acute services are commissioned by the HVCCG, West Hertfordshire Hospital NHS Trust
(WHHT) is the provider. In Dacorum, Hemel Hempstead Hospital provides an urgent treatment centre
and other local healthcare and out patient facilities. The HVCCG, WHHT and its partners, including
the Council, are working towards agreeing the future of the hospital site and the development of
detailed options. In 2019 the hospital trust board met and approved the Strategic Outline Case detailing
a way forward based on option one. Work is now beginning on the Outline Business Case (OBC) to
demonstrate how option one is deliverable.

22.21 The general approach is to retain an acute services presence on the site., with a new Urgent Treatment
Centre, and providing a new planned medical services centre The current site is likely to be
reconfigured to focus services into a smaller footprint, allowing part of the site to be released for other
development. This is dealt with in more detail under the Hemel Hempstead Delivery Strategy.

Policy DM59 - Health Facilities

1. The Council will support proposals for the the provision, expansion or improvement of health facilities
in the Borough in line with the Herts Valleys CCG and NHS England requirements.

2. The Council will enable increasing the capacity and quality of health and social care facilities in the
Borough, in line with the growing population and its changing needs.

3. New development will be expected to make appropriate contributions to new health care provision
to support new development in accordance with the Council's Infrastructure Delivery Plan. In addition
developers should engage with the Clinical Commissioning Group at the earliest opportunity in order
to determine the health care requirements associated with new development.

4. Contributions towards new or enhanced health care facilities will be sought to ensure the health care
requirements arising from new developments are met.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust Future of Hospital Services Strategic Outline Case
July 2019
West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust - Redevelopment Home Page
Herts Valleys CCG Your Care, Your Future Vision Website
The NHS Long Term Plan

185

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 197

https://www.westhertshospitals.nhs.uk/about/redevelopment/documents/SOC%20Future%20of%20Healthcare%20Services%20in%20west%20Herts%20FINAL.pdf
https://www.westhertshospitals.nhs.uk/about/redevelopment/documents/SOC%20Future%20of%20Healthcare%20Services%20in%20west%20Herts%20FINAL.pdf
https://www.westhertshospitals.nhs.uk/about/redevelopment/
https://www.hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/future-plans/your-care-your-future/vision-strategy-and-case-change
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/


Health Impact Assessments

22.22 A Health Impact Assessment (HIA) is a combination of procedures, methods and tools that
systematically judges the potential, and sometimes unintended, effects of a policy, plan, programme
or project on the health of a population and the distribution of those effects within the population. The
HIA identifies appropriate actions to manage those effects and is a way of enabling planning decisions
to take health into account.

22.23 Planning regulates land use and thus has great potential to influence health. The diagram below
shows the seven key areas identified in the Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Planning Guidance
where planning can have the greatest impact on health.

Figure 12 Seven Key Areas where Planning effects Health

22.24 Planning is, in turn, required to undertake impact assessments. Following changes to Environmental
Impact Assessment (EIA) regulations in 2017, all EIAs are required to consider the impact on human
health. However, as EIAs are by definition focused on environmental concerns, they cannot holistically
assess health impact. Hertfordshire Public Health has identified that undertaking a Health Impact
Assessment (HIA) can be an appropriate mechanism for meeting these regulations effectively.

22.25 HIAs consider how the population will be affected, assessing both positive and negative health impacts.
Health inequalities and ensuring that these are not increased further by proposed developments,
should be a key consideration. All development which falls under the threshold for undertaking a HIA,
should still be designed to maximise the impact it can make to promoting healthy communities and
reducing health inequalities.

22.26 Development will be expected to include measures that contribute to healthier communities and
reduce health inequalities, as set out in the Dacorum Design Guidance and Hertfordshire’s Health
and Wellbeing Planning Guidance.

22.27 A HIA will follow a staged process to assess health in a broader sense giving consideration to the
wider determinants of health and in particular the effects on vulnerable populations who are more
likely to experience health inequalities. It is reasonable that only the larger forms of development
should generally be subject to this process as these are likely to have the biggest impact on health
and wellbeing.

22.28 The Council will expect developers to work positively towards identifying mitigation measures should
the HIA identify any negative impacts.

22.29 A guidance note detailing the process of conducting a HIA will be provided separately.

Policy DM60 - Health Impact Assessments

1. The Council will require a Health Impact Assessment, setting out the expected effects on health,
wellbeing and safety, from the following new developments.

186

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 198



a. All identified Growth Areas
b. Residential developments of 100 units and above.
c. Non-Residential Developments subject to an Environmental Impact Assessment.

2. All development subject to HIA must demonstrate how the positive health impacts it can deliver are
maximised, and reduce and/or mitigate negative health impacts, with a particular regard to removing
health inequalities.

3. Where unavoidable negative impacts on health, wellbeing and safety are identified, mitigation
measures must be incorporated into the proposal.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Strategy
Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Planning Guidance
Hertfordshire County Council Position Statement: Health Impact Assessments

Outdoor Gym Gadebridge Park, Hemel Hempstead

Education

22.30 Access to education is a key contributor to a sense of community and wellbeing. Schools are often
the focus of a community, particularly where early years education, extra-curricular activities or public
access to facilities are offered.

22.31 Ensuring that sufficient school places are available to support development is an integral part of
delivering sustainable communities. Educational attainment is the keystone of any economy and it is
important that access to such facilities is available to all, from the very young through to adult learning
opportunities. The Government is committed to ensuring that there is sufficient provision to meet

187

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 199

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the-council/partnerships/health-and-wellbeing-board/hertfordshire-health-and-wellbeing-strategy-2016-%E2%80%93-2020.pdf
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/public-health/hertfordshires-health-and-wellbeing-planning-guidance-may-2017.pdf
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/public-health/health/hia-position-statement.pdf


growing demand for school places, through increased choice and opportunity in state funded education.
This commitment is reflected in the NPPF. Local authorities are required to give full and thorough
consideration to enabling the development of schools in their planning decisions.

22.32 Hertfordshire has experienced a significant rise in the demand for school places across the County
in recent years, reflecting national trends. Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) has a statutory duty
to ensure sufficient school places are provided within its area and it monitors and publishes annual
school places forecasts. A number of primary school expansions and redevelopment of existing
secondary school sites have already taken place recently in order to meet demand for schooling.

22.33 However, HCC does not control the admissions or management of many schools across the County
with the move towards academies and free schools. As the Borough’s population grows, demand for
school places will continue to increase, placing pressure on existing facilities. It is therefore vital that
where housing growth results in increased demand, investment is made across each education tier,
as necessary, to ensure there are enough places to serve the Borough’s pupils within their community.

22.34 The Council will seek to support the continued delivery of high quality learning and education within
Dacorum, and will seek to support the development of learning and further education facilities. We
will also seek to work collaboratively with key skills providers to ensure the needs of our current and
future residents are met. For example, West Herts College has been active in delivering new buildings
on its Hemel Hempstead campus site.

22.35 The Plan signals significant growth and this will need to be matched by an increase in school places.
The Plan proposes a number of new schools across the Borough as part of new Growth Areas.

22.36 Applicants should work with Hertfordshire County Council, Dacorum Borough Council, and other
neighbouring local authorities, to identify the education needs arising from development and to ensure
that appropriate provision is made in the form of new or enhanced facilities. Major applications will
be expected to demonstrate how they have provided for additional school places. Growth Areas will
be expected to make full provision on-site, or contribute towards improving or extending existing
facilities where this is the most effective option.

22.37 A small number of state and independent schools fall in the Green Belt, particularly on the urban edge
of settlements. The NPPF does not specifically identify new school buildings as an appropriate form
of development in the Green Belt. However, the NPPF does allow greater flexibility for infilling and
redevelopment of previously developed land in the Green Belt which should provide greater scope
for such schools to expand without the need in every case for very special circumstances to be
demonstrated. In addition, the Council will support new school facilities in the Green Belt, wherever
possible, where there is a clear evidence for need and where it can be demonstrated that the impacts
of new buildings and activities do not adversely affect the objectives of the Green Belt.

22.38 As a larger number of schools within the settlements sit in an open setting, the Plan has designated
these sites as Open Land under Policy DM38 - Open Land. Normally, the Plan seeks to maintain the
open character of such sites and protect them from development. However, the Council will apply the
approach flexibly to support new school facilities where need is fully evidenced and the integrity of
the Open Land is maintained.

Policy DM61 - Education

1. Development that creates a potential increase in demand for education will be required to make
appropriate provision for new facilities either on-site or by making a suitable contribution towards the
improvement or expansion of nearby existing facilities.

2. Applicants will be expected to work in partnership with Hertfordshire County Council, and other
neighbouring local authorities as appropriate, to ensure there are sufficient school places and facilities
available to serve new housing developments.

188

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 200



3. The provision of new and the expansion of existing schools will be supported, where it is in accordance
with Hertfordshire County Council advice. School provision or expansion is considered acceptable
development in principle on designated Open Land, subject to other policy considerations. Strategic
allocations will be expected to provide new schools on-site, to be delivered in an appropriate and
early phase to serve new residents. All new schools will be expected to provide community access
to facilities.

4. Proposals for the creation of new or extended education facilities for all ages should:
a. be in an accessible location, served by a choice of sustainable travel options;
b. have safe drop-off and pick-up provision;
c. be of high quality of design, which offers flexible use of facilities, in order to ensure the various

needs of the community can be met; and
d. provide or retain a suitable provision of outdoor recreation space and playing fields.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Draft Infrastructure Delivery Plan
Policies Map

Sport and Leisure

22.39 Access to opportunities to participate in physical activity and exercise is essential to delivering healthier,
more active and inclusive communities. The Plan seeks to protect sport and leisure facilities including
outdoor playing pitches, artificial grass pitches and athletics provision, in addition to indoor leisure
facilities such as swimming pools and sports halls, in accordance with the NPPF (paragraph 97).

22.40 Planning guidance requires local authorities to base policies on an up-to-date assessment of community
needs, which should be derived from Sport England or National Standards for provision. To achieve
this we have undertaken a technical evaluation of sport and recreation facilities across the Borough.
The Playing Pitch Strategy (2019) and Leisure Facilities Strategy (2019) look in detail at existing
provision across the Borough, its quality, distribution, use, participation trends and sport initiatives,
before considering the impact of future growth, following Sport England's best practice methodology.
This evidence has informed our planning for new provision. Population growth can have a significant
impact upon existing sport and leisure facilities, putting pressure on existing resources. We will expect
development to provide for the needs of new residents to ensure all sectors of the community have
good access.

22.41 Sport England has a role in protecting sports provision and is consulted where planning applications
impact on such facilities. All proposals for new sports facilities such as swimming pools and sports
halls will be expected to be designed in accordance with Sport England’s design guidance to help
ensure that facilities are fit for purpose and of a high quality design.

22.42 Facilities within schools and colleges can provide a useful contribution to the leisure requirements of
the communities in which they are located. Where new facilities are provided as part of school
improvements or expansion the Council will encourage their use by the wider community.

22.43 The Council's evidence suggests there is a need for a variety of additional sports pitches across the
Borough over the Plan period. Although there is a less pressing need for new indoor sports facilities,
our evidence shows that there will be pressure on waterspace in the future, particularly in Hemel

189

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 201



Hempstead where there is currently a small shortfall in provision. The larger Growth Areas in Hemel
Hempstead, Berkhamsted, and Tring provide opportunities to secure new enhanced sports provision
in these towns.

22.44 The Council actively seeks greater participation in formal and informal recreational and leisure activities
in Dacorum. It manages directly or indirectly a number of playing pitches and sports centres across
the Borough. It continues to invest in and/or support with partners, new and upgraded provision in
the towns and villages, with a particular focus on improving the sports centres in Berkhamsted and
Tring.

Policy DM62 - Sport and Leisure

1. The development of land currently in use for sport or leisure provision will not be permitted unless:

a. an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the sports or leisure provision,
to include playing pitches, to be surplus to requirements; or

b. the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced with equivalent or better
provision in terms of quantity and quality (on site or suitably relocated); or

c. the development is for alternative sport or leisure provision, the benefits of which clearly outweigh
the loss of the current or former use.

2. All new residential development will be expected to contribute towards additional sport and playing
pitch provision. These will be calculated using Sport England’s Playing Pitch Calculator (for outdoor
sports pitches).

3. All new residential development in Hemel Hempstead will be expected to contribute towards additional
leisure facilities provision. These will be calculated using Sport England's Sport Facility Calculator.

4. Where provision, such as new sports pitches, is made on-site as part of a development, applicants
should detail long term maintenance arrangements in accordance with Policy DM65 - Community
Stewardship and Management.

5. Proposals to improve the quality, capacity and accessibility of the Borough's existing sport and leisure
provision will also be supported.

6. New educational establishments must include facilities for community use and be subject to formal
community use agreements.

7. Sport and leisure provision within employment sites will be encouraged.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Playing Pitch Strategy (2019)
Leisure Facilities Strategy (2019)
Draft Infrastructure Delivery Plan

190

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 202



Tring Sports Centre

Open Space Provision

22.45 Open space in all its forms is essential to creating great places to live and sustainable communities. It
also performs wider health and wellbeing functions, by promoting healthy lifestyles and providing
opportunities for reflection and relaxation. It is therefore important that existing open space is protected
and that new development plays a role in delivering appropriate green infrastructure to serve new
residents.

22.46 To understand our current and future needs for open space we undertaken a Borough wide open
space assessment using a wide range of typologies: parks and gardens, amenity greens, natural and
semi-natural greenspace, provision for children and young people, allotments, cemeteries and green
corridors. The assessment identified existing open space provision, its condition, distribution and
overall quality, and additional needs arising from future growth, using Fields in Trust's recommended
benchmark guidelines and evaluation criteria derived from the Green Flag Award. More information
can be found in the Council’s Open Space Study, which will provide the basis for assessing proposals.

22.47 The loss of existing open space will not be permitted except in very special circumstances. All new
residential development will be required to contribute towards open space provision, by applying the
Council's standards for provision, which are based on Fields in Trust's benchmark guidelines. Open
space should be incorporated into new development from the earliest design stage, and follow Dacorum
Design Guidance.

22.48 The requirements for outdoor sports pitches and artificial grass pitches are set out under Policy DM62
- Sport and Leisure. Land used for outdoor sports pitches may contribute towards provision if there
is public access and it provides informal recreation opportunities. Facilities with restricted public
access, such as enclosed private sports facilities or fenced school playing fields (irrespective of
community use agreements) will not be considered new open space provision.

191

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 203



22.49 The NPPF gives communities the opportunity to identify Local Green Spaces (LGS) which are of
particular importance to them (paragraph 99). This land can then be protected through the designation
of local and neighbourhood plans, which affords a similar protection to that of Green Belt. However,
the current made Grovehill neighbourhood plan does not propose any LGS, although these could be
designated in future through such plans if desirable.

22.50 There is scope for the larger Growth Areas to secure enhanced provision of open space in these new
developments to both meet the needs of new residents and help address local shortfalls and alleviate
recreational pressure on sensitive landscapes such as Chilterns Beechwoods SAC.

Policy DM63 - Open Space Provision

1. The loss of designated open space will not be permitted unless:

a. there is a surplus of open space (excluding allotments) within the settlement of the proposed
development, and

b. accessibility to open space, as set out in the table below, is not compromised; or
c. the loss is mitigated through new open space being provided to an equivalent or better standard

in an accessible location; or
d. the new development is for alternative open space, sports or recreational provision, the benefits

of which clearly outweigh the loss, or
e. for allotment sites, there is a surplus of allotment sites within the settlement of the proposed

development and more than half of the plots affected have been vacant for at least two years,
in spite of convincing efforts made to let them.

2. Development to facilitate the use of open space will be permitted where it is ancillary to the purpose
of the site and is in accordance with other relevant Local Plan policies.

3. All new residential development of 25 homes or more will be required to comply with the Council's
open space provision standard of 3.2 ha per 1000 population. Where this cannot be delivered within
the development, contributions will be sought towards improving or delivering open space off-site.

4. The total area of open space to be provided will be calculated using the 3.2 ha per 1000 population
standard. The specific form and mix of provision will be determined by local open space deficiencies,
and the Fields in Trust’s recommended benchmark provision and accessibility standards 1 set out in
the table below. Details on contributions for off-site provision are set out in the Infrastructure Delivery
Plan.

5. In addition to open space, new developments of 25 homes or more, will be required to deliver play
space of 0.25 ha per 1000 population. The thresholds for the type of play provision are as follows:

a. Local Area of Play (LAP) - 25 homes;
b. Local Equipped Area of Play (LEAP) - 70 homes;
c. Youth/Multi-Use Games Area (MUGA) - 200 homes;
d. Neighbourhood Equipped area of Play (NEAP) - 500 homes.

6. New residential developments of 700 homes or more, will be required to deliver allotment or community
garden space of 0.25 ha per 1000 population, in addition to the open space and play provision
requirements set out above.

7. Further details on the requirements for each type of play provision can be found in the Open Space
SPD.

8. Table 30 Fields in Trust recommended benchmark provision and accessibility standards for
open space.

Time EquivalentAccessibilityHectares per 1,000
population

Type of Open Space

9-minute walk time710m0.80Parks & gardens

9-minute walk time720m1.80Natural & semi-natural

6-minute walk tine480m0.60Amenity green space

192

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 204



Time EquivalentAccessibilityHectares per 1,000
population

Type of Open Space

1-minute walk time100m0.25LAP (0.01)Play areas
and
provision

5-minute walk time400mLEAP
(0.04)

for young
12.5-minute walk tine1,000mNEAP (0.1)people

(minimum
activity
area ha)

9-minute walk time700mMUGA/Youth
(0.1)

N/AN/A0.25Allotments

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Open Space Study
Draft Infrastructure Delivery Plan
Beyond the Six Acre Standard Fields in Trust

Canal Fields , Berkhamsted

Community Facilities

22.51 National guidance expects Local Planning Authorities to plan positively for the provision and use of
shared space, community facilities and other local services, as part of delivering the social, recreational
and cultural services and facilities that a community needs (NPPF paragraph 92).

193

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 205



22.52 Figure 13Dacorum supports a diverse range of public and
private community facilities in its towns and
villages that are highly valued by local
communities, especially by residents who live in
rural areas or do not have ready access to
transport.

22.53 Community facilities often underpin the local,
neighbourhood and village centres in the
Borough and, in some instances, have been
declining in recent years. Planning can help
co-ordinate the provision and funding of new
facilities in accessible locations, to meet the
additional demands and needs created by
population growth and demographic change.

22.54 It can also resist, where necessary, the loss of
existing facilities arising through redevelopment and change of use, which could prove damaging to
the fabric of local communities.

22.55 This is also of concern to the Government, which has introduced the new use classes order to protect
certain community facilities from changes of use under permitted development rights by creating the
new classes of:

F.1 Learning and non-residential institutions: includes educational uses, museums, galleries,
libraries, public halls, religious buildings and courts of law; and
F.2 Local community: includes local shops, community halls, outdoor sports, swimming pools
and skating rinks.

22.56 Furthermore pubs, music venues, cinemas and concert/bingo halls now class as 'sui generis' meaning
no changes of use to or from these uses fall under permitted development.

22.57 Facilities in new development can help create community cohesion, provide essential services for
residents, and are a crucial part of effective place-making. However, it is essential that they are brought
forward in a timely fashion to meet the needs of the new occupiers as they arise. We will expect larger
Growth Areas to directly provide a range of community facilities to serve existing and new communities
and for these to be located within new local centre hubs.

Policy DM64 - Community Facilities

1. Existing community facilities will be protected, unless:

a. appropriate alternative quantity/quality of provision is made and conveniently located in relation
to the lost facility;

b. satisfactory evidence is provided to prove the facility is no longer needed in its current form or
it is no longer viable;

c. the loss may be offset by the presence of nearby facilities; or
d. the development is for an alternative community facility, the need for which clearly outweighs

the loss.
2. The re-use of a building for an alternative social or community service or facility is preferred.
3. New community facilities will be supported in principle where they do not conflict with other policies

within this Plan and where they are:

a. located in suitable locations, served by a choice of sustainable travel options;

194

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 206



b. of an appropriate scale to meet needs and are designed to allow for different activities throughout
the day; and

c. brought forward in tandem with the development to ensure they are available for the new and
existing community from the start of occupation.

4. All new development will be expected to contribute towards the provision of adequate and appropriately
located community facilities. For larger developments, this may include land and/or buildings for
public or community use.

5. Developers will be expected to provide either on-site provision, or where appropriate, a financial
contribution towards either off-site provision, or the enhancement of existing off-site facilities. Where
provision is made on-site as part of a development, applicants should detail how it will be maintained
in the long term in accordance with Policy DM65 - Community Stewardship and Management.

6. Growth Areas will deliver and contribute towards a range of local services and facilities. Detailed
requirements are set out in the relevant Delivery Strategy and Infrastructure Delivery Plan.

7. The dual or multiple use of new and existing facilities will be encouraged wherever possible. The
use of Community Use Agreements will be sought where appropriate.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Draft Infrastructure Delivery Plan

Gadebridge Park Play Area, Hemel Hempstead

Community Stewardship and Management

22.58 We support the involvement of residents and businesses in the long termmanagement and stewardship
of community assets, such as open space and community facilities. An active role for residents in
managing these assets will help deliver the social objectives of sustainable development, as set out

195

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 207



by the NPPF (paragraph 8) by building community capacity, cohesion and identity. It will also help to
secure the long-term management and maintenance of, and safeguard access to, new facilities, to
ensure our neighbourhoods remain great and vibrant places to live.

22.59 In particular this will be a requirement within Growth Areas, elsewhere Active Local Stewardship that
promotes the community ownership of land and long term stewardship of assets, alongside a role for
the Council, will be encouraged.

Policy DM65 - Community Stewardship and Management

1. Development proposals on Growth Area sites will be expected to set out a long-term strategy for the
management and maintenance of new open space and community facilities to ensure quality and
access is safeguarded for the future. Development on Growth Area sites should allow for community
and Council involvement and this should also be encouraged on smaller sites. Details of the strategy
should accompany planning applications and should include stewardship objectives and funding
arrangements.

2. Where the Council is involved in the stewardship or maintenance of a development a commuted
sum will be required.

3. The details of the strategy, including transfer arrangements, where applicable, will be secured through
a s106 Planning Obligation. Where community assets are proposed for transfer to the Council, the
agreement will require that the applicant / developer submit a management plan and maintenance
schedule for assessment against applicable rates.

Relevant Evidence and Supporting Guidance

Strategic Design Guide SPD

196

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 208



Page 209



23 Delivery Strategies

Introduction

23.1 We have prepared Delivery Strategies for each of the Borough’s towns and large villages and wider
countryside. The role of these strategies is to set out how growth and development will be managed
in each area.

23.2 Each strategy discusses key delivery requirements under a number of headings before going on to
set out a series of policies for each of the Growth Areas. Associated site allocations within the Growth
Areas can be found in the 'Proposal and Sites' chapter of the Plan. It is important that the Delivery
Strategies are read alongside the policies contained in the Guiding Development section of the Plan,
any Supplementary Planning Documents, the site specific requirements in the Proposals and Sites
section of the Plan and the infrastructure requirements set out in the Draft Infrastructure Delivery
Plan.

Supporting Growth in the Delivery Strategies

23.3 Work on identifying the type and level of future infrastructure requirements to support the Delivery
Strategies is ongoing. These requirements will be refined in the next stages of the Local Plan
process. What is identified in the Emerging Strategy for Growth reflects our current understanding
and we hope that publishing a draft Infrastructure Delivery Plan and Sustainable Transport Plans
alongside this Plan will inform discussion on the Local Plan.

23.4 Our intention is to incorporate infrastructure requirements into the relevant Growth Areas either as
standalone allocations or to be incorporated into specific Site Allocations as required when we publish
the next stage of the Plan. The delivery of infrastructure is a central objective in supporting growth
and proposed allocations are made on the basis that the required supporting infrastructure will be
delivered. Infrastructure should be delivered in a timely manner and be integrated alongside new
development.

23.5 Wewill use Memorandums of Understanding (MOUs) and other documented agreements as required
and undertake robust viability testing to ensure the sites (with the required infrastructure) remain
deliverable. If commitments on infrastructure are not forthcoming then we reserve the right to reconsider
the spatial strategy for growth, and preferred development sites, before publishing the final Plan under
Regulation 19.

198

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 210



Page 211



Hemel Hempstead Garden Communities Delivery Strategy

Introduction

23.6 The strategy for Hemel Hempstead is aligned with our wider growth approach set out in the Hemel
Garden Communities (HGC) programme. Following a bid to MHCLG's Garden Communities
programme, Hemel Hempstead was successfully awarded 'Garden Town' status in 2019 alongside
funding to help implement the proposal across both Local Authority areas.

23.7 The programme seeks to transform Hemel Hempstead into a 21st century town through ambitious
development within and around the town. The programme is defined by exemplar place-making
ambitions, that aim to create new vibrant neighbourhoods that are environmentally, socially and
economically resilient and that support changing lifestyles and working patterns, and the delivery of
priority infrastructure.

23.8 Over the Plan period (2020-2038), the authorities and key partners supporting the programme’s
delivery include Dacorum Borough Council, St Albans City and District Council, Hertfordshire County
Council, Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP), Herts IQ (which includes BRE, Rothamsted
Research and the University of Herts) and The Crown Estate (as the major landowner).

23.9 The strategy focuses on the delivery of a minimum of around 10,600 homes in and around Hemel
Hempstead, in Dacorum Borough, up to 2038. At the same time an additional 4,300 homes and land
for 8,000 jobs are being proposed to the East of Hemel Hempstead (in St Albans City and
District). Beyond 2038 there is an opportunity for at a further 5,500 homes to be delivered around
Hemel Hempstead in both St. Albans and Dacorum administrative areas (subject to a future Local
Plan review). This takes the long term development potential in and around Hemel Hempstead to
over 20,000 additional homes by 2050.

23.10 The growth and transformation of the town is guided by the Hemel Garden Communities Charter,
including a mission statement and nine charter principles. These were developed to articulate both
Councils’ ambitions, and are based on Town and Country Planning Association (TCPA) Garden City
Principles.

200

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 212



Page 213



Hemel Hempstead Housing

23.11 The Town will experience considerable growth and transformation over the Plan period. Hemel
Hempstead will accommodate at least 10,600 new homes, almost 65% of the Borough's total forecast
housing supply.

23.12 The main focus of new housing development will be within the existing urban area, particularly in and
around the Town Centre and the TwoWaters Area. Development in these areas will be higher density
to maximise opportunities for sustainable forms of travel.

23.13 The remainder of Hemel Hempstead’s housing development is provided through the North Hemel
Growth Area which will deliver a linked and integrated sustainable urban extension on a greenfield
site to the north of the town. Phase 1 (c.1,500 dwellings) is to be delivered to meet Dacorum's need
up to 2038 with further land to be removed from the Green Belt to meet longer term needs (beyond
2038). A further 4,300 dwellings is to be released to the east of Hemel Hempstead in St Albans City
and District to meet their needs (up to 2038) with a further 1,200 to meet longer term needs. In addition,
c.55ha of employment land is to be provided to the East of Hemel Hempstead (known as the Hemel
IQ Enterprise Zone) to meet the employment needs of the SouthWest Herts Authorities but principally
Dacorum and St Albans given the proximity of where the need arises.

23.14 When combined with the additional development to take place elsewhere within Hemel Hempstead,
a total of 20,000 new homes is to be be provided in and around the town up to 2050. It is essential
that all these developments contribute towards delivering the wider transformation of the town.

Hemel Hempstead Employment

23.15 Hemel Hempstead is the main employment centre in the Borough and is home to a large number of
local, national and international businesses.

23.16 Maylands Business Park on the eastern side of the town, next to M1 Junction 8, is Dacorum’s principal
employment area and is of sub-regional importance. It is home to some 700 businesses providing
around 20,000 jobs in a wide range of office, industrial and warehousing uses. Maylands is undergoing
significant development and renewal. Planning permission has been granted for new employment
development at Prologis Park phase 2 in Maylands Gateway and Spencer’s Park. The Buncefield oil
terminal is located to the east of the business park.

23.17 The Hertfordshire Innovation Quarter Enterprise Zone (Herts IQ) is a joint initiative involving both
Dacorum Borough Council and St Albans City and District Council, with delivery led by the Hertfordshire
Local Enterprise Partnership. Its aim is to attract a wide range of high value sectors linked to
environmental technologies, such as off-site construction, ‘agritech’ and digital industries. The Herts
IQ Enterprise Zone includes part of Maylands Business Park and the proposed 55 hectare East Hemel
Hempstead employment site in St Albans District.

23.18 Two Waters and Apsley also contain a number of employment areas, including a high quality office
campus at Doolittle Meadows close to Apsley station. The town centre’s role as an office centre has
declined, due largely to prior approval schemes for change of use to housing (i.e. where there is no
longer a formal requirement for planning permission). Similar losses have taken place elsewhere in
the town. We have, therefore, introduced Article 4 areas to control changes of use to housing at:

Maylands Business Park (most of the area)
Doolittle Meadows, Apsley
Whiteleaf Road, Two Waters
Park Lane (town centre)

23.19 Policy SP5 (Delivering the employment strategy) indicates that the continued development of Hemel
Hempstead as an important economic centre for the Borough is central to the Council’s employment
strategy. Within the town, the main focus in delivering the strategy will be on:

202

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 214



Supporting the knowledge-based economy, including the development of green technological
businesses in the Herts IQ Enterprise Zone.
Attracting new businesses and assisting businesses to grow, including by requiring units for
small and medium sized businesses in employment Growth Areas.
Supporting the expansion of Maylands Business Park onto the East Hemel Hempstead site in
St Albans City and District.
Retaining and developing existing employment sites that meet longer term needs for office and
industrial uses.
Encouraging offices in the town centre, the Apsley and Old Town district centres and the local
centres listed in Policy SP6.
Allocating Growth Areas for new office and industrial development land at BreakspearWay/Green
Lane/Boundary Way, Maylands Gateway (Growth Area HH20) and Two Waters Road/A41
Junction (Growth Area HH16).

23.20 Growth Area HH20 (6 ha.) is within the Herts IQ Enterprise Zone and has potential for offices as well
as industrial development. Growth Area HH16 (5 ha.) is well located to meet some of the need for
small and medium sized industrial accommodation, given its location by the A41.

23.21 The General Employment Areas (GEAs) contain the majority of Dacorum’s office and industrial
floorspace. Policy DM16 (General employment areas) designates the following GEAs in Hemel
Hempstead:

Apsley
Buncefield
Doolittle Meadows, Apsley
Maylands Business Park
Riversend Road, Two Waters
Two Waters Road/A41 Junction
Whiteleaf Road, Two Waters

23.22 Policy DM16 - General Employment Areas - shows which employment uses are acceptable on each
GEA and also sets out planning requirements for each area.

23.23 Although offices are acceptable in principle on most of the GEAs and in the town, district and local
centres, office development is not currently viable in Hemel Hempstead. Nevertheless, an element
of offices will also be sought or encouraged in the following Growth Areas:

Paradise/Wood Lane (Growth Area HH04)
Market Square (Growth Area HH05)
Hemel Hempstead Station Gateway (Growth Area HH08)
Two Waters North (Growth Area HH11)

23.24 Apart from the areas referred to above, new office and industrial development will generally be limited
to existing employment sites.

Hemel Hempstead Retail

23.25 Hemel Hempstead Town Centre was established in the 1950s and 1960s and is the hub of shopping
activity in the Borough. The main shopping area was remodelled in the 1990s to include a
pedestrianised area along Marlowes with an indoor shopping centre.

23.26 The growth at Hemel Hempstead, and across the rest of the district, will need to be supported by a
vibrant main town centre. Hemel Hempstead town centre is well established, comprises the largest
town centre in the Borough, and has been subject to significant regeneration. It will continue to be a
focus for retail, leisure and community facilities. However, the town centre must be flexible to meet
continuing changes in retail patterns and how centres are being used, particularly a growing role for
leisure, food and drink and as a focus for community and social activity.

203

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 215



23.27 The town centre will continue to be:

a high profile, sub-regional centre for shopping,leisure and community facilities;
a distinctive, "best in class", modern town centre, which is attractive, safe, sustainable and
accessible, and
providing a quality, day and evening environment in terms of leisure, retail and food and drink,
which acts as a community focus for the town.

23.28 The strategy for the town centre seeks a number of outcomes. It should be a vibrant place where
people will want to shop, work, live, learn and visit during the day and evening. it should be a place
where business and commerce are successful and where the development of new offices, civic
facilities, shops and homes are encouraged (the latter is a key part of the strategy, particularly above
ground floor). The core shopping area is busy, diverse and thriving with a growing residential
community. The Hospital site will be reconfigured to provide for modern acute health facilities and
potentially other uses including a new primary school.

23.29 A strategic movement corridor will support improved walking, cycling and public transport links to the
Station Gateway and other key destinations within the town along with the provision of a Multi Modal
Transport Interchange (MMTI) in the town centre.

Hemel Hemstead Movement

23.30 Hemel Hempstead will experience significant increases in housing and employment growth over the
plan period and it is essential that the necessary solutions are in place to manage this growth. The
transport modelling prepared to date indicates that without significant transport interventions then the
town will not be able to grow. Particular issues exist along the A414 and in and around J8 of the M1.

23.31 To address these issues we are preparing, in partnership with St Albans and Hertfordshire County
Councils, the Hemel Hempstead Sustainable Transport Strategy which will set out the strategy for
delivering the transportation improvements required to support growth but to also deliver our longer
term aspirations for modal shift. Key to this will be ensuring that genuinely convenient and high quality
transport infrastructure is in place to minimise reliance on the private car.

23.32 There are key issues to address as part of delivering new transport solutions for the town:

enhance movement within existing areas to make them more accessible through the provision
of safe, convenient walking and cycling connections particularly between the town centre,
Maylands Business Park and the railways stations;
provide substantial improvements in walking and cycling infrastructure across to facilitate modal
shift;
improve accessibility to other urban centres and new growth areas;
reduce congestion and increase capacity where appropriate and improve journey time reliability;
and
secure improvements to air quality.

23.33 The Hemel Hempstead Sustainable Transport Strategy will be geared at prioritising active and
sustainable travel to provide options for wider sustainable connectivity via train stations and priority
bus routes such as the Mass Rapid Transit Route and with long term aspirations to deliver significant
modal shift across the town. In addition to identifying four strategic corridors across the town it is to
set out a series of interventions required to support growth in and around the town and to facilitate
our longer term aspirations on modal shift. The interventions include the following:

significant improvements to Junction 8 of the M1;
a series of Multi-Modal Transport Interchanges serving Maylands and HGC
Hemel Hempstead Eastern multi-modal transport corridor connecting the town and enhancing
access to Maylands;
a network of pedestrian and cycle routes promoting connectivity across Hemel Hempstead and
to nearby settlements.

204

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 216



Hemel Hempstead Infrastructure

23.34 Given the scale of growth earmarked for the town a clear strategy for infrastructure delivery is required.
In the case of Hemel Hempstead there will town wide 'strategic' requirements and those 'local'
requirements specific to individual sites. Examples of 'strategic' infrastructure required for the town
include the town wide sustainable transport strategy requirements, set out above, this includes the
improvements to Junction 8 of the M1, the delivery of the transport corridor to the north of the town
and the other identified transport interventions listed. Other strategic infrastructure requirements will
be to offset the impact of growth on the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC and wider Ashridge Estate, be
that through the provision of Suitable Accessible Natural Green Space (SANGs) or other solution to
be agreed with Natural England.

23.35 At the more local level will be the need to deliver new schools and healthcare facilities across the
town to support growth. This not only applies to on-site provision as part of the urban extensions but
also requiring new sites within and around the town to address growth across the town. The Hemel
Garden Communities will be provided with new primary and secondary schools as an integral part of
the development. It is expected that there will be a at least 3 2/3 fe primary schools and 2 secondary
schools included in the Hemel North Growth Area and a secondary school is required in East Hemel
(in St Albans City and District area) to meet Dacorum's needs.

23.36 With regard to health care needs the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) identify that there is some
limited capacity in existing surgeries but the projected growth would absorb this and require delivery
of additional capacity. This will be addressed in the following ways:

the merging of practices into larger, locally-run groups of surgeries (Primary Care Networks) to
enhance patient care, share expertise, assets and resources, and attract additional services;
providing extended “out of hours” access at surgeries;
funding smaller projects to improve and increase access;
agreeing forward funding to support expansion at the Parkwood Drive Surgery; and
considering options to deliver new capacity through a new or expanded/relocated surgery to
serve HGC.

23.37 In respect of acute care, much of the West Herts Hospital Trust (WHHT) estate across all three sites
is in poor condition and in urgent need of investment. In July 2019 the Trust Board and Herts Valleys
CCG Board signed off on the Strategic Outline Case for ‘The Future of Hospital Services in West
Hertfordshire’. The business case identified a very strong case for change and sought funding to
progress with a preferred way forward based on retaining an acute presence on all 3 of its current
sites.

23.38 Under the preferred way forward Hemel Hempstead Hospital will provide an urgent care facility,
diagnostic services and be developed as a specialist centre for planned medical services. The current
site will be reconfigured to concentrate services into a smaller footprint, allowing part of the site to be
released for development.

23.39 A new crematorium will be provided to accommodate existing and future demand within Hemel
Hempstead and the wider area. Co-location of a new crematorium adjacent to the existing cemetery
at Bunkers Park has benefits in providing shared facilities, respects the tranquility of the area and is
a compatible use of the land .

23.40 The existing waste recycling centre within the Maylands area has been identified by the County
Council through the waste local plan as not fit for purpose and incapable of appropriate upgrading or
expansion to meet existing demand or additional demand arising from new development. A new
Waste Recycling Centre (WRC) will be provided to support the proposed level of residential
development in Hemel Hempstead.The Council’s existing depot at Cupid Green will also need to be
reviewed given the scale of growth proposed and a new facility will be required.

205

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 217



Hemel Hempstead Garden Communities and wider transformation

23.41 Hemel Garden Communities is a longterm, multi-organisation programme to deliver and sustain the
transformation of Hemel Hempstead through growth and investment in the town. To deliver these
aspirations Dacorum and St Albans have established the Hemel Garden Communities Delivery Board
(HGCDB) which operates within a framework set out in a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU).

23.42 The MOU provides a high level statement to collaborate on strategic issues between St Albans City
and District Council, Dacorum Borough Council and Hertfordshire County Council. It seeks to secure
high quality, sustainable development within the new communities and existing Hemel Hempstead
as well as ensuring the delivery of the wider programme and project objectives. This is supported by
the Governance Structure that sets out how the HGC Programme operates within the context of the
statutory duties and Powers of the principal partners. Finally are the Terms of Reference and
accompanying plans and workstreams in line with the Programme Mission Statement and Objectives
defined in the Memorandum of Understanding.

23.43 The ambition is for both the Local Plan and Garden Communities programme to be as aligned as far
as is possible but the timescale of each are not conducive. However, the former has a much longer
time horizon and a vision platform which is more holistic than those of the Local Plan. The Local Plan
will deliver those aspirations where practicable and deliverable. It will also ensure that the correct
trajectory is set for the delivery of the longer term Garden Communities aspirations, embedding as
many of the objectives and proposals as possible.

23.44 It's therefore important that the Local Plan aligns with several key workstreams of the Garden
Community Programme. These include:

The Hemel Hempstead Garden Communities Spatial Vision
The Hemel HempsteadGarden Communities Strategic Masterplan Guidance and Transformation
Plan
The Hemel Hempstead Sustainable Transport Plan
The Hemel Hempstead Garden Communities Infrastructure Delivery Plan

23.45 The Spatial Vision will set the context for the Trasformation and Strategic Masterplan Guidance which
will then inform the development of the detail Masterplans and Design Codes being prepared.

23.46 These workstreams will run alongside the preparation of the Local Plan and will be embedded within
the Plan as it develops, particularly where the outcomes have a clear spatial planning focus.

23.47 It is also important to recognise that whilst there are a number of unique aspects of the Garden
Communities programme that are drawn out in the delivery strategy other policies in the Plan are also
applicable to the development. This includes our wider aspirations on sustainability and climate
change, design and placemaking, open space and affordable housing.

Hemel Garden Communities Vision

23.48 The Local Plan sets out an overarching vision for growth in the Borough, including a spatial
interpretation for Hemel Hempstead. However, given the unique nature of the Garden Communities
Programme (in its size and transformational aspirations) it is appropriate for the delivery strategy to
develop some of the concepts further, including the visioning and objectives.

The Garden Communities mission statement:

"Supported by Garden City Principles, Hemel Garden Communities will take the best of the New
Town heritage into the 21st century with over 15,400 homes and 10,000 jobs and Hertfordshire
Innovation Quarter at its heart, anchoring the transformation of Hemel Hempstead and the wider
area."

206

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 218



23.49 To support this the Hemel Garden Communities Charter sets out nine principles which set out the
intentions for design, engagement and delivery; these are:

Principle 1 – Connective Green Infrastructure
Principle 2 – Transformative Mobility Improvements
Principle 3 – Diverse Employment Opportunities
Principle 4 – Vibrant Communities
Principle 5 – Exemplary Design
Principle 6 - Strong Corporate and Political Public Leadership
Principle 7 - Empowering Communities
Principle 8 - Innovative Approaches to Delivery
Principle 9 - Active Local Stewardship

23.50 In addition to the Charter Principles the wider programme is being informed by the Town and Country
Planning Association (TCPA) Garden Community Principles

The Spatial Vision 

23.51 The Spatial Vision has developed the Charter and TCPA Principles and developed these further to
provide a clearer set of objectives and outcomes for development within the Garden Communities.
As a result four core principles have been developed:

1. Green Routes and Places - Hemel Garden Communities will be organised around a network
of biodiverse green routes and places - spaces with purpose and meaning - which relate to
Hemel’s existing landscape character and to the ambitions of the New Town. Walking, cycling,
and sustainable public transport will be central to the lifestyles of Hemel’s communities.

2. Distinctive Neighbourhoods - Hemel Garden Communities will be made up of a series of
neighbourhoods with distinctive urban, architectural and landscape characters, each providing
an appropriate local level of facilities and amenities to support active communities. New and
existing neighbourhoods will be integrated.

3. A Sustainable Economy - As a town that pioneers green technology and sustainable
employment, Hemel Garden Communities will roll out a range of measures throughout its new
communities, and wherever possible in established ones, that put sustainable development and
green technology into practice locally with a particular focus on local supply chains and the
circular economy.

4. Culture in Communities - In line with the original aspirations of the New Towns, arts and culture
will play a strong role in the making of Hemel Garden Communities. These initiatives will be
plugged in from day one, not only generating excellent artistic works and projects but also
enabling conversations which celebrate and critique the place and how it changes as a key part
of the process, connecting up what is currently disconnected.

207

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 219



The Vision

Hemel Hempstead will embrace new development and promote pride of place and heritage, taking forward
the 1947 New Town Development Corporation motto ‘Greater, Richer, More Beautiful’. The long-term
strategy for the town is one of delivering transformational change by embracing its role as a Garden Town.

In doing so the town would have grown substantially through maximising previously developed sites across
the town and through substantial urban extensions to the town to the East and North. The growth will have
a focus on delivering a 21st century iteration of a New Town which integrates the Garden City Principles
to creating one integrated town, with distinct and highly connected neighbourhoods.

Hemel Garden Communities will be made up of a series of distinctive, intertwined neighbourhoods joined
up by a network of biodiverse routes and places that will support walking, cycling and public transport. It
will be a place that is known for its economic and cultural focus on green technologies and ‘thinking globally
and acting locally’ and also a place with an active and diverse culture. The identity of Hemel Garden
Communities will be defined by the town’s ancient origins as a chartered market town on the banks of the
Gade and Bulbourne chalk streams, by the progressive landscape-led ideas that informed its 20th century
transformation into a New Town, and by the latest thought and practice in delivering active, healthy,
engaged and sustainable communities.

The town centre would have experienced significant growth in residential development and this would
have further contributed to its regeneration. Whilst still a key location for shopping, its role would have
evolved by attracting leisure and other activities appropriate to the town centre uses; its role as a key
destination would have been strengthened as a result.

The town will provide greatly improved non-car based transport and movement for new and existing
residents, workers and visitors as well as a better quality of life and prosperity for its residents and business
community and a better experience for visitors. This will be delivered by the schemes contained in the
Hemel Hempstead Sustainable Transport Strategy.

More business and employment opportunities will be available through the expansion of Maylands Business
Park, primarily through the Herts Innovation Quarter Enterprise Zone. Community needs will be met. New
schools will be built. New cultural, leisure and sports facilities will be delivered. A new cemetery and
crematorium will also be provided to accommodate the needs of the town and the wider area; this will be
located at Bunkers Park.

New buildings will incorporate energy efficiencies and low carbon technologies with development taking
advantage of district heating or combined heat and power.

Turning the Vision into Reality

23.52 Hemel Hempstead is a diverse town with many complex and varied challenges. The issues facing
the Town Centre will be vastly different to those in the neighbourhoods; those in Maylands will vary
significantly to those challenges being grappled with in the TwoWaters Area and all of these locations
will have very different issues than those faced in the north and east Hemel Growth Areas.

23.53 The Spatial Vision is our attempt at providing an overarching framework for growth to take place but
recognising the distinctiveness of Hemel Hempstead. Whilst the Spatial Vision looks to provide
consistent visioning themes the visualisation of the Charter, TCPA principles and Spatial Visioning
in each part of the town will look different as each individual development will deliver its own bespoke
response to delivering on all of these.

208

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 220



23.54 This reflects the reality that a large number of sites coming forward will be in the urban area and on
previously developed land whereas others will be through large scale Green Belt release. As a
consequence no site will have a uniform set of development solutions contributing to the delivery of
the vision for the town. Each part of Hemel will require slightly different policy interventions and different
development sites will respond in different ways. The key issue for the strategy is that we ensure that
the sum is greater than the parts and that cumulatively the growth delivers these wider transformational
aspirations for the town.

23.55 As mentioned the Spatial Vision will provide the framework for further guidance that will be set out in
the Strategic Masterplan Framework and Transformation Plan. These principles will then feed into
detailed Masterplans and Design Codes that will be prepared for individual sites.

23.56 As these strategies develop alongside the Plan we will ensure that they are embeded into the Delivery
Strategy.

Translating the Vision

23.57 Currently the work on the Spatial Vision is progressing and this has established four core
principles that we believe flow through the all development proposals.

23.58 Sitting underneath each theme will be further principles that that will need to be encapsulated in
development across the Garden Communities, whether that is small scale windfall development in
the neighbourhoods, substantial redevelopment and high density schemes in the centre of Hemel or
large scale Green Belt releases.

23.59 These elements are detailed throughout the Plan but some (not all) have been extracted out into the
Delivery Strategy for clarity. These are not an exhaustive list and will be added to.

Delivering Great Places

Detailed Masterplans and/or Design Codes for will be prepared for prescribed developments
across Hemel Garden Communities.
All development will be designed to contribute towards the delivery of TCPA Principles, HGC
Charter principles, the four themes of the HGC Spatial Vision and high-level Strategic Masterplan
and Transformational Plan prepared by the HGC Programme, as appropriate.

Sustainable Transport and Connectivity

Development will contribute to our wider modal shift aspirations as well as seeking out
opportunities to add to and/or improve the town’s network of green infrastructure, walking and
cycling routes, including strategic and local connections and a Quietway: connections into existing
PRoW and green corridors within and into/out of Hemel Hempstead, to key destinations ensuring
neighbourhoods are integrated and well connected.
Development strengthens accessibility and movement along blue corridors including Grand
Union Canal, River Gade and Bulbourne towpaths.
Facilitate and/or contribute to the delivery of sustainable transport interventions across Hemel
Hempstead as detailed in the Sustainable Transport Strategy, supporting the role and function
of the strategic movement corridors (insert names), contributing to and/or facilitating the delivery
of a network of Multi Modal Transport Interchanges at key locations across the town (East Hemel,
Town Centre, Hemel Railway Station) and contributing towards wider modal share targets.

Local and District Centres

Support the delivery of a network of vibrant local and district centres that are adaptive to needs
and remain social, shopping, community and transport hubs that are integral to neighbourhoods
(both new and existing).

209

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 221



Promote our town centre as a vibrant and diverse hub for shopping, and other leisure uses as
well as encouraging significant increase in residential development where it would not erode its
main function as a commercial and leisure destination.
Support a cultural renaissance in the town centre and other key sites in the town centre by
delivering a net gain in art and cultural in developments.

The Environment, Biodiversity and Climate Change

Delivering on the environment, biodiversity and climate change ambitions set out elsewhere in
the Plan.

Stewardship

All new strategic scale proposals need to include a strategy for long-term management and
maintenance of community assets and public realm.
Further guidance will be developed through the Transformation and Strategic Masterplan
Guidance and then into detailed Masterplans and Design Codes that will be prepared at the
individual site level.

23.60 It is important to note that schemes within the Hemel Garden Communities area will need to not just
deliver on the aspirations laid out in the delivery strategy but also need to deliver the other policy
requirements in the Plan, as set out in the Guiding Development chapter.

Site Specific Allocations

23.61 The Local Plan makes detailed site specific allocations for growth in the town which can be found in
Policy SP14 - Delivering Growth in Hemel Hempstead and in the Proposals and Sites schedule.

Policy SP14: Delivering Growth in Hemel Hempstead

Hemel Hempstead is the focus for the majority of the Borough’s growth. The overall approach to the town
is for growth to be focused on regenerating the Town Centre, Two Waters Opportunity Area, Maylands
and the North Hemel Hempstead Growth Areas (phase 1 and 2). Growth will be comprehensively planned
and coordinated through Masterplans and Design Codes.

1. Housing Delivery: At least 10,688 dwellings will be delivered in the plan period (within Dacorum
Borough Council administrative area). The contribution of all sources of housing supply for Hemel
Hempstead is shown in the following table:
Table 31

Number of DwellingsCategory

1,873Known Commitments (April 2020)

7,105Local Plan Strategic Allocations

1,710Windfall sites

2. Growth Areas: The following table shows how new growth will be distributed in Hemel Hempstead.
Development of these sites will be supported where they are in accordance with the specific policy
requirements (Hemel Hempstead Allocations), and relevant local and national policies.
Table 32

Principally allocated for:Allocation typeGrowth Area

Around 1,550 dwellings, with public
open space;

Major urban extensionHH01 - North Hemel
Hempstead (Phase 1)

Country park;

210

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 222



Strategic link corridor (part);

Local/neighbourhood centre;

Primary school; and

Secondary school.

Around 4,000 dwellings, with public
open space;

Major urban extension - land
to be safeguarded for
development in the long term
(post 2038)

HH02 - North Hemel
Hempstead (Phase 2)

Strategic link corridor (part);

Three local/neighbourhood centres;

Two primary schools; and

Secondary school.

Around 450 dwellings, with enhanced
public open space;

Primary school; and

Town CentreHH03 - Hospital Site

New/revised hospital hub.

Around 350 dwellings, with public open
space;

Town CentreHH04 - Paradise / Wood
Lane

Employment generating uses (including
offices) at ground floor level; and

Foodbank and distribution hub with
facilities for homesless support

Retail and other town centre uses at
ground floor level; and

Town CentreHH05 - Market Square

Around 130 dwellings.

Around 200 dwellings, with public open
space.

Town CentreHH06 - Civic Centre Site

Retail and other town centre uses at
ground floor level; and

Town CentreHH07 - NCP Car Park

Around 100 dwellings.

Regeneration of existing train station
and car park;

Two Waters Opportunity
Area

HH08 - Station Gateway

Other uses including retail, food and
drink, office floorspace, and a hotel;

Multi-modal transport interchange;

211

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 223



Around 360 dwellings; and

New public realm.

Around 400 dwellings, with public open
space.

Two Waters Opportunity
Area

HH09 - National Grid Land

Around 180 dwellings, with public open
space; and Employment generating
uses (including offices) at ground floor
level.

Two Waters Opportunity
Area

HH10 - Symbio Place,
Whiteleaf Road

Around 350 dwellings, with public open
space.

Two Waters Opportunity
Area

HH11 - Two Waters North

Around 60 dwellings, with public open
space.

Two Waters Opportunity
Area

HH12 - TwoWaters / London
Road Junction

Around 170 dwellings, with public open
space.

Two Waters Opportunity
Area

HH13 - Frogmore Road

Around 10 dwellings.Two Waters Opportunity
Area

HH14 - 233 London Road

Around 30 dwellings, with public open
space.

Two Waters Opportunity
Area

HH15 - Ebberns Road

Offices, industrial warehousing -
providing around 20,000 sq. metres
gross internal floorspace.

Two Waters employment ledHH16 - Two Waters Road /
A41 Junction

Around 360 dwellings, with public open
space.

Residential ledHH17 - Cupid Green Depot

Around 250 dwellings, with public open
space; and

Around 1,400 sq.m of office floorspace.

Residential ledHH18 - Kier Park

Around 150 dwellings, with public open
space.

Residential ledHH19 - Wood Lane End

Offices, industrial warehousing providing
around 48,000 sq. metres gross internal
floorspace of offices, 24,000 sq. metres
of industrial space or a mix of the two.

Employment ledHH20 - Breakspear Way /
Green Lane / Boundary Way

Around 1,150 dwellings, with public
open space;

Community hub;

Major urban extensionHH21 - West Hemel
Hempstead

Primary School;

Gypsy and Traveller site for seven
pitches; and

Extension to Shrubhill Common Nature
Reserve.

212

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 224



Around 385 dwellings, with public open
space; and

Gypsy and Traveller site for five pitches.

Major urban extensionHH22 - Marchmont Farm

Around 90 dwellings, with public open
space.

Residential ledHH23 - Old Town / Cherry
Bounce

Around 60 dwellings, with public open
space.

Residential ledHH24 - Land at Turners Hill

Around 50 dwellings, with public open
space.

Residential ledHH25 - Land to the rear of
St. Margaret's Way/
Datchworth Turn

Around 80 dwellings, with public open
space.

Residential ledHH26 - South of Green Lane

Retail (foodstore, food and drink),
leisure and/or hotel.

Out of centre retailHH27 - Jarman Park

Leisure, cemetery and crematoriumCommunityHH28 - Bunkers Park

3. Renewal Areas: The following renewal areas are important to the delivery strategy for Hemel
Hempstead. Proposals for new development in these locations will be supported where they accord
with relevant local and national policies.
Table 33

Key PoliciesAllocation typeRenewal Area

Policy DM16 - General Employment
AreasGeneral Employment Area

HH29 - Featherbed Lane /
Two Waters Road / A41

HH30 - Maylands Business
Park

HH31 - Doolittle Meadows,
Apsley

HH32 - Whiteleaf Road

HH33 - Park Lane

Policy SP6 - Delivering the Retail and
Leisure Strategy

Town CentreHH34 - Hemel Hempstead
Town Centre

Policy SP16 - Hemel Hempstead Town
Centre

Policy DM19 - Mix of uses within Town,
District and Local Centres

Policy SP6 - Delivering the Retail and
Leisure Strategy

Policy DM19 - Mix of uses within Town,
District and Local Centres

District Centre
HH35 - Apsley

HH36 - Hemel Hempstead
Old Town

Local Centre

HH37 - Adeyfield

HH38 - Bennetts End
(Bennettsgate)

HH39 - Maylands

HH40 - Woodhall Farm

213

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 225



Policy DM20 - Neighbourhood Centres
and scattered Local ShopsNeighbourhood Centres

HH41 - Boxmoor (St. John's
Road)

HH42 - Chaulden

HH43 - Gadebridge
(Rossgate)

HH44 - Grovehill

HH45 - Highfield (Bellgate)

HH46 - Highfield (The
Heights)

HH47 - Leverstock Green

HH48 - Nash Mills (The
Denes)

HH49 - Warners End
(Stoneycroft)

All development in Hemel Hempstead should contribute towards the delivery of the Hemel Hempstead
Spatial Vision, the Hemel Hempstead Framework Masterplan Guidance and Transformation Plan, detailed
Masterplans and Design Codes, as appropriate.

214

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 226



Page 227



Hemel Hempstead Growth Areas

23.62 The expansion of Hemel Hempstead to the north and east, when built out will consist of vibrant new
mixed use neighbourhoods with a minimum of 11,000 homes, of which 3-4,000 will be affordable,
and 10,000 new jobs. 8,000 of the new jobs will be at Herts IQ, which is a 55 hectare extension to
Maylands Business Park that will attract up to 800 new businesses with a focus on high skilled
environmental technology employment, supporting the wider area’s economic and labour market
transformation.

23.63 The development will also deliver significant transport improvements in the wider area, including
connections to St Albans and across Hertfordshire. This includes improvements to Junction 8 of the
M1 and a major contribution towards the shift to sustainable modes through the development of a
new strategic transport corridor from Hemel Hempstead Station to Maylands, public transport corridors
to Park Street, St Albans Abbey Line station/St Albans City station, new multi-modal transport
interchanges and improvements to the Nickey Line strategic walk- and cycle-way (a former railway
line that links Hemel Hempstead, Redbourn and Harpenden).

23.64 The development will support the delivery of the Garden City Principles and the Hemel Hempstead
Garden Communities Charter and will deliver socially inclusive communities, particularly genuinely
affordable homes, sustainable energy infrastructure to address climate change (contributing to the
Authorities’ response to the Climate Emergency and need for decarbonisation) and creating walkable
neighbourhoods, cycling provision, local food systems, and a hub for the use of sustainable construction
methods in Herts IQ.

23.65 For clarity, the approach outlined in this Local Plan deals with those elements of the Hemel Growth
Areas that are in Dacorum Borough.

North Hemel Growth Area (Phase 1)

23.66 The North Hemel allocation is divided into two phases. The first phase to the north west will contain
in the region of 1,500 dwellings and be delivered over the Plan period together with safeguarded land
for a sustainable transport corridor. The second, north easterly phase has been removed from the
Green Belt as safeguarded land to meet longer term growth beyond the plan period.

23.67 Key issues/development requirements to be delivered and or addressed in North Hemel will be:

around 1,500 homes in Phase 1 (including provision for older people);
new employment floors space and associated jobs;
new retail development;
a strategic sustainable movement corridor linking Leighton Buzzard Road in the west to Redbourn
Road (within SADC) to the east;
provision of a new Household Waste Site and Council Depot;
primary schools;
secondary schools;
a district heating network;
Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANGS);
a network of green spaces.

North Hemel Growth Area (Phase 2)

23.68 Whilst we consider that further growth to the North of Hemel Hempstead is a sound spatial strategy
the delivery of development within the Plan period is unlikely. As such, North Hemel Hempstead
(Phase 2) is to be released from the Green Belt as part of this Plan review but will be safeguarded to
meet longer term needs. The land will not be released for development until after the Plan period or
we bring it forward through an early review of the Plan, in accordance with Policy SP9 - Monitoring
and Review.

216

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 228



23.69 Our site specific policy for the development will be refined as part of that review but it will be governed
by the overarching policies in this Plan and those for the North East Hemel Growth Areas. Other key
issues to be addressed/delivered through that review include:

around 4,000 homes;
new employment floors space and associated jobs;
a strategic sustainable movement corridor linking Leighton Buzzard Road in the west to Redbourn
Road (within SADC) to the east;
primary schools;
secondary schools;
a district heating network;
SANGS;
new local centre hubs;
network of green spaces.

Joint Working with St Albans

23.70 Given the scale of the development and its position straddling our own and St Albans’ District
administrative areas, we have been working closely with them and aim to bring forward a single and
comprehensive masterplanned solution for the area. This is also supported by Hertfordshire County
Council, the Local Enterprise Partnership and the landowners.

23.71 Together we have established the Hemel Garden Communities Delivery Board (HGCDB) which
operates within a framework set out in the agreed Memorandum of Understanding (MOU). This is
intended to provide a high level statement to collaborate on strategic issues between ourselves, St
Albans City and District Council (SADC), and Hertfordshire County Council (HCC). The MOU seeks
to:

secure a high quality, sustainable development within the new communities and existing Hemel
Hempstead, in accordance with Town and Country Planning Association (TCPA) Garden City
Principles;
ensure compliance and consistency with relevant and emerging policies and guidance from
Local to National level as well as the bid intentions;
identify the key strategic issues and ensuing work streams that will have a bearing across the
Programme and wider surrounding area;
deliver Programme work streams within agreed deadlines to support the delivery of high quality,
sustainable individual planning applications within the HGC area;
establish the infrastructure needs of the Programme and explore the mechanisms and models
for funding and delivery;
identify themechanismswithin the planning process to ensure alignment with strategic programme
aims and design quality of individual applications, such as Joint Planning Performance
Agreements (PPAs), s106 Heads of Terms, design codes and supporting planning application
documents; and
align and prioritise strategic investment priorities in support of transformative and sustainable
growth, and to champion collectively for the necessary funding.

23.72 This is supported by the Governance Structure that sets out how the HGC Programme operates within
the context of the statutory duties and Powers of the principal partners. Finally are the Terms of
Reference and accompanying plans and workstreams in line with the Programme Mission Statement
and Objectives defined in the Memorandum of Understanding.

23.73 SADC and DBC agree that it will cooperate and collaborate with DBC to:

support a programme led by HGC’s spatial vision;
support the aspirations and ambitions of the programme, including the transformation agenda,
and secure the delivery of design quality, both SADC and DBC recognise that a joint role in
securing design quality is required to secure that delivery;

217

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 229



identify all infrastructure required to support growth and work together to secure funding and
broker discussions on equalisation as appropriate;
collaborate on the preparation of the Masterplan;
secure a proportionate amount of infrastructure for Phase 1 East Hemel Hempstead ensuring
that longer terms growth requirements are factored in to these, securing equalisation across the
development as appropriate;

23.74 At the time of writing St Albans City and District Local Plan is at Examination in Public and the policy
position for the East Hemel Hempstead allocations is included. Dacorum continue to believe that the
expansion of Hemel Hempstead should be covered by a single overarching policy, with separate
policies to deal with each phase. Both Councils are actively engaged in detailed discussions under
the Duty to Cooperate on a range of matters, including the issue of a single comprehensive approach
to delivering the Hemel growth areas. The conclusions of which will be set out in respective Local
Plans where relevant and possible.

Policy SP15 - Hemel Hempstead Growth Areas

Dacorum Borough and St Albans City and District will bring forward a series of comprehensively planned
urban extension to Hemel Hempstead in accordance with a detailed Masterplan based on the framework
masterplan and transformational plan guidance.

The Masterplan (and other supporting documents) will set out how the Hemel Hempstead Growth Areas
will deliver the following:

1. high quality, sustainable development in line with the Spatial Vision, the Town and Country Planning
Association (TCPA) Garden City Principles and the principles of the Hemel Garden Communities
Charter;

2. delivers distinctive, sustainable, high quality, successful new communities with a best approach to
planning, design and management of the built and public realm

3. achieves best practice in design to build in sustainable lifestyles, such as walkable neighbourhoods
with local services and employment opportunities throughout the development.

4. beautifully and imaginatively designed homes, combining the best of town and country to create
healthy communities.

5. contributes towards the delivery of transformational change of Hemel Hempstead;
6. the delivery of 55ha of employment land at the Herts IQ as well as a wide range of other employment

opportunities elsewhere across the development and how this will support the wider area’s economic
and labour market transformation;

7. a comprehensive green infrastructure network and net biodiversity gains which enhances the
environment. The development will deliver local and strategic green infrastructure designed as
accessiblemultifunctional space andmaximise benefits such as wildlife, recreation, water management
and includes opportunities to grow food.

8. promote sustainable travel choices by delivering an integrated and accessible development with
walking, cycling and public transport prioritised as well as the transport outcomes detailed in the Hemel
Hempstead Sustainable Transport Strategy;

9. an exemplar in sustainable living with a particular focus on reducing energy consumption as well
as generating energy from renewable and low carbon sources and delivering other significant
environmental enhancement to ensure climate resilience;

10. deliver the infrastructure requirements set out in the Dacorum Local Plan Infrastructure Delivery Plan
and the North and East Hemel Hempstead Infrastructure Delivery Plan;

11. a strategy for the long-term management and stewardship of community assets in the development,
including the setting up of a HGC Stewardship Committee;

12. a mechanism for capturing and reinvesting a portion of the land value into the community;
13. deliver all other site specific requirements set out in the proposed allocation(s) HH01 and HH02.

218

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 230



The Council(s) will prepare a detailed Masterplan for the whole of the Hemel Hemsptead Growth Area(s)
and this will be adopted as an SPD. The Masterplan will be supported by Development Parcel Design
Codes which will inform subsequent planning applications. These will be prepared in collaboration with
key partners and landowners and be supported by community and stakeholder involvement.

219

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 231



Page 232



Hemel Hempstead Town Centre

23.75 Hemel Hempstead Town Centre is the hub of the Borough’s shopping and civic facilities and has
undergone regeneration in recent years, including the first phase of regeneration of the West Herts
College campus, a new civic hub housing Dacorum Borough Council offices, Hemel Hempstead
Library and local voluntary services, creation of a new bus interchange, public realm improvements,
and refurbishment and extension of pedestrian routes which have delivered a pleasant and secure
environment.

23.76 Marlowes and Waterhouse Street are significantly improved. There are good connections with the
Old Town. A walkway and cycleway runs alongside the River Gade. Green links with Gadebridge
Park, Two Waters Open Space, Paradise Fields and the Nickey Line have been enhanced. The
restoration of the Water Gardens is admired and public art promoted.

23.77 The town centre faces considerable challenges as shopping patterns change. In response to this we
have developed a strategy which will ensure the town centre remains the focal point for Hemel
Hempstead and beyond providing shopping needs but also satisfies a much more diverse range of
uses. The new Local Plan looks to continue with the strategy established in the Core Strategy but to
evolve and expand elements. A continued focus will be on securing the role and vibrancy of the centre,
with shopping remaining a central element. However, the strategy will also allow the diversification of
uses to encourage other non retail uses, including: offices, leisure and entertainment, food and drink,
cultural and hotel uses. We will also continue to encourage the evening economy and support a
significant increase in residential development as a way of reinforcing and enhancing the role of the
town centre throughout the day and night.

23.78 The focus for development in the Town Centre will be to deliver:

around 1,200 homes plus windfall development;
a primary school on the hospital site;
a new multi modal transport interchange;
improved links to the TwoWaters Opportunity Corridor, Maylands Business Park, Hemel Garden
Communities;
a better cycle and footpath network;
safeguarding office space;
reconfiguration of the Hospital site to deliver up to date health facilities and opportunity for a mix
of other uses;
to promote improvements to the public realm;
to promote district heating system for the town centre;
new housing and other uses on the former Civic Centre site; and
residential-led redevelopment of the former Market Square and bus station site.

23.79 There are significant regeneration opportunities for both the Hospital Site and the Paradise Employment
Area to provide high quality residential led development in locations that will strengthen the overall
viability of the Town Centre. These developments will deliver significant residential development
together with supporting education, health uses whilst continuing to provide smaller scale business
uses. Development in Hemel Hempstead Town Centre will be directed towards the following locations:

Hemel Hempstead Hospital Site
Paradise Employment Site
Market Square Site
Former Civic Centre Site
NCP Car Park Site

221

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 233



Policy SP16 - Hemel Hempstead Town Centre

All new development in the town centre area will be expected to contribute to securing its long term role
as a shopping, leisure and employment destination. New development will:

1. support the delivery of appropriate town centre uses, particularly securing additional retail stores
and a mix of other uses to support the retail function of the town centre, encouraging an attractive
evening economy, creating new offices, leisure, education and cultural facilities and significantly
increasing residential development;

2. achieve best practice in design to build in sustainable lifestyles;
3. be an exemplar in sustainable living with a particular focus on reducing energy consumption as well

as generating energy from renewable and low carbon sources and delivering other significant
environmental enhancement to ensure climate resilience through the delivery of district heating and
additional large-scale / high capacity renewable energy generation technologies;

4. enhance the public realm and open spaces across the Town Centre whilst encouraging increased
height and densities throughout;

5. provide active frontages, apply a co-ordinated approach to building and streetscape design, use high
quality materials to complement the existing palette and features, restore artwork and create new
complementary pieces of public art;

6. secure a Multi Modal Transport Interchange within the centre, provide better east-west links for
pedestrians, continue the riverside walk from the Plough Zone to Gadebridge Park and improve
cycling provision;

7. meet relevant opportunities for the character zones within the town centre;
8. deliver the infrastructure requirements set out in the Dacorum Local Plan Infrastructure Delivery

Plan; and
9. deliver all other site specific requirements set out in the proposed allocations HH03 - HH07.

The Council will prepare specific Development Briefs to guide development in key locations across the
Town Centre.

222

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 234



Page 235



The Two Waters Opportunity Area

23.80 The Two Waters Opportunity Area is located to the south of Hemel Hempstead town centre and is
situated between the train stations of Hemel Hempstead and Apsley. There is a varied mix of land
uses throughout the area, including: residential, light industrial, retail, office and community uses,
together with a significant amount of open green space and waterways. This mix provides a range of
facilities in close proximity to one another and encourages sustainable development by reducing the
need to travel.

23.81 The Moors, Grand Union Canal and the River Bulbourne provide valuable opportunities for recreation
and biodiversity, whilst industrial land, large retail units and strategic high volume roads dominate the
key gateways into the area, detracting attention from its character and restricting walking and cycling
movement through the car-led environment.

23.82 The area represents the most sustainable location within the town given its proximity to public transport,
retail and other facilities all of which are within easy walking distance. The area is located close to
both rail and bus services delivering excellent connectivity allowing for easy movement without reliance
on the private car.

23.83 The area will support high density development in keeping with its location in one of the most
sustainable parts of the Borough. A minimum of 1,500 homes will be provided and this create a vibrant
residential-led mixed-use area with an attractive sustainable gateway for the town at Hemel Hempstead
train station. People will be well connected through convenient walking and cycling routes, and much
improved public transport opportunities linking Hemel Hempstead train station to the town centre,
Maylands Business Park and other key destinations.

23.84 Creation of an improved Multi Modal Transport Interchange (MMTI) and other improvements at the
Station Gateway will encourage modal shift towards sustainable transport and assist with climate
change mitigation. Proximity to the MMTI will provide improved connectivity for those who live and
work in the area. A new employment area to be delivered to the West of Two Waters Road and North
of the A41 is expected to experience demand from the local light industrial market (ranging up to
50,000 sq ft), absorbing demand in the medium to long term as a secondary location to Maylands
Business Park.

23.85 The Plough Roundabout is an important gateway to the Town Centre. The public realm at the Plough
Roundabout is currently in a poor condition and also presents a constraint to pedestrian and cycle
linkage between TwoWaters, the TownCentre and other key destinations within the town. Development
within the area will be expected to contribute to improvements of the public realm across the area
with redevelopment opportunities enhancing the area as a gateway location and respecting the location
next to the moor and Corner Hall residential area.

23.86 The focus for development in the Two Waters Opportunity Area will be be to deliver:

a minimum of 1,500 homes plus windfall development;
around 5ha of new employment space along the A414/A41 junction;
a new multi modal transport interchange at Hemel Hempstead Railway Station;
a network of segregated pedestrian and cycle paths linking the area to the Town Centre and
beyond.

There are significant regeneration opportunities in the area, particularly the Station Gateway, former Gasworks
Site and Two Waters North / Magic Roundabout. These developments will deliver significant residential
development together with supporting education.

Development in the Two Waters Area will be directed towards the following sites:

The Station Gateway site
The National Grid Site
The Two Waters North (Corner Hall site)

224

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 236



The Two Waters/London Road Site
Land at Frogmore Road
Land at Ebberns Road
Land at 223 London Road
Land at Two Waters Road/A41 Junction

Policy SP17 - Two Waters Opportunity Area

Growth across TwoWaters will reflect that the area is one of the most sustainable locations in the Borough,
being close to the Town Centre and to key transport interchanges. As such it is an area where increases
in height and density will be supported, taking advantage of the area's access to services, facilities and
sustainable transport.

Housing and employment sites will be delivered in sustainable locations adjacent to public transport,
alongside new infrastructure to encourage modal shift and measures to improve air quality. Development
will also respect the character of the moors, protect wildlife sites and waterways, and provide better access
to open space. Given the scale of growth proposed in the area it will be important that this is delivered in
a considered and coordinated way. Development across the area will deliver the following:

1. high quality development residential and mixed use development of an appropriate height and density
which reflects the highly sustainable location of the opportunity area but also respects the areas
topography, townscape, views and environmental assets;

2. the delivery of 5ha of employment land east of the A41 for industrial, storage and distribution and
office use providing floorspace in addition to the saved GEA allocations and supporting the areas
economy;

3. a primary school and other community facilities;
4. significant sustainable transport infrastructure throughout the area connecting to a high-quality

transport interchange at Hemel Hempstead Train Station;
5. a revitalised gateway for the town at Hemel Hempstead Train Station, with an improved railway

station and facilities serving passengers, cyclists, pedestrians and the surrounding community, set
within an attractive and legible public realm;

6. a network of improved pedestrian and cycle connections to key destinations including the town centre
and the train stations at Hemel Hempstead and Apsley;

7. a network of enhancements to the public realm, green infrastructure (including moors and waterways),
with improved connectivity and public access provided alongside protecting key wildlife habitats and
natural heritage, including the setting and industrial legacy of the Grand Union Canal;

8. measures to reduce environmental pollution and improve air quality, particularly through the AQMA
around London Road;

9. deliver the infrastructure requirements set out in the Dacorum Local Plan Infrastructure Delivery Plan
and the Two Waters Opportunity Area Delivery Plan;

10. deliver all other site specific requirements set out in the proposed allocations HH08 - HH16.

The Two Wasters Masterplan Guidance will be updated to reflect the Plan’s priorities and adopted as an
SPD.

225

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 237



Page 238



Maylands Business Park

23.87 A central element of the strategy for Maylands is to deliver on the Council’s employment strategy.
This seeks to address the key employment issues outlined earlier in the Plan.

23.88 A key component of the strategy will be the delivery of an expanded commercial area to the East of
Maylands (in St Albans District) in the form of a new business park for the Herts IQ, alongside the
existing Maylands Business Park. Herts IQ is Hertfordshire’s Enterprise Zone, designated by the
Government in April 2017. This is a joint initiative involving both Dacorum Borough Council and SADC
with delivery being led by Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership, and will deliver a range of
facilities including flexible office and industrial spaces, as well as amenities serving the local
community. Herts IQ will support the transformation of HGC and wider South West Herts through
investment in infrastructure providing sustainable transport andmobility solutions, energy and innovative
green technologies to promote clean growth, particularly in the Herts Innovation Quarter Enterprise
Zone.

23.89 Planning in East Hemel Hempstead is further complicated by the need for close liaison with St Albans
City and District Council to ensure that Maylands Business Park grows and fulfils its potential as a
premier business location in Hertfordshire and the wider region. These issues have been explored
in detail in previous sections of the Hemel Delivery Strategy.

23.90 Elsewhere in Maylands the strategy is to focus on regenerating the employment area to create a
beacon for the town. The strategy focuses on creating an attractive environment to draw in new
employers, organisations and HQ offices. The new and emerging residential neighbourhood at
Spencer’s Park will be met with other residential opportunities in select locations in the area, including
the Heart of Maylands which will become a designated neighbourhood centre and experience further
high density mixed use and residential development. In addition, other locations on the periphery of
Maylands will also be encouraged to convert to residential development as the existing uses need to
be relocated to meet the needs of the wider town. These are exceptions to the rule and will contribute
to delivering the Council's very stretching housing requirement.

23.91 Development of Maylands will based on regeneration of the existing area but expansions will be
required. In addition to the land to the east of Maylands (up to the M1) which is being proposed for
employment uses the Council will be making further employment allocations alongMaylands Gateway.

23.92 Some facilities are very difficult to accommodate within the existing town boundary or are more sensibly
located outside. These include a multi-modal transport interchange and waste management facilities.
A key requirement for the area are improvements to the local highway network and Junction 8 of the
M1 to support the wider growth taking place in the area. These are picked up elsewhere in the strategy.

23.93 The focus for development in Maylands will be to deliver:

around 800 homes plus windfall development;
around 6 ha of new employment space along Maylands Gateway to deliver the objectives of the
Herts IQ Enterprise Zone;
a new mixed use neighbourhood centre at the Heart of Maylands;
a new multi modal transport interchange (in St Albans District); and
to secure good pedestrian, cycle and bus connections with the existing and new neighbourhoods,
community facilities and railway station.

POLICY SP18: Maylands Business Park

All new development in the Maylands area will be expected to contribute to securing its position as a high
quality, vibrant and prestigious employment centre for the wider South West Herts area.

New development will:

227

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 239



1. deliver high quality employment space and other non-B class uses that are similar in nature to B
class uses and where they strengthen the economic role of the GEA, not undermine the particular
role of the GEA as an employment and economic centre, or provide important services and facilities
that would enhance the attractiveness of the GEA as an economic centre in accordance with policy
DM16 - General Employment Areas;

2. support the delivery of the Hemel IQ Enterprise Zone to the East of Maylands, the delivery of a new
multi modal transport interchange and a new sustainable transport corridor, working with St. Albans
as appropriate;

3. support the delivery of other services and facilities that will enhance Maylands; role as a key
commercial and business location;

4. deliver a mixed use centre in the Heart of Maylands to support residents and workers;
5. deliver new high quality business space along the Maylands Gateway;
6. deliver best practice in the siting, design and appearance of commercial development having particular

regard to the importance of, building appearance, height, landscaping and streetscape;
7. deliver improvements to the Nickey Line, and seek out opportunities to improve walking and cycling

throughout the business park;
8. where appropriate provide connections to development to the East (in St Albans Disctrict);
9. support targeted residential development on key sites;
10. deliver opportunities for development areas, and all other site specific requirements set out in the

proposed allocations HH17 - HH20; and
11. deliver improvements to the public realm in accordance with theMaylands Public realm improvements.

228

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 240



Page 241



The Rest of Hemel Hempstead

23.94 Elsewhere in Hemel Hempstead development opportunities will inevitably arise through windfall
proposals, other allocations and facilitating town wide infrastructure delivery. The focus for development
in the rest of Hemel Hempstead will be to deliver:

around 1,800 homes plus windfall development;
other town wide infrastructure required to support growth.

23.95 Development in the Rest of Hemel Hempstead will be directed towards the following locations:

West Hemel Hempstead
Marchmont Farm
Land North of the Old Town
Land at Turners Hill
Land rear of St Margarets Way / Datchworth Turn
Land at Bunkers Park

230

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 242



Page 243



Berkhamsted Delivery Strategy

Introduction

23.96 Berkhamsted, including the urban area of Northchurch Parish, is a large historic market town and is
the second largest settlement in the Borough.

23.97 The settlement has good transport links, being served by mainline railway services between London
and Birmingham, as well as being adjacent to the A41 which links the town to Hemel Hempstead,
Tring and Aylesbury, and the M25.

23.98 Berkhamsted is an attractive valley town, with a rich built heritage, surrounded by the Chilterns AONB.
The town is linear in character which has strongly influenced historic growth up and along the valley
sides. Key transport links, the River Bulbourne and the Grand Union Canal all run along the valley
floor. Berkhamsted’s historic core is large, densely built-up and contains many high quality and listed
properties.

23.99 The area is served by a town centre that provides an important district, cultural and service centre
role and supports a thriving evening economy. A variety of businesses can be found in the town centre
and in the employment areas around Billet Lane/Northbridge Road.

23.100 The Settlement Hierarchy study identifies this area as one of the most sustainable towns in the Borough
as it provides a hub for a range of services and facilities for its residents and surrounding rural
hinterland. Given its size, level of facilities and transport links, the settlement should be an important
focus for meeting the Borough’s development needs.

23.101 Growth will need to be carefully managed in order to take account of existing local highway, primary
and secondary schooling, service constraints, and open space deficiencies in the town. As a
consequence, growth will be transport / accessibility and infrastructure led and be chiefly brought
forward as larger releases to help deliver these. New development will need to contribute towards
increasing capacity/upgrading local infrastructure, as appropriate.

23.102 There is no made neighbourhood plan in place to bring forward allocations.

232

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 244



Page 245



Berkhamsted Homes

23.103 At least 2,200 homes will be provided in Berkhamsted over the period 2020-2038.

23.104 Not all of the housing required can be achieved within the town boundary as opportunities are limited,
especially given its historic and densely built-up core and high townscape quality neighbourhoods.
Some 400 homes will come forward in the settlement area through identified and windfall sites.

23.105 A significant amount of future housing (around 1,870 homes) will be brought forward as urban
extensions through the following strategic Growth Areas:

Land south of Berkhamsted (850 homes)
Haslam Fields, Shootersway (150 homes)
British Film Institute site, Kingshill Way (90 homes)
Land adjacent to Blegberry Gardens (80 homes)
Rossway Farm (between Shootersway and A41) (200 homes)
Land east of Darrs Lane (200 homes)
Lock Field, New Road, Northchurch (60 homes)
Land between Bank Mill Lane and London Road (50 homes)
Land at and to the rear of Hanburys, Shootersway (70 homes)

23.106 Further residential allocations are proposed within the urban area as follows:

Former Durrants Furniture, Billet Lane (Jewson Site)
Berkhamsted Civic Centre and land to the rear of High Street
Land c/o Durrants Lane / Shootersway

23.107 The bulk of development will chiefly be delivered as a planned new neighbourhood to the south and
west of Berkhamsted. This broad location of growth will minimise the impact on the sensitive landscape
surrounding the settlement, provide for a more balanced east-west growth to the town, and limit impact
on the better performing Green Belt areas. The new neighbourhood will need to be sensitively designed
given its proximity to the Chilterns AONB, including the retention and enhancement of landscaping
and the careful siting and design of development given the neighbourhood's mainly valley-side/ridge
line location.

23.108 The strategic Growth Areas will be of a mix of sizes. The South Berkhamsted Growth Area is the
largest of these and will enable the delivery of a full range of housing, including a significant number
of much needed affordable homes, and specialist accommodation for older people. The housing will
be supported by other local facilities for the new residents, such as a community hub, new primary
schooling, open space and allotments.

23.109 These Growth Areas will come forward in a comprehensive, cohesive and co-ordinated manner. Their
scale offers benefits for infrastructure co-ordination and delivery, enabling a fuller range of site and
town-wide infrastructure needs to be considered and planned for, especially the need for two 2FE
primary schools, a 6FE secondary school and significant levels of formal and informal open space.
The strategic sites offer an opportunity to provide additional facilities for the new and existing residents
through the creation of a community hub and in dual/community use of the associated new schools
and their playing fields.

23.110 The loss of the playing pitches associated with the Haslam Fields Growth Area will need to be replaced.
Berkhamsted School who are the landowners, have identified replacement sports facilities on their
Haresfoot campus on the edge of the town which will need to be secured as a linked allocation (Growth
Area Cy04).

23.111 The key objectives for the new neighbourhood are set out below:

to create a new comprehensively planned neighbourhood as a mixed use urban extension to
the south-east and south west of the town;

234

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 246



to integrate new development with the existing built-up area of Berkhamsted;
site layouts and design should also take account of long-distance views to the Chiltern Hills and
its valley-side location;
the Growth Areas will secure the delivery of transportation schemes identified in the Berkhamsted
and Tring Sustainable Transport Strategy, including improved pedestrian and cycle links to the
town centre/railway station;
to provide green corridors linking development with the surrounding communities and wider
countryside;
to deliver a mix of market and affordable housing, new community facilities, including two primary
schools and a secondary school, local centre hub, and a hierarchy of open spaces; and
where relevant, to provide a noise buffer to the A41.

23.112 Given the new neighbourhood involves multiple mixed-use allocations, an overall masterplanning
approach will be essential to ensure a co-ordinated and comprehensive approach to development,
and to guide phasing of these strategic sites.

Berkhamsted Employment

23.113 The Employment Land Study recommends that the existing employment areas are safeguarded for
this purpose given that these sites are well occupied and they represent Berkhamsted’s main
employment locations. The emphasis will be on protecting the diverse range of business activities
they support and potential opportunities for other related uses there, in order to maintain a reasonable
balance between new homes and jobs.

23.114 However, there may be small-scale employment opportunities within the proposed local centre hub
of the South Berkhamsted Growth Area (Bk01).

Berkhamsted Retail

23.115 The key district shopping and service role of the town centre will be maintained and diversified, and
planned and natural growth in the town should help boost overall levels of spend there. In reality, the
town centre benefits from residents with generally high levels of disposable income, low property
vacancy rates, an attractive historic environment, and a thriving evening economy. We will take
opportunities to improve public transport provision and the general connectivity of the town centre.
The completion of the multi-storey car park on Lower Kings Road will add to the supply of spaces
and ease parking pressures for shoppers, visitors and workers. Furthermore, the town centre library
has been recently relocated and upgraded.

23.116 The retail foodstore allocation at Gossoms End (Growth Area Bk13) already benefits from planning
permission and should help meet the need for additional food floorspace, albeit in an out of centre
location. In addition, the the South Berkhamsted Growth Area (Bk01) offer the opportunity to secure
small-scale shopping facilities within a local centre hub.

23.117 The local centre at Northchurch, other scattered shops within the neighbourhoods and petrol filling
stations all provide a valuable service to residents and passing trade to meet their day-to-day shopping
needs, complementing the retail role of the town centre.

Berkhamsted Movement

23.118 As a settlement area, the County Council consider that Berkhamsted already has a sustainable
transport network in place. There is an excellent mainline railway service to London and the town
forms part of a key inter-urban Aylesbury-Hemel-Watford bus route. However, they identify congestion
as a key challenge in Berkhamsted resulting in constrained roads, difficulties with bus movements,
and limited cycling infrastructure.

235

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 247



23.119 There are few opportunities for new road capacity in the town. The careful location of new development
and promoting opportunities for sustainable travel, will in part help tackle a number of parking and
traffic issues. The completion of the multi-storey car park on Lower Kings Road (327 spaces) will also
increase the availability of parking spaces in the town centre.

23.120 Given their ‘edge of town’ locations, the strategic Growth Areas will need to focus on ensuring they
are well connected, accessible to the town centre and railway station, and public and sustainable
transport options are enhanced. All Growth Areas will be required to provide for on and off-site
measures to alleviate local highway problems.

23.121 We have prepared the Berkhamsted and Tring Transport Strategy which identifies the existing issues
in the town and what interventions are required to accommodate growth. This has been published
separately but the main proposals will be integrated within relevant site requirements for the Growth
Areas included within the Local Plan.

23.122 Network Rail has highlighted that growth in the town will require improvements to the station capacity,
including, for example, new cycle parking and the upgrading of buildings. They will be seeking
contributions from new development in order to ensure these upgrades are delivered.

23.123 The High Street, Northchurch is designated as an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) with
monitoring in recent years indicating that air quality in this location has improved and not exceeded
the set thresholds. We are developing an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) for the AQMA that will identify
a variety of actions and mitigation measures. The policies of the Plan will be used to support delivery
of these action and mitigation measures and to improve air quality generally in the town. New
developments will be carefully assessed for their impact on the AQMA and emission reduction
measures will be sought in accordance with the AQAP, as appropriate.

Berkhamsted Education 

23.124 The expansion of Berkhamsted will require the creation of additional primary and secondary school
places. In particular, Ashlyns School is the only secondary school serving the town and is currently at
capacity.The need for additional schooling equates to a new 6FE secondary school and two new 2FE
primary schools. Further discussion will take place with the County Council on the most appropriate
location for new schools and land will be safeguarded through a future allocation.

23.125 Growth Area Bk01 is of a sufficient scale to accommodate a new primary school. We are exploring
with the County Council an area of search within the west of Berkhamsted growth location for
accommodating a primary and secondary school. This will be subject to detailed technical assessments
to identify, in particular, any issues that could have a bearing on the deliverability of a secondary
school. We will continue to work with the County Council on this matter to ensure these detailed issues
are factored into the growth strategy for the town.

23.126 The independent school sector also plays an important educational and community role in the town.
Berkhamsted School operate chiefly from a number of sites in and around the town centre. Egerton
Rothesay School caters for pupils with specialist educational needs and serves a wide area beyond
the town. In principle we will help support this role through the Local Plan.

Site Specific Allocations

23.127 The Local Plan makes detailed site specific allocations for growth in the town which can be found in
Policy SP19 - Delivering Growth in Berkhamsted and in the Proposals and Sites schedule.

236

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 248



Delivering Growth in Berkhamsted

Policy SP19 - Delivering Growth in Berkhamsted

The overarching priority for Berkhamsted is to deliver comprehensively planned new communities to the
south and west of the town.

1. Housing Delivery: At least 2,236 dwellings will be delivered in the plan period. The contribution of
all sources of housing supply for Berkhamsted are shown in the following table:
Table 34

Number of DwellingsCategory

143Known Commitments (April 2020)

1,876Local Plan Strategic Allocations

217Windfall sites

2. Growth Areas: The following table shows how new growth will be distributed in Berkhamsted.
Development of these sites will be supported where they are in accordance with the specific policy
requirements (Berkhamsted Allocations), and relevant local and national policies.
Table 35

Principally allocated forAllocation typeGrowth Area

Around 850 dwellings, with public open
space;

Community hub; and

Major urban extensionBk01 - South of Berkhamsted

Primary School.

Around 90 dwellings, with public open
space

Major urban extensionBk02 - British Film Institute

Around 150 dwellings, with public open
space

Major urban extensionBk03 - HaslamPlaying Fields

Around 70 dwellings, with public open
space

Major urban extensionBk04 - Land between
Hanburys and A41

Around 80 dwellings, with public open
space

Major urban extensionBk05 - Blegberry Gardens

Around 200 dwellings;

Land for a new secondary school; and

Major urban extensionBk06 - East of Darrs Lane

Public park.

Around 60 dwellings, with public open
space.

Major urban extensionBk07 - Lock field,
Northchurch

Around 200 dwellings, with public open
space.

Major urban extensionBk08 - Rossway Farm (Land
between Shootersway and
A41)

Around 50 dwellings, with public open
space.

Major urban extensionBk09 - Bank Mill Lane

Around 40 dwellings, with public open
space.

Major urban extensionBk10 - Hanburys,
Shootersway

237

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 249



Around 40 dwellings, with public open
space.

Urban regeneration areaBk11 - Billet Lane (Jewson
site)

Replacement Civic Centre;Town Centre regeneration
area

Bk12 - Berkhamsted Civic
Centre and land to the rear
of High Street Around 16 dwellings; and

Other town centre uses, where
appropriate.

Around 30 dwellings; andUrban regeneration areaBK13 - Gossoms End / Billet
Lane

Foodstore at ground floor level.

3. Renewal Areas: The following renewal areas are important to the delivery strategy for Berkhamsted.
Proposals for new development in these locations will be supported where they accord with relevant
local and national policies.
Table 36

Key PoliciesAllocation typeRenewal Area

Policy DM16 - General Employment
AreasGeneral Employment Area

Bk14 - Northbridge Road

Bk15 - River Park

Policy SP6 - Delivering the Retail and
Leisure Strategy

Town CentreBk16 - Berkhamsted Town
Centre Policy DM19 - Mix of uses in Town,

District and Local Centres

Delivering Growth in the South of Berkhamsted

23.128 The expansion of Berkhamsted to the South represents the single largest allocation in the town. When
built out it will consist of a vibrant new neighbourhood of around 1,000 homes spread across several
sites. It is the fact that growth will come forward on several sites which requires a cohesive approach
which binds these elements together.

23.129 The development will deliver socially inclusive communities, particularly genuinely affordable homes,
sustainable energy infrastructure to address climate change (contributing to our response to the
Climate Emergency and need for decarbonisation), create walkable neighbourhoods and enhanced
cycling provision. There is a need to bring forward a Masterplan for the area which delivers the
following:

23.130 Key issues/development requirements to be delivered and or addressed in South Berkhamsted:

around 1,000 homes (including provision for older people);
new retail development;
primary schools;
a district heating network; and
network of green spaces, including the delivery of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace
(SANG) if required.

238

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 250



Policy SP20: Delivering Growth in South Berkhamsted

DBC will bring forward a comprehensively planned urban extensions to Berkhamsted in accordance with
a Masterplan led approach and based on the Town and Country Planning Association (TCPA) Garden
City Principles. The Masterplan will be prepared by the Council and adopted as an SPD working in
collaboration with key partners and landowners and be subject to community and stakeholder involvement.

The Masterplan will be supported by Development Parcel Design Codes which will inform planning
applications.

The Masterplan (and other supporting documents) will set out how the South Berkhamsted extensions
will deliver the following:

1. distinctive, sustainable, high quality, successful new communities with a best approach to planning,
design and management of the built and public realm.

2. achieves best practice in design to build in sustainable lifestyles, such as walkable neighbourhoods
with local services and employment opportunities throughout the development.

3. beautifully and imaginatively designed homes, combining the best of town and country to create
healthy communities.

4. a comprehensive green infrastructure network and net biodiversity gains which enhances the
environment. The development will deliver local and strategic green infrastructure designed as
accessiblemultifunctional space andmaximise benefits such as wildlife, recreation, water management
and includes opportunities to grow food.

5. promote sustainable travel choices by delivering an integrated and accessible development with
walking, cycling and public transport prioritised as well as the transport outcomes detailed in the
Berkhamsted Transport Strategy.

6. an exemplar in sustainable living with a particular focus on reducing energy consumption as well
as generating energy from renewable and low carbon sources and delivering other significant
environmental enhancement to ensure climate resilience.

7. deliver the infrastructure requirements set out in the Dacorum Local Plan Infrastructure Delivery
Plan for Berkhamsted.

8. deliver all other site specific requirements set out in the proposed allocation(s) Bk01, Bk02, Bk03,
Bk04, BK09, Bk10.

The Council will prepare the Masterplan for the whole of the South Berkhamsted Growth Area and this
will be adopted as an SPD. The Masterplan will be supported by Development Parcel Design Codes which
will inform subsequent planning applications. These will be prepared in collaboration with key partners
and landowners and be supported by community and stakeholder involvement.

Delivering Growth in the West of Berkhamsted

23.131 The expansion of Berkhamsted to theWest represents a further large scale extension of the allocation
in the town. When built out it will consist of vibrant new neighbourhood of around 500 homes. It is the
fact that growth will come forward on a number of sites which requires a cohesive approach which
binds these elements together.

23.132 The development will deliver socially inclusive communities, particularly genuinely affordable homes,
sustainable energy infrastructure to address climate change (contributing to the Authorities’ response
to the Climate Emergency and need for decarbonisation) and creating walkable neighbourhoods and
enhanced cycling provision. There is a need to bring forward a Masterplan for the area which delivers
the following:

23.133 Key issues/development requirements to be delivered and or addressed in West Berkhamsted:

around 500 homes;

239

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 251



primary schools;
a new secondary school;
a district heating network; and
network of green spaces, including the delivery of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace
(SANG) if required.

Policy SP21: Delivering Growth in the West of Berkhamsted

The council will bring forward a series of comprehensively planned urban extensions to Berkhamsted in
accordance with a Masterplan led approach and based on the Town and Country Planning Association
(TCPA) Garden City Principles. The Masterplan will be prepared by the Council and adopted as an SPD
working in collaboration with key partners and landowners and be subject to community and stakeholder
involvement.

The Masterplan will be supported by Development Parcel Design Codes which will inform planning
applications.

The Masterplan (and other supporting documents) will set out how the West Berkhamsted extensions will
deliver the following:

1. distinctive, sustainable, high quality, successful new communities with a best approach to planning,
design and management of the built and public realm.

2. achieves best practice in design to build in sustainable lifestyles, such as walkable neighbourhoods
with local services and employment opportunities throughout the development.

3. beautifully and imaginatively designed homes, combining the best of town and country to create
healthy communities.

4. a comprehensive green infrastructure network and net biodiversity gains which enhances the
environment. The development will deliver local and strategic green infrastructure designed as
accessiblemultifunctional space andmaximise benefits such as wildlife, recreation, water management
and includes opportunities to grow food.

5. promote sustainable travel choices by delivering an integrated and accessible development with
walking, cycling and public transport prioritised as well as the transport outcomes detailed in the
Berkhamsted and Tring Transport Strategy.

6. an exemplar in sustainable living with a particular focus on reducing energy consumption as well
as generating energy from renewable and low carbon sources and delivering other significant
environmental enhancement to ensure climate resilience.

7. deliver the infrastructure requirements set out in the Dacorum Local Plan Infrastructure Delivery
Plan for Berkhamsted.

8. deliver all other site specific requirements set out in the proposed allocation(s) Bk05, Bk06 and Bk08.

The Council will prepare the Masterplan for the whole of the West Berkhamsted Growth Area and this will
be adopted as an SPD. The Masterplan will be supported by Development Parcel Design Codes which
will inform subsequent planning applications. These will be prepared in collaboration with key partners
and landowners and be supported by community and stakeholder involvement.

240

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 252



Page 253



Tring Delivery Strategy

Introduction

23.134 Tring is a market town in the northwest of the Borough and is the third largest settlement in the
Borough.

23.135 The town is surrounded by the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and set within the Tring
Gap foothills, between the low-lying Aylesbury Vale and the northwest face of the Chiltern escarpment.
The mainline station is some distance to the east of the town at Tring Station, together with the Grand
Union Canal which runs north east passing close to the Tring Reservoirs Site of Special Scientific
Interest (SSSI).

23.136 Tring has a backdrop of architecturally rich buildings typical of the Rothschild style. The town centre
has a strong individual character with many shops and small businesses along the High Street and
alleyways. There is also a variety of employment areas, the largest being Icknield Way Industrial
Estate to the west, and the town has a medium sized grocery supermarket on the edge of the town
centre. Tring Park is an important green infrastructure asset close to the town and there are playing
fields and other sports facilities to the west of the town.

23.137 The Settlement Hierarchy Study identifies Tring as one of the most sustainable towns in the Borough
as it provides a hub for a range of services and facilities for its residents and surrounding rural
hinterland. Given its size, level of facilities and transport links, the settlement should be an important
focus for meeting the Borough’s development needs.

23.138 Growth will need to be carefully managed in order to take account of existing local highway, sustainable
transport, primary and secondary schooling requirements, service constraints, and open space
deficiencies in the town. As a consequence, growth will be sustainable transport / accessibility and
infrastructure led and be chiefly brought forward as larger releases to help deliver these. New
development will need to contribute towards increasing capacity/upgrading of local infrastructure, as
appropriate.

23.139 Growth at Tring will also need to be sensitive in its design and landscape to the surrounding landscape
and heritage context, including the Chilterns AONB, and protecting and enhancing the market town
attributes of the town centre, including its shopping and service role.

23.140 There is no made neighbourhood plan in place to bring forward allocations.

242

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 254



Page 255



Tring Homes

23.141 Tring will deliver around 2,730 dwellings over the period 2020 - 2038. Some 457 homes will come
forward through other identified commitments and windfall sites within the settlement area. Not all of
the housing required can be provided within the existing town boundary as the opportunities are
limited, especially given its historic core and lack of significant and available brownfield sites.

23.142 A significant amount of the future housing (around 2,200 dwellings) will be delivered as urban
extensions through the release from the Green Belt of the following strategic sites:

East of Tring (1,400 dwellings)
New Mill (400 dwellings)
Dunsley Farm (400 dwellings)

23.143 The bulk of development will be delivered as a planned new neighbourhood to the east of Tring
between Station Road and Bulbourne Road. The neighbourhood will adjoin the CAONB on its eastern
and southern boundaries, but separated by the Grand Union Canal and Station Road respectively.
Development will nevertheless need to be sensitively designed and laid out to respect the setting of
this important landscape designation, including in long distance views from the east. This will include
significant green infrastructure provision in the form of open space and an ecological buffer to the
GUC, and a connecting corridor of open space through to Grove Road.

23.144 A further planned neighbourhood will be delivered to the south east of Tring at Dunsley Farm (some
400 dwellings) which will include a primary school and business hub. It also adjoins the Chilterns
AONB on its southern and eastern boundaries, and again will need to be sensitively designed and
laid out with significant public open space.

23.145 The strategic sites are of a scale that they can deliver a range of housing to meet all life stages,
including significant affordable housing and other specialist accommodation. Housing will be supported
by necessary local facilities such as shops, health and other community facilities, new schools,
significant new public open space, and new and improved sustainable transport links to Tring Station,
the town centre and surrounding neighbourhoods.

23.146 The strategic sites will come forward in a comprehensive, cohesive and co-ordinated manner. Their
scale offers benefits for infrastructure co-ordination and delivery, enabling a fuller range of site and
town-wide infrastructure needs to be considered and planned for that would otherwise not be possible,
especially the need for two 2FE primary schools, a 6FE secondary school and significant levels of
formal and informal open space. The strategic sites offer an opportunity to provide additional facilities
for the new and existing residents through the creation of a neighbourhood centre / community hub
and through dual / community use of the associated new schools and their playing fields.

The key objectives for the new neighbourhoods are set out below:

create new comprehensively planned neighbourhoods as mixed use urban extensions to the
south and east of the town;
integrate new development with the existing built-up area of Tring in terms of sustainable transport
connections, open space and urban grain / morphology;
provide significant ecological and open space buffers to the GUC and the hamlet of Bulbourne,
with a connecting corridor of open space to Grove Road, and a buffer of open space along
Station Road;
provide open space / green corridors linking the development with adjoining recreational open
space at Tring Park Cricket Club and Tring Rugby and Football Clubs and open countryside to
the south;
protect and enhance the existing wildlife site at Cow Farm and/or provide for its translocation;
take account of the Chilterns AONB setting, including long-distance views of the sites from the
Chiltern Hills to the south and east in respect of the site layout, design and landscaping;
secure the delivery of a local north-south distributor road between Bulbourne Road and London
Road;

244

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 256



provide and support new and improved pedestrian and cycle links to the town centre and Tring
Station;
deliver a mix of market and affordable housing, new community facilities, two new primary
schools and a secondary school, a new business hub, a local neighbourhood hub, and a hierarchy
of open spaces; and
include screen planting along London Road and ensure appropriate buffer / noise mitigation to
the A41.

Tring Employment

23.147 There are currently three General Employment Areas (GEAs) in Tring: Icknield Way Industrial Estate,
Akeman Business Park and Brook Street (Silk Mill Business Park). Icknield Way Industrial Estate is
the largest and most modern of these GEAs. We will safeguard the Icknield Way and Brook
Street GEAs for employment purposes. This is in order to preserve residential amenity and maintain
the supply of employment land in the town in accordance with the recommendations of the Employment
Land Availability Assessment (October 2017). However, the assessment considered that the Akeman
Business Park wasmore constrained, andmost of the site has been lost to residential through permitted
development rights. Therefore, we will no longer identify this site for employment purposes.

23.148 With the proposed growth of Tring, there is a need to balance population expansion with new
employment floorspace in the town in order to provide local job opportunities and to limit the potential
for out-commuting. The release of Dunsley Farm Growth Area provides the opportunity for a sizable
element of additional employment floorspace (offices/industrial/warehousing) on a part of the site.
This builds on the existing commercial uses there, including the Tring Brewery, and provides scope
for new small to medium sized business units. It could also help maximise the opportunity for employee
trips to the town centre, helping to support the centre's vitality and viability.

Tring Retail

23.149 There is no requirement for significant new non-food floorspace in the town, but additional convenience
food floorspace is required given the degree to which existing large stores are over-trading. Our
preference is for a new foodstore to be located within the existing town centre. We are exploring the
feasibility of this through a site on High Street / Brook Street (Growth Area Tr06). However, we
recognise that there may be delivery issues here, and if a scheme cannot be brought forward, we will
support additional retail floorspace at Dunsley Farm (Growth Area Tr01) as the best alternative
location.

Tring Movement

23.150 As a compact market town, most residential areas of Tring are easily accessible to the town centre
by foot or bicycle and the town is served by a number of bus services giving both access to the town
centre and inter town connections. Tring has a mainline railway station. However, this is not well
located in relation to the town centre, being some 2 km away. Whilst there is a shared footway and
cycle path along Station Road there is a need to upgrade the route to encourage its use.

23.151 With the exception of one or two congestion points such as Brook Street, due to inter urban commuting
patterns, Tring does not suffer significant problems as the road network across town is fairly permeable.

23.152 The careful location of new development and promoting opportunities for sustainable travel, including
improved cycle and pedestrian routes and bus services, will contribute in a significant way to making
the town more accessible in ways that do not rely on motorised transport. It is important to minimise
road going trips to limit congestion and promote walkable neighbourhoods.

23.153 Existing housing growth to the west of Tring will deliver a new east-west shared cycle and footpath
that will link the existing and proposed residential neighbourhoods to the wider cycle and footpath
network at the A41 roundabout and beyond to Aston Clinton. Other improvements are proposed there
that will upgrade public rights of way and improve accessibility to buses.

245

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 257



23.154 We have prepared the Berkhamsted and Tring Transport Strategy which identifies the existing issues
in the town and what interventions are required to accommodate growth. This has been published
separately but the main proposals will be integrated within relevant site requirements included within
the the Local Plan.

23.155 Development of the Strategic Sites has the potential to deliver a new north-south link road between
Bulbourne Road and Station Road which could help address congestion blackspots and improve
traffic movements around Tring. An important requirement will be significant improvements to the
existing cycle path along Station Road with its extension to the train station given a high priority,
alongside exploring the potential for pedestrianisation and traffic calming measures in Tring Station.
The LTP 4 (2018-31) identifies Tring as a potential Cycle Infrastructure Improvement Town where
the County Council aims to deliver a step change in cycling.

23.156 The creation of connecting pedestrian and cycle routes from the new housing areas will ensure the
greatest potential for creating sustainable neighbourhoods and promoting modal shift. All strategic
sites will be required to provide for on and off-site measures to alleviate local highway problems.

23.157 There is the potential for an increased demand for car parking at Tring Station. Proposals for a new
cycle path from Pitstone to Tring Station will help ensure an element of modal shift for commuters
from Pitstone and join up with the existing facility on Westfield Road. Nevertheless an assessment
of parking demand and mitigation measures should accompany the development of Growth Area
sites.

Tring Education 

23.158 New growth in the town, in particular to the east will put pressure on existing and currently proposed
school capacity. As such, two new primary schools and a secondary school will be delivered through
the Growth Areas at East of Tring (Growth Area Tr03) and Dunsley Farm (Growth Area Tr01) to meet
this longer term need which will include provision for associated playing fields.

23.159 There may also be a need for further school capacity and facilities on other school sites in the town,
including private schools. Planning policy will be applied sensibly to allow for on-going investment
and improvement to school capacity having regard to other policy such as Open Land ('Policy DM38
- Open Land') to ensure that the wider interests of the town are met.

Site Specific Allocations

23.160 The Local Plan makes detailed site specific allocations for growth in the town which can be found in
Policy SP22 Delivering Growth in Tring and the Proposals and Sites Schedule.

Delivering Growth in Tring

Policy SP22 - Delivering Growth in Tring

The overarching priority for Tring is:

1. Housing Delivery:At least 2,731 dwellings will be delivered in the Plan period. The contribution of
all sources of housing supply for Tring are shown in the following table:
Table 37

Number of DwellingsCategory

313Known Commitments (April 2020)

2,274Local Plan Strategic Allocations

144Windfall sites

246

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 258



2. Growth Areas: The following table shows how new growth will be distributed in Tring. Development
of these sites will be supported where they are in accordance with the specific policy requirements
(Tring Allocations), and relevant local and national policies.
Table 38

Principally allocated forAllocation typeGrowth Area

Around 400 dwellings, with public open
space;

Major urban extensionTr01 - Dunsley Farm

5.4ha of new employment land
(equivalent to 21,600 sq.m of
floorspace); and

A primary school.

Around 400 dwellings, with public open
space.

Major urban extensionTr02 - New Mill

Around 1,400 dwellings, with public
open space;

Major urban extensionTr03 - East of Tring

Neighbourhood centre;

Sports/community hub;

Primary school; and

Secondary school.

Around 50 dwellings.Residential ledTr04 - Icknield Way

Around 24 dwellings, with public open
space.

Residential ledTr05 - Miswell Lane

Retail led development, including a
medium or large supermarket;

Town Centre regeneration
area

Tr06 - High Street / Brook
Street

Food and drink, and leisure uses;

Car parking, including at least as many
public parking spaces as at present;

Replacement of Local History Museum
within the new development; and

Offices or housing above retail
development and on the Brook Street
frontage.

3. Renewal Areas: The following renewal areas are important to the delivery strategy for Tring.
Proposals for new development in these locations will be supported where they accord with relevant
local and national policies.
Table 39

Key PoliciesAllocation typeRenewal Area

Policy DM16 - General Employment
AreasGeneral Employment AreaTr07 - Brook Street

247

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 259



Key PoliciesAllocation typeRenewal Area

Tr08 - Icknield Way

Policy SP6 - Delivering the Retail and
Leisure Strategy

Town CentreTr09 - Tring Town Centre Policy DM19 - Mix of uses in Town,
District and Local Centres

Policy DM20 - Neighbourhood centres
and scattered Local Shops

Neighbourhood CentreTr10 - Miswell Lane (and
Western Road)

East Tring Growth Area

23.161 The expansion of Tring to East represents the single largest combined allocations in the town and
one of the largest growth areas in the Borough. When built out it will consist of vibrant new
neighbourhood of around 1,800 homes spread across two sites. It is the fact that growth will come
forward over a long period of time, across multiple sites and in a sensitive location which requires a
cohesive approach which binds these elements together.

23.162 The development will deliver socially inclusive communities, particularly genuinely affordable homes,
sustainable energy infrastructure to address climate change and creating walkable neighbourhoods
and enhanced cycling provision. There is a need to bring forward a Masterplan for the area which
delivers the following:

around 1,800 homes (including provision for older people);
a primary school;
a secondary school;
a new sporting and leisure hub; and
a network of green spaces, including the delivery of Suitable Alternative Greenspace (SANG)
if required.

Policy SP23: Delivering Growth in East Tring

DBC will bring forward a series of comprehensively planned urban extension to the East of Tring in
accordance with a Masterplan led approach and based on the Town and Country Planning Association
(TCPA) Garden City Principles. The Masterplan will be prepared by the Council and adopted as an SPD
but be prepared in collaboration with key partners and landowners and be subject to community and
stakeholder involvement.

The Masterplan will be supported by Development Parcel Design Codes which will inform planning
applications.

The Masterplan (and other supporting documents) will set out how the south and east Tring extensions
will deliver the following:

1. distinctive, sustainable, high quality, successful new communities with a best approach to planning,
design and management of the built and public realm;

2. achieves best practice in design to build in sustainable lifestyles, such as walkable neighbourhoods
with local services and employment opportunities throughout the development;

3. beautifully and imaginatively designed homes, combining the best of town and country to create
healthy communities;

248

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 260



4. a comprehensive green infrastructure network and net biodiversity gains which enhances the
environment. The development will deliver local and strategic green infrastructure designed as
accessiblemultifunctional space andmaximise benefits such as wildlife, recreation, water management
and includes opportunities to grow food;

5. promote sustainable travel choices by delivering an integrated and accessible development with
walking, cycling and public transport prioritised as well as the transport outcomes detailed in the
Berkhamsted and Tring Transport Strategy;

6. an exemplar in sustainable living with a particular focus on reducing energy consumption as well
as generating energy from renewable and low carbon sources and delivering other significant
environmental enhancement to ensure climate resilience;

7. deliver the infrastructure requirements set out in the Dacorum Local Plan Infrastructure Delivery Plan
for Tring; and

8. deliver all other site specific requirements set out in in the proposed allocation(s) Tr02 and TR03.

The Council will prepare the Masterplan for East Tring Growth Area and this will be adopted as an SPD.
The Masterplan will be supported by Development Parcel Design Codes which will inform subsequent
planning applications. These will be prepared in collaboration with key partners and landowners and be
supported by community and stakeholder involvement.

South East Tring Growth Area

23.163 The expansion of Tring to South East represents the second largest allocation in the town and one
of the largest growth areas in the Borough. When built out it will consist of a mixed use development
containing approximately 400 new homes, a primary school and a new employment and retail district.
The fact that growth will come forward over a long period of time, across multiple sites and in a
sensitive location requires a cohesive approach which binds these elements together.

23.164 The development will deliver socially inclusive communities, particularly genuinely affordable homes,
sustainable energy infrastructure to address climate change (contributing to the Authorities’ response
to the Climate Emergency and need for decarbonisation) and creating walkable neighbourhoods and
enhanced cycling provision. There is a need to bring forward a Masterplan for the area which delivers
the following:

around 400 homes
A primary school;
5ha of new employment land
New retail provision; and
A network of green spaces, including the delivery of Suitable Alternative Greenspace (SANG)
if required.

Policy SP24: Delivering Growth at South East Tring

DBC will bring forward a series of comprehensively planned urban extensions to Tring in accordance with
a Masterplan led approach and based on the Town and Country Planning Association (TCPA) Garden
City Principles. The Masterplan will be prepared by the Council and adopted as an SPD but be prepared in
collaboration with key partners and landowners and be subject to community and stakeholder involvement.

The Masterplan will be supported by Development Parcel Design Codes which will inform planning
applications.

The Masterplan (and other supporting documents) will set out how the south and east Tring extensions
will deliver the following:

249

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 261



1. distinctive, sustainable, high quality, successful new communities with a best approach to planning,
design and management of the built and public realm.

2. achieves best practice in design to build in sustainable lifestyles, such as walkable neighbourhoods
with local services and employment opportunities throughout the development.

3. beautifully and imaginatively designed homes, combining the best of town and country to create
healthy communities.

4. a comprehensive green infrastructure network and net biodiversity gains which enhances the
environment. The development will deliver local and strategic green infrastructure designed as
accessiblemultifunctional space andmaximise benefits such as wildlife, recreation, water management
and includes opportunities to grow food.

5. promote sustainable travel choices by delivering an integrated and accessible development with
walking, cycling and public transport prioritised as well as the transport outcomes detailed in the
Berkhamsted Transport Strategy.

6. an exemplar in sustainable living with a particular focus on reducing energy consumption as well
as generating energy from renewable and low carbon sources and delivering other significant
environmental enhancement to ensure climate resilience.

7. deliver the infrastructure requirements set out in the Dacorum Local Plan Infrastructure Delivery
Plan for Tring.

8. deliver all other site specific requirements set out in the proposed allocation(s) Tr01.

The Council will prepare the Masterplan for the South East Tring Growth Area and this will be adopted as
an SPD. The Masterplan will be supported by Development Parcel Design Codes which will inform
subsequent planning applications. These will be prepared in collaboration with key partners and landowners
and be supported by community and stakeholder involvement.

250

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 262



Page 263



Kings Langley Delivery Strategy

Introduction

23.165 Kings Langley is a relatively large village, set in the Upper Gade Valley and on the southern edge of
the Chiltern Hills to the south east of the Borough. The village has a vibrant centre characterised by
historic listed buildings and a good provision of local shops and services. Kings Langley has excellent
links to Hemel Hempstead andWatford along the A4251, benefits from a train station (in Three Rivers
District) and good access to the wider strategic road network including the A41 and M25.

23.166 Kings Langley also straddles the Borough boundary, which runs along the Grand Union Canal, and
the part of the village to the east of the Canal is within Three Rivers District. This is an important
relationship as the area contains a local mix of office and industrial premises at Home Park, Station
Road and Primrose Hill, the higher education facility of West Herts College (Kings Langley Campus),
and Kings Langley mainline station. It has also been subject to new housing development in recent
years. While this requires that the Council works closely with Three Rivers District Council to ensure
that we have a consistent settlement-wide approach, we can only plan for the Dacorum part of the
village.

23.167 The development strategy for Kings Langley is to provide growth broadly aligned to the settlement
hierarchy, but recognising that the village is constrained by its:

proximity to Hemel Hempstead to the north;
inter-relationship with the immediate urban area in Three Rivers and growth there;
congestion issues within the village centre and along the Watford Road; and
capacity issues with the M25/A41 to the south of the village.

23.168 However, Kings Langley should accommodate some growth. It is the only large village that has its
own secondary school. The settlement has easy access to a mainline station, and is served by more
frequent bus services, so is more sustainable from a transport perspective than Markyate or
Bovingdon. The village has good levels of local employment (albeit chiefly in Three Rivers). A modest
level of growth in Kings Langley will ensure that it does not overload local service capacity, will enable
the delivery of affordable homes to meet local need, and will help with the viability of village services.

23.169 Kings Langley has no made Neighbourhood Plan against which to currently allocate and bring forward
development, although one is being progressed. This will have an important future role in locally
shaping growth in the village.

252

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 264



Page 265



Development in Kings Langley

23.170 At least 275 homes will be provided over the period 2020-2038. The historic and built-up nature of
Kings Langley means that there is limited scope for development on previously developed land in the
settlement area. Nonetheless, there may be some opportunity for the latter through the reuse or
redevelopment of existing buildings. An example of this being the former Royal Mail sorting office site
which has been demolished to make way for a new care home complex on the corner of Langley Hill
and High Street.

23.171 The bulk of the planned growth is to be met through a sustainable urban extension on greenfield land
through the following Growth Area:

Land at Rectory Farm (145 homes).

23.172 It is located at the northern end of the village and lies reasonably close to a primary and secondary
school, recreational space and sports facilities, and the village centre. Rectory Farm is already part
built-up with the former commercial buildings benefiting from an approved scheme for housing. The
site has an important frontage with the Grand Union Canal (GUC) which will need to be carefully
managed in terms of its environment and flood risk issues. The northern extent of the site will also
need to be tackled appropriately to secure a soft edge to the village and limit the perception of
coalescence with the Nash Mills area of Hemel Hempstead.

23.173 The County Council recognises that this site, is not of a sufficient scale to be able to deliver or secure
much in terms of transport infrastructure or bus service improvements. However, enhancements to
pedestrian and cycle routes to the station and access to bus services should be explored.

23.174 The M25 Junction 20 / A41 junction already results in extensive southbound congestion in the Kings
Langley area. Development in the village and elsewhere in the Borough will potentially have an impact
on network capacity. The junction will be subject to continuing modelling and assessment to help the
Council, County Council and Highways England work towards measures to improve highway capacity.
In the interim, and until these measures are identified and their effectiveness tested, the overall level
of growth in Kings Langley should be limited.

23.175 While there are reasonable levels of employment available to the village, most of this is located in
Three Rivers which this Council has no planning control over. The Plan therefore, identifies the
long-established employment area off Church Lane (Sunderland Yard) as a new employment area
for the village which will be safeguarded as an important source of local jobs. The Employment Land
Availability Assessment Study 2017 recognised that this site was well used and suitable for local
businesses.

23.176 The local shopping and service role of the village will be maintained, as it serves as an important
gateway into Kings Langley, Hemel Hempstead and the wider Borough. The centre also provides for
wider community services that need to be safeguarded, and where relevant, expanded. Developments
and uses that would promote the vitality and vibrancy of the local centre will be encouraged and a
minimum level of shops retained.

23.177 The village is soon to benefit from a new care home complex which will add to the range of
accommodation in the village centre and will allow the existing GP surgery to relocate from its existing
site into a purpose built ground floor premises.

23.178 New development will need to offset its pressure on local infrastructure in the village. This will be
sought, as appropriate, through direct on-site provision or via off-site contributions to improvements
and upgrades (see planning requirements to the proposals schedule below). In particular, Rectory
Farm offers opportunities to deliver a package of housing and community benefits, including new
green space provision and enhancements to existing infrastructure along the Grand Union Canal to
make it more accessible to members of the public.

254

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 266



Delivering Growth in Kings Langley

23.179 The Local Plan makes detailed site specific allocations for growth in the village which can be found
in Policy SP25 - Delivering Growth in Kings Langley and in the Proposals and Sites schedule.

Policy SP25 - Delivering Growth in Kings Langley

The overarching priority for Kings Langley is:

1. Housing Delivery: At least 274 dwellings will be delivered over the Plan period. The contribution of
all sources of housing supply for Kings Langley are shown in the following table:
Table 40

Number of DwellingsCategory

71Known Commitments (April 2020)

155Local Plan Strategic Allocations

48Windfall sites

2. Growth Areas: The following table shows how new growth will be distributed in Kings Langley.
Development of these sites will be supported where they are in accordance with the specific policy
requirements (Kings Langley Allocations), and relevant local and national policies.
Table 41

Principally allocated forAllocation typeGrowth Area

Around 10 dwellings, with public open
space.

Residential ledKL01 - Coniston Road

Around 145 dwellings; andMajor urban extensionKL02 - Rectory Farm

public open space.

3. Renewal Areas: The following renewal areas are important to the delivery strategy for Kings Langley.
Proposals for new development in these locations will be supported where they accord with relevant
local and national policies.
Table 42

Key PoliciesAllocation typeRenewal Area

Policy DM16 - General Employment
Areas

General Employment AreaKL03 - Sunderland's Yard,
Church Lane

Policy SP6 - Delivering the Retail and
Leisure Strategy

Policy DM19 - Mix of uses in Town,
District and Local Centres

Local CentreKL04 - Kings Langley High
Street

The Council will bring forward Design Codes for the Growth Areas. These will be prepared jointly by the
Council and by Parcel Developers, with community engagement and will need to be in accordance with
the Plan and supporting guidance as a whole.

255

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 267



Page 268



Bovingdon Delivery Strategy

Introduction

23.180 Bovingdon is a relatively large but compact village, set in gently undulating farmland in the south of
the Borough. The village has a vibrant centre characterised by historic buildings and a reasonable
provision of local shops and services. Bovingdon has good links to Hemel Hempstead and Chesham
via the B405 (Chesham Road / Hemel Hempstead Road / Box Lane).

23.181 To the south east of the village lies Bovingdon Green, Bovingdon Football Club and Bovingdon &
Flaunden Tennis Club, which provide important sources of outdoor recreation space and sports
facilities for the village. To the northwest lies HMP The Mount and Bovingdon Airfield which hosts
popular Saturday and Bank Holiday markets, and provides employment opportunities within the film
and television industry. The village has also seen the broadening of the type of accommodation
available to residents through the delivery of a new retirement complex (McCarthy and Stone) on
Hempstead Road.

23.182 The development strategy for Bovingdon is to provide growth broadly in accordance with the settlement
hierarchy, recognising its more distant location from high order centres such as Hemel Hempstead,
and the constrained nature of some of its services and facilities, including the existing primary school
and less frequent public transport services. The focus for development in Bovingdon will be to:

Provide new market, affordable and other forms of housing.
Deliver new infrastructure, including new public open space and flood alleviation measures.

23.183 Bovingdon has no made Neighbourhood Plan against which to currently allocate and bring forward
development, although one is being progressed. This will have an important future role in locally
shaping growth in the village, including addressing some of the known issues associated with
congestion on the High Street.

257

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 269



Page 270



Development in Bovingdon

23.184 At least 240 homes will be provided over the period 2020-2038. The compact and built-up nature of
Bovingdon limits opportunities for development on previously developed land in the settlement area.
Nevertheless, there is scope for some of the latter through the redevelopment opportunities on the
High Street and on the former Bobsleigh Hotel to the north east of the village. In addition, land is
allocated within the village for 40 Homes on a site off Chesham Road and adjacent to the prison site
(Bv02).

23.185 However, most of this growth is to be accommodated through a sustainable urban extension on a
greenfield site on the village edge:

Land at Grange Farm (150 homes)

23.186 There are no designated employment sites in the village, although important sources of local
employment include the former Bovingdon Brickworks and HMP The Mount, both located outside the
village boundary. While the brickmaking operation has ceased, the Council wishes to safeguard
employment opportunities in this location. There are proposals already in place to expand the
commercial activities, albeit constrained by its location in the Green Belt and tied to environmental
enhancements/restoration of the site.

23.187 The local shopping and service role of the village will be maintained, especially as it has an important
role in meeting the daily shopping needs of surrounding smaller rural settlements such as Chipperfield
and Flaunden. The centre also provides for wider community services that need to be safeguarded,
and where, relevant expanded. Developments and uses that promote the vitality and vibrancy of the
local centre will be encouraged and a minimum level of shops retained. The village has recently
benefited from the provision of a new Tesco Metro store on the edge of the centre.

23.188 New development will need to offset its pressure on local infrastructure in the village. This will be
sought, as appropriate, through direct on-site provision or via off-site contributions to improvements
and upgrades (see planning requirements to the proposals schedule below). In particular, land on
the High Street (linked to proposals at Grange Farm) offers opportunities to deliver a package of
housing, parking and community benefits (see section below).

23.189 The Council has been working in conjunction with the Parish and County Council to explore the
feasibility of bringing forward development on public owned land centred on key community buildings
and associated land on the High Street. Such a proposal has the benefits of achieving a number of
outcomes:

the village centre could gain much needed parking and new community facilities;
the Bovingdon Primary Academy School could be relocated to a greenfield site (linked to the
allocation at Grange Farm) to provide a purpose-built and enlarged 3FE school;
land would be freed up in the High Street for housing;
improvements would be secured to the quality of the urban environment/public realm in the
village centre; and
the scheme could deliver an enhanced green space and play area for the village.

23.190 The Council has considered the redevelopment potential of this site, including whether a larger scale
of growth for Bovingdon could viably assist with delivering such improvements. Evidence to date has
demonstrated that such an option is currently not viable and therefore not deliverable in the plan
period. The Council will continue to explore options in relation to this, including working with Bovingdon
Parish Council and the Neighbourhood Plan steering group to identify possible solutions.

23.191 Bovingdon Airfield lies to the north western edge of the village. The main airfield continues to attract
a range of authorised and unauthorised uses which brings with it benefits and problems for the village,
particularly in relation to noise and traffic.

259

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 271



23.192 The Plan does not support any significant changes to the nature of land uses operating from the
airfield or its role in meeting the development needs of the Borough or village. Such changes could
have fundamental implications for the character and functioning of the village. However, it will support
the principle of film and television production there subject to normal Green Belt considerations (see
'Policy DM40 - Bovingdon Airfield').

23.193 While the Council recognises the importance of existing key uses operating from the airfield, it will
continue to apply Green Belt policies in order to maintain its general open character, safeguard local
amenity and to constrain the scale, frequency and nature of activities that take place. Wherever
appropriate, the Council will take enforcement and other actions to control and remove unauthorised
and inappropriate uses, particularly in relation to noise nuisances.

23.194 The airfield accommodates an air traffic navigation beacon. The area surrounding the beacon will
need to be safeguarded from development. The Council will also pay careful attention to the height
restrictions over the remainder of the safeguarding zone in consultation with the Civil Aviation Authority.

23.195 The Council will support environmental improvements and appropriate restoration of the airfield, if
opportunities arise. National Green Belt policies will apply to the ancillary buildings historically
associated with and located in adjoining countryside away from, the main airfield.

Delivering Growth in Bovingdon

23.196 The Local Plan makes detailed site specific allocations for growth in the village that can be found
in Policy SP26 - Delivering Growth in Bovingdon and in the Proposals and Sites schedule.

Policy SP26 - Delivering Growth in Bovingdon

The overarching priority for Bovingdon is:

1. Housing Delivery: At least 241 dwellings will be delivered in the plan period. The contribution of all
sources of housing supply for Bovingdon are shown in the following table:
Table 43

Number of DwellingsCategory

27Known Commitments (April 2020)

190Local Plan Strategic Allocations

24Windfall sites

2. Growth Areas: The following table shows how new growth will be distributed in Bovingdon.
Development of these sites will be supported where they are in accordance with the specific policy
requirements (Bovingdon Allocations), and relevant local and national policies.
Table 44

Principally allocated forAllocation TypeGrowth Area

Around 150 dwellings, with
public open space; and

Major Urban ExtensionBv01 - Grange Farm

Safeguard three hectares of land
for future education use.

260

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 272



Principally allocated forAllocation TypeGrowth Area

Around 40 dwellings, with public
open space

Residential ledBv02 - Chesham Road/
Molyneaux Avenue

3. Renewal Areas: The following renewal area is important to the delivery strategy for Bovingdon
Proposals for new development in this location will be supported where it accords with relevant local
and national policies.
Table 45

Principally allocated forAllocation TypeRenewal Area

Policy SP6 - Delivering the Retail
and Leisure Strategy

Policy DM19- Mix of uses in
Town, District and Local Centres

Local CentreBv03 - Bovingdon High Street

The Council will bring forward Design Codes for the Growth Areas. These will be prepared jointly by the
Council and by Parcel Developers, with community engagement and will need to be in accordance with
the Plan and supporting guidance as a whole.

261

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 273



Page 274



Markyate Delivery Strategy

Introduction

23.197 Markyate is a relatively large village set in the north of the Borough. The village contains a modest
range of local services and facilities that also serves the nearby village of Flamstead and the adjoining
rural area. The village has good links to the nearby settlements of Luton/Dunstable to the north west
and St Albans/Harpenden to the south east via the A5183.

23.198 The Plan does not see Markyate accommodating significant levels of development given:

it is smaller, less sustainable and with a more restricted range of services and facilities than the
larger villages of Bovingdon and Kings Langley;
the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty to the north, west and south and the close proximity of
the A5183 along the eastern edge of the village both constrain outward expansion of Markyate;
it has seen relatively high levels of development recently compared to the other larger villages
with the completion of a greenfield allocation to the north of the village (40 homes) and
redevelopment of former industrial premises in the village (79 homes); and
the local road network is constrained and the village centre suffers from congestion and on-street
parking problems.

23.199 However, a modest level of growth in Markyate in accordance with the settlement hierarchy will ensure
that existing infrastructure is able to support the proposed development. It will also be of a sufficient
scale to provide enough homes to diversify the existing housing market and meet local need, provide
new opportunities for existing residents and to help with the viability of village services.

23.200 The focus for development in Markyate will be to:

provide new market, affordable and other forms of housing;
deliver new infrastructure, primarily new green/recreational space.

23.201 There is no made neighbourhood plan in place to bring forward allocations.

263

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 275



Page 276



Development in Markyate

23.202 At least 215 homes will be provided over the period 2020-2038. The compact and built up nature of
Markyate limits opportunities for development on previously developed land in the settlement area.
However, there is scope for some of the latter through the redevelopment and conversion of buildings
in suitable locations.

23.203 The key opportunity for growth will be through a sustainable urban extension on greenfield land off
London Road (150 homes) on the southern village edge. This strategic site is located away from the
Chilterns AONB which will help protect its immediate landscape setting and character. Nevertheless,
the scheme will require the retention and enhancement of landscaping and the careful siting and
design of development given the site’s valley-side location. Such factors will also apply to addressing
flood risk issues where the River Ver crosses the site on the frontage to London Road.

23.204 The strategic site is of a limited scale to be able to deliver or secure much in terms of transport
infrastructure improvements or bus service improvement, but junction improvements to London Road
will be a priority. The County Council recommends that this should not prevent exploring opportunities
to improve London Road and High Street for walking and cycling, although on-street parking and
other constraints may potentially limit options.

23.205 Markyate is the only large village with a designated employment area, albeit relatively modest in scale.
It also benefits from several scattered sources of local employment outside of this location, especially
southwards along the A5183. The Council has allowed the employment area to contract over time,
recognising the overall benefits of providing opportunities for new homes and the potential for securing
a care home in a central location within the village. However, some employment land (Sharose Court)
should be retained in order to offer some scope for local jobs.

23.206 The local shopping and service role of the village will be maintained, especially as it has an important
role in meeting the shopping needs of surrounding smaller rural settlements such as Flamstead, and
needs to be safeguarded. Growth within the village can help in supporting and stabilising the viability
and vibrancy of the village centre following its continuing decline in recent years. The redevelopment
of the former employment area on Hicks Road has delivered extra parking for the village centre and
the possibility of additional retail floorspace within the new commercial units.

23.207 New development will need to offset its pressure on local infrastructure in the village. This will be
sought, as appropriate, through direct on-site provision or via off-site contributions to improvements
and upgrades (see planning requirements to the proposal schedule below). Land on London Road
offers the opportunity to deliver junction improvements on London Road/ A5183 to provide safer
access for users, and provides opportunities for new open space provision in the village.

Delivering Growth in Markyate

23.208 The Local Plan makes detailed site specific allocations for growth in the village which can be found
in Policy SP27 - Delivering Growth in Markyate and in the Proposals and Sites schedule.

Policy SP27 - Delivering Growth in Markyate

The overarching priority for Markyate is:

1. Housing Delivery: At least 215 dwellings will be delivered in the Plan period. The contribution of all
sources of housing supply for Markyate are shown in the following table:
Table 46

Number of DwellingsCategory

8Known Commitments (April 2020)

183Local Plan Strategic Allocations

265

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 277



Number of DwellingsCategory

24Windfall sites

2. Growth Areas:The following table shows how new growth will be distributed in Markyate.
Development of these sites will be supported where they are in accordance with the specific policy
requirements (Markyate Allocations), and relevant local and national policies.
Table 47

Principally allocated forAllocation typeGrowth Area

Around 150 dwellings, with public open
space

Major urban extensionMk01 - South of London
Road

Around 13 dwellingsResidential ledMk02 - Corner of Hicks
Road/ High Street

Around 20 dwellingsResidential ledMk03 - Watling Street

3. Renewal Areas: The following renewal areas are important to the delivery strategy for Markyate.
Proposals for new development in these locations will be supported where they accord with relevant
local and national policies.
Table 48

Key PoliciesAllocation typeRenewal Area

Policy SP6 - Delivering the Retail and
Leisure Strategy

Policy DM19 - Mix of uses in Town,
District and Local Centres

Local CentreMk04 - Markyate High Street

The Council will bring forward Design Codes for the Growth Areas. These will be prepared jointly by the
Council and by Parcel Developers, with community engagement and will need to be in accordance with
the Plan and supporting guidance as a whole.

266

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 278



Page 279



Countryside Delivery Strategy

Introduction

23.209 Dacorum’s countryside covers 178 sq km set across varied landscapes including scenic plateaus
and ridges, river valleys, and lowland vale (see table below Characteristics of small villages and
hamlets). It supports a network of scattered small villages and hamlets. Many villages have a traditional
appearance and heritage buildings which add to their appeal.

23.210 The countryside is valued for its rich historic heritage and attractive landscape. The Plan identifies
the bulk of the countryside as a Protected Area in recognition of its high environmental qualities and
where a more stringent approach to managing development will apply. However, within this broad
zoning there is also a need to sustain land management, support rural enterprises and to allow people
living in the villages an appropriate range of services and access to nearby towns.

23.211 Agriculture is the most extensive business in terms of land use, although it has changed significantly
in nature over the past 20 years. Whilst commercial farms are getting larger and diversifying into other
activities, small-scale ‘hobby farming’ and the demand for horse paddocks and ménages is on the
increase, particularly on the urban fringe.

23.212 The traditional role of the countryside is likely to change over the lifetime of the Plan with a growing
emphasis on climate change adaptation / environmental measures / landscape management, much
of this sits outside the immediate scope and control of the planning system.

23.213 Given policy and environmental constraints, only modest levels of growth can be accommodated in
the countryside. Indeed, the Settlement Hierarchy Study recognises that the countryside is the least
sustainable location for new development due to the lack of facilities, poor accessibility and limited
public transport infrastructure. Furthermore, the smaller settlements are generally more sensitive to
change.

23.214 The Plan does not seek any fundamental change to the development strategy for the countryside. It
will remain an area of development restraint in order to safeguard its intrinsic character, biodiversity
and heritage assets, and key landscape features in accordance with its zoning as a Protected Area.
The countryside is covered by the Green Belt and Rural Area policies which seek to limit the scope
and scale of new development and use of land.

23.215 However, to ensure a prosperous rural economy and viable villages, appropriate and well located,
small-scale development will be encouraged, subject to other environmental policies in the Plan. The
Government continues to support changes to the planning system to expand the opportunities for
modest levels of new build development and changes of use in the countryside.

23.216 There are no made neighbourhood plans to bring forward allocations. However, they may have an
important role in the future in shaping local change in the countryside.

23.217 Around 515 new homes are expected over the plan period, chiefly through minor development on
land previously used for agricultural buildings, small-scale infilling and affordable housing schemes
on the edge of villages, and changes of use. New permitted development rights and more flexible
national policy will help encourage these to come forward.

23.218 New housing will be focused on the selected small villages. The qualities of all settlements will be
recognised and protected and new development will be guided by Conservation Area Statements,
the Chilterns Buildings Design Guide and associated technical notes, and local initiatives such as
village design statements. Over the lifetime of the Plan, new neighbourhood plans are likely to play
a stronger role in steering development in the countryside and in village locations.

268

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 280



23.219 New homes will support rural businesses, local shops and village facilities that offer a diverse range
of services to meet day to day needs. They can help provide much needed housing to meet local
need, boosting the vitality of rural settlements and businesses, and offering opportunities to enhance
the individual character of villages. In addition, some parish councils have been proactive in promoting
the development of affordable housing schemes to provide homes for local residents.

Supporting Development in the Countryside

23.220 There are two existing designated employment sites in the Green Belt - Bovingdon Brickworks and
Bourne End Mills. The Dacorum Employment Land Availability Study 2017 and South West
Hertfordshire Economic Study Update 2019, recommends that they be retained for employment use.

23.221 Both are expected to expand during the plan period providing a modest contribution towards meeting
the Borough’s employment needs ('Policy DM16 - General employment areas'. A minor change in
floor space is expected at Bovingdon Brickworks, following the conversion of an area previously used
for brick making to industrial space. The employment area at Bourne End Mills will be extended
towards the boundary with the A41. The Council will support environmental improvements at these
locations to help reinforce new site boundaries and minimise their impact.

23.222 The approach to other employment uses on non-designated sites will be guided by other rural policies
within the Plan. Support will be given to appropriate farm diversification schemes. The re-use of farm
buildings will however be carefully controlled to ensure that they support the function of the farm unit,
that additional traffic can be accommodated on local roads and they do not have a detrimental impact
upon countryside character.

23.223 Dacorum continues to prove to be an attractive and varied location for ad hoc film and television
recording. In particular, Bovingdon Airfield is locally unique in that it has been providing more regular
opportunities for such production to take place. We wish to support this activity because of its local
and wider contribution to the media industries. However, the airfield falls within the Green Belt and
therefore it has to be carefully controlled within this constraint. This issue is discussed in more detail
under 'Policy SP11 - Development in the Green Belt' and 'Policy DM40 - Bovingdon Airfield'.

23.224 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) recognises the importance of providing adequate
overnight lorry parking facilities (paragraph 107). Local and national studies have also identified a
critical shortfall in HGV parking in and around the M1 corridor. This in part reflects local problems
experienced by the Maylands Business Park with regards to heavy freight movement and with it
associated pressure for overnight lorry parking. Furthermore, the countryside often accommodates
important transport services and facilities.

23.225 As a result, we are exploring with the landowner, the County Council and Highways England the
suitability of expanding the existing Watling Street Truckstop on the A5183 to provide additional lorry
parking to meet local and wider demand and improved on-site facilities and access arrangements
(Growth Area Cy03). The proposal will help address Highways England's wider ambition to
increase provision for lorry parking on the strategic road network. It will provide improved rest facilities
in support of highway safety and dedicated parking to reduce unauthorised parking and associated
public nuisance. The site is also part developed land and is strategically located close to Junction 9
of the M1. However, we recognise the difficulties of bringing forward such a proposal given its rural
and Green Belt location and the importance of securing enhanced landscaping of and screening to
the site.

23.226 Recreation and tourism within the countryside is important to the local economy and supports many
small businesses. Plan policies will generally seek to support environmentally sustainable tourism
and heritage conservation, and their contribution towards meeting the challenges of climate change.
The potential for ‘sustainable tourism’ in the Chilterns is recognised and appropriate schemes that
enable this will be supported. A range of visitor accommodation is already available including hotels
and bed and breakfast accommodation.

269

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 281



23.227 As the urban population grows, visitor pressure on the countryside and key attractions such as the
Ashridge Estate will increase. These 'honeypot' sites draw visitors from an extensive catchment area
and will need to be protected by careful management, and be guided by the CAONB Management
Plan and other relevant documents. The larger proposed strategic sites will enable higher levels of
recreational space, and new country and destination parks to be created, easing pressure on sensitive
biodiversity areas such as the Chilterns Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation. However, in the
case of the Ashridge Estate, there may still be the need to explore the feasibility of mitigation measures
with the National Trust to ameliorate the adverse effects of visitor pressure.

23.228 Land pressure within settlements often leads to sports facilities being located in the urban fringe,
leading to the risk of light pollution, increased traffic generation, and the continuing urbanisation of
sites. This, and the use of the countryside for sport, will be controlled through the Plan, to protect its
tranquility, rural character and natural environment. However, we are supporting the relocation of the
playing pitches to Berkhamsted School's Haresfoot Campus on the edge of Berkhamsted (Growth
Area Cy04) to allow development of Haslam Playing Fields (Growth Area Bk03) to proceed and to
ensure no net loss of facilities in the town.

23.229 Within the countryside there are numerous areas with existing or high potential for heritage assets.
Some are of national importance and require particular protection. All heritage assets affected by
development should be subject to assessment and appropriate mitigation measures. Some rural
practices, such as bio-fuel production and forestry, can damage archaeological features and their
impact may therefore merit careful consideration.

23.230 The tranquillity of the countryside is important to biodiversity and part of its appeal to visitors. The
impact of noise, light and visual intrusion from the main transport routes will be reduced through
additional landscaping. Existing light pollution will be managed and not worsened through new
development. Proposals to change aircraft routes, resulting in either more traffic flying over the
Chilterns or flying at lower levels, will be opposed.

Table 49 Characteristics of small villages and hamlets

HamletSmall VillageLandscape Type

Chilterns

Scarpfoot Aldbury

Valley Bottom Nettleden
Rucklers Lane
Pickett End
Bourne End
Great Gaddesden

Plateau / Ridge HudnallPotten End
Wigginton Jockey End

Gaddesden RowChipperfield
Flamstead Flaunden

RingshallLittle Gaddesden

Boarcroft Vale (Beds and Cambridges Claylands)

Lowland Vale PuttenhamLong Marston
Wilstone Astrope

The list does not include all villages and hamlets within Dacorum and is used to show examples
of settlements that occur in each landscape type.

270

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 282



Landscape type based on categorisation in the Chilterns Buildings Design Guide with the addition
of a 'Lowland Vale' category.
The difference between small villages and hamlets relates to the settlements' size and function.
For the purposes of Policy SP12 - Development in the Rural Area, Little Gaddesden is not
defined as a small village.

Policy SP28 - Delivering Growth in the Countryside

The Countryside is principally an area of development restraint but some modest growth will be
accommodated.

1. Housing Delivery: Around 360 dwellings will be delivered in the plan period. The contribution of all
sources of housing supply for the Countryside are shown in the following table:
Table 50

Number of DwellingsCategory

273Known Commitments (April 2020)

0Local Plan Strategic Allocations

241Windfall sites

2. Growth Areas: The following table shows how new development will come forward at key locations
in the Countryside:
Table 51

Principally allocated forAllocation TypeGrowth Area

1.1haExtension to established
employment land

Cy01 - Upper Bourne End
Lane/Stoney Lane (Bourne End
Mills GEA Extension)

0.3haExtension to established
employment land

Cy02 - Bovingdon Brickworks
(Extension)

New/enhanced lorry park with
associated facilities

TransportCy03 - Watling Street Truckstop,
Flamstead

Replacement sports facilities for
Berkhamsted School

Replacement sports facilitiesCy04 - Haresfoot Campus,
Chesham Road, Berkhamsted

3. Renewal Areas: The following renewal areas are important to the delivery strategy for the
Countryside. Proposals for new development in these locations will be supported where they accord
with relevant local and national policies.
Table 52

Key PoliciesAllocation TypeRenewal Area

Policy SP12 - Development in the Rural
Area

Place of worshipCy05 - Amaravati Buddhist
Monastery Policy DM64 - Community Facilities

Policy DM41 - Bovingdon AirfieldEstablished location for film
and television production in
the Green Belt

Cy06 - Bovingdon Airfield

271

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 283



Page 284



24 Proposals and Sites

Introduction to Proposals and Sites

24.1 The work on allocations is still evolving and we have reflected as much detail as we possibly can at
this stage in the Plan. In particular, we have not been able to include all forms of proposals that might
emerge in the settlements. We set out our current understanding of allocations in more detail in this
'Proposals and Sites' section of the plan

24.2 We are working towards incorporating a full list of allocations for the next stage of the Plan (Regulation
19). We will undertake this work in progressing discussions on individual development proposals with
landowners and developers, our partners and other key stakeholders and through taking forward
linked work on infrastructure requirements in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan.

273

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 285



Page 286



Hemel Hempstead Garden Communities

North Hemel Hempstead Allocations

Growth Area HH01: North Hemel (Phase 1)

Map 1

212.2haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

Around 1,550 homes (including provision for older
people), subject to masterplanning.
A new country park of district-wide importance,
accessed through a new green infrastructure
network that links existing and future communities.
Delivery of a strategic corridor route between
Leighton Buzzard Road and Redbourn Road (via
land in St Albans City and District Council);
A range of new retail and community facilities in
the Hemel North Growth Area (sites HH01 and
HH02), involving a new district or local centre with
a medium or large supermarket and also smaller
scale local or neighbourhood centres to serve
day-to-day needs;
A new primary school (3ha)
A new secondary school (13ha)
Retention of ancient woodland within the site.
Safeguarded land for a council depot and
household waste recycling centre.

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

The site’s masterplan should be developed in accordance with The Hemel Hempstead Garden
Communities Spatial Vision and Strategic Masterplan Guidance and Transformation Plan.
Design codes will be developed alongside the Plan to support the Maserplan.

275

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 287



The site will be brought forward with a masterplan showing a comprehensive phasing programme
for development to be prepared in consort with the local planning authority.
The allocations North Hemel (Phase 1) and North Hemel (Phase 2) should be planned together,
as a minimum through closely aligned masterplans taking an integrated approach to the joint site
area.

Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport:

Development of the site should seek to achieve a 60% share of sustainable transport modes by
2050.
Primary access to be provided via Leighton Buzzard Road/B440 with secondary access to be
provided via Link Road (GA-HH22 – Marchmont Farm).
Safeguard sufficient land to provide for a new strategic corridor route (40mph) which will connect
the Leighton Buzzard Road to North Hemel (Phase 2) and the allocations to the east (St Albans
City and District Council Local Plan). The preferred route will be identified through the Framework
Masterplan Guidance.

Social and Community:

Create a new district/local/neighbourhood centre , masterplanned in a way which connects to existing
and future neighbourhoods. The centre should include new retail and community facilities to serve
the day-to-day needs of new and existing residents, and a medium or large supermarket if it is
decided not to build this facility on site HH02.
Provide 3 ha of land for and deliver a new primary school, to be located at the
district/local/neighbourhood centre.
Provide 13 ha of land for and deliver a new secondary school on site.

Environmental Health:

Consideration should be given to ControlledWaters as a receptor to potential ground contamination.
Landscape Considerations:

Development will need to take account of and/or mitigate the following landscape sensitivities:

The topography of the site with particular attention to those areas which are highly intervisible;
areas which share characteristics with or create the setting for the Chilterns AONB;
the setting of the historic settlement and conservation area of Piccotts End;
the variation in landscape sensitivity within the parcel;
conserving enhancing or restoring the hedgerows and field patterns and boundaries;
conserving and enhancing the historic sunken lanes and PRoW;
the vernacular, use of materials and setting of the existing farmsteads; and
the characteristic ridgelines and tree-lined skylines of the area.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

Undertake a project level Habitats Regulations Assessment to ensure that no significant adverse
effects take place on designated/European sites where pathways exist.
Deliver Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) on-site to offset potential adverse effects
on the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC arising from recreational pressure. The scale and form of this
SANG will need to be agreed with Natural England in advance of the submission of an outline
planning application.
Use the new landscape structure to develop a series of new green and blue infrastructure corridors
through the site and connect with existing green networks in the area
Retain and where possible enhance Ancient Woodland both within (Varney’s wood) and on the
edge of the site.

Historic environment and Cultural Heritage:

Ensure the heritage assets at Picotts End (including the Conservation Area, Listed Buildings and
ScheduledMonuments) are conserved through appropriate landscapemitigation measures on land
to be retained in the Green Belt.

Flood Risk and Drainage:

276

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 288



Modelling of small watercourses will need to be completed to determine the extent of flood risk
across the site.

Growth Area HH02: North Hemel (Phase 2)

Map 2

160.9haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

Around 4,000 dwellings to be delivered post
2038, subject to masterplanning
Delivery of a strategic corridor route between
Leighton Buzzard Road and Redbourn Road (via
land in St. Albans City and District Council)
A range of new retail and community facilities in
the Hemel North Growth Area (sites HH01 and
HH02), involving a new district or local centre
with a medium or large supermarket and also
smaller scale local or neighbourhood centres to
serve day-to-day needs;
Two new primary schools (3ha x 2).
A new secondary school (13ha).
Retention of existing listed buildings within the
site.

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

The site’s masterplan should be developed in accordance with The Hemel Hempstead Garden
Communities Spatial Vision and Strategic Masterplan Guidance and Transformation Plan.
Design codes will be developed to support the Masterplan.

277

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 289



The site will be brought forward with a masterplan showing a comprehensive phasing programme
for development to be prepared in consort with the local planning authority.
The allocations North Hemel (Phase 1) and North Hemel (Phase 2) should be planned together,
as a minimum through closely aligned masterplans taking an integrated approach to the joint site
area.

Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport:

Development of the site should seek to achieve a 60% share of sustainable transport modes by
2050.
Safeguard sufficient land to provide for a new transport corridor which will connect the Leighton
Buzzard road to the allocations to the east (St Albans City and District Council Local Plan). The
route will be identified through the Framework Masterplan Guidance.

Social and Community:

Create a network of new district/local/neighbourhood centres across the site, including retail and
community facilities to serve the day-to-day needs of new and existing residents, and a medium or
large supermarket if it is decided not to build this facility on site HH01.
Provide 6 ha of land for and deliver two new primary schools (3ha each), to be located at
district/local/neighbourhood centres.
Provide 13 ha of land for and deliver a new secondary school on site.
Create a network of interconnected open spaces throughout the site to serve existing and new
communities.

Environmental Health:

Consideration should be given to ControlledWaters as a receptor to potential ground contamination.
Landscape Considerations:

Development will need to take account of and/or mitigate the following landscape sensitivities:

the topography of the site with particular attention to those areas which are highly intervisible;
areas which share characteristics with or create the setting for the Chilterns AONB;
the variation in landscape sensitivity within the parcel;
conserving enhancing or restoring the hedgerows and field patterns and boundaries;
conserving and enhancing the historic sunken lanes and PRoW;
the vernacular, use of materials and setting of the existing farmsteads; and
the characteristic ridgelines and tree-lined skylines of the area.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

Undertake a project level Habitats Regulations Assessment to ensure that no significant adverse
effects take place on designated/European sites where pathways exist.
Deliver Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) on-site to offset potential adverse effects
on the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC arising from recreational pressure. The scale and form of this
SANG will need to be agreed with Natural England in advance of the submission of an outline
planning application.
Use the new landscape structure to develop a series of new green and blue infrastructure corridors
through the site and connect with existing green networks in the area.

Historic environment and Cultural Heritage:

Investigate the effect of development on five listed buildings within the site and ensure that their
setting is conserved and/or enhanced. Further guidance on how this can be achieved will be
provided through the Hemel Garden Communities Strategic Masterplan Guidance (SPD).
Ensure the setting of the scheduled monument The Aubreys Camp to the east of the site (in St.
Albans City and District Council) is conserved.

Flood Risk and Drainage:

Modelling of small watercourses will need to be completed to determine the extent of flood risk
across the site.

278

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 290



Hemel Hempstead Town Centre Allocations

Growth Area HH03: Hospital Site (previously MU/2)

Map 3

5.93haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and Land use
requirements)

Around 450 dwellings, subject to
masterplanning;
A new primary school (3ha)
Public open space; and
A new / revised hospital hub

Site Specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Building heights should be maximised in this location. Proposals for tall and taller buildings will be
considered in accordance with Policy DM41 - Heights of Buildings.

Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport:

Primary access is to be provided from Hillfield Road with secondary access from Maynard Road;
Provide suitable foot and cycle paths to connect the site to the town centre and public footpath
47/paradise fields as well as connections to bus stops and nearby services and facilities, as well
as neighbouring development.

Social and Community:

Provide three hectares of land for and deliver a new 2FE primary school.
Consolidate and enhance the existing healthcare provision on site.

Environmental Health:

Consideration should be given to possible ground contamination from previous uses.
Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

Development will need to have regard to the Tree Preservation Orders located within the site;
Mitigate against possible impacts to the designated wildlife site to the south;

279

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 291



As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, utilise new landscape mitigation measures and
structure to connect with green corridors in the area, including enhancements to the public open
space and wildlife site.

Growth Area HH04: Paradise/Wood Lane (previously MU/3)

Map 4

2.92haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

Around 350 dwellings, subject to
masterplanning.
Employment generating uses (including offices)
at ground floor level, where viable.
Replacement DENS food bank.
Public open space.

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Building heights should be maximised in this location. Proposals for tall and taller buildings will be
considered in accordance with Policy DM41 - Heights of Buildings.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Primary road access is to be provided from Park Lane
Environmental Health:

Consideration should be given to possible ground contamination from previous uses.
Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, utilise new landscape mitigation measures and
structure to connect with green corridors in the area, including the adjacent public open space and
wildlife site

Flood Risk and Drainage:

280

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 292



Any development will need to have regard to the recommendations of the Level 2 Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment for this site.

Growth Area HH05: Market Square

Map 5

0.53haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Retail led mixed use development including a
supermarket or local convenience store and
other town centre uses at ground floor level.
Around 130 dwellings on upper floors, subject
to masterplanning.

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Building heights should be maximised in this location. Proposals for tall and taller buildings will be
considered in accordance with Policy DM41 - Heights of Buildings.
Encourage active frontages at ground floor level.
Retain key pedestrian desire lines across the site where possible.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Primary access to be provided from Waterhouse Street.
Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, utilise new landscape mitigation measures and
structure to connect with green corridors in the area, including the adjacent Water Gardens.
Incorporate mature trees located on the periphery of the site into development proposals, unless
other material considerations indicate that these trees should not be retained.

Historic, Environment and Cultural Heritage:

281

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 293



Development should reflect the cultural importance of the site as the original market square for the
New Town, and enhance the setting of the Water Gardens immediately to the north, a locally
registered park and garden.
Development should consider potential impacts on nearby listed buildings and structures on
Marlowes.

Flood Risk and Drainage:

Any development will need to have regard to the recommendations of the Level 2 Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment for this site.

Growth Area HH06: Civic Centre Site

Map 6

0.86haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (Key development and land use
requirements

Around 200 dwellings;
Public open space; and
No built development should take place within
Flood Zones 2 and 3 on the western edge of
the site.

Site-Specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Building heights should be maximised in this location. Proposals for tall and taller buildings will be
considered in accordance with Policy DM41 - Heights of Buildings.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Access is to be provided on Dacorum Way.
Environmental Health:

Consideration should be given to ControlledWaters as a receptor to potential ground contamination.
Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

Retain and enhance existing buffer between the site and the River Gade;

282

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 294



Development will need to have regard to the Tree Preservation Orders on the edge of the site.
Historic, Environment and Cultural Heritage:

Conserve and where possible enhance the setting of listed buildings on Marlowes
Flood Risk and Drainage:

No built development should take place within Flood Zones 2 and 3;
Surface water run-off rates as a result of development of the site should not exceed existing rates.
Measures which achieve this should be discussed and agreed with Hertfordshire County Council’s
ecologist, flood engineer and the Environment Agency.
Any development will need to have regard to the recommendations of the Level 2 Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment for this site.

Growth Area HH07: NCP Car Park, Hillfield Road

Map 7

0.22haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (Key development and land use
requirements

Around 100 dwellings, subject to
masterplanning.
Retail and other town centre uses at ground
floor level.

Site-Specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Building heights should be maximised in this location. Proposals for tall and taller buildings will be
considered in accordance with Policy DM41 - Heights of Buildings.
Encourage active frontages at ground floor level.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Primary access to be provided from Hillfield Road.
Historic, Environment and Cultural Heritage:

283

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 295



Conserve the Rowland Emmet mural on the southern elevation of the current structure (Grade II
listed) and seek to incorporate into any future development proposals on this site.
Conserve and where possible enhance the setting of listed buildings on Marlowes.

Two Waters Allocations

Growth Area HH08: Station Gateway

Map 8

3.87haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Regeneration of the existing train station and
car park;
Other uses that are ancillary to the main use of
the site as a strategic transport hub, including
but not limited to retail, food and drink
establishments, offices and a hotel;
Multi-modal transport interchange;
Around 360 dwellings, subject tomasterplanning;
and
New public realm.

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Development should normally be between four and eight storeys. Proposals for taller buildings in
excess of this may be considered in accordance with Policy DM41 - Heights of Buildings.
The multi-storey car park should be designed/landscaped in a manner which minimises its impact
on immediate and wider views.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Primary access to be provided from London Road to serve all users of the site;
Pedestrian and cycle facilities should deliver new and/or enhanced connections with the Town
Centre and Maylands Business Park;

284

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 296



Deliver a multi-modal transport interchange that maximises the use of sustainable modes of transport.
Social and community:

Proposals that include retail provision will need to be considered for their potential to impact upon
the vitality and viability of the town centre, depending on the scale of development proposed.
The new public realm should act as a gateway to the train station, and be supported by a range of
active uses at ground floor level that are compatible with its intended use as a key transport hub.

Environmental Health:

Undertaken ground contamination surveys and ensure that the site is safe for its intended uses.
Landscape Considerations:

Development should positively respond to the adjacent moors, a locally designated park and garden;
Any landmark building (around eight stories in height) should be focussed to the western part of
the site, as part of or immediately adjacent to the existing station;
A landscape and visual impact assessment is required to accompany a planning application for this
site.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, utilise new landscape mitigation measures and
structure to connect with green corridors in the area, including where possible to the adjacent moors.

Historic, Environment and Cultural Heritage:

Archaeological investigations are required to be undertaken prior to the submission of a planning
application.

Growth Area HH09: National Grid Land

Map 9

3.41haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Around 400 dwellings, subject to
masterplanning; and
Public open space.

Site-specific requirements

285

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 297



Urban Design Principles:

Development should normally be between four and six storeys. Proposals for taller buildings in
excess of this may be considered in accordance with Policy DM41 - Heights of Buildings.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Access to be provided from London Road;
Enhance pedestrian and cycle links with Station Gateway, the town centre, and key employment
sites where possible.

Environmental Health:

No residential development should take place within the exclusion area associated with high pressure
gas pipelines.
Undertake ground contamination surveys and ensure that the site is safe for its intended uses;
Investigate possible noise and air quality issues from the neighbouring employment sites and from
the railway, and where necessary, identify appropriate mitigation measures to address any adverse
impacts from these.

Landscape Considerations:

Development should positively respond to the adjacent moors, a locally designated park and garden.
Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, utilise new landscape mitigation measures and
structure to connect with green corridors in the area, including where possible to the adjacent moors.

Growth Area HH10: Symbio Place, Whiteleaf Road

Map 10

0.22haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Around 180 dwellings, subject to
masterplanning; and
Public open space.

Site-specific requirements

286

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 298



Urban Design Principles:

Building heights are acceptable up to 16 storeys (residential). Proposals for taller buildings in
excess of this will be considered in accordance with Policy DM41 - Heights of Buildings.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Access to be provided from Whiteleaf Road;
Enhance pedestrian and cycle links with Station Gateway, the town centre, and key employment
sites where possible.

Environmental Health:

Undertake ground contamination surveys and ensure that the site is safe for its intended uses;
Investigate possible noise and air quality issues from the neighbouring employment sites and from
the railway, and where necessary, identify appropriate mitigation measures to address any adverse
impacts from these.

Landscape Considerations:

Development should positively respond to the adjacent moors, a locally designated park and garden.

Growth Area HH11:Two Waters North

Map 11

2.8314haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Around 350 dwellings, subject tomasterplanning;
Employment generating uses (including offices)
at ground floor level along Two Waters Road,
subject to viability;
Food and drink uses encouraged close to Grand
Union Canal; and
Public open space, including high quality public
realm adjacent to Grand Union Canal.

Site-specific requirements

287

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 299



Urban Design Principles:

Building heights should be maximised across the site, taking into account neighbouring uses,
including any sensitive uses and public open space. A landmark building of around 16 storeys may
be permitted at the northern end of the site (Corner Hall). Lower building heights may be necessary
close to existing residential areas.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Access to be provided between Two Waters Road, Corner Hall and Lawn Lane.
No through traffic will be allowed from Lawn Lane onto Two Waters Road, unless a more suitable
approach to managing transport flows and impacts can be agreed with Hertfordshire County Council
prior to submitting a planning application.
Enhance pedestrian and cycle links with the town centre, Station Gateway, and key employment
sites where possible.

Environmental Health:

Undertaken ground contamination surveys and ensure that the site is safe for its intended uses.
Landscape Considerations:

Development should positively respond to the adjacent moors, a locally designated park and garden.
A landscape and visual impact assessment is required to accompany any proposals that include a
landmark building on this site.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, utilise new landscape mitigation measures and
structure to connect with green corridors in the area, including to the adjacent moors and the Grand
Union Canal corridor.

Flood risk and Drainage:

Development should avoid areas of higher flood risk where possible.
Any development will need to have regard to the recommendations of the Level 2 Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment for this site.

288

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 300



Growth Area HH12:Two Waters/London Road

Map 12

0.62haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Around 60 dwellings, subject to
masterplanning;
Public open space;

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Development should normally be between four and six storeys. Proposals for taller buildings in
excess of this may be considered in accordance with Policy DM41 - Heights of Buildings.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Primary road access is to be provided through the Two Waters Road on the eastern side of the
site.
Enhance pedestrian and cycle links with the town centre, Growth Area HH08Station Gateway, and
key employment sites where possible.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, utilise new landscape mitigation measures and
structure to connect with green corridors in the area, including where possible to the adjacent moors.
Development will need to have regard to the Tree Preservation Order on the northern boundary of
the site.

Historic Environment and Cultural Heritage:

Conserve and where possible enhance the setting of The Bell Inn, a listed building (currently in use
as a fast food restaurant) to the south east of the site.
Development should seek to reflect the cultural heritage of Box Moor, which is a locally registered
Park and Garden. This could be achieved through appropriate street naming.

Flood risk and Drainage:

No built development should take place within Flood Zones 2 and 3 on the northern edge of the
site.

289

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 301



Any development will need to have regard to the recommendations of the Level 2 Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment for this site.

Growth Area HH13: Frogmore Road

Map 13

1.17haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Around 170 dwellings, subject to
masterplanning; and
Public open space;

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Development should normally be between three and four storeys, taking into account neighbouring
uses.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Provide a new pedestrian bridge across the River Bulbourne to access key services and facilities;
Retain and enhance the existing cycle and footpath links in the area, including those that link to the
nearby towpath and bridge.

Environmental Health:

Undertake ground contamination surveys and ensure that the site is safe for its intended use.
Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

Development will need to have regard to the Tree Preservation Order on the northern boundary of
the site.
As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, utilise new landscape measures and structure to
connect with green corridors in the area, including to the adjacent water corridor.

Historic, Environment and Cultural Heritage:

Conserve and where possible enhance the setting of the Offices of the British Paper Company
Limited, a listed building to the west of the site.

290

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 302



Flood risk and Drainage:

No built development should take place within Flood Zones 2 and 3 on the edges of the site
Any development will need to have regard to the recommendations of the Level 2 Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment for this site.

Growth Area HH14: 233 London Road

Map 14

0.1haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Around 10 dwellings

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Development should normally be three storeys in height and designed sensitively to respond to the
existing residential character of the Apsley area, including on Manor Avenue.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Highway access to be provided fromManor Avenue, unless a more appropriate solution is identified
and agreed with Hertfordshire County Council prior to the submission of a planning application.

Environmental Health:

Investigate possible noise and air quality issues from the neighbouring employment sites and from
road traffic emissions, and identify appropriate mitigation measures to address any identified impacts.

Historic, Environment and Cultural Heritage:

Conserve and where possible enhance the setting of the Bell Inn, a listed building in close proximity
to the site.

Flood risk and Drainage:

Any development will need to have regard to the recommendations of the Level 2 Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment for this site.

291

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 303



Growth Area HH15: Ebberns Road

Map 15

0.38haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Around 30 dwellings, and
Public open space;

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Development should normally be up to four storeys in height, having regard for neighbouring building
heights.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Access to be retained from Ebberns Road;
Retain and enhance existing cycle and footpath links through the site to the towpath and bridge.

Social and community:

Provide an element of public open space;
Communal gardens are preferred around the locks

Environmental Health:

Undertake ground contamination surveys and ensure that the site is safe for its intended use.
Landscape Considerations:

Building design and layout must respect the canal frontage, with strengthened planting along the
boundary in this location.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, utilise new landscape measures and structure to
connect with green corridors in the area, including the wildlife site on the southern boundary of the
site.

Flood Risk and Drainage:

Any development will need to have regard to the recommendations of the Level 2 Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment for this site.

292

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 304



Growth Area HH16:Two Waters Road / A41 Junction Employment Site

Map 16

5.6 ha. (5.0 ha. net)Size (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Employment development for industrial , storage
and distribution and office use - providing around
20,000 sq. metres gross internal floorspace.
The development should consist mainly of units
of under around 2,000 sq. metres.
Around 4,000 sq. metres of the built floorspace
should comprise small units of less than about
400 sq. metres.

Site-specific requirements:

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Road access should be taken from Two Waters Road.
Satisfactory pedestrian and cyclist access should be provided.

Landscape Considerations:

Landscaping should be strengthened, if necessary, to ensure that the development is not visible
from the countryside beyond the A41.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

The Roughdown Common (designated SSSI) nature reserve to the west of the site will be protected
and development on the site will take full consideration of and be sympathetic to the nature reserve.
Measures to enhance the nature reserve should be brought forward, in liaison with the Box Moor
Trust.

293

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 305



Maylands Allocations

Growth Area HH17: Cupid Green Depot

Map 17

2.9haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Around 360 dwellings subject to master
planning.
Public open space.

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Development should normally be between three and five storeys, taking into account neighbouring
uses, including any sensitive uses. Lower building heights may be necessary close to existing
residential areas to the north.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Primary access is to be retained from Redbourn Road, with secondary access from Eastman Way.
Provide direct and convenient foot and cycle paths to connect to existing development and The
Nickey Line located on the southern boundary of the site.

Environmental Health:

Undertake ground contamination surveys and ensure that the site is safe for its intended use.
Investigate possible noise issues from the neighbouring employment sites and electric substation
and where necessary, identify appropriate mitigation measures to address any adverse impacts.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, utilise new landscape measures and structure to
connect with green corridors in the area, including the wildlife site (Nickey Line) adjacent to the
southern boundary of the site.

Historic, Environment and Cultural Heritage:

Conserve and where possible enhance the setting of the Corner Farmhouse, a listed building to
the west of the site.

294

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 306



Growth Area HH18: Kier Park

Map 18

1haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Around 250 dwellings subject to master
planning.
Around 1,400 square metres of office
floorspace.
Public open space.

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Building heights should be maximised in this location, taking into account neighbouring uses,
including any sensitive uses, including the well-established residential neighbourhood to the west.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Primary access is to be provided onto Maylands Avenue, utilising the existing road through the site.
Environmental Health:

Undertake ground contamination surveys and ensure that the site is safe for its intended use.
Flood Risk and Drainage:

Any development will need to have regard to the recommendations of the Level 2 Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment for this site.

295

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 307



Growth Area HH19: Wood Lane End

Map 19

1.88haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Around 160 dwellings
Public open space.

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Building heights should be maximised in this location, taking into account neighbouring uses,
including any sensitive uses. Lower building heights may be necessary close to existing residential
areas to the north. Proposals for tall and taller buildings will be considered in accordance with in
accordance with Policy DM41 - Heights of Buildings.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Primary access is to be provided onto Wood Lane End, utilising the existing road through the site.
Environmental Health:

Undertake ground contamination surveys and ensure that the site is safe for its intended use.
Investigate possible noise issues from the neighbouring employment sites and electric substation
and where necessary, identify appropriate mitigation measures to address any adverse impacts.

296

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 308



Growth Area HH20: Breakspear Way / Green Lane / Boundary Way, Maylands
Gateway

Map 20

6.60 haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land
use requirements

Employment development for offices, industrial and
storage or distribution use - providing around 48,000
sq. metres gross internal floorspace of offices,
24,000 sq. metres of industrial space or a mix of the
two.
The site is located in the Hertfordshire Innovation
Quarter Enterprise Zone and development (unless
complying with points 3 and 4 below) should consist
of green technological uses consistent with the aims
of the enterprise zone.
The southern part of the site fronting Breakspear
Way should be developed for offices, unless
marketing shows that there is no commercial interest
in such development.
Around 4,000 sq. metres of floorspace should be
provided in the form of small industrial or office units
of under about 400 sq. metres.
No more than 5,000 sq. metres of B8 storage or
distribution floorspace will be permitted on the site,
with no more than around 2,000 sq. metres in any
unit.

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Office development fronting Breakspear Way should provide high quality design in one or more
buildings, up to six storeys in height.
If office development fronting Breakspear Way is shown to be unviable, any industrial development
there should provide an active frontage to Breakspear Way, including the office element.

297

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 309



Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Access is to be provided from Green Lane
Pedestrian/cycle access is also to be provided from Buncefield Lane and Boundary Way.

Environmental Health:

Undertake ground contamination surveys and ensure the site is safe for its intended use
Investigate possible noise issues from neighbouring employment sites and main roads adjacent
and, where necessary, identify appropriate mitigation measures to address any adverse impacts.
Development of the northern half of the site will need to have regard to the requirements of the
consultation zone for Buncefield.

Landscape considerations:

Using indigenous species, incorporate screening between the site and the adjacent cemetery, so
as to not cause any visual harm.

Historic, Environment and Cultural Heritage:

Archaeological investigations are required prior to a planning application

Rest of Hemel Hempstead Allocations

Growth Area HH21: West Hemel Hempstead

Map 21

55.64haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Around 1,150 dwellings, subject to
masterplanning.
A community hub.
A new primary school (3ha).
A Gypsy and Traveller site for 7 pitches.
Public open space.
Extension of Shrubhill Common Nature
Reserve.

298

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 310



Site-specific requirements

Development of up to 1,100 homes to be delivered in accordance with hybrid permission (REF:
4/03266/18/MFA), unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Urban Design Principles:

Optimise the potential for views across the Bulbourne valley.
Limit buildings to two storeys normally.
Design the development to the highest sustainability standards possible.
Take the character of buildings in the Chilterns area as a guide to high quality attractive design.
Use traditional materials, such as red brick, clay tiles and timber boarding, where feasible.
Arrange buildings and routes to achieve natural surveillance, good pedestrian access to facilities
and an attractive relationship to open spaces.
Design, layout and landscaping to mitigate the impacts on the archaeological, heritage and ecological
assets within and adjoining the site and safeguard those adjoining the development.

Access, Highways and sustainable Transport:

Primary access from Long Chaulden and The Avenue.
Accommodate a bus route within the new neighbourhood.
Provide pleasant footpath and cycle access through the site to link with Chiltern Way, Hertfordshire
Way, the Grand Union Canal and the Chilterns AONB.
Plan good pedestrian and cycle access between neighbourhoods and to key services, such as bus
stops and community facilities.

Social and Community:

Provide public spaces in different parts of the development.
Provide a central focus with a “community square”, hall, shop and other commercial spaces, linked
to a bus service.
Locate the new 2 form entry primary school at the centre.
Design and manage the open space for clear, identifiable purposes.
Use open space to define different parts of the neighbourhood and help distinguish it from Chaulden.
Arrange the open space to ensure a pleasant, coherent and wildlife-friendly networks throughout
the neighbourhood.
Ensure that the layout and design of new sports provision is fit for purpose.
Support the enlargement of the Parkwood doctors’ surgery (either financially or within the new
neighbourhood).

Environmental Health:

Protect groundwater from pollution.
Landscape Considerations:

Soften views of housing from the countryside by use of tree planting, by retaining appropriate tree
belts and by siting open space carefully (particularly for views from Little Heath and Westbrook
Hay).
Provide a soft edge to the countryside and ensure visual and physical separation from Potten End
and Winkwell.
New strategic landscaping should mitigate the impact on the Bulbourne Valley.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

Retain hedgerows and trees.
Use native species in planting schemes.
Development will need to have regard to the Tree Perseveration Orders located both within and on
the edge of the development area.

Historic Environment and Cultural Heritage:

Protect the amenities and character of Pouchen End hamlet.
Protect the character of the listed Pouchen End Hall, which is in close proximity to the site.

299

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 311



Growth Area HH22: Marchmont Farm

Map 22

19.15haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Around 385 new homes subject to
Masterplanning.
A Gypsy and Traveller site for 5 pitches.
Public open space.

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Development should normally be two storeys in height, except where a higher element would create
interest and focal points in the street scene and is appropriate in terms of topography and visual
impact.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Primary access is to be provided from the Link Road (A4147)
Plan good pedestrian and cycle access to Henry Wells Square and to key services, such as bus
stops and community facilities.
Gypsy and Traveller pitches should have good access to the primary road network.

Social and community:

Enlarge Margaret Lloyd Park; arrange the open space to ensure a pleasant, coherent and
wildlife-friendly network linking to Hunting Gate Wood and Howe Grove.

Landscape Considerations:

Soften views of housing from the countryside by use of planting, by retaining appropriate hedges
and by siting open space carefully.
Provide a soft edge to the countryside to ensure visual and physical separation form Piccotts End.

Flood Risk and Drainage:

Incorporate a sustainable drainage system throughout the site including the use of green space as
a basin.

300

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 312



Growth Area HH23: Old Town

Map 23

2.71haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Around 90 dwellings subject to Masterplanning
and:
Around 1 hectare of public open space,
located mainly on the higher ground adjacent
to The Bounce and Townsend.

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Development should normally be two storeys in height. Heights of up to four storeys could be
considered acceptable where they would create interest and focal points in the street scene, and
would not be harmful to the historic character of the area.
Built form should act as a transition between the Old Town and the New Town.
Arrange new housing to provide active and attractive frontages to the main area of open space and
Fletcher Way.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Primary access to be provided from Fletcher Way.
Improve the east-west and north-south public footpaths.

Landscape Considerations:

Respect the landscape setting and character of the site.
Soften views of the development from across the valley and open countryside by the use of carefully
designed planting.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

Retain the existing important trees at the top of the hill adjacent to The Bounce and Townsend and
as many other trees as possible.

Historic, Environment and Cultural Heritage:

Development should conserve and where possible enhance the character of the Old Town
Conservation Area and the setting of its listed buildings, taking account of the steeply sloping nature
of the site.

301

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 313



Flood Risk and Drainage:

Incorporate a sustainable drainage system throughout the site including the use of green space as
a basin.

Growth Area HH24: Land at Turners Hill

Map 24

0.7haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Around 60 dwellings, subject to
masterplanning; and
Public open space;

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Development should normally be between three and five storeys, taking into account neighbouring
uses, including and sensitive uses and public open space.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Access is to be provided from Wood Lane.
Retain existing footpaths and provide new link between the site and Albion Hill.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, utilise new landscape measures and structure to
connect with green corridors in the area, including the woodland to the east (Tree Preservation
Order) and the wildlife site to the north.

302

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 314



Growth Area HH25: Land to R/O St Margarets Way / Datchworth Turn

Map 25

1.13haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Around 50 dwellings, subject to
masterplanning; and
Public open space;

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Development should normally be between two and three storeys in height, taking into account the
established residential areas to the east and west of the site.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Primary access to be provided from Green Lane.
Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, utilise new landscape measures and structure to
connect with green corridors in the area, including the retained open space to the north of the site.

303

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 315



Growth Area HH26: South of Green Lane

Map 26

2.03haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Around 80 dwellings, subject to
masterplanning; and
Public open space;

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Development should normally be between two and three storeys in height, taking into account the
prevailing nature of development in the area, including development proposed to the east (in St.
Albans City and District Council).

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Primary access to be provided fromWestwick Row, unless a more appropriate solution is identified
and agreed with Hertfordshire County Council prior to the submission of a planning application.

Historic Environment and Cultural Heritage:

Archaeological investigations required to be undertaken.

304

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 316



Growth Area HH27: Jarman Park - Out of centre retail allocation

Map 27

2haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Retail led development, including a possible
foodstore.
Food and drink uses, leisure uses and a hotel
also acceptable on part of the site.
The sale and display of clothing and footwear is
not acceptable, unless ancillary to the main use
of an individual unit.

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

The nature and scale of development should aim to maximise the use of the site and ensure no
significant adverse impact on Hemel Hempstead town centre.
Prominent frontages onto St. Albans Road/JarmanWay require high quality design and landscaping.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

A traffic study may be required and road works should accommodate traffic generation.
Environmental Health:

Undertake ground contamination surveys to ensure that the site is safe and suitable for the intended
use.

305

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 317



Growth Area HH28: Bunkers Park - crematorium allocation

Map 28

12.3haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Cemetery, crematorium and associated
infrastructure; and
Public open space.

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

The site should be comprehensively masterplanned to co-ordinate uses across the site.
Development should be single storey.
Design sensitive to character of rural buildings within wider area.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Access from Bedmond Road.
Minimise private vehicle access through the site.
New pedestrian and cycle links to be provided.
Retain bridleways, and public and permission rights of way.

Social and community:

Provide a new Chapel crematorium and remembrance chapel with a memorial garden.
Environmental Health:

Provide air quality assessment, including mitigation and monitoring measures as required.
Landscape Considerations:

Screen building and car parking from views to the south.
Use landscaping proposals to enhance Green Belt.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

Retain hedgerow and woodland boundaries.
As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, create new native woodland and natural planting
areas.
Prepare an open space management plan.

Historic, Environment and Cultural Heritage:

306

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 318



Protect listed buildings on Bunkers Lane from impact of development.
Flood risk and Drainage:

Incorporate a sustainable drainage system throughout the site including the use of detention pond.

307

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 319



Page 320



Berkhamsted

Berkhamsted Allocations

Growth Area Bk01: Land South of Berkhamsted

Map 29

33.45haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

Around 850 dwellings (including provision for
older people), subject to masterplanning,
A new community hub.
A primary school (3ha)
Public open space

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

The site will be brought forward with a masterplan showing a comprehensive phasing programme
for development.
Design codes will be developed alongside the preparation of any outline planning application and
agreed by means of condition.

Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport:

Primary highway access to be provided via Chesham Road with secondary access from Swing
Gate Lane.
Contribute towards off-site enhancements to the local road network, including but not limited to
junction improvements along Chesham Road, A416/Shootersway and A4251/Berkhamsted High
Street.

Social and Community:

The new community hub should include new community facilities, including a retail unit to serve
the day-to-day needs of new and existing residents.
Provide three hectares of land for and deliver a new primary school.

Environmental Health:

309

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 321



Investigate potential noise, air and light pollution impacts arising from the A41 and identify mitigation
measures as necessary.
Adopt basic radon protective measures.

Landscape Considerations:

Development will need to take account of and/or mitigate the following landscape sensitivities:

the prominent landform and intervisibility with the opposing rural valley sides with particular attention
to any views from or toward the Chilterns AONB;
the setting of and views from Ashlyns Hall Grade II* listed building;
the existing level of vegetative screening;
road noise from the A41 and views of pylons which have a detrimental influence on perception; and
the degraded pattern and structure opportunities to restore historic boundaries or connections.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, retain and enhance the designated wildlife site in the
south-eastern corner of the site.
Deliver Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) on-site to offset potential adverse effects
on the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC arising from recreational pressure. The scale and form of this
SANG will need to be agreed with Natural England in advance of the submission of an outline
planning application.

Historic Environment and Cultural Heritage:

Development must conserve and where possible enhance the setting of a number of listed buildings
in the area, including Ashlyns School, the Stables at Ashlyns Hall , and Ashlyns Hall.
Archaeological investigations required to be undertaken.

Growth Area Bk02: British Film Institute 

Map 30

3.2HaSite (Hectares)

310

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 322



Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

Around 90 dwellings, subject to
masterplanning.
Public open space.

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Provide a network of new pedestrian links with adjacent allocations.
Public open space should be designed in a manner that is easily accessible to existing communities
in the area.

Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport:

Access to be provided via Kingshill Way. If the existing access is insufficient for vehicular use due
to heritage constraints, alternative vehicular access should be provided to the east.
Contribute towards off-site enhancements to the local road network, including but not limited to
junction improvements along A416/Kingshill Way, Kings Road, Shootersway and A4251/Berkhamsted
High Street.

Environmental Health:

Investigate potential noise, air and light pollution impacts arising from the A41 and identify appropriate
mitigation measures as necessary.

Landscape Considerations:

Development will need to take account of and/or mitigate the following landscape sensitivities:

the quality of design, use of materials, scale, pattern and the response to the existing development
fronting onto Kingsway Hill;
making appropriate and sympathetic design responses to the listed building and its setting; and
The strong boundaries and edges of the parcel which help to create a visual separation between
the development of Berkhamsted from the wider landscape - notably a defensible edge toward the
A41.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, deliver new green corridors on site which connect
with proposed new wildlife corridors to the south of the site, along the A41.

Historic Environment and Cultural Heritage:

Conserve and enhance the setting of the Grade II listed Granary at Ernest Lindgreen House, located
on the northern edge of the site.
Archaeological investigations required to be undertaken.

311

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 323



Growth Area Bk03: Haslam Playing Fields

Map 31

6.56haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

Around 150 dwellings, subject to
masterplanning, once replacement sports
facilities have been provided on the site at
Haresfoot Campus.
Public open space.

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Provide a network of new pedestrian links with adjacent allocations.
Public open space should be designed in a manner that is easily accessible to existing communities
in the area.

Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport:

Access to be provided via Shootersway.
Provide a through route for vehicles for the allocated site (Growth Area Bk04) to the south-east of
the site. The road and footpath will need to be a standard suitable for adoption by the Highways
authority.
Contribute towards new/enhanced pedestrian and cycle links with Berkhamsted town centre and
train station, including off-site provision.
Contribute towards off-site enhancements to the local road network, including but not limited to
junction improvements along A416/Kingshill Way, Kings Road, Shootersway and A4251/Berkhamsted
High Street.

Environmental Health:

Investigate potential noise, air and light pollution impacts arising from the A41 and identify appropriate
mitigation measures as necessary.

Landscape Considerations:

Development will need to take account of and/or mitigate the following landscape sensitivities:

views to and from the valley and the wider rural landscape;

312

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 324



the existing development pattern of Berkhamsted;
the screening of the A41; and
the connection with Shootersway Playing Field.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, deliver a new wildlife site on the southern parcel of
the site which links into the adjacent network.

Growth Area Bk04: Land between Hanburys and A41

Map 32

4.67haSite (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

Around 70 dwellings, subject to masterplanning.
Public open space.
Southern part of the site to be predominantly
used to deliver a new wildlife site/corridor

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Provide a network of new pedestrian links with adjacent allocations
Public open space should be designed in a manner that is easily accessible to existing communities
in the area.

Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport

Access to be provided via the adjacent allocationHaslam Playing Fields, unless a suitable alternative
is identified and agreed with Hertfordshire County Council
Contribute towards new/enhanced pedestrian and cycle links with Berkhamsted town centre and
train station, including off-site provision.
Contribute towards off-site enhancements to the local road network, including but not limited to
junction improvements along A416/Kingshill Way, Kings Road, Shootersway and A4251/Berkhamsted
High Street.

Environmental Health:

313

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 325



Investigate potential noise, air and light pollution impacts arising from the A41 and identify appropriate
mitigation measures as necessary.

Landscape Considerations:

Development will need to take account of and/or mitigate the following landscape sensitivities:

views to and from the valley and the wider rural landscape;
the existing development pattern of Berkhamsted; and
screening of the A41.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, deliver a new wildlife site on the southern parcel of
the site which links into the adjacent network.

Growth Area Bk05: Blegberry Gardens (land adjacent to)

Map 33

3.5haSite (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

Around 80 dwellings, subject to
masterplanning,
Public open space

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Public open space should be designed in a manner that is easily accessible to existing communities
in the area.

Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport

Access to be provided from Shootersway.
Contribute towards off-site enhancements to the local road network, including but not limited to
junction improvements along A416/Kingshill Way, Kings Road, Shootersway and A4251/Berkhamsted
High Street.

314

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 326



Environmental Health:

Investigate potential noise, air and light pollution impacts arising from the A41 and identify appropriate
mitigation measures as necessary.
Undertake contaminated land investigations to ensure that the land is safe and suitable for the
intended use.

Landscape Considerations:

Development will need to take account of and/or mitigate the following landscape sensitivities:

Views from the wider rural landscape; primarily south of the A41 with improvements to the southern
boundary;
screening of the A41; and
maintaining or improving characterful boundaries to integrate and contain the development.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

Ensure new opportunities link with existing corridors in the vicinity of the site, including the Local
Wildlife Site to the north-west.

Historic Environment and Cultural Heritage:

Archaeological investigations required to be undertaken.
Flood Risk and Drainage:

Surface water run-off rates as a result of development of the site should not exceed existing
Greenfield run-off rates. Measures which achieve this should be discussed and agreed with
Hertfordshire County Council’s ecologist, flood engineer and the Environment Agency.

Growth Area Bk06: East of Darrs Lane

Map 34

22.73haSite (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

Around 200 dwellings, subject to
masterplanning.

315

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 327



Provide land to deliver a new secondary school.
A new public park.

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

The site will be brought forward with a masterplan showing a comprehensive phasing programme
for development.

Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport

Primary highway access to be provided from Shootersway
Contributions to be made towards improving the local road network, including along Shootersway
and Kings Road/A416.

Social and Community:

Provide land for, and contribute towards a new secondary school to be located towards the north
of the site with access provided from Darrs Lane or alternatively from within the site.

Environmental Health:

Undertake contaminated land investigations to ensure that the land is safe and suitable for the
intended use.

Landscape Considerations:

Development will need to take account of and/or mitigate the following landscape sensitivities:

the intervisibility across the valley and toward the AONB;
views into urban areas of Berkhamsted;
surrounding vegetated and embankment boundaries;
connections to the surrounding rural landscape including the Scheduled Monument and its setting
and the ancient woodland to the south; and
the culturally and visually interesting copse of trees.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

Deliver a new public park to serve the needs of existing and future communities in the area. This
public park should be located on land between Bell Lane and Durrants Lane, and deliver Suitable
Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) to offset recreational impacts on the Chiltern Beechwoods
SAC. The scale and form of this SANGwill need to be agreed with Natural England and the National
Trust (Ashridge Estate) in advance of the submission of an outline planning application

Historic Environment and Cultural Heritage:

Archaeological investigations required to be undertaken.
Conserve and enhance the route of Grims Ditch through the site. This land should remain
undeveloped and an appropriate buffer maintained.
Conserve and enhance the setting of the Grade II listed Old Cottage opposite Darrs Lane.

316

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 328



Growth Area Bk07: Lock Field, Northchurch

Map 35

2.2haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

Around 60 dwellings, subject to
masterplanning.
Public open space.

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Public open space should be designed in a manner that is easily accessible to existing communities
in the area.

Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport:

Access to be provided via New Road (B4506)
Contribute towards new/enhanced pedestrian and cycle links with Berkhamsted town centre and
train station, including off-site provision.
Contribute towards off-site enhancements to the local road network, including but not limited to
junction improvements along New Road (B4506) and High Street (A4251).

Environmental Health:

Investigate potential noise, air and light pollution impacts and vibration impacts arising from the
adjacent railway line and identify appropriate mitigation measures as necessary.

Landscape Considerations:

Development will need to take account of and/or mitigate the following landscape sensitivities:

Relationship to the Grand Union Canal, it’s setting and the associated views;
the long distance views of the AONB and the tree lined Ashridge horizon;
characterful riparian vegetation which offers screening; and
screening of negative infrastructure elements, such as the railway line.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, deliver enhancements to the wildlife corridor along
the Grand Union Canal.

317

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 329



Flood Risk and Drainage:

Surface water run-off rates as a result of development of the site should not exceed existing
Greenfield run-off rates. Measures which achieve this should be discussed and agreed with
Hertfordshire County Council’s ecologist, flood engineer and the Environment Agency.
Any development will need to have regard to the recommendations of the Level 2 Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment for this site.

Growth Area Bk08: Rossway Farm (land between Shootersway and A41)

Map 36

12.29haSite (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

Around 200 dwellings, subject to
masterplanning,
Public open space

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Public open space should be designed in a manner that is easily accessible to existing communities
in the area.

Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport

Access to be provided from Shootersway.
Contribute towards off-site enhancements to the local road network, including but not limited to
junction improvements along A416/Kingshill Way, Kings Road, Shootersway and A4251/Berkhamsted
High Street.

Environmental Health:

Investigate potential noise, air and light pollution impacts arising from the A41 and identify appropriate
mitigation measures as necessary.
Undertake contaminated land investigations to ensure that the land is safe and suitable for the
intended use.

Landscape Considerations:

318

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 330



Development will need to take account of and/or mitigate the following landscape sensitivities:

the influence of adjoing development on Growth Area Bk05 which will define the relationship of the
site with the existing development pattern;
the existing hedgerows and boundary vegetation;
the existing development pattern, mainly in the south-east of the parcel;
the woodland blocks within and adjacent to the parcel;
screening and views of the A41; and
the intervisibility with the wider valley to the west of the parcel.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

Ensure new opportunities link with existing corridors in the vicinity of the site, including the Local
Wildlife Site to the north-west.
As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, deliver a new wildlife corridor on site which connect
with proposed new wildlife corridors to the south-east of the site, along the A41.

Historic Environment and Cultural Heritage:

Archaeological investigations required to be undertaken.
Flood Risk and Drainage:

Surface water run-off rates as a result of development of the site should not exceed existing
Greenfield run-off rates. Measures which achieve this should be discussed and agreed with
Hertfordshire County Council’s ecologist, flood engineer and the Environment Agency.

Growth Area Bk09: Bank Mill Lane

Map 37

3.9haSite (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

Around 50 dwellings, subject to masterplanning,
Areas at greater risk of flooding will be
safeguarded from residential development and
deliver new public open space

Site-specific requirements

319

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 331



Urban Design Principles:

Public open space should be designed in a manner that is easily accessible to existing communities
in the area.

Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport

Access to be provided from London Road.
Contribute towards off-site enhancements to the local road network, including but not limited to
junction improvements along the A4251/London Road/High Street.

Landscape Considerations:

Development will need to take account of and/or mitigate the following landscape sensitivities:

the strong vegetated boundaries which create a sense of isolation and clear delineation of the parcel
from development along the northern and southern edges;
the relationship with the wider agricultural and valley floor landscape;
the intimate scale of the parcel and intact historic structure;
the key characteristics of Berkhamsted Conservation Area, primarily the setting of the Grand Union
Canal; and
views into the parcel from the surrounding valley.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, enhance the wildlife corridor along the River Bulbourne.
Historic Environment and Cultural Heritage:

Archaeological investigations required to be undertaken.
Flood Risk and Drainage:

No built development should take place within Flood Zones 2 and 3.
Surface water run-off rates as a result of development of the site should not exceed existing
Greenfield run-off rates. Measures which achieve this should be discussed and agreed with
Hertfordshire County Council’s ecologist, flood engineer and the Environment Agency.
Any development will need to have regard to the recommendations of the Level 2 Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment for this site.

320

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 332



Growth Area Bk10: Hanburys

Map 38

1.8haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

Around 40 dwellings, subject to
masterplanning.
Public Open Space.

Site Specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Focus development around a key green space.
Design the scheme to a high level of sustainability.
Building heights should not normally exceed 2 storeys.
Use good quality materials and provide gables to buildings.
Arrange buildings/routes to achieve natural surveillance, good pedestrian access, and an attractive
relationship to open spaces.
Link utilities to existing networks and provide extra capacity where needed to serve the development.

Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport:

Access to be provided via Shootersway.
Contribute towards off-site enhancements to the local road network, including but not limited to
junction improvements along A416/Kingshill Way, Kings Road, Shootersway and A4251/High Street.

Environmental Health:

Investigate potential noise, air and light pollution impacts arising from the A41 and identify appropriate
mitigation measures as necessary.

Landscape Considerations:

Design landscaping to allow views out of the site while ensuring secure boundaries.
Maintain a semi-rural frontage and mature planting to Shootersway.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, deliver new green corridors on site which connect
with proposed new wildlife corridors to the south of the site, along the A41.
Retain pond feature in line with ecological and drainage requirements.

321

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 333



Flood Risk and Drainage:

Surface water run-off rates as a result of development of the site should not exceed existing
Greenfield run-off rates. Measures which achieve this should be discussed and agreed with
Hertfordshire County Council’s ecologist, flood engineer and the Environment Agency.

Growth Area Bk11: Billet Lane (Jewson site)

Map 39

0.78haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

Around 40 dwellings, subject tomasterplanning.
No built development should take place within
Flood Zone 3.
Public open space.

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Public open space should be designed in a manner that is easily accessible to existing communities
in the area.

Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport:

Access to be provided from Billet Lane.
Contribute towards off-site enhancements to the local road network, including but not limited to
junction and highway improvements along Billet Lane and the A4251/High Street.

Environmental Health:

Undertake contaminated land investigations to ensure that the land is safe and suitable for the
intended use.

Landscape Considerations:

Development will need to take account of and/or mitigate the following landscape sensitivities:

Relationship to the Grand Union Canal, it’s setting and the associated views.

322

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 334



Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, deliver enhancements to the wildlife corridor along
the Grand Union Canal.

Flood Risk and Drainage:

No built development should take place within Flood Zone 3. More vulnerable development may
be acceptable in areas of Flood Zones 2, subject to the outcomes of the site specific Flood Risk
Assessment.
Surface water run-off rates as a result of development of the site should not exceed existing
Greenfield run-off rates. Measures which achieve this should be discussed and agreed with
Hertfordshire County Council’s ecologist, flood engineer and the Environment Agency.
Any development will need to have regard to the recommendations of the Level 2 Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment for this site.

Growth Area Bk12: Berkhamsted Civic Centre and Land to the Rear of High Street

Map 40

0.4haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

Replacement Civic Centre.
Around 16 dwellings.
Other town centre uses, where appropriate,
including social and community uses.

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Building heights should normally be two storey. Taller buildings are acceptable where they front
onto the High Street.

Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport:

Access to be provided from Clarence Road
Historic Environment and Cultural Heritage:

323

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 335



Retain existing building façade on to High Street.
Conserve and where possible enhance the special characteristics of Berkhamsted Conservation
Area.

Growth Area Bk13: Gossoms End / Billet Lane

Map 41

0.6haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

New foodstore at ground floor level.
Around 30 dwellings, subject to masterplanning

Site Specific requirements

Development to be delivered in accordance with planning permission (REF: 4/01317/14/MFA), unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.

Urban Design Principles:

High density houses or flats acceptable.
Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport:

Primary access to be provided from Gozzoms End and secondary access from Billet Lane.
Landscape Considerations:

Sensitive relationship of buildings to the River Bulbourne required.

324

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 336



Page 337



Tring

Tring Allocations

Growth Area Tr01: Dunsley Farm 

Map 42

37.25 haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

Around 400 new homes (including provision for
older people).
A General Employment Area in the west of the site
fronting London Road, consisting of 5.4 ha of new
employment land (providing around 20,000 sq.
metres of office, industrial and storage or industrial
floorspace) and 2 ha of land already partly in
industrial/commercial use (including Tring Brewery),
which has scope for further small-scale employment
development.
The employment development should consist
mainly of units of under around 2,000 sq. metres.
Around 4,000 sq. metres of the built employment
floorspace should comprise small units of less than
about 400 sq. metres.
A supermarket will be encouraged within the
General Employment Area, but only if a
supermarket cannot be delivered in Tring town
centre on the High Street/Brook Street site (Growth
Area Tr06) and it would not have a significant
adverse impact on the town centre.
A new fire and rescue station to replace the existing
facility on Growth Area Tr06 would be another
acceptable use within the General Employment
Area.
A new primary school (3ha).

326

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 338



Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Design codes/masterplans will be developed alongside the preparation of any outline planning
application and agreed by means of condition.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Vehicular access to be provided via London Road and Cow Lane. Primary access to employment
site to be provided separately via London Road.
Provision and/or contributions towards new/enhanced pedestrian and cycle links with Tring town
centre and Tring station.
Contribute towards off-site enhancements to the local road network, including but not limited to
junction improvements along Chesham Road, A416/Shootersway and A4251/Berkhamsted High
Street.

Social and community:

Provide three hectares of land for and deliver a new 2FE primary school.
Environmental Health:

Investigate potential noise, air and light pollution impacts arising from the A41 and A4251 and
identify appropriate mitigation measures as necessary.

Landscape Considerations:

Development will need to take account of and/or mitigate the following landscape sensitivities:

relationship and views from and toward the Chilterns AONB surrounding the parcel and important
views such as from the Ivinghoe Beacon;
the relationship to the development pattern of Tring to the north and the sports facilities and light
industrial yard to the west;
the localised intervisibility with the open landscape and fields;
urbanising influences of the A41 and London Road;
the setting of the historic designed landscape of Tring Park, a grade II Registered Historic Park and
Garden adjacent to the south-western boundary of the parcel;
the existing and historic field boundary pattern; and
the recreational value of the PRoW.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, investigate the existing Local Wildlife Site – Cow
Lane Farm Meadows for its existing and future potential as a strategic wildlife corridor.

Historic, Environment and Cultural Heritage:

Ensure development of the site protects and where possible enhances the setting of nearby heritage
assets, including Tring Park (Registered Park and Garden), Pendley Manor, Dunsley Bungalow
and its associated cartshed and piggery, and Cow Lane Lodge to Pendley Manor (all Grade II listed).

Flood risk and Drainage:

Surface water run-off rates as a result of development of the site should not exceed existing
Greenfield run-off rates. Measures which achieve this should be discussed and agreed with
Hertfordshire County Council’s ecologist, flood engineer and the Environment Agency.
Any development will need to have regard to the recommendations of the Level 2 Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment for this site.

327

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 339



Growth Area Tr02: New Mill

Map 43

14.7 haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

Around 400 new homes (including provision
for older people), subject to masterplanning;
and
Public open space

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Design codes will be developed alongside the preparation of any outline planning application and
agreed by means of condition.
The allocations New Mill and East of Tring should be planned together, preferably as a joint plan
or as a minimum through closely aligned masterplans taking an integrated approach to the joint
site area.
Ensure high quality GI and sustainable transport linkages are provided with the adjacent allocation
“East of Tring”, including to the new community hub, local centre and primary and secondary schools.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Primary highway access to be provided via Bulbourne Road.
Investigate secondary highway access onto Grove Road.
Contribute towards new/enhanced pedestrian and cycle links with Tring town centre and Tring
Station via East of Tring, including off site improvements.

Environmental Health:

Undertake contaminated land investigations to ensure that the land is safe and suitable for the
intended use.

Landscape Considerations:

Development will need to take account of and/or mitigate the following landscape sensitivities:

views of and from the Chilterns AONB and from locations such as Ivinghoe Beacon within the
AONB;
screening of urbanising features within views such as the silos north of the parcel;

328

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 340



the established vegetated buffers surrounding the parcel; and
the existing development pattern along Grove Road and Netherby Close.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, utilise new landscape mitigation measures and
structure to develop new green infrastructure corridors and connect with other corridors in the area,
including those proposed at East of Tring, such as the community hub spine.

Flood risk and Drainage:

Flood Risk Assessment will need to address and where necessary mitigate a higher risk of ground
water flooding on this site.

Growth Area Tr03: East of Tring

Map 44

119.11 haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

Around 1,400 new homes (including provision
for older people), subject to masterplanning.
A new neighbourhood centre to include a
sports/community hub.
A new primary school (3ha).
A new secondary school (13ha).
Public open space.

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Design codes will be developed alongside the preparation of any outline planning application and
agreed by means of condition.
The site will be brought forward with a masterplan showing a comprehensive phasing programme
for development to be prepared in consort with the local planning authority.

329

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 341



The allocations Tr03 East of Tring and Tr02 New Mill should be planned together, preferably as a
joint plan or as a minimum through closely aligned masterplans taking an integrated approach to
the joint site area.
Ensure high quality green and blue infrastructure and sustainable transport linkages are provided
with the adjacent allocation Tr02, including to the new community hub, local centre and primary
and secondary schools .

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Main vehicular access from Station Road and Bulbourne Road.
A new link road (30mph) to be provided connecting Bulbourne road and Station Road.
Provision and/or contributions to new/enhanced pedestrian and cycle links with Tring town centre
and Tring Station, including off-site provision.
Contribute towards off-site enhancements to the local road network, including but not limited to
junction improvements along Bulbourne Road, Station Road, Cow Lane and London Road.

Social and community:

The new neigbourhood centre should include new community facilities and a small parade of shops
to serve the day-to-day needs of new and existing residents.
Provide three hectares of land for and contribute towards the delivery of a new 3FE primary school
and associated playing fields.
Provide 13 hectares of land for and contribute towards the delivery of a new 6FE secondary school
and associated playing fields.
Deliver a new sports hub to serve existing and future residents of Tring and the surrounding area.

Environmental Health:

Consideration should be given to ControlledWaters as a receptor to potential ground contamination.
Undertake contaminated land investigations to ensure that the land is safe and suitable for the
intended use.

Landscape Considerations:

Development will need to take account of and/or mitigate the following landscape sensitivities:

the intervisibility with the wider landscape due to the elevated areas of the Chilterns AONB; namely
prominent locations such as the Ridgeway National Trail, Ivinghoe Beacon and associated downland
and chalk grassland, areas south of the parcel and along the AONB boundary;
the historic field pattern; areas of complex topography with associated higher levels of intervisibility;
well established internal and external hedgerows;
a strong scenic quality from the agricultural landscape and enclosure of the parcel;
the intact nature of areas of the parcel with few external influences; and
tree lined skylines;

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, create a new linear park along the entire north-eastern
boundary of the site, to create a new green infrastructure and biodiversity corridor that runs parallel
to the Grand Union Canal.
Create a new green corridor linking the new woodland area to the north east with the existing built-up
area of Tring along Marchcroft Lane to the adjacent allocation “New Mill”.

Historic, Environment and Cultural Heritage:

Development must conserve and where possible enhance the setting of a number of heritage assets
in the area, including Pendley Manor, its stable and lodge, the canal bridge at Marshcroft Lane (all
Grade II), and Marchcroft Lane (roman road).
Development of the site should respect the setting and separate identify of Bulbourne to the north,
which contains a number of designated and non-designated heritage assets.
Archaeological investigations required to be undertaken.

Flood risk and Drainage:

330

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 342



Surface water run-off rates as a result of development of the site should not exceed existing
Greenfield run-off rates. Measures which achieve this should be discussed and agreed with
Hertfordshire County Council’s ecologist, flood engineer and the Environment Agency.
Any development will need to have regard to the recommendations of the Level 2 Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment for this site.

Growth Area Tr04: Icknield Way

Map 45

1 haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Around 50 new homes, subject to
masterplanning

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Development of this site should follow the design principles set through the planning permission of
the wider site.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Access to be provided by the new road being delivered immediately to the west of the site (permitted
through application reference: 4/00958/18/MFA).

Environmental Health:

Investigate potential air and noise pollution from the adjacent employment site and where necessary
identify suitable mitigation.

331

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 343



Growth Area Tr05: Miswell Lane

Map 46

0.64 haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

Around 24 new homes, subject to
masterplanning; and
Public open space

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Careful design and landscaping required to ensure a satisfactory relationship with adjoining
commercial uses.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Access to be provided from Miswell Lane.
Environmental Health:

Investigate potential air and noise pollution from the adjacent employment site and ensure the site
is safe and suitable for its intended use.

Historic, Environment and Cultural Heritage:

Conserve the setting of the Grade II listed Windmill, located to the east of the site.

332

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 344



Growth Area:Tr06: High Street / Brook Street

Map 47

0.95haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

Retail led development, including a medium or
large supermarket.
Food and drink, and leisure uses.
Car parking, including at least as many public
parking spaces as at present.
Replacement of Local History Museum within the
new development.
Offices or housing above retail development and
on the Brook Street frontage.
Any redevelopment of Tring Fire and Rescue
Station and Tring Market Auctions will only be
permitted once replacement facilities are provided
elsewhere in the town (Growth Area Tr01 is a
potential new location for the fire and rescue
station).

Site specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

The height and character of any new development will need to be carefully considered against a
number of heritage assets in the area.

Access, Highways and Sustainable Transport:

Primary access to be provided from Brook Street.
Historic, Environment and Cultural Heritage:

Development should respect the site's location within and adjacent to Tring Conservation Area.
Conserve and where possible enhance the setting of a number of listed buildings in the area.

333

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 345



Page 346



Kings Langley

Kings Langley Allocations

Growth Area KL01: Land adjacent to Coniston Road

Map 48

0.33haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

Around 10 dwellings, subject to
masterplanning.
Public open space.

Site-specific requirements

Development to be delivered in accordance with the requirements of the permitted planning application
19/02735/MFA.

Urban Design Principles:

Two storey houses or flats to be provided.
Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport:

Access to be provided from Coniston Road.
Landscape Considerations:

Reinforce northern boundary to Green Belt.

335

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 347



Growth Area KL02: Land at Rectory Farm

Map 49

8.37haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

Around 200 dwellings subject to masterplanning
(55 units already permitted through application
reference 4/02282/18/MOA).
No built development should take place within
Flood Zones 2 and 3 (2.82ha) other than what
has already been permitted.
Areas at greater risk of flooding will deliver
significant public open space to serve new and
existing communities in Kings Langley.

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Green and Blue Infrastructure should be an integral part of the design process leading to connected
infrastructure both within the development and on neighbouring sites.

Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport:

Primary access to the site is to be provided via Hempstead Road, with additional pedestrian and
emergency access to be provided from Gade Valley Close/Kings Meadow.
Contribute towards new/enhanced pedestrian and cycle links with High Street/A4251, including
off-site provision and where possible along existing Public Rights of Way.
Contribute towards off-site enhancements to the local road network, including but not limited to
junction improvements along Hempstead Road/A4251 including Junction 20 of the M25.

Social and Community:

New linear park to be provided on land at higher risk of flooding, and should be designed in a manner
that is easily accessible to the local community.

Environmental Health:

Undertake contaminated land investigations to ensure that the land is safe and suitable for the
intended use.

Landscape Considerations:

336

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 348



Development will need to take account of and/or mitigate the following landscape sensitivities:

the connection with, and setting of, the Grand Union Canal and long distance trail;
the existing or degraded vegetated boundaries and areas of untidy scrub;
screening of the Hempstead Road and associated lighting;
the fragmented landscape structure land uses within the parcel; and
the characteristic rows of Lombardy poplar trees;

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, deliver biodiversity enhancements along the River
Bulbourne/ Grand Union Canal.
Utilise the new landscape structure to connect with existing green corridors and spaces in the area.

Flood Risk and Drainage:

No residential development should take place within Flood Zones 2 and 3.
Surface water run-off rates as a result of development of the site should not exceed existing
Greenfield run-off rates. Measures which achieve this should be discussed and agreed with
Hertfordshire County Council’s ecologist, flood engineer and the Environment Agency.
Any development will need to have regard to the recommendations of the Level 2 Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment for this site.

337

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 349



Page 350



Bovingdon

Bovingdon Allocations

Growth Area Bv01: Grange Farm

Map 50

10.11haSize Hectares

Allocated for (key development
and land use requirements)

Around 150 dwellings, subject to masterplanning;
Land to be safeguarded for a primary school (3ha); and
Public open space

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Green and Blue Infrastructure should be an integral part of the design process leading to connected
infrastructure both within the development and on neighbouring sites.

Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport:

Access to be provided via Green Lane.
Working with providers, contribute towards bus service enhancements in the area.
Connect to existing footpaths, cycleways and Public Rights of Way (PRoW) wherever possible to
enhance permeability and connectivity.
Contribute towards new/enhanced pedestrian and cycle links with Bovingdon High Street including
off-site enhancements.

Social and Community:

Provide three hectares of land for and contribute towards the delivery of a new primary school on
site.

Environmental Health:

Undertake contaminated land investigations to ensure that the land is safe and suitable for the
intended use.

Landscape Considerations:

Development will need to take account of and/or mitigate the following landscape sensitivities:

339

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 351



the layout and historic orientation and development pattern of Bovingdon;
existing hedgerows and screening; and
vegetated skylines.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, deliver biodiversity enhancements on site including
through new SuDS measures.
Ensure new opportunities link with existing corridors in the vicinity of the site, including the Local
Wildlife Site to the south west.

Historic Environment and Cultural Heritage:

Retain existing hedgerow on western corner of site to conserve the setting of the listed building
White Hart Cottage (Grade II).

Flood Risk and Drainage:

Surface water run-off rates as a result of development of the site should not exceed existing
Greenfield run-off rates. Measures which achieve this should be discussed and agreed with
Hertfordshire County Council’s ecologist, flood engineer and the Environment Agency.
Any development will need to have regard to the recommendations of the Level 2 Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment for this site.

Growth Area Bv02 - Chesham Road and Molyneaux Avenue

Map 51

1.9haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements)

Around 40 dwellings, subject to
masterplanning;
Public open space

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

340

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 352



Incorporate perimeter development with outward facing buildings, dual fronted properties will address
corners providing surveillance over areas of open space.
Limit buildings to two-storey given the height restriction associated with the air traffic control
navigation beacon at Bovingdon Airfield.
Potential for limited new vehicular crossovers to allow some direct access to properties facing
Chesham Road.
Layout, design, density and landscaping to relate well to existing housing, create a soft edge with
the countryside and secure a strong long term Green Belt boundary.

Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport:

Access to be provided from Molyneaux Avenue, with pedestrian access from Chesham Road.
Provide for cycle and pedestrian access to Hyde Lane and Lancaster Drive.

Landscape Considerations:

Ensure that development is well screened and that existing trees and hedges are retained where
possible. Local species of trees and hedges to be introduced where needed.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, ensure new opportunities link with existing corridors
in the vicinity of the site.

Flood Risk and Drainage:

Ensure that drainage infrastructure associated with HMP The Mount and the adjacent holding
reservoir for Bovingdon are maintained and where necessary, enhanced.
Surface water run-off rates as a result of development of the site should not exceed existing
Greenfield run-off rates. Measures which achieve this should be discussed and agreed with
Hertfordshire County Council’s ecologist, flood engineer and the Environment Agency.
Any development will need to have regard to the recommendations of the Level 2 Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment for this site.

341

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 353



Page 354



Markyate

Markyate Allocations

Growth Area Mk01: South of London Road

Map 52

6.25haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Around 150 dwellings, subject to
masterplanning
Areas at greater risk of flooding from the River
Ver (Flood Zone 2 and 3) will be safeguarded
from residential development and deliver new
public open space.

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Design codes will be developed along side the preparation of any outline planning application and
agreed by means of condition.
Green and Blue Infrastructure should be an integral part of the design process leading to connected
infrastructure both within the development and on neighbouring sites.

Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport:

Access to the site is to be provided via the eastern end of London Road (Cul-de-Sac).
The area in which the single-span bridge over the River Ver should be located is highlighted in blue
on the map.
Contribute towards new/enhanced pedestrian and cycle links with the historic centre of Markyate,
including off-site provision on London Road and where possible along existing Public Rights of
Way.
Contribute towards off-site enhancements to the local road network, including but not limited to
junction improvements along London Road.

Environmental Health:

343

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 355



Investigate potential noise, air and light pollution impacts arising from the A5183 and identify
appropriate mitigation measures as necessary.

Landscape Considerations:

Development will need to take account of and/or mitigate the following landscape sensitivities:

the existing development pattern of Markyate;
screening of London Road and the transport corridors at the valley bottom;
visual connection to the wider rural landscape and the Chilterns AONB to the south;
landform which creates elevated points with higher levels of intervisibility across the valley; the
River Ver and the habitats around it; and
screening of urbanising influences around the parcel along London Road.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, enhancements should focus along the River Ver.
Utilise the new landscape structure to connect with existing green corridors and spaces in the area.

Flood Risk and Drainage:

No built development should take place within Flood Zones 2 and 3, with the exception of the access
road and single span bridge.
Where the provision of new highway infrastructure adversely affects areas of higher flood risk,
compensatory flood alleviation measures will be required.
Surface water run-off rates as a result of development of the site should not exceed existing
Greenfield run-off rates. Measures which achieve this should be discussed and agreed with
Hertfordshire County Council’s ecologist, flood engineer and the Environment Agency.
Any development will need to have regard to the recommendations of the Level 2 Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment for this site.

Growth Area Mk02: Corner of Hicks Road / High Street

Map 53

0.1haSize (Hectares)

344

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 356



Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Around 13 dwellings, subject tomasterplanning

Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Predominantly two storey houses or flats to be provided
Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport:

Highway access to the site is to be provided from Hicks Road
Environmental Health:

Investigate potential noise and air pollution from the adjacent high street and identify appropriate
mitigation measures as necessary.

Historic Environment and Cultural Heritage:

Conserve and where possible enhance the setting of Markyate Conservation Area, and listed
buildings in the vicinity of the site.
31 High Street is of heritage merit, and the possibility of retaining the building as an option should
be explored.

Flood Risk and Drainage:

Surface water run-off rates as a result of development of the site should not exceed existing run-off
rates.Measures which achieve this should be discussed and agreed with Hertfordshire County
Council’s ecologist, flood engineer and the Environment Agency.
Any development will need to have regard to the recommendations of the Level 2 Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment for this site.

Growth Area Mk03: Watling Street

Map 54

0.23haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and land use
requirements

Around 20 dwellings, subject to
masterplanning; and
Public open space

345

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 357



Site-specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Explore opportunities for better integrating the site with the existing settlement.
Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport:

Highway access to the site is to be provided from Watling Street or from Hicks Road.
New pedestrian links to be provided directly onto Hicks Road and/or via Fleming Drive.

Environmental Health:

Investigate potential noise and air pollution from the adjacent A5183 and identify appropriate
mitigation measures as necessary.

Flood Risk and Drainage:

Surface water run-off rates as a result of development of the site should not exceed existing run-off
rates. Measures which achieve this should be discussed and agreed with Hertfordshire County
Council’s ecologist, flood engineer and the Environment Agency.
Any development will need to have regard to the recommendations of the Level 2 Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment for this site.

346

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 358



Page 359



Countryside

Allocations in the Countryside  

Growth Area Cy01: Upper Bourne End Lane/Stoney Lane (Bourne End Mills GEA
extension)

Map 55

1.16 haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and Land use
requirments)

Employment development for office, industrial
and storage or distribution use - providing around
4,400 sq. metres gross internal floorspace
The development should consist of units under
around 1,000 sq. metres gross internal
floorspace, including some small units of less
than about 400 sq. metres.

Site Specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

In accordance with Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD Part 3 Employment uses.
Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport:

Access to be provided from the Upper Bourne End Lane/Stoney Lane roundabout.
Environmental Health:

Undertake ground contamination surveys and ensure that the site is safe for its intended use.
Investigate possible noise issues frommain road adjacent and where necessary, identify appropriate
mitigation measures to address any adverse impacts.

Landscape Considerations:

Landscaping should be strengthened to screen views of the development from the east and from
south of the A41.

Flood Risk and Drainage:

348

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 360



Any new development will need to delivery sustainable drainage solutions, and have regard for the
existing Bourne Gutter and balancing pond adjacent to the northern part of the site

Growth Area Cy02: Bovingdon Brickworks

Map 56

1.8 haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and Land use
requirments)

Employment development for office, industrial
and storage or distribution use - providing around
8,000 sq. metres gross internal floorspace.
The development should consist of units under
around 1,000 sq. metres, including around 2,000
sq. metres provided in small units of less than
about 400 sq. metres.

Site Specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

In accordance with Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD Part 3 Employment uses.
Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport:

Enhanced access to be provided from Leyhill Road.
Footpath Bovingdon 008 to be diverted by c. 60 metres to the south east and provided with an
enhanced all-weather surface.

Environmental Health:

Undertake ground contamination surveys and ensure that the site is safe for its intended use.
Landscape Considerations:

Landscape buffers required within the site to screen the development from the open countryside
to the east.

349

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 361



Landscaping gateway into the site to be provided around the improved road access on Leyhill Road.
The eastern part of the existing brick storage area to the rear of the site should be removed and
the land returned to the countryside and landscaped.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

As part of delivering a net gain in biodiversity, utilise landscape measures and structures to connect
with green corridors in the area.

Proposal Site Cy03 - Watling Street Truck Stop, London Road, Flamstead

Map 57

16.21haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and Land use
requirments)

New/enhanced lorry park with associated
facilities

Site Specific requirements

Urban Design Principles:

Proposals will need to be in accordance with the Strategic Design Guide SPD Part 3 Employment
uses.
High quality of design to prominent A5183 frontage.
No built development should to take place on land to the east of the existing filling station or access
road to Hill & Coles Farm.

Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport:

Primary access to be retained from the A5183.
Landscape Considerations:

Utilise screening and planting to reinforce soft site boundaries and to minimise impact on the
surrounding countryside.

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure:

350

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 362



Deliver a net gain in biodiversity, utilise landscape measures and structures to connect with green
corridors in the area.
Delivery new tree-planning and woodland copse on land to the east of the existing filling station.

Flood Risk and Drainage:

Deliver floodplain compensatory measures along the River Ver.

Growth Area Cy04: Haresfoot Campus

Map 58

7.95haSize (Hectares)

Allocated for (key development and Land use
requirments)

Sports and leisure facilities for Berkhamsted
School to replace those provided at Growth
Area Bk03 - Haslam Playing Fields

Site Specific requirements

The design, layout and scale of development to be guided by its sensitive rural location and open setting.

Urban Design Principles:

Replacement sports facilities should take into account of its open countryside setting.
Access, Highways, and Sustainable Transport:

Access to be provided via the A416/Chesham Road.
Deliver new/enhanced sustainable transport links.

Social and Community:

The provision of sports facilities must be of equivalent or better quantity and quality to those which
are being replaced at Growth Area Bk03 - Haslam Playing Fields.

351

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 363



Renewal Area Designations

Renewal Area Cy05: Amaravati Buddhist Monastery

Map 59

3.0Size (Hectares)

Redevelopment/regeneration of place of worshipAllocated for (key development and Land use
requirements)

Site Specific Requirements
Phased approach to redevelopment of existing previously developed part of the site.
The design, layout and scale of development to be guided by its sensitive location in the Chilterns
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, open setting, and the ability of St Margarets Lane to serve the
site.
Existing landscaping to be retained and, where appropriate, enhanced. Replacement of some of
the existing buildings within the previously developed part of the site is acceptable provided they
are of a high quality of design.
Significant intensification of current activities on the site will not be acceptable.

352

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 364



Renewal Area Cy06: Bovingdon Airfield

Map 60

43.98haSize (Hectares)

Film and television productionAllocated for (key development
and Land use requirements)

Site Requirements

Development proposals will be considered against the requirements of Policy DM40 - Bovingdon Airfield
and other relevant local and national policies.

353

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 365



Page 366



Appendix 1 - List of Strategic Policies

List of Strategic Policies

Table 53

Policy TitleReference

Sustainable Development in DacorumSP1

Spatial Strategy for GrowthSP2

The Settlement HierarchySP3

The Housing StrategySP4

Delivering the Employment StrategySP5

Delivering the Retail and Leisure StrategySP6

Delivering InfrastructureSP7

Neighbourhood PlanningSP8

Monitoring and ReviewSP9

Climate Change and AdaptionSP10

Development in the Green BeltSP11

Development in the Rural AreaSP12

Delivering High Quality DesignSP13

Delivering Growth in Hemel HempsteadSP14

Hemel Hempstead Growth Area(s)SP15

Delivering Growth in BerkhamstedSP16

Delivering Growth in TringSP17

Delivering Growth in Kings LangleySP18

Delivering Growth in BovingdonSP19

Delivering Growth at MarkyateSP20

Delivering Growth in the CountrysideSP21

355

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 367



Appendix 2 - Identified Small Housing Sites (<1 Hectare)

Table 54

Net new dwellingsArea
(Ha)SettlementPROPOSED SITE ALLOCATIONS

1000.53Hemel HempsteadGrowth area HH05 - Market Square and Bus Station,
Marlowes

2000.86Hemel HempsteadGrowth Area HH06 - Civic Centre Site

500.32Hemel HempsteadGrowth Area HH07 - NCP Car Park

1800.22Hemel HempsteadGrowth Area HH10 - Symbio Place

600.62Hemel HempsteadGrowth Area HH12 - Two Waters / London Road
Junction

100.10Hemel HempsteadGrowth Area HH14 - 233 London Road

300.38Hemel HempsteadGrowth Area HH15 - Ebberns Road

2500.10Hemel HempsteadGrowth Area HH18 - Kier Park (plots 2/3)

400.77Berkhamsted /
Northchurch

Growth Area Bk11 - Jewson site (former durrants
Furniture, Billet Lane)

160.40Berkhamsted /
Northchurch

Growth Area Bk12 0 Berkahmsted Civic Centre and
land to the r/o High Street

240.78TringGrowth Area TRr05 - Miswell Lane

100.39Kings LangleyGrowth Area KL01 - Land adjacent to Coniston Road

130.12MarkyateGrowth Area Mk02 - Hicks Road / High Street

200.34MarkyateGrowth Area Mk03 - Watling Street (r/o Hicks Road
and High Street)

1,003Total dwellings on proposed allocations <1Ha

Table 55

Net new
dwellings

Area (Ha)SettlementReferenceSITESWITHPLANNINGPERMISSION

100.03Hemel Hempstead4/00383/16/OPA1 & 4 CLIFTON COURT, CORNER
HALL, HP3 9HN

200.09Hemel Hempstead4/00867/17/OPA235 - 245, MARLOWES, AND
1 SELDEN HILL, HP1 1PL

560.95Hemel Hempstead4/00557/17/OPAGROVELANDS BUSINESS CENTRE,
GROVELANDS, HP2 7TE

160.13Hemel Hempstead4/01821/17/OPA89 MARLOWES, HP1 1LF

1090.34Hemel Hempstead4/03007/18/NMABRYANSTON COURT,
SELDEN HILL, HP2 4TN

700.09Hemel Hempstead4/03150/17/OPAHAMILTON HOUSE,
111 MARLOWES, HP1 1BB

300.04Hemel Hempstead4/01352/18/OPAVANTAGE HOUSE, 23 MARK
ROAD, HP2 7DN

356

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 368



Net new
dwellings

Area (Ha)SettlementReferenceSITESWITHPLANNINGPERMISSION

260.3Hemel Hempstead4/01588/18/OPANEXUS HOUSE, BOUNDARY
WAY, HP2 7SJ

140.08Hemel Hempstead4/01505/18/MFA158b, MARLOWES, HP1 1BA

120.17Hemel Hempstead4/01618/19/OPAPARK HOUSE, PARK LANE, HP2 4TT

870.81Hemel Hempstead4/02772/15/MFAVIKING HOUSE,, SWALLOWDALE
LANE, HP2 7EA

100.04Hemel Hempstead4/00113/19/ROC188-190 MARLOWES, HP1 1BH

130.36Hemel Hempstead4/02493/17/ROC89 SUNNYHILL ROAD, HP1 1TA

1100.5Hemel Hempstead4/00049/19/RESLAND NORTH OF DACORUM WAY,
WEST HERTS COLLEGE,
MARLOWES, HP1 1HD

290.33Hemel Hempstead4/01198/18/MFALAND AT APSLEY MILLS, ADJ.
THE COTTAGE, LONDON ROAD,
APSLEY

320.2Hemel Hempstead4/02394/17/MFA81A AND MARCHMONT HOUSE,
MARLOWES, HP1 1LF

280.5Hemel Hempstead4/00995/18/MFALAND NORTH OF HARRIER CLOSE,
HARRIER CLOSE

200.11Hemel Hempstead4/03105/17/MFAGARAGESATSPRINGLANE,HP1 3QZ

550.78Hemel Hempstead4/00635/18/MFAZOFFANY HOUSE, 74-78
WOOD LANE END, HP2 4RF

140.25Hemel Hempstead4/03251/18/MFAYEWCOTTAGEANDSPRINGWOOD,,
LONDON ROAD, HP3 9TA

390.32Hemel Hempstead4/00834/18/MFAHEWDEN HIRE LTD,
TWO WATERS WAY, HP3 9BX

280.2Hemel Hempstead4/01381/18/MFAHEMPSTEAD HOUSE,
2 SELDEN HILL, HP2 4TN

330.11Hemel Hempstead4/01172/19/MFACHARTER COURT,
MIDLAND ROAD, HP2 5RL

850.74Hemel Hempstead4/02230/19/OPATechnology House,
Maylands Avenue, HP2 7DF

100.8Hemel Hempstead4/01524/09/FULBUNKERS FARM, BUNKERS LANE,
HP3 8SW

130.11Berkhamsted /
Northchurch

4/01272/17/OPAFELLS HOUSE, PRINCE EDWARD
STREET, HP4 3EZ

100.27Berkhamsted /
Northchurch

4/03109/17/MFAR/O 49 - 53 High Street, HP4 3QH

140.36Tring4/02762/16/OPAAKEMAN BUSINESS PARK,
AKEMAN STREET, HP23 6AF

150.76Chipperfield4/00658/19/MFAGARDEN SCENE CHIPPERFIELD,
CHAPEL CROFT, WD4 9EG

1,008Total on major development
sites (<1ha) with planning
permission

357

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 369



Table 56

721Total dwellings on other small sites (<1ha) with planning permission

358

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 370



Glossary

housing for sale or rent, for those whose needs are not met by the market
(including housing that provides a subsidised route to home ownership and/or
is for essential local workers); and which complies with one or more of the
following definitions:

Affordable housing:

a. Affordable housing for rent: meets all of the following conditions: (a) the
rent is set in accordance with the Government’s rent policy for Social Rent
or Affordable Rent, or is at least 20% below local market rents (including
service charges where applicable); (b)the landlord is a registered provider,
except where it is included as part of a Build to Rent scheme (in which
case the landlord need not be a registered provider); and (c) it includes
provisions to remain at an affordable price for future eligible households,
or for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative affordable housing provision.
For Build to Rent schemes affordable housing for rent is expected to be
the normal form of affordable housing provision (and, in this context, is
known as Affordable Private Rent).

b. Starter homes: is as specified in Sections 2 and 3 of the Housing and
Planning Act 2016 and any secondary legislation made under these
sections. The definition of a starter home should reflect the meaning set
out in statute and any such secondary legislation at the time of
plan-preparation or decision-making. Where secondary legislation has the
effect of limiting a household’s eligibility to purchase a starter home to
those with a particular maximum level of household income, those
restrictions should be used.

c. Discounted market sales housing: is that sold at a discount of at least 20%
below local market value. Eligibility is determined with regard to local
incomes and local house prices. Provisions should be in place to ensure
housing remains at a discount for future eligible households.

d. Other affordable routes to home ownership: is housing provided for sale
that provides a route to ownership for those who could not achieve home
ownership through themarket. It includes shared ownership, relevant equity
loans, other low cost homes for sale (at a price equivalent to at least 20%
below local market value) and rent to buy (which includes a period of
intermediate rent). Where public grant funding is provided, there should
be provisions for the homes to remain at an affordable price for future
eligible households, or for any receipts to be recycled for alternative
affordable housing provision, or refunded to Government or the relevant
authority specified in the funding agreement. (National Planning Policy
Framework, February 2019)

Informal recreation spaces, communal green spaces in and around housing and
village greens (Guidance for Outdoor Sport and Play: Beyond the Six Acre
Standard, Fields in Trust October 2015)

Amenity Greenspace

Areas designated by local authorities because they are not likely to achieve
national air quality objectives by the relevant deadlines. (National Planning Policy
Framework, February 2019)

Air quality management
areas (AQMAs):

A tree which, because of its age, size and condition, is of exceptional biodiversity,
cultural or heritage value. All ancient trees are veteran trees. Not all veteran
trees are old enough to be ancient, but are old relative to other trees of the same
species. Very few trees of any species reach the ancient life-stage. (National
Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Ancient or veteran tree:

359

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 371



An area that has been wooded continuously since at least 1600 AD. It includes
ancient semi-natural woodland and plantations on ancient woodland sites
(PAWS). (National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Ancient woodland:

Monitors the local planning framework and its key policies and proposals.
Information in this document will show trends and highlight possible problem
areas which future changes to planning policy will seek to address.

Annual Monitoring Report
(AMR)

A document setting out the 5 year housing land supply position on 1st April each
year, prepared by the local planning authority in consultation with developers
and others who have an impact on delivery. (National Planning Policy Framework,
February 2019)

Annual position statement
(residential land position
statement and employment
land position statement):

This assessment is required under The Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2010. Its purpose is to analyse a plan or proposals and ascertain
whether there would be any significant effects on internationally important nature
conservation sites (also referred to as Natura or European sites).

Appropriate Assessment
(also referred to as a
Habitats Regulation
Assessment):

There will be archaeological interest in a heritage asset if it holds, or potentially
holds, evidence of past human activity worthy of expert investigation at some
point. (National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Archaeological interest
(significance):

Parts of the countryside in Dacorum includes the Chilterns AONB. This is a
precious landscape whose distinctive character and natural beauty are so
outstanding that it is in the nation’s interest to safeguard it. The AONB is managed

Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty (AONB):

by the Chilterns Conservation Board. The Board was set up by a Parliamentary
Order under the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000. Its primary purpose
is to conserve and enhance the natural beauty of the AONB. However it does
have other purposes – i.e. to increase the public’s understanding and enjoyment
of the AONB and to foster the economic and social well-being of communities
within the AONB. The Council must also have regard to the primary purpose of
conserving and enhancing the natural beauty in exercising its functions.

See previously developed land (National Planning Policy Framework, February
2019)

Brownfield land:

Registers of previously developed land that local planning authorities consider
to be appropriate for residential development, having regard to criteria in the
Town and Country Planning (Brownfield Land Registers) Regulations 2017.

Brownfield land registers:

Local planning authorities will be able to trigger a grant of permission in principle
for residential development on suitable sites in their registers where they follow
the required procedures. (National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Purpose built housing that is typically 100% rented out. It can form part of a
wider multi-tenure development comprising either flats or houses, but should be
on the same site and/or contiguous with the main development. Schemes will

Build to Rent:

usually offer longer tenancy agreements of three years or more, and will typically
be professionally managed stock in single ownership and management
control. (National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Adjustments made to natural or human systems in response to the actual or
anticipated impacts of climate change, to mitigate harm or exploit beneficial
opportunities. (National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Climate change adaptation:

Action to reduce the impact of human activity on the climate system, primarily
through reducing greenhouse gas emissions. (National Planning Policy
Framework, February 2019)

Climate changemitigation:

Dacorum operates a CIL charge on most types of new development in their
area. This charge is based on a simple formulae which relate the size of the
charge to the size and character and location of the development paying it.

Community Infrastructure
Levy (CIL):

360

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 372



The process of maintaining and managing change to a heritage asset in a way
that sustains and, where appropriate, enhances its significance. (National
Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Conservation (for heritage
policy):

Areas of special architectural or historic interest, the character, appearance or
setting of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance.

Conservation Area:

Set out why an area has been defined as a Conservation Area; its different
character areas and appearance; buildings of significant interest; features for
retention and improvement and proposals for its future management.

Conservation Area
Appraisals:

To be considered deliverable, sites for housing should be available now, offer
a suitable location for development now, and be achievable with a realistic
prospect that housing will be delivered on the site within five years. In particular:

Deliverable:

a. sites which do not involve major development and have planning
permission, and all sites with detailed planning permission, should be
considered deliverable until permission expires, unless there is clear
evidence that homes will not be delivered within five years (for example
because they are no longer viable, there is no longer a demand for the
type of units or sites have long term phasing plans).

b. where a site has outline planning permission for major development, has
been allocated in a development plan, has a grant of permission in principle,
or is identified on a brownfield register, it should only be considered
deliverable where there is clear evidence that housing completions will
begin on site within five years. (National Planning Policy Framework,
February 2019)

A World Heritage Site, Scheduled Monument, Listed Building, Protected Wreck
Site, Registered Park and Garden, Registered Battlefield or Conservation Area
designated under the relevant legislation. (National Planning Policy Framework,
February 2019)

Designated heritage asset:

National Parks, Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and areas designated as
‘rural’ under Section 157 of the Housing Act 1985. (National Planning Policy
Framework, February 2019)

Designated rural areas:

To be considered developable, sites should be in a suitable location for housing
development with a reasonable prospect that they will be available and could
be viably developed at the point envisaged. (National Planning Policy Framework,
February 2019)

Developable:

Is defined in section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004,
and includes adopted local plans, neighbourhood plans that have been made
and published spatial development strategies, together with any regional strategy

Development plan:

policies that remain in force. Neighbourhood plans that have been approved at
referendum are also part of the development plan, unless the local planning
authority decides that the neighbourhood plan should not be made. (National
Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

For retail purposes, a location that is well connected to, and up to 300 metres
from, the primary shopping area. For all other main town centre uses, a location
within 300 metres of a town centre boundary. For office development, this

Edge of centre:

includes locations outside the town centre but within 500 metres of a public
transport interchange. In determining whether a site falls within the definition of
edge of centre, account should be taken of local circumstances. (National
Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

A site that provides entry-level homes suitable for first time buyers (or equivalent,
for those looking to rent), in line with paragraph 71 of this Framework (National
Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Entry-level exception site:

361

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 373



A procedure to be followed for certain types of project to ensure that decisions
are made in full knowledge of any likely significant effects on the
environment. (National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Environmental impact
assessment:

The process of producing a development plan document firstly requires the
assembly of an evidence base. The evidence base consists of studies, plans
and strategies produced by the Council and other organisations.

Evidence base:

Areas defined on the Proposals Map where a specified range of employment
generating uses (Classes B1, B2 and/or B8 of the Use Classes Order) are
directed, and where the loss of employment land to other uses is not normally
permitted.

General EmploymentAreas
(GEAs):

The range of rocks, minerals, fossils, soils and landforms. (National Planning
Policy Framework, February 2019)

Geodiversity:

An area of open land where strict planning controls apply in order, in particular,
to check the further growth of a large built-up area. It is designated in a
development plan.

Green Belt:

A network of multi-functional green space, urban and rural, which is capable of
delivering a wide range of environmental and quality of life benefits for local
communities. (National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Green infrastructure (GI):

Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, including such
persons who on grounds only of their own or their family's or dependants'
educational or health needs or old age have ceased to travel temporarily, but

Gypsies and Travellers:

excluding members of an organised group of travelling showpeople or circus
people travelling together as such. (Planning policy for traveller sites, August
2015)

A "pitch" means a pitch on a gypsy and traveller site

Any site which would be included within the definition at regulation 8 of the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 for the purpose of those
regulations, including candidate Special Areas of Conservation, Sites of

Habitats site:

Community Importance, Special Areas of Conservation, Special Protection Areas
and any relevant Marine Sites. (National Planning Policy Framework, February
2019)

A combination of procedures, methods and tools that systematically judges the
potential, and sometimes unintended effects of a policy, plan, programme or
project on the health of a population and the distribution of those effects within
the population and identifies appropriate actions to manage those effects.

Health Impact Assessment:

A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as having a
degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of
its heritage interest. It includes designated heritage assets and assets identified
by the local planning authority (including local listing). (National Planning Policy
Framework, February 2019)

Heritage asset:

A 50 year vision for the wildlife and natural habitats of Hertfordshire and provides
guidance on the protection, restoration and re-creating a sustainable level of
biodiversity in the country.

Hertfordshire Biodiversity
Action Plan

All aspects of the environment resulting from the interaction between people
and places through time, including all surviving physical remains of past human
activity, whether visible, buried or submerged, and landscaped and planted or
managed flora. (National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Historic environment:

362

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 374



Measures net additional dwellings provided in a local authority area against the
homes required, using national statistics and local authority data. The Secretary
of State will publish the Housing Delivery Test results for each local authority in
England every November. (National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Housing Delivery Test:

Connecting cities or towns.Inter-urban:

All international sites (Special Areas of Conservation, Special Protection Areas,
and Ramsar sites), national sites (Sites of Special Scientific Interest) and locally
designated sites including Local Wildlife Sites. (National Planning Policy
Framework, February 2019)

International, national and
locally designated sites of
importance for biodiversity:

Also referred to as the ‘Primary Shopping Area’; see NPPF (paragraph 2.3 and
Annex 2)

Key Shopping Area

Local Area for Play that relate to a minimum standards of Provision.LAP

Local Equipped Area for Play that relate to a minimum standards of Provision.LEAP

A building included in a list compiled or approved by the Secretary of State. It
includes any object or structure fixed to the building and any object structure
within the cartilage of the building which, although not fixed to the building,
formed part of the land and has done so since July 1948.

Listed Building:

An Order made by a local planning authority (under the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990) that grants planning permission for a specific development
proposal or classes of development. (National Planning Policy Framework,
February 2019)

Local Development Order
(LDO):

A body, designated by the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and
Local Government, established for the purpose of creating or improving the
conditions for economic growth in an area. (National Planning Policy Framework,
February 2019)

Local Enterprise
Partnership (LEP):

The number of homes identified as being needed through the application of the
standard method set out in national planning guidance (or, in the context of
preparing strategic policies only, this may be calculated using a justified
alternative approach as provided for in paragraph 60 of this Framework). (National
Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Local housing need:

A body, designated by the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural
Affairs, established for the purpose of protecting and improving the natural
environment in an area and the benefits derived from it. (National Planning Policy
Framework, February 2019)

Local Nature Partnership:

Places identified as having wildlife or geological features that are of special
interest locally. They offer people special opportunities to study or learn about
nature, or simply to enjoy it.

Local Nature Reserves
(LNRs):

The public authority whose duty it is to carry out specific planning functions for
a particular area. All references to local planning authority include the district
council, London borough council, county council, Broads Authority, National

Local Planning Authority
(LPA):

Park Authority, the Mayor of London and a development corporation, to the
extent appropriate to their responsibilities. (National Planning Policy Framework,
February 2019)

A plan for the future development of a local area, drawn up by the local planning
authority in consultation with the community. In law this is described as the
development plan documents adopted under the Planning and Compulsory

Local Plan:

Purchase Act 2004. A local plan can consist of either strategic or non-strategic
policies, or a combination of the two. (National Planning Policy Framework,
February 2019)

363

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 375



The Transport Act 2000 introduced a statutory requirement for local transport
authorities to produce a Local Transport Plan (LTP) every 5 years and to keep
it under review. The plan sets out the statuory framework and policies on how

Local Transport Plan (LTP):

transport can help deliver a positive future vision by considering safe and efficent
travel while supporting economic growth, meeting housing needs, improving
public health and reducing environmental damage. The plan also considers how
future planning decisions and emerging technology might affect the way transport
needs to be provided in the longer term.

Retail development (including warehouse clubs and factory outlet centres);
leisure, entertainment and more intensive sport and recreation uses (including
cinemas, restaurants, drive-through restaurants, bars and pubs, nightclubs,

Main town centre uses:

casinos, health and fitness centres, indoor bowling centres and bingo halls);
offices; and arts, culture and tourism development (including theatres, museums,
galleries and concert halls, hotels and conference facilities). (National Planning
Policy Framework, February 2019)

For housing, development where 10 or more homes will be provided, or the site
has an area of 0.5 hectares or more. For non-residential development it means
additional floorspace of 1,000m2 or more, or a site of 1 hectare or more, or as

Major development:

otherwise provided in the Town andCountry Planning (DevelopmentManagement
Procedure) (England) Order 2015. (National Planning Policy Framework,
February 2019)

A high quality, high capacity passenger transport systemMass Rapid Transit (MRT):

Replacing a saturated means of transport with another to make the first less
congested.

Modal shift:

Multi-Use Games Area that relate to a minimum standards of Provision.MUGA

Interchange between one mode of any type of transport and another for example
between bus and train. It also considers interchange between public transport
and the feeder modes used to get to and from the interchange for example walk,
cycle or motor vehicle.

Multi-modal transport
interchanges (MMTIs):

The National Planning Policy Framework sets out the Government’s planning
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. The guidance
is to be used by local planning authorities in drawing up plans and determining
planning applications.

National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF):

Woodland, scrub, grassland, wetlands, open and running water, and open access
land.(Guidance for Outdoor Sport and Play: Beyond the Six Acre Standard,
Fields in Trust October 2015)

Natural and semi-natural
greenspaces

Neighbourhood Equipped Area for Play that relate to a minimum standards of
Provision.

NEAP

An Order made by a local planning authority (under the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990) through which parish councils and neighbourhood forums
can grant planning permission for a specific development proposal or classes
of development. (National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Neighbourhood
Development Order (NDO):

A plan prepared by a parish council or neighbourhood forum for a designated
neighbourhood area. In law this is described as a neighbourhood development
plan in the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. (National Planning
Policy Framework, February 2019)

Neighbourhood Plan:

Policies contained in a neighbourhood plan, or those policies in a local plan that
are not strategic policies. (National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Non-strategic policies:

364

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 376



People over or approaching retirement age, including the active, newly retired
through to the very frail elderly; and whose housing needs can encompass
accessible, adaptable general needs housing through to the full range of
retirement and specialised housing for those with support or care needs. (National
Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Older people:

Areas of open space greater than 1 hectare in size that are formally identified
on the Policies Map and where its openness is protected from development
through planning policy.

Open land:

All open space of public value, including not just land, but also areas of water
(such as rivers, canals, lakes and reservoirs) which offer important opportunities
for sport and recreation and can act as a visual amenity. (National Planning
Policy Framework, February 2019)

Open space:

A location which is not in or on the edge of a centre but not necessarily outside
the urban area. (National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Out of centre:

Engage in more business than can be supported by the market.Over trading:

Formal green spaces including urban parks, country parks, forest parks and
formal gardens (Guidance for Outdoor Sport and Play: Beyond the Six Acre
Standard, Fields in Trust October 2015)

Parks and Gardens

People have a disability if they have a physical or mental impairment, and that
impairment has a substantial and long-term adverse effect on their ability to
carry out normal day-to-day activities. These persons include, but are not limited
to, people with ambulatory difficulties, blindness, learning difficulties, autism and
mental health needs. (National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

People with disabilities:

A mixed tenure development. It describes an urban planning strategy in which
a variety of residents live in a mixed community through the 'sprinkling' of
affordable housing amongst market housing.

Pepper Potting

A form of planning consent which establishes that a site is suitable for a specified
amount of housing-led development in principle. Following a grant of permission
in principle, the site must receive a grant of technical details consent before
development can proceed. (National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Permission in principle:

A web-based resource which brings together planning guidance on various
topics into one place.

PlanningPracticeGuidance
(PPG):

A legal agreement entered into under section 106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 to mitigate the impacts of a development proposal .(National
Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Planning obligation:

The whole of a site which encompasses at least one playing pitch as defined in
the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015. (National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Playing field:

Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilage
of the developed land (although it should not be assumed that the whole of the
curtilage should be developed) and any associated fixed surface infrastructure.

Previously developed land
(PDL):

This excludes: land that is or was last occupied by agricultural or forestry
buildings; land that has been developed for minerals extraction or waste disposal
by landfill, where provision for restoration has been made through development
management procedures; land in built-up areas such as residential gardens,
parks, recreation grounds and allotments; and land that was previously developed
but where the remains of the permanent structure or fixed surface structure have
blended into the landscape. (National Planning Policy Framework, February
2019)

Defined area where retail development is concentrated. (National Planning Policy
Framework, February 2019)

Primary shopping area:

365

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 377



Species and Habitats of Principal Importance included in the England Biodiversity
List published by the Secretary of State under section 41 of the Natural
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. (National Planning Policy
Framework, February 2019)

Priority habitats and
species:

Small sites used for affordable housing in perpetuity where sites would not
normally be used for housing. Rural exception sites seek to address the needs
of the local community by accommodating households who are either current

Rural exception sites:

residents or have an existing family or employment connection. A proportion of
market homes may be allowed on the site at the local planning authority’s
discretion, for example where essential to enable the delivery of affordable units
without grant funding.(National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

A legal agreement between an applicant seeking planning permission and the
local planning authority used to mitigate the impact of new developments on the
local community and infrastructure

Section 106:

Housing built by an individual, a group of individuals, or persons working with
or for them, to be occupied by that individual. Such housing can be either market
or affordable housing. A legal definition, for the purpose of applying the Self-build
and CustomHousebuilding Act 2015 (as amended), is contained in section 1(A1)
and (A2) of that Act. (National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Self-build and custom-build
housing:

A planning principle that seeks to identify, allocate or develop certain types or
locations of land before others. For example, town centre retail sites before
out-of-town retail sites.

Sequential approach:

The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not fixed
and may change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting
may make a positive or negative contribution to the significance of an asset,
may affect the ability to appreciate that significance or may be neutral. (National
Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Setting of a heritage asset:

Areas defined by regulation 3 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 which have been given special protection as important
conservation sites. (National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Special Areas of
Conservation (SAC):

Sites designated by Natural England under the Wildlife and Countryside Act
1981. (National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Site of Special Scientific
Interest (SSSI):

A plan containing strategic policies prepared by a Mayor or a combined authority.
It includes the London Plan (prepared under provisions in the Greater London
Authority Act 1999) and plans prepared by combined authorities that have been

Spatial development
strategy:

given equivalent plan-making functions by an order made under the Local
Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 (as
amended). (National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

A document that sets out how the Council will involve the community and other
stakeholders in the production of the Local Development Framework, planning
applications and conservation areas. The Council’s most recent SCI was adopted
in September 2019.

Statement of Community
Involvement (SCI):

Pockets of habitat that, while not necessarily connected, facilitate the movement
of species across otherwise inhospitable landscapes. (National Planning Policy
Framework, February 2019)

Stepping stones:

A key component of the evidence base which identifies land for housing and
assesses the deliverability and developability of sites. Such assessments are
required by the National Planning Policy Framework.

Strategic Housing Land
Availability Assessment
(SHLAA):

A procedure (set out in the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes
Regulations 2004) which requires the formal environmental assessment of certain
plans and programmes which are likely to have significant effects on the
environment. (National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Strategic Environmental
Assessment (SEA):

366

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 378



Policies and site allocations which address strategic priorities in line with the
requirements of Section 19 (1B-E) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004. (National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Strategic policies:

Sites within the urban area whose short-term development is fundamental to
the delivery of the vision for that particular town or village.

Strategic site:

Documents which add further detail to the policies in the development plan. They
can be used to provide further guidance for development on specific sites, or
on particular issues, such as design. Supplementary planning documents are
capable of being a material consideration in planning decisions but are not part
of the development plan. (National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

Supplementary Planning
Documents (SPDs):

Any efficient, safe and accessible means of transport with overall low impact on
the environment, including walking and cycling, low and ultra low emission
vehicles, car sharing and public transport. (National Planning Policy Framework,
February 2019)

Sustainable transport
modes:

A key part of a managing and reducing flood risk on a site or area. SuDS are a
range of approaches to surface water drainage management including:

Sustainable Drainage
Systems (SuDs):

Source control measures including rainwater recycling and drainage;
Infiltration devices to allow water to soak into the ground, that can include
individual soakaways and communal facilities;
Filter strips and swales, which are vegetated features that hold and drain
water downhill mimicking natural drainage patterns;
Filter drains and porous pavements to allow rainwater and run-off to infiltrate
into permeable material below ground and provide storage if needed; and
Basins and ponds to hold excess water after rain and allow controlled
discharge that avoids flooding.

An appraisal of local development documents against their environmental, social
and economic impacts. This often incorporates Strategic Environmental
Assessment (SEA), required for some plans and proposals under European law.

Sustainability Assessment
(SA):

Area defined on the local authority’s policies map, including the primary shopping
area and areas predominantly occupied by main town centre uses within or
adjacent to the primary shopping area. References to town centres or centres

Town centre:

apply to city centres, town centres, district centres and local centres but exclude
small parades of shops of purely neighbourhood significance. Unless they are
identified as centres in the development plan, existing out-of-centre
developments, comprising or including main town centre uses, do not constitute
town centres. (National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

A comprehensive and systematic process that sets out transport issues relating
to a proposed development. It identifies measures required to improve
accessibility and safety for all modes of travel, particularly for alternatives to the

Transport assessment:

car such as walking, cycling and public transport, and measures that will be
needed deal with the anticipated transport impacts of the development. (National
Planning Policy Framework, February 2019)

A simplified version of a transport assessment where it is agreed the transport
issues arising from development proposals are limited and a full transport
assessment is not required.(National Planning Policy Framework, February
2019)

Transport statement:

Policy which presents a shift in emphasis to increase rates of travel by more
sustainable modes by increasing the attractiveness of alternative forms of travel
so that those trips that can only feasibly be made by the car can be undertaken
without suffering the effects of a signigicant worsening of congestion.

Transport User Hierarchy:

367

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 379



A long-termmanagement strategy for an organisation or site that seeks to deliver
sustainable transport objectives and is regularly reviewed. (National Planning
Policy Framework, February 2019)

Travel plan:

Members of a group organised for the purposes of holding fairs, circuses or
shows (whether or not travelling together as such). This includes such persons
who on the grounds of their own or their family's or dependants' more localised

Travelling showpeople:

pattern of trading, educational or health needs or old age have ceases to travel
temporaily, but excludes Gypsies and Travellers. (Planning policy for traveller
sites, August 2015)

A "plot" means a pitch for travelling showpeople.

Areas of habitat connecting wildlife populations. (National Planning Policy
Framework, February 2019)

Wildlife corridor:

Wildlife Sites are the most important places for wildlife outside legally protected
land such as Nature Reserves or Sites of Special Scientific Interest. In 2010
there were almost 2,000 Wildlife Sites in Hertfordshire, totalling 17,215ha, and

Wildlife site:

covering over 10% of the county. 246 of these sites are in the Dacorum District,
covering 3,131.5ha. They include meadows, ponds, woodland and urban green
space. This county-based system is now acknowledged and promoted nationally
by DEFRA and applied across England. The Wildlife Sites Partnership in
Hertfordshire includes HMWT, HBRC, Natural England, the Countryside
Management Service, Chilterns AONB and the Environment Agency, and is led
and coordinated by HMWT.

Sites not specifically identified in the development plan. (National Planning Policy
Framework, February 2019)

Windfall sites:

368

Dacorum Emerging Strategy for Growth (2020 - 2038)

Page 380



1

Report for: Strategic Planning and Environment 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee

Date of meeting: 23 September 2020

Part: 1

If Part II, reason:

Title of report: Government Consultations on Changes to the 
Planning System

Contact: Councillor Graham Sutton, Portfolio Holder for Planning and 
Infrastructure

Author/Responsible Officer: 
 Alex Robinson/ Stephen Mendham – Strategic Planning 

Team
 James Doe – Assistant Director: Planning, Development 

and Regeneration

Purpose of report: To consult the Committee on the Consultation Papers:

1. Government White Paper “Planning for the Future”; and
2. Government consultation “Changes to the current planning 
system”

Recommendations The Committee notes the draft response to the Consultation 
Papers and provides any views to be included in the final 
responses to be issued to Government. 

Period for post 
policy/project 
review

Following the consultation period for the Consultation Papers 
which ends on 1 October 2020 the Government will publish its 
reports on responses. No date has been set for their 
publication. 

Corporate 
Objectives:

To persuade and inform Government of the impact of any 
changes to the planning system proposed in the Consultation 
Papers. Responses to the Consultation Papers should support 
the following objectives:

 Safe and clean environment: e.g. support policies in the 
Local Plan that promote a safe built environment

 Dacorum delivers: e.g. helps provides a clear 
framework upon which planning decisions can be 
made.

Implications: Financial

None directly associated with this report.  

Value for money

Page 381

Agenda Item 7



2

‘Value for money’ 
implications Proposals contained within the Consultation Papers would if 

implemented contain a significant financial implication on the 
delivery of services to the local community. The responses 
seek to ensure that “value for money” would continue to be 
delivered.  

Risk implications The Consultation Papers are light in detail in a number of 
significant areas which makes a full risk assessment difficult at 
this point. A number of factors are apparent:

1. This would be the most significant change to the planning 
system in over 70 years which potentially carries significant 
financial and human resources implications.

2. The proposals contained within the Consultation Papers if 
implemented would limited local democracy at certain stages 
of the planning process.

3. Potential delay to the current Local Plan making process as 
uncertainty is introduced as to future requirements and 
processes, including any transitionary period.

4. Uncertainty as to how infrastructure in the future will be 
funded and delivered.

Community Impact 
Assessment Not required for the purposes of consultation responses.

Health and safety 
Implications

None directly.

Consultees: Officers have been consulted on the draft responses to the 
Consultation Papers as follows:

 Strategic Planning and Regeneration 
 Development Management
 Strategic Planning Team
 Strategic Housing Team
 Corporate Director Housing and Regeneration

Background 
papers:

1. Appendix 1: Dacorum Borough Council Covering Letter
2. Appendix 2: Draft Response to the White Paper (Planning 

for the Future)
3. Appendix 3: Draft Response on changes to the current 

planning system.
4. Planning for the Future – White Paper August 2020
5. Changes to the current planning system - Consultation on 

changes to planning policy and regulations.

Glossary of 
acronyms and any 
other abbreviations 

The White Paper: Government White Paper – “Planning for the 
Future” published on 6 August 2020

Page 382



3

used in this report: Second Consultation Paper: The Government consultation 
paper “Changes to the current planning system” published on 6 
August 2020

Consultation Papers: the White Paper and the Second 
Consultation Paper together.

1.0    Background to the Consultation Papers

1.1 On 6 August 2020 the Government published the Consultation Papers which 
contain a large number of proposed and radical reforms to the planning 
system. 

1.2 The principal aim of the reforms proposed is to deliver more homes by way of a 
comprehensive overhaul of the planning system. The proposals “seek a 
significantly simpler, faster and more predictable system.” 1 

1.3 The reforms proposed in the White Paper are unlikely to be in place in the very 
short term, as a number of very significant issues would be need to be 
addressed.

1.4 As a result, the current planning system will remain in place for some time 
before new legislation can be introduced and the detail of any transitional 
arrangements to be prepared by Government are known. In order to introduce 
reforms to the planning system in this intervening timeframe the Government 
are proposing a number of short term and easier to implement reforms in its 
Second Consultation Paper (Changes to the current planning system).

1.5 Whilst a number of reforms proposed in the Consultation Papers will be 
welcomed (such as the desire to speed up and simplify the plan-making and 
decision-making processes), there are many more proposed reforms that are of 
concern. These matters are detailed below. 

2.0 The White Paper

2.1 The consultation seeks views on proposals for reform of the planning system 
and aims “to streamline and modernise the planning process, improve 
outcomes on design and sustainability, reform developer contributions and 
ensure more land is available for development”. 

2.2 There are three pillars for reform which are supported by 24 proposals. The 
three pillars are:

 Pillar One – Planning for development. A review of how development is 
planned.

 Pillar Two – Planning for beautiful and sustainable places. Bringing a 
focus to design and sustainability.

 Pillar Three – Planning for infrastructure and connected places. 
Reforming how infrastructure is delivered.

2.3 Whilst the White Paper has identified many symptoms of the problem in 
delivering more homes its proposed solutions seem misguided and unlikely to 

1 Foreword from the Secretary of State to the White Paper

Page 383



4

achieve their stated aims. Officers are concerned that there is little appreciation 
of the wider role of the planning system in delivering sustainable development, 
social, environmental and economic, which goes beyond the delivery of more 
homes. The recognition in the White Paper of the importance of planning to 
deliver wider policy objectives is welcomed. However, the White Paper does 
not look at the other key elements of development system that need to be 
addressed if the Government’s stated objectives are to be achieved, such as 
the roles of the land market, the construction sector, and the issue of skills, 
resources and capacity across the planning system and those who are involved 
with it. 

2.4 A number of key elements within the White Paper are set out below under the 
heading of each pillar.

Pillar One 
General 
approach

A number of proposals will curtail local democracy, including 
the exclusion of local elected members from the decision 
making process. 

Front ended engagement with the community on plan 
making restricts local community involvement on 
development to plan making only. This is likely to be once 
every 5 years.

A 30 month plan making window may not be feasible, 
especially as Design Codes for all growth areas need to be 
in place prior to adoption of a Local Plan.

Delivering the reforms will be challenging to local planning 
authorities and delivery of the wide ranging reforms is 
unlikely to be achievable with current resources and 
budgets
  

Simplification 
of the role of 
land use plans 
to three types 
of land 
(Proposal 1) 

The definitions of the proposed categories (Growth Areas, 
Renewal Areas and Protected Areas) are too broad and 
their simplicity belies reality.

Growth Areas – land identified for “substantial 
development”

 No definition is provided as to what may constitute 
substantial development.

 Outline planning permission would be granted on 
adoption of the Local Plan. This is likely to slow 
down the plan making process as more detail would 
be required in Local Plans, such as infrastructure 
delivery, design requirements and completed legal 
agreements.

 Risk that having to agree the above at plan making 
stage is too complex / difficult that it is not possible 
to secure quality development leaving developers 
with a free hand.

Page 384



5

Renewal Areas – land identified “where smaller scale 
development is appropriate” 

 It is unclear to what this may refer. Your officers 
consider that this would likely apply to the built up 
areas of settlements not falling within Growth areas. 

 It is stated to include areas of “gentle densification 
and infill”. “Gentle densification” is not defined and it 
is unclear if this may refer to a cap imposed upon 
places. 

 Current planning system allows for a range of 
developments to come forward and this may 
represent a retrograde step. It may also lead to a 
need to define multiple areas with different rules for 
each area. 

Protected Areas – would include sites and areas which, 
as a result of, their particular environmental and / or 
cultural characteristics would justify more stringent 
development controls….

 Stated to include Green Belt, AONB land, 
Conservation areas, Local Wildlife Sites, areas of 
significant flood risk and important areas of green 
space and areas of open countryside outside land in 
Growth or Renewal areas”

 It is light on detail including what may actually 
constitute some of the land mentioned above. It is 
unclear whether no new development would be 
allowed, under the current system some 
development may be permitted, such as the Green 
Belt. It is certain to convince the public that Green 
Belt is ‘sacrosanct’ when in reality the LPA will still 
have to meet Objectively Assessed Housing Needs, 
which in the Home Counties and other parts of 
Southern England is bound to lead to the need for 
green belt releases to meet the level of growth 
required.
 

Standard 
Method for 
establishing 
housing 
requirement 
figures  
(Proposal 4) 

The suggestion that this should take into local constraints is 
welcomed. What is not clear is what those constraints may 
be and how they may be weighted in settling the final figure. 

The new method is still heavily driven by national policy 
objectives to achieve a target of 300,000 new homes per 
annum as opposed to more accurately reflecting likely local 
levels of housing need.

Housing targets would be set by national government and 
would be ‘binding’ on local authorities. This represents the 
centralisation of housing targets and a further retrograde 
step for localism and local democracy. 

Development It is proposed to establish these at a national scale so that 

Page 385



6

management 
policies 
(proposal 2) 

those contained within a local plan would be limited to 
necessary site or area specific requirements such as limits 
on heights and densities for land within Growth or Renewal 
areas. This would be achieved by making the NPPF the 
primary source of development management policies. 

Avoidance of duplicating nationally set and agreed policy is 
welcomed, but in practice there are likely to be very few 
policies that can be set at national level that do require any 
further local detail. 

The principle of a greater role for Design Codes prepared 
alongside local plans and the involvement of the local 
community in their preparation is welcomed with some 
reservations as set out below under Pillar Two.   

Replacing the 
existing tests of 
soundness with 
a single 
statutory 
“sustainable 
development” 
test

The aim of simplifying the tests that a local plan must pass 
at examination in public is welcomed, provided changes 
demonstrably speed up and reduce risk in plan making. 
Duty to Co-operate requirements have proved difficult to 
satisfy for a number of local planning authorities recently 
resulting in the failure or withdrawal of local plans. 

Removal of the Duty to Cooperate test which has largely 
failed to deliver required outcomes is welcomed however, 
there is still a need to ensure that cross boundary concerns 
are addressed and it is unclear how those would be dealt 
with under a new regime. 

However, defining what constitutes “sustainable 
development” is unlikely to be a simple task and arguably 
the role of Sustainability Appraisals may increase rather 
than being abolished as proposed. 

Streamlined 
Development 
Management 
Process 
(Proposals 5 
and 6)

The main thrust of proposed reforms is to speed up the 
decision making process and to provide greater certainty. 
Main proposals to achieve this include:

 Automatically granting outline planning permission 
for Growth areas and also automatic approvals for 
pre-established development types in other areas.

 Greater digitalisation of the planning application 
process and shorter and more standardised 
applications

 Modernisation of case management systems 
 Greater standardisation of technical supporting 

information (such as Design Codes), national data 
standards and templates.

 A streamlined approach to developer contributions 
(further detail under Pillar 3)

The true issue sought to be addressed is speed of process 
which could be resolved by proper resourcing under the 
current system rather than the proposed reforms which 

Page 386



7

introduce risks of uncertainty and unintended 
consequences.

The need to agree outline planning permission matters up 
front (at the plan making stage) rather than at application 
stage could delay plan making as more detail is required up 
front.

Possible loss of local democracy and community 
involvement. Democratic involvement would be reduced to 
the plan making stage only as the opportunity for 
involvement (as now) with the decision making stage would 
be lost with the automatic grant of outline planning 
permission.

Greater use of digital technology would have a number of 
benefits such as reductions in costs from postal and 
advertising costs and the possibility of greater automation of 
processes. Benefits would however be dependent upon 
appropriate resourcing and financing, including skilling and 
introduction of new systems. The White Paper is light on 
detail in these important areas. 

The proposal to rebate application fees where a planning 
appeal is successful needs much more consideration than is 
given in the White Paper, such as what would be the 
position with applications for retrospective consent. 

Pillar Two
General 
Approach 

The creation of a fast-track system for beautiful buildings 
and establishing local design guidance for developers to 
build and preserve beautiful communities.

 All new homes to be ‘zero carbon ready’, with no new 
homes delivered under the new system needed to be 
retrofitted as Government seeks to achieve its commitment 
to net zero carbon emissions by 2050.

The chief means of achieving those aims will be by 
production of Design Codes, a greater role for Homes 
England and a more standardised easily replicable 
approach to building design.

There are concerns regarding possible erosion of local 
democratic input, protection of local character and of the 
local environment generally. 

Design Codes 
(proposals 11 
and 12) 

The strengthening of the role of Design Codes with local 
input is to be welcomed and would play an important role in 
building trust and confidence in the planning system. 

The proposals suggest the appointment in each local 
authority of a “chief officer for design and place-making” and 
details are light on details on how:

Page 387



8

 this would be resourced and little consideration is 
given to an alternative of training and reskilling 
decision making officers; and

 what this may add to the wealth good design 
guidance that already exists.

Changes to 
national policy 
and legislation 
to introduce a 
fast track for 
beauty 
(proposal 14) 

Main risks with the proposals are:

 Delays in local plan making until Design Codes are 
at an advanced stage.

 An approach to standard design could potentially 
damage local character and it is unclear what would 
constitute “popular and replicable” design and 
“gentle densification” 

Such an approach may risk resistance to developments by 
local communities as failing to respond to local character 
and content. 

Pillar Three
General 
Approach

The proposals constitute a radical reform of the means by 
which infrastructure would be funded. Main changes 
include:

 Abolishing the current system of s106 planning 
obligation agreements and CIL. 

 Introduction of a new national Infrastructure Levy 
(“the Levy”) with the intention of providing more 
certainty about the number of affordable homes 
being built.

 The Levy to be set nationally based upon a flat-rate 
value based charge to be levied at occupation, with 
a value based minimum threshold below which the 
Levy is not charged.

Infrastructure delivery is a fundamental pillar supporting the 
planning system and changes to it need to be considered 
very carefully. The White Paper does not provide enough 
detail on the proposed regime to be confident that the 
proposals involving the abolition of CIL and s106 
Agreements will deliver the objectives that the Government 
seeks.

The White Paper does not address the issue of developers, 
landowners and their agents not being sufficiently attuned 
with requirements for infrastructure, and its costs, at the 
land acquisition stage and thereby making sufficient 
provision in agreeing land values which goes to the heart of 
viability.

The current system could be improved by standardising the 
contents of agreements covering this aspect and providing 
greater transparency in costs. 

Page 388



9

Reform of CIL 
and scope of 
The Levy 
(proposals 19 
and 20) 

More detail is required to comment meaningfully and in 
places the proposals appear to be contradictory.

The White Paper mentions the planning system needs to be 
more responsive to local circumstances yet seeks to create 
a nationally set levy and a flat rate is unlikely to be 
responsive to local circumstances. 

Timing of payment would be change, from the existing 
arrangement of commencement of development to date of 
occupation. Whilst there may be some merit in this change 
for smaller developers for volume developers this may mean 
significant delays in the funding and timely delivery of 
required infrastructure and thereby failing the needs of local 
communities. 

CIL currently cannot capture much of infrastructure 
provision that may be needed where development takes 
place through use of permitted rights (PDR) which are 
increasingly being used, such as conversion of offices to 
residential use. The proposed extension of the Levy to 
capture changes of use through PDR would help address 
this shortfall.

However, little detail is provided in the White Paper as to 
how this proposal would work in practice, including who 
would enforce it and how. 

The Levy and 
Affordable 
Housing 
(proposal 21)

It is unclear from the proposal whether more or less 
affordable housing would arise, if the proposal were to be 
implemented, compared to the existing arrangements. The 
risk is arguably greater if the Levy is a nationally set figure. 

The proposed simplicity of the new system must not lose the 
ability to capture excess value created in sites.

Strengthening 
enforcement 
powers and 
sanctions 
(proposal 24) 

The principle is to be welcomed although the White Paper is 
very light on detail as to how this will be achieved in 
practice. It ignores key areas such as resourcing and the 
existence of tools already available within the current 
system. The current system would be much more effective 
with the provision of adequate capacity and funding. 

2.5 The Officer view is that the draft response set out in Appendix 1 should be 
sent.  

THE SECOND CONSULTATION PAPER (CHANGES TO THE CURRENT 
PLANNING SYSTEM)

3.1 The consultation seeks reforms to the current planning system and 
accompanies the White Paper. Whereas the White Paper seeks to introduce a 

Page 389



10

long term reform of the planning system the Second Consultation Paper sets 
out shorter term proposals seeking to improve the effectiveness of the current 
system.

3.2 The four main proposals are:

 Changes to the standard method for assessing local housing need.
 The securing of First Homes, through developer contributions in the short 

term, until transition to a new system
 Lifting the small sites threshold below which developers do not need to 

contribute to affordable housing
 Extending the current Permission in Principle to major development

3.3 A number of key elements within the Second Consultation Paper are set out in 
the table below.

Subject

The Standard 
Method for 
assessing 
housing 
numbers in 
strategic 
plans  

The current method comprises a baseline of household 
projections, which are then adjusted for affordability and 
capped to limit the increase for a specific area. However, 
these household projections have attracted criticism as they 
can result in artificially low projections in some places, where 
overcrowding and concealed households suppress the 
numbers.

The new method will take into account a percentage of 
existing housing stock levels, which takes into consideration 
the number of homes that are already in an area. This will 
make allowances for diverse housing needs in all parts of the 
country. The aim of this new method is to allow the 
Government to hit its target of delivering 300,000 new homes 
a year, and a more appropriate distribution of homes. It is 
very much a temporary measure in advance of the wider 
ranging and binding reforms proposed in the White Paper. 

Whilst it will increase the national housing need on the 
current calculations it would see Dacorum’s housing need 
decrease slightly from the current 1023 dwellings per year to 
922. 

Officers have concerns that reliance placed on a single 
source of information to set the baseline as suggested of 
0.5% of national housing stock is too simplistic and setting 
housing targets needs to factor in local as well as national 
strategies. It is clear, from the separately published Planning 
White Paper that the calculation will be adjusted to take into 
account of local constraints; it is however unclear how these 
local constraints will be weighted. Moreover, the standard 
methodology will be binding on local authorities and yet there 
is no indication that the local authority will have the 
opportunity to inform the figure.

Page 390



11

The proposed transitionary arrangements for Local Plans in 
preparation ignore the significant impacts that changes to 
housing numbers can have on the preparation of local plans 
and does not allow sufficient time for these to be properly 
assessed and included in emerging local plans

First Homes The Second Consultation Paper proposes that a minimum of 
25% of all affordable housing units secured through 
developer contributions should be First Homes. This would 
be a new form of Affordable Housing to support first time 
buyers, initially secured through S106 planning obligations 
but, as stated in the White Paper, would subsequently be 
secured through the newly proposed Infrastructure Levy upon 
abolition of s106 arrangements.

The imposition of a national 25% figure for First Homes 
removes the ability to address local priorities properly and 
risks not satisfying evidenced local need. In Dacorum the 
priority is for rented affordable housing, especially social 
rented housing. There is a concern that this ‘top slicing’ of the 
affordable housing requirement to First Homes will lead to 
less genuinely affordable homes being available for rented 
accommodation.

The proposals emphasise home ownership and Dacorum’s 
evidenced need is for a lower figure than 25% for such 
affordable housing. 

Supporting 
small and 
medium sized 
developers

With the aim of supporting SMEs it is proposed to increase 
the threshold for sites where affordable housing is to be 
sought from 10 to 40 or 50 new homes.  This will be 
introduced for an initial period of 18 months and will be 
achieved by changes to national planning policy. 

Within Dacorum’s area the vast majority of schemes are 
below 50 new homes and the proposal is likely to curtail 
future contributions toward meeting affordable housing need. 

Extension of 
Permission in 
Principle (PiP) 

It is proposed to remove the restriction on PiP on major 
development thereby allowing a greater range of sites to 
come within the PiP regime. Some restrictions will remain 
(such as EIA and Habitats) and PiP will not be suitable for 
sites capable of delivering over 150 dwellings or more than 5 
hectares.  For commercial development, the consultation 
proposes to remove the 1,000 sq m limit for commercial 
development floorspace. 

The Second Consultation Paper also establishes that 
Government is soon to publish a national Brownfield Land 
Register map, which will automatically record those sites 
suitable for housing.

In Dacorum’s experience there is little evidence that the 
landowners and developers are greatly interested in PiPs, 

Page 391



12

instead preferring to go through the more traditional routes to 
secure consent for development. Much detail still needs 
approval even when PiP is in place.

Little evidence is offered as to why the criteria of 150 
dwellings or 5 hectares has been chosen. The 5 week 
determination period is to be retained which may be a 
restrictive timescale for decisions on call in and for 
community engagement on major developments which could 
come within PiP. 

4.0 NEXT STEPS 

4.1 The final responses on both consultation documents will be the subject of a 
formal decision by the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Infrastructure. The 
Committee’s views on the draft responses contained in the appendices are 
therefore sought to help inform the content of what is finally returned to 
Government in accordance with the deadlines set.

Page 392



13

Appendix 1: Draft Dacorum Borough Council Covering Letter

Date
Your Ref
Our Ref
Contact
Email
Direct Line

Dear Secretary of State, 

Planning for the Future – White Paper August 2020 and Changes to the current planning 
system - August 2020

We welcome the opportunity to share our perspective on the proposed reforms set out in the 
White Paper and the consultation on changes to the current planning system. Contained 
within this letter are several general points with our detailed responses to each of the papers 
attached.

We understand that the principal aim of the proposed changes is to deliver more homes but 
we question whether a complete overhaul of the planning system, at this time, is the correct 
policy solution. First, the planning system does not exist entirely to deliver housing. The 
system is there to deliver ‘sustainable development’ – social, environmental and economic. 
There is little appreciation of this wider role in the reforms.

In many cases, Government has identified many of the symptoms of the problem but we are 
concerned that Government is misdirecting itself on what is needed to respond to these 
challenges. Whilst the functioning of the planning system is an important part of the solution 
- and we welcome the recognition in the White Paper of the importance of planning to deliver 
wider policy objectives – the planning system operates in a complex ecosystem that works to 
deliver new homes. What is ignored throughout the consultation are the dislocations, 
inefficiencies and failures in other parts of the development system that need to be remedied 
if the stated objective of Government is to be delivered. These include the operation of the 
land market, the efficiency and productivity of the construction sector and skills and labour 
force limitations across the sector.

To illustrate these points:

o In the last decade local planning authorities granted consents for 2.5M homes yet 
only 1.5M have been built.

BY EMAIL to:
planningforthefuture@co
mmunities.gov.uk and
TechnicalPlanningConsult
ation@communities.gov.
uk

Page 393

mailto:planningforthefuture@communities.gov.uk
mailto:planningforthefuture@communities.gov.uk


14

o In 2019 (a record year) local planning authorities granted consent for 371K 
homes, yet developers still only delivered 241K homes.

o Local planning authorities grant around 90% of all planning applications. In 
Dacorum over the last five years we have granted 94% of all planning applications 
received, many of these for new homes or extensions to existing homes. Much of 
the time spent on applications is spent negotiating away problems so that 
consent may be granted as required by the NPPF.

On the consultation, it is clear that the White Paper is not a fully formed document with key 
details missing to illustrate what a ‘post reform’ system will look like and the consultation on 
changes to the planning system is light on detail in some key areas; this limits our ability to 
comment on whether it will deliver the stated aims of Government. 

Having said this, we welcome the principle behind a number of the reforms outlined. We 
welcome the retention of the Local Plan as a central part of development planning for areas 
and that these will become shorter, simpler documents containing a series of tighter rules 
rather than a series of policies. This will provide a clear, unambiguous set of requirements 
and remove the ability of some actors to systemically undermine an adopted Local Plan and 
thereby eroding confidence in the Plan Led system.

We also welcome anything that simplifies the preparation of Local Plans. The plan making 
process has become very complex, time consuming and costly and this is a direct result of 
continued tinkering with the system over the last decade. In our view the uncertainty has no 
doubt slowed Plan Making. 

We support the proposals to expand Plans to incorporate Design Codes and welcome the 
strengthened role local communities will have in this process. 

We support the proposals to modernise the process through greater digitisation and to 
incorporate standardisation of areas of the planning system which are duplicated across the 
Country, particularly certain development management policies which add little at the local 
level.

However, the reforms do raise several concerns for Dacorum. 

1. A number of proposals will curtail local democracy and will be a retrograde step for 
localism, including the exclusion of local elected members from decision making. The 
proposals to front end engagement with the community onto plan making (coupled 
with permission in principle once adopted) means that communities only getting a 
say on development in their area every 5 – 7 years, in line with Plan making. Not only 
does this apply to the determination of planning applications, the setting of housing 
numbers and setting out the levy for future infrastructure. The Prime Minister’s 
analogy of the planning system being a crumbling house that needs tearing down is 
noted. To extend this further it is crucial to the credibility of the system that the 
house that is rebuilt is greener, more affordable and with the necessary 
infrastructure identified and funded. Also, its design and location needs to be 
informed by local people as they will see it every day, it could well be their children 
that buy it and it is them who know if the land was once a landfill or is prone to 
flooding - information that it is unlikely to be available to unaccountable officials in 
Whitehall. 

Page 394



15

2. The White Paper does not provide enough detail on the proposed new regime for 
infrastructure delivery. This is a top priority for our residents. To ensure the system 
has the trust of local people a clear, understandable and robust regime for securing 
new infrastructure must be provided. There simply is not enough information 
contained for this authority to be confident the abolition of s.106 and CIL will deliver 
the desired objectives. The former is also used to secure a range of other legal 
requirements (including affordable housing, local labour requirements, long term 
stewardship arrangements etc) and there would need to be a legal framework to 
secure these. 

3. We also have reservations arising out from the abolition of s106 allied to the 
requirement for First Homes as being the first 25% of affordable homes to be 
provided. This is an owner occupied element which does not meet the housing needs 
of those on very low incomes. It would likely result in a greatly diminished supply of 
genuinely affordable rented accommodation and will exacerbate an already crisis 
level shortage of affordable homes. The housing requirements of those most in need 
are primarily social rent and affordable rent homes under the Local Housing 
Allowance limit. Such homes should be prioritised over the aspirations of first time 
buyers which may then be addressed if resources allow. 

4. We have reservations about whether a 30 month Plan making window is feasible 
particularly given that Design Codes for all growth areas will need to be in place prior 
to adoption; these will have their own processes, including community engagement. 
In addition, given that Local Plans will provide outline planning consent this will 
significantly increase the amount of information that is needed at the Plan Making 
stage. 

5. Delivering the reforms will be a significant challenge for already depleted local 
authority budgets. We welcome the suggestion of a comprehensive skills and 
resource strategy to support the implementation of the White Paper as we feel it is 
not possible to deliver the wide ranging reforms within local authority budgets.  

The attempt to simplify, standardise and digitise the system are welcome in principle but we 
are concerned that by pursuing these aspirations the result will be to ‘smooth’ out a system 
that needs to respond to local circumstances. We foresee a system of ‘winners and losers’ 
within communities across the Country at the stroke of a Whitehall pen, particularly in 
relation to developer contributions and affordable housing delivery.

The uncertainty caused by the proposed reforms is likely to lead many local authorities to 
reconsider their own timetables for preparing their current Local Plans. We advise that 
Government quickly announce a comprehensive set of transitional arrangements that avoid 
many authorities holding off Plan Making. 

We trust you find the responses helpful and if you require further information please contact 
us.  We would hope that there will be further discussions and engagement with local 
authorities before any changes are finally determined and implemented. Dacorum is keen to 

Page 395



16

work with Government to shape the reforms to ensure that there is a smooth transition to 
the new system. We are willing to work with your officials on these as required.

Page 396



17

Appendix 2: Draft Response to the White Paper (Planning for the Future)

Pillar One – Planning for development

Proposal 1: The role of land use plans should be simplified. We propose that Local Plans 
should identify three types of land – Growth areas…, Renewal areas…, and areas that are 
Protected.

We agree with measures that simplify the plan making process and increase community 
involvement. However, generally adopted Local Plans are clear on where development is 
allowed and what form this takes. Under the current system many of the detailed issues 
(design and layout) are left to a later stage for a number of reasons. First, to address all of 
these issues upfront would inevitably slow down the Plan Making process. Second, some sites 
are later sold to other developers who may decide to deliver a different product and the 
flexibility of the current system allows this.

The proposed categories (Growth Areas, Renewal Areas and Protected Areas) also raise 
questions. These definitions are too broad and the simplicity ignores the reality.

First, Growth Areas would be acceptable for ‘substantial development’ but fails to define this 
centrally important concept. This would appear to be a rebadging of what is known as an 
‘allocation’ under the current system. If, as it suggested, outline permission is to be granted 
on adoption, it is not clear how local authorities would manage this growth without 
significant resources. Obtaining outline approval on adoption will slow the plan making 
process down as local planning authorities would need to include more detail in their Local 
Plans, particularly around infrastructure delivery, design requirements and ensuring that the 
necessary legal agreements are in place. Where a ‘Growth Area’ constitutes multiple 
landownerships how are these interests reconciled? How would local authorities coordinate 
the delivery of infrastructure to ensure that development on a given part of these areas can 
come forward at any time? How and when would viability issues be dealt with? Under the 
proposals all would all have to be agreed at the plan making stage and will slow down the 
process. Given the complexity involved it could either significantly slow down the pace of 
development or, the complexity proves so much that local authorities are unable to secure 
quality development and the pressure to build increases and the landowner is able to do 
whatever they wish.

Second, Renewal Areas are areas where ‘smaller scale development is appropriate. This could 
include gentle densification and infill’. Our interpretation is that this designation would apply 
to the built up areas of settlements that do not fall within Growth Areas. What is meant by 
‘gentle densification’? Would this be an arbitrary cap imposed on places? This would appear 
to be a retrograde step compared to the current system where locally judged discretion 
allows for a range of developments to come forward, some of which may be of higher density 
than what the cap would define. Local authorities would need to define multiple areas and 
stipulate rules for each location, which would be a significant undertaking.

Third, it is not clear whether in Protected Areas no new development would be allowed. 
Under the current system it is possible to secure some development in some of the 
designations listed below, even in the Green Belt.

Page 397



18

We therefore have some major reservations about the unintended consequences of 
attempting to simplify the planning process as proposed. 

Proposal 2: Development management policies established at national scale and an altered 
role for Local Plans.

We agree that Local Plan policy should avoid duplicating policy set at the national level. 
Indeed, this is already the case under the current system. We do support further steps to set 
out a series of agreed development management policies at the national level but believe 
that very few will be solely national and require no local interpretation. 

We would also support steps to create requirements within Local Plans that are clear and 
binding to avoid systemic undermining of Local Plans from actors seeking to promote poor 
quality development.

We support a greater role of Design Codes to be prepared alongside the Local Plan and 
support the proposals that these will not have weight unless informed by the community. 
However, preparing multiple design codes alongside the Local Plan is a significant shift in role 
for local authorities and will require substantial resources to deliver. A further complication is 
that a design code will need detailed information on the site constraints (both above and 
below ground). It is likely that much more technical information will be required to prepare 
Design Codes and the question remains over who will pay for these. 

Proposal 3: Local Plans should be subject to a single statutory “sustainable development” test, 
replacing the existing tests of soundness.

We support the approach to simplify the examination tests provided this would demonstrably 
speed up and de-risk the Plan making. However, we disagree that defining ‘sustainable 
development’ will be a simple task and foresee considerable debate on this point throughout 
the Plan Making process. 

We are cautious about the suggestion to abolish Sustainability Appraisals. These perform a 
useful function in assessing the policies and proposals of the Plan and cover both social and 
economic objectives. Indeed, if the proposals are to rationalise the tests of soundness, 
replacing it with a sustainability test, then arguably the role for Sustainability Appraisal will 
increase. 

We support the removal of the Duty to Cooperate test as believe this has failed to deliver 
what it set out to do. Plan making has become increasingly complex as a direct result of bi-
lateral and non-binding discussions to accommodate unmet needs from elsewhere. 

We support the retention of infrastructure planning as a central component of the Local Plan 
process and consider it vital that Plans should be tested against their ability to deliver 
infrastructure. Any dilution of this requirement will undermine confidence in the system.

Proposal 4: A standard method for establishing housing requirement figures which ensures 
enough land is released in the areas where affordability is worst, to stop land supply being a 
barrier to enough homes being built. The housing requirement would factor in land 
constraints and opportunities to more effectively use land….to ensure that the land is 
identified in the most appropriate areas and housing targets are met.

Page 398



19

We broadly support the suggestion that the standard methodology should take into account 
local constraints. Housing figures should be capped in those areas with genuine constraints, 
including Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs) and Special Areas of Conservation 
(SAC), which is an internationally protected site. What is not clear from the consultation is 
what these constraints will be and how they will be weighted in setting the final housing 
figure for an area. 

We understand why Government is seeking to impose binding housing targets on local 
authorities but Dacorum Borough Council is concerned that this is a retrograde step for 
localism and local democratic autonomy. At the very least there must be a mechanism under 
which Local Authorities have an opportunity to comment on and seek changes to a draft 
figure before it is finalised.

No detail is provided on these important aspects. As proposed it represents a centralisation of 
a key part of the planning process and risks undermining local democracy and confidence in 
the Plan making process.

Clarification is required on the reference to meeting development needs for a minimum of 10 
years as the NPPF refers to a minimum of 15 years. Many local authorities are preparing Plans 
with a time horizon of a minimum of 15 years. If 10 years were to become the norm then 
many local authorities, particularly those preparing Plans currently would need reconsider 
major changes to housing numbers and sites.

We support the abolition of the need to demonstrate a five year supply of land as this 
continually undermines the Plan making process forcing local authorities to approve 
substandard development or incur the time, cost and uncertainty of a planning appeal.

A STREAMLINED DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PROCESS WITH AUTOMATIC PLANNING 
PERMISSION FOR SCHEMES IN LINE WITH PLANS

Proposal 5: Areas identified as Growth areas (suitable for substantial development) would 
automatically be granted outline planning permission for the principle of development, while 
automatic approvals would also be available for pre-established development types in other 
areas suitable for building.

In our view, this is not such a great change from the current system in practice. However, it 
needs to be recognised that outline planning permission still deals with a number of 
important issues such as affordable housing provision and infrastructure. Under the proposals 
those matters will need to be agreed upfront at the plan making stage and could therefore be 
more time consuming.

The true issue sought to be addressed here is that of speed of process that can be resolved 
under the present process by proper resourcing.

We have real concerns over the proposal at the possible loss of democracy and community 
involvement in the planning process which runs contrary to some of the main tenets in the 
proposals. Once areas are zoned as Growth, Renewal or Protection it will be assumed that the 
land designated has permission in principle and any further controls would be extremely 
limited. This means local communities only getting a say on development in their areas once 
every 5 – 7 years. 

Page 399



20

The current system affords two opportunities for accountability and oversight; one at the 
creation of a Local Plan and again at the planning consent stage. The proposals if 
implemented would limit democratic involvement to the plan making stage only. In our 
experience many residents are more likely to become involved at the decision making stage 
and there is a likelihood that residents would feel aggrieved if they were to find that they had 
no say in a development proposal at (what is now) the planning application stage.

We do not agree that development in Protected areas should fall back to current permitted 
development rights. The present array of permitted development rights is wide ranging and 
there are proposals to further extend this further. It is essential that development is reviewed 
with local engagement in these sensitive areas in order to afford them appropriate and 
effective protection.  

Proposal 6: Decision-making should be faster and more certain, with firm deadlines, and 
make greater use of digital technology.

We welcome the proposal to make greater use of digital technology but that must be 
properly resourced, not only for the creators of digital media / communications but also for 
users and audiences if genuine benefits are to be realised.

Increasing the use of digital engagement is likely to deliver financial benefits from reductions 
in publishing and postal costs. We estimate that in the last 6 months we have sent in the 
region of 13,000 letters this year for planning cases alone. 

Against that saving would be the need to establish how future systems are to be integrated 
with existing systems and / or the cost of transfer to wholly new systems. 

The cost and time savings of new systems should not be overstated. Depending on the level 
of standardisation of submission of planning applications there may be an element of 
automation in the planning application validation process it is unlikely very little automation 
would be achieved without major changes to existing systems and at this time we are 
sceptical of any resource gains being achieved at the validation stage. That position could 
change if there is a national and centrally funded ambition to introduce a single system for 
the submission of planning applications. 

The systems that are required and necessary to do this would have to be readily available in 
good time, and affordable to Councils to make this a success. The risks of the absence of such 
systems is high and likely to lead to serious local administration problems.

Data entry will increase and accuracy will be important. Training programmes will need to be 
created, including the use of any new software and changes to requirements of planning 
applications being submitted. 

Consideration will also need to be given as to cost and platform used for the introduction of 
geospatial capability and the possible complexities of adding further complexity to the 
interface with other systems. 

Whilst we have a number of reservations and would need to see much more detail than is 
currently provided to fully comment, we consider that overall the desire to digitalise 
information in the planning system is achievable and could provide benefits for speedier 

Page 400



21

delivery and greater transparency in the planning process, provided it is properly resourced 
and funded. 

The proposal to rebate the planning application fee where applicants are successful at appeal 
requires much more thought than is given in the White Paper. Some applications for planning 
consent are retrospective and in such cases the applicant / appellant may be incentivised to 
appeal as they would not lose out by taking the proposal through the appeal process. This 
may have the unintended consequence of affecting enforcement appeals which attract a 
planning application fee and which are then successful. The Local Planning Authority will have 
invested much time and resource in defending appeals and the risk refunding an appeal fee in 
the event of a successful appeal may discourage local planning authorities from taking 
enforcement action.

The proposal suggests that the possibility of rebate of the application fee would “promote 
proper consideration of applications by planning committees.” Committees are bound by 
numerous rules, regulations and case law to ensure that they give “proper consideration”. In 
addition the proposal appears to ignore the further practical point that the greater sanction is 
often that of costs rather than fees associated with appeals. It is a factor for both applicants 
and local planning authorities in taking a measured approach in their decision making. 

No detail is provided as to whether or not planning application fees are to be ring fenced or 
can be pooled and used for other services. 

Appropriate measures to speed up the appeals process would be welcomed. The White Paper 
does not contain detail as to how this would be achieved and we would be pleased to be 
involved in further discussions on this point. At this stage, we would comment that the 
appeals process needs to be reviewed for the enforcement process as well as the consent 
process. 

The current enforcement appeal process system is susceptible to those who may be subject 
to enforcement action being able to use the current appeal process to delay enforcement 
action. This is a serious and current hindrance to the timely resolution of breaches of planning 
control.

The appeals process for enforcement is currently much slower than it is in respect of planning 
consent appeals. Often by their very subject nature, enforcement appeals are more urgent as 
unauthorised development is already likely to either exist or be in use. Speeding up the 
enforcement appeals process would be beneficial to key stakeholders in the process such as 
appellants, the local planning authority and the local community.   

Proposal 7: Local Plans should be visual and map-based, standardised, based on the latest 
digital technology, and supported by a new template.

We support this proposal and local authorities should be fully involved in the development of 
a new template. As with the planning application process, effective systems need to be widely 
available and at reasonable cost to Councils.

Page 401



22

Proposal 8: Local authorities and the Planning Inspectorate will be required through 
legislation to meet a statutory timetable for key stages of the process, and we will consider 
what sanctions there would be for those who fail to do so.

We broadly agree with the opening paragraph to this proposal although we have concerns 
about allowance within the proposed timescales for preparation of design codes and if the 
time proposed truly allows for greater community involvement within the proposed 30 
month time period and at the two stages suggested. An important element of communities 
having trust and confidence in local plans is the local endorsement of their contents and this 
element appears curtailed by what is proposed. 

No details is provided on possible sanctions where the new proposed timetable is not met 
and local authorities should be fully engaged in the development of any sanctions and 
remedial measures. 

Proposal 9: Neighbourhood Plans should be retained as an important means of community 
input, and we will support communities to make use of digital tools.

We agree with the proposal. Simplification of the process for Neighbourhood Plans would be 
welcomed by local communities but not if it is made at the cost of local democracy and 
community involvement. 

Any changes to the process will need to ensure that Neighbourhood Plans remain 
complementary to the Local Plan process and the aim of overall simplification of the planning 
process. 

Proposal 10: A stronger emphasis on build out through planning.

We agree with the proposal. There is scope to improve delivery by use of improved building 
methods including greater use of Modern Methods of Construction. These should be 
encouraged and incentivised as well as looking beyond pure market forces providing the 
public sector with resources and powers to acquire and build good quality affordable homes.  

Pillar Two – Planning for beautiful and sustainable places

Proposal 11: To make design expectations more visual and predictable, we will expect design 
guidance and codes to be prepared locally with community involvement, and ensure that 
codes are more binding on decisions about development.

We agree that it is important for the planning system to set clear expectations for the form of 
development which is to be accepted in different locations. We support proposals that would 
raise standards of design across the board and endorse the proposal that local guides should 
be produced where possible.

We support the strengthening of design codes and welcome the proposals that these would 
only be given weight if they can demonstrate that inputs from the local community. We see 

Page 402



23

the increased role of design codes as an opportunity to build confidence and trust in the 
system and providing communities with a real say in what development looks like in their 
area. 

Proposal 12: To support the transition to a planning system which is more visual and rooted in 
local preferences and character, we will set up a body to support the delivery of provably 
locally-popular design codes, and propose that each authority should have a chief officer for 
design and place-making.

With reference to the appointment of a “chief officer for design and place-making” there is 
little detail on how this would be resourced, although we welcome the reference to bringing 
forward proposals for improving the resourcing of planning departments. Local authorities 
should be fully engaged on establishing resource requirements and how those resources are 
to be funded and delivered. 

CABE and many other design bodies have produced large volumes of good design guidance 
and any addition to these should significantly add to their work and not simply repeat it. If it is 
to be useful then it should comment upon major design proposals, be prepared to give 
support and have urban designers appear at appeals and enquiries to support local planning 
authorities where schemes are refused on grounds of poor design (in similar manner as 
Historic England for example). Consideration should also be given to any new body giving 
support to Universities to further raise the standard of future development designers. 

Whilst a chief officer for design and placemaking could assist in raising standards we consider 
that more key to success would be the training and reskilling of decision making officers. 

Proposal 13: To further embed national leadership on delivering better places, we will 
consider how Homes England’s strategic objectives can give greater emphasis to delivering 
beautiful places.

Dacorum is unable to express a view on this proposal without understanding the exact further 
role Homes England will have and how this will impact on planning in Dacorum. However, in 
principle we believe that Homes England’s land disposal strategy should place much greater 
weight on considerations other than land value. In particular, design quality, the willingness of 
the developer to trial emerging technologies and innovative approaches to design, 
construction, layout and delivering quality of place should be strongly weighted to allow 
testing. Finally, the delivery of local authority objectives should also be weighted more when 
determining land disposal in a given area.

Proposal 14: We intend to introduce a fast track for beauty through changes to national 
policy and legislation, to incentivise and accelerate high quality development which reflects 
local character and preferences.

Regarding the first point, re swift approval, this is already a feature of the current system and 
we do not see what this proposal is seeking to do differently. 

Regarding the second point, again in many cases this already takes place in practice but we 
support the strengthening of this through legislation. In practice this would significantly 
increase the scope of the Local Plan and downgrade the development management process. 

Page 403



24

There is a risk that this could delay Plan Making as it could not progress to examination until 
Design Codes were at an advanced stage. This shift in approach would need resourcing 
accordingly.

Third, we understand the rationale behind creating an accepted standard of housing design 
so that it is replicable. It is also unclear what is meant by (and who decides) what constitutes 
“popular and replicable” design and how “gentle densification” is defined. We agree that this 
has potential to enable greater uptake of MMC but more detail is required to enable us to 
provide further comment.  

Increasing supply in other industries is helped by standardising products. However, this 
approach risks supporting ‘anywhere’ development and ignoring the varied character of our 
towns and villages. A ‘standard’ approach would potentially damage local character. It would 
be much more appropriate to leave this to local authorities, and their communities, to 
develop locally led design guides and codes as suggested elsewhere in the consultation.

The text suggests a pattern book approach which raises practical issues of how design quality 
is to be controlled. For example variation of heights, style and detail that reflect the local 
topography and geology make significant contributions towards a pleasant and interesting 
visual environment and it is unlikely that the suggested pattern design codes would not 
achieve this. 

It is our view that these proposals will give rise to further ‘cookie cutter’ or ‘bottom drawer’ 
developments that are widely resisted by local communities as they fail to respond to local 
character and context.

Proposal 15: We intend to amend the National Planning Policy Framework to ensure that it 
targets those areas where a reformed planning system can most effectively play a role in 
mitigating and adapting to climate change and maximising environmental benefits.

We welcome the principle of this but await further details on what this means. It should not 
be the case that the Country’s climate change targets are met by converting one LPA into a 
renewable energy production area whilst lower standard developments are allowed 
elsewhere. LPAs should have the ability to go above and beyond if the national requirements 
are not ambitious enough and/or does not reflect local climate change emergency 
resolutions.

Protection of places of environmental and cultural value of great importance to this Council 
and we welcome measures that protect and enhance the environment. This Council declared 
a Climate Emergency in 2019 and is very mindful of environmental concerns and long term 
sustainability.

Proposal 16: We intend to design a quicker, if simpler framework for assessing environmental 
impacts and enhancement opportunities, that speeds up the process while protecting and 
enhancing the most valuable and important habitats and species in England.

We support the principle of speeding up decision making and the need to avoid duplication 
but the reforms cannot be allowed the dilution of environmental standards. We also support 
the better use of open source data to deliver this but much of the data is expensive to collect, 

Page 404



25

time limited and held by developers. If the proposals were to require local authorities to 
undertake these reviews (particularly at the site level) a substantial increases in resources 
would be needed.

Simplification and greater speed should not be obtained at the expense of the environment. 
The planning system is not entirely a housing delivery system and needs to balance 
environmental objectives as much as others. We note that a more detailed consultation on 
these matters will follow later this year. 

Proposal 17: Conserving and enhancing our historic buildings and areas in the 21st Century.

We note the reference on page 59 to review and update the planning framework for listed 
buildings and conservation areas. Detail is light and we would wish to explore whether “new 
and better” ways of securing consent for routine works provide sought for protections and 
enhancements. 

In respect of the second paragraph generally on page 59 the government previously explored 
this option in 2012 in the DCMS document “Consultation on Improving Listed Building 
Consent”. The response in October 2012. The response to that paper noted that the 
government was not going to follow that approach as:

“2.4.2 Consultation responses were overwhelmingly against this option (74 supported, as 
against 266 who opposed it) and raised a number of concerns relating to the likely objectivity 
of accredited agents, particularly as LBC decisions are often a matter of judgement rather 
than technical assessment, and LPA conservation officers should be seen to be neutral. They 
also expressed fears over the possible impacts of this approach on local authority conservation 
provision.”

No evidence is provided within the White Paper as to any change of circumstances since then 
and we would suggest that the current system, particularly with regards to approved agents, 
remain unchanged.

Further we are concerned that such an approach would be overly bureaucratic as agents 
would need to deposit approved plans with the local planning authority, otherwise successive 
property owners, possibly many years later, may be required to undo previous works of which 
there was no evidence of previously being granted consent. Again, this could also have 
implications for enforcement action and upon which we comment elsewhere in this response. 

Issues of climate change are complex as each building requires consideration rather than a 
standard approach. We would refer you to the Sustainable Traditional Building Alliance 
retrofit toolkit; GAP analysis update undertaken with Historic England and Historic 
Environment Scotland amongst others to review the issues. 

Proposal 18: To complement our planning reforms, we will facilitate ambitious improvements 
in the energy efficient standards for buildings to help deliver our world-leading commitment 
to net-zero by 2050.

Page 405



26

Generally we support these measures but we feel that local authorities should still have the 
ability to go further with their local policies if they have the evidence (principally on viability) 
to support that.

Pillar 3 – Planning for infrastructure and connected places

Dacorum Borough Council would advise Government to tread carefully when seeking to 
unravel and rebuild a fundamental pillar supporting the planning system. S.106 agreements 
not only secure the delivery of numerous development obligations but it also provides a 
contractual arrangements for other aspects of development, without which development 
could not be approved. These are not superfluous arrangements stymying development, they 
are necessary, in law, to make development acceptable and critically to facilitate it whereas it 
might not otherwise proceed.

The issue in the system is that developers, land owners and their agents are not alive enough 
of these costs during the land acquisition process and therefore not enough allowance has 
been made when agreeing land value. The development sector needs to be more adept at 
understanding the legal system in which it seeks to operate.

Yes, we agree that the negotiation of these is time consuming but this is a factor of the 
chronic lack of resources in the system particularly at the County Council level. We also agree 
that if more information were to be available upfront, then this would avoid delay. 

We would support a move towards standardising the content of agreements (articles of 
agreement) and support much greater transparency in the likely costs. One solution is a legal 
requirement for Borough and County Councils to have these published on their website, with 
the completion of which being a validation requirement. 

We strongly support the proposal to capture a greater proportion of the land value that 
occurs when permission is granted. Communities need to see the direct benefit of accepting 
growth in their areas through greater investment in infrastructure provision locally.

Proposal 19: The Community Infrastructure Levy should be reformed to be charged as a fixed 
proportion of the development value above a threshold, with a mandatory nationally set rate 
or rates and the current system of planning obligations abolished. 

There is simply insufficient information for us to comment meaningfully on such a 
fundamental change to the system. The aspirations are laudable but we need more detail on 
what the scheme may look like and how it will operate and what transitional arrangements 
will be in place. 

A report in 2016 by the CIL Review Team2 supported extensive reform of the CIL regime. The 
conclusion reached was that CIL as currently configured is not fulfilling the original intention 
and providing a faster, fairer, simpler, more certain and more transparent way of ensuring 

2 A new approach to developer contributions – October 2016

Page 406



27

that all development contribute something towards cumulative infrastructure. Whilst the 
White Paper suggests that a number of those concerns might be addressed they risk being 
lost under multiple layers of complexity. Accordingly it is not readily apparent how the 
proposals would address or improve upon the existing position.

We would support greater standardisation in the preparation of s.106 but feel abolishing it 
would overlook the important role these play in securing a wide range of other agreements 
need to allow planning permission to be granted.

The consultation talks about the system needing to be more response to local circumstances 
and yet it seeks to create a nationally set Infrastructure Levy. How is this responsive to local 
circumstances? A flat rate exposes several dangers about the rate not being responsive to 
local circumstances. Sales values and build costs will vary widely across the country, and even 
within local authority areas. The extent of variation would led to infrastructure ‘winners and 
losers’. Furthermore, the infrastructure requirements will vary in different places (depending 
on the growth and local circumstances) and a national rate may create even greater funding 
gaps and viability barrier in some of these areas and potentially surpluses in other areas. 
What happens in these situations?

No detail is provided as to how the Levy will address the link between new development and 
measures necessary to mitigate its impacts, including adequate funding and timing of delivery 
of infrastructure when it is needed.

The timing of payment is also of great concern to us. In most cases the proportion of costs 
linked to s.106 or CIL payments is dwarfed by the land purchase costs and construction costs. 

Allowing deferred payments on CIL/s.106 (in many cases) will undermine confidence in the 
system for larger development sites. Repeatedly, our residents raise strong concerns with us 
over the timely delivery of infrastructure, for which in many areas there is a current deficit in 
provision. 

We can see an argument for builders at the much smaller end of the spectrum (and could 
support this) but to allow volume builders on large sites to defer their infrastructure 
obligations until the point of occupation fails to meet the needs of local communities. To instil 
confidence in the system infrastructure is needed earlier in the development process, not 
later on.

The suggestion to allow local authorities to borrow against future income is a positive step 
but this places significant financial risks on local authorities during a down turn when 
development is not being occupied. Local authorities could be saddled with substantial 
financial obligations in the event of the market collapsing.

Proposal 20: The scope of the Infrastructure Levy could be extended to capture changes of 
use through permitted development rights.

We support proposals to expand CIL to capture permitted development. The current 
loopholes are being exploited by the sector and has significantly eroded public confidence in 
the system. This Borough has seen very significant loss of employment floorspace to 
residential conversion through the new permitted development rights, which creates new or 
increased infrastructure demands which cannot be funded by CIL or planning obligations. This 
would help address these shortfalls. 

Page 407



28

There is no detail provided to give an indication as to how the proposal would work in 
practice. How would it work, who would enforce it and how? If changes of use are carried out 
without certificates then it is likely such liabilities would go un-reported and un-noticed.

Proposal 21: The reformed Infrastructure Levy should deliver affordable housing provision.

We do not understand what this proposal is seeking to achieve. If Government is seeking to 
abolish s.106 then yes there needs to be a replacement regime in place. However, the test is 
whether more or less affordable housing and the correct type of affordable housing will be 
delivered as a result of the changes. We are concerned by attempts to merge two regimes 
when there is a clear danger that the amount of funding in the merged regimes could be less. 
This is particularly the case if the levy will set the figure at a national or sub-area basis 
meaning it could give rise to ‘winners and losers’ across areas. 

We are concerned that in striving for simplicity the new system gives rise to exploitation 
where values and build costs in a given area are conducive to higher profits. There must be a 
mechanism to capture an excess value created.

Proposal 22: More freedom could be given to local authorities over how they spend the 
Infrastructure Levy.

As mentioned above, giving local authorities greater flexibility as to the purposes to which 
they may allocate revenues from the Levy is welcomed in principle but more detail is 
required. It is important that income gets spent on what is needed to make development 
work and sufficient controls are needed to ensure the money raised is reinvested to support 
growth and not used to offset funding reductions elsewhere. 

Proposal 23: As we develop our final proposals for this new planning system, we will develop 
a comprehensive resources and skills strategy for the planning sector to support the 
implementation of our reforms. In doing so, we propose this strategy will be developed 
including the following key elements.

The White Paper correctly identifies that if the reforms are implemented then considerable 
adjustments will be required with financial and human resource implications to successfully 
implement those changes. The real issue remains one of ensuring that there is sufficient 
capacity, expertise and funding to deliver a world class planning system that meets the needs 
and aspirations of the communities that it serves. The White Paper remains light on detail as 
to how that capacity and funding will be delivered. 

We welcome the recognition that more investment is needed into the planning system after a 
sustained period of underfunding. This may attract many planning and development 
professionals back into local government, but the pathway and resources for this needs to be 
clear and put in place as soon as possible. We support the performance framework for local 
authorities but it is vital that local government is seen as an attract place for planners, 
architects and other development professionals to work. Local government needs to be seen 
as the place to be for people seeking to get on in their careers. That requires much greater 
training and development opportunities, improved terms and conditions and remuneration. 
Without these any reforms will fail. 

Page 408



29

Given the expanding role of Plan Making more funding will be required. We feel that the cost 
of applying for planning permission should be increased to help fund these activities. 
However, the activities of the planning authority and the impartiality of the system and local 
planning authority staff should not be put at risk under a new funding system, which would 
see developers providing a greater source of funding. We are concerned about the potential 
for some developers to seek to exploit this. 

Proposal 24: We will seek to strengthen enforcement powers and sanctions.

Whilst the principle is welcomed, more detail is required to enable comment to be provided. 
Again, the provision of adequate capacity and funding will be a key element.

In our view planning enforcement does not require more or new “tools”, there are plenty 
available to local planning authorities within the current system. The main barriers to “robust 
enforcement action” are appeal timeframes, a lack of consistency across local planning 
authorities in terms of enforcement priorities and approach and, especially, that of available 
resources.

A review of fines is of questionable benefit. Fines in respect of most breaches of enforcement 
notices were recently increased to “unlimited” a few years ago and has had seemingly little 
impact in terms of fines actually imposed where breaches have been successfully prosecuted. 

The Proceeds of Crimes Act 2002 (POCA) has had a much greater impact in some cases in 
serving as a deterrent, however, its use depends upon local planning authorities having the 
skills, resources and capacity to pursue such action which often is not the case. 

It is not clear what is proposed to “ensure temporary stop notices are more effective.” In our 
view temporary stop notices are an already effective means of enforcement where used 
properly and where resources are available to prosecute in a timely and effective manner. 
Consideration could usefully be given to extending the current 28 day period for which 
temporary stop notices can have effect. 

Page 409



30

Appendix 3: Draft Response on changes to the current planning system

The Standard Method for assessing housing numbers in strategic plans 

In just over a decade we have gone from “Communities will no longer have to endure the 
previous government’s failed Soviet-style top-down planning targets” (Eric Pickles July 2010)  
to the Standard Methodology which will set top-down planning targets for housing numbers 
but with no sign of a strategy or vision to determine how.

Q1. Do you agree that planned practice guidance should be amended to specify that the 
appropriate baseline for the standard method is whichever is the higher of the level of 0.5% 
of housing stock in each local authority area OR the latest household projections averaged 
over a 10 year period?

We feel that the reliance on a single source of information to set the baseline is too simplistic 
and suggested a blended approach which incorporates both is used. The reason for this is 
that housing need could be skewed towards areas that already have large urban areas. Whilst 
of itself not an issue it is not an effective measure of housing need. Also, in those areas that 
experience high levels of windfall development, the future housing need will be skewed as a 
result. 

Developing and setting housing and development targets needs to factor in national and local 
strategies for areas, including the local vision for how these places should grow and develop, 
not based on arbitrary forecasts of population or by the number of existing houses in an area.

Q2. In the stock element of the baseline, do you agree that 0.5% of existing stock for the 
standard method is appropriate? If not explain why.

Our comments to question 1 apply.

Q3. Do you agree that using the workplace-based median house price to median earnings 
ratio from the most recent year for which data is available to adjust the standard method’s 
baseline is appropriate? If not, please explain why.

Yes. It is important the calculation includes the latest data sets wherever possible. However, 
the consultation appears to have ruled out the merits of using house price to residence-based 
earnings ratio without any evidenced justification. 

Q4. Do you agree that incorporating an adjustment for the change of affordability over 10 
years is a positive way to look at whether affordability has improved? If not, please explain 
why.

Yes. This a reasonable length of time to assess long-term changes in affordability, and avoids 
any potential short-term extremes.

Q5. Do you agree that affordability is given an appropriate weighting within the standard 

Page 410



31

method? If not, please explain why.

No. This authority is concerned that affordability is being used as a “blunt tool” for assessing 
demand. There are many local factors ultimately affecting demand/house prices e.g. 
attractiveness /desirability of a location, transport connections (particularly for commuting), 
access to employment, quality of schooling, etc.

Do you agree that authorities should be planning having regard to their revised standard 
method need figure, from the publication date of the revised guidance, with the exception of:

Q6. Authorities which are already at the second stage of the strategic plan consultation 
process (Regulation 19), which should be given 6 months to submit their plan to the Planning 
Inspectorate for examination?

Local Authorities should have the discretion to decide whether to retain the number or take 
on board the revised figure. 

Q7. Authorities close to publishing their second stage consultation (Regulation 19), which 
should be given 3 months from the publication date of the revised guidance to publish their 
Regulation 19 plan, and a further 6 months to submit their plan to the Planning Inspectorate? 

This is not enough time and ignores the significant knock on effects the housing numbers 
have to the Plan and the supporting evidence. Also, the extent of the change in the figure will 
dictate how long it will take to revise plans. At least 6 months would be needed for a local 
authority to amend its plan following a change to its housing figure.  It should also be pointed 
out that once a plan is published under Reg 19 it should be a Plan which the local authority 
considers acceptable to submit for examination. LPAs are not allowed to make significant 
changes to the Plan at this point and further reinforces the need for more time before 
publishing Reg 19.

If not, please explain why. Are there particular circumstances which need to be catered for? 

Delivering First Homes

Q8. The Government is proposing policy compliant planning applications will deliver a 
minimum of 25% of onsite affordable housing as First Homes, and a minimum of 25% of 
offsite contributions towards First Homes where appropriate. Which do you think is the most 
appropriate option for the remaining 75% of affordable housing secured through developer 
contributions? Please provide reasons and / or evidence for your views (if possible):

i) Prioritising the replacement of affordable home ownership tenures, and delivering rental 
tenures in the ratio set out in the local plan policy

No. 

ii) Negotiation between a local authority and developer 

No.

Page 411



32

iii) Other (please specify) 

Yes. The local plan should be the default starting point for assessing affordable housing ratios 
rather than having to negotiate this on a case-by-case basis. We welcome the broad principle 
of this type of scheme in bridging the gap between affordable rent and homeownership. 
However, by imposing a national 25% figure for First Homes, this will take away choice over 
what is considered as a local priority. In many cases this represents a significant leap in the 
levels of homeownership an authority has to plan for. 

In Dacorum, with very high house prices, the need for high levels of housing at social rent is 
acute. Whereas we support the Government’s aims for higher levels of home ownership, the 
proposed and significant emphasis on First Homes as a housing product will divert significant 
levels of developer-funded subsidy away from genuine social housing and therefore 
significantly affect our ability to deliver a range of housing products that reflect local need.

The switch away from s106 allied to the proposed national requirement for First Homes as 
being the first 25% of affordable homes to be provided does not in our view address the true 
housing need. This is an owner occupied element which does not meet the housing needs of 
those on very low incomes. It would likely result in a greatly diminished supply of genuinely 
affordable rented accommodation and will exacerbate an already crisis level shortage of 
affordable homes. The housing requirements of those most in need are primarily social rent 
and affordable rent homes under the Local Housing Allowance limit. Such homes should be 
prioritised over the aspirations of first time buyers which may then be addressed if resources 
allow.

With regards to current exemptions from delivery of affordable home ownership products:

Q9. Should the existing exemptions from the requirement for affordable home ownership 
products (e.g. for build to rent) also apply to apply to this First Homes requirement? 

No comment.

Q.10: Are any existing exemptions not required? If not, please set out which exemptions and 
why. 

No comment.

Q.11: Are any other exemptions needed? If so, please provide reasons and / or evidence for 
your views.

No comment.

Page 412



33

Q.12: Do you agree with the proposed approach to transitional arrangements set out above?

Yes.

Q13: Do you agree with the proposed approach to different levels of discount?

No. Even a 30% discount may not be sufficient to make the product affordable in areas of 
high house prices. However, seeking further discounts may have implications for viability and 
may undermine the delivery of much needed affordable rented housing.

Q14: Do you agree with the approach of allowing a small proportion of market housing on 
First Homes exception sites, in order to ensure site viability?

Yes. This authority sees no reason why a small proportion of housing could not be First 
Homes. However, this should be a very low proportion to ensure the rest of the site is set 
aside to meet identified need. There is also a danger of slow creep in that First Homes 
alongside market housing could end up squeezing out rented homes.

Q15: Do you agree with the removal of the site size threshold set out in the National Planning 
Policy Framework? 

No. The NPPF should continue to provide clear advice over appropriate scale of schemes to 
avoid arguments with developers and having to determine this on a case-by-case basis.

Q16: Do you agree that the First Homes exception sites policy should not apply in designated 
rural areas? 

Yes. We wish to avoid the danger of the potential for too many schemes coming forward in 
the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.

Supporting small and medium-sized developers

Q17: Do you agree with the proposed approach to raise the small sites threshold for a time 
limited period? 

No. SME should continue to play their role in supporting mixed and inclusive communities 
through the provision of affordable homes. The proposed thresholds are far too generous to 
achieve the stated aims, irrational and not properly evidenced. Government should be 
maximising opportunities to increase the contribution of affordable homes from such 
development rather than undermining it. In many instances in our smaller town and larger 
villages the vast majority of schemes in our administrative area are of below 50 homes. 
Therefore, the proposal will only serve to curtail future contributions of much needed 
affordable homes in these locations.

Q18: What is the appropriate level of small sites threshold?
i) Up to 40 homes? No.
ii) Up to 50 homes? No.

Page 413



34

iii) Other (please specify) It should remain at under 10 homes.

Q19: Do you agree with the proposed approach to the site size threshold? 

No. See response to Q.17.

Q20: Do you agree with linking the time-limited period to economic recovery and raising the 
threshold for an initial period of 18 months? 

No. See response to Q.17.

Q21: Do you agree with the proposed approach to minimising threshold effects?

No. See response to Q.17

Q22: Do you agree with the Government’s proposed approach to setting thresholds in rural 
areas? 

Yes. 

Q23: Are there any other ways in which the Government can support SME builders to deliver 
new homes during the economic recovery period?

No. SME are not the solution to housing undersupply. Support should be provided across the 
whole development industry to boost supply rather than a small sector of it.

Extension of the Permission in Principle consent regime

Q24: Do you agree that the new Permission in Principle should remove the restriction on 
major development?

Q25: Should the new Permission in Principle for major development set any limit on the 
amount of commercial development (providing housing still occupies the majority of 
floorspace of the overall scheme)? Please provide any comments in support of your views.

Q26: Do you agree with our proposal that information requirements for Permission in 
Principle by application for major development should broadly remain unchanged?  If you 
disagree, what changes would you suggest and why? 

Q27: Should there be an additional height parameter for Permission in Principle? Please 
provide comments in support of your views. 

Q28: Do you agree that publicity arrangements for Permission in Principle by application 
should be extended for large developments? If so, should local planning authorities be: 

Page 414



35

i) Required to publish a notice in a local newspaper?
ii) subject to a general requirement to publicise the application or
iii) both?
iv) disagree.
If you disagree, please state your reasons.

Q29: Do you agree with our proposal for a banded fee structure based on a flat fee per 
hectarage, with a maximum fee cap?

Q30: What level of flat fee do you consider appropriate and why? 

Q31: Do you agree that any brownfield site that is granted Permission in Principle through the 
application process should be included in Part 2 of the Brownfield Land Register? If you 
disagree, please state why.

Q32: What guidance would help support applicants and local planning authorities to make 
decisions about Permission in Principle? Where possible, please set out any areas of guidance 
you consider are currently lacking and would assist stakeholders.

Our response to Qs 24-32: 

We are concerned over the potential erosion of local democracy and local community 
engagement that may arise from the proposals if implemented. 

The 5 week determination and 14 days consultation periods already allow little time for 
proper consideration as to whether or not an application should be called in and restricts 
opportunity for local community engagement. This will be exacerbated by extending PiPs to 
major development. In our view those periods would be too short and would fly against the 
stated principle in the White Paper “Planning for the future” of communities being 
reconnected to the planning system and residents more engaged over what happens in their 
areas.   

Existing levels of planning application fees do not fully cover costs to local authorities of 
managing the planning application process. We would be resistant to any measures that 
further reduce fees without commensurate benefits accruing to local planning authorities to 
offset any such reductions. 

Little evidence is offered in support of the chosen thresholds for PiP applications or as to 
what would be likely take up by SME’s being the major focus for the proposals. 

The proposals suggest that a PiP achieved by means of inclusion of a site in Part 2 of the 
Brownfield Land Register (BLR) requires the Local Planning Authority to promote sites. This 
would involve local planning authorities in additional work and also require the prioritising of 
sites.  

We note the inference that BLR’s could ultimately feed into the national brownfield map but 
the detail provided is too light for us to comment further on matters such as impacts on the 
ability to then grant PiPs. 

Page 415



36

 
In respect of Q28 we would comment that in line with the general move towards greater use 
of digital technology we believe that use of publication in local newspapers should no longer 
be a requirement.  

From local experience we are not convinced that the development industry is especially 
interested in securing consent though this route. There remains an overwhelming preference 
to secure consent for development through traditional outline/reserved matters/full 
permissions. The PiP consent regime only adds to the complexity of the decision-making 
system without necessarily boosting levels of development, and in particular the supply of 
new homes.

Regulatory Impact Assessment 

Q33: What costs and benefits do you envisage the proposed scheme would cause? Where 
you have identified drawbacks, how might these be overcome? 

Q34: To what extent do you consider landowners and developers likely to use the proposed 
measure? Please provide evidence where possible.

Our response to Qs 33 & 34: This authority does not wish to comment in detail to these 
questions. As noted in our response to Q’s 24-32 above we are not convinced that the 
development industry will be especially interested in securing consent through this route and 
the proposed PiP consent regime may only serve to add additional complexity without 
discernible benefit in practice. 

Public Sector Equality Duty

Q35: In light of the proposals set out in this consultation, are there any direct or indirect 
impact in terms of eliminating unlawful discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity and 
fostering good relations on people who share characteristics protected under the Public 
Sector Equality Duty?

If so please specify the proposal and explain the impact. If there is an impact – are there any 
actions which the department could take to mitigate that impact?

This authority believes there is insufficient assessment to understand what the implications of 
these proposals will mean for communities. 

Page 416



White Paper August 2020

P
age 417



P
age 418



Scope of the consultation 4

Ministerial Foreword  6

Introduction  10

Pillar One – Planning for development  26

Pillar Two – Planning for beautiful and sustainable places  44

Pillar Three – Planning for infrastructure and connected places 60

Delivering change  68

What happens next  74

Annex A  78

Contents

P
age 419



Topic of this consultation: This consultation seeks any views on each part of a package of proposals for reform of the planning system in England 
to streamline and modernise the planning process, improve outcomes on design and sustainability, reform developer 
contributions and ensure more land is available for development where it is needed.

Scope of this consultation: This consultation covers a package of proposals for reform of the planning system in England, covering plan-making, 
development management, development contributions, and other related policy proposals.

Views are sought for specific proposals and the wider package of reforms presented.

Geographical scope: These proposals relate to England only.

Impact Assessment: The Government is mindful of its responsibility to have regard to the potential impact of any proposal on the Public Sector 
Equality Duty. In each part of the consultation we would invite any views on the duty. We are also seeking views on the 
potential impact of the package as a whole on the Public Sector Equality Duty.

Scope of the consultation

4   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 420



To: This consultation is open to everyone. We are keen to hear from a wide range of interested parties from across the public and 
private sectors, as well as from the general public.

Body/bodies responsible 
for the consultation:

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government

Duration: This consultation will last for 12 weeks from 6 August 2020.

Enquiries: For any enquiries about the consultation please contact planningforthefuture@communities.gov.uk.

How to respond: You may respond by going to our website https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-future

Alternatively you can email your response to the questions in this consultation to planningforthefuture@communities.gov.uk.

If you are responding in writing, please make it clear which
questions you are responding to. 

Written responses should be sent to: 
Planning for the Future Consultation, 
Planning Directorate, 3rd Floor, Fry Building, 2 Marsham Street, London SW1P 4DF.

When you reply it would be very useful if you confirm whether
you are replying as an individual or submitting an official
response on behalf of an organisation and include:
• your name,
• your position (if applicable), and
• the name of organisation (if applicable).

Planning For The Future  |  5

Basic information

P
age 421



I never cease to be amazed by the incredible potential of this country. The vast array 
of innovations and talent that, when combined with our extraordinary can-do spirit, 
has brought forth everything from the jet engine to gene editing therapy.

But as we approach the second decade of the 21st century that potential is being artificially 

constrained by a relic from the middle of the 20th – our outdated and ineffective planning system.

Designed and built in 1947 it has, like any building of that age, been patched up here and 

there over the decades. 

Extensions have been added on, knocked down and rebuilt according to the whims of 

whoever’s name is on the deeds at the time. Eight years ago a new landlord stripped most 

of the asbestos from the roof. 

But make-do-and-mend can only last for so long and, in 2020, it is no longer fit for  

human habitation. 

Thanks to our planning system, we have nowhere near enough homes in the right places. 

People cannot afford to move to where their talents can be matched with opportunity. 

Businesses cannot afford to grow and create jobs. The whole thing is beginning to crumble 

and the time has come to do what too many have for too long lacked the courage to do – 

tear it down and start again.

That is what this paper proposes.

Radical reform unlike anything we have seen since the Second World War. 

Not more fiddling around the edges, not simply painting over the damp patches, but 

levelling the foundations and building, from the ground up, a whole new planning system 

for England.

One that is simpler, clearer and quicker to navigate, delivering results in weeks and months 

rather than years and decades.  

That actively encourages sustainable, beautiful, safe and useful development rather than 

obstructing it.

That makes it harder for developers to dodge their obligations to improve infrastructure and 

opens up housebuilding to more than just the current handful of massive corporations. 

That gives you a greater say over what gets built in your community.

That makes sure start-ups have a place to put down roots and that businesses great and 

small have the space they need to grow and create jobs.

And, above all, that gives the people of this country the homes we need in the places we 

want to live at prices we can afford, so that all of us are free to live where we can connect 

our talents with opportunity.

Getting homes built is always a controversial business. Any planning application, however 

modest, almost inevitably attracts objections and I am sure there will be those who say this 

paper represents too much change too fast, too much of a break from what has gone before.

But what we have now simply does not work. 

So let’s do better. Let’s make the system work for all of us. And let’s take big, bold steps so that 

we in this country can finally build the homes we all need and the future we all want to see. 

The Rt. Hon. Boris Johnson MP
Prime Minister

Foreword from the Prime Minister

6  |  Planning For The Future

P
age 422



“ The homes we need in 
the places we want to 
live in at prices we can 
afford, so that all of us 
are free to live where we 
can connect our talents 
with opportunity.”

P
age 423



The outbreak of COVID-19 has affected the economic and social lives of the entire 
nation. With so many people spending more time at home than ever before, we have 
come to know our homes, gardens and local parks more intimately. For some this has 
been a welcome opportunity to spend more time in the place they call home with 
the people they love. For others – those in small, substandard homes, those unable 
to walk to distant shops or parks, those struggling to pay their rent, or indeed for 
those who do not have a home of their own at all – this has been a moment where 
longstanding issues in our development and planning system have come to the fore.

Such times require decisive action and a plan for a better future. These proposals will help us 

to build the homes our country needs, bridge the present generational divide and recreate an 

ownership society in which more people have the security and dignity of a home of their own.

Our proposals seek a significantly simpler, faster and more predictable system. They aim to 

facilitate a more diverse and competitive housing industry, in which smaller builders can thrive 

alongside the big players, where all pay a fair share of the costs of infrastructure and the 

affordable housing existing communities require and where permissions are more swiftly 

turned into homes.

We are cutting red tape, but not standards. This Government doesn’t want to just build 

houses. We want a society that has re-established powerful links between identity and place, 

between our unmatchable architectural heritage and the future, between community and 

purpose. Our reformed system places a higher regard on quality, design and local vernacular 

than ever before, and draws inspiration from the idea of design codes and pattern books that 

built Bath, Belgravia and Bournville. Our guiding principle will be as Clough Williams-Ellis said 

to cherish the past, adorn the present and build for the future.

We will build environmentally friendly homes that will not need to be expensively retrofitted in 

the future, homes with green spaces and new parks at close hand, where tree lined streets are 

the norm and where neighbours are not strangers.

We are moving away from notices on lampposts to an interactive and accessible map-based 

online system – placing planning at the fingertips of people. The planning process will be 

brought into the 21st century. Communities will be reconnected to a planning process that is 

supposed to serve them, with residents more engaged over what happens in their areas.

While the current system excludes residents who don’t have the time to contribute to the 

lengthy and complex planning process, local democracy and accountability will now be 

enhanced by technology and transparency.

Reforming the planning system isn’t a task we undertake lightly, but it is both an overdue and 

a timely reform. Millions of jobs depend on the construction sector and in every economic 

recovery, it has played a crucial role. 

This paper sets out how we will reform the planning system to realise that vision and make 

it more efficient, effective and equitable. I am most grateful to the taskforce of experts who 

have generously offered their time and expert advice as we have developed our proposals 

for reform – Bridget Rosewell, Miles Gibson, Sir Stuart Lipton, Nicholas Boys Smith, and 

Christopher Katkowski QC. 

The Rt. Hon. Robert Jenrick MP
Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government 

Foreword from the Secretary of State

8   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 424



“ These proposals will help 
us to build the homes 
our country needs, 
bridge the present 
generational divide and 
recreate an ownership 
society in which more 
people have the dignity 
and security of a home 
of their own.” 

P
age 425



��The�challenge�we�face�–�an�inefficient,�opaque�process�and�poor�outcomes

The planning system is central to our most important national challenges: tackling head on the 

shortage of beautiful, high quality homes and places where people want to live and work; 

combating climate change; improving biodiversity; supporting sustainable growth in all parts of 

the country and rebalancing our economy; delivering opportunities for the construction sector, 

upon which millions of livelihoods depend; the ability of more people to own assets and have a 

stake in our society; and our capacity to house the homeless and provide security and dignity.1 

To succeed in meeting these challenges, as we must, the planning system needs to be fit for 

purpose. It must make land available in the right places and for the right form of 

development. In doing this, it must ensure new development brings with it the schools, 

hospitals, surgeries and transport local communities need, while at the same time protecting 

our unmatchable architectural heritage and natural environment.

There is some brilliant planning and development. And there are many brilliant planners  

and developers. But too often excellence in planning is the exception rather than the rule,  

as it is hindered by several problems with the system as it stands: 

•  It is too complex: the planning system we have today was shaped by the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1947, which established planning as nationalised and discretionary  

in character. Since then, decades of reform have built complexity, uncertainty and delay 

into the system. It now works best for large investors and companies, and worst for those 

without the resources to manage a process beset by risk and uncertainty. A simpler 

framework would better support a more competitive market with a greater diversity of 

developers, and more resilient places.

•   Planning decisions are discretionary rather than rules-based: nearly all decisions to grant 

consent are undertaken on a case-by-case basis, rather than determined by clear rules for 

what can and cannot be done. This makes the English planning system and those derived 

from it an exception internationally, and it has the important consequences of increasing 

planning risk, pushing up the cost of capital for development and discouraging both 

Introduction

10   |  Planning For The Future

There is some brilliant planning and 
development. And there are many  
brilliant planners and developers.

P
age 426



Planning decisions are discretionary 
rather than rules-based: nearly all 
decisions to grant consent are 
undertaken on a case-by-case basis.

P
age 427



innovation and the bringing forward of land for development.2 Decisions are also often 

overturned – of the planning applications determined at appeal, 36 per cent of decisions 

relating to major applications and 30 per cent of decisions relating to minor applications 

are overturned.3 

•   It takes too long to adopt a Local Plan: although it is a statutory obligation to have an  

up-to-date Local Plan in place, only 50 per cent of local authorities (as of June 2020) do, 

and Local Plan preparation takes an average of seven years (meaning many policies are 

effectively out of date as soon as they are adopted).

•   Assessments of housing need, viability and environmental impacts are too complex and 

opaque: land supply decisions are based on projections of household and business ‘need’ 

typically over 15- or 20-year periods. These figures are highly contested and do not provide 

a clear basis for the scale of development to be planned for. Assessments of environmental 

impacts and viability add complexity and bureaucracy but do not necessarily lead to 

environmental improvements nor ensure sites are brought forward and delivered.

•   It has lost public trust with, for example, a recent poll finding that only seven per cent 

trusted their local council to make decisions about large scale development that will be 

good for their local area (49 per cent and 36 per cent said they distrusted developers and 

local authorities respectively).4 And consultation is dominated by the few willing and able to 

navigate the process – the voice of those who stand to gain from development is not heard 

loudly enough, such as young people. The importance of local participation in planning is 

now the focus of a campaign by the Local Government Association but this involvement 

must be accessible to all people.5

12   |  Planning For The Future

The planning system is based on 
20th-century technology: planning 
systems are reliant on legacy 
software that burden the  
sector with repetitive tasks.

P
age 428



•  It is based on 20th-century technology: planning systems are reliant on legacy software that 

burden the sector with repetitive tasks. The planning process remains reliant on 

documents, not data, which reduces the speed and quality of decision-making. The user 

experience of the planning system discourages engagement, and little use is made of 

interactive digital services and tools. We have heard that for many developers the worst 

thing that can happen is for the lead local authority official to leave their job – suggesting 

a system too dependent on the views of a particular official at a particular time, and not 

transparent and accessible requirements shaped by communities.

•  The process for negotiating developer contributions to affordable housing and infrastructure 

is complex, protracted and unclear: as a result, the outcomes can be uncertain, which further 

diminishes trust in the system and reduces the ability of local planning authorities to plan 

for and deliver necessary infrastructure. Over 80 per cent of planning authorities agree that 

planning obligations cause delay.6 It also further increases planning risk for developers and 

landowners, thus discouraging development and new entrants.

•  There is not enough focus on design, and little incentive for high quality new homes and 

places: There is insufficient incentive within the process to bring forward proposals that are 

beautiful and which will enhance the environment, health, and character of local areas. 

Local Plans do not provide enough certainty around the approved forms of development, 

relying on vague and verbal statements of policy rather than the popularly endorsed visual 

clarity that can be provided by binding design codes. This means that quality can be 

negotiated away too readily and the lived experience of the consumer ignored too readily.

Planning For The Future  |  13

P
age 429



•   It simply does not lead to enough homes being built, especially in those places where  

the need for new homes is the highest. Adopted Local Plans, where they are in place, 

provide for 187,000 homes per year across England – not just significantly below our 

ambition for 300,000 new homes annually, but also lower than the number of homes 

delivered last year (over 241,000).7 The result of long-term and persisting undersupply is that 

housing is becoming increasingly expensive, including relative to our European neighbours. 

In Italy, Germany and the Netherlands, you can get twice as much housing space for your 

money compared to the UK.8 We need to address the inequalities this has entrenched. 

A poor planning process results in poor outcomes. Land use planning and development control 

are forms of regulation, and like any regulation should be predictable and accessible, and strike  

a fair balance between consumers, producers and wider society. But too often the planning 

system is unpredictable, too difficult to engage with or understand, and favours the biggest 

players in the market who are best able to negotiate and navigate through the process.

The Government has made significant progress in recent years in increasing house building, 

with construction rates at a 30-year high in 2019. But these fundamental issues in the system 

remain, and we are still lagging behind many of our European neighbours. And as the 

Building Better, Building Beautiful Commission found in its interim report last year, too often 

what we do build is low quality and considered ugly by local residents.9 

14   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 430



The Government has made significant 
progress in recent years to increase 
house building, with construction rates 
at a 30-year high.

P
age 431



A new vision for England’s planning system

This paper and the reforms that follow are an attempt to rediscover the original mission and 

purpose of those who sought to improve our homes and streets in late Victorian and early 

20th-century Britain. That original vision has been buried under layers of legislation and case 

law. We need to rediscover it. 

Planning matters. Where we live has a measurable effect on our physical and mental health: 

on how much we walk, on how many neighbours we know or how tense we feel on the daily 

journey to work or school. Places affect us from the air that we breathe to our ultimate sense 

of purpose and wellbeing. This is a question of social justice too. Better off people experience 

more beauty than poorer people and can better afford the rising costs of homes. As a nation 

we need to do this better. Evidence from the Town and Country Planning Association 

(TCPA), the Royal Town Planning Institue (RTPI) and the Green Building Council to the 

Building Better Building Beautiful Commission all emphasised that the evidence on what 

people want and where they flourish is remarkably consistent.

The Government’s planning reforms since 2010 have started to address the underlying issues:

•  last year, we delivered over 241,000 homes, more new homes than at any point in the last 30 years;

•  our reforms to change-of-use rules have supported delivery of over 50,000 new homes;

•  the rate of planning applications granted has increased since 2010;10

•  the National Planning Policy Framework, introduced in 2012, has greatly simplified the 

previously huge volume of policy;

•  we have introduced a simplified formula for assessing housing need and clearer incentives  

for local authorities to have up-to-date plans in place;

•  we have introduced greater democratic accountability over infrastructure planning, giving 

elected Ministers responsibility for planning decisions about this country’s nationally significant 

energy, transport, water, wastewater and waste projects;

•  we have continued to protect the Green Belt;

•  protections for environmental and heritage assets – such as Areas of Outstanding  

Natural Beauty (AONBs), and Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) and Conservation  

Areas – continue to protect our treasured countryside and historic places; and

•  we have democratised and localised the planning process by abolishing the top-down regional 

strategies and unelected regional planning bodies, and empowered communities to prepare  

a plan for their area, through our introduction of neighbourhood planning – with over 2,600 

communities taking advantage of our reforms so far.

But the simple truth is that decades of complexity and political argument have resulted in 

a system which is providing neither sufficient homes nor good enough new places. Nor is 

it fairly using the talents and passions of public sector planners who often feel over-worked 

and under-appreciated, trapped between the urgent need for more homes, an insufficiently 

competitive market and a policy framework which makes it almost impossible for them to 

insist upon beautiful and sustainable new homes and places.

The planning system needs to be better at unlocking growth and opportunity in all parts  

of the country, at encouraging beautiful new places, at supporting the careful stewardship  

and rebirth of town and city centres, and at supporting the revitalisation of existing buildings 

as well as supporting new development.

It is also time for the planning system finally to move towards a modernised, open data 

approach that creates a reliable national picture of what is happening where in planning, 

makes planning services more efficient, inclusive and consistent, and unlocks the data  

needed by property developers and the emerging Property Technology (PropTech) sector,  

to help them make more informed decisions on what to build and where.

16   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 432



Planning For The Future  |  17

P
age 433



We wish to:

•  be more ambitious for the places we create, expecting new development to be beautiful 

and to create a ‘net gain’ not just ‘no net harm’;

•  move the democracy forward in the planning process and give neighbourhoods and communities 

an earlier and more meaningful voice in the future of their area as plans are made, harnessing 

digital technology to make it much easier to access and understand information about specific 

planning proposals. More engagement should take place at the Local Plan phase;

•  improve the user experience of the planning system, to make planning information easier to 

find and understand and make it appear in the places that discussions are happening, for 

example in digital neighbourhood groups and social networks. New digital engagement 

processes will make it radically easier to raise views about and visualise emerging proposals 

whilst on-the-go on a smart phone;

•  support home ownership, helping people and families own their own beautiful, affordable, 

green and safe homes, with ready access to better infrastructure and green spaces;

•  increase the supply of land available for new homes where it is needed to address 

affordability pressures, support economic growth and the renewal of our towns and cities, 

and foster a more competitive housing market;

•  help businesses to expand with readier access to the commercial space they need in the 

places they want and supporting a more physically flexible labour market;

•  support innovative developers and housebuilders, including small and medium-sized 

enterprises (SMEs) and self-builders, those looking to build a diverse range of types and 

tenure of housing, and those using innovative modern methods of construction (MMC);

•  promote the stewardship and improvement of our precious countryside and environment, 

ensuring important natural assets are preserved, the development potential of brownfield 

land is maximised, that we support net gains for biodiversity and the wider environment and 

actively address the challenges of climate change; and

•  create a virtuous circle of prosperity in our villages, towns and cities, supporting their 

ongoing renewal and regeneration without losing their human scale, inheritance and sense 

of place. We need to build more homes at gentle densities in and around town centres and 

high streets, on brownfield land and near existing infrastructure so that families can meet 

their aspirations. Good growth will make it easier to level up the economic and social 

opportunities available to communities.

Underpinning this, we need to modernise the day-to-day operation of the planning system. 

Residents should not have to rely on planning notices attached to lamp posts, printed in 

newspapers or posted in libraries. The COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the need for 

modern digital planning services that can be accessed from home, and many planners and 

local authorities have responded brilliantly to this challenge. The planning system must build 

on this success and follow other sectors in harnessing the benefits which digitisation can bring 

– real-time information, high-quality virtual simulation, straightforward end-to-end processes.  

It should be based on data, not documents, inclusive for all members of society, and stimulate 

the innovation of the great British design industry.

There are growing calls for change, and for the shape that it should take – based on a bold 

vision for end-to-end reform, rather than further piecemeal change within the existing system. 

Recent reports from think tanks and the Government-appointed Building Better, Building 

Beautiful Commission are the latest prominent voices to have added to the chorus.11

18   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 434



P
age 435



Proposals

We will undertake fundamental reform of the planning system to address its underlying weaknesses 

and create a system fit for the 21st century. We want to hear your views on our proposals.

First, we will streamline the planning process with more democracy 
taking place more effectively at the plan-making stage, and will replace 
the entire corpus of plan-making law in England to achieve this:

•   Simplifying the role of Local Plans, to focus on identifying land under three categories 

– Growth areas suitable for substantial development, and where outline approval for 

development would be automatically secured for forms and types of development 

specified in the Plan; Renewal areas suitable for some development, such as gentle 

densification; and Protected areas where – as the name suggests – development is 

restricted. This could halve the time it takes to secure planning permission on larger sites 

identified in plans. We also want to allow local planning authorities to identify sub-areas  

in their Growth areas for self- and custom-build homes, so that more people can build  

their own homes.

•   Local Plans should set clear rules rather than general policies for development. We will set 

out general development management policies nationally, with a more focused role for 

Local Plans in identifying site- and area-specific requirements, alongside locally produced 

design codes. This would scale back the detail and duplication contained in Local Plans, 

while encouraging a much greater focus on design quality at the local level. Plans will be 

significantly shorter in length (we expect a reduction in size of at least two thirds), as they 

will no longer contain a long list of “policies” of varying specificity – just a core set of 

standards and requirements for development.

•   Local councils should radically and profoundly re-invent the ambition, depth and breadth 

with which they engage with communities as they consult on Local Plans. Our reforms will 

democratise the planning process by putting a new emphasis on engagement at the 

plan-making stage. At the same time, we will streamline the opportunity for consultation at 

the planning application stage, because this adds delay to the process and allows a small 

minority of voices, some from the local area and often some not, to shape outcomes. We 

want to hear the views of a wide range of people and groups through this consultation on 

our proposed reforms.

•   Local Plans should be subject to a single statutory “sustainable development” test, and 

unnecessary assessments and requirements that cause delay and challenge in the current 

system should be abolished. This would mean replacing the existing tests of soundness, 

updating requirements for assessments (including on the environment and viability) and 

abolishing the Duty to Cooperate.

•   Local Plans should be visual and map-based, standardised, based on the latest digital 

technology, and supported by a new standard template. Plans should be significantly  

shorter in length, and limited to no more than setting out site- or area-specific parameters 

and opportunities.

•   Local authorities and the Planning Inspectorate will be required through legislation to meet  

a statutory timetable (of no more than 30 months in total) for key stages of the process, and 

there will be sanctions for those who fail to do so. 

•   Decision-making should be faster and more certain, within firm deadlines, and should 

make greater use of data and digital technology.

20   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 436



 

•   We will seek to strengthen enforcement powers and sanctions so that as we move towards 

a rules-based system, communities can have confidence those rules will be upheld.

•   We will develop a comprehensive resources and skills strategy for the planning sector  

to support the implementation of our reforms – so that, as we bring in our reforms, local 

planning authorities are equipped to create great communities through world-class civic 

engagement and proactive plan-making.

Second, we will take a radical, digital-first approach to modernise the 
planning process. This means moving from a process based on 
documents to a process driven by data. We will:

•   Support local planning authorities to use digital tools to support a new civic engagement 

process for Local Plans and decision-making, making it easier for people to understand 

what is being proposed and its likely impact on them through visualisations and other 

digital approaches. We will make it much easier for people to feed in their views into the 

system through social networks and via their phones.

•   Insist local plans are built on standardised, digitally consumable rules and data, enabling 

accessible interactive maps that show what can be built where. The data will be accessed  

by software used across the public sector and also by external PropTech entrepreneurs to 

improve transparency, decision-making and productivity in the sector.

•   Standardise, and make openly and digitally accessible, other critical datasets that the planning 

system relies on, including planning decisions and developer contributions. Approaches 

for fixing the underlying data are already being tested and developed by innovative local 

planning authorities and we are exploring options for how these could be scaled nationally.

•   Work with tech companies and local authorities to modernise the software used for making 

and case-managing a planning application, improving the user-experience for those applying 

and reducing the errors and costs currently experienced by planning authorities. A new 

more modular software landscape will encourage digital innovation and will consume  

and provide access to underlying data. This will help automate routine processes, such  

as knowing whether new applications are within the rules, making decision-making faster 

and more certain.

•   Engage with the UK PropTech sector through a PropTech Innovation Council to make the 

most of innovative new approaches to meet public policy objectives, help this emerging 

sector to boost productivity in the wider planning and housing sectors, and ensure 

government data and decisions support the sector’s growth in the UK and internationally.

Third, to bring a new focus on design and sustainability, we will:

•   Ensure the planning system supports our efforts to combat climate change and maximises 

environmental benefits, by ensuring the National Planning Policy Framework targets those 

areas where a reformed planning system can most effectively address climate change 

mitigation and adaptation and facilitate environmental improvements.

•   Facilitate ambitious improvements in the energy efficiency standards for buildings to help 

deliver our world-leading commitment to net-zero by 2050.

•   Ask for beauty and be far more ambitious for the places we create, expecting new 

development to be beautiful, and to create a ‘net gain’ not just ‘no net harm’, with  

a greater focus on ‘placemaking’ and ‘the creation of beautiful places’ within the 

National Planning Policy Framework.

Planning For The Future  |  21

We will develop a comprehensive resources 
and skills strategy for the planning sector to 
support the implementation of our reforms 

P
age 437



•   Make it easier for those who want to build beautifully through the introduction of a fast-track 

for beauty through changes to national policy and legislation, to automatically permit 

proposals for high-quality developments where they reflect local character and preferences.

•   Introduce a quicker, simpler framework for assessing environmental impacts and enhancement 

opportunities, that speeds up the process while protecting and enhancing England’s 

unique ecosystems.

•   Expect design guidance and codes – which will set the rules for the design of new 

development – to be prepared locally and to be based on genuine community 

involvement rather than meaningless consultation, so that local residents have a genuine 

say in the design of new development, and ensure that codes have real ‘bite’ by making 

them more binding on planning decisions.

•   Establish a new body to support the delivery of design codes in every part of the country, and 

give permanence to the campaigning work of the Building Better, Building Beautiful 

Commission and the life of its co-chairman the late Sir Roger Scruton.

•   Ensure that each local planning authority has a chief officer for design and place-making,  

to help ensure there is the capacity and capability locally to raise design standards and the 

quality of development.

•   Lead by example by updating Homes England’s strategic objectives to give greater 

emphasis to delivering beautiful places.

•  Protect our historic buildings and areas while ensuring the consent framework is fit for the 

21st century.

“ The Community Infrastructure Levy and 
the current system of planning will be 
reformed as a nationally set, value-based 
flat rate charge (the ‘Infrastructure Levy’).”

Fourth, we will improve infrastructure delivery in all parts of the country 
and ensure developers play their part, through reform of developer 
contributions. We propose:

•   The Community Infrastructure Levy and the current system of planning obligations will be 

reformed as a nationally set, value-based flat rate charge (the ‘Infrastructure Levy’). A single 

rate or varied rates could be set. We will aim for the new Levy to raise more revenue than 

under the current system of developer contributions, and deliver at least as much – if not 

more – on-site affordable housing as at present. This reform will enable us to sweep away 

months of negotiation of Section 106 agreements and the need to consider site viability. 

We will deliver more of the infrastructure existing and new communities require by 

capturing a greater share of the ulpift in land value that comes with development.

•   We will be more ambitious for affordable housing provided through planning gain, and we 

will ensure that the new Infrastructure Levy allows local planning authorities to secure more 

on-site housing provision.

•   We will give local authorities greater powers to determine how developer contributions 

are used, including by expanding the scope of the Levy to cover affordable housing 

provision to allow local planning authorities to drive up the provision of affordable homes. 

We will ensure that affordable housing provision supported through developer contributions 

is kept at least at current levels, and that it is still delivered on-site to ensure that new 

development continues to support mixed communities. Local authorities will have the 

flexibility to use this funding to support both existing communities as well as new communities.

•   We will also look to extend the scope of the consolidated Infrastructure Levy and remove 

exemptions from it to capture changes of use through permitted development rights, so that 

additional homes delivered through this route bring with them support for new infrastructure.

22   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 438



 

Fifth, to ensure more land is available for the homes and development 
people and communities need, and to support renewal of our town and 
city centres, we propose:

•   A new nationally determined, binding housing requirement that local planning authorities 

would have to deliver through their Local Plans. This would be focused on areas where 

affordability pressure is highest to stop land supply being a barrier to enough homes being 

built. We propose that this would factor in land constraints, including the Green Belt, and 

would be consistent with our aspirations of creating a housing market that is capable of 

delivering 300,000 homes annually, and one million homes over this Parliament.

•   To speed up construction where development has been permitted, we propose to make  

it clear in the revised National Planning Policy Framework that the masterplans and design 

codes for sites prepared for substantial development should seek to include a variety  

of development types from different builders which allow more phases to come forward 

together. We will explore further options to support faster build out as we develop  

our proposals for the new planning system.

•   To provide better information to local communities, to promote competition amongst 

developers, and to assist SMEs and new entrants to the sector, we will consult on options  

for improving the data held on contractual arrangements used to control land.

•   To make sure publicly owned land and public investment in development supports 

thriving places, we will:

 –  ensure decisions on the locations of new public buildings – such as government offices 

and further education colleges – support renewal and regeneration of town centres; and

 –  explore how publicly owned land disposal can support the SME and self-build sectors.

Planning For The Future  |  23

P
age 439



The change we will see – a more engaging, 
equitable and effective system
Our proposals will greatly improve the user experience of the planning system, making it fit 

for the next century.

Residents will be able to engage in a much more democratic system that is open to a wider 

range of people whose voice is currently not heard. Residents will no longer have to rely on 

planning notices attached to lamp posts, printed in newspapers and posted in libraries to find 

out about newly proposed developments. Instead people will be able to use their smartphone 

to give their views on Local Plans and design codes as they are developed, and to see clearer, 

more visual information about development proposals near them – rather than current 

planning policies and development proposals presented in PDF documents, hundreds of 

pages long. And existing and new residents alike will gain from more affordable, green and 

beautiful homes near to where they want to live and work.

Communities will be able to trust the planning system again as their voice will be heard from 

the beginning of the process and better use of digital technology will make it radically easier 

for people to understand what is being proposed in their neighbourhoods and provide new 

ways to feed their views into the reformed system. Local Plans will be developed over a fixed 

30-month period with clear engagement points, rather than the current inconsistent process 

which takes seven years on average. The Infrastructure Levy will be more transparent than 

Section 106, and local communities will have more control over how it is spent. Communities 

will be able to set standards for design upfront through local design codes. And with more 

land available for homes where they are most needed, and a renewed focus on the beauty of 

new development, communities will be able to grow organically and sustainably, and 

development will enhance places for everyone.

Innovators, entrepreneurs and businesses will benefit from a planning system that is much 

more adaptable to the changing needs of the economy. A greater amount of land available 

near to workplaces, and a more flexible approach to how that land can be used, will make it 

 Innovators and businesses 
will benefit from a planning  
system that is much more 
adaptable to the changing 
need of the economy. 

24   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 440



 

much easier for firms to set up and expand in the most productive locations – for example, 

spin-out companies looking to set up near to research-intensive universities. A reformed 

system that is based upon data, rather than documents will help to provide the data that 

innovators and entrepreneurs, including the burgeoning PropTech sector, need to build new 

technology to help improve citizen engagement and planning processes.

Small builders, housing associations and those building their own home, will find this system 

much easier, less costly and quicker to navigate, with more land available for development  

and clearer expectations on the types of development permitted, helping them to find 

development opportunities and use innovative construction methods. With permission for the 

principle of development secured automatically in many cases, a major hurdle in the process 

will be removed, taking two to three years out of the process. The system of developer 

contributions will make it much easier for smaller developers, who will not have to engage in 

months of negotiation and can instead get on with the job of building. And a shorter, more 

certain process will remove significant risk from the process, lowering the need for developers 

to secure long development pipelines and lowering the regulatory barriers to entry that 

currently exist in the market. A data-led planning system will help developers of all sizes and 

experience to find the planning information they need to understand what can be built and 

where, which will provide greater certainty to them and their investors.

Local authorities, including mayoral combined authorities, will be liberated to plan and able 

to focus on what they do best, with the shackles of current burdensome assessments and 

negotiations removed. They will be able to give more attention to improving the quality of 

new development and focus on those large and special sites that need the most 

consideration. And the Government will support modernisation of the planning process so 

that routine tasks are automated and decision-making, and plan-making, is improved by 

better access to the data local authorities need.

And for our children and grandchildren, our reforms will leave an inheritance of environmental 

improvement – with environmental assets protected, more green spaces provided, more 

sustainable development supported, new homes that are much more energy-efficient and 

new places that can become the heritage of the future, built closer to where people want  

to live and work to reduce our reliance on carbon-intensive modes of transport.

Planning For The Future  |  25

This consultation document does not address every detailed part of the planning system,  

its function and objectives, but rather focuses on the key reforms that can help improve the 

delivery and quality of homes and neighbourhoods, set within our drive towards net-zero 

greenhouse gas emissions by 2050.

And fixing the planning system alone will not be enough – it will require a collective effort 

between Government, communities, businesses and developers over the long term. But fixing 

the planning system should be the starting point for these efforts.

P
age 441



Pillar One – Planning for development

Overview

The starting point for an effective planning system is to establish a clear and predictable 

basis for the pattern and form of development in an area. The current system of land use 

planning in England is principally based on Local Plans, brought forward by local planning 

authorities on behalf of their communities. But in contrast to planning systems in places like 

Japan, the Netherlands and Germany, where plans give greater certainty that development 

is permitted in principle upfront, plans in England are policy-based, with a separate process 

required to secure permission on the sites that it designates for development.

Local Plans are a good foundation on which to base reform, as they provide a route for local 

requirements to be identified and assessed, a forum for political debate and for different 

views on the future of areas to be heard. The National Planning Policy Framework provides 

a clear basis for those matters that are best set in national policy.

However, change is needed. Layers of assessment, guidance and policy have broadened the 

scope of Local Plans, requiring a disproportionate burden of evidence to support them. As  

a result, Local Plans take increasingly long to produce, on average over seven years; have 

become lengthier documents of increasing complexity, in some cases stretching to nearly 500 

pages; are underpinned by vast swathes of evidence base documents, often totalling at least 

ten times the length of the plan itself, and none of which are clearly linked, standardised, or 

produced in accessible formats; and include much unnecessary repetition of national policy.

It is difficult for users of the planning system to find the information they need, and when 

they do, it is difficult to understand. Few people read the array of evidence base documents 

which accompany plans and these assessments do not sufficiently aid decision-making. Much 

of this evidence becomes dated very quickly, and production times often render policies out 

of date as soon as they are adopted. Furthermore, even when the plan is in place, it cannot be 

relied on as the definitive statement of how development proposals should be handled.

Local Plans should instead be focused on where they can add real value: allocating enough 

land for development in the right places, giving certainty about what can be developed on 

that land, making the process for getting permission for development as simple as possible, 

and providing local communities a genuine opportunity to shape those decisions. To this end, 

Local Plans should:

•   be based on transparent, clear requirements for local authorities to identify appropriate 

levels of, and locations for, development that provide certainty and that applicants and 

communities can easily understand;

•   communicate key information clearly and visually so that plans are accessible and easily 

understandable, and communities can engage meaningfully in the process of developing them;

•   be published as standardised data to enable a strategic national map of planning to be created;

•   be developed using a clear, efficient and standard process;

•   benefit from a radically and profoundly re-invented engagement with local communities so 

that more democracy takes place effectively at the plan-making stage; and

•   set clear expectations on what is required on land that is identified for development, so that 

plans give confidence in the future growth of areas and facilitate the delivery of beautiful and 

sustainable places.

26   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 442



Questions

1.  What three words do you associate most with the planning  
system in England?

2(a).   Do you get involved with planning decisions in your local area? 
[Yes / No]  

2(b).  If no, why not? 
[Don’t know how to / It takes too long / It’s too complicated /  
I don’t care / Other – please specify] 

3.  Our proposals will make it much easier to access plans and contribute 
your views to planning decisions. How would you like to find out about 
plans and planning proposals in the future?  
[Social media / Online news / Newspaper / By post /  
Other – please specify] 

4.  What are your top three priorities for planning in your local area?  
[Building homes for young people / building homes for the homeless / 
Protection of green spaces / The environment, biodiversity and action 
on climate change / Increasing the affordability of housing / The design 
of new homes and places / Supporting the high street / Supporting the 
local economy / More or better local infrastructure / Protection of 
existing heritage buildings or areas / Other – please specify]

Planning For The Future  |  27

P
age 443



Proposals

We propose a new role for Local Plans and a new process for making them, by replacing  

the existing primary and secondary legislation.

A NEW APPROACH TO PLAN-MAKING

Local Plans should have a clear role and function, which should be, first, to identify land  

for development and sites that should be protected;and, second, to be clear about what 

development can take place in those different areas so that there is greater certainty about 

land allocated for development and so that there is a faster route to securing permission. 

They should be assessed against a single statutory “sustainable development” test to ensure 

plans strike the right balance between environmental, social and economic objectives.

Proposal 1: The role of land use plans should be simplified. We propose 
that Local Plans should identify three types of land – Growth areas 
suitable for substantial development, Renewal areas suitable for 
development, and areas that are Protected.

All areas of land would be put into one of these three categories:

•   Growth areas “suitable for substantial development” – we propose that the term substantial 

development be defined in policy to remove any debate about this descriptor. We envisage 

this category would include land suitable for comprehensive development, including new 

settlements and urban extension sites, and areas for redevelopment, such as former 

industrial sites or urban regeneration sites. It could also include proposals for sites such as 

those around universities where there may be opportunities to create a cluster of growth-

focused businesses. Sites annotated in the Local Plan under this category would have outline 

approval for development (see proposal 5 for more detail). Areas of flood risk would be 

excluded from this category (as would other important constraints), unless any risk can be 

fully mitigated;

28   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 444



 

•  Renewal areas “suitable for development” – this would cover existing built areas where 
smaller scale development is appropriate. It could include the gentle densification and infill 
of residential areas, development in town centres, and development in rural areas that is 
not annotated as Growth or Protected areas, such as small sites within or on the edge of 
villages. There would be a statutory presumption in favour of development being granted 
for the uses specified as being suitable in each area. Local authorities could continue to 
consider the case for resisting inappropriate development of residential gardens;

•  Areas that are Protected – this would include sites and areas which, as a result of their 
particular environmental and/or cultural characteristics, would justify more stringent 
development controls to ensure sustainability. This would include areas such as Green Belt, 
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs), Conservation Areas, Local Wildlife Sites, 
areas of significant flood risk and important areas of green space. At a smaller scale it can 
continue to include gardens in line with existing policy in the National Planning Policy 
Framework. It would also include areas of open countryside outside of land in Growth or 
Renewal areas. Some areas would be defined nationally, others locally on the basis of 
national policy, but all would be annotated in Local Plan maps and clearly signpost the 
relevant development restrictions defined in the National Planning Policy Framework.

This new-style Local Plan would comprise an interactive web-based map of the administrative area 
where data and policies are easily searchable, with a key and accompanying text. Areas and sites 
would be annotated and colour-coded in line with their Growth, Renewal or Protected designation, 
with explanatory descriptions set out in the key and accompanying text, as appropriate to the category.

In Growth and Renewal areas, the key and accompanying text would set out suitable 
development uses, as well as limitations on height and/or density as relevant. These could 
be specified for sub-areas within each category, determined locally but having regard to 
national policy, guidance and legislation (including the National Model Design Code and 

flexibilities in use allowed by virtue of the new Use Classes Order and permitted 
development). For example, it may be appropriate for some areas to be identified as 
suitable for higher-density residential development, or for high streets and town centres to 
be identified as distinct areas. In Growth areas, we would also want to allow sub-areas to be 
created specifically for self and custom-build homes, and community-led housing 
developments, to allow a range of housing aspirations to be met and help create diverse 
and flourishing communities. In the case of self and custom-build homes, local authorities 
should identify enough land to meet the requirements identified in their self-build and 
custom housebuilding registers. For Protected areas, the key and accompanying text would 
explain what is permissible by cross-reference to the National Planning Policy Framework.

Alternative options: Rather than dividing land into three categories, we are also interested in 
views on more binary models. One option is to combine Growth and Renewal areas (as 
defined above) into one category and to extend permission in principle to all land within this 
area, based on the uses and forms of development specified for each sub-area within it.

An alternative approach would be to limit automatic permission in principle to land identified  
for substantial development in Local Plans (Growth areas); other areas of land would, as now,  
be identified for different forms of development in ways determined by the local planning 
authority (and taking into account policy in the National Planning Policy Framework), and  

subject to the existing development management process.

Question

5.  Do you agree that Local Plans should be simplified in line with our proposals? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Planning For The Future  |  29

P
age 445



Proposal 2: Development management policies established at national 
scale and an altered role for Local Plans.

With the primary focus of plan-making on identifying areas for development and protection, 

we propose that development management policy contained in the plan would be restricted 

to clear and necessary site or area-specific requirements, including broad height limits, scale 

and/or density limits for land included in Growth areas and Renewal areas, established 

through the accompanying text. The National Planning Policy Framework would become the 

primary source of policies for development management; there would be no provision for 

the inclusion of generic development management policies which simply repeat national 

policy within Local Plans, such as protections for listed buildings (although we are interested 

in views on the future of optional technical standards). We propose to turn plans from long 

lists of general “policies” to specific development standards.

Local planning authorities and neighbourhoods (through Neighbourhood Plans) would play 

a crucial role in producing required design guides and codes to provide certainty and  

reflect local character and preferences about the form and appearance of development.  

This is important for making plans more visual and engaging. These could be produced  

for a whole local authority area, or for a smaller area or site (as annotated in the Local Plan), 

or a combination of both. Design guides and codes would ideally be produced on a ‘twin 

track’ with the Local Plan, either for inclusion within the plan or prepared as supplementary 

planning documents. 

We want to move to a position where all development management policies and code 

requirements, at national, local and neighbourhood level, are written in a machine-readable 

format so that wherever feasible, they can be used by digital services to automatically screen 

developments and help identify where they align with policies and/or codes. 

This will significantly increase clarity for those wishing to bring forward development, 

enabling automation of more binary considerations and allowing for a greater focus on  

those areas where there is likely to be greater subjectivity.

Alternative options: Rather than removing the ability for local authorities to include general 

development management policies in Local Plans, we could limit the scope of such policies 

to specific matters and standardise the way they are written, where exceptional circumstances 

necessitate a locally-defined approach. Another alternative would be to allow local authorities 

a similar level of flexibility to set development management policies as under the current 

Local Plans system, with the exception that policies which duplicate the National Planning 

Policy Framework would not be allowed.

Question

6.  Do you agree with our proposals for streamlining the development 
management content of Local Plans, and setting out general 
development management policies nationally?

[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Proposal 3: Local Plans should be subject to a single statutory “sustainable 
development” test, replacing the existing tests of soundness.

This would consider whether the plan contributes to achieving sustainable development  

in accordance with policy issued by the Secretary of State. The achievement of sustainable 

development is an existing and well-understood basis for the planning system, and we 

propose that it should be retained.

30   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 446



Planning For The Future  |  31

“ A simpler test, as well as more 
streamlined plans, should 
mean fewer requirements 
for assessments that add 
disproportionate delay to the 
plan-making process. ” 

A simpler test, as well as more streamlined plans, should mean fewer requirements for 

assessments that add disproportionate delay to the plan-making process.

Specifically:

•  we propose to abolish the Sustainability Appraisal system and develop a simplified process 

for assessing the environmental impact of plans, which would continue to satisfy the 

requirements of UK and international law and treaties (see our proposals under Pillar Two);

•  the Duty to Cooperate test would be removed (although further consideration will be given 

to the way in which strategic cross-boundary issues, such as major infrastructure or strategic 

sites, can be adequately planned for, including the scale at which plans are best prepared 

in areas with significant strategic challenges); and

•  a slimmed down assessment of deliverability for the plan would be incorporated into the 

“sustainable development” test.

Plans should be informed by appropriate infrastructure planning, and sites should not be 

included in the plan where there is no reasonable prospect of any infrastructure that may  

be needed coming forward within the plan period. Plan-making policies in the National 

Planning Policy Framework will make this clear.

The new-style digital Local Plan would also help local planning authorities to engage with 

strategic cross-boundary issues and use data-driven insights to assess local infrastructure needs 

to help decide what infrastructure is needed and where it should be located. 

•  Alternative option: Rather than removing the existing tests of soundness, an alternative 

option could be to reform them in order to make it easier for a suitable strategy to be found 

sound. For example, the tests could become less prescriptive about the need to demonstrate 

deliverability. Rather than demonstrating deliverability, local authorities could be required  

to identify a stock of reserve sites which could come forward for development if needed.

Questions

7(a).  Do you agree with our proposals to replace existing legal and policy tests 
for Local Plans with a consolidated test of “sustainable development”, 
which would include consideration of environmental impact? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

7(b).  How could strategic, cross-boundary issues be best planned for in the 
absence of a formal Duty to Cooperate?

P
age 447



Proposal 4: A standard method for establishing housing requirement 
figures which ensures enough land is released in the areas where 
affordability is worst, to stop land supply being a barrier to enough 
homes being built. The housing requirement would factor in land 
constraints and opportunities to more effectively use land, including 
through densification where appropriate, to ensure that the land is 
identified in the most appropriate areas and housing targets are met.

Local Plans will need to identify areas to meet a range of development needs – such as homes, 

businesses and community facilities – for a minimum period of 10 years. This includes land 

needed to take advantage of local opportunities for economic growth, such as commercial 

space for spin-out companies near to university research and development facilities, or other 

high productivity businesses.

Debates about housing numbers tend to dominate this process, and a standard method for 

setting housing requirements would significantly reduce the time it takes to establish the 

amount of land to release in each area. This has historically been a time-consuming process 

which ultimately has not led to enough land being released where it is most needed (as 

reflected by worsening affordability). A standard requirement would differ from the current 

system of local housing need in that it would be binding, and so drive greater land release.

It is proposed that the standard method would be a means of distributing the national 

housebuilding target of 300,000 new homes annually, and one million homes by the end  

of the Parliament, having regard to:

•  the size of existing urban settlements (so that development is targeted at areas that  

can absorb the level of housing proposed);

•  the relative affordability of places (so that the least affordable places where historic 

under-supply has been most chronic take a greater share of future development);

•  the extent of land constraints in an area to ensure that the requirement figure takes into 

account the practical limitations that some areas might face, including the presence of 

designated areas of environmental and heritage value, the Green Belt and flood risk. For 

example, areas in National Parks are highly desirable and housing supply has not kept up 

with demand; however, the whole purpose of National Parks would be undermined by 

multiple large scale housing developments so a standard method should factor this in;

•  the opportunities to better use existing brownfield land for housing, including through greater 

densification. The requirement figure will expect these opportunities to have been utilised 

fully before land constraints are taken into account;

•  the need to make an allowance for land required for other (non-residential) development; and

•  inclusion of an appropriate buffer to ensure enough land is provided to account for the drop 

off rate between permissions and completions as well as offering sufficient choice to the market.

The standard method would make it the responsibility of individual authorities to allocate 

land suitable for housing to meet the requirement, and they would continue to have choices 

about how to do so: for example through more effective use of existing residential land, 

greater densification, infilling and brownfield redevelopment, extensions to existing urban 

areas, or new settlements. The existing policy for protecting the Green Belt would remain. 

We also propose that it would be possible for authorities to agree an alternative distribution 

of their requirement in the context of joint planning arrangements. In particular, it may be 

appropriate for Mayors of combined authorities to oversee the strategic distribution of the 

requirement in a way that alters the distribution of numbers, and this would be allowed for.

In the current system the combination of the five-year housing land supply requirement, 

the Housing Delivery Test and the presumption in favour of sustainable development act 

as a check to ensure that enough land comes into the system. Our proposed approach 

should ensure that enough land is planned for, and with sufficient certainty about its 

availability for development, to avoid a continuing requirement to be able to demonstrate  

32   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 448



a five-year supply of land. However, having enough land supply in the system does not 

guarantee that it will be delivered, and so we propose to maintain the Housing Delivery Test 

and the presumption in favour of sustainable development as part of the new system.

Alternative option: It would be possible to leave the calculation of how much land to include 

in each category to local decision, but with a clear stipulation in policy that this should be 

sufficient to address the development needs of each area (so far as possible subject to 

recognised constraints), taking into account market signals indicating the degree to which 

existing needs are not being met. As now, a standard method could be retained to underpin 

this approach in relation to housing; and it would be possible to make changes to the 

current approach that ensure that meeting minimum need is given greater weight to make 

sure sufficient land comes forward. However, we do not think that this approach would carry 

the same benefits of clarity and simplicity as our preferred option, and would also require 

additional safeguards to ensure that adequate land remains available, especially once the 

assessment of housing need has been translated into housing requirements. We would, 

therefore, propose to retain a five-year housing land supply requirement with this approach.

We have published a separate consultation on proposed changes to the standard method 

for assessing local housing need which is currently used in the process of establishing 

housing requirement figures. The future application of the formula proposed in the revised 

standard method consultation will be considered in the context of the proposals set out 

here. In particular, the methodology does not yet adjust for the land constraints, including 

Green Belt. We will consider further the options for doing this and welcome proposals.

Questions

8(a).  Do you agree that a standard method for establishing housing 
requirements (that takes into account constraints) should be introduced? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

8(b).  Do you agree that affordability and the extent of existing urban areas are 
appropriate indicators of the quantity of development to be accommodated? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Planning For The Future  |  33

P
age 449



A STREAMLINED DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PROCESS  
WITH AUTOMATIC PLANNING PERMISSION FOR SCHEMES  
IN LINE WITH PLANS

Proposal 5: Areas identified as Growth areas (suitable for substantial 
development) would automatically be granted outline planning 
permission for the principle of development, while automatic approvals 
would also be available for pre-established development types in other 
areas suitable for building.

There will therefore be no need to submit a further planning application to test whether the 

site can be approved. Where the Local Plan has identified land for development, planning 

decisions should focus on resolving outstanding issues – not the principle of development.

In areas suitable for substantial development (Growth areas) an outline permission for the 

principle of development would be conferred by adoption of the Local Plan. Further details 

would be agreed and full permission achieved through streamlined and faster consent 

routes which focus on securing good design and addressing site-specific technical issues.

Detailed planning permission could be secured in one of three ways:

•  a reformed reserved matters process for agreeing the issues which remain outstanding;

•  a Local Development Order prepared by the local planning authority for the development 

which could be prepared in parallel with the Local Plan and be linked to a master plan and 

design codes; or

•  for exceptionally large sites such as a new town where there are often land assembly and 

planning challenges, we also want to explore whether a Development Consent Order 

under the Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects regime could be an appropriate 

route to secure consents. Similarly, we will consider how the planning powers for 

Development Corporations can be reformed to reflect this new framework.

In areas suitable for development (Renewal areas), there would be a general presumption in 

favour of development established in legislation (achieved by strengthening the emphasis on 

taking a plan-led approach, with plans reflecting the general appropriateness of these areas 

for development). Consent for development would be granted in one of three ways:

•  for pre-specified forms of development such as the redevelopment of certain building 

types, through a new permission route which gives an automatic consent if the scheme 

meets design and other prior approval requirements (as discussed further under the 

fast-track to beauty proposals set out under Pillar Two);

•  for other types of development, a faster planning application process where a planning 

application for the development would be determined in the context of the Local Plan 

description, for what development the area or site is appropriate for, and with reference  

to the National Planning Policy Framework; or

•  a Local or Neighbourhood Development Order.

In both the Growth and Renewal areas it would still be possible for a proposal which is 

different to the plan to come forward (if, for example, local circumstances had changed 

suddenly, or an unanticipated opportunity arose), but this would require a specific planning 

application. We expect this to be the exception rather than the rule: to improve certainty in 

the system, it will be important for everyone to have confidence that the plan will be the 

basis for decisions, and so we intend to strengthen the emphasis on a plan-led approach in 

legislation (alongside giving appropriate status to national planning policy for general 

development management matters).

34   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 450



 

In areas where development is restricted (Protected areas) any development proposals would 

come forward as now through planning applications being made to the local authority (except 

where they are subject to permitted development rights or development orders), and judged 

against policies set out in the National Planning Policy Framework.

We will consider the most effective means for neighbours and other interested parties to 

address any issues of concern where, under this system, the principle of development has  

been established leaving only detailed matters to be resolved.

Separate to these reforms, we also intend to consolidate other existing routes to permission 

which have accumulated over time, including simplified planning zones, enterprise zones and 

brownfield land registers.

Planning For The Future  |  35

Questions

9(a).  Do you agree that there should be automatic outline permission 
for areas for substantial development (Growth areas) with faster 
routes for detailed consent? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

9(b).  Do you agree with our proposals above for the consent 
arrangements for Renewal and Protected areas?  
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

9(c).  Do you think there is a case for allowing new settlements  
to be brought forward under the Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Projects regime?  
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

The route to full planning permission should 
follow clearly and directly from the designation 
made in the Local Plan.

P
age 451



Proposal 6: Decision-making should be faster and more certain, with firm 
deadlines, and make greater use of digital technology

For all types of planning applications regardless of the category of land, we want to see a much 
more streamlined and digitally enabled end to end process which is proportionate to the scale 
and nature of the development proposed, to ensure decisions are made faster. The well-
established time limits of eight or 13 weeks for determining an application from validation  
to decision should be a firm deadline – not an aspiration which can be got around through 
extensions of time as routinely happens now.

To achieve this, we propose:
•  the greater digitalisation of the application process to make it easier for applicants, especially 

those proposing smaller developments, to have certainty when they apply and engage with 

local planning authorities. In particular, the validation of applications should be integrated with 
the submission of the application so that the right information is provided at the start of the 
process. For Spending Review, the Government will prepare a specific, investable proposal  
for modernising planning systems in local government;

•   a new, more modular, software landscape to encourage digital innovation and provide access 
to underlying data. This will help automate routine processes, such as knowing whether new 
applications are within the rules, which will support faster and more certain decision-making. 
We will work with tech companies and local planning authorities to modernise the software 
used for case-managing a planning application to improve the user-experience for those 
applying and reduce the errors and costs currently experienced by planning authorities;

•  shorter and more standardised applications. The amount of key information required as part 
of the application should be reduced considerably and made machine-readable. A national 
data standard for smaller applications should be created. For major development, beyond 

36   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 452



relevant drawings and plans, there should only be one key standardised planning statement 
of no more than 50 pages to justify the development proposals in relation to the Local Plan 
and National Planning Policy Framework;

•  data-rich planning application registers will be created so that planning application 
information can be easily found and monitored at a national scale, and new digital services 
can be built to help people use this data in innovative ways;

•  data sets that underpin the planning system, including planning decisions and developer 
contributions, need to be standardised and made open and digitally accessible;

•  a digital template for planning notices will be created so that planning application 
information can be more effectively communicated and understood by local communities 
and used by new digital services;

•  greater standardisation of technical supporting information, for instance about local highway 
impacts, flood risk and heritage matters. We envisage design codes will help to reduce the 
need for significant supplementary information, but we recognise there may still need to 
be site specific information to mitigate wider impacts. For these issues, there should be clear 
national data standards and templates developed in conjunction with statutory consultees;

•  clearer and more consistent planning conditions, with standard national conditions to cover 
common issues;

•  a streamlined approach to developer contributions, which is discussed further under Pillar Three;
•  the delegation of detailed planning decisions to planning officers where the principle of 

development has been established, as detailed matters for consideration should be principally 
a matter for professional planning judgment.

We also believe there should be a clear incentive on the local planning authority to determine 
an application within the statutory time limits. This could involve the automatic refund of the 
planning fee for the application if they fail to determine it within the time limit. But we also 
want to explore whether some types of applications should be deemed to have been granted 
planning permission if there has not been a timely determination, to ensure targets are met 
and local authorities keep to the time limit in the majority of cases. We particularly want to 
ensure that the facilities and infrastructure that communities value, such as schools, hospitals 
and GP surgeries, are delivered quickly through the planning system.

There will remain a power to call in decisions by the Secretary of State and for applicants to 
appeal against a decision by a local planning authority. However, by ensuring greater certainty 
about the principle of development in Local Plans, we expect to see fewer appeals being 
considered by the Planning Inspectorate. For those that do go to appeal, we want to ensure the 

Planning For The Future  |  37

appeals process is faster, with the Inspectorate more digitally responsive and flexible. And to 
promote proper consideration of applications by planning committees, where applications are 
refused, we propose that applicants will be entitled to an automatic rebate of their planning 
application fee if they are successful at appeal.

Question

10.  Do you agree with our proposals to make decision-making faster 
and more certain? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

P
age 453



A NEW INTERACTIVE, WEB-BASED MAP STANDARD FOR 
PLANNING DOCUMENTS

Planning documentation should reflect this simplified role for Local Plans and should support 

community engagement.

Proposal 7: Local Plans should be visual and map-based, standardised, 
based on the latest digital technology, and supported by a new template.

Interactive, map-based Local Plans will be built upon data standards and digital principles. To 

support local authorities in developing plans in this new format, we will publish a guide to the 

new Local Plan system and data standards and digital principles, including clearer expectations 

around the more limited evidence that will be expected to support “sustainable” Local Plans, 

accompanied by a “model” template for Local Plans and subsequent updates, well in advance 

of the legislation being brought into force. This will support standardisation of Local Plans across 

the country. The text-based component of plans should be limited to spatially-specific matters 

and capable of being accessible in a range of different formats, including through simple digital 

services on a smartphone. 

To support open access to planning documents and improve public engagement in the plan-

making process, plans should be fully digitised and web-based following agreed web standards 

rather than document based. This will allow for any updates to be published instantaneously and 

makes it easier to share across all parties and the wider public. Those digital plans should be 

carefully designed with the user in mind and to ensure inclusivity, so that they can be accessed in 

different formats, on different devices, and are accessible and understandable by all. Geospatial 

information associated with plans, such as sites and areas, should also be standardised and 

made openly available online. Taken together, these changes will enable a digital register of 

planning policies to be created so that new digital services can be built using this data, and this 

will also enable any existing or future mapping platforms to access and visualise Local Plans.  

This will make it easier for anyone to identify what can be built where. The data will be accessed 

by software used across the public sector and also by external PropTech entrepreneurs to 

improve transparency, decision-making and productivity in the sector. There should also be a 

long-term aim for any data produced to support Local Plans to be open and accessible online in 

machine-readable format and linked to the relevant policies and areas.

38   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 454



By shifting plan-making processes from documents to data, new digital civic engagement 

processes will be enabled, making it easier for people to understand what is being proposed 

where and how it will affect them. These tools have the potential to transform how communities 

engage with Local Plans, opening up new ways for people to feed their views into the system, 

including through social networks and via mobile phones. Early pilots from local planning 

authorities using emerging digital civic engagement tools have shown increased public 

participation from a broader audience, with one PropTech SME reporting that 70% of their  

users are under the age of 45.18

To encourage this step-change, we want to support local authorities to radically rethink how they 

produce their Local Plans, and profoundly re-invent the ambition, depth and breadth with which 

they engage with communities. We will set up a series of pilots to work with local authorities and 

tech companies (the emerging ‘PropTech’ sector) to develop innovative solutions to support 

plan-making activities and make community involvement more accessible and engaging. This 

could include measures to improve access to live information and data or the use of 3D 

visualisations and other tools to support good community engagement.

Question

11.  Do you agree with our proposals for accessible, web-based  
Local Plans? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Planning For The Future  |  39

P
age 455



A STREAMLINED, MORE ENGAGING PLAN-MAKING PROCESS

The average time taken from plan publication to adoption rose from an average of 450 days 

in 2009 to 815 days in 2019. There is currently no statutory requirement around timescales 

for key stages of the plan-making process.

Proposal 8: Local authorities and the Planning Inspectorate will be 
required through legislation to meet a statutory timetable for key 
stages of the process, and we will consider what sanctions there  
would be for those who fail to do so.

Under the current system, it regularly takes over a decade for development sites to go through 

the Local Plan process and receive outline permission. Under our proposals, this would be 

shortened to 30 months, although we expect many local authorities could do this in a shorter 

time and we would encourage them to do so where this is practicable. We propose that the 

process covers five stages, with meaningful public engagement at two stages:

•  Stage 1 [6 months]: The local planning authority “calls for” suggestions for areas under the 

three categories, including comprehensive “best in class” ways of achieving public involvement 

at this plan-shaping stage for where development should go and what it should look like.

•  Stage 2 [12 months]: The local planning authority draws up its proposed Local Plan, and 

produces any necessary evidence to inform and justify the plan. “Higher-risk” authorities will 

receive mandatory Planning Inspectorate advisory visits, in order to ensure the plan is on track 

prior to submission.

•  Stage 3 [6 weeks]: The local planning authority simultaneously

 (i)  submits the Plan to the Secretary of State for Examination together with a Statement  

of Reasons to explain why it has drawn up its plan as it has; and

 (ii)  publicises the plan for the public to comment on. Comments seeking change must explain 

how the plan should be changed and why. Again, this process would embody ‘best in class’ 

ways of ensuring public involvement. Responses will have a word count limit.

•  Stage 4 [9 months]: A planning inspector appointed by the Secretary of State considers whether 

the three categories shown in the proposed Local Plan are “sustainable” as per the statutory test 

and accompanying national guidance and makes binding changes which are necessary to satisfy 

the test. The plan-making authority and all those who submitted comments would have the right 

to be “heard” by the inspector (whether face to face, by video, phone or in writing –all at the 

inspector’s discretion). The inspector’s report can, as relevant, simply state agreement with the 

whole or parts of the council’s Statement of Reasons, and/or comments submitted by the public.

•  Stage 5 [6 weeks]: Local Plan map, key and text are finalised, and come into force.

40   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 456



 

Alternative options: The existing examination process could be reformed in order to speed up 

the process. For instance, the automatic ‘right to be heard’ could be removed so that participants 

are invited to appear at hearings at the discretion of the inspector. Certain Local Plans, that are 

less complex or controversial, could also be examined through written representations only, 

as is usually the case with Neighbourhood Plans at present.

A further alternative could be to remove the Examination stage entirely, instead requiring  

Local Planning Authorities to undertake a process of self-assessment against set criteria and 

guidance. To supplement this, the Planning Inspectorate could be utilised to audit a certain 

number of completed plans each year in order to assess whether the requirements of the  

statutory sustainability test had been met. However, there is a risk that this option wouldn’t 

provide sufficient scrutiny around whether plans meet the necessary legal and policy tests.

Question

12.  Do you agree with our proposals for a 30 month statutory timescale 
for the production of Local Plans?  
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Planning For The Future  |  41

Taken together, the effect of these reforms would be to greatly simplify and shorten the plan-making 

and development process, ensuring more land comes through the system and does so at pace.

To support the transition to the new system, we propose a statutory duty for local authorities to 

adopt a new Local Plan by a specified date – either 30 months from the legislation being brought 

into force, or 42 months for local planning authorities who have adopted a Local Plan within the 

previous three years or where a Local Plan has been submitted to the Secretary of State for 

examination. In the latter case, the 42 month period would commence from the point at which  

the legislation is brought into force, or upon adoption of the most recent plan, whichever is later.

This should be accompanied by a requirement for each planning authority to review its Local Plan 

at least every five years. Reviews should be undertaken sooner than five years where there has 

been a significant change in circumstances, for instance where issues with land supply have been 

identified through regular monitoring. Where a review concludes that an update is required, then 

the same 30-month deadline would apply although there would be an expectation that in many 

cases an update could be completed more quickly.

Local planning authorities that fail to do what is required to get their plan in place, or keep it up 

to date, would be at risk of government intervention. A range of intervention options will be 

available, including the issuing of directions and preparation of a plan in consultation with local 

people. Decisions on intervention would also have regard to:

•  the level of housing requirement in the area;

•  the planning context of the area, including any co-operation to get plans in place across local 

planning authority boundaries;

•  any exceptional circumstances presented by the local planning authority.

P
age 457



Proposal 9: Neighbourhood Plans should be retained as an important 
means of community input, and we will support communities to make 
better use of digital tools

Since statutory Neighbourhood Plans became part of the system in 2011, over 2,600 

communities have started the process of neighbourhood planning to take advantage 

of the opportunity to prepare a plan for their own areas – and over 1,000 plans have been 

successfully passed at referendum. They have become an important tool in helping to ‘bring 

the democracy forward’ in planning, by allowing communities to think proactively about how 

they would like their areas to develop.

Therefore, we think Neighbourhood Plans should be retained in the reformed planning 

system, but we will want to consider whether their content should become more focused to 

reflect our proposals for Local Plans, as well as the opportunities which digital tools and data 

offer to support their development and improve accessibility for users. By making it easier to 

develop Neighbourhood Plans we wish to encourage their continued use and indeed to help 

spread their use further, particularly in towns and cities. We are also interested in whether 

there is scope to extend and adapt the concept so that very small areas – such as individual 

streets – can set their own rules for the form of development which they are happy to see.

Digital tools have significant potential to assist the process of Neighbourhood Plan production, 

including through new digital co-creation platforms and 3D visualisation technologies to 

explore proposals within the local context. We will develop pilot projects and data standards 

which help neighbourhood planning groups make the most of this potential.

42   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 458



Questions

13(a).  Do you agree that Neighbourhood Plans should be retained  
in the reformed planning system?  
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

13(b).  How can the neighbourhood planning process be developed  
to meet our objectives, such as in the use of digital tools and 
reflecting community preferences about design?

SPEEDING UP THE DELIVERY OF DEVELOPMENT

Our plans for a simpler and faster planning process need to be accompanied by a stronger 

emphasis on the faster delivery of development, especially for Growth areas where substantial 

development has been permitted. If local communities through the new Local Plan process 

have identified sites for substantial development over the next ten years and developers have 

secured planning consents, there should be a presumption that these sites will be built out 

quickly. But as Rt. Hon. Sir Oliver Letwin found in his Independent Review of Build Out Rates in 

2018, the build out of large residential developments can be slow due to low market absorption 

rates, with some sites taking over 20 years to complete.

Proposal 10: A stronger emphasis on build out through planning

To address this, we propose to make it clear in the revised National Planning Policy Framework 

that the masterplans and design codes for sites prepared for substantial development 

(discussed under Pillar Two) should seek to include a variety of development types by different 

builders which allow more phases to come forward together. We will explore further options to 

support faster build out as we develop our proposals for the new planning system.

Question

14.  Do you agree there should be a stronger emphasis on the build  
out of developments? And if so, what further measures would  
you support? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Planning For The Future  |  43

P
age 459



Pillar Two – Planning for beautiful  
and sustainable places
Overview
We have set out how a simpler planning process could improve certainty about what can  

be built where, as well as offering greater flexibility in the use of land to meet our changing 

economic and social needs. But improving the process of planning is only the starting point 

– we want to ensure that we have a system in place that enables the creation of beautiful 

places that will stand the test of time, protects and enhances our precious environment,  

and supports our efforts to combat climate change and bring greenhouse gas emissions  

to net-zero by 2050. Recent research from the Royal Town Planning Institute has set out 

the vital contribution that planning can make to a sustainable and inclusive recovery.12

To do this, planning should be a powerful tool for creating visions of how places can be, 

engaging communities in that process and fostering high quality development: not just 

beautiful buildings, but the gardens, parks and other green spaces in between, as well as 

the facilities which are essential for building a real sense of community. It should generate 

net gains for the quality of our built and natural environments - not just ‘no net harm’.

As the report of the Building Better, Building Beautiful Commission has shown, all too often 

that potential has fallen short. Too many places built during recent decades fail to reflect 

what is special about their local area or create a high quality environment of which local 

people can be proud. The Commission has played an invaluable role not just in highlighting 

the deficiencies, but in setting out a wide range of recommendations for addressing them. 

We will respond fully to the Commission’s report in the autumn, but there are important 

aspects that we want to highlight now, as being integral to our proposals for what a revised 

planning system can achieve.

Questions

15.  What do you think about the design of new development that has 
happened recently in your area?  
[Not sure or indifferent / Beautiful and/or well-designed / Ugly and/
or poorly-designed / There hasn’t been any / Other – please specify] 

16.  Sustainability is at the heart of our proposals. What is your priority 
for sustainability in your area? 
[Less reliance on cars / More green and open spaces / Energy 
efficiency of new buildings / More trees / Other – please specify]

44   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 460



As the report of the Building Better, 
Building Beautiful Commission has 
shown, all too often that potential  
has fallen short.

P
age 461



Proposals

CREATING FRAMEWORKS FOR QUALITY

To deliver our vision, it is important for the planning system to set clear expectations for the 

form of development which we expect to see in different locations. It should do so in ways 

which reflect local character and community preferences, and the types of buildings and 

places that have stood the test of time; but it should also address modern lifestyles, facilitate 

modern methods of construction (and its associated benefits for efficiency, build quality and 

the environment) and the need to create places that are both durable and sustainable. 

History provides many examples of how we can do this well – including Georgian terraces 

and Victorian mansion blocks – and we should learn from what has worked in the past.

Our National Design Guide, published in October last year, illustrates how well-designed 

places that are beautiful, enduring and successful can be achieved in practice. It is a vital 

starting point, defining ten characteristics of successful places and the ingredients which  

can deliver these. However, to provide as much clarity as possible for applicants and 

communities and provide the basis for ‘fast-tracking’ decisions on design, broad principles 

need to be turned into more specific standards.

To address this challenge, this autumn we will publish a National Model Design Code to 

supplement the guide, setting out more detailed parameters for development in different 

types of location: issues such as the arrangement and proportions of streets and urban 

blocks, positioning and hierarchy of public spaces, successful parking arrangements, 

placement of street trees, and high quality cycling and walking provision, in line with  

our wider vision for cycling and walking in England.13 It will be accompanied by worked 

examples, and complement a revised and consolidated Manual for Streets.

46   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 462



To deliver our vision, it is important for the planning system 
to set clear expectations for the form of development 
which we expect to see in different locations.

P
age 463



Proposal 11: To make design expectations more visual and predictable, 
we will expect design guidance and codes to be prepared locally with 
community involvement, and ensure that codes are more binding on 
decisions about development.

As national guidance, we will expect the National Design Guide, National Model Design 

Code and the revised Manual for Streets to have a direct bearing on the design of new 

communities. But to ensure that schemes reflect the diverse character of our country, as well 

as what is provably popular locally, it is important that local guides and codes are prepared 

wherever possible. These play the vital role of translating the basic characteristics of good 

places into what works locally, and can already be brought forward in a number of ways:  

by local planning authorities to supplement and add a visual dimension to their Local Plans; 

through the work of neighbourhood planning groups; or by applicants in bringing forward 

proposals for significant new areas of development.

We propose that these different routes for bringing forward design guides and codes  

should remain, although in all cases it will be essential that they are prepared with effective 

inputs from the local community, considering empirical evidence of what is popular and 

characteristic in the local area. To underpin the importance of this, we intend to make 

clear that designs and codes should only be given weight in the planning process if they 

can demonstrate that this input has been secured. And, where this is the case, we will also  

make clear that decisions on design should be made in line with these documents. Where 

locally-produced guides and codes are not in place, we also propose to make clear in policy 

that the National Design Guide, National Model Design Code and Manual for Streets should 

guide decisions on the form of development.

48   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 464



Question

17.  Do you agree with our proposals for improving the production and 
use of design guides and codes? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

The Building Better, Building Beautiful Commission recommended several other changes  

to the National Planning Policy Framework that can support the planning system’s role in 

fostering better buildings, places and settlements, and we will consult on changes which 

reflect these recommendations in the autumn.

Proposal 12: To support the transition to a planning system which is 
more visual and rooted in local preferences and character, we will set 
up a body to support the delivery of provably locally-popular design 
codes, and propose that each authority should have a chief officer for 
design and place-making.

The vision which we have set out will require a step-change in the design skills available to many 

local planning authorities, as well as the right prioritisation and leadership across the sector.  

We recognise that this will not happen overnight, and that authorities will need support.

WWe will explore the options for establishing a new expert body which can help authorities 

make effective use of design guidance and codes, as well as performing a wider monitoring 

and challenge role for the sector in building better places. Different models exist for how 

this could be taken forward - such as a new arms-length body reporting to Government, a 

new centre of expertise within Homes England, or reinforcing the existing network of 

architecture and design centres. Whatever model is adopted, we envisage that it would be 

able to draw on the expertise of recognised experts with a range of skills, drawn from across 

the built environment sector. Should the final proposals lead to the creation of new central 

government arm’s-length body, then the usual, separate government approval process 

would apply for such entities.

We will also bring forward proposals later this year for improving the resourcing of planning 

departments more broadly; and our suggestions in this paper for streamlining plan-making  

will allow some re-focusing of professional skills. However, effective leadership within 

authorities will also be crucial. To drive a strong vision for what each place aspires to,  

and ensure this is integrated across council functions, we believe that each authority should 

appoint a chief officer for design and place-making, as recommended by the Building Better, 

Building Beautiful Commission.

Question

18.  Do you agree that we should establish a new body to support 
design coding and building better places, and that each authority 
should have a chief officer for design and place-making? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Planning For The Future  |  49

P
age 465



Proposal 13: To further embed national leadership on delivering better 
places, we will consider how Homes England’s strategic objectives can 
give greater emphasis to delivering beautiful places.

We are committed to taking a leadership role in the delivery of beautiful and well-designed 

homes and places, which embed high environmental standards. The Building Better, Building 

Beautiful Commission recommended that Homes England should attach sufficient value to 

design as well as price, and give greater weight to design quality in its work.

The Government supports this recommendation and recognises that the work of Homes 

England is an important route through which we can lead by example. Homes England have 

already taken steps to champion design quality in their land disposals programme, through 

implementation of a design quality assessment approach, with a minimum standard which  

must be achieved for a proposal to progress.

However, we recognise that there is an opportunity to go further, and we will engage Homes 

England, as part of the forthcoming Spending Review process, to consider how its objectives 

might be strengthened to give greater weight to design quality, and assess how design quality 

and environmental standards can be more deeply embedded in all Homes England’s activities 

and programmes of work.

50   |  Planning For The Future

Question

19.  Do you agree with our proposal to consider how design  
might be given greater emphasis in the strategic objectives  
for Homes England? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]P

age 466



The vision which we have set out will require a step-change in the 
design skills available to many local planning authorities, as well 
as the right prioritisation and leadership across the sector.

P
age 467



A FAST-TRACK FOR BEAUTY

One of the important propositions of the Building Better, Building Beautiful Commission is 

that there should be a ‘fast-track for beauty’. Where proposals come forward which comply 

with pre-established principles of what good design looks like (informed by community 

preferences), then it should be possible to expedite development through the planning 

process. This should incentivise attractive and popular development, as well as helping to 

relieve pressure on planning authorities when assessing proposals.

Proposal 14: We intend to introduce a fast-track for beauty through 
changes to national policy and legislation, to incentivise and accelerate 
high quality development which reflects local character and preferences.

We propose to do this in three ways. In the first instance, through updating the National 

Planning Policy Framework, we will make clear that schemes which comply with local design 

guides and codes have a positive advantage and greater certainty about their prospects  

of swift approval.

Second, where plans identify areas for significant development (Growth areas), we will 

legislate to require that a masterplan and site-specific code are agreed as a condition  

of the permission in principle which is granted through the plan. This should be in place 

prior to detailed proposals coming forward, to direct and expedite those detailed matters.

These masterplans and codes could be prepared by the local planning authority alongside 

or subsequent to preparing its plan, at a level of detail commensurate with the size of site 

and key principles to be established. For example, a set of simple ‘co-ordinating codes’  

of the sort endorsed by the Building Better, Building Beautiful Commission could set some 

initial key parameters for the site layout. Where sites are expected to come forward in the 

near future, more developed masterplans or codes, prepared by the local planning authority 

or site promoter, will provide greater certainty.

Third, we also propose to legislate to widen and change the nature of permitted 

development, so that it enables popular and replicable forms of development to be 

approved easily and quickly, helping to support ‘gentle intensification’ of our towns and 

cities, but in accordance with important design principles. There is a long history – in this 

country and elsewhere – of ‘pattern books’ being used to articulate standard building types, 

options and associated rules (such as heights and set-backs). They have helped to deliver 

some of our most popular and successful places, and in a way which makes it relatively easy 

for smaller development companies to enter the market. We want to revive this tradition,  

in areas suitable for development (Renewal areas), by allowing the pre-approval of popular 

and replicable designs through permitted development. The benefits are much more than 

fast delivery of proven popular designs – it will foster innovation and support 

industrialisation of housebuilding, enabling modern methods of construction to be 

developed and deployed at scale.

52   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 468



One of the central propositions of the 
Building Better, Building Beautiful 
Commission is that there should be 
a ‘fast-track for beauty’.

P
age 469



To take this approach forward, we intend to develop a limited set of form-based development 

types that allow the redevelopment of existing residential buildings where the relevant 

conditions are satisfied – enabling increased densities while maintaining visual harmony  

in a range of common development settings (such as semi-detached suburban development). 

These would benefit from permitted development rights relating to the settings in which they 

apply. Prior approval from the local planning authority would still be needed for aspects of the 

design to ensure the development is right for its context (such as materials), as well as for 

other important planning considerations such as avoidance of flood risk and securing safe 

access. To enable further tailoring of these patterns to local character and preferences,  

we also propose that local planning authorities or neighbourhood planning groups would be 

able to use local orders to modify how the standard types apply in their areas, based on local 

evidence of what options are most popular with the wider public.

This proposal will require some technical development and testing, so we will develop a pilot 

programme to test the concept. Where we are taking forward existing schemes to expand 

the scope of permitted development through upwards extensions and demolition/rebuilding, 

we also intend to legislate so that prior approval for exercising such rights takes into account 

design codes which are in place locally (or, in the absence of these, the National Model 

Design Code).

Question

20.  Do you agree with our proposals for implementing a fast-track 
for beauty? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

54   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 470



P
age 471



EFFECTIVE STEWARDSHIP AND ENHANCEMENT OF OUR NATURAL 
AND HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT

The reformed planning system will continue to protect the places of environmental and cultural 

value which matter to us. Plans will still play a vital role in identifying not just areas of defined 

national and international importance (such as National Parks and Sites of Special Scientific 

Interest), but also those which are valued and defined locally (such as Conservation Areas and 

Local Wildlife Sites).

However, the planning system can and should do much more than this. In line with the ambitions 

in our 25 Year Environment Plan, we want the reformed system to play a proactive role in 

promoting environmental recovery and long-term sustainability. In doing so, it needs to play a 

strong part in our efforts to mitigate and adapt to climate change and reduce pollution as well as 

making our towns and cities more liveable through enabling more and better green spaces and 

tree cover. Several initiatives are already laying the foundations for this. Nationally, the 

Environment Bill currently before Parliament will legislate for mandatory net gains for biodiversity 

as a condition of most new development. And the Local Nature Recovery Strategies which it will 

also introduce will identify opportunities to secure enhancements through development schemes 

and contributions. We will also deliver our commitment to make all new streets tree-lined, by 

setting clear expectations through the changes to the National Planning Policy Framework which 

will be consulted on in the autumn, and informed by the outcome of this summer’s consultation 

on the England Tree Strategy.14 And we are also assessing the extent to which our planning 

policies and processes for managing flood risk may need to be strengthened along with 

developing a national framework of green infrastructure standards.

Once the proposals in this paper for reformed Local Plans begin to be implemented, it will be 

important for authorities to consider how the identification of different categories of land, and any 

56   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 472



sub-areas within them, can most effectively support climate change mitigation and adaptation. 

For example, in identifying land for inclusion within the Growth area, or the densities of 

development appropriate in different locations, the ability to maximise walking, cycling and 

public transport opportunities will be an important consideration.

Proposal 15: We intend to amend the National Planning Policy 
Framework to ensure that it targets those areas where a reformed 
planning system can most effectively play a role in mitigating and 
adapting to climate change and maximising environmental benefits.

These measures, and reform of our policy framework, provide important opportunities to 

strengthen the way that environmental issues are considered through the planning system. 

However, we also think there is scope to marry these changes with a simpler, effective 

approach to assessing environmental impacts.

In doing so, we will want to be clear about the role that local, spatially-specific policies can 

continue to play, such as in identifying important views, opportunities to improve public 

access or places where renewable energy or woodland and forestry creation could be 

accommodated. In reviewing the Framework, we will also want to ensure that it provides a 

clear and robust basis for development management decisions more generally, so that 

reliance no longer needs to be placed on generic policies contained in Local Plans.

Proposal 16: We intend to design a quicker, simpler framework for 
assessing environmental impacts and enhancement opportunities, 
that speeds up the process while protecting and enhancing the most 
valuable and important habitats and species in England.

Planning For The Future  |  57

P
age 473



It is vital that environmental considerations are considered properly as part of the planning and 

development process. However, the current frameworks for doing so – which include Strategic 

Environmental Assessment, Sustainability Appraisal, and Environmental Impact Assessment – 

can lead to duplication of effort and overly-long reports which inhibit transparency and add 

unnecessary delays. Outside of the European Union, it is also important that we take the 

opportunity to strengthen protections that make the biggest difference to species, habitats and 

ecosystems of national importance, and that matter the most to local communities.

To succeed, a new system will need to meet several objectives:

•  Processes for environmental assessment and mitigation need to be quicker and speed  

up decision-making and the delivery of development projects. The environmental aspects  

of a plan or project should be considered early in the process, and to clear timescales. 

National and local level data, made available to authorities, communities and applicants  

in digital form, should make it easier to re-use and update information and reduce the 

need for site-specific surveys.

•  Requirements for environmental assessment and mitigation need to be simpler to understand 

and consolidated in one place so far as possible, so that the same impacts and opportunities  

do not need to be considered twice.

•  Any new system will need to ensure that we take advantage of opportunities for environmental 

improvements while also meeting our domestic and international obligations for environmental 

protection. This will be the subject of a separate and more detailed consultation in the autumn.

Proposal 17: Conserving and enhancing our historic buildings and areas 
in the 21st century.

The planning system has played a critical role ensuring the historic buildings and areas we cherish 

are conserved and, where appropriate, enhanced by development. The additional statutory 

protections of listed building consent and conservation area status have worked well, and the 

National Planning Policy Framework already sets out strong protections for heritage assests where 

planning permission or listed building consent is needed. We want to build on this framework as 

we develop the new planning system. We envisage that Local Plans will clearly identify the location 

of internationally, nationally and locally designated heritage assets, such as World Heritage Sites 

and conservation areas, as well locally important features such as protected views.

58   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 474



We also want to ensure our historic buildings play a central part in the renewal of our cities, 

towns and villages. Many will need to be adapted to changing uses and to respond to new 

challenges, such as mitigating and adapting to climate change. We particularly want to see 

more historical buildings have the right energy efficiency measures to support our zero 

carbon objectives. Key to this will be ensuring the planning consent framework is sufficiently 

responsive to sympathetic changes, and timely and informed decisions are made.

We will, therefore, review and update the planning framework for listed buildings and 

conservation areas, to ensure their significance is conserved while allowing, where appropriate, 

sympathetic changes to support their continued use and address climate change. In doing so, 

we want to explore whether there are new and better ways of securing consent for routine 

works, to enable local planning authorities to concentrate on conserving and enhancing the 

most important historic buildings. This includes exploring whether suitably experienced 

architectural specialists can have earned autonomy from routine listed building consents.

Proposal 18: To complement our planning reforms, we will facilitate 
ambitious improvements in the energy efficiency standards for buildings 
to help deliver our world-leading commitment to net-zero by 2050.

The planning system is only one of the tools that we need to use to mitigate and adapt to climate 

change. Last year we consulted on our proposals to move towards a Future Homes Standard, 

which was a first step towards net zero homes. From 2025, we expect new homes to produce 

75-80 per cent lower CO2 emissions compared to current levels. These homes will be ‘zero carbon 

ready’, with the ability to become fully zero carbon homes over time as the electricity grid 

decarbonises, without the need for further costly retrofitting work.

We welcome the Committee on Climate Change’s response to the consultation and we have 

considered the points they raised. We will respond to the Future Homes Standard consultation in 

full in the autumn. As part of this, we intend to review the roadmap to the Future Homes Standard 

to ensure that implementation takes place to the shortest possible timeline. Our ambition is that 

homes built under our new planning system will not need retrofitting in the future. To work towards 

ensuring that all new homes are fit for a zero carbon future we will also explore options for the 

future of energy efficiency standards, beyond 2025. 

All levels of Government have a role to play in meeting our net zero goal, and Local Authorities are 

rising to this challenge. Local Planning Authorities, as well as central Government, should be 

accountable for the actions that they are taking, and the consultation response will look to clarify 

the role that they can play in setting energy efficiency standards for new build developments.

We will also want to ensure that high standards for the design, environmental performance and 

safety of new and refurbished buildings are monitored and enforced. As local authorities are freed 

from many planning obligations through our reforms, they will be able to reassign resources and 

focus more fully on enforcement. Ensuring that planning standards and building regulations are 

met, whether for new homes or for retrofitting old homes, will help to ensure that we deliver 

homes that are fit for the future and cheaper to run.

Planning For The Future  |  59

P
age 475



Pillar Three – Planning for infrastructure and 
connected places
Overview

New development brings with it new demand for public services and infrastructure. 

Mitigating these impacts – by securing contributions from developers and capturing more 

land value uplift generated by planning decisions to deliver new infrastructure provision – is 

key for both new and existing communities. It is also central to our vision for renewal of the 

planning system.

At present, there are two broad routes for local planning authorities to secure developer 

contributions, both of which are discretionary for authorities: planning obligations and the 

Community Infrastructure Levy. Planning obligations – through Section 106 agreements – are 

negotiated with developers, and in 2018/19 were worth a total of £7bn, of which £4.7bn was 

in the form of affordable housing contributions – supporting delivery of 30,000 affordable 

homes. In contrast, the Community Infrastructure Levy is a fixed charge, levied on the area 

(floorspace) of new development, and secures infrastructure that addresses the cumulative 

impact of development in an area. The Community Infrastructure Levy is not mandatory for 

local planning authorities, and around half of authorities currently charge it. Levy rates are 

discretionary, established by assessments of infrastructure need and viability.

There are several problems with this system. Planning obligations are broadly considered to 

be uncertain and opaque, as they are subject to negotiation and renegotiation based in part 

on the developer’s assessment of viability. This creates uncertainty for communities about 

the level of affordable housing and infrastructure that development will bring. In turn, this 

brings cost, delay and inconsistency into the process. Over 80 per cent of local authorities 

agree that such negotiations create delay, despite the planning application being 

acceptable in principle.15 This acts as a barrier to entry to the market, and major developers 

are better placed to devote the legal and valuation resource needed to negotiate 

successfully. This unevenness is a problem too for local authorities, with significant variation 

in skill and negotiation in negotiating viability across authorities.

The Community Infrastructure Levy addresses many of these problems as it is a flat-rate and 

non-negotiable tariff, and developers and local authorities have, in general, welcomed the 

certainty it brings. However, as payment is set at the point planning permission is granted, 

and payment due once development commences, it is inflexible in the face of changing 

market conditions. Payment before a single home has been built increases the developer’s 

risk and cost of finance, creating cashflow challenges which are more acute for smaller 

developers. And despite early payment, many local authorities have been slow to spend 

Community Infrastructure Levy revenue on early infrastructure delivery, reflecting factors 

including indecision, competing spending priorities, and uncertainty over other 

infrastructure funding streams.

Securing necessary infrastructure and affordable housing alongside new development is 

central to our vision for the planning system. We want to bring forward reforms to make sure 

that developer contributions are:

•  responsive to local needs, to ensure a fairer contribution from developers for local 

communities so that the right infrastructure and affordable housing is delivered;

•  transparent, so it is clear to existing and new residents what new infrastructure will 

accompany development;

•  consistent and simplified, to remove unnecessary delay and support competition in the 

housebuilding industry;

•  buoyant, so that when prices go up the benefits are shared fairly between developers and 

the local community, and when prices go down there is no need to re-negotiate agreements.

60   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 476



The Government could also seek to use developer contributions to capture a greater 

proportion of the land value uplift that occurs through the grant of planning permission, and 

use this to enhance infrastructure delivery. There are a range of estimates for the amount of 

land value uplift currently captured, from 25 to 50 per cent.19 The value captured will 

depend on a range of factors including the development value, the existing use value of the 

land, and the relevant tax structure – for instance, whether capital gains tax applies to the 

land sale. Increasing value capture could be an important source of infrastructure funding 

but would need to be balanced against risks to development viability.

Question

21.  When new development happens in your area, what is your priority 
for what comes with it? 
[More affordable housing / More or better infrastructure (such as 
transport, schools, health provision) / Design of new buildings /  
More shops and/or employment space / Green space / Don’t know / 
Other – please specify]

Planning For The Future  |  61

P
age 477



 

Proposals

A CONSOLIDATED INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY

We propose that the existing parallel regimes for securing developer contributions are 

replaced with a new, consolidated ‘Infrastructure Levy’.

Proposal 19: The Community Infrastructure Levy should be reformed 
to be charged as a fixed proportion of the development value above  
a threshold, with a mandatory nationally-set rate or rates and the 
current system of planning obligations abolished.

We believe that the current system of planning obligations under Section 106 should 

be consolidated under a reformed, extended ‘Infrastructure Levy’.

This would be based upon a flat-rate, valued-based charge, set nationally, at either a single 

rate, or at area-specific rates. This would address issues in the current system as it would:

•  be charged on the final value of a development (or to an assessment of the sales value 

where the development is not sold, e.g. for homes built for the rental market), based on 

the applicable rate at the point planning permission is granted;

•  be levied at point of occupation, with prevention of occupation being a potential sanction 

for non-payment;

•  include a value-based minimum threshold below which the levy is not charged, to prevent 

low viability development becoming unviable, reflecting average build costs per square 

metre, with a small, fixed allowance for land costs. Where the value of development is 

below the threshold, no Levy would be charged. Where the value of development is 

above the threshold, the Levy would only be charged on the proportion of the value that 

exceeded the threshold ; and

•  provide greater certainty for communities and developers about what the level of developer 

contributions are expected alongside new development.

The single rate, or area-specific rates, would be set nationally. It would aim to increase revenue 

levels nationally when compared to the current system. Revenues would continue to be collected 

and spent locally.

As a value-based charge across all use classes, we believe it would be both more effective at 

capturing increases in value and would be more sensitive to economic downturns. It would 

reduce risk for developers, and would reduce cashflow difficulties, particularly for SME developers.

In areas where land value uplift is insufficient to support significant levels of land value capture, 

some or all of the value generated by the development would be below the threshold, and  

so not subject to the levy. In higher value areas, a much greater proportion of the development 

value would be above the exempt amount, and subject to the levy.

To better support the timely delivery of infrastructure, we would also allow local authorities 

to borrow against Infrastructure Levy revenues so that they could forward fund infrastructure. 

Enabling borrowing combined with a shift to levying developer contributions on completion, 

would incentivise local authorities to deliver enabling infrastructure, in turn helping to ensure 

development can be completed faster. As with all volatile borrowing streams, local authorities 

should assure themselves that this borrowing is affordable and suitable.

Under this approach the London Mayoral Community Infrastructure Levy, and similar strategic 

Community Infrastructure Levies in combined authorities, could be retained as part of the 

Infrastructure Levy to support the funding of strategic infrastructure.

62   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 478



 

In bringing forward the reformed Infrastructure Levy, we will need to consider its scope. We 

will also consider the impact of this change on areas with lower land values.

Alternative option: The Infrastructure Levy could remain optional and would be set by 

individual local authorities. However, as planning obligations would be consolidated into the 

single Infrastructure Levy, we anticipate that there would be a significantly greater uptake. 

The aim of the de minimis threshold would be to remove the viability risk, simplifying the 

rate setting process, as this would remove the need for multiple charging zones within an 

authority. It would be possible to simplify further – for instance, for the Government to set 

parameters. There would be a stronger incentive for local authorities to introduce the new 

Levy, as they would not be able to use Section 106 planning obligations to secure 

infrastructure or affordable housing. In addition, some local authorities have chosen not to 

introduce the Community Infrastructure Levy out of concern for the impact on viability of 

development. Because the new Infrastructure Levy would only be charged above a set 

threshold, these impacts would be mitigated.

This option would address issues around transparency, responsiveness to local needs and 

consistency. However, the Government’s levers over levels of land value capture would be 

less strong, with decisions about levy rates being taken at the local level.

Alternatively, the national rate approach could be taken, but with the aim of capturing more 

land value than currently, to better support the delivery of infrastructure. While developers 

would be liable for paying the levy, the cost of this would be capitalised into land value. This 

would ensure that the landowners who benefit from increases in value as a result of the 

grant of planning permission contribute to the infrastructure and affordable housing that 

makes development acceptable.

Questions

22(a).  Should the Government replace the Community Infrastructure 
Levy and Section 106 planning obligations with a new 
consolidated Infrastructure Levy, which is charged as a fixed 
proportion of development value above a set threshold?  
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

22(b).  Should the Infrastructure Levy rates be set nationally at a single 
rate, set nationally at an area-specific rate,or set locally?  
[Nationally at a single rate / Nationally at an area-specific rate / Locally] 

22(c).  Should the Infrastructure Levy aim to capture the same amount  
of value overall, or more value, to support greater investment  
in infrastructure, affordable housing and local communities?  
[Same amount overall / More value / Less value / Not sure. 
Please provide supporting statement.] 

22(d).  Should we allow local authorities to borrow against the 
Infrastructure Levy, to support infrastructure delivery in their area?  
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Planning For The Future  |  63

To better support the timely delivery of infrastructure, we would 
also allow local authorities to borrow against Infrastructure Levy 
revenues so that they could forward fund infrastructure. 

P
age 479



Proposal 20: The scope of the Infrastructure Levy could be extended  
to capture changes of use through permitted development rights

In making this change to developer contributions for new development, the scope of the 

Infrastructure Levy would be extended to better capture changes of use which require 

planning permission, even where there is no additional floorspace, and for some permitted 

development rights including office to residential conversions and new demolition and rebuild 

permitted development rights. This approach would increase the levy base, and would allow 

these developments to better contribute to infrastructure delivery and making development 

acceptable to the community. However, we will maintain the exemption of self and custom-

build development from the Infrastructure Levy.

Question

23.  Do you agree that the scope of the reformed Infrastructure Levy 
should capture changes of use through permitted development rights? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Proposal 21: The reformed Infrastructure Levy should deliver 
affordable housing provision 

Developer contributions currently deliver around half of all affordable housing, most of 

which is delivered on-site. It is important that the reformed approach will continue to deliver 

on-site affordable housing at least at present levels.

Affordable housing provision is currently secured by local authorities via Section 106, but the 

Community Infrastructure Levy cannot be spent on it. With Section 106 planning obligations 

removed, we propose that under the Infrastructure Levy, authorities would be able to use 

funds raised through the levy to secure affordable housing.

This could be secured through in-kind delivery on-site, which could be made mandatory 

where an authority has a requirement, capability and wishes to do so. Local authorities 

would have a means to specify the forms and tenures of the on-site provision, working with  

a nominated affordable housing provider. Under this approach, a provider of affordable 

housing could purchase the dwelling at a discount from market rate, as now. However, rather 

than the discount being secured through Section 106 planning obligations, it would instead 

be considered as in-kind delivery of the Infrastructure Levy. In effect, the difference between 

the price at which the unit was sold to the provider and the market price would be offset 

from the final cash liability to the Levy. This would create an incentive for the developer to 

build on-site affordable housing where appropriate.16 First Homes, which are sold by the 

developer direct to the customer at a discount to market price, would offset the discount 

against the cash liability.

64   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 480



Planning For The Future  |  65

P
age 481



proportion would be set nationally, and the developer would have discretion over which units 

were sold in this way. A threshold would be set for smaller sites, below which on-site delivery 

was not required, and cash payment could be made in lieu. Where on-site units were purchased, 

these could be used for affordable housing, or sold on (or back to the developer) to raise 

money to purchase affordable housing elsewhere. The local authority could use Infrastructure 

Levy funds, or other funds, in order to purchase units.

Questions

24(a).  Do you agree that we should aim to secure at least the same 
amount of affordable housing under the Infrastructure Levy, 
and as much on-site affordable provision, as at present?  
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

24(b).  Should affordable housing be secured as in-kind payment towards 
the Infrastructure Levy, or as a ‘right to purchase’ at discounted 
rates for local authorities?  
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

24(c).  If an in-kind delivery approach is taken, should we mitigate 
against local authority overpayment risk?  
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

24(d).  If an in-kind delivery approach is taken, are there additional steps 
that would need to be taken to support affordable housing quality?  
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

66   |  Planning For The Future

Under this approach we recognise that some risk is transferring to the local planning authority, 

and that we would need to mitigate that risk in order to maintain existing levels of on-site 

affordable housing delivery. We believe that this risk can be fully addressed through policy 

design. In particular, in the event of a market fall, we could allow local planning authorities 

to ‘flip’ a proportion of units back to market units which the developer can sell, if Levy 

liabilities are insufficient to cover the value secured through in-kind contributions. Alternatively, 

we could require that if the value secured through in-kind units is greater than the final levy 

liability, then the developer has no right to reclaim overpayments. Government could 

provide standardised agreements, to codify how risk sharing would work in this way.

We would also need to ensure the developer was incentivised to deliver high build and 

design quality for their in-kind affordable homes. Currently, if Section 106 homes are not  

of sufficient quality, developers may be unable to sell it to a provider, or have to reduce the 

price. To ensure developers are not rewarded for low-standard homes under the Levy, local 

authorities could have an option to revert back to cash contributions if no provider was 

willing to buy the homes due to their poor quality. It is important that any approach taken 

maintains the quality of affordable housing provision as well as overarching volumes, and 

incentivises early engagement between providers of affordable housing and developers. 

Local authorities could also accept Infrastructure Levy payments in the form of land within or 

adjacent to a site. Through borrowing against further Infrastructure Levy receipts, other 

sources of funding, or in partnership with affordable housing providers, they could then 

build affordable homes, enabling delivery at pace.

Alternative option: We could seek to introduce further requirements around the delivery  

of affordable housing. To do this we would create a ‘first refusal’ right for local authorities or 

any affordable housing provider acting on their behalf to buy up to a set proportion of on-site 

units (on a square metre basis) at a discounted price, broadly equivalent to build costs. The 

P
age 482



Proposal 22: More freedom could be given to local authorities over 
how they spend the Infrastructure Levy

It is important that there is a strong link between where development occurs and where 

funding is spent. Currently, the Neighbourhood Share of the Community Infrastructure Levy 

ensures that up to 25 per cent of the levy is spent on priorities in the area that development 

occurred, with funding transferred to parish councils in parished areas. There are fewer 

restrictions on how this funding is spent, and we believe it provides an important incentive 

to local communities to allow development in their area. We therefore propose that under 

this approach the Neighbourhood Share would be kept, and we would be interested in ways 

to enhance community engagement around how these funds are used, with scope for digital 

innovation to promote engagement.

There is scope for even more flexibility around spending. We could also increase local 

authority flexibility, allowing them to spend receipts on their policy priorities, once core 

infrastructure obligations have been met. In addition to the provision of local infrastructure, 

including parks, open spaces, street trees and delivery or enhancement of community 

facilities, this could include improving services or reducing council tax. The balance of 

affordable housing and infrastructure may vary depending on a local authority’s 

circumstances, but under this approach it may be necessary to consider ring-fencing a 

certain amount of Levy funding for affordable housing to ensure that affordable housing 

continues to be delivered on-site at current levels (or higher).There would also be 

opportunities to enhance digital engagement with communities as part of decision making 

around spending priorities. Alternatively, the permitted uses of the Levy could remain 

focused on infrastructure and affordable housing, as they are broadly are at present. Local 

authorities would continue to identify the right balance between these to meet local needs, 

as they do at present.

Questions

25.  Should local authorities have fewer restrictions over how they spend 
the Infrastructure Levy?  
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

25(a).  If yes, should an affordable housing ‘ring-fence’ be developed? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

It is important that there is a strong link 
between where development occurs and 
where funding is spent. 

Planning For The Future  |  67

P
age 483



Delivering change

How we move into the new system

It is important that in bringing forward reform to improve the operation of the planning 

system, we do not cause delays to development that is currently planned.

Subject to responses to this consultation, we will consider the arrangements for implementing 

these changes to minimise disruption to existing plans and development proposals and 

ensure a smooth transition. This includes making sure that recently approved plans, existing 

permissions and any associated planning obligations can continue to be implemented as 

intended; and that there are clear transitional arrangements for bringing forward new plans 

and development proposals as the new system begins to be implemented.

Nevertheless, we do want to make rapid progress toward this new planning system. We are 

already introducing a new Use Class Order, with associated permitted development rights, 

to make easier for businesses to change use without the need for planning permission to 

support our high streets and town centres bounce back following the COVID-19 pandemic. 

We have also created new permitted development rights to enable more new homes to be 

built on top of buildings and the demolition and rebuild of vacant buildings for housing, 

without the need for usual planning permission.

Today, we are also publishing a consultation on four shorter-term measures which will 

improve the immediate effectiveness of the current system:

•  changes to the standard method for assessing local housing need, which as well as being 

a proposal to change guidance in the short term has relevance to proposals for land 

supply reforms set out in this paper;

•  securing of First Homes, sold at a discount to market price for first time buyers, including 

key workers, through developer contributions in the short term until the transition 

to a new system;

•  temporarily lifting the small sites threshold, below which developers do not need  

to contribute to affordable housing, to up to 40 or 50 units;

•  extending the current Permission in Principle to major development so landowners and 

developers now have a fast route to secure the principle of development for housing  

on sites without having to work up detailed plans first;

This consultation document can be found at:  

www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-the-current-planning-system .

To provide better information to local communities, to promote competition amongst 

developers, and to assist SMEs and new entrants to the sector, we will consult on options  

for improving the data held on contractual arrangements used to control land. This can be 

found at: www.gov.uk/government/consultations/transparency-and-competition-a-call-for-

evidence-on-data-on-land-control .

Public assets and investment

As we fix our planning system, we also want to make better use of surplus land owned by 

the public sector, and to level up public investment in development to support renewal  

of towns and cities across the country, giving power to communities to shape its future use 

and bringing investment to places across the country. We will do this by:

•  Ensuring investment in new public buildings supports renewal and regeneration of town 

and city centres across the country. The Government Estate Strategy (GES), which was 

68   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 484



published in 2018, sets out how we will use the estate as an enabler to deliver better 

outcomes for the public, across all four nations of the UK. As part of this, the Government 

Hubs programme aims to transform the Government’s office estate by accommodating 

departmental workforces in shared regional hubs and supporting office estate – creating 

strategic hubs across the UK in major city centre conurbations and in secondary towns and 

cities. We will continue to look at how the Government can ensure investment in its estate 

delivers wider benefits for places across the country.

•  Exploring how disposal of publicly-owned land can support the SME and self-build sectors. 

As announced by the Prime Minister last month in ‘A New Deal for Britain’, the Government 

will produce a new cross-government strategy on how land owned by the Government can 

be managed and released more effectively and put to better use. As part of this review,  

we will explore how we can support SME housebuilders, community land trusts and 

self-builders to identify public land opportunities.

Supporting innovation in delivery

As we bring forward planning reform, we also want to ensure we have in place the right 

delivery mechanisms, including development corporations. A good example that we are 

already progressing is development at Toton in the East Midlands, where we have 

announced our intention to support the establishment of a development corporation to 

maximise the area’s international links and create tens of thousands of new homes and jobs. 

We want to see more schemes of this kind, backed by modern delivery models, around 

the country.

That is why we consulted at the end of last year on changes to the legislative framework for 

development corporations. This includes exploring whether we need to make changes to 

enable more flexible development corporation models that can drive housing, regeneration 

and employment. We are currently considering responses to the consultation and will 

respond to it shortly.

Planning For The Future  |  69

P
age 485



 

Making sure the system has the right people and skills

Local planning authorities remain at the heart of our ambitious reforms. We want to free up 

planners to focus on what they were trained for – creating great communities through world-class 

civic engagement and proactive plan-making,rather than reactive development management.

We recognise that local planning departments need to have the right people with the right skills, 

as well as the necessary resources, to implement these reforms successfully. Many local authorities 

are delivering great services, and through the COVID-19 pandemic have been able to transform 

the way they work to a more digital and modern service. We look forward to seeing evaluations 

and lessons learned so that we can use this as a catalyst for modernisation of our planning services.

But we know that local authority planning departments are under great pressure – with spending 

per person on planning and development down 60 per cent and shortages of specialist skills 

such as design and ecology.17 And the technology in local planning authorities to support 

modern services is not there – whilst PropTech firms are developing new apps and other digital 

services that enable communities to engage with development in new ways, in few places can 

this be captured by the local authority. Instead, documents are submitted electronically, but not 

in the way of modern digital services such as those now supporting tax services.

The preparation of reformed Local Plans, development of new design codes, a major overhaul 

of development contributions, and a new streamlined approach to decision-making will have 

profound implications for how local planning authorities operate in future. They will need to 

have sufficient leadership, a strong cadre of professional planners and good access to 

technical expertise, as well as transformed systems which utilise the latest digital technology. 

But equally importantly, there must be a fundamental cultural change on how planning 

departments operate. They need to be more outward looking, proactively engaging with 

developers, businesses, architects and designers, as well as a wider cross-section of their 

local communities.

In particular, we envisage the focus of local planning authorities shifting towards the 

development of clear Local Plans and high-quality design codes which set the parameters 

for development – rather than making discretionary decisions based on vague policies.  

In doing so, there is a real opportunity for planners to redesign their individual roles and 

change perceptions of their profession. We will consider how best to support the planning 

profession in making this adjustment, in a way which supports culture change, improves 

recruitment and changes perceptions of planning.

In addition, other key players, including the Planning Inspectorate and statutory consultees, 

will have to transform the way they operate in response to these reforms, given their critical 

role supporting the preparation of Local Plans and decision-making. They too will need  

to be more responsive and outward looking, and have the necessary skills and resources  

to undertake their new roles.

We understand why many participants – not just local authorities, but statutory consultees and 

the Planning Inspectorate – are risk averse. Judicial review is expensive, and to lose a judicial 

review in the courts is bad for the reputation of either. And judicial reviews can be precedent 

setting, establishing a new interpretation of the law. We think the proposals set out in the 

document should remove the risk of judicial review substantially. Most judicial reviews are 

about imprecise and unclearly worded policies or law. Our plans for an overhaul of planning 

law to create simple and clear processes and for plans that set out clear requirements and 

standards will substantially remove the scope for ambiguity and therefore challenge.

70   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 486



 

Proposal 23: As we develop our final proposals for this new planning 
system, we will develop a comprehensive resources and skills strategy 
for the planning sector to support the implementation of our reforms. 
In doing so, we propose this strategy will be developed including the 
following key elements:

The cost of operating the new planning system should be principally funded by the beneficiaries 

of planning gain – landowners and developers – rather than the national or local taxpayer. 

Currently, the cost of development management activities by local planning authorities is to  

a large extent covered by planning fees, although the current fee structure means the cost 

of processing some applications can be significantly greater than their individual fee. However,  

the cost of preparing Local Plans and enforcement activities is now largely funded from the local 

planning authority’s own resources.

Planning fees should continue to be set on a national basis and cover at least the full cost of 

processing the application type based on clear national benchmarking. This should involve the 

greater regulation of discretionary pre-application charging to ensure it is fair and proportionate.

If a new approach to development contributions is implemented, a small proportion of the 

income should be earmarked to local planning authorities to cover their overall planning costs, 

including the preparation and review of Local Plans and design codes and enforcement activities.

Reform should be accompanied by a deep dive regulatory review to identify and eliminate 

outdated regulations which increase costs for local planning authorities, especially to the 

decision-making process.

Some local planning activities should still be funded through general taxation given the 

public benefits from good planning, and time limited funding will be made available by 

the Government in line with the new burdens principle to support local planning authorities  

to transition to the new planning system as part of the next Spending Review.

Local planning authorities should be subject to a new performance framework which ensures 

continuous improvement across all planning functions from Local Plans to decision-making and 

enforcement – and enables early intervention if problems emerge with individual authorities.

The Planning Inspectorate and statutory consultees should become more self-financing 

through new charging mechanisms and be subject to new performance targets to improve 

their performance.

Workforce planning and skills development, including training, should be principally for the local 

government sector to lead on, working closely with Government, statutory consultees, planning 

consultancies and universities.

Reform should be accompanied by a significant enhancement in digital and geospatial capability 

and capacity across the planning sector to support high-quality new digital Local Plans and 

digitally enabled decision-making. We think the English planning profession has the potential 

to become an international world-leader in digital planning, capable of exporting world class 

planning services around the world.

Planning For The Future  |  71

The cost of operating the new planning system should beprincipally 
funded by the beneficiaries of planning gain – landowners and 
developers – rather than the national or local taxpayer. 

P
age 487



In developing this strategy, we recognise different local planning authorities face different 

pressures and issues, and it will be important to develop a resourcing and skills framework 

which works for all authorities across the country. We will work with local planning 

authorities, professional bodies and the wider planning sector to ensure views about 

implementation are considered. We would particularly want to see innovative solutions 

which can transform practice

At the same time, we also want to enable a thriving PropTech sector. By unlocking the data 

that underpins the planning system so that it is open, we want to enable the PropTech 

sector to transform housing, land, and planning industries with innovative products that are 

interoperable with others. This will make use of process improvement insights and data to 

offer services for many different clients, including for improved public consultation 

opportunities for citizens and developers to identify sites on which to build, helping to 

reduce investment risks. We will continue to engage with the innovators and the UK 

PropTech sector through a Minister-led PropTech Innovation Council (announced in 

November 2019) to make the most of innovative new approaches to meet public policy 

objectives, help this emerging sector to boost productivity in the wider planning and 

housing sectors, and ensure government data and decisions support the sector’s growth in 

the UK and internationally.

Stronger enforcement

As part of the implementation of our planning reforms, we want to see local planning authorities 

place more emphasis on the enforcement of planning standards and decisions. Planning 

enforcement activity is too often seen as the ‘Cinderella’ function of local planning services. 

But local communities want new development to meet required design and environmental 

standards, and robust enforcement action to be taken if planning rules are broken. As local 

planning authorities are freed from many planning requirements through our reforms, they will  

be able to focus more on enforcement across the planning system.

Proposal 24: We will seek to strengthen enforcement powers  
and sanctions

We will review and strengthen the existing planning enforcement powers and sanctions available 

to local planning authorities to ensure they support the new planning system. We will introduce 

more powers to address intentional unauthorised development, consider higher fines, and look 

to ways of supporting more enforcement activity.

This will include implementing our commitments from the Government’s response to the 

consultation on unauthorised development and encampments, to strengthen national 

planning policy against intentional unauthorised development and ensure temporary stop 

notices are more effective. And will also consider what more can be done in cases where the 

Environment Agency’s flood risk advice on planning applications is not followed.

72   |  Planning For The Future

Stuart Walker Photography

P
age 488



We will seek to strengthen enforcement  
powers and sanctions

P
age 489



Implementing reform

The proposals in this paper apply to England only. Planning is devolved in Scotland, Wales  

and Northern Ireland.

Subject to the outcome of this consultation, we will seek to bring forward legislation and  

policy changes to implement our reforms. This consultation sets out our vision for the basis  

of a reformed planning system. We have not comprehensively covered every aspect of the 

system, and the detail of the proposals will need further development pending the outcome  

of this consultation. We will continue to develop the proposals as we gather feedback and  

views on them.

Our proposals for Local Plan reform, changes to developer contributions and development 

management would require primary legislation followed by secondary legislation. The proposals 

allow 30 months for new Local Plans to be in place so a new planning framework, so we would 

expect new Local Plans to be in place by the end of the Parliament.

We would implement any policy changes, including to set a new housing requirement,  

by updating the National Planning Policy Framework in line with the new legislation.

Responding to this consultation

EQUALITIES IMPACTS

We want all communities, families, groups and individuals to have a say in the future of the 

places where they live. For too long, planning and planning decisions have felt out of reach 

from too many people. The Government has heard how the combination of technical jargon 

What happens next

and traditional models of community engagement discourages people from having their say 

on decisions. At the same time, it disproportionately encourages engagement from people 

from a narrow set of demographic groups – typically older, better off and white. We believe 

that the voices of those who may benefit most from new development are therefore often 

the quietest in the planning process.

We are committed to delivering wider engagement in planning, increasing the supply  

of land for development, and supporting inclusive and mixed communities. Some authorities 

and developers are pioneering new models of engagement that broaden this to different 

groups. We hope that the reforms set out in this consultation – to make the system more 

accessible, accountable, digital and transparent – will increase access and engagement  

for all groups up and down the country.

We would welcome views on the potential impact on the proposals raised in this 

consultation on people with protected characteristics and whether further reforms  

could broaden access to planning for people in diverse groups.

Question

26.  Do you have any views on the potential impact of the proposals 
raised in this consultation on people with protected characteristics 
as defined in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010?

74   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 490



Planning For The Future  |  75

P
age 491



This consultation document and consultation process have been planned to adhere to the 

Consultation Principles issued by the Cabinet Office. 

Representative groups are asked to give a summary of the people and organisations they 

represent, and where relevant who else they have consulted in reaching their conclusions 

when they respond. 

Information provided in response to this consultation, including personal data, may be 

published or disclosed in accordance with the access to information regimes (these are 

primarily the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA), the Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA),  

the General Data Protection Regulation, and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004. 

If you want the information that you provide to be treated as confidential, please be aware 

that, as a public authority, the Department is bound by the Freedom of Information Act and 

may therefore be obliged to disclose all or some of the information you provide. In view of 

this it would be helpful if you could explain to us why you regard the information you have 

provided as confidential. If we receive a request for disclosure of the information we will take 

full account of your explanation, but we cannot give an assurance that confidentiality can be 

maintained in all circumstances. An automatic confidentiality disclaimer generated by your 

IT system will not, of itself, be regarded as binding on the Department. 

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government will process your personal  

data in accordance with the law and in the majority of circumstances this will mean that your 

personal data will not be disclosed to third parties. A full privacy notice is included at Annex A.

About this consultation

Individual responses will not be acknowledged unless specifically requested. 

Your opinions are valuable to us. Thank you for taking the time to read this document and respond.

Are you satisfied that this consultation has followed the Consultation Principles? If not or you 

have any other observations about how we can improve the process please contact us via 

the complaints procedure.

76   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 492



P
age 493



Annex A

The following is to explain your rights and give you the information you are be entitled to 

under the data protection legislation. 

These rights apply to your personal data (your name address and anything that could be used 

to identify you personally) not the content of your response to the consultation. 

1.  The identity of the data controller and contact details of our Data Protection Officer
The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) is the data controller. 

The Data Protection Officer can be contacted at dataprotection@communities.gsi.gov.uk

2. Why we are collecting your personal data 
Your personal data is being collected as an essential part of the consultation process, so that 

we can contact you regarding your response and for statistical purposes. We may also use it 

to contact you about related matters.

3. Our legal basis for processing your personal data
Article 6(1)(e) of the General Data Protection Regulation 2016 (GPDR) provides  that 

processing shall be lawful if processing is necessary for the performance of a task carried out 

in the public interest or in the exercise of official authority vested in the controller. Section 

8(d) of the Data Protection Act 2018 further provides that this shall include processing of 

personal data that is necessary for the exercise of a function of the Crown, a Minister of the 

Crown or a government department.

The processing is necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest or 

in the exercise of official authority vested in the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Government. The task is consulting on departmental policies or proposals or obtaining 

opinion data in order to develop good effective government policies in relation to’ planning.

4. With whom we will be sharing your personal data
We will not share your personal data with organisations outside of MHCLG without 

contacting you for your permission first.

 

5. For how long we will keep your personal data, or criteria used to determine the 
retention period. 
Your personal data will be held for two years from the closure of the consultation.  

6. Your rights, e.g. access, rectification, erasure 
The data we are collecting is your personal data, and you have considerable say over what 

happens to it. You have the right:

a. to see what data we have about you

b. to ask us to stop using your data, but keep it on record

c. to ask to have all or some of your data deleted or corrected 

d. to lodge a complaint with the independent Information Commissioner (ICO) if you think 

we are not handling your data fairly or in accordance with the law. You can contact the ICO 

at https://ico.org.uk/, or telephone 0303 123 1113.

7. Storage of your personal data
The Data you provide directly will be stored by MHCLG’s appointed third-party on their 

servers. We have taken all necessary precautions to ensure that your rights in terms of data 

protection will not be compromised by this.

If you submit information to this consultation using our third-party survey provider, it will be moved 

to our secure government IT systems at a date following the consultation publication date.

8. Your personal data will not be used for any automated decision making.

78   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 494



Planning For The Future  |  79

P
age 495



Footnotes

1  The shortage of affordable homes in and close to the most productive urban centres is a major drag on national 
productivity – see PwC (2019) “UK Housing market outlook”, available at https://www.pwc.co.uk/economic-services/
ukeo/ukeo-housing-market-july-2019.pdf. 

2  The EU Compendium of Spatial Planning Systems and Policies, European Commission (1997);OECD (2017), Land-use 
Planning Systems in the OECD: Country Fact Sheets;Monk, S., Whitehead, C., Burgess, G. & Tang, C. (2013) 
International review of land supply and planning systems, Joseph Rowntree Foundation. 

3 MHCLG data, period covering 24 months to end March 2019.

4  YouGov polling commissioned by Grosvenor (2019) – available at https://www.grosvenor.com/Grosvenor/files/a2/
a222517e-e270-4a5c-ab9f-7a7b4d99b1f3.pdf. An overview of wider evidence and studies on public attitudes to 
planning and development is available in chapter 9 of the Building Better Building Beautiful Commission’s interim 
report –available at https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/815495/BBBB_Commission_Interim_Report_Appendices.pdf.

5 See the LGA’s open statement on planning at https://www.local.gov.uk/keep-planning-local. 

6  MHCLG (2019) The Value and Incidence of Developer Contributions in England 2018/19 available at: https://gov.uk/
government/publications/section-106-planning-obligations-and-the-community-infrastructure-levy-in-england-2018-to-
2019-report-of-study    

7  MHCLG data on housing supply available at https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/housing-supply-net-additional-
dwellings-england-2018-to-2019.

8  Data from the Deloitte Property Index, available at https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/cz/Documents/
survey/Property_Index_2016_EN.pdf

9  Building Better Building Beautiful Commission (2019) Creating space for beauty: Interim report. Available at:  
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/815493/
BBBBC_Commission_Interim_Report.pdf

10  See https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/875032/
Planning_Application_Statistics_October_to_December_2019.pdf (p.3).

11  See Policy Exchange (2020) “A planning system for the 20th century”, available at: https://policyexchange.org.uk/
publication/rethinking-the-planning-system-for-the-21st-century/ Centre for Cities (2020) “Planning for the future”, 
available at: https://www.centreforcities.org/publication/planning-for-the-future/; Building Better Building Beautiful 
Commission (2020) “Living with beauty: promoting health, well-being and sustainable growth”, available at: https://
www.gov.uk/government/publications/living-with-beauty-report-of-the-building-better-building-beautiful-commission; 
Create Streets (2018) “From NIMBY to YIMBY”, and (2018) “More Good Homes”. 

12  RTPI (2020) “Plan the world we need: The contribution of planning to a sustainable, resilient and inclusive 
recovery”, available at: https://www.rtpi.org.uk/research/2020/june/plan-the-world-we-need/.

13  Our plan for cycling and walking is available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycling-and-
walking-plan-for-england.

14  To give your views on the England Tree Strategy, please visit https://consult.defra.gov.uk/forestry/england-tree-
strategy/.

15  MHCLG (2019) The Value and Incidence of Developer Contributions in England 2018/19

16  As above, a Section 106 planning obligation could still be used to secure a covenant on the land, where 
necessary. However, the value would be captured through the Infrastructure Levy, rather than Section 106.

17  Institute for Fiscal Studies (2019) “English local government funding: trends and challenges in 2019 and 
beyond”, https://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/English-local-government-funding-trends-and-challenges-in-2019-
and-beyond-IFS-Report-166.pdf

18  For more information see https://www.commonplace.is/

19  Estimates provided to the Housing, Communities and Local Government Select Committee Inquiry into Land 
Value Capture: https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmcomloc/766/766.pdf

80   |  Planning For The Future

P
age 496



P
age 497



82   |  Planning For The Future

Page Image Credit

Front cover Tregunnel Hill ADAM Architecture

3 Timekeepers Square Buttress Architects, English Cities Fund, HDA Winner

11 Rochester Riverside, Chatham BPTW for Countryside, HDA winner

14 Peverell Avenue in Poundbury Andrew Cameron & Associates

17 Timekeepers Square Buttress Architects, English Cities Fund, HDA Winner

18 South Gardens, Elephant and Castle Maccreanor Lavington for Lend Lease, HDA winner

19 East Float, Wirral Waters House by Urban Splash & Peel L&P

23 Community engagement,  
St Cuthbert’s Garden Village

Stuart Walker Photography

24 Wapping Wharf Phase I, Bristol Alec French Architects

25 Robert Kwolek

27 Wapping Wharf Phase I, Bristol Alec French Architects

28 Fountains Close Richmond Housing Partnership

31 Cecil Square ADAM Architecture

38 Community engagement HTA Design

39 Community engagement HTA Design

40 Community engagement HTA Design

42 Community engagement HTA Design

43 Inholm site plan, Inholm, 
Northstowe, Cambs 

Proctor and Matthews, Homes England, HDA winner

44 Roussillon Park, Chichester Designed Ben Pentreath Ltd 

46 AVRO Manchester Urban Splash

47 Cane Hill HTA Design

48 Park Hill, Sheffield Urban Splash & Places for People

49 Tregunnel Hill ADAM Architects

50 Great Kneighton Countryside Properties

Page Image Credit

51 Milford HTA Design

53 Roussillon Park, Chichester Designed Ben Pentreath Ltd

61 South Gardens, Elephant and Castle Maccreanor Lavington for Lend Lease, HDA winner

65 Foreman Manor Aspen Homes

69 Listers Pods, Lister Mills, Bradford Urban Splash

72 Community engagement,  
St Cuthbert’s Garden Village

Stuart Walker Photography

73 Nansledan ADAM Architecture

75 Robert Kwolek

77 Piece Hall Piece Hall

81 PRP Architects

Rear cover Campbell Park, Milton Keynes Urban Splash & Places for People

Image Credits

P
age 498



Planning For The Future  |  83

P
age 499



© Crown copyright, 2020

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown.

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or 

medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit 

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form 

at http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at:

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government

Fry Building

2 Marsham Street

London 

SW1P 4DF

Telephone: 030 3444 0000 

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg

August 2020

P
age 500



   
 

August 2020 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

 

 

 

 

Changes to the current planning system 

Consultation on changes to planning policy and regulations  

 

Page 501



   
 

 

 

© Crown copyright, 2020 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, 
under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit 
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/ 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg 

August 2020 

 

Page 502

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.gov.uk/mhclg
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/mhclg


   
 

3 

Contents 

Scope of the consultation 5 

Introduction 7 

The standard method for assessing housing numbers in strategic plans 8 

Boosting Supply 8 

The role of the standard method in strategic plans 9 

The current standard method for assessing local housing need 10 

The Government’s proposed approach 11 

Result of the revised standard method 16 

Transition 16 

Next steps 18 

Delivering First Homes 19 

The Government’s proposed approach 19 

Exception sites 23 

Next steps 24 

Supporting small and medium-sized developers 25 

Developer contributions 26 

Economic recovery 26 

The Government’s proposed approach 27 

Affordable housing in rural areas 28 

Supporting SMEs 28 

Next steps 28 

Page 503



   
 

4 

Extension of the Permission in Principle consent regime 29 

Introduction of applications process for major developments 29 

Securing the principle of development for housing on more sites 29 

Extending Permission in Principle to cover major development 30 

Process for making a Permission in Principle application for major development 32 

Information requirements 32 

Publicity arrangements 33 

Revised fee structure to incentive Permission in Principle by application 34 

Brownfield Land Registers and Permission in Principle 34 

Additional guidance to support implementation 35 

Regulatory Impact Assessment 36 

Next steps 36 

Public Sector Equality Duty 37 

About this consultation 38 

Annex A 39 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 504



   
 

5 

Scope of the consultation 

Topic of this 
consultation: 

This consultation seeks views on a range of proposed changes 
to the current planning system including:  

• changes to the standard method for assessing local 
housing need 

• securing of First Homes through developer contributions 

• temporarily lifting the small sites threshold  

• extending the current Permission in Principle to major 
development 

 

Scope of this 
consultation: 

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government is 
consulting on changes to planning policy and legislation. 
 

Geographical 
scope: 

These proposals relate to England only. 
 

Impact 
Assessment: 

 
N/A 

 

Basic Information 
 

To: This consultation is open to everyone. We are keen to hear 
from a wide range of interested parties from across the public 
and private sectors, as well as from the general public. 

Body/bodies 
responsible for 
the consultation: 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

Duration: This consultation will last for 8 weeks from 06 August 2020 and 
will close at 23.45 on Thursday 1st October 2020. 

Enquiries: For any enquiries about the consultation please contact:  
 
TechnicalPlanningConsultation@communities.gov.uk  
 
 

How to respond: You may respond by going to our website: 
 
www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-the-current-
planning-system  
 
Alternatively you can email your response to the questions in 
this consultation to:  
 
TechnicalPlanningConsultation@communities.gov.uk 
 
If you are responding in writing, please make it clear which 
questions you are responding to. 
 

Page 505

mailto:TechnicalPlanningConsultation@communities.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-the-current-planning-system
http://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-the-current-planning-system
mailto:TechnicalPlanningConsultation@communities.gov.uk


   
 

6 

Written responses should be sent to: 
Changes to the current planning system consultation 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, 
3rd Floor, South East Fry Building  
2 Marsham Street  
LONDON  
SW1P 4DF 
 
When you reply it would be very useful if you confirm whether 
you are replying as an individual or submitting an official 
response on behalf of an organisation and include: 
- your name, 
- your position (if applicable), and 
- the name of organisation (if applicable). 
 

Page 506



   
 

7 

Introduction 

1. Since 2010 the Government has introduced planning reforms to improve the current 
system. In 2010 only 17% of local authorities had local plans in place and now 91% 
of local authorities have plans. Over 2,700 groups have started the neighbourhood 
planning process since 2012. We’ve delivered over 1.5 million new homes since 
2010 including over 241,000 last year alone – that’s the highest level for over  
30 years. And planning permissions for new homes have more than doubled since 
2010. But this isn’t enough – we want to deliver the housing people need because 
happier, more rooted communities bring our country together.  
 

2. Planning for the Future1 sets out plans to undertake a fundamental reform of the 
planning system and explains that this would be accompanied by shorter-term 
measures. This consultation sets out proposals for measures to improve the 
effectiveness of the current system. The four main proposals are:  

 

• changes to the standard method for assessing local housing need, which as well as 
being a proposal to change guidance in the short term has relevance to proposals 
for land supply reforms set out in Planning for the Future; 
 

• securing of First Homes, sold at a discount to market price for first time buyers, 
including key workers, through developer contributions in the short term until the 
transition to a new system; 
 

• temporarily lifting the small sites threshold below which developers do not need to 
contribute to affordable housing, to up to 40 or 50 units to support SME builders as 
the economy recovers from the impact of Covid-19; 

 

• extending the current Permission in Principle to major development so landowners 

and developers now have a fast route to secure the principle of development for 

housing on sites without having to work up detailed plans first. 

 

 

 

 

 
 
1 See Planning for the Future https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-future 

 
  

Page 507

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-future


   
 

8 

The standard method for assessing housing 
numbers in strategic plans 

3. This consultation is seeking views on changes to planning practice guidance on the 

standard method for assessing local housing need (“the standard method”). The 

standard method provides the starting point for planning for housing and does not 

establish the housing requirement. 

 

4. The standard method was first implemented in 2018 through the revised National 

Planning Policy Framework2 to make assessing the minimum number of homes 

needed in an area easier, cheaper and more transparent. In February 2019, 

following the technical consultation on updates to national planning policy and 

guidance, a short-term change was made to the standard method. At the same 

time, a commitment was made to review the formula to balance the need for clarity, 

simplicity and transparency for local communities with the Government’s aspirations 

for the housing market. 

 
5. This part of the consultation is about the standard method for assessing local 

housing need. There are wider policy proposals for introducing a standard method 

for setting binding housing requirements, set out in the separate consultation 

Planning for the Future3. It is the Government’s intention that the method set out in 

this document would form part of the process for setting any binding housing 

requirement. However, this consultation does not set out how this binding 

requirement would be calculated, which will be determined following the Planning 

for the Future consultation. Instead, it proposes a revised standard method for 

calculating local housing need which will be used as the basis for plans created 

prior to any changes outlined in Planning for the Future being introduced.  

Boosting Supply 

6. This consultation should be read in the context of the wider government reforms 

Planning for the Future in relation to the planning system and in particular the 

reforms to ensure sufficient land is released for homes. As this sets out, our 

aspirations are to create a housing market that is capable of delivering 300,000 

homes annually and one million homes over this Parliament. Adopted local plans, 

where they are in place, provide for 187,000 homes per year across England – not 

just significantly below our ambition for 300,000 new homes annually, but also lower 

than the number of homes delivered last year (241,000). 

 

 
 
2 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2 
3 See the wider reform policy paper Proposal 4 within Planning for the Future. 

Page 508

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


   
 

9 

The role of the standard method in strategic plans 

7. Plans are a key vehicle for ensuring that the community gets its chance to shape 

the development that takes place in its area. The standard method identifies the 

minimum number of homes that a local authority should plan for in an area. The 

National Planning Policy Framework is clear that this number should be considered 

in making sure enough land is identified to accommodate the new homes our 

communities need. Once the quantity of homes has been identified by the standard 

method, the supporting policy encourages local authorities to then consider how 

these can best be accommodated – through a combination of intensification and 

densification of brownfield land, regeneration of former commercial sites and under-

used sites such as car parks, through well-planned new settlements and urban 

expansions. 

 

8. The National Planning Policy Framework and associated planning practice 

guidance4 set out that local areas should identify enough land by using the housing 

need reflected by the standard method to:  

 

a. identify the minimum number of homes that their communities need;  

b. consider whether local circumstances mean that actual need is higher than 

that minimum (because, for example, strategic infrastructure is expected or 

growth beyond past trends is anticipated);   

c. seek as a minimum to meet those needs by ensuring that sufficient land can 

be released over at least the next 15 years. 

 

9. By directing that sufficient land should be released as above, the amount of need 

identified by the standard method has a direct influence on how many homes will be 

built in the future. It does not ensure that the homes are actually built - that is reliant 

on wider market conditions and targeted government interventions to support the 

market. However, identifying sufficient land so that the market is not prevented from 

delivering the homes that are needed is vitally important to prevent the under-

delivery of the past from continuing to happen.  

 

10. The overall level of need identified by the standard method therefore needs to be 

sufficient to ensure that land supply does not become a limiter in achieving national 

supply aspirations. 

 

 

 

 
 
4 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments 

Page 509

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments


   
 

10 

The current standard method for assessing local housing 
need 

11. The Government introduced the standard method to make the process of identifying 
the level of need in an area simple, quick and transparent. Previously, local 
authorities spent time and money estimating need and these numbers were heavily 
contested at examination. The standard method is designed to cut this time and 
ensure that the plan-making process focuses on how and where the homes can 
best be built, how they can be best designed and how the infrastructure can be 
aligned rather than time-consuming debates about the number of homes. The 
Government is clear that the standard method has an important role in achieving 
these ends and that it should continue to be: an easy and transparent process for 
people to understand; based on publicly available data; and reflect the need for 
homes in an area by taking in account the affordability of homes locally. 
 

12. Currently, the method comprises a baseline of household projections which are 
then adjusted to take account of affordability and capped to limit the increase for 
areas. Step 1 of the current method sets the baseline using a 10-year average of 
the 2014-based national household growth projections. Step 2 goes on to adjust the 
Step 1 outcome based on the affordability of the area, using the most recent 
median workplace-based affordability ratios so that for each 1% the ratio is above 4, 
the average household growth is increased by a quarter of a percent (with a ratio of 
8 representing a 100% increase). Step 3 then applies a 40% cap to limit the 
increases an individual local authority can face. The way this cap is applied 
depends on the current status of an area’s strategic policies for housing.  

 
13. Household projections, used in the current method, have attracted criticism for their 

volatility and the way in which they can result in artificially low projections in some 

places, where overcrowding and concealed households suppress the numbers. 

Crucially, they cannot in isolation forecast housing need – they project past trends 

forward. Despite this, we have seen many progress arguments that recent 

reductions in projected growth should lead to less homes being built. This should 

not be the logical conclusion, as the Office for National Statistics (ONS) has 

clarified5& 6.   

 
14. Improvements on the standard method are designed in order to: 

a. Ensure it is more agile in using up-to-date data. We announced in the 

February 2019 Government response to the technical consultation on 

updates to national planning policy and guidance7, that the standard method 

would remain based on the 2014-based household projections. While this 

 
 
5  https://blog.ons.gov.uk/2018/10/19/what-our-household-projections-really-show/ 

 
6 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/article
s/varianthouseholdprojectionsforengland/2016based#things-you-need-to-know-about-this-release 

 
7 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-planning-policy-and-guidance-including-the-
standard-method-for-assessing-local-housing-need 

Page 510

https://blog.ons.gov.uk/2018/10/19/what-our-household-projections-really-show/
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-planning-policy-and-guidance-including-the-standard-method-for-assessing-local-housing-need
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-planning-policy-and-guidance-including-the-standard-method-for-assessing-local-housing-need


   
 

11 

was an appropriate solution in the short-term, a new standard method is 

intended to be more agile in using the most recent data. 

b. Achieve a better distribution of homes where homes are identified in more 

high-demand areas and in emerging demand areas across the country (such 

as the Northern Powerhouse). This will help avoid issues where unaffordable 

areas in high demand are planning for low numbers of homes due to past 

trends of suppressed household formation. In addition, the Government has 

heard powerful representations that the current formula underestimates 

demand for housing in the growing cities in the Northern Powerhouse by 

being based on historic trends. 

c. Provide stability to the method by smoothing out areas of potential volatility 

so that the basis on which local authorities are expected to plan for is more 

predictable.   

d. Be consistent with the Government’s ambition for a housing market that 

supports 300,000 homes by creating a method with a suitable overall 

national number that enables achievement of this aim.  

 

15. The Government has welcomed contributions from experts, including Savills8 and 

Lichfields9, on helpful proposals on how to adjust the methodology to address better 

these issues of alignment with real demand, stability, and consistency with the 

overall 300,000 target. There is general support for incorporating housing stock into 

the methodology, as a way of balancing out some of the issues identified with 

relying on household projections in isolation. We have taken into consideration the 

varied and useful feedback, both on the individual data inputs and also on how 

these might be applied in informing options for consideration.  

 

16. In line with our commitments10, we are now proposing a revised standard method 

which aligns with the Government’s aspirations for the housing market. This should 

provide stability and certainty for all stakeholders and seek to address the issues 

with the current approach and use of household projections identified above.  

 

The Government’s proposed approach 

17. The Government has based the proposed new approach on a number of principles 

for reform. These include ensuring that the new standard method delivers a number 

nationally that is consistent with the commitment to plan for the delivery of 300,000 

new homes a year, a focus on achieving a more appropriate distribution of homes, 

and on targeting more homes into areas where they are least affordable.  

 

18. The standard method results in a local authority-wide number that needs to be 

planned for. The local area then decides how and where in their authority that need 

is best met in accordance with national policy. The supporting policy is not the 

 
 
8 https://pdf.euro.savills.co.uk/uk/spotlight-on/housing-need-and-the-standard-method-may-2020.pdf 
9 https://lichfields.uk/blog/2020/may/21/setting-the-standard-towards-a-new-method-for-housing-need/ 
10 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-for-the-future 

Page 511

https://pdf.euro.savills.co.uk/uk/spotlight-on/housing-need-and-the-standard-method-may-2020.pdf
https://lichfields.uk/blog/2020/may/21/setting-the-standard-towards-a-new-method-for-housing-need/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-for-the-future


   
 

12 

subject of this consultation, but wider reforms proposed in the Planning for the 

Future consultation are focusing on how land supply policies would operate going 

forward. As such, this standard method provides the starting point and not the final 

housing requirement. 

 
19. The new standard method should ensure that all areas of the country are 

encouraged to build the homes their communities need. The reasons for which 

homes are needed varies in different areas of the country. In some areas, new 

homes can play a vital role in schemes to regenerate deprived areas. In others the 

existing stock doesn’t meet the needs of the existing communities in terms of 

providing the right size, type and tenure for different groups within the community 

and new homes are required to address this.  

 
20. We therefore propose to introduce a new element into the standard method, a 

percentage of existing housing stock levels, which takes into account the number of 

homes that are already in an area. This should ensure that diverse housing needs 

in all parts of the country are taken into account. It should also offer the stability and 

predictability which has been absent when solely relying on household projections.  

 

21. However, household projections, which are based on freely and publicly accessible 

data available at a local authority level, are still the most robust estimates of future 

growth trends. Projections have been used for decades in the planning system as a 

basis for future housing land requirements due to their simple and relatable concept 

of linking housing growth to the population. Therefore, we propose to retain a role 

for them as part of the new blended approach which takes account of stock. This 

helps achieve the stability and distributional benefits offered by stock whilst not 

losing the benefits of using projections. Further details of the exact approach are set 

out below. 

 

22. The Government also proposes to introduce an affordability adjustment that takes 

into account changes over time, in addition to the existing approach of considering 

absolute affordability. This will increase the overall emphasis on affordability in the 

formula and ensure that the revised standard method is more responsive to 

changing local circumstances, so that homes are planned for where they are least 

affordable. For example, where affordability improves, this will be reflected by lower 

need for housing being identified. The Government also proposes to remove the 

cap which artificially suppresses the level of housing identified. 

 
Step 1  
Setting the baseline – providing stability and certainty by incorporating a 
blend of household projections and stock 

23. We consider that the baseline for the standard method should be whichever is 

the higher of 0.5% of existing housing stock in each local authority OR the 

latest projected average annual household growth over a 10-year period.  

Page 512



   
 

13 

 

24. Recognising the limitations of household projections for the purposes of identifying 

housing need, the Government considers that they continue to remain the best way 

of projecting forward likely trends in household formation. Household projections 

therefore continue to form a part of the baseline, but will act as a “top-up” to a basic 

percentage of existing stock in each area. This allows areas that experience 

significant increases in projections compared to existing stock to plan for the homes 

they may need as a result of recent trends. This results in a “higher of” approach.  

 
25. Focusing the new standard method baseline on stock with a household projections 

“top-up” helps bring stability to the method. This is because stock is stable and does 

not vary significantly, unlike a household projections-only approach. It is based on 

current data, and is also a tangible and easily understandable concept. Using stock 

will ensure that all areas, as a minimum, are contributing a share of the national 

total, proportionate to the size of their current housing market. Basing the approach 

on stock also helps to reinforce development in existing urban areas, thereby 

ensuring that new homes can maximise existing infrastructure such as public 

transport, schools, medical facilities and shops.  

 

26. We propose a simple 0.5% of existing stock as a starting point for the baseline. The 

most robust data source of stock levels is the annually published Dwelling stock 

estimates by local authority districts11 and the most recent data published at 

the time should be used. The number of net additional dwellings delivered in 

2018-19 represents an increase of approximately 1% on the previous dwelling stock 

estimate of 24.2 million dwellings in England as at March 2018. 0.5% represents a 

basic level of increase in all areas without putting a disproportionate emphasis on 

existing stock levels.  

 

27. The household projections element of the baseline will use the latest ONS 

national household growth projections12 for the local authority area (Principal 

projection, table 406). The projected average annual household growth over a 

10-year period (10 consecutive years, with the current year being used as the 

starting point from which to calculate growth over that period) will be used. 

 

28. Whichever is higher of 0.5% of existing stock or the projected average annual 

household growth over a 10-year period will be used as the baseline. Note the 

overall outcome of the baseline should not be considered in isolation, as it forms 

proportionately less of the overall need number than the current standard method 

does. This is because the revised formula puts a greater weighting on market 

signals in Step 2. 

 

 
 
11 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/dwelling-stock-including-vacants (Table 125) 
12 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datas
ets/householdprojectionsforengland 

Page 513

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/dwelling-stock-including-vacants
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/householdprojectionsforengland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/householdprojectionsforengland


   
 

14 

Q1: Do you agree that planning practice guidance should be amended to specify 
that the appropriate baseline for the standard method is whichever is the higher of 
the level of 0.5% of housing stock in each local authority area OR the latest 
household projections averaged over a 10-year period? 
 
Q2: In the stock element of the baseline, do you agree that 0.5% of existing stock for 
the standard method is appropriate? If not, please explain why. 
 

Step 2 
Adjusting for market signals – maintaining price signals using the current 
affordability ratio and the change in affordability over the last 10 years 

29. We propose the standard method will include two adjustments to the baseline using 

the workplace-based median house price to median earnings ratio13. Initially it 

is proposed that the ratio for the most recent year for which data is available in 

order to address current affordability of homes would be used. Then how 

affordability has changed over the last 10 years of published data would be 

incorporated, using that same statistic.  

 

30. The precise formula is as follows: 

 

𝐴𝑑𝑗𝑢𝑠𝑡𝑚𝑒𝑛𝑡 𝐹𝑎𝑐𝑡𝑜𝑟

= [((
𝐿𝑜𝑐𝑎𝑙 𝑎𝑓𝑓𝑜𝑟𝑑𝑎𝑏𝑖𝑙𝑖𝑡𝑦 𝑟𝑎𝑡𝑖𝑜

𝑡=0
 −  4

4
 ) 𝑥 0.25)

+ ((𝐿𝑜𝑐𝑎𝑙 𝑎𝑓𝑓𝑜𝑟𝑑𝑎𝑏𝑖𝑙𝑖𝑡𝑦 𝑟𝑎𝑡𝑖𝑜
𝑡=0

− 𝐿𝑜𝑐𝑎𝑙 𝑎𝑓𝑓𝑜𝑟𝑑𝑎𝑏𝑖𝑙𝑖𝑡𝑦 𝑟𝑎𝑡𝑖𝑜
𝑡=−10

) × 0.25)]

+ 1 
Where 𝑡 = 0 is current year and 𝑡 = −10 is 10 years back.  

 

31. The Government considers that price signals, in the form of an affordability 

adjustment, are an integral part of the standard method. High house prices indicate 

a relative imbalance between the supply and demand for new homes, making 

homes less affordable. The affordability of homes is the best evidence that supply is 

not keeping up with demand.  

 

32. The workplace-based median house price to median earnings ratio is a nationally 

recognised and robust publicly available national statistic. It reflects the relationship 

between local house prices and earnings and is relatively stable over time. Using a 

ratio based on house price aligns with Government aspirations about home 

ownership and importantly it ensures that the standard method is responsive and 

 
 
13 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/datasets/ratioofhousepricetoworkplacebase
dearningslowerquartileandmedian 

Page 514

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/datasets/ratioofhousepricetoworkplacebasedearningslowerquartileandmedian
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/datasets/ratioofhousepricetoworkplacebasedearningslowerquartileandmedian


   
 

15 

targeted to where affordability issues are most acute. Consideration has been given 

to the relative merits of the house price to workplace-based earnings ratio against 

the house price to residence-based earnings ratio. The workplace-based ratio (used 

in the current standard method) is felt to be most appropriate.  

 

33. Using the most recent ratio enables an assessment of current affordability in an 

area. This ensures the formula responds to the most recent data. Incorporating an 

affordability trend over a 10-year period enables an assessment of the direction of 

travel in an authority area. Where affordability improves, a proportionately lower 

need level will be established. However, if an area’s affordability worsens, then the 

housing need identified will be proportionately higher.  

 

34. The affordability adjustment is a two part method aimed to deliver greater overall 
emphasis on affordability than in the current standard method. It is also designed to 
factor affordability changes over a 10-year period. 

  
35. Part one of the affordability adjustment follows a similar method to that used in the 

current standard method. For each 1% the ratio is above 4, the baseline is 
increased by a quarter of a percent. Current guidance states that no adjustment is 
applied where the ratio is 4 or below. However, now that stock helps to stabilise the 
baseline, the affordability element of the new standard method can be responsive in 
areas where affordability is below 4 and we propose to amend guidance to this 
effect.  
 

36. The formula now allows for downwards adjustments, where for each 1% the ratio is 
below 4, the baseline is decreased by a quarter of a percent. This means that these 
areas would not experience an uplift on the baseline as a result of this element of 
the formula. Four is the threshold as four times a person’s earnings14 is the 
maximum amount that can typically be borrowed for a mortgage - if an average 
worker cannot get a mortgage for an average home in the area without additional 
help then there are not enough homes in the area.  

 
37. Part two of the affordability adjustment focuses on the absolute difference between 

the latest affordability ratio and the affordability ratio 10 years ago. The difference 
calculated is multiplied by a factor of 0.25. This emphasis puts more pressure on 
local authorities whose affordability ratio has increased over the 10-year time frame, 
but likewise allows for local authorities whose ratio has improved to benefit from 
reductions in their affordability adjustment. 

 
38. The affordability adjustment in part one and part two are added together (with a 

constant of 1), to reach a total affordability factor which is subsequently applied to 
the baseline. The combined effect is an increased responsiveness to affordability, 
reflecting the importance that the Government attaches to this. 

 

 
 
14 The Council Mortgage Lenders found that in 2015 the average first time buyer loan to income ratio in 
England was 3.61. 

Page 515



   
 

16 

39. Unlike the previous method, the new standard method does not have a cap applied 

to limit the level of increase for individual authorities. The Government is clear that 

in order to significantly boost the supply of homes and address the past under-

supply as quickly as possible, a step change is needed. Capping the level of need 

is not compatible with this aim. In no longer applying a cap, the resultant housing 

need is the level of need that authorities should be planning to release land for, 

according to their specific circumstances. 

 
Q3: Do you agree that using the workplace-based median house price to median 
earnings ratio from the most recent year for which data is available to adjust the 
standard method’s baseline is appropriate? If not, please explain why. 
 
Q4: Do you agree that incorporating an adjustment for the change of affordability 
over 10 years is a positive way to look at whether affordability has improved? If not, 
please explain why. 
 
Q5: Do you agree that affordability is given an appropriate weighting within the 
standard method? If not, please explain why. 
 

Result of the revised standard method 

40. The new standard method results in a national housing need of 337,000 on the 

basis of currently available data. This is the starting point for planning and not the 

final housing requirement. Not all homes that are planned for are built, therefore the 

new standard method total is designed to provide enough land to account for the 

drop-off rate between permissions and completions.  

 

41. The revised method identifies 76% of local housing need nationally focused in local 

authorities classified as urban (10,000 people of more in a built-up area – i.e. major 

and minor conurbations, cities and towns and towns in a sparse setting) by the 

2011 ONS classification15. This will make the most of our transport hubs, support 

the objectives of brownfield-first and gently densifying urban areas, including 

building upwards where appropriate.   

 

42. At a local authority level, the revised method will affect individual authorities 

differently. 141 authorities (excluding London boroughs) have a change of over 25% 

when compared to the higher of what areas have most recently planned for or the 

number produced by the current standard method. 

Transition 

43. The Government is aware that any change in the standard method will have an 

impact for plans that are currently under development, as authorities expend 

 
 
15 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/geography/geographicalproducts/ruralurbanclassifications/2011ruralurb
anclassification 

Page 516

https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/geography/geographicalproducts/ruralurbanclassifications/2011ruralurbanclassification
https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/geography/geographicalproducts/ruralurbanclassifications/2011ruralurbanclassification


   
 

17 

considerable resources in developing new plans. To enable an orderly transition to 

the revised standard method, and achieve as much short-term supply as possible 

while setting the right expectations for early stage plan-making, we propose that 

from the publication date of the revised guidance, authorities which are 

already at the second stage of the strategic plan consultation process 

(Regulation 19)16 are given 6 months to submit17 their plan to the Planning 

Inspectorate for examination. Authorities close to publishing their second 

stage consultation (Regulation 19)18, should be given 3 months from the 

publication date of the revised guidance to publish their Regulation 19 plan 

and a further 6 months to submit their plan to the Planning Inspectorate. This 

is to strike a balance between allowing an appropriate transition period for plans 

that are nearly through the process, but without causing a significant delay in 

planning for a higher level of need.  

 

Do you agree that authorities should be planning having regard to their revised 
standard method need figure, from the publication date of the revised guidance, 
with the exception of:  
 
Q6: Authorities which are already at the second stage of the strategic plan 
consultation process (Regulation 19), which should be given 6 months to submit 
their plan to the Planning Inspectorate for examination? 
 
Q7: Authorities close to publishing their second stage consultation (Regulation 19), 
which should be given 3 months from the publication date of the revised guidance 
to publish their Regulation 19 plan, and a further 6 months to submit their plan to 
the Planning Inspectorate?  
 

If not, please explain why. Are there particular circumstances which need to be 

catered for? 

 

Please see question 35 for any comments relating to the Public Sector Equality Duty and 
the standard method.  

 

 

 

 

 
 
16 For Spatial Development Strategies this would refer to consultation under s335(2) of the Greater London 
Authority Act 1999 
17 For spatial development strategies, ‘submission’ in this context means the point at which the Mayor sends 
to the Panel copies of all representations made in accordance with regulation 8(1) of the Town and Country 
Planning (London Spatial Development Strategy) Regulations 2000, or equivalent. 
18 See footnote 17 above  

Page 517



   
 

18 

Next steps 

44. Following the outcome of this consultation, the Government will update the planning 

practice guidance with the revised standard method for assessing local housing 

need.  

Page 518



   
 

19 

Delivering First Homes  

45. This Government is committed to supporting people to make the dream of home 
ownership a reality. Over 644,000 households have now been helped by Government 
schemes, including Help to Buy and Right to Buy, and we are taking steps to ramp up 
the supply of new housing. We are undertaking the most radical reforms to our 
planning system since the Second World War, making it easier to build homes where 
they are most needed. Our £400m Brownfield Land Fund and Home Builders Fund will 
support the levelling up of home building across the country and our stamp duty 
holiday, applying to the first £500,000 of property sales, will give a much-needed boost 
to the economy, helping even more people to own homes of their own.   
 

46. However, ensuring access to home ownership remains one of the greatest challenges 
for this Government. Although polling shows that 87% of people would prefer to own a 
home given a free choice, high prices, high deposits and difficulty accessing mortgage 
finance still mean that far too many people are denied this opportunity. This is why we 
are determined to ensure that First Homes are built in all parts of the country. 
 

47. The Government consulted on its First Homes proposals in February 202019. This 
included consultation around both the design of the First Homes scheme and changes 
to the planning system to support its delivery. The Government has published a 
response to this consultation20 and is now seeking views on the detail of the proposed 
changes to the current planning system.  

 

The Government’s proposed approach 

Setting developer contributions for First Homes 

Percentage of affordable housing secured through developer contributions 

48. The Government intends to set out in policy that a minimum of 25 per cent of all 

affordable housing units secured through developer contributions should be First 

Homes. This will be a national threshold, set out in planning policy. Initially these 

will be secured through section 106 planning obligations but, under proposed 

reforms, these would subsequently be secured through the Infrastructure Levy (see 

Pillar Three of Planning for the Future).  

49. In accordance with paragraph 62 of the National Planning Policy Framework, 

affordable housing is expected to be delivered onsite unless offsite provision or a 

financial contribution in lieu can be justified. Currently, around four per cent of 

 
 
19 First Homes: Consultation on the design and delivery of First Homes. 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/864265/Fi
rst_Homes_consultation_document.pdf 
20 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/first-homes 
 

Page 519

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/864265/First_Homes_consultation_document.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/864265/First_Homes_consultation_document.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/first-homes


   
 

20 

affordable housing contributions are secured as cash or land contributions, rather 

than as onsite affordable housing. Therefore, in the majority of cases we would 

expect this policy to be delivered onsite. However, where cash contributions to 

affordable housing are secured instead of onsite contributions, a minimum of 25 per 

cent of these should be used to secure First Homes. This could be achieved, for 

instance, by acquiring additional First Homes from market development, paying the 

developer a sum to offset the discount from market price, and securing the tenure 

through section 106 planning obligations. Where a mixture of cash and onsite 

contributions are secured, 25% of the overall value of contributions should be 

applied to First Homes. 

50. Local authorities should already have affordable housing policies set out in their 
local plan, which will include the amounts of affordable housing to be sought, and 
the tenure mix of this housing. The National Planning Policy Framework currently 
states that where up-to-date policies have set out the contributions expected from 
development, planning applications that comply with them should be assumed to be 
viable. Under our intended approach, therefore, it is necessary to define the criteria 
for policy compliance, under which a development is assumed to be viable. 

51. The Government proposes that, under the new system, a policy compliant planning 
application should seek to capture the same amount of value as would be captured 
under the local authority’s up-to-date published policy. For instance, a local policy 
may require 20% affordable housing on site, half of which is shared ownership, and 
half of which is social rent. The plan viability assessment will set out assumptions 
on the amount of value captured – for example, a social rent home may be 
discounted by 50% from market price, and a shared ownership home may be 
discounted by 20%. This allows the total value captured under the policy to be 
calculated. This value can then be reallocated to a different affordable housing mix 
under the new policy.  

52. In addition to capturing the same amount of value towards affordable housing as 
the existing policy, where onsite affordable housing is required, a policy compliant 
application will have a minimum of 25% of affordable housing units onsite as First 
Homes. For the remaining 75% of affordable housing secured through developer 
contributions, there are two broad options: 

• Option 1: Where a local authority has a policy on affordable housing tenure 

mix, that policy should be followed, but with First Homes delivering a 

minimum of 25% of the affordable housing products. First Homes should 

replace as a priority other affordable home-ownership products, as defined in 

the National Planning Policy Framework, prioritising the replacement of those 

tenures which secure the smallest discount from market price.  

i. Where this replaces all home ownership products, any rental products 

are then delivered in the same ratio as set out in the local plan policy. 

For instance, if a local plan policy requires an affordable housing mix 

of 20% shared ownership units, 40% affordable rent units and 40% 

social rent units, a compliant application would deliver an affordable 

Page 520



   
 

21 

housing tenure mix of 25% First Homes; 37.5% affordable rent and 

37.5% social rent.21  

ii. Where this does not replace all home ownership products, the 

remainder of the home ownership tenures are delivered, and the 

rental tenure mix is delivered in line with the proportions set out in the 

local authority plan policy. For instance, if a local plan policy requires 

80% of units to be shared ownership and 20% to be social rent, a 

policy compliant application would deliver 25% First Homes units, 

55% shared ownership and 20% social rent. 

• Option 2: A local authority and developer can negotiate the tenure mix for 

the remaining 75% of units. 

53. If a local authority has an up-to-date policy on cash contributions in lieu of onsite 

contributions, then a policy compliant application will align with this approach.  

54. Option 1 would provide more early clarity for developers as to what constituted a 

policy compliant development, and would reduce negotiation, which can slow the 

development process. Option 2 would give local authorities more flexibility but 

would increase delay. For that reason, the Government prefers Option 1. 

55. Currently, sites or proposed developments such as those that provide solely for 

Build to Rent homes are exempt from requirements to deliver affordable home 

ownership products. This is set out in paragraph 64 in the National Planning Policy 

Framework. In line with existing policy, we are considering how to implement these 

exemptions with regards to First Homes. 

Q8: The Government is proposing policy compliant planning applications will 
deliver a minimum of 25% of onsite affordable housing as First Homes, and a 
minimum of 25% of offsite contributions towards First Homes where appropriate. 
Which do you think is the most appropriate option for the remaining 75% of 
affordable housing secured through developer contributions? Please provide 
reasons and / or evidence for your views (if possible): 

i) Prioritising the replacement of affordable home ownership tenures, and 
delivering rental tenures in the ratio set out in the local plan policy. 

ii) Negotiation between a local authority and developer.  

iii) Other (please specify) 

 

 
 
21 The actual number of homes of any tenure type should be rounded to whole numbers, where the ratio 
would deliver, for instance, half an affordable home. 

Page 521



   
 

22 

With regards to current exemptions from delivery of affordable home ownership 
products: 

Q9: Should the existing exemptions from the requirement for affordable home 
ownership products (e.g. for build to rent) also apply to apply to this First Homes 
requirement? 

Q10: Are any existing exemptions not required? If not, please set out which 
exemptions and why. 

Q11: Are any other exemptions needed? If so, please provide reasons and /or 
evidence for your views. 

 

Local plans and transitional arrangements 

56. We recognise that local authorities may need to review the tenure mix for the 
remainder of the affordable housing that they are seeking to secure. Where local 
authorities choose to update their tenure mix to reflect this policy, they can do this 
through a local plan review, although we believe that prioritising the replacement of 
home-ownership tenures by First Homes will reduce the need for this. 

57. We also recognise that there will be a number of local plans and neighbourhood 
plans that have been prepared based on the existing National Planning Policy 
Framework and that have reached more advanced stages of the plan-making 
process. Therefore, local plans and neighbourhood plans that are submitted for 
Examination within 6 months of this new policy being enacted will not need to reflect 
the First Homes policy requirements.  

58. We also recognise that many developers will have been preparing planning 
applications under different assumptions. Where significant work has already been 
undertaken to progress a planning application, including where there has been 
significant pre-engagement with a local authority on the basis of a different tenure 
mix of affordable housing, the local authority should have flexibility to accept 
alternative tenure mixes, although they should consider whether First Homes could 
be easily substituted for another tenure, either at 25% or a lower proportion. 

Q12: Do you agree with the proposed approach to transitional arrangements set out 
above? 

Level of discount 

59. The minimum discount for First Homes should be 30% from market price which will 
be set by an independent registered valuer. The valuation should assume the home 
is sold as an open market dwelling without restrictions. Local authorities will have 
discretion to increase the discount to 40% or 50%. This would need to be evidenced 
in the local plan making process. 

60. Where discounts of more than 30% are applied to First Homes, the requirement for 
a minimum of 25% of units onsite to be First Homes will remain in place.  

Page 522



   
 

23 

Q13: Do you agree with the proposed approach to different levels of discount? 

Community Infrastructure Levy 

61. In line with other affordable housing tenures, we intend to introduce an exemption 
from the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) for First Homes. We intend to 
introduce this national exemption through regulations. 

62. Prior to regulations being laid, we encourage CIL charging authorities to make use 
of discretionary affordable housing relief in order to support immediate delivery of 
First Homes. 

63. Further proposals are being developed for an Infrastructure Levy, which would 
replace CIL and Section 106 planning obligations. First Homes will remain integral 
to this approach, as will the delivery of affordable housing more generally. We will 
consider the balance of infrastructure and affordable housing as part of this 
approach. 

Exception sites 

Exception sites and rural exception sites 

64. We intend to introduce a First Homes exception sites policy, to replace the existing 
entry-level exception sites policy. Exception sites are small sites brought forward 
outside the local plan to deliver affordable housing. Under the amended policy, we 
will specify that the affordable homes delivered should be First Homes for local, 
first-time buyers. There will be the flexibility in the policy to allow a small proportion 
of other affordable homes to be delivered on these sites where there is significant 
identified local need as well as a small proportion of market homes where this 
would be necessary to ensure the viability of the site overall. This policy will not 
apply in designated rural areas, where delivery will be through the rural exception 
sites policy.  

65. We intend to remove the National Planning Policy Framework threshold on site size 
that currently applies for entry-level exception sites in footnote 33, but retain the 
requirement that First Homes exception sites should be proportionate in size to the 
existing settlement. 

66. We intend to protect the important role that rural exception sites play in delivering 
affordable homes in rural areas, with rural exception sites being retained as a 
vehicle for delivering affordable housing in designated rural areas. However, we 
recognise that this delivery mechanism is currently underused in many cases, and 
we will update planning guidance in due course. 

Q14: Do you agree with the approach of allowing a small proportion of market 
housing on First Homes exception sites, in order to ensure site viability? 

Q15: Do you agree with the removal of the site size threshold set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework?  

Page 523



   
 

24 

Q16: Do you agree that the First Homes exception sites policy should not apply in 
designated rural areas? 

Please see question 35 for any comments relating to the Public Sector Equality Duty and 

the delivery of First Homes.  

 

Next steps 

67. We intend to begin by making planning policy changes, to ensure that clear 
expectations are set. However, to ensure that First Homes are delivered, 
nationwide, on a consistent basis, we are keeping under consideration the option to 
strengthen the policy through primary legislation at a future date. We also intend to 
introduce an exemption from the Community Infrastructure Levy for First Homes, to 
enable delivery prior to wider developer contribution reform. This would require 
changes to regulations. Lastly, we are also considering significant reforms to the 
system of developer contributions. We will ensure that First Homes will continue to 
be delivered under a reformed approach. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 524



   
 

25 

Supporting small and medium-sized 
developers 

68. Small and medium-sized builders (SMEs) make an important contribution to overall 
housing supply. Small sites typically build out more quickly than larger sites, as they 
are less constrained by the market absorption rate. SMEs build the majority of 
smaller sites. In addition, the majority of apartments across the country are built by 
SME builders.22 As well as having national importance, SMEs play a significant role 
in local areas – providing people with increased choice in type and design of 
housing. A range of builders, using different designs, across different site sizes in 
different locations increases build out rates and overall supply. 

 

69. SME builders have been declining in the long term and were hit hard by the last 
recession. There were 16% more builder and developer insolvencies in 2019 than in 
201823, the vast majority of which were SMEs. They are now under further pressure 
due to Covid-19. We are committed to supporting SMEs and measures taken that 
support the sector include the Home Building Fund, Help to Buy programme and the 
ENABLE Build guarantee scheme. We are also providing a package of measures to 
help the sector grow and develop, including the Housing Growth Partnership, 
Housing Delivery Fund, as well as our ongoing reforms to the planning system.        
 

70. Contributions from developers play an important role in delivering the infrastructure 
and affordable housing to support communities and local economies. Local 
authorities can obtain these contributions by negotiating section 106 planning 
obligations with a developer and charging a Community Infrastructure Levy on new 
development. 
 

71. We have introduced legislation to give local authorities more flexibility to support 
SMEs, by allowing them to defer Community Infrastructure Levy payments. This will 
enable local planning authorities to support SMEs who are struggling with cashflow, 
while ensuring that local communities still receive contributions towards infrastructure 
from developers in the longer term.  
 

72. To support SMEs in the medium term during economic recovery from Covid-19, we 
are also proposing to reduce the burden of contributions on SMEs for more sites for 
a time-limited period.  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
22 Source: MHCLG analysis of Glenigan data.  
23 Source: MHCLG analysis of Insolvency Service statistics on firms involved in the Construction of Buildings 
(SIC 41). 

Page 525

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/company-insolvency-statistics-releases


   
 

26 

Small sites planning policy   

Developer contributions  

73. Research into developer contributions24 has found that Section 106 planning 
obligations remain a core aspect of planning practice and recent reform of the 
system in 2019 has been largely welcomed. However, there are still inconsistencies 
in local planning authority practice and delay remains a hallmark of the system.  

74. National policy is clear that affordable housing contributions should not be sought 
for developments of fewer than 10 units (small sites). This is to ensure that a 
disproportionate burden of developer contributions is not placed on SMEs. In 
designated rural areas policies may set out a lower threshold of five units or fewer. 
This approach was introduced through a Written Ministerial Statement in November 
2014 and taken forward in the revised National Planning Policy Framework in 2018.  

75. We are aware that the majority of local planning authorities have taken this 
approach forward. Only 8% of authorities have policies in up-to-date plans (less 
than five years old) that do not comply with national policy and are currently seeking 
affordable housing contributions for small sites.  

Economic recovery  

Extending the small sites policy  

76. To stimulate economic recovery with a particular focus on SMEs, the threshold for 
affordable housing contributions could be raised. This would reduce the burden of 
developer contributions, as smaller sites are more likely to be built out by SMEs.  

77. We understand the trade-off between introducing measures to increase the number 
of developable small sites and the importance of securing section 106 planning 
obligations to deliver affordable housing including First Homes. For example, for a 
threshold of up to 40 units we would expect to see a reduction of between 7% and 
14% of section 106 affordable housing delivery over a single year, assuming overall 
housing delivery remained constant. For a threshold of up to 50 units, this would be 
between 10% and 20%. However, we anticipate that raising the threshold would 
make more sites viable for SME developers and would increase the pace of their 
delivery as the need for negotiation would be removed. On balance, the proposed 
approach would allow more small sites to come forward and help minimise the 
economic pressure that SMEs are under.  

 

 
 
24 The Incidence, Value and Delivery of Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy in England 
in 2018-19. Joint research from the University of Liverpool, the University of Cambridge, the University of 
Sheffield and the London School of Economics https://gov.uk/government/publications/section-106-planning-
obligations-and-the-community-infrastructure-levy-in-england-2018-to-2019-report-of-study 
 
 

Page 526

https://gov.uk/government/publications/section-106-planning-obligations-and-the-community-infrastructure-levy-in-england-2018-to-2019-report-of-study
https://gov.uk/government/publications/section-106-planning-obligations-and-the-community-infrastructure-levy-in-england-2018-to-2019-report-of-study


   
 

27 

78. To ensure that this measure is targeted at the economic recovery phase and does 
not inflate land prices in the longer term, we are proposing that the higher threshold 
is implemented for a time-limited period and lifted as the economy recovers from 
the impact of Covid-19. This should also minimise any constraints on the 
introduction of First Homes. We are keen to hear views on the benefits and impacts 
of this proposal on the delivery of new homes. 
 

The Government’s proposed approach  

79. We are proposing to raise the small sites threshold to up to either 40 or 50 new 
homes through changes to national planning policy and are seeking views on the 
most appropriate level. These thresholds balance the aim of supporting SMEs with 
the need to deliver new affordable homes. This will be for an initial period of 18 
months in which we will monitor the impact of the raised threshold on the sector 
before reviewing the approach.  
 

80. National policy currently sets out a site size threshold for residential development in 
addition to number of homes. It makes clear that affordable housing contributions 
should not be sought for developments that have a site area of less than 0.5 
hectares. We propose to scale up the site size threshold at the same proportion as 
the increase in number of homes threshold and we are seeking views on whether 
this is the most appropriate approach.   

 
81. There could be adverse threshold effects whereby developers attempt to bring 

forward larger sites in phasings of up to 40 or 50 homes (depending on which 
threshold is taken forward in legislation) to avoid contributions. To minimise the 
impact of this potential threshold effect, we propose to set out in planning guidance 
how local planning authorities can secure contributions for affordable housing 
where it is apparent that a larger site is being brought forward.  

 
For each of these questions, please provide reasons and / or evidence for your 
views (if possible):  
 
Q17: Do you agree with the proposed approach to raise the small sites threshold for 
a time-limited period?  
 
(see question 18 for comments on level of threshold) 
 
Q18: What is the appropriate level of small sites threshold? 
 

i) Up to 40 homes 
ii) Up to 50 homes 
iii) Other (please specify)   

 
Q19: Do you agree with the proposed approach to the site size threshold?  
 
Q20: Do you agree with linking the time-limited period to economic recovery and 
raising the threshold for an initial period of 18 months?   
 
Q21: Do you agree with the proposed approach to minimising threshold effects?  

Page 527



   
 

28 

 

Affordable housing in rural areas 

82. In designated rural areas, local planning authorities can set a lower threshold of five 
units or fewer in their plans. We are aware that rural local authorities secure greater 
proportions of their housing supply as affordable on average when compared to 
urban local authorities. In designated rural areas, we therefore propose to maintain 
the current threshold.  

 
Q22: Do you agree with the Government’s proposed approach to setting thresholds 
in rural areas?  
 

Supporting SMEs  

83. The Government recognises that in addition to planning contributions, there may be 
many reasons why SME builders are unable to access and progress developable 
sites during this time. We are keen to hear whether there are any other ways in 
which the Government can support SME builders to deliver new homes.  

Q23: Are there any other ways in which the Government can support SME builders 
to deliver new homes during the economic recovery period?  
 
Please see question 35 for any comments relating to the Public Sector Equality Duty and 

the small sites proposals.  

 

Next steps  

84. Following the consultation, a decision will be taken on whether to proceed with this 
approach. If it is taken forward, this could be through the introduction of a Written 
Ministerial Statement in the Autumn.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 528



   
 

29 

Extension of the Permission in Principle 
consent regime  

Introduction of applications process for major developments 

85. Permission in Principle was introduced in 2017 as a new faster way of obtaining 
planning permission for housing-led development, which reduced the need for 
landowners and developers to incur significant costs to establish the principle of 
development for housing. This was done by giving authorities the power to grant 
Permission in Principle to suitable sites allocated on registers of brownfield land.  
Subsequently, Permission in Principle by application was introduced in 2018, for 
minor development (i.e. small sites that support fewer than 10 dwellings).  

 
86. Permission in Principle is designed to separate decision making on ‘in principle’ 

issues addressing land use, location, and scale of development from matters of 
technical detail, such as the design of buildings, tenure mix, transport and 
environmental matters. The aim is to give up-front certainty that the fundamental 
principles of development are acceptable before developers need to work up 
detailed plans and commission technical studies. It also ensures that the principle of 
development only needs to be established once. 
 

87. The Permission in Principle consent route has two stages: 
 

• the first stage (“Permission in Principle”) establishes whether a site is suitable 
in-principle for development. This grant of Permission in Principle is for five 
years and no planning conditions can be attached to it  

• the second (‘technical details consent’) stage is when the detailed development 
proposals are assessed, and conditions can be attached 

 
88. A grant of Permission in Principle plus a grant of technical details consent together 

equates to full planning permission.    
 

Securing the principle of development for housing on more 
sites  

89. As part of our plans to support economic recovery, the Government wants to make 
it easier for landowners and developers to have certainty that the principle of 
development for housing only needs to be established once in the process before 
developers need to get into more costly, technical matters. This is particularly 
important for smaller sites which have not been allocated in local plans and where 
there is now, due to the rapidly changing economic circumstances, a desire by 
landowners to release the land for housing.    
 

90. Planning for the Future proposes that land allocated for substantive development in 
local plans should be automatically granted a form of permission of principle so that 

Page 529



   
 

30 

the principle of development is established, and subsequent consents only focus on 
detailed technical matters. As this new framework will take time to implement, the 
Government is keen to expand the current Permission in Principle framework for 
housing-led development as an early opportunity to move towards this new 
approach. 

 

91. As part of this consultation, we are interested in your views on: 
 

• extending the scope of the current Permission in Principle by application route to 
major development (not subject to EIA or habitats assessments); 

• enhancing the information requirements and publicity arrangements for these 
applications; 

• introducing a revised fee structure, at lower cost, to incentivise their use; 

• including automatically any Permission in Principle granted onto Part 2 of the local 
brownfield land register; and 

• strengthening guidance to support implementation. 

Extending Permission in Principle to cover major 
development 

92. Since 2018, applications for Permission in Principle have gradually increased as 
more developers have become more aware of it. However, the restriction limiting 
the scope of the principle to minor development limits its potential. In particular, in 
town centres and other high-density urban areas, relatively small sites are capable 
of supporting apartment developments of over 10 units, making these sites 
ineligible for Permission in Principle applications. 

 
93. For these sites, if they are brownfield, a landowner could approach the local 

planning authority to add the site to its brownfield land register where Permission in 
Principle status can be granted after consultation. However, this takes time and 
requires proactive local planning authority engagement. Or the landowner could 
submit a full or outline planning permission to secure the principle of development 
before they sell the land interests on to a developer; but given the level of detail 
required, these can be costly to prepare, take time to determine, and often the 
subsequent developer will submit a new outline or full application to reflect their own 
plans. 

 
94. To address this current anomaly, we propose to remove the restriction in the 

current Permission in Principle regulations on major development25. This will 
enable applications for Permission in Principle to be made for a far wider range of 
sites, enabling more landowners and developers to use this route to secure 
permission for housing development. Currently, 84% of planning applications for 
residential development are for schemes of 10-150 homes, which deliver 46% of 
new housing development each year. 

 

 
 
25 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1309/made  

Page 530

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1309/made


   
 

31 

95. We envisage that a change of this kind will particularly benefit small and medium-
sized developers who tend to focus on building smaller major developments. It will 
reduce their upfront planning costs and provide certainty quickly about the principle 
of development. In doing so, it will complement the Government’s wider initiatives to 
support small and medium developers, including through the Home Builders Fund 
which provides loan funding to meet the development costs of building homes for 
sale or rent and where a loan offer is conditional on applicants having a clear route 
to achieving planning consent. 
 

96. The existing restrictions in the Permission in Principle Regulations relating to  EIA 
and Habitats requirements will remain, reflecting the fact that Permission in 
Principle is granted on the basis of limited technical information and there is not 
sufficient environmental information for these requirements to be accurately 
assessed at the point of decision.  

 
97. This means Permission in Principle by application will not in practice be a route to 

permission for large sites capable of delivering more than 150 dwellings or more 
than 5 hectares – the EIA Regulations 2017 Schedule 2 threshold for urban 
development, save where a screening opinion has been obtained which concluded 
the proposal was not EIA development. Similarly, Permission in Principle will not be 
suitable for sites in areas where, applying the Conservation of Species and Habitats 
Regulations 2017, there is a probability or risk that the project is likely to have a 
significant effect on a European site, unless the application was accompanied by an 
appropriate assessment demonstrating there was unlikely to be significant impact 
on the site.   

    
Q24: Do you agree that the new Permission in Principle should remove the 
restriction on major development?   
 
98. Permission in Principle by application may include other uses as retail, offices, or 

community spaces. However, housing must occupy the majority of the overall 
scheme. Additionally, non-housing development should be compatible with the 
proposed residential development.  

 
99. The current regulations for Permission in Principle by application for minor 

development sets a limit of commercial development to 1,000 sqm, with a maximum 
size capped at 1 hectare. For the expanded Permission in Principle route extending 
to major development, we do not propose to set a limit for commercial 
development space. We do not believe it is necessary to limit the amount of 
commercial floorspace as it will still be the case that Permission in Principle should 
only be granted for development that is housing-led. Non-housing development that 
is compatible and well-integrated into residential development can help to create 
sustainable neighbourhoods.   
  

Q25: Should the new Permission in Principle for major development set any limit 
on the amount of commercial development (providing housing still occupies the 
majority of the floorspace of the overall scheme)? Please provide any comments 
in support of your views. 
 

Page 531



   
 

32 

Process for making a Permission in Principle application for 
major development 

100. We anticipate it will not be necessary to make any significant changes to 
the current process set out in regulations for granting Permission in Principle by 
application. We believe they will largely work for major developments too. This 
includes the 5-week determination period and the 14-day period for consultation 
with the public and statutory consultees, which is critical to ensuring an early 
decision on the principle of development. However, views are sought on 
maintaining the existing information requirements and publicity arrangements as 
these may need to be amended. 

 

Information requirements 

101. The primary decisions about when to grant Permission in Principle will be locally 
driven, taking account of national and local policy. Permission in Principle must be 
followed by an application for technical details consent to agree the details of the 
scheme before the applicant obtains full planning permission and can start work on 
site.  

 
102. We anticipate that the process for making a Permission in Principle application for a 

major development would follow these same procedures, where the relevant 
matters for consideration are location, land use and the amount of development.   

 
103. A Permission in Principle application must be made in writing on a form published 

by the Secretary of State (or a form to substantially the same effect) and include the 
particulars specified or referred to in the form which include: 

• a description of the proposed development,  

• the proposed minimum and maximum number of dwellings,  

• the amount of any non-residential development,  

• the size of the site in hectares, and  

• a brief description of any supporting information that is accompanying the 
application.  

 
104. The local planning authority may not require the submission of any other 

information, including that specified on its local list.  
 

105. For the Permission in Principle stage, we intend to apply broadly the same 
information requirements as for minor development applications26 – that is, the 
developer would only have to provide information as to: the minimum and maximum 
net number of dwellings, and a map or plan of the site (drawn to an identified scale). 
Technical details consent requirements would provide the necessary supplementary 
information for the local planning authority to determine the application.  

 

 
 
26 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1309/article/4/made - Article 5D 

Page 532

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1309/article/4/made


   
 

33 

106. However, we would be interested in whether, given the larger scale of development, 
there should be an additional maximum height threshold parameter, in terms of 
number of storeys, as part of the Permission in Principle. This would provide greater 
clarity to the applicant and local planning authority about the scale of housing 
development that is acceptable for the site, particularly in high density urban areas. 
Conversely, the inclusion of a maximum height parameter would add further 
complexity to the determination of Permission in Principle as it starts to bring in 
design considerations, and may in practice lead to greater confusion - for instance, 
a high height threshold may only be acceptable for part of the site given the impact 
on neighbouring dwellings.    

Q26:  Do you agree with our proposal that information requirements for Permission 
in Principle by application for major development should broadly remain 
unchanged? If you disagree, what changes would you suggest and why? 
 
Q27: Should there be an additional height parameter for Permission in Principle?  
Please provide comments in support of your views.  
 

Publicity arrangements 

107. Publicity requirements for Permission in Principle by application, as set out in 
regulations,27 require local planning authorities to publicise consultations by site 
notice and by including the application on their website. By contrast, applications for 
planning permission28 require a site notice, publication on the website and placing a 
notice in a local newspaper. 

 
108. We consider that local communities should have the opportunity to make 

representation on major development that might affect them. We propose to amend 
the publicity requirements for Permission in Principle by application so applications 
for Permission in Principle on large sites are subject to publicity beyond just a site 
notice and website publication.   

 
109. Given the shorter timescales for determining Permission in Principle applications we 

want to ensure that local communities are notified quickly about an application. In 
May 2020 we introduced temporary regulations to provide flexibility to how local 
planning authorities can publicise applications if they cannot meet existing statutory 
requirements, including through the use of social media. We would like to 
understand whether there would be benefits in amending the publicity requirements 
for Permission in Principle to enable similar flexibility or whether they should be 
subject to more traditional publicity requirements such as notices in newspapers. 

 
110. We plan to retain the current publicity requirements for statutory consultees and 

parish councils.  

Q28: Do you agree that publicity arrangements for Permission in Principle by 
application should be extended for large developments? If so, should local planning 
authorities be:  

 
 
27 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1309/made 
28 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/article/15/made  

Page 533

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1309/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/article/15/made


   
 

34 

 
i) required to publish a notice in a local newspaper?   
ii) subject to a general requirement to publicise the application or  
iii) both?  
iv) disagree 
 
If you disagree, please state your reasons. 
 

Revised fee structure to incentive Permission in Principle by 
application 

 
111. The current fee for Permission in Principle by application for minor development is 

£402 per 0.1 hectare (capped at a maximum of 1 hectare), which is to cover the 
costs incurred in processing the application, as well as the costs of undertaking 
consultation and assessment against local and national policy. 

 
112. Under this fee structure, a Permission in Principle application for a 1-hectare 

development would cost approximately £4000, which is only slightly less than the 
cost of an outline planning application (£4600). We are keen to promote Permission 
in Principle by application as a more streamlined and cheaper alternative to outline 
permission and have considered a number of options to facilitate this. Options 
considered include: a) retaining the current fee structure based on a flat fee per 0.1 
hectare but with a lower fee; b) adopting a site-size criterion, with a charging 
scheme based on the actual number of dwellings (NB. this is not considered 
practical because the exact number of housing units in the proposed scheme will 
not be known until the applicant submits the technical details consent application); 
and c) our preferred option of a simplified banded fee structure, with a fixed 
fee per 0.1 hectare in each band, and maximum fee cap based on the following 
site sizes:   

 

• less than 1 hectare (= £x fee per 0.1 hectare)  

• between 1 to 2.5 hectares (= £y fee per 0.1 hectare)  

• more than 2.5 hectares, capped at a maximum (= £z fee per 0.1 hectare, capped)  
 

113. We think lower fees are reasonable because a local planning authority only needs 
to make a decision on the principle of the development, not on the technical details 
of the development like a normal planning application.    

Q29: Do you agree with our proposal for a banded fee structure based on a flat fee 
per hectarage, with a maximum fee cap?   
 
Q30: What level of flat fee do you consider appropriate, and why? 
 

Brownfield Land Registers and Permission in Principle 

114. Every local authority is required to publish and maintain a Brownfield Land Register, 
which provides up-to-date, digitally and publicly available information on brownfield 
land that is suitable for housing. Brownfield Land Registers are divided into two 

Page 534



   
 

35 

parts. Part 1 contains a list of brownfield sites that are considered appropriate for 
residential development; and Part 2 consists of sites which have been taken 
forward from Part 1 of the register and granted automatic Permission in Principle by 
the local planning authority (following consultation). Individual Permission in 
Principle applications granted by local planning authorities from sites that were 
contained in Part 1 of the Brownfield Land Register must also be included in Part 2 
of the Register.  

 
115. Brownfield Land Registers can improve the quality and consistency of data held by 

local planning authorities and help to provide certainty for developers and 
communities, encouraging investment in local areas. Having sufficient and accurate 
data is integral to providing greater transparency about where brownfield sites are 
available across the country. We are soon to publish a national brownfield map 
which will bring together all sites identified in local Brownfield Land Registers so 
there is a clear national picture of brownfield sites suitable for housing.   

 
116. To ensure that Brownfield Land Registers continue to be a single source of 

information for developers and to inform the national brownfield map in the short 
term, we propose that all Permission in Principle by application “consents” that are 
on brownfield land should also be automatically recorded in Part 2 of the Brownfield 
Land Register. In the longer term, under the Planning for the Future proposals, as 
the new local plans are produced, we intend to review the role of  Brownfield Land 
Registers. 

Q31: Do you agree that any brownfield site that is granted Permission in Principle 
through the application process should be included in Part 2 of the Brownfield Land 
Register? If you disagree, please state why. 
 

Additional guidance to support implementation 

117. As Permission in Principle by application is still a new consent route, we are aware 
from anecdotal evidence that understanding of this consent route among 
landowners, developers and local planning authorities is often limited.      

 
118. In particular, it seems some local planning authorities continue to make decisions 

on Permission in Principle based on detailed matters, such as transport access, 
when these should only be taken into consideration at the technical details consent 
stage. It is also not certain that developers and landowners appreciate the gains 
they can make in terms of savings on costs and assessments when ascertaining, 
up front, the suitability of a particular site for development. Providing further 
clarity in guidance on the purpose, process and benefits of Permission in Principle 
should help mitigate this, particularly where consultation responses highlight areas 
of confusion. 

Q32: What guidance would help support applicants and local planning authorities to 
make decisions about Permission in Principle? Where possible, please set out any 
areas of guidance you consider are currently lacking and would assist stakeholders. 
 

 

Page 535



   
 

36 

Regulatory Impact Assessment 

119. Our preliminary assessment is that these regulation changes to Permission in 
Principle will not increase the regulatory burden on business, charities or voluntary 
bodies. The measure should enable applicants to establish upfront, and at minimal 
cost, whether sites are suitable for residential development. Under the existing 
system, applicants typically will pay the much higher cost of preparing and 
submitting a full planning application in order to determine the suitability of a site for 
housing-led development29.  

 
120. After obtaining a grant of Permission in Principle, medium-sized developers should 

find it easier to secure the finance needed to fund a technical detail consent 
application rather than having to fund the cost of a full planning application without 
the certainty afforded by a grant of Permission in Principle.  

 
121. Feedback from consultees will help inform our understanding of the practicalities of 

the proposed measure, as well as to undertake a ‘costs and benefit’ analysis as part 
of a Full Regulatory Impact Assessment, including estimating take-up trajectories. 

Q33:  What costs and benefits do you envisage the proposed scheme would cause?  
Where you have identified drawbacks, how might these be overcome?   
 
Q34: To what extent do you consider landowners and developers are likely to use 
the proposed measure?  Please provide evidence where possible.   
 

Next steps 

122. Following this consultation, if we introduce Permission in Principle by application for 
major development, we aim to introduce amending regulations this Autumn, with the 
regulations expected to come into force by the end of the calendar year. Changes to 
the fee structure would require separate changes to the Planning Fees Regulations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
29 Estimates from the Impact Assessment prepared for the Town and Country (Permission in Principle) (as 
amended) Order 2017 show that the typical cost of preparing and submitting a full planning application at 
approximately £25,000 for a minor site, including fee costs.  The cost for full planning permission for a major 
site (based on 100 dwellings) is approximately £40-£50,000. 

Page 536



   
 

37 

Public Sector Equality Duty  

123. The Equality Act 2010 requires public authorities to have due regard to the need to 
eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 
relations. It relates specifically to groups with protected characteristics including age, 
disability, sex, race, religion or belief, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, 
pregnancy, and maternity. 
  

Q35: In light of the proposals set out in this consultation, are there any direct or 
indirect impacts in terms of eliminating unlawful discrimination, advancing equality 
of opportunity and fostering good relations on people who share characteristics 
protected under the Public Sector Equality Duty?  
 
If so, please specify the proposal and explain the impact. If there is an impact – are 
there any actions which the department could take to mitigate that impact? 

 

 

  

Page 537



   
 

38 

About this consultation 

 
This consultation document and consultation process have been planned to adhere to the 
Consultation Principles issued by the Cabinet Office.  
 
Representative groups are asked to give a summary of the people and organisations they 
represent, and where relevant who else they have consulted in reaching their conclusions 
when they respond. 
 
Information provided in response to this consultation, including personal data, may be 
published or disclosed in accordance with the access to information regimes (these are 
primarily the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA), the Data Protection Act 2018 
(DPA), the General Data Protection Regulation, and the Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004. 
 
If you want the information that you provide to be treated as confidential, please be aware 
that, as a public authority, the Department is bound by the Freedom of Information Act and 
may therefore be obliged to disclose all or some of the information you provide. In view of 
this it would be helpful if you could explain to us why you regard the information you have 
provided as confidential. If we receive a request for disclosure of the information we will 
take full account of your explanation, but we cannot give an assurance that confidentiality 
can be maintained in all circumstances. An automatic confidentiality disclaimer generated 
by your IT system will not, of itself, be regarded as binding on the Department. 
 
The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government will process your personal 
data in accordance with the law and in the majority of circumstances this will mean that 
your personal data will not be disclosed to third parties. A full privacy notice is included at 
Annex A. 
 
Individual responses will not be acknowledged unless specifically requested. 
 
Your opinions are valuable to us. Thank you for taking the time to read this document and 
respond. 
 
Are you satisfied that this consultation has followed the Consultation Principles? If not or 
you have any other observations about how we can improve the process please contact us 
via the complaints procedure.  
  

Page 538

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-communities-and-local-government/about/complaints-procedure


   
 

39 

Annex A 

 
The following is to explain your rights and give you the information you are be entitled to 
under data protection legislation. 
  
These rights apply to your personal data (your name, direct contact details such as an 
email address, and any other information that could be used to identify you personally).  
 
1. The identity of the data controller and contact details of our Data Protection 
Officer     
 The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) is the data 
controller. The Data Protection Officer can be contacted at 
dataprotection@communities.gov.uk.    
  
2. Why we are collecting your personal data    
Your personal data is being collected as an essential part of the consultation process, so 
that we can contact you regarding your response and for statistical purposes. We may also 
use it to contact you about related matters. 
 
3. Our legal basis for processing your personal data  
Article 6(1)(e) of the General Data Protection Regulation 2016 (GPDR) provides that 
processing shall be lawful if processing is necessary for the performance of a task carried 
out in the public interest or in the exercise of official authority vested in the controller.  
Section 8(d) of the Data Protection Act 2018 further provides that this shall include 
processing of personal data that is necessary for the exercise of a function of the Crown, a 
Minister of the Crown or a government department. 
 
The processing is necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest 
or in the exercise of official authority vested in the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government. The task is consulting on departmental policies or proposals or 
obtaining opinion data in order to develop good effective government policies in relation to 
planning. 
  
4. With whom we will be sharing your personal data 
We will not share your personal data with organisations outside of MHCLG without 
contacting you for your permission first. 
  
5. For how long we will keep your personal data, or criteria used to determine the 
retention period.  
Your personal data will be held for two years from the closure of the consultation. 
  
6. Your rights, e.g. access, rectification, erasure   
The data we are collecting is your personal data, and you have considerable say over 
what happens to it. You have the right: 
 a. to see what data, we have about you 
 b. to ask us to stop using your data, but keep it on record 
 c. to ask to have all or some of your data deleted or corrected 

Page 539

mailto:dataprotection@communities.gov.uk


   
 

40 

 d. to lodge a complaint with the independent Information Commissioner (ICO) if you think 
we are not handling your data fairly or in accordance with the law.  You can contact the 
ICO at https://ico.org.uk/ , or telephone 0303 123 1113. 
 
7. Storage of your personal data  
The Data you provide directly will be stored by MHCLG’s appointed third-party on their 
servers. We have taken all necessary precautions to ensure that your rights in terms of 
data protection will not be compromised by this. 
  
If you submit information to this consultation using our third-party survey provider, it will be 
moved to our secure government IT systems at a date following the consultation 
publication date. 
 
8. Your personal data will not be used for any automated decision making. 
 

Page 540

https://ico.org.uk/

	Agenda
	6 Dacorum Local Plan
	Part 1 - Draft Emerging Strategy for Growth 2020-2038 - Pages 1-54
	Part 2 - Draft Emerging Strategy for Growth 2020-2038 - Pages 55-196
	Part 3 - Draft Emerging Strategy for Growth 2020-2038 - Pages 197-271
	Part 4 - Draft Emerging Strategy for Growth 2020-2038 - Pages 272-368

	7 White Paper Consultation Response
	Planning For The Future White Paper
	Changes to the Current Planning System - Consultation August 2020


